EXHIBIT A

Lender Disclosure Statement

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

In re:) Chapter 11
SUPERMEDIA INC., et al., 1) Case No. 13-[] ([])
Debtors.) Joint Administration Requested
)

DISCLOSURE STATEMENT FOR THE DEBTORS' JOINT PREPACKAGED CHAPTER 11 PLAN

THIS IS A SOLICITATION OF VOTES TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PLAN IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 1125 AND WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 1126 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE, 11 U.S.C. §§ 1125, 1126. THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT HAS NOT BEEN APPROVED BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT. THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT WILL BE SUBMITTED TO THE BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR APPROVAL FOLLOWING SOLICITATION AND THE DEBTORS' FILING FOR RELIEF UNDER CHAPTER 11 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE. THE INFORMATION IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IS SUBJECT TO CHANGE. THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IS NOT AN OFFER TO SELL ANY SECURITIES AND IS NOT SOLICITING AN OFFER TO BUY ANY SECURITIES.

CLEARY GOTTLIEB STEEN & HAMILTON LLP

Sean A. O'Neal One Liberty Plaza New York, New York 10006 Telephone: (212) 225-2000 Facsimile: (212) 225-3999

YOUNG CONAWAY STARGATT & TAYLOR, LLP

Pauline K. Morgan Rodney Square 1000 North King Street Wilmington, Delaware 19801 Telephone: (302) 571-6600 Facsimile: (302) 571-1253

Proposed Co-Counsel to the Debtors and Debtors in Possession

Dated: February 8, 2013

_

The Debtors, together with the last four digits of each of the Debtors' federal tax identification, are: SuperMedia Inc. (5175), SuperMedia LLC (6092), SuperMedia Services Inc. (2834) and SuperMedia Sales Inc. (4411). The Debtors' address is: 2200 West Airfield Drive, P.O. Box 619810, D/FW Airport, Texas, 75261.

DISCLAIMER

This Disclosure Statement ² contains summaries of certain provisions of the Plan and certain other documents and financial information. The information included in this Disclosure Statement is provided solely for the purpose of soliciting acceptances of the Plan and should not be relied upon for any purpose other than to determine whether and how to vote on the Plan. All holders of Claims entitled to vote are advised and encouraged to read this Disclosure Statement and the Plan in their entirety before voting. The Debtors believe that these summaries are fair and accurate. The summaries of the financial information and the documents that are attached to, or incorporated by reference in, the Disclosure Statement are qualified in their entirety by reference to such information and documents. In the event of any inconsistency or discrepancy between a description in the Disclosure Statement and the terms and provisions of the Plan or the other documents and financial information incorporated in the Disclosure Statement by reference, the Plan or the other documents and financial information, as the case may be, shall govern for all purposes.

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or in accordance with applicable law, the Debtors are under no duty to update or supplement this Disclosure Statement. The Bankruptcy Court's approval of this Disclosure Statement does not constitute a guarantee of the accuracy or completeness of the information contained herein or an endorsement of the merits of the Plan by the Bankruptcy Court. The statements and financial information contained in this Disclosure Statement have been made as of the date of the Disclosure Statement unless otherwise specified. Holders of Claims reviewing the Disclosure Statement should not assume at the time of such review that there have been no changes in the facts set forth in the Disclosure Statement since the date of the Disclosure Statement. Each holder of a Claim entitled to vote on the Plan should carefully review the Plan and this Disclosure Statement in their entirety before casting a ballot. No holder of a Claim should rely on any information, representations, or inducements made to obtain an acceptance of the Plan that are other than as set forth, or are inconsistent with, the information contained in this Disclosure Statement, the documents attached to this Disclosure Statement, and the Plan. The Disclosure Statement does not constitute legal, business, financial, or tax advice. Any entities desiring any such advice should consult with their own advisors.

The securities described in this Disclosure Statement to be issued under the Plan will be issued in compliance with the registration requirements of the Securities Act or exempt from the registration requirements of section 5 therein pursuant to section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, section 4(2) of the Securities Act, or any other available exemption from registration under the Securities Act, as applicable. This Disclosure Statement has not been approved or disapproved by the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), nor has the commission commented upon the accuracy or adequacy of the statements contained in this Disclosure Statement. Likewise, this Disclosure Statement has not been approved or disapproved by the Bankruptcy Court. The Debtors are soliciting acceptances to the Plan prior to commencing any cases under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code.

The financial information contained in or incorporated by reference into this Disclosure Statement has not been audited, except as specifically indicated otherwise. The financial projections, attached hereto as Exhibit B and described in this Disclosure Statement, have been prepared by the Debtors' management in consultation with their advisors. The financial projections, while presented with numerical specificity, necessarily were based on a variety of estimates and assumptions that are inherently uncertain and may be beyond the control of the Debtors' management. Important factors that may affect actual results and cause the management forecasts to not be achieved include, but are not limited to, risks and uncertainties relating to the Debtors' and Dex One's businesses (including their ability to achieve strategic goals, objectives and targets over applicable periods), industry performance, the regulatory environment, general business and economic conditions and other factors. The Debtors caution that no representations can be made as to the accuracy of these projections or to the ultimate performance of

Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings ascribed to them in the Debtors' Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan (the "Plan"), attached hereto as Exhibit A, or SuperMedia's Annual Report in Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarterly periods ended March 31, 2012, June 30, 2012, and September 30, 2012, the entirety of which are publicly available at (a) the Debtors' investor relations website, located at http://ir.supermedia.com and (b) the Securities and Exchange Commission's Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval system, located at http://www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/webusers.htm.

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 4 of 483

Newdex compared to the information contained in the forecasts or that the forecasted results will be achieved. Therefore, the financial projections may not be relied upon as a guarantee or other assurance that the actual results will occur.

Regarding contested matters, adversary proceedings, and other pending, threatened, or potential litigation or other actions, this Disclosure Statement does not constitute, and may not be construed as, an admission of fact, liability, stipulation, or waiver by the Debtors or any other party, but rather as a statement made in the context of settlement negotiations in accordance with Rule 408 of the Federal Rules of Evidence. As such, this Disclosure Statement shall not be admissible in any non-bankruptcy proceeding involving the Debtors or any other party in interest, nor shall it be construed to be conclusive advice on the tax, securities, financial or other effects of the Plan to holders of Claims against, or Interests in, the Debtors or any other party in interest. Please refer to <u>ARTICLE VIII</u> of this Disclosure Statement, entitled "Certain Factors to be Considered" for a discussion of certain risk factors that a creditor voting on the Plan should consider.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCT	TION	1
ARTICLE I P	LAN OVERVIEW	2
1.1	Plan Structure Overview	
1.2	Restructuring Transactions	
1.3	Amended and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agreements	3
1.4	Shared Services Agreement	
1.5	Tax Sharing Agreements	
1.6	SuperMedia Support Agreement	
1.7	Unclassified Claims	
1.8	Classified Claims and Interests	
1.9	Liquidation Analysis	
1.10	Valuation Analysis	
ARTICLE II	VOTING PROCEDURES AND REQUIREMENTS	19
2.1	Classes Entitled to Vote on the Plan	
2.2	Votes Required for Acceptance by a Class	
2.3	Certain Factors to be Considered Prior to Voting	
2.4	Classes Not Entitled to Vote on the Plan	
2.5	Solicitation Procedures	
2.6	Voting Procedures	
ADTICI E III	CONFIRMATION	22
ARTICLE III	CONFIRMATION	,
ARTICLE IV	FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND PROJECTIONS	22
ADDICE		22
	BUSINESS DESCRIPTIONS	
5.1 5.2	Corporate Background and Organizational Structure Employees	
5.3	± •	
5.3 5.4	Directors and Officers	
	Financial Advisors	
5.5	Prepetition Capital Structure	32
ARTICLE VI	EVENTS LEADING TO THE CHAPTER 11 CASES	35
ARTICLE VI	I OTHER KEY ASPECTS OF THE PLAN	36
7.1	Distributions	
7.2	Treatment of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	
7.3	Release, Injunction, and Related Provisions	
7.4	Protection Against Discriminatory Treatment	
7.5	Indemnification	
7.6	Recoupment	
7.7	Release of Liens	
7.8	Reimbursement or Contribution	
7.9	Newdex Common Stock	
7.10	Incentive Plans and Employee and Retiree Benefits	
7.11	Subordination	
7.11	Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtors	
7.12	Modification of Plan	
7.14	Revocation or Withdrawal of Plan	
7.15	Reservation of Rights	
7.16	Plan Supplement Exhibits	
7.17	Conditions Precedent to the Effective Date	

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 6 of 483

ARTICLE VI	II CERTAIN FACTORS TO BE CONSIDERED	44
8.1	General	
8.2	Risks Related to the Plan and Other Bankruptcy Law Considerations	
8.3	Business-Specific Risk Factors	
8.4	Disclosure Statement Disclaimer	
ARTICLE IX	IMPORTANT SECURITIES LAW DISCLOSURE	60
ARTICLE X I	REGULATORY APPROVALS REQUIRED FOR THE TRANSACTION	61
ARTICLE XI	CONFIRMATION PROCEDURES	62
11.1	The Confirmation Hearing	62
11.2	Confirmation Standards	62
11.3	Best Interests Test/Liquidation Analysis	63
11.4	Feasibility	
11.5	Confirmation Without Acceptance by All Impaired Classes	63
ARTICLE XI	ALTERNATIVES TO CONFIRMATION AND CONSUMMATION OF THE PLAN	64
ARTICLE XI	II CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES	64
13.1	Introduction	
13.2	Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to the Debtors	
13.3	Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to Holders of Allowed	
	Claims	67
13.4	Withholding and Reporting	
ARTICLE XI	V CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION	71
APPENDIX: I	RULES OF INTERPRETATION, COMPUTATION OF TIME, GOVERNING LAW,	
	OTHER REFERENCES	

EXHIBITS

Exhibit A Debtors' Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan

Exhibit B Financial Projections

Exhibit C Dex One Plan

Exhibit D SuperMedia Support Agreement

Exhibit E Merger Agreement

Exhibit F Unaudited Pro Forma Condensed Combined Financial Statements

Exhibit G Unaudited Liquidation Analysis of the Debtors

Exhibit H Unaudited Valuation Analysis of Newdex

Exhibit I Corporate Structure Charts

Exhibit J Dex Surviving Company Certificate of Incorporation

Exhibit K Form of SuperMedia-Dex Tax Sharing Agreement

INTRODUCTION

SuperMedia is one of the largest yellow pages directory publishers in the United States, as measured by revenue, and also offers solutions for digital advertising, digital content creation and management, social media, reputation management and search engine optimization. The Debtors' portfolios of local media solutions include the Superpages directories, Superpages direct mailers, Superpages.com (a digital local search resource on both desktop and mobile devices) and the Superpages.com network (a digital syndication network that places local business information across more than 250 websites, mobile sites and mobile applications).

The Debtors' operations have been impacted by a highly competitive industry in the United States. The Debtors compete with many different media, including newspapers, radio, television, the internet, billboards, direct mail, telemarketing and other yellow pages directory publishers. Declining use of print yellow page directories also has adversely affected the Debtors' businesses. The Debtors have continually evaluated their financial and strategic options in response to the challenging industry environment.

On August 20, 2012, SuperMedia entered into the Merger Agreement with Dex One and certain of its subsidiaries, which was amended and restated on December 5, 2012. The Merger Agreement provides for certain amendments to the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements (as defined in Section 5.5(b) below³) (such agreements, as in effect immediately prior to such amendments, collectively, the "<u>Prepetition Credit Agreements</u>"). To be consummated outside of a chapter 11 process, certain of these amendments would require unanimous consent of the relevant lenders, while other amendments would require the consent of a simple majority of the lenders.

Accordingly, SuperMedia and Dex One entered into negotiations with a steering committee composed of an unaffiliated group of lenders under the Prepetition Credit Agreements (the "Steering Committee"), including the administrative agents under the Prepetition Credit Agreements. On December 5, 2012, the Debtors, the administrative agent under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and the members of the Steering Committee who were lenders under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement entered into the SuperMedia Support Agreement, in which the parties agreed to support, subject to the terms and conditions of the SuperMedia Support Agreement, the consummation of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and the Merger either out of court or under a chapter 11 plan. Contemporaneously, Dex One, the administrative agents under the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements, and the members of the Steering Committee who were lenders under the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements entered into the Dex One Support Agreement, in which the parties agreed to support, subject to the terms and conditions of the Dex One Support Agreement, the consummation of amendments to the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements and the Merger either out of court or under a chapter 11 plan.

On December 6, 2012, SuperMedia requested that the lenders under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement (other than the members of the Steering Committee) become parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement. At the same time, Dex One made similar requests of the lenders under the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements (other than the members of the Steering Committee) with respect to the Dex One Support Agreement.

On December 21, 2012, SuperMedia and Dex One announced that lenders holding more than half in number and at least two-thirds in amount (but not all) of Claims under each of the Prepetition Credit Agreements have entered into the SuperMedia Support Agreement and the Dex One Support Agreement, as applicable. For additional discussion of the SuperMedia Support Agreement, please see Section 1.6 herein.

On February 8, 2013, the SEC declared the combined registration statement and joint proxy statement of SuperMedia and Dex One effective. Thereafter, and contemporaneously with this solicitation, SuperMedia commenced solicitation of its shareholders to approve the Merger on an out-of-court basis, and, in accordance with

The three Dex One Secured Credit Agreements are: (1) "<u>Dex East Secured Credit Agreement</u>", with borrower Dex Media East, Inc. ("<u>Dex East</u>"); (2) "<u>Dex West Secured Credit Agreement</u>", with borrower Dex Media West, Inc. ("<u>Dex West</u>"); and (3) "<u>RHDI Secured Credit Agreement</u>", with borrower R.H. Donnelley Inc. ("RHDI").

sections 1125 and 1126 of the Bankruptcy Code, to accept the Plan, which provides for consummation of the Merger and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement through a chapter 11 process. SuperMedia also simultaneously is soliciting lender consents to the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Credit Agreement on an out-of-court basis. By this Disclosure Statement and the accompanying materials, the Debtors are soliciting the votes of the lenders under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement on the Plan in accordance with sections 1125 and 1126 of the Bankruptcy Code. Dex One, in parallel, has commenced the above-described solicitation processes with respect to its senior secured lenders and shareholders.

The Debtors are seeking consent of all senior secured lenders for the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and the approval of a majority of SuperMedia common stockholders with respect to the Merger. If the Debtors do not obtain sufficient lender consents or stockholder votes to consummate the Merger and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement on an out of court basis under applicable law, the Debtors may file voluntary petitions for relief under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code and the Plan on the Petition Date, as described in this Disclosure Statement. The Debtors, in substantial part, would do so to effect the Merger and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement. In addition, if Dex One and its subsidiaries do not obtain sufficient senior secured lender consents or shareholder votes to consummate the Merger and amendments to the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements on an out of court basis under applicable law, Dex One and certain of its subsidiaries may file voluntary petitions for relief under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code and the Dex One Plan, attached hereto as Exhibit C, on the Petition Date.

This Disclosure Statement provides information regarding the Plan, a copy of which is attached hereto as <u>Exhibit A</u>. The only impaired Class of Claims entitled to vote on the Plan is Class 5, the Class of Claims held by lenders under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement. As noted above, lenders holding more than half in number and at least two-thirds in amount (but not all) of Claims under each of the Prepetition Credit Agreements have entered into the SuperMedia Support Agreement and Dex One Support Agreement, as applicable. The SuperMedia Support Agreement is attached as <u>Exhibit D</u> hereto. The Debtors believe that the Plan is in the best interests of all holders of Claims and Interests. Accordingly, the Debtors urge all such holders entitled to vote on the Plan to vote in favor of the Plan.

ARTICLE I PLAN OVERVIEW

1.1 Plan Structure Overview

The Plan effects the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement, including the amendment and restatement of the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement. Additionally, the Plan provides for the discharge of Claims and Interests, primarily, through the: (a) issuance of shares of Newdex Common Stock; (b) the reinstatement of certain Claims and Interests; (c) entry into the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement; and (d) payment of Cash. Specifically, as more fully described below, holders of Allowed SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims will receive a portion of the loans under the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, as well as of certain Cash payments in accordance with the terms of the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement. Holders of Allowed General Unsecured Claims will be paid in full in Cash on the later of the Effective Date or in the ordinary course of business. Holders of Allowed SuperMedia Interests will receive shares of Newdex Common Stock, and SuperMedia Interests will be extinguished on the Effective Date. Intercompany Interests will be left unaltered and rendered Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Administrative Claims, Allowed Secured Tax Claims, Allowed Other Secured Claims, Allowed Priority Tax Claims, Allowed Other Priority Claims, and Allowed Professional Claims will be paid in full in Cash from Cash on hand and from the Debtors' existing assets or reinstated, as applicable. The Plan constitutes a separate Plan proposed by each Debtor.

1.2 Restructuring Transactions

On August 20, 2012, the SuperMedia board of directors and the Dex One board of directors each approved the Merger Agreement, which was amended and restated on December 5, 2012, a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit E. The Merger is a stock-for-stock merger between SuperMedia and Dex One.

(a) The Restructuring Transactions

On the Effective Date, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as the case may be, may take such actions, in their sole discretion, including as set forth below, as are necessary or appropriate to effect the Merger in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement and the Plan. Such actions shall include:

- the entry into, delivery of and effectiveness of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and the other Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Documents contemplated to be effective or delivered on the Effective Date:
- immediately thereafter, Dex One merging with and into Newdex, with Newdex surviving the merger;

immediately thereafter, Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc. merging with and into SuperMedia, with SuperMedia surviving the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of Newdex; and

• immediately thereafter, only if the option set forth in Section 1.2(b) is exercised, the distribution of stock in accordance with Section 1.2(b).

As a result of the Transaction, SuperMedia will be a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of Newdex, which will change its name from Newdex, Inc. to Dex Media, Inc. and will be a publicly traded corporation.

(b) Option to Distribute Newdex Common Stock

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Merger Agreement or the Plan, the Dex One Debtors, with the consent of the Debtors, shall have the option on the Effective Date to issue and distribute Newdex Common Stock to the Distribution Agent for the benefit of the Designated Employee Benefit Plans in an amount necessary to give rise to an ownership change as defined in 26 U.S.C. § 382(g) (but in no event to exceed 10% of the Newdex Common Stock issued on the Effective Date).

1.3 Amended and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agreements

On the Effective Date, SuperMedia will close the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, amending and restating the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement in accordance with the Merger Agreement, and Dex One will amend and restate its senior secured credit facilities (the "Amended and Restated Dex One Secured Credit Agreements", and together with the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, the "Newdex Credit Agreements") in accordance with the Merger Agreement.⁴

(a) Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement

The Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, which will mature on December 31, 2016, will require (1) with respect to any base rate loan, quarterly interest payments, and (2) with respect to any Eurodollar loan, interest payments on the last day of the interest period applicable to such borrowing, at SuperMedia's option at either:

_

This summary of the terms of the Newdex Credit Agreements is not a complete summary and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement attached as Exhibit B to the Plan (attached hereto as Exhibit A) and the Amended and Restated Dex One Secured Credit Agreements attached as Exhibit A, Exhibit B and Exhibit C to the Dex One Plan (attached hereto as Exhibit C).

- with respect to base rate loans, the highest of (1) the prime rate, (2) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and (3) one month LIBO Rate⁵ (subject to a floor of 3.00%) plus 1.00%, in each case as in effect on such date, plus an interest rate margin of 7.60%; or
- with respect to Eurodollar loans, the higher of (1) Adjusted LIBO Rate in effect for the applicable interest period, and (2) 3.00%, in each case plus an interest rate margin of 8.60%. SuperMedia may elect interest periods of one, two or three months for Eurodollar borrowings.

(b) Amended and Restated Dex One Secured Credit Agreements

The Amended and Restated Dex One Secured Credit Agreements, each of which will mature on December 31, 2016, will require quarterly amortization payments of principal as follows:

(1) Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit Agreement:

- **A.** \$10,000,000 for each fiscal quarter in fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2014;
- **B.** \$7,500,000 for each fiscal quarter in fiscal 2015; and
- **C.** \$6,250,000 for each fiscal quarter in fiscal 2016, with all remaining outstanding amounts due at maturity.

(2) Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Agreement:

- **A.** \$16,250,000 for each fiscal quarter in fiscal 2013;
- **B.** \$13,750,000 for each fiscal quarter in fiscal 2014; and
- C. \$11,250,000 for each fiscal quarter in fiscal 2015 and 2016, with all remaining outstanding amounts due at maturity.

(3) Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Agreement:

A. \$11,250,000 for each fiscal quarter in fiscal 2013 through fiscal 2016, with all remaining outstanding amounts due at maturity on December 31, 2016.

Interest will be paid (1) with respect to any base rate loan, quarterly, and (2) with respect to any Eurodollar loan, on the last day of the interest period applicable to such borrowing, at each respective borrower's option as follows:

(1) Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit Agreement:

A. the highest (subject to a floor of 4.00%) of (1) the prime rate, (2) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and (3) one month Adjusted LIBO Rate⁶ plus 1.00%, in each case as in effect on such day plus an interest rate margin for base rate loans. The interest rate margin for base rate loans will be 5.75% per annum; or

4

^{5 &}quot;LIBO Rate" is a defined term in the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement.

⁶ "Adjusted LIBO Rate" is a defined term in each of the Newdex Credit Agreements.

B. the higher of (1) Adjusted LIBO Rate, and (2) 3.00%, in each case plus an interest rate margin for Eurodollar loans. The interest rate margin for Eurodollar loans will be 6.75% per annum. RHDI may elect interest periods of one, two, three, or six months for Eurodollar borrowings.

(2) Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Agreement:

- A. the highest (subject to a floor of 4.00%) of (1) the prime rate, (2) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and (3) one month Adjusted LIBO Rate plus 1.00%, in each case as in effect on such day plus an interest rate margin for base rate loans. The interest rate margin for base rate loans will be 2.00% per annum; or
- B. the higher of (1) Adjusted LIBO Rate, and (2) 3.00%, in each case plus an interest rate margin for Eurodollar loans. The interest rate margin for Eurodollar loans will be 3.00% per annum. Dex East will be able to elect interest periods of one, two, three, or six months for Eurodollar borrowings.

(3) Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Agreement:

- A. the highest (subject to a floor of 4.00%) of (1) the prime rate, (2) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and (3) one month Adjusted LIBO Rate plus 1.00%, in each case as in effect on such day plus an interest rate margin for base rate loans. The interest rate margin for base rate loans will be 4.00% per annum; or
- B. the higher of (1) Adjusted LIBO Rate, and (2) 3.00%, in each case plus an interest rate margin for Eurodollar loans. The interest rate margin for Eurodollar loans will be 5.00% per annum. Dex West may elect interest periods of one, two, three, or six months for Eurodollar borrowings.

(c) Newdex Credit Agreements Generally

On the Effective Date, each of the Newdex Credit Agreements will contain provisions for prepayment from net proceeds of asset dispositions, equity issuances, and debt issuances subject to certain exceptions. The Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement will contain a provision for prepayment of net proceeds received by the borrower and its subsidiaries (i) from asset dispositions, subject to certain exceptions, after the first \$5,000,000 of net proceeds received by the borrower and its subsidiaries in each fiscal year, (ii) from certain issuances of equity or debt and (iii) from a portion of available cash (not to exceed 67.5% of the amount of any increase in such available cash during the applicable fiscal quarter) calculated and required to be applied as a prepayment on a quarterly basis. Each of the Amended and Restated Dex One Secured Credit Agreements will contain provisions for prepayment (i) from a ratable portion of the net proceeds received by the applicable subsidiary of Newdex from asset dispositions, subject to certain exceptions, after the first \$2,500,000 of net proceeds received by the borrower and its subsidiaries during the term of the Amended and Restated Dex One Secured Credit Agreements, (ii) from certain issuances of equity or debt, and (iii) from a portion of excess cash flow calculated and required to be applied as a prepayment on a quarterly basis. Each of the Newdex Credit Agreements will allow voluntary prepayments in whole or in part, subject to certain minimum prepayment requirements.

Each of the Newdex Credit Agreements will contain certain covenants that, among other things and subject to, in each case, certain exceptions, materiality thresholds and baskets as more specifically set forth in each credit agreement, limit or restrict each borrower and its subsidiaries' incurrence of liens, investments (including acquisitions) and loans, sales of assets, indebtedness and equity issuances, payment of dividends, distributions and payments of certain indebtedness, sale and leaseback transactions, swap transactions, affiliate transactions, negative pledge clauses, changes in fiscal year, changes in business, amendments to material documents, capital expenditures and mergers, liquidations, and consolidations. In addition, the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement will contain covenants that, among other things and subject to exceptions, limit or restrict activities and

obligations of each of Newdex, Dex One Service, Inc., and certain bankruptcy remote entities to be established. Similarly, each of the Amended and Restated Dex One Secured Credit Agreements will contain covenants that, among other things and subject to exceptions, limit or restrict activities and obligations of each of Newdex, Dex One Service, Inc., Dex Media Service LLC, and certain bankruptcy remote entities to be established. Each of the borrowers under the Newdex Credit Agreements will be required to maintain compliance with a consolidated leverage ratio covenant of no greater than as of the end of each fiscal quarter as set forth in the summary table below (reference to each of the Newdex Credit Agreements should be made for actual computation of the applicable leverage ratio):

Credit Agreement	Levera	ge Ratio
Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit	Fiscal Quarter	Leverage Ratio
Agreement	1Q 2013	5.00x
	2Q 2013	5.00x
	3Q 2013	5.00x
	4Q 2013	5.00x
	1Q 2014	4.9375x
	2Q 2014	4.875x
	3Q 2014	4.8125x
	4Q 2014	4.75x
	1Q 2015	4.6875x
	2Q 2015	4.625x
	3Q 2015	4.5625x
	4Q 2015	4.50x
	1Q 2016	4.375x
	2Q 2016	4.25x
	3Q 2016	4.125x
	4Q 2016	4.00x
Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Agreement	Fiscal Quarter	Leverage Ratio
	1Q 2013	3.50x
	2Q 2013	3.50x
	3Q 2013	3.50x
	4Q 2013	3.50x
	1Q 2014	3.50x
	2Q 2014	3.42x
	3Q 2014	3.34x
	4Q 2014	3.25x
	1Q 2015	3.1875x
	2Q 2015	3.125x
	3Q 2015	3.0625x
	4Q 2015	3.00x
	1Q 2016	2.875x
	2Q 2016	2.75x
	3Q 2016	2.625x
	4Q 2016	2.5x

Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit	Fiscal Quarter	Leverage Ratio
Agreement	1Q 2013	5.50x
	2Q 2013	5.50x
	3Q 2013	5.50x
	4Q 2013	5.50x
	1Q 2014	5.4625x
	2Q 2014	5.425x
	3Q 2014	5.3875x
	4Q 2014	5.35x
	1Q 2015	5.3125x
	2Q 2015	5.275x
	3Q 2015	5.2375x
	4Q 2015	5.20x
	1Q 2016	5.15x
	2Q 2016	5.10x
	3Q 2016	5.05x
	4Q 2016	5.0x
Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit	Fiscal Quarter	Leverage Ratio
Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement	Fiscal Quarter 1Q 2013	Leverage Ratio 4.75x
	1Q 2013	4.75x
	1Q 2013 2Q 2013	4.75x 4.75x
	1Q 2013 2Q 2013 3Q 2013	4.75x 4.75x 4.75x
	1Q 2013 2Q 2013 3Q 2013 4Q 2013	4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.75x
	1Q 2013 2Q 2013 3Q 2013 4Q 2013 1Q 2014	4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.6875x
	1Q 2013 2Q 2013 3Q 2013 4Q 2013 1Q 2014 2Q 2014	4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.6875x 4.625x
	1Q 2013 2Q 2013 3Q 2013 4Q 2013 1Q 2014 2Q 2014 3Q 2014	4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.6875x 4.625x 4.5625x
	1Q 2013 2Q 2013 3Q 2013 4Q 2013 1Q 2014 2Q 2014 3Q 2014 4Q 2014	4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.6875x 4.625x 4.5625x 4.50x
	1Q 2013 2Q 2013 3Q 2013 4Q 2013 1Q 2014 2Q 2014 3Q 2014 4Q 2014 1Q 2015	4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.6875x 4.625x 4.5625x 4.50x
	1Q 2013 2Q 2013 3Q 2013 4Q 2013 1Q 2014 2Q 2014 3Q 2014 4Q 2014 1Q 2015 2Q 2015	4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.6875x 4.625x 4.5625x 4.50x 4.50x
	1Q 2013 2Q 2013 3Q 2013 4Q 2013 1Q 2014 2Q 2014 3Q 2014 4Q 2014 1Q 2015 2Q 2015 3Q 2015	4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.6875x 4.625x 4.5625x 4.50x 4.50x 4.50x 4.50x
	1Q 2013 2Q 2013 3Q 2013 4Q 2013 1Q 2014 2Q 2014 3Q 2014 4Q 2014 1Q 2015 2Q 2015 3Q 2015 4Q 2015	4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.6875x 4.625x 4.5625x 4.50x 4.50x 4.50x 4.50x 4.50x
	1Q 2013 2Q 2013 3Q 2013 4Q 2013 1Q 2014 2Q 2014 3Q 2014 4Q 2014 1Q 2015 2Q 2015 3Q 2015 4Q 2015 1Q 2016	4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.75x 4.6875x 4.625x 4.5625x 4.50x 4.50x 4.50x 4.50x 4.50x 4.50x 4.50x

SuperMedia will be required to maintain a consolidated (with respect to it and its subsidiaries) interest coverage ratio covenant of 1.10x as of the last day of each fiscal quarter. The borrowers under each of the Amended and Restated Dex One Secured Credit Agreements will also be required to maintain compliance with a consolidated (with respect to it and its subsidiaries) interest coverage ratio covenant as of the last day of each fiscal quarter of at least: (a) 2.0x under the Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Agreement; (b) 1.10x under the Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Agreement. Based on the information provided in the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of the Debtors and Dex One, copies of which are attached hereto as Exhibit F, each of the borrowers under the

Newdex Credit Agreements would be in pro forma compliance with the various covenants contained in the Newdex Credit Agreements.

The obligations under the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement will be guaranteed by certain of SuperMedia's subsidiaries and will be secured by a lien on substantially all of SuperMedia and the SuperMedia guarantors' tangible and intangible assets, including a pledge of the stock of their respective subsidiaries, as well as a mortgage on certain real property, subject in each case, to certain exceptions. The obligations under each of the Amended and Restated Dex One Secured Credit Agreements will be guaranteed by each of the respective borrower's subsidiaries, if any, and will be secured by a lien on substantially all of such borrower's and such subsidiaries' tangible and intangible assets, including a pledge of the stock of their respective subsidiaries, as well as a mortgage on certain real property, if any, in each case, subject to certain exceptions. In addition, each of the borrowers under the Newdex Credit Agreements will enter into a subordinated guarantee pursuant to which each borrower will guarantee the obligations of the other borrowers under their respective Newdex Credit Agreement. Such subordinated guarantee (a) will be subordinated to the obligations of the borrower providing the guarantee in respect of its amended and restated credit agreement and (b) will include sharing provisions pursuant to which the beneficiaries of such guarantees will share the benefits of such guarantees in accordance with the percentage used as of the closing of the Newdex Credit Agreements to allocate costs under the Shared Services Agreement between SuperMedia, on the one hand, and Dex East, Dex West and RHDI, on the other hand.

Newdex will guarantee the obligations under the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement on an unsecured basis. Also, pursuant to a shared guaranty and collateral agreement and subject to an intercreditor agreement among the administrative agents under each of the Amended and Restated Dex One Secured Credit Agreements, Newdex, and, subject to exceptions, certain of its subsidiaries (but in any event, excluding all SuperMedia entities and their subsidiaries and Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc.), will guaranty the obligations under each of the Amended and Restated Dex One Secured Credit Agreements and the obligations under each of the Amended and Restated Dex One Secured Credit Agreements will be secured by a lien on substantially all of such shared guarantor's tangible and intangible assets (except that with respect to Newdex's subsidiaries, Dex One Digital, Inc. and R.H. Donnelley Corporation, such guarantee will only be secured by a pledge of stock held by such subsidiaries, if any), including a pledge of the stock of their respective subsidiaries (excluding SuperMedia and its subsidiaries and Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc.), as well as a mortgage on certain real property, if any, subject in each case, to certain exceptions. Furthermore, Dex One Service, Inc. and Dex Media, Inc. will guarantee on a secured basis, the obligations under each of the Newdex Credit Agreements.

SuperMedia, RHDI, Dex East, Dex West and certain other subsidiaries of Newdex (the "BRE Transferors") will transfer the trademarks owned by such BRE Transferor (together with the associated goodwill) to a bankruptcy remote subsidiary (each, a "BRE") of such BRE Transferor. Each such BRE will grant a perpetual, non-exclusive license, with the right to sublicense, to the trademarks that are transferred to it back to the applicable BRE Transferor. None of the BREs will be permitted to license such trademarks to any third party except to Newdex or a subsidiary of Newdex (or as otherwise permitted under the Newdex Credit Agreements) or to assign such trademarks. Newdex and each of its subsidiaries will also grant to each other a perpetual, non-exclusive license under all intellectual property (other than trademarks and domain names) owned by such entity (as of the closing of the Merger and thereafter). In addition, SuperMedia, RHDI, Dex East, Dex West and certain other subsidiaries of Newdex will deliver to each other current or contingent possession of, or access to, certain software source code (and various related tangible materials) that is currently used by such entity in its respective business.

1.4 Shared Services Agreement

Concurrently with the completion of the Transaction, the Debtors and Dex One and its subsidiaries will enter into the Shared Services Agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the Shared Services Agreement, Dex One Service LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Dex One, and SuperMedia LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of SuperMedia, will provide certain specified services (e.g., Human Resources, Legal, Billing, Information Technology), or pay for certain services provided by other entities, to Newdex and all of its direct and indirect

8

⁷ The "Shared Services Agreement" is Exhibit J to the Merger Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit E.

subsidiaries. Entities receiving such services will be charged as follows: (1) to the extent the cost of providing such service can be directly attributed to a particular entity, such entity will be charged that amount and (2) to the extent the service provider provides a service that benefits multiple entities and the cost of such service cannot be directly attributable to a particular entity (e.g., overhead), each entity benefiting from such service will be charged a share of such cost approximately equal to the quotient of such entity's net revenue for the preceding calendar year divided by the total net revenue for such calendar year of all the entities benefiting from such service. To the extent SuperMedia LLC both provides and receives services to the other parties to the Shared Services Agreement, it will be credited the amounts it has paid to provide such services, which will be netted against its charges for services received. Costs associated with the Shared Services Agreement will be captured and billed for each month. It is expected that once the integration of SuperMedia and the Debtors is complete, SuperMedia LLC will no longer be a provider of services to Newdex and its subsidiaries.

1.5 Tax Sharing Agreements

Dex One files a U.S. federal income tax return that includes the results of Dex One's wholly owned corporate subsidiaries. Dex One and its corporate subsidiaries are parties to a tax sharing agreement (the "Dex Tax Sharing Agreement") that governs the respective rights, responsibilities and obligations of Dex One and its subsidiaries with respect to tax liabilities and benefits, tax attributes, tax contests and other tax matters regarding income taxes, other taxes and related tax returns. The Dex Tax Sharing Agreement provides, among other things, that Dex One and its corporate subsidiaries are required to make payments to Dex One Service LLC (as agent of Dex One) in an amount calculated to approximate the amount of tax liability such entity would have owed if it filed a separate corporate tax return. In general, if any taxable income (excluding any income as a result of cancellation of indebtedness income) of Dex One or its subsidiaries for U.S. federal income tax purposes is offset or reduced as a result of utilization of a tax asset (such as a net operating loss) of Dex One's other corporate subsidiaries, such party is required to pay the Dex One subsidiary (through Dex One Service LLC) that generated the tax asset in an amount equal to 50% of the tax benefit received by such party.

On the day following the Transaction, SuperMedia and its subsidiaries will become members of Newdex's U.S. federal consolidated tax group. Concurrently with the completion of the Transaction, Dex One Service LLC and SuperMedia and its subsidiaries will enter into a tax sharing agreement in the form attached hereto as Exhibit K (the "SuperMedia Tax Sharing Agreement") that will govern the respective rights, responsibilities and obligations of SuperMedia and its subsidiaries after the Transaction with respect to tax liabilities and benefits, tax attributes, tax contests and other tax matters regarding income taxes, other taxes and related tax returns. The SuperMedia Tax Sharing Agreement will provide, among other things, that SuperMedia and its subsidiaries are required to make payments to Dex One Service LLC (as agent of Newdex) in an amount calculated to approximate the amount of tax liability such entity would have owed if it filed a separate corporate tax return. In general, if any taxable income (including any income as a result of cancellation of indebtedness income, whether taxable or not) of SuperMedia and/or its subsidiaries for U.S. federal income tax purposes is offset or reduced as a result of utilization of a tax asset (such as a net operating loss) of Newdex's other subsidiaries, such party is required to pay the Newdex subsidiary (through Dex One Service LLC) that generated the tax asset in an amount equal to 75% of the tax benefit received by such party.

Concurrently with the completion of the Transaction, Newdex and its subsidiaries will enter into an amended and restated tax sharing agreement (the "Dex A&R Tax Sharing Agreement")⁸ to provide, among other things, that if any taxable income (excluding any income as a result of cancellation of indebtedness income) of Newdex or its subsidiaries (other than SuperMedia and/or its subsidiaries) for U.S. federal income tax purposes is offset or reduced as a result of utilization of a tax asset (such as a net operating loss) of SuperMedia and/or its subsidiaries, such party is required to pay, as applicable, SuperMedia and/or the SuperMedia subsidiary (through Dex One Service LLC) that generated the tax asset in an amount equal to 50% of the tax benefit received by such party.

The Dex A&R Tax Sharing Agreement is attached as Exhibit I to the Merger Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit E.

9

1.6 SuperMedia Support Agreement⁹

Negotiations between the Debtors, Dex One and the Steering Committee primarily took place between November 12, 2012, and December 5, 2012. On December 5, 2012, the Debtors entered into the SuperMedia Support Agreement with the SuperMedia Administrative Agent and certain lenders under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement. Also on December 5, 2012, Dex One and certain subsidiaries entered into the Dex One Support Agreement, which is attached to the SuperMedia Support Agreement as Exhibit B. Lenders holding more than half in number and at least two-thirds in amount (but not all) of Claims under their respective Prepetition Credit Agreement have entered into the SuperMedia Support Agreement and/or the Dex One Support Agreement, as applicable. As a result, the number and amount of Claims held by lenders contractually obligated to support the Plan and the Dex One Plan, respectively, and in each case subject to the terms of the SuperMedia Support Agreement and the Dex One Support Agreement, respectively, exceed the thresholds required for approval of such plans with respect to Class 5 under the Plan and Classes 5, 6 and 7 under the Dex One Plan, in accordance with applicable bankruptcy law. Additional lenders may join the SuperMedia Support Agreement or Dex One Support Agreement in the future.

Under the SuperMedia Support Agreement, the Debtors agree to take reasonable and appropriate action consistent with their obligations under the Merger Agreement and the SuperMedia Support Agreement in furtherance of the Transaction and, if applicable, Confirmation and Consummation of the Plan, (a) to obtain signature pages to the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, (b) to provide this Disclosure Statement to the lenders under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and solicit their votes to accept the Plan, and (c) if the Debtors elect to effectuate the Transaction through the Chapter 11 Cases, to file voluntary petitions under chapter 11 and seek approval of certain relief from the Bankruptcy Court and Confirmation of the Plan.

The lender parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement agree to (a) support and take any reasonable action in furtherance of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and the effectiveness of the SuperMedia Support Agreement, (b) timely vote their Claims to accept the Plan and not change or withdraw such vote unless such Plan is modified in a manner materially inconsistent with the SuperMedia Support Agreement or materially adverse to the rights of the lender parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement, and (c) in the event the Debtors elect to effectuate the Transaction through a chapter 11 process, (i) support approval of this Disclosure Statement and Confirmation of the Plan, unless the Plan is modified in a manner materially inconsistent with the SuperMedia Support Agreement or that materially adversely affects the rights of the lender parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement, (ii) support certain relief to be requested by the Debtors from the Bankruptcy Court, (iii) refrain from taking any action inconsistent with the Confirmation or Consummation of the Plan and (iv) not propose, support, solicit or participate in the formulation of any plan other than the Plan.

Upon execution of the SuperMedia Support Agreement by a majority of lenders under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, certain waivers under and amendments to the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement by the SuperMedia Administrative Agent, the Debtors and the lenders party to the SuperMedia Support Agreement, as applicable, became effective as set forth below: 10

• (x) waiver of any Default or Event of Default arising under Article VII(i)(vi) of the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement solely to the extent that such Default or Event of Default may result from taking any action for the purpose of effecting the Transaction through the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases, which waiver shall survive termination of the SuperMedia Support Agreement; and (y) Article VII(i) of the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement is amended as of the Support Agreement Effective Date by deleting clause (vi) thereof and replacing it with: "take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing; provided however, that, for the

This summary of the terms of the SuperMedia Support Agreement is not a complete summary and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the SuperMedia Support Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit D.

For purposes of this paragraph, capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined herein have the meanings ascribed to them in the SuperMedia Support Agreement.

avoidance of doubt, the Borrower's and any Subsidiary's execution of, performance of the obligations contemplated by or consistent with, and the taking of any action under (I) the Support and Limited Waiver Agreement dated as of December 5, 2012 by and among the Borrower, its Subsidiaries, the Administrative Agent and the lenders from time to time party thereto (as the same may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof) and (II) the Merger Agreement (as defined in the Support and Limited Waiver Agreement referred to in clause (I) above) shall not constitute a Default or an Event of Default under this clause (vi).";

- with respect to all Loan Parties, waiver of any Default or Event of Default under Article VII(e) of the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement arising from the Borrower's failure to comply with Section 5.01(a) solely as a result of the failure to deliver an audit without a 'going concern' or like qualification, exception or explanatory paragraph with respect to the fiscal year ending December 31, 2012 (which 'going concern' or like qualification, exception or explanatory paragraph (i) relates to the anticipated or potential commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to the SuperMedia Support Agreement and (ii) does not expressly provide that it results from (x) a limitation of scope or (y) the financial statements not presenting fairly in all material respects the financial position, results of operations or cash flows of the SuperMedia Parties in conformity with GAAP resulting in a qualified or adverse audit opinion), which waiver shall survive termination of the SuperMedia Support Agreement;
- agreement that Section 5.01 of the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement is amended to incorporate the covenants in the second paragraph (including all bullet points thereunder) under the heading "Affirmative Covenants" in the Amendment Term Sheet, and the applicable SuperMedia Parties hereby agree to comply therewith upon the effectiveness of Section 8.7(b)(3) of the SuperMedia Support Agreement; and
- agreement that for so long as the SuperMedia Support Agreement is in effect, notwithstanding anything in the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement to the contrary, the SuperMedia Parties shall not make any Voluntary Prepayments.

Similar waivers and amendments to the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements became effective under the Dex One Support Agreement upon execution of that agreement by a sufficient number of lenders under each of the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements.

The SuperMedia Support Agreement provides that it shall terminate automatically upon certain events, including, without limitation, the following:

- If SuperMedia has provided notice that it will effectuate the Transaction outside of court and (a) if Dex One has not filed the Dex One Chapter 11 Cases, if the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement has not been consummated by 130 days after the effective date of the SuperMedia Support Agreement, or (b) if Dex One has filed the Dex One Chapter 11 Cases, if the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement has not been consummated by 190 days after the effective date of the SuperMedia Support Agreement.
- If lender parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement hold less than 100% of the loans under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and the Debtors have not commenced solicitation of lender votes on the Plan by 100 days after the effective date of the SuperMedia Support Agreement.
- The termination of the Dex One Support Agreement.
- If, after the Debtors have commenced the Chapter 11 Cases, (a) the Chapter 11 Cases are dismissed, converted to chapter 7 cases, or an examiner is appointed, (b) an order is entered terminating any Debtor's exclusive right to file a plan of reorganization, or (c) any Debtor's

consensual use of cash collateral is terminated in accordance with an interim or final cash collateral order entered by the Bankruptcy Court.

- The termination of the Merger Agreement pursuant to its terms.
- If the Debtors elect to terminate the SuperMedia Support Agreement in accordance with the exercise of their fiduciary duties, or the lender parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement elect to terminate the SuperMedia Support Agreement upon notice that the Debtors are reasonably likely to breach the SuperMedia Support Agreement in accordance with the exercise of their fiduciary duties.

The SuperMedia Support Agreement also shall terminate ten Business Days after (a) either the Debtors or lender parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement holding at least 2/3 of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of loans held by all lender parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement give written notice of a material breach of the SuperMedia Support Agreement and such breach is not cured or waived, or (b) SuperMedia and the SuperMedia Administrative Agent have received executed signature pages to the SuperMedia Support Agreement from lenders (i) holding no less than 2/3 of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the loans under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and (ii) representing more than 50% of all lenders under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement (the "SuperMedia Bankruptcy Threshold"), and notice is subsequently given by either the SuperMedia Administrative Agent or SuperMedia that the SuperMedia Bankruptcy Threshold is no longer satisfied, unless the threshold is again satisfied by the end of the ten Business Day cure period.

In addition, the SuperMedia Support Agreement shall terminate ten Business Days after the occurrence of any of the following specified events, if such event has not been cured by the Debtors or waived by the SuperMedia Administrative Agent and by lender parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement holding at least 2/3 of the aggregate outstanding principal amount of loans held by all lender parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement:

- Ten days after the solicitation of the SuperMedia Secured Lenders is commenced unless definitive bankruptcy documentation (other than the Plan and this Disclosure Statement) has been made available to the lender parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement.
- Five Business Days after the end of the lender solicitation period unless the Debtors have commenced the Chapter 11 Cases or provided written notice to the SuperMedia Administrative Agent that they have received the necessary consents from the SuperMedia Secured Lenders and stockholders to effectuate the Transaction without filing the Chapter 11 Cases.
- If the Debtors do not file the Plan and this Disclosure Statement on the Petition Date.
- If the Bankruptcy Court has not entered interim and final orders authorizing the Debtors to use cash collateral, granting adequate protection to the SuperMedia Secured Lenders and approving cash management systems within certain specified periods.
- Fifty days after the Petition Date unless the Bankruptcy Court has entered the Confirmation Order.
- If, after filing the Chapter 11 Cases, the Debtors (a) withdraw the Plan, (b) publicly announce an intention not to proceed with the Plan, or (c) file any motion, pleading, plan of reorganization and/or disclosure statement that is materially inconsistent with the Plan, or materially adversely affects the rights of the lenders party to SuperMedia Support Agreement.
- The Bankruptcy Court grants relief that is materially inconsistent with the SuperMedia Support Agreement or materially adversely affects the rights of the lender parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement.

- If any change or event occurs that has or would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the Debtors or the validity or enforceability of the SuperMedia Support Agreement, Merger Agreement or SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement.
- The occurrence of an event of default under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, with certain exceptions set forth in the SuperMedia Support Agreement.
- The amendment or modification of the Plan or this Disclosure Statement which is materially inconsistent with the Plan or materially adversely affects the rights of the lender parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement.
- The amendment or modification of (a) the Dex One Plan or Dex One lender disclosure statement which, in the reasonable judgment of the Debtors or the SuperMedia Administrative Agent, as applicable, is materially inconsistent with the Transaction or the SuperMedia Support Agreement, or materially adversely affects the rights of the Debtors or lender parties to the SuperMedia Support Agreement, as applicable, or (b) the Dex One Support Agreement or the waiver of any terms thereof, except in accordance with the SuperMedia Support Agreement.

Upon the termination date of the SuperMedia Support Agreement, all ballots to accept the Plan and signature pages to the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement submitted by a lender party to the SuperMedia Support Agreement will be withdrawn and deemed null and void for all purposes, provided that a such lender may provide notice to the Debtors and the SuperMedia Administrative Agent within five Business Days that such lender's vote shall continue to be effective.

Any modification, amendment or supplement to the SuperMedia Support Agreement (including any exhibits, annexes or schedules thereto) is subject to the terms of section 8.12(a) of the SuperMedia Support Agreement.

1.7 <u>Unclassified Claims</u>

(a) <u>Unclassified Claims Summary</u>

In accordance with section 1123(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, Administrative Claims, Professional Claims, and Priority Tax Claims have not been classified and thus are excluded from the Classes of Claims set forth in Article III of the Plan. The Claim recoveries for such unclassified Claims are set forth below:

Claim	Plan Treatment	Projected Plan Recovery
Administrative Claims and Professional Claims	Paid in full in Cash	100%
Priority Tax Claims	Paid in full in Cash	100%

(b) <u>Unclassified Claims Detail</u>

(1) Administrative Claims

Unless otherwise agreed to by the holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim and the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, each holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim (other than holders of Professional Claims and Claims for fees and expenses pursuant to section 1930 of chapter 123 of title 28 of the United States Code) will receive in full and final satisfaction of its Administrative Claim an amount of Cash equal to the amount of such Allowed Administrative Claim either: (a) on the Effective Date, or as soon as practicable thereafter; (b) if the Administrative Claim is not Allowed as of the Effective Date, no later than 30 days after the date on which an order Allowing such Administrative Claim becomes a Final Order, or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter; or (c) if the Allowed Administrative Claim is based on liabilities incurred by the Debtors in the ordinary course of their business after the Petition Date in accordance with the terms and conditions of the

particular transaction giving rise to such Allowed Administrative Claims without any further action by the holders of such Allowed Administrative Claims.

(2) Professional Claims

All requests for payment of Professional Claims for services rendered and reimbursement of expenses incurred prior to the Confirmation Date must be filed no later than 45 days after the Effective Date. The Bankruptcy Court shall determine the Allowed amounts of such Professional Claims after notice and a hearing in accordance with the procedures established by the Bankruptcy Code. The Reorganized Debtors shall pay Professional Claims in Cash in the amount the Court Allows. From and after the Confirmation Date, any requirement that Professionals comply with sections 327 through 331 and 1103 of the Bankruptcy Code in seeking retention or compensation for services rendered after such date shall terminate, and the Reorganized Debtors may employ and pay any Professional in the ordinary course of business without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

(3) Priority Tax Claims

Each holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim due and payable on or before the Effective Date shall receive on the Effective Date, or as soon as practicable thereafter, from the respective Debtor liable for such Allowed Priority Tax Claim, payment in Cash in an amount equal to the amount of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim. To the extent any Allowed Priority Tax Claim is not due and owing on the Effective Date, such Claim shall be paid in full in Cash in accordance with the terms of any agreement between the Debtors and the holder of such Claim, or as may be due and payable under applicable non-bankruptcy law, or in the ordinary course of business.

1.8 Classified Claims and Interests

(a) Classified Claims and Interests Summary

The Plan establishes a comprehensive classification of Claims and Interests. The table below summarizes the classification, treatment, voting rights and estimated recoveries, estimated as of September 30, 2012¹¹, of the Claims and Interests, by Class, under the Plan. The Classes have been numbered in a manner consistent with the Dex One Plan for convenience and ease of reading. There are no Classes 4, 6, or 7 under the Plan. Amounts assumed in the liquidation recovery analysis are estimates only. The projected liquidation recoveries are based on certain assumptions described herein. Accordingly, recoveries received by holders of Claims and Interests in a liquidation scenario may differ materially from the projected liquidation recoveries listed below.

Class	Claim or Interest	Voting Rights	Treatment	Plan Recovery	Liquidation Recovery
1	Secured Tax Claims ¹²	Not Entitled to Vote / Presumed to Accept	Paid in full in Cash	100%	100%
2	Other Secured Claims ¹²	Not Entitled to Vote / Presumed to Accept	Reinstated or receive collateral	100%	100%
3	Other Priority Claims 12	Not Entitled to Vote / Presumed to Accept	Paid in full in Cash	100%	100%

The liquidation recovery analysis is based on SuperMedia's most recent publicly filed consolidated financial statements (unaudited) contained in its Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2012, the entirety of which is publicly available at (a) the Debtors' investor relations website, located at http://ir.SuperMedia.com, and (b) the SEC's Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval system, located at http://www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/webusers.htm.

As of September 30, 2012, the Debtors are not aware of any Secured Tax Claims, Other Secured Claims or Other Priority Claims. However, should such claims be identified, they would receive a 100% recovery based on the priority of proceeds in a liquidation.

5	SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims	Entitled to Vote	Pro Rata share of Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and Pro Rata Cash payment	100%	13-16%
8	General Unsecured Claims	Not Entitled to Vote / Presumed to Accept	Paid in full in Cash	100%	0%
9	SuperMedia Interests	Entitled to Vote	0.4386 shares of Newdex Common Stock for each Allowed Class 9 Interest	100%	0%
10	Intercompany Interests	Not Entitled to Vote / Presumed to Accept	Unaltered	100%	0%
11	Section 510(b) Claims	Not Entitled to Vote / Deemed to Reject	Paid in full in Cash or treated like holders of Allowed Class 9 Interests	100%	0%

(b) <u>Classified Claims and Interests Details</u>

Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest, as applicable, agrees to a less favorable treatment, such holder shall receive under the Plan the treatment described in the Plan, as set forth below, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for such holder's Allowed Claim or Interest. Unless otherwise indicated in the Plan, the holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest, as applicable, shall receive such treatment on the Effective Date, or as soon as practicable thereafter.

(1) Class 1 — Secured Tax Claims

- A. Classification: Class 1 consists of any Secured Tax Claims against any Debtor.
- B. *Treatment*: Each holder of an Allowed Class 1 Claim shall receive, as applicable:
 - i. if the Allowed Class 1 Claim is due and payable on or before the Effective Date, Cash in an amount equal to such Allowed Class 1 Claim; or
 - ii. if the Allowed Class 1 Claim is not due and payable on or before the Effective Date, such Claim shall be paid in full in Cash in accordance with the terms of any agreement between the Debtors and the holder of such Claim or as may be due and payable under applicable non-bankruptcy law or in the ordinary course of business.
- C. Voting: Class 1 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 1 Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 1 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(2) Class 2 — Other Secured Claims

A. Classification: Class 2 consists of any Other Secured Claims against any Debtor.

- B. *Treatment*: Each holder of an Allowed Class 2 Claim shall, at the sole option of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable:
 - have its Allowed Class 2 Claim reinstated and rendered Unimpaired in accordance with section 1124(2) of the Bankruptcy Code; or
 - ii. receive the collateral securing its Allowed Class 2 Claim and any interest on such Allowed Class 2 Claim required to be paid pursuant to section 506(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- C. *Voting*: Class 2 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 2 Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 2 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(3) Class 3 — Other Priority Claims

- A. Classification: Class 3 consists of any Other Priority Claims against any Debtor.
- B. *Treatment*: Each holder of an Allowed Class 3 Claim shall be paid in full in Cash.
- C. *Voting*: Class 3 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 3 Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 3 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(4) Class 5 — SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims

- A. Classification: Class 5 consists of any SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims.
- Allowance: On the Effective Date, Class 5 Claims shall be Allowed, and B. shall not be subject to avoidance, objection, challenge, deduction, subordination, recharacterization or offset, in the aggregate principal amount of \$1,441,990,818.30, plus (A) any accrued but unpaid interest payable at the non-default interest rate in accordance with the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, (B) any unpaid fees, expenses or other amounts that constitute Obligations (other than principal) under and as defined in the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, (C) any unpaid adequate protection payments required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the SuperMedia Cash Collateral Order and (D) to the extent applicable, any unpaid amounts required to be paid pursuant to a SuperMedia Cash Management Arrangement, less any other payments of principal paid by the Debtors after December 31, 2012, or during the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to the terms of the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement or the SuperMedia Cash Collateral Order.
- C. *Treatment*: On the Effective Date, each holder of an Allowed Class 5 Claim shall receive:

- i. in satisfaction of such holder's Allowed Class 5 Claim (other than the portion of the Allowed Class 5 Claim which directly arises under, is derived from or is based upon a SuperMedia Cash Management Arrangement) (a) its Pro Rata share of the loans under the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and (b) Cash in an amount equal to such holder's Pro Rata share of any outstanding amounts described in clauses (A), (B) or (C) of the immediately foregoing paragraph 1.8(b)(4)(B), to the extent such amounts are owed to a lender under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement or SuperMedia Cash Collateral Order; and
- ii. in satisfaction of the portion (if any) of such holder's Allowed Class 5 Claim that directly arises under, is derived from or is based upon a SuperMedia Cash Management Arrangement, Cash in an amount equal to such partial Claim amount.
- D. *Voting*: Class 5 is Impaired. Holders of Allowed Class 5 Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(5) Class 8 — General Unsecured Claims

- A. *Classification*: Class 8 consists of any General Unsecured Claims against any Debtor.
- B. *Treatment*: Each holder of an Allowed Class 8 Claim shall receive Cash in an amount equal to such Allowed Class 8 Claim on the later of the Effective Date or in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the terms and conditions of the particular transaction giving rise to such Allowed Class 8 Claim.
- C. Voting: Class 8 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 8 Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 8 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(6) Class 9 — SuperMedia Interests

- A. Classification: Class 9 consists of any SuperMedia Interests.
- B. *Treatment*: Upon consummation of the Merger, each holder of an Allowed Class 9 Interest shall receive 0.4386 shares of Newdex Common Stock for each of its Allowed Class 9 Interests.
- C. *Voting*: Class 9 is Impaired. ¹³ Holders of Allowed Class 9 Interests are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

Bankruptcy courts treat any alteration of legal, equitable and contractual rights pursuant to a chapter 11 plan as "impairment." Under the Plan, holders of Allowed SuperMedia Interests are receiving new, different equity instruments—i.e., Newdex Common Stock—in exchange for their Allowed SuperMedia Interests. Accordingly, even though the Debtors submit that the transactions contemplated by the Plan are in all stakeholders' best interests and that the value of Newdex Common Stock to be received by holders of Allowed SuperMedia Interests is not lower than the value of such SuperMedia Interests, the Plan's treatment of Allowed SuperMedia

(7) Class 10 — Intercompany Interests

- A. *Classification*: Class 10 consists of any Intercompany Interests.
- B. *Treatment*: Each holder of an Allowed Class 10 Interest shall have its Allowed Class 10 Interest left unaltered and rendered Unimpaired in accordance with section 1124(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- C. Voting: Class 10 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 10 Interests are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 10 Interests are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(8) Class 11 — Section 510(b) Claims

- A. Classification: Class 11 consists of any Section 510(b) Claims against any Debtor
- B. *Allowance:* Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, a Class 11 Claim, if existing, may only become Allowed by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court. The Debtors are not aware of any asserted Class 11 Claim and believe that no Class 11 Claim exists.
- C. Treatment: A holder of an Allowed Class 11 Claim shall, in the Reorganized Debtors' sole discretion, (A) receive Cash in the full amount of its Allowed Class 11 Claim or (B) be treated as if such holder held a number of Allowed Class 9 Interests instead of its Allowed Class 11 Claim equal in value to the amount of its Allowed Class 11 Claim.
- D. Voting: Class 11 is Impaired. Holders (if any) of Allowed Class 11 Claims are conclusively presumed to have rejected the Plan. Holders (if any) of Allowed Class 11 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(c) Special Provision Governing Unimpaired Claims

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, nothing under the Plan shall affect the Debtors' or the Reorganized Debtors' rights regarding any Unimpaired Claim, including all rights regarding legal and equitable defenses to or setoffs or recoupments against any such Unimpaired Claim.

1.9 Liquidation Analysis

The Debtors believe that the Plan provides the same or a greater recovery for holders of Allowed Claims and Interests as would be achieved in a liquidation under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. This belief is based on a number of considerations, including: (a) the Debtors' primary assets are publishing contracts that would have a substantially reduced value in a chapter 7 liquidation; (b) the additional Administrative Claims generated by conversion to a chapter 7 case; (c) the administrative costs of liquidation and associated delays in connection with a chapter 7 liquidation; and (d) the negative impact on the market for the Debtors' assets caused by attempting to sell a large number of assets in a short time frame, each of which likely would also diminish the value of the Debtors' assets available for distributions.

Interests would nevertheless constitute "impairment" as defined under the Bankruptcy Code and applicable case law.

The Debtors have prepared an unaudited liquidation analysis, attached hereto as Exhibit G, to assist holders of Claims and Interests in evaluating the Plan. The liquidation analysis compares the projected creditor recoveries that would result from the liquidation of the Debtors in a hypothetical case under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code with the estimated distributions to holders of Allowed Claims and Interests under the Plan. The liquidation analysis is based on the value of the Debtors' assets and liabilities as of a certain date and incorporates various estimates and assumptions, including a hypothetical conversion to a chapter 7 liquidation as of a certain date. Further, the analysis is subject to potentially material changes, including with respect to economic and business conditions and legal rulings. Therefore, the actual liquidation value of the Debtors could vary materially from the estimate provided in the liquidation analysis.

1.10 <u>Valuation Analysis</u>

The Plan and the Dex One Plan provide for the distribution of Newdex Common Stock to the stockholders of SuperMedia and Dex One upon consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Plan and the Dex One Plan, including consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. Accordingly, Houlihan Lokey, in consultation with the Debtors and the Dex One Debtors, has performed an analysis of the estimated implied value of Newdex on a going-concern basis as of December 31, 2012, attached hereto as Exhibit H. The valuation analysis, including the procedures followed, assumptions made, qualifications and limitations on review undertaken described therein, should be read in conjunction with ARTICLE VIII of this Disclosure Statement, entitled "Certain Factors to be Considered." The valuation analysis is dated December 5, 2012, and is based on data and information as of that date. Houlihan Lokey makes no representations as to changes to such data and information that may have occurred since December 5, 2012.

ARTICLE II VOTING PROCEDURES AND REQUIREMENTS

2.1 Classes Entitled to Vote on the Plan

The following Classes are the only Classes entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan:

_	Class Claim or Interest		Status
	5	SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims	Impaired
	9	SuperMedia Interests	Impaired

If your Claim is not included in any of these Classes, you are not entitled to vote and you will not receive a solicitation package, including a ballot setting forth detailed voting instructions. If your Claim is included in one of these Classes, you should read your ballot and carefully follow the instructions included in the ballot. Please use only the ballot that accompanies this Disclosure Statement or the ballot that the Debtors, including the Claims and Solicitation Agent, otherwise provide to you.

2.2 <u>Votes Required for Acceptance by a Class</u>

Under the Bankruptcy Code, acceptance of a plan of reorganization by a Class of Claims or Interests is determined by calculating the amount and, if a Class of Claims, the number of Claims voting to accept, as a percentage of the Allowed Claims or Interests, as applicable, that have voted. Acceptance by a Class of Claims requires an affirmative vote of more than one-half in number of total Allowed Claims that have voted and an affirmative vote of at least two-thirds in dollar amount of the total Allowed Claims that have voted. Acceptance by a Class of Interests requires an affirmative vote of at least two-thirds in amount of the total Allowed Interests that have voted.

2.3 <u>Certain Factors to be Considered Prior to Voting</u>

There are a variety of factors that all holders of Claims entitled to vote on the Plan should consider prior to voting to accept or reject the Plan. These factors may impact recoveries under the Plan and include:

- unless otherwise specifically indicated, the financial information contained in the Disclosure Statement has not been audited and is based on an analysis of data available at the time of the preparation of the Plan and the Disclosure Statement;
- although the Debtors believe that the Plan complies with all applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, the Debtors can neither assure such compliance nor that the Bankruptcy Court will confirm the Plan;
- the Debtors may request Confirmation without the acceptance of all Impaired Classes entitled to vote in accordance with section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code; and
- any delays of either Confirmation or Consummation could result in, among other things, increased Administrative Claims and Professional Claims.

While these factors could affect distributions available to holders of Allowed Claims and Interests under the Plan, the occurrence or impact of such factors will not necessarily affect the validity of the vote of the Impaired Classes entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan (the "Voting Classes") or necessarily require a re-solicitation of the votes of holders of Claims and Interests in such Voting Classes.

For a further discussion of risk factors, please refer to ARTICLE VIII of this Disclosure Statement ("Certain Factors to be Considered").

2.4 Classes Not Entitled to Vote on the Plan

Under the Bankruptcy Code, holders of Claims and Interests are not entitled to vote if their contractual rights are Unimpaired by the Plan or if they will receive no property under the Plan. Accordingly, the following Classes are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan:

Class	Claim or Interest	Status	Voting Rights
1	Secured Tax Claims	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
2	Other Secured Claims	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
3	Other Priority Claims	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
8	General Unsecured Claims	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
10	Intercompany Interests	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
11	Section 510(b) Claims	Impaired	Deemed to Reject

2.5 <u>Solicitation Procedures</u>

(a) Claims and Solicitation Agent

The Debtors retained Epiq Bankruptcy Solutions, LLC, to act, among other things, as the Claims and Solicitation Agent in connection with the solicitation of votes to accept or reject the Plan.

(b) Solicitation of Interest Holders

The Debtors seek to consummate the Merger and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement through an out-of-court process and, only in the alternative, in accordance with the Plan, through the Chapter 11 Cases. In accordance with applicable securities laws, the votes of SuperMedia Interest holders on the Merger on an out-of-court basis will be solicited using solicitation materials, which include the information in the Shareholder Disclosure Statement, that SEC has previously approved. SuperMedia Interest holders' votes on the Plan will be solicited through the same process and using the same materials as used to solicit such holders' votes on

the Merger on an out-of-court basis. Thus, SuperMedia Interest holders will not receive this Disclosure Statement as part of their solicitation package. The solicitation process and the solicitation package for SuperMedia Interest holders is explained more fully in SuperMedia's Form S-4 filed with the SEC, which may be obtained from the Claims and Solicitation Agent.

(c) Claim Holder Solicitation Package

The following materials will constitute the solicitation package (the "Solicitation Package") distributed to holders of Claims entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan:

- the appropriate ballot(s) and applicable voting instructions, together with a pre-addressed, postage pre-paid return envelope; and
- the Disclosure Statement, including the Plan with all exhibits.

(d) <u>Distribution of the Solicitation Package and Plan Supplement</u>

The Debtors, by way of the Claims and Solicitation Agent, intend to distribute the Solicitation Packages to holders of Claims on or before February 11, 2013, which is a date 30 days before the voting deadline at 1:30 p.m. Eastern Time on March 13, 2013 (the "Voting Deadline").

The Solicitation Package (except the ballots) may also be obtained from the Claims and Solicitation Agent by: (1) calling the Debtors' restructuring hotline at (866) 734-9393 within the U.S. or Canada or, outside of the U.S. or Canada, by calling (646) 282-2500, and/or (2) writing to SuperMedia Inc. Ballot Processing Center, c/o Epiq Systems, FDR Station, P.O. Box 5014, New York, New York 10150-5014. If the Debtors file the Chapter 11 Cases, you may also obtain copies of any pleadings filed with the Bankruptcy Court for free by visiting the Debtors' restructuring website, www.epiq11.com/SuperMedia, or for a fee via PACER at http://www.deb.uscourts.gov.

Prior to the Confirmation Hearing, the Debtors intend to file the Plan Supplement. As the Plan Supplement is updated or otherwise modified, such modified or updated documents will be made available on the Debtors' restructuring website. The Debtors will not serve paper or CD-ROM copies of the Plan Supplement; however, parties may obtain a copy of the Plan Supplement from the Claims and Solicitation Agent by: (1) calling the Debtors' restructuring hotline at one of the telephone numbers set forth above; (2) visiting the Debtors' restructuring website, www.epiq11.com/SuperMedia; and/or (3) writing to SuperMedia Inc., c/o Epiq Systems, FDR Station, P.O. Box 5014, New York, New York 10150-5014.

2.6 Voting Procedures

January 25, 2013, the voting record date, will be the date for determining which holders of Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan and receive the Solicitation Package in accordance with the solicitation procedures. Except as otherwise set forth herein, this voting record date and all of the Debtors' solicitation and voting procedures shall apply to all of the Debtors' Creditors and other parties in interest.

In order for the holder of a Claim in the Voting Classes to have such holder's ballot counted as a vote to accept or reject the Plan, such holder's ballot must be properly completed, executed, and delivered by using the return envelope provided by: (a) first class mail by using the return envelope provided addressed to SuperMedia Inc. Ballot Processing Center, c/o Epiq Systems, FDR Station, P.O. Box 5014, New York, New York 10150-5014; or (b) via courier or personal delivery to SuperMedia Inc. Ballot Processing Center, c/o Epiq Systems, 757 Third Avenue, 3rd Floor, New York, New York 10017, so that such holder's ballot or the master ballot incorporating the vote cast by such ballot, as applicable, is <u>actually received</u> by the Claims and Solicitation Agent <u>on or before the Voting Deadline</u>.

If a holder of Class 5 Claim that is party to the SuperMedia Support Agreement transfers all of such Claims to one or more parties on or after the voting record date and before the holder has cast its vote on the Plan, the holder is automatically deemed to have provided a voting proxy to the purchaser(s) of the holder's Class 5 Claims, and such purchaser(s) shall be deemed to be the holder(s) thereof as of the voting record date for purposes of voting on

the Plan, provided that the transfer complies with the applicable requirements of the SuperMedia Support Agreement.

IF A BALLOT IS RECEIVED AFTER THE VOTING DEADLINE, IT WILL NOT BE COUNTED UNLESS THE DEBTORS DETERMINE OTHERWISE IN THEIR SOLE AND ABSOLUTE DISCRETION.

ANY BALLOT THAT IS PROPERLY EXECUTED BY THE HOLDER OF A CLAIM BUT THAT DOES NOT CLEARLY INDICATE AN ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION OF THE PLAN OR ANY BALLOT THAT INDICATES BOTH AN ACCEPTANCE AND A REJECTION OF THE PLAN WILL NOT BE COUNTED FOR PURPOSES OF ACCEPTING OR REJECTING THE PLAN.

EACH HOLDER OF A CLAIM MUST VOTE ALL OF ITS CLAIMS WITHIN A PARTICULAR CLASS EITHER TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PLAN AND MAY NOT SPLIT SUCH VOTES. BY SIGNING AND RETURNING A BALLOT, EACH HOLDER OF A CLAIM WILL CERTIFY TO THE BANKRUPTCY COURT AND THE DEBTORS THAT NO OTHER BALLOTS WITH RESPECT TO SUCH CLAIM HAVE BEEN CAST OR, IF ANY OTHER BALLOTS HAVE BEEN CAST WITH RESPECT TO SUCH CLASS OF CLAIMS, SUCH OTHER BALLOTS INDICATED THE SAME VOTE TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PLAN. IF A HOLDER CASTS MULTIPLE BALLOTS WITH RESPECT TO THE SAME CLASS OF CLAIMS AND THOSE BALLOTS ARE IN CONFLICT WITH EACH OTHER, SUCH BALLOTS WILL NOT BE COUNTED FOR PURPOSES OF ACCEPTING OR REJECTING THE PLAN.

IT IS IMPORTANT THAT THE HOLDER OF A CLAIM IN THE VOTING CLASSES FOLLOW THE SPECIFIC INSTRUCTIONS PROVIDED ON SUCH HOLDER'S BALLOT AND THE ACCOMPANYING INSTRUCTIONS.

ARTICLE III CONFIRMATION

Under section 1128(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Court, after notice, may hold a hearing to confirm a plan of reorganization. If the Debtors file the Chapter 11 Cases, they will file a motion on the Petition Date requesting that the Bankruptcy Court set a date and time approximately 30 days after the Petition Date for the Confirmation Hearing in the Bankruptcy Court. The Debtors also will request that the Bankruptcy Court approve this Disclosure Statement at the Confirmation Hearing. The Confirmation Hearing, once set, may be continued from time to time without further notice other than an adjournment announced in open court or a notice of adjournment filed with the Bankruptcy Court and served on those parties who have requested notice under Bankruptcy Rule 2002 and the Entities who have filed an objection to the Plan, if any, without further notice to parties in interest. The Bankruptcy Court, in its discretion and prior to the Confirmation Hearing, may put in place additional procedures governing the Confirmation Hearing. Subject to section 1127 of the Bankruptcy Code and the SuperMedia Support Agreement, the Plan may be modified, if necessary, prior to, during, or as a result of the Confirmation Hearing, without further notice to parties in interest.

Additionally, section 1128(b) of the Bankruptcy Code provides that any party in interest may object to Confirmation. The Debtors, in the same motion requesting a date for the Confirmation Hearing, will request that the Bankruptcy Court set a date and time for parties in interest to file Plan objections. All objections to the Plan must be filed with the Bankruptcy Court and served on the Debtors and certain other parties in interest in accordance with the applicable order of the Bankruptcy Court so that they are received on or before the deadline to file such objections.

ARTICLE IV FINANCIAL INFORMATION AND PROJECTIONS

In connection with the planning and development of the Plan, the Debtors prepared projections for the calendar years 2012 through 2016 to present the anticipated impact of the Plan. The projections assume that the Plan will be implemented in accordance with its stated terms. The Debtors are unaware of any circumstances as of the date of this Disclosure Statement that would require the re-forecasting of the projections due to a material change in the Debtors' prospects.

The projections are based on forecasts of key economic variables and may be significantly impacted by, among other factors, changes in the competitive environment, regulatory changes and/or a variety of other factors, including those factors listed in this Disclosure Statement. Accordingly, the estimates and assumptions underlying the projections are inherently uncertain and are subject to significant business, economic, and competitive uncertainties. Therefore, such projections, estimates, and assumptions are not necessarily indicative of current values or future performance, which may be significantly less or more favorable than set forth herein.

The projections should be read in conjunction with the assumptions, qualifications, and explanations set forth in this Disclosure Statement, the historical consolidated financial statements (including the notes and schedules thereto) and other financial information set forth in the Debtors' publicly filed quarterly and annual reports, as applicable, and any other recent report to the SEC. These filings are available by visiting the SEC's website at http://www.sec.gov or the Debtors' website at http://www.SuperMedia.com.

The Debtors' financial projections for the calendar years 2012 through 2016, including management's assumptions and initiatives related thereto, are attached hereto as Exhibit B. For purposes of the financial projections, the Debtors have assumed an Effective Date of March 31, 2013. The unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements of the Debtors and Dex One, copies of which are attached hereto as Exhibit F, also provide financial information with respect to the combined companies.

ARTICLE V BUSINESS DESCRIPTIONS

5.1 <u>Corporate Background and Organizational Structure</u>

(a) Overview

SuperMedia Inc., formerly known as Idearc Inc. ("Idearc"), together with its affiliates, is one of the largest yellow pages directory publishers in the United States as measured by revenue. SuperMedia also offers digital advertising solutions. SuperMedia places its clients' business information into its portfolio of local media solutions, which includes the Superpages directories, Superpages.com, its digital local search resource on both desktop and mobile devices, the Superpages.com network, a digital syndication network that places local business information across more than 250 websites, mobile sites and mobile applications, and its Superpages direct mailers. In addition, SuperMedia offers solutions for social media, digital content creation and management, reputation management and search engine optimization. SuperMedia became an independent public company in November 2006, when Verizon Communications Inc. ("Verizon") completed the spin-off of Idearc's shares to Verizon's stockholders.

Together with its predecessor companies, SuperMedia has more than 125 years of experience in the directory business. SuperMedia primarily operates in the markets in which Verizon or its formerly owned properties now owned by FairPoint Communications, Inc. ("FairPoint") and Frontier Communications Corporation ("Frontier") are the incumbent local exchange carriers. SuperMedia has a geographically diversified revenue base covering markets in 32 states for Superpages directories and Superpages direct mailers and in all 50 states for Superpages.com and its other digital solutions. In 2012, SuperMedia published more than 1,000 distinct directory titles and distributed about 74 million copies of these directories to businesses and residences in the United States.

SuperMedia is the official publisher of Verizon, FairPoint and Frontier print directories in the markets in which these companies are the incumbent local telephone exchange carriers. SuperMedia uses their brands on its print directories in these and other specified markets. SuperMedia has a number of agreements with them that govern the publishing relationship, including publishing agreements, branding agreements, and non-competition agreements, each of which has a term expiring in 2036.

On March 31, 2009, Idearc and its domestic subsidiaries filed voluntary petitions for reorganization under the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Northern District of Texas, Dallas Division (the "Idearc Bankruptcy Court"). On December 31, 2009, Idearc emerged from bankruptcy protection and entered into the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement with certain financial institutions and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as

administrative agent and collateral agent, providing for the issuance of \$2,750 million of senior secured term loans. On December 29, 2011, the Idearc Bankruptcy Court entered final decrees closing Idearc's bankruptcy cases.

On January 4, 2010, Idearc changed its corporate name from Idearc Inc. to SuperMedia Inc. The name symbolizes SuperMedia's focus on providing outstanding print and digital local solutions to its clients nationwide.

The principal executive offices of the Debtors are located at 2200 West Airfield Drive, D/FW Airport, Texas 75261, and their telephone number is (972) 453-7000. The Debtors' corporate internet website is located at www.SuperMedia.com.

A chart illustrating the Debtors' and Dex One's current and reorganized organizational structures is attached hereto as Exhibit I. Additional information about the Debtors, including a full description of the condition and performance of the Debtors' business, is included in SuperMedia's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, and Quarterly Reports in Form 10-Q for the quarterly periods ended March 31, 2012, June 30, 2012, and September 30, 2012, the entirety of which are publicly available at (a) the Debtors' investor relations website, located at http://ir.SuperMedia.com and (b) the SEC's Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval system, located at http://www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/webusers.htm. Also, information about the Debtors may be found on the Debtors' corporate internet website located at www.SuperMedia.com.

(b) History

SuperMedia's predecessor companies began publishing directories as part of the "Bell System" under AT&T Corp. ("AT&T"). In 1936, GTE Corp. ("GTE") was founded and shortly thereafter began publishing directories. In 1984, the local exchange businesses (including the directory operations) of AT&T were reorganized into seven "regional bell operating companies," which were spun-off as independent companies. Two of those companies, NYNEX Corp. ("NYNEX") and Bell Atlantic Corp. ("Bell Atlantic"), combined their businesses when Bell Atlantic acquired NYNEX in 1997. The combined directory operations of NYNEX, Bell Atlantic and GTE began doing business as Verizon Directories Corp. after GTE became a wholly owned subsidiary of Bell Atlantic in 2000 and Bell Atlantic was renamed Verizon Communications Inc.

In 2006, Verizon decided to spin off its domestic directory business. In anticipation of the spin-off, Verizon transferred its domestic print and digital yellow pages directory publishing operations to Idearc. The spin-off was completed in November 2006 through a tax-free distribution by Verizon of all of its shares of its common stock to Verizon's stockholders.

On March 31, 2009, Idearc filed voluntary Chapter 11 bankruptcy petitions seeking reorganization relief under the Bankruptcy Code to restructure its debt. On December 31, 2009, Idearc consummated the reorganization and emerged from bankruptcy with a restructured balance sheet. On January 4, 2010, Idearc changed its name to SuperMedia Inc.

(c) Markets

In 2012, SuperMedia published more than 1,000 directories and distributed approximately 74 million directories to businesses and residences in the United States. In 2012, SuperMedia's top ten directories, as measured by revenue, accounted for approximately 8% of its revenue and no single directory accounted for more than 2% of its revenue. SuperMedia's directories are generally well established in their communities and cover contiguous geographic areas to create a strong local market presence and allow for selling efficiencies.

In connection with the spin-off from Verizon, SuperMedia entered into a number of agreements with Verizon to preserve the benefits of being the publisher of Verizon print directories. These agreements included a publishing agreement, a branding agreement, and a non-competition agreement, each of which has an initial term of 30 years, expiring in 2036. The publishing agreement will automatically renew for additional five-year terms unless SuperMedia or Verizon provides notice of early termination. Under the publishing agreement, Verizon named SuperMedia the official publisher of Verizon print directories of wireline listings for markets in which Verizon was the incumbent local exchange carrier. In the branding agreement, Verizon granted SuperMedia a limited right to use

some Verizon trademarks and service marks in connection with publishing certain print directories and to identify SuperMedia as its official print directory publisher. Under the non-competition agreement, Verizon generally agreed not to publish tangible or digital (excluding Internet) media directories consisting principally of wireline listings and classified advertisements of subscribers in the applicable markets.

SuperMedia also has a number of agreements with FairPoint in connection with the transfer by Verizon to FairPoint of local telephone exchange assets in Maine, New Hampshire and Vermont. These agreements included a publishing agreement, a branding agreement, and a non-competition agreement, each of which has a term expiring in 2036.

In addition, SuperMedia has a number of agreements with Frontier in connection with the transfer by Verizon to Frontier of local telephone exchange assets in 14 states, including Arizona, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Michigan, Nevada, North Carolina, Ohio, Oregon, South Carolina, Washington, West Virginia, Wisconsin, and a small number of local telephone exchanges in California, including those bordering Arizona, Nevada and Oregon. These agreements included a publishing agreement, a branding agreement, and a non-competition agreement, each of which has a term expiring in 2036.

SuperMedia believes it has a competitive advantage by serving as the official publisher of print directories for these incumbent local exchange carriers. Incumbent publishers can generally deliver a better value proposition to advertisers because those publishers tend to have a higher frequency of consumer use in the market, largely due to their long-term presence in a particular market and user perceptions of accuracy, completeness and trustworthiness of their directories.

(d) Advertising Media

Overview

SuperMedia's promotional solutions include Superpages directories, Superpages.com, its digital local search resource on both desktop and mobile devices, the Superpages.com network, a digital syndication network that places local business information across more than 250 websites, and its Superpages direct mailers, as well as social media, digital content creation and management, reputation management and search engine optimization.

Print Directories

In 2012, SuperMedia published more than 1,000 distinct directory titles, consisting of directories that contain only yellow pages, directories that contain only white pages, directories that contain both white and yellow pages, smaller-sized companion directories, directories that include advertisements in both English and Spanish and directories in Spanish only. SuperMedia offers complementary enhancements that improve its clients' reach and return on investment.

SuperMedia's directories are designed to meet the advertising needs of local and national businesses and the information needs of consumers. SuperMedia believes the breadth of its directory options enables it to create customized advertising programs that are responsive to specific client needs and their promotional marketing budgets. SuperMedia believes its yellow and white page print directories are also efficient sources of information for consumers, featuring a comprehensive list of businesses in local markets.

Digital Solutions

SuperMedia operates Superpages.com, its digital local search resource on both desktop and mobile devices, and the Superpages.com network, a digital syndication network that places local business information across more than 250 websites, mobile sites and mobile applications. Through the Superpages.com network, SuperMedia distributes its clients' business information to increase Internet traffic and extend its clients' digital reach. SuperMedia continues to seek out mutually beneficial arrangements that give its clients more exposure and its network more traffic. In 2012, consumers conducted more than 152 billion searches using the Superpages.com network. In addition to operating Superpages.com and the Superpages.com network, SuperMedia recognizes the value of additional partnerships in the digital marketplace and will continue to evaluate relationships that would allow it to enhance its offerings to its clients.

Direct Mailers

SuperMedia's Superpages direct mail packages allow advertisers to target the consumers or businesses most likely to respond to an offer and customize a message from one mailing to the next. SuperMedia's direct mail program includes professional full color ad design, robust demographic targeting, printing and postage. Targeted lists allow advertisers to pinpoint the audience they want to reach. List criteria can include geography, age, income, home value or consumers who have just moved into a neighborhood. Direct mail advertising campaigns can be tracked through redemption of coupons, website traffic or phone calls. SuperMedia's clients have an option of individual postcards or shared card packs.

(e) Sales and Marketing

SuperMedia's direct sales and marketing approach for its media solutions requires maintaining existing clients and developing new client relationships. Existing clients comprise its core advertiser base and a large number of these clients have advertised with SuperMedia for many years. Annually, SuperMedia has retained approximately 80% of its local clients. SuperMedia bases its local print clients' renewal rate on the number of unique local print clients that have renewed advertising. SuperMedia does not include clients that did not renew because they are no longer in business. Unique local print clients are counted once regardless of the number of advertisements they purchase or the number of directories in which they advertise. SuperMedia's renewal rate would not be affected if any of these clients were to renew some, but not all, of their advertising. SuperMedia's renewal rate reflects the importance of its directories to its local clients, for whom directory advertising is, in many cases, their primary form of advertising. Larger national companies also use advertising in SuperMedia's directories as an integral part of their national and regional advertising strategies.

Local Sales Force

SuperMedia believes the experience of its sales force has enabled it to develop long-term relationships with its clients, which, in turn, promotes a high rate of client renewal. Each advertising sale, whether made in person, by telephone or through direct mail, is a transaction designed to meet the individual needs of a specific business. As SuperMedia's offerings have become more complex and as competition has presented advertisers with more choices, the sales process has also become more complex. A media consultant now spends more time preparing and perfecting a sales proposal and preparing for a sales call. In addition, the average time a media consultant spends with a client has increased.

As of December 31, 2012, SuperMedia employed approximately 1,300 media consultants in its local sales force throughout the United States. SuperMedia believes the local presence and local market knowledge of its sales force is a competitive advantage that enables it to develop and maintain long-standing relationships with its clients.

National Sales Force

In addition to its local sales force, SuperMedia has a separate external sales channel that serves its national clients. These clients are typically national or large regional chains, including rental car companies, insurance companies and pizza delivery companies. These clients typically purchase advertisements for placement in multiple geographical regions. In order to sell to national companies, SuperMedia uses third-party certified marketing representatives ("CMRs") who design and create advertisements for national companies and place those advertisements within its local media. Some CMRs are departments or subsidiaries of general advertising agencies, while others are specialized agencies that focus solely on directory advertising. The national advertiser pays the CMR, which pays SuperMedia after deducting their commission. SuperMedia accepts orders from approximately 130 CMRs.

(f) <u>Clients</u>

SuperMedia generates revenue from the sale of advertising to its large base of clients. As of December 31, 2012, SuperMedia had approximately 333,000 local clients.

SuperMedia does not depend to any significant extent on the sale of advertising to a particular industry or to a particular client. In 2012, no single local client accounted for more than 0.2% of SuperMedia's revenue, with its

top ten local clients representing less than 1% of its revenue. SuperMedia believes the breadth of its client base reduces its exposure to adverse economic conditions that may affect particular geographic regions or specific industries and provides additional stability to its operating results.

Like most directory publishers, SuperMedia gives priority placement within a directory classification to long-time clients. As a result, businesses have an incentive to renew their directory advertising purchases each year, to avoid losing their placement within the directory.

(g) Billing and Credit

SuperMedia generally bills most of its clients over the life of their advertising. Fees for national advertisers are typically billed upon issuance of each directory in which advertising is placed by CMRs after deducting their commissions. Because SuperMedia does not usually enter into contracts directly with its national advertisers, SuperMedia is subject to the credit risk of CMRs on sales to those advertisers to the extent SuperMedia does not receive fees in advance.

SuperMedia manages the collection of its accounts receivable by conducting initial credit checks of certain new clients and, in some instances, requiring personal guarantees from business owners. When applicable, based on its credit policy, SuperMedia uses both internal and external data to decide whether to extend credit to a prospective client. In some cases, SuperMedia may also require the client to prepay part or the entire amount of their order. Beyond efforts to assess credit risk, SuperMedia employs automated collection strategies using integrated internal and external systems to engage with clients concerning their payment obligations.

(h) <u>Competition</u>

The advertising industry is highly competitive. SuperMedia competes with many different local media sources, including newspapers, radio, television, the Internet, billboards, direct mail, telemarketing and other yellow pages directory publishers. There are a number of independent directory publishers, such as Yellowbook (the United States business of Yell Group), with which SuperMedia competes in the majority of its major markets. To a lesser extent, SuperMedia competes with other directory publishers, including AT&T, Dex One and Local Insight Media. SuperMedia competes with these publishers on cost per reference, quality, features, usage and distribution.

As the official publisher of print directories in the markets in which SuperMedia uses the brand of the incumbent local exchange carrier, SuperMedia believes it has an advantage over its independent competitors due to the strong awareness of the local exchange carrier brands, higher usage of its directories by consumers and its long-term relationships with its clients. Under the non-competition agreements, the local exchange carriers generally agreed that they will not publish tangible or digital (excluding Internet) media directory products consisting principally of listings and classified advertisements of subscribers in the markets in which they are the incumbent local exchange carrier through 2036, as long as SuperMedia meets its obligations under the publishing agreement in those markets.

SuperMedia has competed with other directory publishers for decades and in some markets has had many different print yellow pages competitors in a market at one time. SuperMedia faces competition from directory publishers in almost all of its markets. Historically, much of this competition was from small publishers that had minimal impact on its performance. However, over the past decade, Yellowbook and several other regional competitors have become far more aggressive and have expanded their businesses. SuperMedia's largest competitor is Yellowbook, which competes in most of its incumbent markets nationwide.

SuperMedia also competes for advertising sales with other media. The Internet has become increasingly accessible as an advertising medium for businesses of all sizes. SuperMedia competes with search engines and portals, such as Google, Yahoo!, Bing and AT&T, among others, some of which have entered into commercial agreements with SuperMedia and other major directory publishers. Internet search engines and service providers including, but not limited to, Google, Yahoo!, Bing, Facebook and Twitter, also have significantly greater technological and financial resources than SuperMedia does, and their accumulated customer information allows them to offer targeted advertising on a scale greater than SuperMedia's. Further, the use of the Internet, including as

a means to transact commerce through wireless devices, has resulted in new technologies and services that compete with its traditional media and services. Through Superpages.com, and the Superpages.com network, SuperMedia competes with the Internet yellow pages directories of other publishers, such as Yellowpages.com, as well as other Internet sites that provide classified directory information, such as Citysearch.com.

(i) Patents, Trademarks and Licenses

SuperMedia owns or has rights to various copyrights, patents, patent applications, trademarks, service marks and Internet domain names in the United States and other countries, including, but not limited to, SuperMedia®, Superpages®, SuperWhitePages®, Verizon® Yellow Pages, Verizon® White Pages, FairPoint® Yellow Pages, frontier® Yellow Pages, Superpages.com®, LocalSearch.comsM, Everycarlisted.comsM, SuperpagesMobile®, SuperGuaranteesM, the SuperGuarantee shield, SuperGuarantee Autos®, SuperpagesDirect®, and InceptorsM.

5.2 Employees

As of December 31, 2012, SuperMedia had approximately 3,200 employees, of which approximately 950 or 30% were represented by unions. During 2012, SuperMedia negotiated new labor agreements to replace expired (and expiring) labor agreements covering union-represented employees in New York, Pennsylvania, New Jersey, Maryland and Virginia. The six New York collective bargaining agreements were combined into one; the four Pennsylvania agreements were combined into one; the three New Jersey agreements were combined into one; and the four Maryland and Virginia agreements were combined into one. All four new labor agreements were ratified by the membership and implemented according to their terms. During 2012, all other collective bargaining agreements (three heritage New England collective bargaining agreements) were in full force and effect.

SuperMedia recorded severance expense for the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, of \$2 million, \$13 million and \$11 million, respectively. The 2010 amount includes severance costs associated with SuperMedia's restructuring activities. For the years ended December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010, severance payments to severed employees, including those terminated associated with restructuring activities, were \$3 million, \$19 million and \$8 million, respectively.

5.3 <u>Directors and Officers</u>

The Debtors' current directors and officers are listed in the tables below. On the Effective Date, the Newdex Board will comprise 10 members including: (a) five current Dex One non-employee directors designated by Dex One, including Alan F. Schultz as Chairman of the Newdex Board; (b) four current SuperMedia non-employee directors designated by SuperMedia; and (c) Peter McDonald, the current Chief Executive Officer and President of SuperMedia, as President and Chief Executive Officer of Newdex. Also on the Effective Date, the existing officers and directors of the Debtors shall serve in their current capacities in the Reorganized Debtors. From and after the Effective Date, each director or officer of the Reorganized Debtors shall serve pursuant to the terms of their respective charters and bylaws or other constituent documents, and applicable state corporation law. In accordance with section 1129(a)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code, the identities and affiliations of the members of the Newdex Board and any Person proposed to serve as an officer of Newdex shall have been disclosed at or before the Confirmation Hearing.

Director	Title	SuperMedia Inc.	SuperMedia LLC	SuperMedia Services Inc.	SuperMedia Sales Inc.
Bayone, Edward J.	Director	X			
Blattberg, Robert C.	Director	X			
Carden, Charles B,	Director	X			
Gardner, Thomas D.	Director	X			
McDonald, Peter J.	Director	X	X		
Rogers, Thomas S.	Director	X			
Slater, John	Director	X			
Wheat, Douglas D.	Director	X			
Wilbanks, Cody	Director		X		
Jones, Samuel D.	Director		X	X	X
Humenik, Del	Director			X	X
Hruska, Gary C.	Director			X	

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 37 of 483

Officer	Title	SuperMedia Inc.	SuperMedia LLC	SuperMedia Services Inc.	SuperMedia Sales Inc.
McDonald, Peter J.	President and Chief Executive Officer	X	X		
Jones, Samuel D.	Executive VP, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer	X	X	X	X
Gatto, Frank P.	Executive VP, Operations	X	X	X	X
Humenik, Del	Executive VP, Sales	X	X	X	X
Stover, Matthew J.	Executive VP, Chief Marketing Officer	X			
Ryan, Debra M.	Executive VP, Human Resources & Employee Administration	X			
Wilbanks, Cody	Executive VP, General Counsel and Secretary	X	X	X	X
Garza, Joe A., Jr.	VP, Associate General Counsel, Litigation	X			
Ferrell, Raymond R.	VP, Associate General Counsel, Commercial Operations	X			
Hruska, Gary C.	VP, Operations	X		X	
Wilson, Clifford E., Jr.	VP, Assistant Treasurer	X	X	X	X
Beck, Dane E.	VP, Chief Accounting Officer	X	X	X	X
Pelham, Craig	Controller	X	X	X	X
Baban, Liuba	Associate General Counsel, Assistant Secretary	X	X	X	X

5.4 Financial Advisors

As part of the evaluation of financial and strategic options, the SuperMedia board of directors (the "SuperMedia Board") engaged Chilmark Partners ("Chilmark") and SuperMedia engaged Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC ("Morgan Stanley") as financial advisors in February 2010. A description of the engagement and compensation of Dex One's financial advisor, Houlihan Lokey, is located in the Unaudited Valuation Analysis of Newdex, which is attached hereto as Exhibit H.

(a) Chilmark

The SuperMedia board of directors retained Chilmark to provide financial advisory services in connection with the transaction based upon Chilmark's qualifications, experience and expertise. Chilmark is a financial services firm with experience providing investment banking, transaction execution, financial analysis and valuation services.

Pursuant to the terms of its engagement letter with the SuperMedia Board, SuperMedia agreed to compensate Chilmark for the work undertaken by Chilmark for the SuperMedia Board. To date as provided for under the engagement letter, Chilmark has received from SuperMedia approximately \$1.5 million in quarterly fees. The payments received to date by Chilmark from SuperMedia are not contingent upon the successful completion of any portion or aspect of the transaction contemplated by the merger agreement. In addition and subject to the successful consummation of the transaction, Chilmark is entitled to receive from SuperMedia a fee of approximately \$4.1 million (less any additional quarterly fees paid to Chilmark by SuperMedia prior to the consummation of the transaction). The \$4.1 million estimate is based on the SuperMedia stock price as of January 29, 2013 and an illustrative closing date of March 31, 2013 (the actual timing of the transaction may vary significantly). Under the engagement letter SuperMedia has reimbursed and will continue to reimburse Chilmark for its expenses incurred in performing its services. In addition, SuperMedia has agreed to indemnify Chilmark and its affiliates, their respective partners, directors, agents, employees and controlling persons (if any) against certain liabilities and expenses related to or arising from Chilmark's engagement by the SuperMedia Board.

In the two years prior to the date of this document, Chilmark has not provided financial advisory and financing services to SuperMedia. Other than in connection with the undertakings by SuperMedia under the terms of Chilmark's engagement letter with the SuperMedia Board as above, Chilmark has not received compensation from SuperMedia.

Following the closing of the transaction, Chilmark may be asked to provide financial advisory services to SuperMedia and its affiliates or Dex Media and its affiliates. Chilmark would expect to receive compensation for the rendering of such advice and services.

Chilmark acted as financial advisor to certain creditors of SuperMedia in connection with the chapter 11 case of Idearc Inc. (now known as SuperMedia Inc.), which emerged from chapter 11 in 2009, and received compensation for such work.

In connection with engagements related to other title 11 cases, restructurings, and similar endeavors, but not otherwise related to SuperMedia, Chilmark may have in the past acted, may currently be acting and may in the future act as financial advisor to debtors, creditors, equity holders, trustees and other interested parties (including, without limitation, formal and informal committees or groups of creditors) that may have included or represented and may include or represent, directly or indirectly, or may be or have been adverse to creditors or interest holders of SuperMedia and/or Dex One and other participants (and/or one or more of their respective affiliates) in the transactions contemplated by the merger agreement. In connection with advice and services provided under any such engagement, Chilmark has received or may receive compensation.

(b) Morgan Stanley

SuperMedia retained Morgan Stanley based upon Morgan Stanley's qualifications, experience and expertise and its knowledge of the business affairs of SuperMedia. Morgan Stanley is a global financial services firm engaged in the securities, investment management and individual wealth management businesses. Its securities business is engaged in securities underwriting, trading and brokerage activities, foreign exchange, commodities and

derivatives trading, prime brokerage, as well as providing investment banking, financing and financial advisory services. Morgan Stanley and its affiliates, directors and officers may at any time invest on a principal basis or manage funds that invest, hold long or short positions, finance positions, and may trade or otherwise structure and effect transactions, for their own account or the accounts of its customers, in debt or equity securities or loans of SuperMedia, Dex One or any other company, or any currency or commodity, that may be involved in the proposed transaction, or any related derivative instrument. In the two years prior to the date of its opinion, Morgan Stanley has not provided financial advisory and financing services to Dex One and has not received fees from Dex One. In the two years prior to the date of its opinion, Morgan Stanley has not provided financial advisory and financing services to SuperMedia and has not received fees from SuperMedia, other than those in connection with the transaction discussed below. Morgan Stanley may seek to provide such services to SuperMedia and its affiliates or Dex Media and its affiliates in the future and would expect to receive fees for the rendering of such services.

Pursuant to the terms of its engagement letter, Morgan Stanley provided financial advisory services to SuperMedia and a financial opinion to SuperMedia's board of directors in connection with the transaction, and SuperMedia agreed to pay Morgan Stanley a fee in connection therewith that is expected to be approximately \$5.4 million, of which \$1 million became due and payable following the rendering of a fairness opinion by Morgan Stanley and the balance of which is contingent upon consummation of the transaction. In addition, SuperMedia may pay to Morgan Stanley an additional discretionary fee of up to approximately \$2.7 million if SuperMedia so determines in its sole discretion. These amounts are estimates based on the SuperMedia stock price as of November 29, 2012 and an illustrative closing date of March 31, 2013 (the actual timing of the transaction may vary significantly). SuperMedia has also agreed to reimburse Morgan Stanley for its expenses incurred in performing its services. In addition, SuperMedia has agreed to indemnify Morgan Stanley and its affiliates, their respective directors, officers, agents and employees and each person, if any, controlling Morgan Stanley or any of its affiliates against certain liabilities and expenses, including certain liabilities under the federal securities laws, related to or arising out of Morgan Stanley's engagement.

5.5 <u>Prepetition Capital Structure</u>

(a) The SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement

In connection with its emergence from chapter 11, on December 31, 2009, SuperMedia entered into a term loan agreement (the "SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement") with certain financial institutions and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as administrative agent and collateral agent for an aggregate principal amount of approximately \$2.8 billion. The SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement was used to repay a portion of the amounts outstanding under SuperMedia's prepetition senior secured credit facilities. The SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement matures on December 31, 2015.

The SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement requires (1) with respect to any base rate loan, quarterly interest payments and (2) with respect to any Eurodollar loan, interest payments on the last day of the interest period applicable to such borrowing, at SuperMedia's option at either:

- (1) with respect to base rate loans, the highest of (1) the prime rate, (2) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and (3) one month LIBO Rate (subject to a floor of 3.00%) plus 1.00% in each case as in effect on such day plus an interest rate margin for base rate loans of 7.00%; or
- (2) with respect to Eurodollar loans, the higher of (1) Adjusted LIBO Rate in effect for the applicable interest period and (2) 3.00%, in each case, plus an interest rate margin of 8.00%. SuperMedia may elect interest periods of one, two or three months for Eurodollar borrowings.

As of December 31, 2012, there was a balance of \$1.4 billion in principal outstanding with a weighted average interest rate of 11.0% under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement.

(b) The Dex One Secured Credit Agreements

In connection with Dex One and certain of its subsidiaries' emergence from bankruptcy, on January 29, 2010, three of Dex One's wholly-owned subsidiaries, RHDI, Dex East, and Dex West amended and restated their credit agreements (collectively, the "Dex One Secured Credit Agreements"). Each of the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements consists of term loans and each matures on October 24, 2014. The Dex One Secured Credit Agreements require quarterly amortization payments of principal as follows: (1) \$10,833,247, with remaining amounts due at maturity for the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement; (2) \$29,119,073, with remaining outstanding amounts due at maturity for the Dex East Secured Credit Agreement; and (3) \$4,647,054, with remaining outstanding amounts due at maturity for the Dex West Secured Credit Agreement. Interest is paid (1) with respect to any base rate loan, quarterly, and (2) with respect to any Eurodollar loan, on the last day of the interest period applicable to such borrowing, at each respective borrower's option as follows:

(1) RHDI Secured Credit Agreement:

- A. the highest (subject to a floor of 4.00%) of (1) the prime rate, (2) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and (3) one month Adjusted LIBO Rate plus 1.00%, in each case as in effect on such day plus an interest rate margin for base rate loans. The interest rate margin for base rate loans is (a) 5.25% per annum if the leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 4.25x, or (b) 5.00% per annum if the leverage ratio is less than 4.25x; or
- B. the higher of (1) Adjusted LIBO Rate, and (2) 3.00%, in each case plus an interest rate margin for Eurodollar loans. The interest rate margin for Eurodollar loans is (a) 6.25% per annum if the leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 4.25x, or (b) 6.00% per annum if the leverage ratio is less than 4.25x. RHDI may elect interest periods of one, two, three, or six months for Eurodollar borrowings.

(2) Dex East Secured Credit Agreement:

- A. the highest of (1) the prime rate, (2) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and (3) one month Adjusted LIBO Rate plus 1.00%, in each case as in effect on such day plus an interest rate margin for base rate loans. The interest rate margin for base rate loans is (a) 1.50% per annum if the leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 2.75x, (b) 1.25% per annum if the leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 2.50x but less than 2.75x, and (c) 1.00% per annum if the leverage ratio is less than 2.50x; or
- B. Adjusted LIBO Rate plus an interest rate margin for Eurodollar loans. The interest rate margin for Eurodollar loans is (a) 2.50% per annum if the leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 2.75x, (b) 2.25% per annum if the leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 2.50x but less than 2.75x, and (c) 2.00% per annum if the leverage ratio is less than 2.50x. Dex East may elect interest periods of one, two, three, or six months for Eurodollar borrowings.

(3) Dex West Secured Credit Agreement:

A. the highest (subject to a floor of 4.00%) of (1) the prime rate, (2) the federal funds effective rate plus 0.50%, and (3) one month Adjusted LIBO Rate plus 1.00%, in each case as in effect on such day plus an interest rate margin for base rate loans. The interest rate margin for base rate loans is (a) 3.50% per annum if the leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 2.75x, (b) 3.25% per annum if the leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 2.50x but

less than 2.75x, and (c) 3.00% per annum if the leverage ratio is less than 2.50x; or

B. the higher of (1) Adjusted LIBO Rate, and (2) 3.00%, in each case, plus an interest rate margin for Eurodollar loans. The interest rate margin for Eurodollar loans is (a) 4.50% per annum if the leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 2.75x, (b) 4.25% per annum if the leverage ratio is greater than or equal to 2.50x but less than 2.75x, and (c) 4.00% per annum if the leverage ratio is less than 2.50x. Dex West may elect interest periods of one, two, three, or six months for Eurodollar borrowings.

As of December 31, 2012, there was \$782.5 million, \$540.9 million and \$503.2 million of principal outstanding with weighted average interest rates of 9.0%, 2.8% and 7.0% under the term loans under the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement, Dex East Secured Credit Agreement, and Dex West Secured Credit Agreement, respectively.

(c) The Prepetition Credit Agreements Generally

Each of the Prepetition Credit Agreements contains provisions for prepayment from net proceeds of asset dispositions, equity issuances and debt issuances subject to certain exceptions. Each of the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements contains provisions for prepayment (i) from a ratable portion of the net proceeds received by the applicable subsidiary of Dex One from asset dispositions, subject to certain exceptions, after the first \$7,500,000 of net proceeds received by Dex West in each fiscal year and after the first \$5,000,000 of net proceeds received by RHDI or Dex East in each fiscal year, (ii) from certain issuances of equity or debt, and (iii) from a portion of excess cash flow. The SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement contains a provision for prepayment of net proceeds received by the borrower and its subsidiaries (i) from asset dispositions, subject to certain exceptions, after the first \$5,000,000 of net proceeds received by the borrower and its subsidiaries in each fiscal year, (ii) from certain issuances of equity or debt and (iii) from a portion of available cash (not to exceed 67.5% of the amount of any increase in such available cash during the applicable fiscal quarter) calculated and required to be applied as a prepayment on a quarterly basis. Each of the Prepetition Credit Agreements allows voluntary prepayments in whole or in part, subject to certain minimum prepayment requirements.

Each of the Prepetition Credit Agreements contains certain covenants that, subject to exceptions, limit or restrict each borrower and its subsidiaries' incurrence of liens, investments (including acquisitions) and loans, sales of assets, indebtedness, payment of dividends, distributions and payments of certain indebtedness, sale and leaseback transactions, swap transactions, affiliate transactions, negative pledge clauses, changes in fiscal year, amendments to material documents, capital expenditures and mergers, liquidations, and consolidations. In addition, each of the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements also contains covenants that, subject to exceptions, limit or restrict activities and obligations of each of Dex One, Dex One Service, Inc., and Dex Media Service LLC. SuperMedia is required to maintain compliance with a consolidated (with respect to it and its subsidiaries) leverage ratio covenant of 7.50x at any time during any fiscal quarter and a consolidated (with respect to it and its subsidiaries) interest coverage ratio covenant of 1.10x as of the last day of each fiscal quarter. Each of the borrowers under the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements is required to maintain compliance with a consolidated (with respect to it and its subsidiaries) leverage ratio covenant of no more than as of the end of each fiscal quarter: (a) 5.00x under the Dex East Secured Credit Agreement; (b) 5.25x under the Dex West Secured Credit Agreement; and (c) 4.75x as of September 30, 2012, stepping down to 4.5x as of March 31, 2013, stepping down to 4.25x as of September 30, 2013, and further stepping down to 4.00x on March 31, 2014 under the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement. The borrowers under the Dex West Secured Credit Agreement and the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement are also required to maintain compliance with a consolidated (with respect to it and its subsidiaries) interest coverage ratio covenant as of the last day of each fiscal quarter of at least: (a) 1.35x under the Dex West Secured Credit Agreement, and (b) 1.75x as of September 30, 2012, stepping up to 1.90x as of March 31, 2013 and further stepping up to 2.00x as of March 31, 2014 under the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement. There is no interest coverage ratio under the Dex East Secured Credit Agreement. In addition, the borrower under the Dex West Secured Credit Agreement is required to maintain a consolidated (with respect to it and its subsidiaries) senior secured leverage ratio of no more than 3.00x.

The obligations under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement are guaranteed by certain of SuperMedia's subsidiaries and are secured by a lien on substantially all of SuperMedia and the SuperMedia guarantors' tangible and intangible assets, including a pledge of the stock of their respective subsidiaries, as well as a mortgage on certain real property, subject in each case, to certain exceptions.

The obligations under each of the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements are guaranteed by each of the respective borrower's subsidiaries, if any, and are secured by a lien on substantially all of such borrower's and such subsidiaries' tangible and intangible assets, including a pledge of the stock of their respective subsidiaries, as well as a mortgage on certain real property, if any, in each case, subject to certain exceptions.

Pursuant to a shared guaranty and collateral agreement and subject to an intercreditor agreement among the administrative agents under each of the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements, Dex One and, subject to exceptions, certain of its subsidiaries (but excluding the borrowers under the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements), guaranty the obligations under each of the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements and the obligations under each of the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements and the obligations under each of the Dex One Secured Credit Agreements are secured by a lien on substantially all of such shared guarantor's tangible and intangible assets (except that with respect to Dex One's subsidiaries, Dex One Digital, Inc. and R.H. Donnelley Corporation, such guarantee is only secured by a pledge of stock held by such subsidiaries, if any), including a pledge of the stock of their respective subsidiaries, as well as a mortgage on certain real property, if any, subject in each case, to certain exceptions.

ARTICLE VI EVENTS LEADING TO THE CHAPTER 11 CASES

The Debtors' operations have been impacted by a highly competitive industry in the United States. The Debtors compete with many different advertising media, including newspapers, radio, television, the internet, billboards, direct mail, telemarketing and other yellow pages directory publishers. The Debtors compete with Yellowbook in the majority of their markets, and with AT&T and Local Insight Media. Competition has adversely affected the Debtors' financial performance with respect to cost per reference, features, usage leadership and distribution.

Declining use of print yellow page directories has also adversely affected the Debtors' businesses. This decline can be attributed to increased use of internet search providers, particularly in business-to-business and retail categories, as well as the proliferation of very large retail stores for which consumers and businesses may not reference the yellow pages. The Debtors face increasing competition from the internet as an advertising medium for businesses of all sizes. The Debtors compete with search engines and portals, such as Google, Yahoo!, Bing and AT&T, among others, some of which have entered into commercial agreements with SuperMedia and other major directory publishers. Internet search engines and service providers including, but not limited to, Google, Yahoo!, Bing, Facebook and Twitter, also have significantly greater technological and financial resources than the Debtors, and their accumulated customer information allows them to offer targeted advertising on a scale greater than the Debtors'. Further, the use of the internet, including as a means to transact commerce through wireless devices, has resulted in new technologies and services that compete with our traditional media and services.

In light of these circumstances, the Debtors believe that consummation of the Merger, the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and related transactions is in the best interest of their stakeholders. Combining SuperMedia and Dex One will produce a company that is better positioned as a national provider of social, local and mobile marketing solutions, and allow the combined company to achieve economies of scale with reduced costs and enhanced cash flow and liquidity.

The Plan provides the Debtors and their stakeholders an alternative to consummate the Merger, Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and related transactions in the event that the requisite consents from the SuperMedia Secured Lenders and holders of SuperMedia Interests are not achieved in an out-of-court solicitation. In the event that the Debtors are unable to obtain unanimous lender approval or the approval of a majority of SuperMedia's stockholders, but receive acceptances of the Plan from a majority (counting only those voting on the Plan) of the SuperMedia Secured Lenders, including the holders of at least 2/3 of the aggregate principal amount (counting only those voting on the Plan) under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, the

Debtors may file the Chapter 11 Cases and seek Confirmation and Consummation of the Plan. The Debtors have not taken any action approving a bankruptcy filing at this time, and, if the transaction is consummated outside of court, the Debtors will not commence the Chapter 11 Cases to Consummate the Plan.

The Debtors anticipate that effecting the Merger, and amending and restating the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, will position the combined company to increase sales of profitable products and services and phase out unprofitable products and services. Accordingly, as described earlier, the Debtors are soliciting senior secured lender consents and stockholder votes to approve the Merger and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, as applicable, on an out-of-court basis. Concurrently, and in accordance with sections 1125 and 1126 of the Bankruptcy Code, the Debtors are soliciting senior secured lender and stockholder votes on the Plan, which contemplates the Merger and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement. If the Debtors do not obtain the necessary lender consents and stockholder votes to satisfy corporate law requirements for approval of the Merger and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Credit Agreement outside of bankruptcy, the Debtors may effect the Merger and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Credit Agreement in chapter 11 through the Plan.

ARTICLE VII OTHER KEY ASPECTS OF THE PLAN

7.1 <u>Distributions</u>

One of the key concepts under the Bankruptcy Code is that only Claims and Interests that are "allowed" may receive distributions under a chapter 11 plan. This term is used throughout the Plan and the descriptions below. In general, an Allowed Claim or Interest means that the Debtors agree, or if there is a dispute, the Bankruptcy Court determines that the Claim or Interest, and the amount thereof, is in fact a valid obligation of or interest in the Debtors. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, a Final Order, or as otherwise agreed to by the relevant parties, on the Distribution Date, the Distribution Agent shall make initial distributions under the Plan on account of Allowed Claims and Interests, including those that become Allowed after the Distribution Record Date, subject to the Reorganized Debtors' right to object to Claims and Interests.

(a) **Disputed Claims Process**

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, if a party files a proof of claim and the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, do not determine in their sole discretion, and without the need for notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, that the Claim subject to such proof of claim is Allowed, such Claim shall be Disputed unless Allowed or disallowed by a Final Order or as otherwise set forth in the Plan. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, all proofs of claim filed after the Effective Date shall be disallowed and forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from assertion, and shall not be enforceable against any Reorganized Debtor, without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

(b) **Prosecution of Objections to Claims and Interests**

Except insofar as a Claim or Interest is Allowed under the Plan, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors or any other party in interest shall be entitled to object to the Claim or Interest. Any objections to Claims and Interests shall be served and filed on or before the 120th day after the Effective Date or by such later date as ordered by the Bankruptcy Court. All Claims and Interests not objected to by the end of such 120-day period shall be deemed Allowed unless such period is extended upon approval of the Bankruptcy Court. For the avoidance of doubt, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, from and after the Effective Date, each Reorganized Debtor shall have and retain any and all rights and defenses such Debtor had immediately prior to the Effective Date with respect to any Disputed Claim or Interest, including the Causes of Action retained pursuant to Section 4.15 of the Plan.

(c) <u>No Interest</u>

Unless otherwise specifically provided for in the Plan or by order of the Bankruptcy Court (including pursuant to the SuperMedia Cash Collateral Order), postpetition interest shall not accrue or be paid on Claims and

no holder of a Claim shall be entitled to interest accruing on or after the Petition Date on any Claim or right. Additionally, and without limiting the foregoing, interest shall not accrue or be paid on any Disputed Claim with respect to the period from the Effective Date to the date a final distribution is made on account of such Disputed Claim, if and when such Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim.

(d) <u>Disallowance of Claims and Interests</u>

All Claims and Interests of any Entity from which property is sought by the Debtors under sections 542, 543, 550, or 553 of the Bankruptcy Code or that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors allege is a transfere of a transfer that is avoidable under sections 522(f), 522(h), 544, 545, 547, 548, 549, or 724(a) of the Bankruptcy Code shall be disallowed if: (a) the Entity, on the one hand, and the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, on the other hand, agree or the Bankruptcy Court has determined by Final Order that such Entity or transferee is liable to turn over any property or monies under any of the aforementioned sections of the Bankruptcy Code and (b) such Entity or transferee has failed to turn over such property by the date set forth in such agreement or Final Order.

7.2 Treatment of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

(a) Assumption of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, each Executory Contract and Unexpired Lease shall be deemed assumed, without the need for any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, as of the Effective Date under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, unless any such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease: (a) is listed on the Rejection Schedule; (b) has been previously assumed or rejected by the Debtors by Final Order or has been assumed or rejected by the Debtors by order of the Bankruptcy Court as of the Effective Date, which order becomes a Final Order after the Effective Date; or (c) is the subject of a motion to assume or reject pending as of the Effective Date. The assumption of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases under the Plan may include the assignment of certain of such contracts to Affiliates or to Dex One and its subsidiaries. The Confirmation Order will constitute an order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the above-described assumptions, assignments, and rejections.

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or agreed to by the Debtors with the applicable counterparty, each assumed Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease shall include all modifications, amendments, supplements, restatements, or other agreements related thereto, and all rights related thereto, if any, including all easements, licenses, permits, rights, privileges, immunities, options, rights of first refusal, and any other interests, unless any of the foregoing agreements has been previously rejected or repudiated or is rejected or repudiated under the Plan. Modifications, amendments, supplements, and restatements to prepetition Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases that have been executed by the Debtors during the Chapter 11 Cases shall not be deemed to alter the prepetition nature of the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or the validity, priority, or amount of any Claims that may arise in connection therewith.

(b) <u>Cure of Defaults and Objections to Cure and Assumption</u>

The Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall pay Cures on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter. Unless otherwise agreed upon in writing by the parties to the applicable Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, all requests for payment of Cure that differ from the amounts paid or proposed to be paid by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors must be filed with the Claims and Solicitation Agent on or before 30 days after the Effective Date. Any such request that is not timely filed shall be disallowed and forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from assertion, and shall not be enforceable against any Reorganized Debtor, without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. Any Cure shall be deemed fully satisfied, released, and discharged upon payment by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors of the Cure; provided, however, that nothing in the Plan shall prevent the Reorganized Debtors from paying any Cure despite the failure of the relevant counterparty to file such request for payment of such Cure. The Reorganized Debtors also may settle any Cure without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. In addition, any objection to the assumption of an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease under the Plan must be filed with the Bankruptcy Court on or before 30 days after the Effective Date. Any such objection will be scheduled to be heard by the Bankruptcy Court at the Debtors' or Reorganized Debtors', as applicable, first

scheduled omnibus hearing for which such objection is timely filed. Any counterparty to an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that fails to timely object to the proposed assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease will be deemed to have consented to such assumption.

If there is a dispute regarding Cure, the ability of the Reorganized Debtors or any assignee to provide "adequate assurance of future performance" within the meaning of section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, or any other matter pertaining to assumption, then payment of Cure shall occur as soon as practicable after entry of a Final Order resolving such dispute, approving such assumption (and, if applicable, assignment), or as may be agreed upon by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and the counterparty to the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease. The Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, reserve the right either to reject or nullify the assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease within 45 days after a Final Order resolving an objection to assumption or determining the Cure or any request for adequate assurance of future performance required to assume such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, is entered.

Assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to the Plan or otherwise shall result in the full release and satisfaction of any Cures, Claims, or defaults, whether monetary or nonmonetary, including defaults of provisions restricting the change in control or ownership interest composition or other bankruptcy-related defaults, arising under any assumed Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease at any time prior to the effective date of assumption. Any and all Proofs of Claim based upon Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases that have been assumed in the Chapter 11 Cases, including pursuant to the Confirmation Order, shall be deemed disallowed and expunged as of the Effective Date without the need for any objection thereto or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

(c) **Pre-existing Payment and Other Obligations**

Rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to the Plan or otherwise shall not constitute a termination of pre-existing obligations owed to the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, under such contract or lease. In particular, notwithstanding any non-bankruptcy law to the contrary, the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve and do not waive any right to receive, or any continuing obligation of a counterparty to provide: (a) payment to the contracting Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, of outstanding and future amounts owing thereto under or in connection with rejected Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases or (b) warranties or continued maintenance obligations on goods previously purchased by the contracting Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, from counterparties to rejected Executory Contracts.

(d) Rejection Damages Claims and Objections to Rejections

Pursuant to section 502(g) of the Bankruptcy Code, counterparties to Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases that are rejected shall have the right to assert Claims, if any, on account of the rejection of such contracts and leases. Unless otherwise provided by a Bankruptcy Court order, any Proofs of Claim asserting Claims arising from the rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases pursuant to the Plan must be filed with the Claims and Solicitation Agent no later than 30 days after the later of the Confirmation Date or the effective date of rejection. Any such Proofs of Claim that are not timely filed shall be disallowed without the need for any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. Such Proofs of Claim shall be forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from assertion. Moreover, such Proofs of Claim shall not be enforceable against any Reorganized Debtor, without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, and any Claim arising out of the rejection of the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease shall be deemed fully satisfied, released, and discharged notwithstanding anything in a Proof of Claim to the contrary. All Allowed Claims arising from the rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases shall be classified as Class 8 - General Unsecured Claims against the applicable Debtor counterparty thereto.

(e) Contracts, Intercompany Contracts, and Leases Entered into After the Petition Date

Contracts, Intercompany Contracts, and leases entered into after the Petition Date by any Debtor and any Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases assumed by any Debtor may be performed by the applicable Reorganized Debtor in the ordinary course of business.

(f) Reservation of Rights

Neither the exclusion nor inclusion of any contract or lease in the Plan Supplement, nor anything contained in the Plan, shall constitute an admission by the Debtors that any such contract or lease is in fact an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or that any Reorganized Debtor has any liability thereunder. If there is a dispute regarding whether a contract or lease is or was executory or unexpired at the time of assumption or rejection, the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall have 45 days following entry of a Final Order resolving such dispute to alter their treatment of such contract or lease.

7.3 Release, Injunction, and Related Provisions

(a) Discharge of Claims and Termination of Interests

Except as otherwise provided for in the Plan and effective as of the Effective Date: (a) the rights afforded in the Plan and the treatment of all Claims and Interests shall be in exchange for and in complete satisfaction, discharge, and release of all Claims and Interests of any nature whatsoever, including any interest accrued on such Claims from and after the Petition Date, against the Debtors or any of their assets, property, or Estates; (b) the Plan shall bind all holders of Claims and Interests, notwithstanding whether any such holders failed to vote to accept or reject the Plan or voted to reject the Plan; (c) all Claims and Interests shall be satisfied, discharged, and released in full, and the Debtors' liability with respect thereto shall be extinguished completely, including any liability of the kind specified under section 502(g) of the Bankruptcy Code; and (d) all Entities shall be precluded from asserting against the Debtors, the Debtors' Estates, the Reorganized Debtors, their successors and assigns and their assets and properties any other Claims or Interests based upon any documents, instruments, or any act or omission, transaction, or other activity of any kind or nature that occurred prior to the Effective Date.

(b) Releases by the Debtors

Pursuant to section 1123(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, and except as otherwise specifically provided for in the Plan, for good and valuable consideration, on and after the Effective Date, the Released Parties are deemed released and discharged by the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, and the Estates from any and all Claims, obligations, rights, and liabilities whatsoever, whether for tort, fraud, contract, violations of federal or state securities laws, Avoidance Actions, including any derivative Claims, asserted or that could possibly have been asserted directly or indirectly on behalf of the Debtors, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereinafter arising, in law, equity, or otherwise, and any and all Causes of Action asserted or that could possibly have been asserted on behalf of the Debtors, that the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Estates, or Affiliates would have been legally entitled to assert in their own right (whether individually or collectively) or on behalf of the holder of any Claim or Interest or other Entity, based on or relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part, the Debtors or their Affiliates, the Chapter 11 Cases, the Transaction, the purchase, sale, or rescission of the purchase or sale of any Security of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, the subject matter of, or the transactions or events giving rise to, any Claim or Interest that is treated in the Plan, the business or contractual arrangements between any Debtor and any Released Party, prepetition contracts and agreements with one or more Debtors (including the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and other agreements reflecting long-term indebtedness), the SuperMedia Support Agreement, the restructuring of Claims and Interests prior to or in the Chapter 11 Cases, the negotiation, formulation, solicitation, or preparation of the Plan and Disclosure Statement or related agreements, instruments, or other documents, upon any other act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence taking place before the Effective Date, other than Claims or liabilities arising out of or related to any contractual or fixed monetary obligation owed to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors.

Entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval, pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019, of the release set forth in Section 8.2 of the Plan, which includes by reference each of the related provisions and definitions contained in the Plan, and further, shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's finding that such release is: (a) in exchange for the good and valuable consideration provided by the Released Parties; (b) a good faith settlement and compromise of the Claims released by Section 8.2 of the

Plan; (c) in the best interests of the Debtors and all holders of Claims and Interests; (d) fair, equitable, and reasonable; (e) given and made after due notice and opportunity for hearing; and (f) a bar to any of the Debtors asserting any Claim or Cause of Action released by Section 8.2 of the Plan.

(c) Releases by Holders of Claims and Interests

As of the Effective Date, the Releasing Parties shall be deemed to have conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally, irrevocably, and forever, released and discharged the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Estates, and the Released Parties from any and all Claims, Interests, obligations, rights, liabilities, actions, causes of action, choses in action, suits, debts, damages, dues, sums of money, accounts, reckonings, bonds, bills, specialties, covenants, contracts, controversies, agreements, promises, variances, trespasses, damages, judgments, remedies, rights of set-off, third-party claims, subrogation claims, contribution claims, reimbursement claims, indemnity claims, counterclaims, and crossclaims (including all claims and actions against any Entities under the Bankruptcy Code) whatsoever, whether for tort, fraud, contract, violations of federal or state securities laws, Avoidance Actions, including any derivative Claims, asserted on behalf of the Debtors, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereinafter arising, in law, equity, or otherwise, that such Entity would have been legally entitled to assert (whether individually or collectively), based on or in any way relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part, the Debtors, the Debtors' restructuring, the Chapter 11 Cases, the Transaction, the purchase, sale, or rescission of the purchase or sale of any Security of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, the subject matter of, or the transactions or events giving rise to, any Claim or Interest that is treated in the Plan, the business or contractual arrangements between any Debtor and any Released Party, prepetition contracts and agreements with one or more Debtors (including the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and other agreements reflecting long-term indebtedness), the SuperMedia Support Agreement, the restructuring of Claims and Interests prior to or in the Chapter 11 Cases, the negotiation, formulation, solicitation, or preparation of the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Plan Supplement, or related agreements, instruments, or other documents, upon any other act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence taking place before the Effective Date of the Plan. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the release set forth above does not release any obligations arising on or after the Effective Date of any party under the Plan, or any document, instrument, or agreement (including those set forth in the Plan Supplement) executed to implement the Plan.

Entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval, pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019, of the release set forth in Section 8.3 of the Plan, which includes by reference each of the related provisions and definitions contained in the Plan, and further, shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's finding that such release is: (a) in exchange for the good and valuable consideration provided by the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Estates, and the Released Parties; (b) a good faith settlement and compromise of the Claims released by Section 8.3 of the Plan; (c) in the best interests of the Debtors and all holders of Claims and Interests; (d) fair, equitable, and reasonable; (e) given and made after due notice and opportunity for hearing; and (f) a bar to any Entity granting a release under Section 8.3 of the Plan from asserting any Claim or Cause of Action released by Section 8.3 of the Plan.

(d) Exculpation

No Exculpated Party shall have or incur, and each Exculpated Party is hereby released and exculpated from any Exculpated Claim or any obligation, Cause of Action, or liability for any Exculpated Claim; provided, however, that the foregoing "exculpation" shall have no effect on the liability of any Entity that results from any such act or omission that is determined in a Final Order to have constituted gross negligence or willful misconduct; provided, further, that in all respects such Entities shall be entitled to reasonably rely upon the advice of counsel with respect to their duties and responsibilities pursuant to, or in connection with, the Plan. The Exculpated Parties have, and upon Confirmation shall be deemed to have, participated in good faith and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code with regard to the solicitation of acceptances and rejections of the Plan and the making of distributions pursuant to the Plan and, therefore, are not and shall not be liable at any time for the violation of any applicable, law,

rule, or regulation governing the solicitation of acceptances or rejections of the Plan or such distributions made pursuant to the Plan.

(e) **Preservation of Rights of Action**

Unless any Causes of Action against an Entity are expressly waived, relinquished, exculpated, released, compromised, or settled in the Plan or by a Final Order, in accordance with section 1123(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Reorganized Debtors shall retain and may enforce all rights to commence and pursue any and all Causes of Action, whether arising before or after the Petition Date, including any actions specifically enumerated in the Plan Supplement, and the Reorganized Debtors' rights to commence, prosecute, or settle such Causes of Action shall be preserved notwithstanding the occurrence of the Effective Date. No Entity may rely on the absence of a specific reference in the Plan, the Plan Supplement, or the Disclosure Statement to any Cause of Action against them as any indication that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors will not pursue any and all available Causes of Action against them. The Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve all rights to prosecute any and all Causes of Action against any Entity, except as otherwise expressly provided in the Plan. Unless any Causes of Action against an Entity are expressly waived, relinquished, exculpated, released, compromised, or settled in the Plan or a Bankruptcy Court order, the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve all Causes of Action, for later adjudication, and, therefore no preclusion doctrine, including the doctrines of res judicata, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, claim preclusion, estoppel (judicial, equitable, or otherwise), or laches, shall apply to such Causes of Action upon, after, or as a consequence of the Confirmation or Consummation.

The Reorganized Debtors reserve and shall retain Causes of Action notwithstanding the rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease during the Chapter 11 Cases or pursuant to the Plan. In accordance with section 1123(b)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code, any Causes of Action that a Debtor may hold against any Entity shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors. The applicable Reorganized Debtor, through its authorized agents or representatives, shall retain and may exclusively enforce any and all such Causes of Action. The Reorganized Debtors shall have the exclusive right, authority, and discretion to determine and to initiate, file, prosecute, enforce, abandon, settle, compromise, release, withdraw, or litigate to judgment any such Causes of Action, or to decline to do any of the foregoing, without the consent or approval of any third party or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

(f) **Injunction**

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or for obligations issued pursuant to the Plan, all Entities that have held, hold, or may hold Claims or Interests that have been released pursuant to Section 8.2 of the Plan or Section 8.3 of the Plan, discharged pursuant to Section 8.1 of the Plan, or are subject to exculpation pursuant to Section 8.4 of the Plan are permanently enjoined, from and after the Effective Date, from taking any of the following actions against, as applicable, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Released Parties, or the Exculpated Parties: (a) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests; (b) enforcing, attaching, collecting, or recovering by any manner or means any judgment, award, decree, or order against such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests; (c) creating, perfecting, or enforcing any encumbrance of any kind against such Entities or the property or Estates of such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests; (d) asserting any right of setoff, subrogation, or recoupment of any kind against any obligation due from such Entities or against the property or Estates of such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests unless such holder has filed a motion requesting the right to perform such setoff on or before the Confirmation Date; and (e) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests released, exculpated, or settled pursuant to the Plan.

7.4 Protection Against Discriminatory Treatment

In accordance with section 525 of the Bankruptcy Code, and consistent with paragraph 2 of Article VI of the United States Constitution, no Governmental Unit shall discriminate against any Reorganized Debtor, or any Entity with which a Reorganized Debtor has been or is associated, solely because such Reorganized Debtor was a

Debtor under chapter 11, may have been insolvent before the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases (or during the Chapter 11 Cases but before such Debtor was granted or denied a discharge), or has not paid a debt that is dischargeable in the Chapter 11 Cases.

7.5 Indemnification

On and from the Effective Date, and except as prohibited by applicable law, the Reorganized Debtors shall assume or reinstate, as applicable, all indemnification obligations in place as of the Effective Date (whether in bylaws, certificates of incorporation, board resolutions, contracts, or otherwise) for the current and former directors, officers, managers, employees, attorneys, other professionals and agents of the Debtors and such current and former directors', officers', managers', and employees' respective Affiliates.

7.6 Recoupment

In no event shall any holder of Claims or Interests be entitled to recoup any Claim or Interest against any Claim, right, or Cause of Action of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, unless such holder actually has performed such recoupment and provided notice thereof in writing to the Debtors on or before the Confirmation Date, notwithstanding any indication in any Proof of Claim or Interest or otherwise that such holder asserts, has, or intends to preserve any right of recoupment.

7.7 Release of Liens

Except (a) with respect to the Liens securing the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims, (b) with respect to the Liens securing the Secured Tax Claims or Other Secured Claims (depending on the treatment of such Claims), or (c) as otherwise provided herein or in any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or document created pursuant to the Plan, on the Effective Date, all mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges, or other security interests against any property of the Estates shall be fully released and discharged, and all of the right, title, and interest of any holder of such mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges, or other security interests shall revert to the Reorganized Debtor and its successors and assigns.

7.8 Reimbursement or Contribution

If the Bankruptcy Court disallows a Claim for reimbursement or contribution of an Entity pursuant to section 502(e)(1)(B) of the Bankruptcy Code, then to the extent that such Claim is contingent as of the Effective Date, such Claim shall be forever disallowed notwithstanding section 502(j) of the Bankruptcy Code, unless prior to the Effective Date (a) such Claim has been adjudicated as noncontingent or (b) the relevant holder of a Claim has filed a noncontingent Proof of Claim on account of such Claim and a Final Order has been entered determining such Claim as no longer contingent.

7.9 Newdex Common Stock

The authorized shares of Newdex—Newdex Common Stock—will have a par value of \$0.001 per share.

7.10 <u>Incentive Plans and Employee and Retiree Benefits</u>

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, on and after the Effective Date, subject to any Final Order, the Reorganized Debtors shall: (a) amend, adopt, assume and/or honor in the ordinary course of business, any contracts, agreements, policies, programs, and plans, in accordance with their respective terms, for, among other things, compensation, including any incentive plan, health care benefits, disability benefits, deferred compensation benefits, savings, severance benefits, retirement benefits, welfare benefits, workers' compensation insurance, and accidental death and dismemberment insurance for the directors, officers, and employees of any of the Debtors who served in such capacity from and after the Petition Date and (b) honor, in the ordinary course of business, Claims of employees employed as of the Effective Date for accrued vacation time arising prior to the Petition Date and not otherwise paid pursuant to a Bankruptcy Court order. Notwithstanding the foregoing, pursuant to section 1129(a)(13) of the Bankruptcy Code, from and after the Effective Date, all retiree benefits (as that term is defined in section 1114 of the Bankruptcy Code), if any, shall continue to be paid in accordance with applicable law.

7.11 <u>Subordination</u>

The allowance, classification, and treatment of all Claims and Interests under the Plan shall conform to and with the respective contractual, legal, and equitable subordination rights of such Claims and Interests, and the Plan shall recognize and implement any such rights. Pursuant to section 510 of the Bankruptcy Code, except where otherwise provided in the Plan, the Reorganized Debtors reserve the right to re-classify any Allowed Claim or Interest in accordance with any contractual, legal, or equitable subordination relating thereto.

7.12 Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtors

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, including in connection with the Merger, or in any agreement, instrument, or other document incorporated in the Plan (including the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Documents), on the Effective Date, all property in each Estate, all Causes of Action, and any property acquired by any of the Debtors under the Plan shall vest in each respective Reorganized Debtor, free and clear of all Liens, Claims, charges, or other encumbrances. On and after the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, each Reorganized Debtor may operate its business and may use, acquire, or dispose of property and compromise or settle any Claims, Interests, or Causes of Action without supervision or approval by the Bankruptcy Court and free of any restrictions of the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules.

7.13 Modification of Plan

Effective as of the date of the Plan: (a) the Debtors reserve the right, in accordance with the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules, to amend or modify the Plan before the entry of the Confirmation Order, subject to the limitations set forth in the Plan and, if effective, the SuperMedia Support Agreement; and (b) after the entry of the Confirmation Order, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, may, upon order of the Bankruptcy Court, amend or modify the Plan, in accordance with section 1127(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, remedy any defect or omission, or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in such manner as may be necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of the Plan, subject to the limitations set forth in the Plan and, if effective, the SuperMedia Support Agreement.

7.14 Revocation or Withdrawal of Plan

The Debtors reserve the right to revoke or withdraw the Plan before the Confirmation Date and to file subsequent chapter 11 plans. If the Debtors revoke or withdraw the Plan, or if Confirmation or the Effective Date does not occur, then: (a) the Plan will be null and void in all respects; (b) any settlement or compromise embodied in the Plan, assumption or rejection of Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases effected by the Plan, and any document or agreement executed pursuant to the Plan will be null and void in all respects; and (c) nothing contained in the Plan shall (1) constitute a waiver or release of any Claims, Interests, or Causes of Action, (2) prejudice in any manner the rights of any Debtor or any other Entity, or (3) constitute an admission, acknowledgement, offer, or undertaking of any sort by any Debtor or any other Entity.

7.15 Reservation of Rights

Except as expressly set forth in the Plan, the Plan shall have no force or effect unless the Bankruptcy Court shall enter the Confirmation Order. None of the filing of the Plan, any statement or provision contained in the Plan, or the taking of any action by any Debtor with respect to the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, or the Plan Supplement shall be or shall be deemed to be an admission or waiver of any rights of any Debtor with respect to the holders of Claims or Interests prior to the Effective Date.

7.16 Plan Supplement Exhibits

All exhibits and documents included in the Plan Supplement are incorporated into and are a part of the Plan as if set forth in full in the Plan. The Debtors will not serve paper or CD-ROM copies of the Plan Supplement; however, parties may obtain a copy of the Plan Supplement from the Claims and Solicitation Agent by: (1) calling the Debtors' restructuring hotline at one of the telephone numbers set forth earlier in this Disclosure Statement; (2) visiting the Debtors' restructuring website, www.epiq11.com/SuperMedia; and/or (3) writing to SuperMedia Inc.

Ballot Processing Center, c/o Epiq Systems, FDR Station, P.O. Box 5014, New York, New York 10150-5014. Unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court, to the extent any exhibit or document in the Plan Supplement is inconsistent with the terms of any part of the Plan that does not constitute the Plan Supplement, such part of the Plan that does not constitute the Plan Supplement shall control.

7.17 <u>Conditions Precedent to the Effective Date</u>

The following conditions shall have been satisfied or waived, pursuant to Section 9.2 of the Plan, as a condition to the Effective Date:

- (a) the Confirmation Order shall have been entered, and such order shall not have been stayed modified, or vacated on appeal;
- (b) if the Dex One Chapter 11 Cases have been filed, the Dex One Confirmation Order shall have been entered by the Bankruptcy Court and such order shall not have been stayed, modified or vacated on appeal;
- (c) the Merger shall have been consummated, and all conditions set forth in Article VII of the Merger Agreement shall have been satisfied (and not waived);
- (d) all respective conditions precedent to the consummation of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement shall have been waived or satisfied in accordance with the terms thereof;
- (e) if the Dex One Chapter 11 Cases have been filed, the effective date of the Dex One Plan shall have occurred in accordance with the terms thereof concurrently with the occurrence of the Effective Date:
- (f) all fees and expenses of the SuperMedia Administrative Agent, including the fees and expenses of counsel and the financial advisors to the SuperMedia Administrative Agent, shall have been paid in full in cash; and
- (g) all documents and agreements necessary to implement the Plan shall have: (1) all conditions precedent to such documents and agreements satisfied or waived pursuant to the terms of such documents or agreements; (2) been tendered for delivery to the required parties and, to the extent required, filed with and approved by any applicable Governmental Units in accordance with applicable laws; and (3) been effected or executed.

The Debtors, with the prior written consent of the SuperMedia Administrative Agent, which may not be unreasonably withheld, may waive any of the conditions to the Effective Date set forth in the Plan at any time without any notice to any other parties in interest and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, and without any formal action other than proceeding to confirm or consummate the Plan.

If prior to Consummation, the Confirmation Order is vacated pursuant to a Final Order, then except as provided in any order of the Bankruptcy Court vacating the Confirmation Order, the Plan will be null and void in all respects, and nothing contained in the Plan or this Disclosure Statement shall: (a) constitute a waiver or release of any Claims, Interests, or Causes of Action; (b) prejudice in any manner the rights of any Debtor or any other Entity; or (c) constitute an admission, acknowledgment, offer, or undertaking of any sort by any Debtor or any other Entity.

ARTICLE VIII CERTAIN FACTORS TO BE CONSIDERED

PRIOR TO VOTING TO ACCEPT OR REJECT THE PLAN, ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS THAT ARE IMPAIRED SHOULD READ AND CAREFULLY CONSIDER THE FACTORS SET FORTH HEREIN, AS WELL AS ALL OTHER INFORMATION SET FORTH OR OTHERWISE REFERENCED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT.

ALTHOUGH THESE RISK FACTORS ARE MANY, THESE FACTORS SHOULD NOT BE REGARDED AS CONSTITUTING THE ONLY RISKS PRESENT IN CONNECTION WITH THE DEBTORS' BUSINESSES OR THE PLAN AND ITS IMPLEMENTATION.

8.1 General

The following provides a summary of various important considerations and risk factors associated with the Plan; however, it is not exhaustive. For additional risk factors, please refer to SuperMedia's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 and Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended March 31, 2012, June 30, 2012 and September 30, 2012, which are incorporated by reference into this Disclosure Statement and are publicly available in their entirety at (a) the Debtors' investor relations website, located at http://ir.SuperMedia.com and (b) the SEC's Electronic Data Gathering, Analysis, and Retrieval system, located at http://www.sec.gov/edgar/searchedgar/webusers.htm. In considering whether to object to Confirmation, holders of Claims should read and carefully consider the factors set forth below, as well as all other information set forth or otherwise referenced or incorporated by reference in this Disclosure Statement.

8.2 Risks Related to the Plan and Other Bankruptcy Law Considerations

(a) A Claim or Interest Holder May Object to, and the Bankruptcy Court May Disagree with, the Debtors' Classification of Claims and Interests

Section 1122 of the Bankruptcy Code provides that a plan may place a claim or an equity interest in a particular class only if such claim or equity interest is substantially similar to the other claims or equity interests in such class. The Debtors believe that the classification of Claims and Interests under the Plan complies with the requirements set forth in the Bankruptcy Code because the Debtors created eight Classes of Claims and Interests, each encompassing Claims or Interests, as applicable, that are substantially similar to the other Claims and Interests in each such Class. However, a Claim or Interest holder could challenge the Debtors' classification. In such an event, the cost of the Chapter 11 Cases and the time needed to confirm the Plan may increase, and there can be no assurance that the Bankruptcy Court will agree with the Debtors' classification. If the Bankruptcy Court concludes that either or both of the classifications of Claims and Interests under the Plan do not comply with the requirements of the Bankruptcy Code, the Debtors may need to modify the Plan. Such modification could require re-solicitation of votes on the Plan. The Plan may not be confirmed if the Bankruptcy Court determines that the Debtors' classification of Claims and Interests is not appropriate.

(b) The Debtors May Not Be Able to Satisfy the Voting Requirements for Confirmation of the Plan

If votes are received in number and amount sufficient to enable the Bankruptcy Court to confirm the Plan, the Debtors may seek, as promptly as practicable thereafter, Confirmation. If the Plan does not receive the required support from Classes 5 and 9, the Debtors may elect to amend the Plan, seek Confirmation regardless of the rejection, seek to sell their assets pursuant to section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code, or proceed with liquidation.

(c) The Bankruptcy Court May Not Confirm the Plan or May Require the Debtors to Re-Solicit Votes with Respect to the Plan

The Debtors cannot assure you that the Plan will be confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court. Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code, which sets forth the requirements for confirmation of a plan of reorganization, requires, among other things, a finding by the Bankruptcy Court that the plan of reorganization is "feasible," that all claims and interests have been classified in compliance with the provisions of section 1122 of the Bankruptcy Code, and that, under the plan of reorganization, each holder of a claim or interest within each impaired class either accepts the plan of reorganization or receives or retains cash or property of a value, as of the date the plan of reorganization becomes effective, that is not less than the value such holder would receive or retain if the debtor were liquidated under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. There can be no assurance that the Bankruptcy Court will conclude that the feasibility test and other requirements of section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code have been met with respect to the Plan.

If the Plan is filed, there can be no assurance that modifications to the Plan would not be required for Confirmation, or that such modifications would not require a re-solicitation of votes on the Plan.

Moreover, the Bankruptcy Court could fail to approve this Disclosure Statement or the Shareholder Disclosure Statement and determine that the votes in favor of the Plan should be disregarded. The Debtors then would be required to recommence the solicitation process, which would include re-filing a plan of reorganization and disclosure statements. Typically, this process involves a 60- to 90-day period and includes a court hearing for the required approval of disclosure statement(s), followed (after bankruptcy court approval) by another solicitation of claim and interest holder votes for the plan of reorganization, followed by a confirmation hearing at which the bankruptcy court will determine whether the requirements for confirmation have been satisfied, including the requisite claim and interest holder acceptances.

If the Plan is not confirmed, the Chapter 11 Cases may be converted into cases under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code, pursuant to which a trustee would be appointed or elected to liquidate the Debtors' assets for distribution in accordance with the priorities established by the Bankruptcy Code. A discussion of the effects that a chapter 7 liquidation would have on the recoveries of holders of claims and interests and the Debtors' liquidation analysis are set forth under the unaudited liquidation analysis, attached hereto as Exhibit G. The Debtors believe that liquidation under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code would result in, among other things, smaller distributions being made to creditors than those provided for in the Plan because of:

- the likelihood that the Debtors' assets would need to be sold or otherwise disposed of in a less orderly fashion over a short period of time;
- additional administrative expenses involved in the appointment of a trustee; and
- additional expenses and claims, some of which would be entitled to priority, which would be generated during the liquidation and from the rejection of leases and other Executory Contracts in connection with a cessation of the Debtors' operations.

(d) The Debtors May Object to the Amount or Classification of a Claim or Interest

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the Debtors reserve the right to object to the amount or classification of any Claim or Interest under the Plan. The estimates set forth in this Disclosure Statement cannot be relied on by any holder of a Claim or Interest where such Claim or Interest is subject to an objection. Any holder of a Claim or Interest that is subject to an objection thus may not receive its expected share of the estimated distributions described in this Disclosure Statement.

(e) <u>Even if the Debtors Receive All Necessary Acceptances for the Plan to Become Effective, the</u> Debtors May Fail to Meet All Conditions Precedent to Effectiveness of the Plan

Although the Debtors believe that the Effective Date would occur very shortly after the Confirmation Date, there can be no assurance as to such timing.

The Confirmation and effectiveness of the Plan are subject to certain conditions that may or may not be satisfied. The Debtors cannot assure you that all requirements for Confirmation and effectiveness required under the Plan will be satisfied.

(f) Contingencies May Affect Distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims and Interests

The distributions available to holders of Allowed Claims and Interests under the Plan can be affected by a variety of contingencies, including, whether the Bankruptcy Court orders certain Allowed Claims to be subordinated to other Allowed Claims. The occurrence of any and all such contingencies could affect distributions under the Plan.

(g) The Bankruptcy Court May Find the Solicitation of Acceptances Inadequate

Usually, votes to accept or reject a plan of reorganization are solicited after the filing of a petition commencing a chapter 11 case. Nevertheless, a debtor may solicit votes prior to the commencement of a chapter 11 case in accordance with sections 1125(g) and 1126(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 3018(b). Sections 1125(g) and 1126(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 3018(b) require that:

- solicitation comply with applicable nonbankruptcy law;
- the plan of reorganization be transmitted to substantially all creditors and other interest holders entitled to vote; and
- the time prescribed for voting is not unreasonably short.

With regard to solicitation of votes prior to the commencement of a bankruptcy case, if the Bankruptcy Court concludes that the requirements of Bankruptcy Rule 3018(b) have not been met, then the Bankruptcy Court could deem such votes invalid, whereupon the Plan could not be confirmed without a resolicitation of votes to accept or reject the Plan. While the Debtors believe that the requirements of sections 1125(g) and 1126(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 3018(b) will be met, there can be no assurance that the Bankruptcy Court will reach the same conclusion.

(h) The SEC, the United States Trustee, or Other Parties May Object to the Plan on Account of the Third-Party Release Provisions

Any party in interest, including the SEC and the United States Trustee, could object to the Plan on the grounds that the third-party releases are not given consensually or in a permissible non-consensual manner. In response to such an objection, the Bankruptcy Court could determine that the third-party releases are not valid under the Bankruptcy Code. If the Bankruptcy Court makes such a determination, the Plan could not be confirmed without modifying the Plan to remove the third-party release provisions. This could result in substantial delay in Confirmation of the Plan or the Plan not being confirmed at all.

(i) The Debtors May Seek to Amend, Waive, Modify or Withdraw the Plan at Any Time Prior to Confirmation

The Debtors reserve the right, prior to the Confirmation of the Plan or substantial Consummation thereof, subject to the provisions of section 1127 of the Bankruptcy Code and applicable law and the SuperMedia Support Agreement, to amend the terms of the Plan or waive any conditions thereto if and to the extent such amendments or waivers are necessary or desirable to consummate the Plan. The potential impact of any such amendment or waiver on the holders of Claims and Interests cannot presently be foreseen but may include a change in the economic impact of the Plan on some or all of the proposed Classes or a change in the relative rights of such Classes. All holders of Claims and Interests will receive notice of such amendments or waivers required by applicable law and the Bankruptcy Court. If, after receiving sufficient acceptances, but prior to Confirmation of the Plan, the Debtors seek to modify the Plan, the previously solicited acceptances will be valid only if (1) all classes of adversely affected creditors and interest holders accept the modification in writing, or (2) the Bankruptcy Court determines, after notice to designated parties, that such modification was *de minimis* or purely technical or otherwise did not adversely change the treatment of holders of accepting Claims and Interests or is otherwise permitted by the Bankruptcy Code.

(j) The Plan May Have a Material Adverse Effects on the Debtors' Operations

The solicitation of acceptances of the Plan and commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases could adversely affect the relationships between the Debtors and their respective customers, employees, partners, and others. There is a risk, due to uncertainty about the Debtors' future, that, among other things:

• the Debtors' customers' confidence in the abilities of the Debtors to produce and deliver their products and services could erode, resulting in a significant decline in the Debtors' revenues, profitability, and cash flow;

- it may become more difficult to retain, attract, or replace key employees;
- employees could be distracted from performance of their duties or more easily attracted to other career opportunities; and
- the Debtors' suppliers, vendors, and service providers could terminate their relationships with the Debtors or require financial assurances or enhanced performance, subject to the Debtors' assertions in the Bankruptcy Court of certain protections under the Bankruptcy Code.
- (k) The Debtors Cannot Predict the Amount of Time Spent in Bankruptcy for the Purpose of Implementing the Plan, and a Lengthy Bankruptcy Proceeding Could Disrupt the Debtors' Businesses, as well as Impair the Prospect for Reorganization on the Terms Contained in the Plan

The Debtors estimate that the process of obtaining Confirmation of the Plan by the Bankruptcy Court will last approximately 30 to 60 days from the Petition Date, but it could last considerably longer if, for example, Confirmation is contested or the conditions to Confirmation or Consummation are not satisfied or waived.

While the Debtors expect that the Chapter 11 Cases filed solely for the purpose of implementing the Plan would be of short duration and would not be unduly disruptive to the Debtors' businesses, the Debtors cannot be certain that this necessarily would be the case. Although the Plan is designed to minimize the length of the bankruptcy proceedings, it is impossible to predict with certainty the amount of time that the Debtors may spend in bankruptcy, and the Debtors cannot be certain that the Plan would be confirmed. Even if confirmed on a timely basis, a bankruptcy proceeding to confirm the Plan could itself have an adverse effect on the Debtors' businesses. There is a risk, due to uncertainty about the Debtors' futures, that, among other things:

- customers could move to the Debtors' competitors, including competitors that have comparatively greater financial resources and that are in comparatively less financial distress;
- employees could be distracted from performance of their duties or more easily attracted to other career opportunities; and
- business partners could terminate their relationship with the Debtors or demand financial assurances or enhanced performance, any of which could impair the Debtors' prospects.

A lengthy bankruptcy proceeding also would involve additional expenses and divert the attention of management from the operation of the Debtors' businesses, as well as create concerns for employees, suppliers and customers.

The disruption that the bankruptcy process would have on the Debtors' businesses could increase with the length of time it takes to complete the Chapter 11 Cases. If the Debtors are unable to obtain Confirmation of the Plan on a timely basis, because of a challenge to the Plan or otherwise, the Debtors may be forced to operate in bankruptcy for an extended period of time while they try to develop a different reorganization plan that can be confirmed. A protracted bankruptcy case could increase both the probability and the magnitude of the adverse effects described above.

(l) Other Parties in Interest Might Be Permitted to Propose Alternative Plans of Reorganization that May Be Less Favorable to Certain of the Debtors' Constituencies Than the Plan

Other parties in interest could seek authority from the Bankruptcy Court to propose an alternative plan of reorganization to the Plan. Under the Bankruptcy Code, a debtor-in-possession initially has the exclusive right to propose and solicit acceptances of a plan of reorganization for a period of 120 days from filing. However, such exclusivity period can be reduced or terminated upon order of the Bankruptcy Court. If such an order were to be entered, other parties in interest would then have the opportunity to propose alternative plans of reorganization.

If other parties in interest were to propose an alternative plan of reorganization following expiration or termination of the Debtors' exclusivity period, such a plan may be less favorable to existing holders of SuperMedia

Interests and may seek to exclude these holders from retaining any equity under their plan. Alternative plans of reorganization also may treat less favorably the Claims of a number of other constituencies, including the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claim holders, the Debtors' employees, and the Debtors' trading partners and customers. The Debtors consider maintaining relationships with their senior secured creditors, common stockholders, employees, and trading partners and customers as critical to maintaining the value of Newdex following the Effective Date, and have sought to treat those constituencies accordingly. However, proponents of alternative plans of reorganization may not share the Debtors' assessments and may seek to impair the Claims of such constituencies to a greater degree. If there were competing plans of reorganization, the Chapter 11 Cases likely would become longer, more complicated, and much more expensive. If this were to occur, or if the Debtors' employees or other constituencies important to the Debtors' business reacted adversely to an alternative plan of reorganization, the adverse consequences discussed in the foregoing Section 8.2(k) also could occur.

(m) <u>The Debtors' Business May Be Negatively Affected if the Debtors Are Unable to Assume Their Executory Contracts</u>

An executory contract is a contract on which performance remains due to some extent by both parties to the contract. The Plan provides for the assumption of all Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases, unless designated on a schedule of rejected contracts. The Debtors intend to preserve as much of the benefit of their existing contracts and leases as possible. However, with respect to some limited classes of Executory Contracts, including licenses with respect to patents or trademarks, the Debtors may need to obtain the consent of the counterparty to maintain the benefit of the contract. There is no guarantee that such consent either would be forthcoming or that conditions would not be attached to any such consent that makes assuming the contracts unattractive. The Debtors then would be required to either forego the benefits offered by such contracts or to find alternative arrangements to replace them.

(n) <u>Material Transactions Could Be Set Aside as Fraudulent Conveyances or Preferential</u> Transfers

Certain payments received by stakeholders prior to the bankruptcy filing could be challenged under applicable debtor/creditor or bankruptcy laws as either a "fraudulent conveyance" or a "preferential transfer." A fraudulent conveyance occurs when a transfer of a debtor's assets is made with the intent to defraud creditors or in exchange for consideration that does not represent reasonably equivalent value to the property transferred. A preferential transfer occurs upon a transfer of property of the debtor while the debtor is insolvent for the benefit of a creditor on account of an antecedent debt owed by the debtor that was made on or within 90 days before the date of filing of the bankruptcy petition or one year before the date of filing of the petition, if the creditor, at the time of such transfer was an insider. If any transfer was challenged in the Bankruptcy Court and found to have occurred with regard to any of the Debtors' material transactions, a bankruptcy court could order the recovery of all amounts received by the recipient of the transfer.

(o) <u>The Debtors May Be Unsuccessful in Obtaining First Day Orders to Permit Them to Pay</u> <u>Their Key Suppliers and Their Employees, or to Continue to Perform Customer Programs in the Ordinary Course of Business</u>

The Debtors have tried to address potential concerns of their key customers, vendors, employees, and other key parties in interest that might arise from the filing of the Plan through a variety of provisions incorporated into or contemplated by the Plan, including the Debtors' intention to seek appropriate court orders to permit the Debtors to pay their prepetition and postpetition accounts payable to parties in interest in the ordinary course. However, there can be no guarantee that the Debtors will be successful in obtaining the necessary approvals of the Bankruptcy Court for such arrangements or for every party in interest the Debtors may seek to treat in this manner, and, as a result, the Debtors' businesses might suffer.

(p) The Bankruptcy Court May Not Approve the Debtors' Use of Cash Collateral

Upon commencing the Chapter 11 Cases, the Debtors will ask the Bankruptcy Court to authorize the Debtors to use cash collateral to fund the Chapter 11 Cases and to provide customary adequate protection to the lenders under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, which requests will be in accordance with the terms of the

SuperMedia Support Agreement. Such access to cash collateral will provide liquidity during the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases. There can be no assurance that the Bankruptcy Court will approve such use of cash collateral on the terms requested. Moreover, if the Chapter 11 Cases take longer than expected to conclude, the Debtors may exhaust their available cash collateral. There is no assurance that the Debtors will be able to obtain an extension of the right to use cash collateral, in which case, the liquidity necessary for the orderly functioning of the Debtors' businesses may be impaired materially.

(q) The Plan May Be Confirmed Over The Objection Of Holders of SuperMedia Interests

Under the "cram down" provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, the Plan may be confirmed even if the holders of SuperMedia Interests do not vote to accept the Plan if the Bankruptcy Court finds that the Plan does not discriminate unfairly, and is fair and equitable, regarding each Class of Claims or Interests that is Impaired under, and has not accepted, the Plan. If the requisite vote of the SuperMedia Secured Lenders to accept the Plan is obtained, but the requisite vote of the SuperMedia Interest holders to accept the Plan is not, the Debtors may seek to have the Plan confirmed under the cram down provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.

8.3 <u>Business-Specific Risk Factors</u>

Risk Factors Relating to the Merger

(a) The Exchange Ratios Are Fixed and Will Not Be Adjusted in the Event of Any Change in Either Dex One's or SuperMedia's Stock Price

Upon the Effective Date, each Allowed SuperMedia Interest will be converted into 0.4386 shares of Newdex Common Stock and each share of Dex One common stock will be converted into the right to receive 0.2 shares of Newdex Common Stock. These exchange ratios will not be adjusted for changes in the market price of either SuperMedia Interests or Dex One common stock between the signing of the Merger Agreement and the Effective Date. Changes in the prices of SuperMedia Interests and Dex One common stock will affect the value of the Newdex Common Stock that SuperMedia Interest holders and Dex One stockholders, respectively, will receive in the Merger.

(b) <u>Holders of SuperMedia Interests and Dex One Stockholders Cannot Be Sure of the Market</u> Value of the Shares of Newdex Common Stock to Be Issued Upon the Effective Date

Holders of SuperMedia Interests and Dex One stockholders will each receive a fixed number of shares of Newdex Common Stock in the Merger. The market values of SuperMedia Interests and Dex One common stock on the Effective Date may vary significantly from their prices on the date the Merger Agreement was executed, the date of this Disclosure Statement, and the date on which holders of SuperMedia Interests and Dex One common stock vote on the Merger. Because the respective Merger consideration exchange ratios will not be adjusted to reflect any changes in the market prices of SuperMedia Interests or Dex One common stock, the market value of the Newdex Common Stock issued in the Merger and the SuperMedia Interests and Dex One common stock surrendered in the Merger may be higher or lower than the values of these shares on earlier dates. One hundred percent of the consideration under the Plan to be received by both holders of SuperMedia Interests and Dex One common stock will be Newdex Common Stock.

Changes in the market prices of SuperMedia Interests and Dex One common stock may result from a variety of factors that are beyond the control of SuperMedia or Dex One, including changes in their businesses, operations and prospects, regulatory considerations, governmental actions, and legal proceedings and developments. Market assessments of the benefits of the Merger, the likelihood that the Merger will be completed, and general and industry-specific market and economic conditions may also have an effect on the market price of SuperMedia Interests and Dex One common stock. Changes in market prices of SuperMedia Interests and Dex One common stock may also be caused by fluctuations and developments affecting domestic and global securities markets. Neither SuperMedia nor Dex One is permitted to terminate the Merger Agreement solely because of changes in the market price of either party's respective common stock.

In addition, the Effective Date may not be occur until a significant period of time has passed after the Voting Deadline. As a result, the market values of SuperMedia Interests or Dex One common stock may vary

significantly from the date of the Voting Deadline to the Effective Date. There can be no assurance that the Merger will be completed, that there will not be a delay in the completion of the Merger, or that all or any of the anticipated benefits of the Merger will be obtained.

(c) <u>Failure to Successfully Combine the Businesses of the Debtors and Dex One or Failure to Do</u> so in the Expected Time Frame May Adversely Affect Newdex's Future Results

The success of the Merger and the Plan will depend, in part, on Newdex's ability to realize the anticipated benefits from combining the businesses of the Debtors and Dex One. To realize these anticipated benefits, the businesses of the Debtors and Dex One must be successfully combined. Historically, the Debtors and Dex One have been independent companies, and they will continue to be operated as such until the Effective Date. The management of Newdex may face significant challenges in consolidating the functions of the Debtors and Dex One, integrating the technologies, organizations, procedures, policies, and operations of the two companies, as well as addressing the different business cultures at the two companies and retaining key personnel. If the Debtors and Dex One do not successfully integrate their business operations, the anticipated benefits of the Plan may not be realized fully or at all or may take longer to realize than expected. The integration may also be complex and time consuming and require substantial resources and effort. The integration process and other disruptions resulting from the Plan may also disrupt each company's ongoing businesses and/or adversely affect each company's relationships with employees, regulators, and others with whom they have business or other dealings. There can be no assurance that Newdex will be able to accomplish this integration process smoothly or successfully. In addition, the integration of certain operations following the Effective Date will require the dedication of significant management resources, which will compete for management's attention with its efforts to manage the day-to-day business of Newdex. Even if the Debtors and Dex One are able to integrate their business operations successfully, there can be no assurance that this integration will result in the realization of the full benefits of synergies, cost savings, growth, and operational efficiencies that may be possible from this integration, or that these benefits will be achieved within a reasonable period of time. Any inability to realize the full extent of, or any of, the anticipated cost savings and financial benefits of the Plan, as well as any delays encountered in the integration process, could have an adverse effect on the business and results of operations of Newdex, which may affect the market price of Newdex Common Stock.

(d) The Debtors and Dex One Will Be Subject to Business Uncertainties and Contractual Restrictions Prior to the Effective Date

Uncertainty about the effects of the Plan and the Dex One Plan, if filed, on employees and customers may have an adverse effect on the Debtors and Dex One and consequently on Newdex. These uncertainties may impair the Debtors' or Dex One's ability to retain and motivate key personnel and could cause customers and others that deal with the Debtors or Dex One to defer entering into contracts with the Debtors or Dex One or making other decisions concerning the Debtors or Dex One or seek to change existing business relationships with the Debtors or Dex One. In addition, if key employees depart because of uncertainty about their future roles and the potential complexities of the Merger, the Debtors' and Dex One's businesses could be harmed. In addition, the Merger Agreement restricts the Debtors and Dex One from making certain acquisitions and taking other specified actions until the Merger occurs without the consent of the other party. These restrictions may prevent the Debtors and Dex One from pursuing attractive business opportunities that may arise prior to the Effective Date.

(e) <u>Holders of SuperMedia Interests and Dex One Common Stockholders Will Have a Reduced</u> <u>Ownership and Voting Interest After the Effective Date and Will Exercise Less Influence</u> Over Management

Upon the Effective Date, holders of SuperMedia Interests and Dex One stockholders will own a smaller percentage of Newdex than they currently own of SuperMedia and Dex One, respectively. Upon Consummation of the Plan, it is anticipated that holders of SuperMedia Interests and Dex One stockholders will hold approximately 40% and 60%, respectively, of the shares of common stock of Newdex issued and outstanding immediately after the Consummation of the Plan. Consequently, holders of SuperMedia Interests, as a group, and Dex One stockholders, as a group, will each have reduced ownership and voting power in Newdex compared to their current ownership and voting power in SuperMedia Interests, as a group, will have less than a majority of the ownership and voting power of Newdex and, therefore, will be able to exercise

less collective influence over the management and policies of Newdex than they currently exercise over the management and policies of SuperMedia.

(f) Members of the Debtors' Management and Dex One's Management and Certain Directors Have Interests in the Plan that Are Different From, or in Addition to, Stockholders' Interests

Executive officers of SuperMedia and Dex One negotiated the terms of the Merger Agreement, and the SuperMedia and Dex One boards approved the Merger and recommended that their respective stockholders vote to approve and adopt the Merger Agreement and related transactions or, in the alternative, the Plan or the Dex One Plan, as applicable. In considering these facts and the other information contained in this Disclosure Statement, you should be aware that some members of both SuperMedia's and Dex One's management and certain members of their boards have economic interests in the Transaction that are different from, or in addition to, the interests of holders of SuperMedia Interests or Dex One stockholders generally. These interests include, among others, continued service as a director or an executive officer of Newdex, ownership interests in Newdex and the accelerated vesting of certain equity awards and/or certain severance benefits, in connection with the Plan. These interests, among others, may influence the directors and executive officers of SuperMedia and Dex One to support or approve the Plan. In addition, some directors of each of Dex One and SuperMedia are associated with stockholders who are also debtholders of each of Dex One and SuperMedia, and therefore may have interests relating to the debt that are different from those relating to the stockholders.

(g) The Merger Agreement Limits the Debtors' and Dex One's Ability to Pursue Alternatives to the Merger

Each of SuperMedia and Dex One has agreed that it will not, among other things, solicit, initiate, encourage or facilitate, or engage in discussions, negotiations or agreements regarding, proposals to acquire 10% or more of the stock or assets of SuperMedia or Dex One, subject to limited exceptions, including that a party may take certain actions in the event it receives an unsolicited acquisition proposal that constitutes a superior proposal or is reasonably expected to lead to a superior proposal, and the party's board of directors determines in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel and financial advisor, that a failure to take action with respect to such takeover proposal would be inconsistent with its duties under applicable law. Each party has also agreed that its board of directors will not change its recommendation to its stockholders or approve any alternative agreement, subject to limited exceptions, including that, at any time prior to the applicable stockholder approval, the applicable board of directors may make a change in recommendation of the Merger if such board concludes in good faith, after consultation with its outside legal counsel and financial advisor, that (1) the failure to take such action would be inconsistent with its duties under applicable laws, (2) if requested by the other party, its representatives shall have negotiated in good faith with the other party for three Business Days and (3) if such change in recommendation is related to an alternative acquisition proposal, that such proposal constitutes a superior proposal.

(h) The Support of Certain Secured Creditors of the Debtors and Dex One for the Necessary Amendments to the Applicable Credit Agreements Is Subject to the Terms of Support Agreements Between the Debtors and Certain of Their Secured Creditors and Dex One and Certain of Its Secured Creditors, Which Are Subject to Termination

The Debtors and Dex One and certain of its Affiliates have entered into the SuperMedia Support Agreement and Dex One Support Agreement, respectively, with certain of their respective senior secured creditors. These support agreements provide, among other things, that the creditor parties will support the amendments to the Prepetition Credit Agreements and the Plan or Dex One Plan, as applicable, and will support the waiver of certain rights under the Prepetition Credit Agreements. The execution of the support agreements by those secured creditors is not a guarantee that the Newdex Credit Agreements will become effective. As of the date of this Disclosure Statement, an insufficient number of creditors are party to the SuperMedia Support Agreement and the Dex One Support Agreement to cause the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and the Amended and Restated Dex One Secured Credit Agreements to be effective in an out of court process, and there is no assurance that either SuperMedia or Dex One will ever obtain the support of the requisite numbers of creditors to do so. In addition, these support agreements are subject to certain automatic termination upon the occurrence of certain events, and to termination upon 10 Business Days' notice (subject to cure) upon the occurrence of certain other

events, including the failure to deliver definitive loan documents within a certain timeframe and the failure of the Shareholder Disclosure Statement to be declared effective within a specified timeframe. If either the SuperMedia Support Agreement or Dex One Support Agreement is terminated, the senior secured lenders of the Debtors or Dex One will have no obligation to support the amendments to and restatements of the Prepetition Credit Agreements, either through an out of court transaction or through a chapter 11 process. The Plan will not be consummated if the amendments to and restatements of the Prepetition Credit Agreements are not approved.

(i) <u>The Debtors, Dex One and Newdex Will Incur Significant Transaction and Transaction</u> Related Transition Costs in Connection with the Plan and the Merger

The Debtors and Dex One expect that they and Newdex will incur significant, non-recurring costs in connection with consummating the Plan and the Merger and integrating the operations of the two companies. The Debtors and Dex One may incur additional costs to maintain employee morale and to retain key employees. The Debtors and Dex One will also incur significant fees and expenses relating to amending the Prepetition Credit Agreements and legal, accounting, and other transaction fees and other costs associated with consummating the Merger and the Plan. Some of these costs are payable regardless of whether the Plan is confirmed. Upon termination of the Merger Agreement under specified circumstances, SuperMedia or the Dex One Debtors may be required to pay the other party an expense reimbursement of up to a maximum amount of \$7.5 million.

(j) <u>Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information Included in This Disclosure Statement May</u> Not Be Indicative of Newdex's Actual Financial Position or Results of Operations

The unaudited pro forma financial information in this Disclosure Statement is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of what Newdex's actual financial position or results of operations would have been had the Effective Date occurred on the date indicated. The unaudited pro forma financial information reflects adjustments, which are based upon preliminary estimates, to allocate the purchase price to SuperMedia's net assets. The purchase price allocation reflected in this Disclosure Statement is preliminary, and final allocation of the purchase price will be based upon the actual purchase price and the fair value of the assets and liabilities of SuperMedia as of the Effective Date. In addition, subsequent to the Effective Date, there may be further refinements of the purchase price allocation as additional information becomes available. Accordingly, the final purchase accounting adjustments may differ materially from the pro forma adjustments reflected in this Disclosure Statement. See the unaudited pro forma condensed combined statements, attached hereto as Exhibit F, for more information.

(k) <u>The Debtors, Dex One and, Subsequently, Newdex, Must Continue to Retain, Motivate, and Recruit Executives and Other Key Employees, Which May Be Difficult in Light of Uncertainty Regarding the Plan, and Failure to Do so Could Negatively Affect Newdex</u>

For the Merger to be successful, during the period before the Effective Date, both the Debtors and Dex One must continue to retain, motivate, and recruit executives and other key employees. Moreover, Newdex must be successful at retaining and motivating key employees following the Effective Date. Experienced employees in the industries in which both the Debtors and Dex One operate are in high demand and competition for their talents can be intense. Employees of both the Debtors and Dex One may experience uncertainty about their future roles with Newdex until, or even after, strategies with regard to Newdex are announced or executed. The potential distractions of the Merger may adversely affect the ability of the Debtors, Dex One or, following the Effective Date, Newdex, to retain, motivate, and recruit executives and other key employees and keep them focused on applicable strategies and goals. A failure by the Debtors, Dex One or, following the Effective Date, Newdex, to attract, retain, and motivate executives and other key employees during the period prior to or after the Effective Date could have a negative impact on the businesses of the Debtors, Dex One or Newdex.

(l) <u>Upon the Effective Date, the Newdex Certificate of Incorporation Will Include Transfer</u> <u>Restrictions on Newdex Common Stock as Well as Restrictions Prohibiting the Issuance of Non-Voting Equity Securities</u>

The Merger Agreement provides that, upon the consummation of the Merger, the Newdex certificate of incorporation, attached hereto as <u>Exhibit J</u>, will include specific transfer restrictions on Newdex Common Stock to

reduce the possibility of certain ownership changes occurring before or after the merger of Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc. with and into SuperMedia. These restrictions could impair the ability of certain stockholders to freely transfer shares of Newdex Common Stock after the Effective Date. In addition, if the Merger is consummated through the Plan, the Newdex certificate of incorporation will also include a provision prohibiting the issuance of non-voting equity securities to the extent necessary to satisfy the requirements of the Bankruptcy Code.

(m) <u>Failure to Confirm and Consummate the Plan Could Negatively Impact the Debtors and Dex</u> One

If the Plan is not confirmed and consummated, the ongoing businesses of the Debtors and Dex One may be adversely affected and there may be various consequences, including:

- the adverse impact to the business of each party caused by the failure to pursue other beneficial opportunities due to the focus on the Merger, without realizing any of the anticipated benefits of the Merger;
- the incurrence of substantial costs by the Debtors and Dex One in connection with the Merger, without realizing any of the anticipated benefits of the Merger;
- if the Merger Agreement is terminated, under certain circumstances, the payment by one party to the other party of an expense reimbursement of up to \$7.5 million;
- a negative impact on the market price of the common stock of SuperMedia and/or Dex One;
- the possibility, for each of the Debtors and Dex One, of being unable to repay indebtedness when due and payable; and
- the Debtors and/or Dex One pursuing chapter 11 or chapter 7 proceedings resulting in recoveries for creditors and stockholders that are less than contemplated under the Plan or the Dex One Plan, as applicable, or resulting in no recovery for certain creditors and stockholders.
- (n) Satisfying the Conditions, to and Completion of, the Merger May Take Longer Than, and
 Could Cost More Than, the Debtors and Dex One Expect. Any Delay in Completing, or Any
 Additional Conditions Imposed in Order to Complete, the Merger May Materially and
 Adversely Affect the Synergies and Other Benefits that the Debtors and Dex One Expect to
 Achieve from the Merger and the Integration of Their Respective Businesses.

The Merger is subject to a number of conditions beyond the Debtors' and Dex One's control that may prevent, delay or otherwise materially adversely affect its completion. The Debtors cannot predict when or whether these conditions will be satisfied. Furthermore, the requirements for obtaining any required regulatory clearances and approvals could delay the completion of the Merger for a significant period of time or prevent it from occurring altogether. Any delay in completing the Merger could cause Newdex not to realize some or all of the synergies that the Debtors expect to achieve if the Merger is successfully completed in the expected time frame.

Risk Factors Relating to Newdex Following the Effective Date

(a) The Failure to Successfully Integrate the Businesses of the Debtors and Dex One in the Expected Timeframe Would Adversely Affect Newdex's Future Results Following the Effective Date

The Plan involves the integration of two companies that have previously operated independently. The success of the Plan will depend, in large part, on the ability of Newdex following the Effective Date to realize the anticipated benefits, including synergies, cost savings, innovation, and operational efficiencies, from combining the businesses of the Debtors and Dex One. To realize these anticipated benefits, the businesses of the Debtors and Dex One must be successfully integrated. This integration will be complex and time-consuming. The failure to integrate

successfully and to manage successfully the challenges presented by the integration process may result in Newdex not achieving the anticipated benefits of the Plan.

Potential difficulties that may be encountered in the integration process include the following:

- the inability to successfully integrate the businesses of the Debtors and Dex One in a manner that permits Newdex to achieve the full revenue and cost savings anticipated to result from the Merger;
- complexities associated with managing the larger, more complex, combined business;
- integrating personnel from the two companies while maintaining focus on providing consistent, high-quality products and services;
- potential unknown liabilities and unforeseen expenses, delays or regulatory conditions associated with the Merger;
- performance shortfalls at one or both of the companies as a result of the diversion of management's attention caused by completing the Merger and integrating the companies' operations; and
- the disruption of, or the loss of momentum in, each company's ongoing business or inconsistencies in standards, controls, procedures and policies.

Any of these difficulties in successfully integrating the businesses of the Debtors and Dex One, or any delays in the integration process, could adversely affect Newdex's ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of the Plan and could adversely affect Newdex's business, financial results, financial condition, and stock price. Even if Newdex is able to integrate the business operations of the Debtors and Dex One successfully, there can be no assurance that this integration will result in the realization of the full benefits of synergies, cost savings, innovation, and operational efficiencies that the Debtors and Dex One currently expect from this integration or that these benefits will be achieved within the anticipated time frame.

(b) The Future Results of Newdex Will Suffer if Newdex Does Not Effectively Manage Its Expanded Operations Following the Effective Date

Following the Effective Date, the size of Newdex's business will increase significantly beyond the current size of either the Debtors' or Dex One's business. Newdex's future success depends, in part, upon its ability to manage this expanded business, which will pose substantial challenges for management, including challenges related to the management and monitoring of new operations and associated increased costs and complexity. There can be no assurances that Newdex will be successful or that it will realize the expected operating efficiencies, cost savings, revenue enhancements and other benefits currently anticipated from the Plan.

(c) <u>Newdex Is Expected to Incur Substantial Expenses Related to the Plan and the Integration of the Debtors and Dex One</u>

Newdex is expected to incur substantial expenses in connection with the Plan and the integration of the Debtors and Dex One. There are a large number of processes, policies, procedures, operations, technologies and systems that must be integrated, including information technology purchasing, accounting and finance, sales, billing, payroll, pricing, revenue management, marketing and benefits. While the Debtors and Dex One have assumed that a certain level of expenses would be incurred, there are many factors beyond their control that could affect the total amount or the timing of the integration expenses. Moreover, many of the expenses that will be incurred are, by their nature, difficult to estimate accurately. These expenses could, particularly in the near term, exceed the savings that Newdex expects to achieve from the elimination of duplicative expenses and the realization of economies of scale and cost savings. These integration expenses likely will result in Newdex taking significant charges against earnings following the Effective Date, and the amount and timing of such charges are uncertain at present.

(d) <u>Uncertainty About the Plan and Diversion of Management Could Harm Newdex Following the Effective Date</u>

The Plan could result in current and prospective employees experiencing uncertainty about their future with Newdex following the Plan. These uncertainties may impair the ability of Newdex to retain, recruit, or motivate key personnel. In addition, Confirmation of the Plan and integrating the companies' operations will require a significant amount of time and attention from management of the two companies. The diversion of management's attention away from ongoing operations could adversely affect business relationships of Newdex following the Effective Date.

(e) Newdex Will Have Substantial Indebtedness Following the Effective Date that Could Adversely Affect Its Business, Prospects, Financial Condition, Results of Operations and Cash Flow

Newdex will have a significant amount of indebtedness following the Effective Date. Newdex's substantial level of indebtedness increases the risk that it may be unable to generate cash sufficient to pay amounts due in respect of its indebtedness. Newdex's substantial indebtedness could have other important consequences to you and significant effects on Newdex's business and prospects. For example, it could:

- increase Newdex's vulnerability to adverse changes in general economic, industry, and competitive conditions;
- require Newdex to dedicate a substantial portion of its cash flow from operations to
 make payments on its indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of its cash flow
 to fund working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate purposes;
- limit Newdex's flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in its business and the industry in which it operates;
- restrict Newdex from exploiting business opportunities;
- make it more difficult to satisfy Newdex's financial obligations, including payments on its indebtedness;
- place Newdex at a disadvantage compared to its competitors that have less debt; and
- limit Newdex's ability to borrow additional funds for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, debt service requirements, execution of its business strategy or other general corporate purposes.

In addition, the Newdex Credit Agreements, the Senior Subordinated Notes, and the agreements evidencing or governing other future indebtedness may contain, restrictive covenants that will limit Newdex's ability to engage in activities that may be in its long-term best interests. Newdex's failure to comply with those covenants could result in an event of default which, if not cured or waived, could result in the acceleration of all of its indebtedness.

(f) The Newdex Credit Agreements and the Senior Subordinated Notes will restrict Newdex's Future Operations, Particularly Its Ability to Respond to Changes or to Take Certain Actions, After the Effective Date

The Newdex Credit Agreements will impose significant operating and financial restrictions and will limit Newdex and its subsidiaries' ability to, among other things:

- incur liens or other encumbrances;
- make acquisitions, loans and investments;
- sell or otherwise dispose of assets;
- incur additional indebtedness:
- pay dividends, make distributions and pay certain indebtedness;

- enter into sale and leaseback tractions; and
- enter into swap transactions and certain affiliate transactions.

In addition, under the Newdex Credit Agreements, Newdex will be required to maintain specified financial ratios and satisfy other financial condition tests. The terms of any future indebtedness Newdex may incur could include more restrictive covenants. There can be no assurance that Newdex will be able to maintain compliance with these covenants in the future and, if it fails to do so, that Newdex will be able to obtain waivers from its senior secured creditors and/or amend the covenants.

A failure by Newdex to comply with the covenants or to maintain the required financial ratios contained in the agreements governing its indebtedness could result in an event of default under such indebtedness, which could adversely affect Newdex's ability to respond to changes in its business and manage its operations. Additionally, a default by Newdex under one agreement covering Newdex's indebtedness may trigger cross-defaults under other agreements covering its indebtedness. Upon the occurrence of an event of default or cross-default under any of the agreements governing Newdex's indebtedness, the lenders could elect to declare all amounts outstanding to be due and payable and exercise other remedies as set forth in the agreements. If any of Newdex's indebtedness was to be accelerated, there can be no assurance that its assets would be sufficient to repay this indebtedness in full, which could have a material adverse effect on Newdex's ability to continue to operate as a going concern.

(g) To Service Its Indebtedness, Newdex Will Require a Significant Amount of Cash

Newdex's ability to generate cash depends on many factors beyond its control, and any failure to meet its debt service obligations could harm its business, financial condition, and results of operations. Newdex's ability to make payments on and to refinance its indebtedness and to fund working capital needs and planned capital expenditures will depend on Newdex's ability to generate cash in the future. This, to a certain extent, is subject to general economic, financial, competitive, business, legislative, regulatory, and other factors that are beyond its control.

If Newdex's business does not generate sufficient cash flow from operations or if future borrowings are not available to it in an amount sufficient to enable Newdex to pay its indebtedness or to fund Newdex's other liquidity needs, Newdex may need to refinance all or a portion of its indebtedness on or before the maturity thereof, sell assets, reduce or delay capital investments or seek to raise additional capital, any of which could have a material adverse effect on its operations. In addition, Newdex may not be able to affect any of these actions, if necessary, on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Newdex's ability to restructure or refinance its indebtedness will depend on the condition of the capital markets and Newdex's financial condition at such time. Any refinancing of Newdex's debt could be at higher interest rates and may require it to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict Newdex's business operations. The terms of existing or future debt instruments may limit or prevent Newdex from taking any of these actions. In addition, any failure to make scheduled payments of interest and principal on Newdex's outstanding indebtedness would likely result in a reduction of its credit rating, which could harm Newdex's ability to incur additional indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at all. Newdex's inability to generate sufficient cash flow to satisfy its debt service obligations, or to refinance or restructure its obligations on commercially reasonable terms or at all, would have an adverse effect, which could be material, on Newdex's business, financial condition and results of operations, as well as on its ability to satisfy its obligations in respect of the Newdex Credit Agreements and the Senior Subordinated Notes.

(h) Newdex's Ability to Use Dex One's Net Operating Loss Carryforwards to Offset Future Taxable Income May Become Limited as a Result of the Plan

As of September 30, 2012, Dex One had net operating loss carryforwards for U.S. federal income tax purposes of approximately \$1.0 billion. Under sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "IRC"), if a corporation undergoes an "ownership change," the corporation's ability to use its prechange net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes, such as research tax credits, to offset its post-change income and taxes may be limited. In general, an "ownership change" occurs if there is a cumulative change in ownership by "5-percent shareholders" (within the meaning of section 382 of the IRC) that exceeds 50 percentage points over a rolling three-year period. If a corporation has a "net unrealized built-in gain" (a "NUBIG"), generally meaning that, immediately before an ownership change, the fair market value of its assets

exceeds the aggregate tax basis of its assets, then the limitation described above is generally increased for the first five years after the change date by the amount of recognized built-in gain during a post-change year (but not cumulatively to exceed the NUBIG). The merger of Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc. and SuperMedia pursuant to the Plan may cause an ownership change with respect to Newdex on the Effective Date. As a result, section 382 of the IRC may apply to limit Newdex's use of any remaining net operating losses and other pre-change tax attributes after the Effective Date. In the event Newdex experiences an ownership change as a result of the merger of Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc. and SuperMedia, although there can be no assurance in this regard, the Debtors expect that the resulting limitation on Newdex's ability to utilize its net operating losses and other pre-change tax attributes should be significantly increased as a result of Newdex's NUBIG, permitting Newdex to use more of its net operating losses than it would otherwise. Newdex's net operating losses and other pre-change tax attributes after the Effective Date may be adversely affected if an ownership change within the meaning of section 382 of the IRC were to occur after the effectiveness of the merger of Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc. and SuperMedia. In order to prevent an ownership change after the effectiveness of the merger of Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc. and SuperMedia, Newdex Common Stock will generally be subject to transfer restrictions. No such transfer restrictions currently exist with respect to Dex One's common stock. However, there can be no assurance that these restrictions will prevent an ownership change from occurring in the future.

(i) <u>Amendments to the Prepetition Credit Agreements May Increase the Tax Liability or</u> Reduce the Tax Assets of Newdex

The Effective Date is contingent upon, among other things, amendments to the Prepetition Credit Agreements. To the extent that loans issued under such credit agreements trade at a discount at the time of such an amendment, the Debtors, Dex One, or Newdex, as the case may be, may realize cancellation of debt income ("COD Income") for U.S. federal income tax purposes without a corresponding receipt of Cash. If such amendment occurs outside of court, some or all of such COD Income may be included in taxable income. If such amendment occurs as part of a chapter 11 bankruptcy process, no such COD Income will be included in taxable income. In either event, tax attributes that might otherwise be available to offset income or tax of the Debtors, Dex One or Newdex, as the case may be, would be reduced to the extent of any COD Income that is not included in taxable income. However, the Debtors expect that the amount of COD Income realized will result in a corresponding amount of original issue discount that will be deductible for U.S. federal income tax purposes by the Debtors, Dex One, or Newdex, as the case may be, over the term of the applicable Newdex Credit Agreements.

(j) <u>The Continuing Declining Use of Print Yellow Pages Directories Will Adversely Affect</u> Newdex's Business

Overall references to print yellow pages directories in the United States have declined from 14.5 billion in 2005 to 7.5 billion in 2011 according to a Local Search Association (formerly known as the Yellow Pages Association) Industry Usage Study. This decline is primarily attributable to increased use of internet search providers, as well as the proliferation of very large retail stores for which consumers and businesses may not reference the yellow pages. The decline will negatively affect the advertising sales associated with traditional print business. Use of Newdex's print directories may continue to decline. A significant decline in usage of Newdex's print directories could impair its ability to maintain or increase advertising prices and cause businesses to reduce or discontinue purchasing advertising in its yellow pages directories. Either or both of these factors would adversely affect Newdex's revenue and have a material adverse effect on Newdex's business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.

8.4 Disclosure Statement Disclaimer

(a) <u>Information Contained Herein is for Soliciting Votes</u>

The information contained in this Disclosure Statement is for the purpose of soliciting acceptances of the Plan and may not be relied upon for any other purpose.

(b) <u>Disclosure Statement Was Not Approved by the SEC</u>

Although a copy of this Disclosure Statement will be served on the SEC, and the combined registration statement and joint proxy statement of SuperMedia and Dex One in connection with the Merger, which includes information in this Disclosure Statement, was approved by the SEC, this Disclosure Statement was not filed with the SEC. The SEC, like any party in interest, will be given an opportunity to object to the adequacy of this Disclosure Statement before the Bankruptcy Court approves it. Neither the SEC nor any state regulatory authority has passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Disclosure Statement, or the Exhibits or the statements contained herein, and any representation to the contrary is unlawful.

(c) Disclosure Statement May Contain Forward Looking Statements

This Disclosure Statement may contain "forward looking statements" within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, as amended. Such statements consist of any statement other than a recitation of historical fact and can be identified by the use of forward looking terminology such as "may," "expect," "anticipate," "estimate," or "continue," the negative thereof, or other variations thereon or comparable terminology.

The Debtors consider all statements regarding anticipated or future matters, including the following, to be forward-looking statements:

- any future effects as a result of the filing or pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases;
- financing plans;
- competitive position;
- business strategy;
- budgets;
- projected cost reductions;
- projected and estimated liability costs, including tort, and environmental costs and costs of environmental remediation;

- growth opportunities for existing products and services:
- results of litigation;
- disruption of operations;
- contractual obligations;
- projected general market conditions;
- plans and objectives of management for future operations; and
- the Debtors' expected future financial position, liquidity, results of operations, profitability, and cash flows.

Statements concerning these and other matters are not guarantees of the Debtors' future performance. The reader is cautioned that all forward-looking statements are necessarily speculative. The valuation analysis, the liquidation analysis, the recovery projections and other information contained herein and attached hereto are estimates only, and the timing and amount of actual distributions to holders of Allowed Claims may be affected by many factors that cannot be predicted. Forward-looking statements represent the Debtors' estimates and assumptions only as of the date such statements were made. There are risks, uncertainties, and other important factors that could cause the Debtors' actual performance or achievements to be materially different from those they may project, and the Debtors undertake no obligation to update any such statement.

(d) No Legal or Tax Advice Is Provided to You by This Disclosure Statement

THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT IS NOT LEGAL ADVICE TO YOU. The contents of this Disclosure Statement should not be construed as legal, business, or tax advice. Each holder of a Claim should consult his or her own legal counsel and accountant with regard to any legal, tax, and other matters concerning his or her Claim. This Disclosure Statement may not be relied upon for any purpose other than to determine how to vote on the Plan or object to Confirmation.

(e) No Admissions Made

The information and statements contained in this Disclosure Statement will neither (1) constitute an admission of any fact or liability by any entity (including the Debtors) nor (2) be deemed evidence of the tax or other legal effects of the Plan on the Debtors, holders of Allowed Claims or Interests, or any other parties-in-interest.

(f) Failure to Identify Litigation Claims or Projected Objections

No reliance should be placed on the fact that a particular litigation Claim or projected objection to a particular Claim or Interest is, or is not, identified in this Disclosure Statement. The Debtors reserve the right to continue to investigate Claims and Interests and file and prosecute objections to Claims and Interests.

(g) No Waiver of Right to Object or Right to Recover Transfers and Assets

The vote by a holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest for or against the Plan does not constitute a waiver or release of any Claims or rights of the Debtors to object to that holder's Allowed Claim or Interest, or to bring Causes of Action or recover any preferential, fraudulent, or other voidable transfer of assets, regardless of whether any Claims or Causes of Action of the Debtors or their respective Estates are specifically or generally identified herein.

(h) <u>Information Was Provided by the Debtors and Was Relied Upon by the Debtors' Advisors</u>

Counsel to and other advisors retained by the Debtors have relied upon information provided by the Debtors in connection with the preparation of this Disclosure Statement. Although counsel to and other advisors retained by the Debtors have performed certain limited due diligence in connection with the preparation of this Disclosure Statement, they have not independently verified the information contained herein.

(i) Potential Exists for Inaccuracies and the Debtors Have No Duty to Update

The Debtors make the statements contained in this Disclosure Statement as of the date hereof, unless otherwise specified herein, and the delivery of this Disclosure Statement after that date does not imply that there has not been a change in the information set forth herein since such date. Although the Debtors have used their reasonable business judgment to ensure the accuracy of all of the information provided in this Disclosure Statement and in the Plan, the Debtors nonetheless cannot, and do not, confirm the current accuracy of all statements appearing in this Disclosure Statement. Further, although the Debtors may subsequently update the information in this Disclosure Statement, the Debtors have no affirmative duty to do so unless ordered by the Bankruptcy Court.

(j) No Representations Outside of the Disclosure Statement Are Authorized

No representations concerning or relating to the Debtors, the Chapter 11 Cases, or the Plan are authorized by the Bankruptcy Court or the Bankruptcy Code, other than as set forth in this Disclosure Statement in connection with the combined registration statement and joint proxy statement of SuperMedia and Dex One and associated documents. In deciding whether to vote to accept or reject the Plan, you should not rely upon any representations or inducements made to secure your acceptance or rejection of the Plan that are other than as contained in, or included with, this Disclosure Statement, unless otherwise indicated herein. You should promptly report unauthorized representations or inducements to the counsel to the Debtors and the U.S. Trustee.

ARTICLE IX IMPORTANT SECURITIES LAW DISCLOSURE

Under the Plan, Newdex will issue, on the Effective Date, shares of Newdex Common Stock for the benefit of holders of Allowed Interests in Class 9. All such shares will be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid, and non-assessable.

The offering, issuance, and distribution of any Securities, including the Newdex Common Stock pursuant to the Plan will be in compliance with the registration requirements of the Securities Act or exempt from the registration requirements of section 5 therein pursuant to section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, section 4(2) of the

Securities Act, or any other available exemption from registration under the Securities Act, as applicable. Section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code exempts from registration the sale of a debtor's Securities under a chapter 11 plan if such Securities are offered or sold in exchange for a claim against, or equity interests in, or a claim for an administrative expense in a case concerning, such debtor. Under this exemption, Newdex Common Stock generally will be exempt from the registration requirements of the Securities Act. Accordingly, recipients will be able to resell the Newdex Common Stock without registration under the Securities Act or other federal securities laws, unless the recipient is an "underwriter" with respect to such Securities, within the meaning of section 1145(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code or similar federal, state, local, or foreign laws. In addition, under section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, if applicable, any Securities issued under the Plan will be freely transferable under the Securities Act by the recipients thereof, subject to: (1) the provisions of section 1145(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code relating to the definition of an "underwriter" in section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act, and in compliance with any applicable state or foreign securities laws, if any, and the rules and regulations of the SEC, if any, applicable at the time of any future transfer of such Securities or instruments; (2) the restrictions, if any, on the transferability of such Securities and instruments; and (3) any other applicable regulatory approval.

Section 1145(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code defines an "underwriter" as any person who: (1) purchases a claim against, an interest in, or a claim for an administrative expense in the case concerning, the debtor, if that purchase is with a view to distributing any Security received in exchange for such a claim or interest; (2) offers to sell Securities offered under a plan of reorganization for the holders of those Securities; (3) offers to buy those Securities from the holders of the Securities, if the offer to buy is (a) with a view to distributing those Securities and (b) under an agreement made in connection with the plan of reorganization, or with the offer or sale of Securities under the plan of reorganization; or (4) is an "issuer" with respect to the Securities, as the term "issuer" is defined in section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act.

To the extent that Entities who receive Newdex Common Stock are deemed to be "underwriters," resales by such Entities may not be exempted from registration under the Securities Act or other applicable law by section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code. Those Entities may, however, be permitted to sell Newdex Common Stock without registration, subject to the provisions of Rule 144 under the Securities Act, which permit the public sale of securities received pursuant to a plan of reorganization by "underwriters," subject to the availability to the public of current information regarding the issuer, volume limitations and certain other conditions. Whether or not any Entity would be deemed to be an "underwriter" with respect to any Security to be issued pursuant to the Plan would depend upon various facts and circumstances applicable to that Entity. Accordingly, the Debtors express no view as to whether any Entity would be an "underwriter" with respect to any Security to be issued pursuant to the Plan. YOU SHOULD CONFER WITH YOUR OWN LEGAL ADVISORS TO HELP DETERMINE WHETHER OR NOT YOU ARE AN "UNDERWRITER".

ARTICLE X REGULATORY APPROVALS REQUIRED FOR THE TRANSACTION

Although currently no filing under the Hart-Scott-Rodino Antitrust Improvements Act of 1976, as amended (the "HSR Act"), is believed to be necessary for the transaction to be completed, the Antitrust Division of the United States Department of Justice (the "Antitrust Division") and the United States Federal Trade Commission (the "FTC") frequently scrutinize the legality under the antitrust laws of transactions such as the combination of SuperMedia and Dex One. Moreover, depending upon fluctuations in the fair market value of SuperMedia's common stock, it may be necessary for the parties to make the requisite filings and wait the requisite waiting periods under the HSR Act. In addition, at any time before or after the Transaction, the Antitrust Division, the FTC, one or more state attorneys general or a foreign competition authority could take such action under the antitrust laws as it deems necessary or desirable in the public interest, including seeking to enjoin the transaction or seeking divestiture of substantial businesses or assets of SuperMedia, Dex One or their subsidiaries and affiliates. Private parties may also bring legal actions under the antitrust laws under certain circumstances.

There can be no assurance that a challenge to the transaction on antitrust grounds will not be made or, if a challenge is made, as to the result of such challenge. Similarly, there can be no assurance that SuperMedia and Dex One will obtain the regulatory approvals necessary to consummate the Transaction or that the granting of these approvals will not involve the imposition of conditions or changes to the terms of the Transaction. These conditions or changes could result in the conditions to the Transaction not being satisfied prior to June 30, 2013 or at all. Each

of SuperMedia and Dex One has agreed to use its reasonable best efforts to obtain all regulatory approvals required to complete the transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement. Neither SuperMedia nor Dex One is required to take any action or agree to any condition or restriction in connection with obtaining regulatory approvals that would be reasonably expected to have a material adverse effect, measured on a scale relative to SuperMedia, Dex One or, following the Transaction, Newdex.

ARTICLE XI CONFIRMATION PROCEDURES

The following is a brief summary of the Confirmation process. Holders of Claims are encouraged to review the relevant provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and to consult with their own advisors.

11.1 The Confirmation Hearing

Section 1128(a) of the Bankruptcy Code provides that the Bankruptcy Court, after notice, may conduct the Confirmation Hearing to consider Confirmation. Section 1128(b) of the Bankruptcy Code provides that any party in interest may object to Confirmation.

11.2 Confirmation Standards

Among the requirements for the Confirmation are that the Plan is accepted by all Impaired Classes of Claims and Interests, or if rejected by an Impaired Class, that the Plan "does not discriminate unfairly" and is "fair and equitable" as to such Class, is feasible, and is in the "best interests" of holders of Claims and Interests that are Impaired under the Plan. The following requirements must be satisfied pursuant to section 1129(a) of the Bankruptcy Code before the Bankruptcy Court may confirm a plan of reorganization. The Plan fully complies with the statutory requirements for Confirmation listed below.

- The proponents of the Plan have complied with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code.
- The Plan has been proposed in good faith and not by any means forbidden by law.
- Any payment made or to be made by the Debtors (or any other proponent of the Plan) or by a Person issuing Securities or acquiring property under the Plan, for services or for costs and expenses in or in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases, in connection with the Plan and incident to the Chapter 11 Cases is subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court as reasonable.
- The Debtors (or any other proponent of the Plan) have disclosed the identity and affiliations of any individual proposed to serve, after Confirmation, as a director, officer, or voting trustee of Newdex, the Reorganized Debtors, any Affiliate of the Debtors reorganized under the Plan, or any successor to the Debtors under the Plan, and the appointment to, or continuance in, such office of such individual is consistent with the interests of Creditors and holders of Interests and with public policies.
- The proponent of the Plan has disclosed the identity of any Insider that will be employed or retained by Newdex or the Reorganized Debtors and the nature of any compensation for such Insider.
- With respect to each holder within an Impaired Class of Claims or Interests, each such holder (a) has accepted the Plan or (b) will receive or retain under the Plan on account of such Claim or Interest property of a value, as of the Effective Date, that is not less than the amount that such holder would so receive or retain if the Debtors were liquidated under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code on such date.
- With respect to each Class of Claims or Interests, such Class (a) has accepted the Plan or (b) is Unimpaired under the Plan (subject to the "cram-down" provisions discussed below).

- The Plan provides for treatment of Claims, as applicable, in accordance with the provisions of section 507(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- If a Class of Claims is Impaired under the Plan, at least one Class of Claims that is Impaired under the Plan has accepted the Plan, determined without including any acceptance of the Plan by any Insider
- Confirmation is not likely to be followed by the liquidation, or the need for further financial reorganization, of Newdex, the Reorganized Debtors or any successor to the Debtors under the Plan, unless such liquidation or reorganization is proposed in the Plan.
- All fees payable under 28 U.S.C. § 1930 have been paid or the Plan provides for the payment of all such fees on the Effective Date.

11.3 Best Interests Test/Liquidation Analysis

As described above, section 1129(a)(7) of the Bankruptcy Code requires that each holder of an Impaired Claim or Interest either (a) accept the Plan or (b) receive or retain under the Plan property of a value, as of the Effective Date, that is not less than the value such holder would receive if the Debtors were liquidated under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. Based on the Debtors' liquidation analysis, the Debtors believe that the value of any distributions if the Debtors' Chapter 11 Cases were converted to cases under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code would be no greater than the value of distributions under the Plan. As a result, the Debtors believe holders of Claims and Interests in all Impaired Classes will recover at least as much as a result of Confirmation as they would recover through a hypothetical chapter 7 liquidation.

11.4 Feasibility

The Bankruptcy Code requires that a debtor demonstrate that confirmation of a plan of reorganization is not likely to be followed by liquidation or the need for further financial reorganization. For purposes of determining whether the Plan meets this requirement, the Debtors have analyzed their ability to meet their obligations under the Plan. As part of this analysis, the Debtors have prepared projections, which, together with the assumptions on which they are based, are attached hereto as Exhibit B. Based on such projections, the Debtors believe that they will be able to make all payments required under the Plan. Therefore, Confirmation is not likely to be followed by liquidation or the need for further reorganization.

11.5 <u>Confirmation Without Acceptance by All Impaired Classes</u>

The Bankruptcy Court may confirm a plan of reorganization over the rejection or deemed rejection of the plan of reorganization by a class of claims or interests if the plan of reorganization "does not discriminate unfairly" and is "fair and equitable" with respect to such class.

(a) No Unfair Discrimination

This test applies to Classes of Claims or Interests that are of equal priority and are receiving different treatment under the Plan. The test does not require that the treatment be the same or equivalent, but that such treatment be "fair". The Debtors do not believe the Plan discriminates unfairly against any Impaired Class of Claims or Interests. The Debtors believe the Plan and the treatment of all Classes of Claims and Interests under the Plan satisfy the foregoing requirements for nonconsensual confirmation.

(b) Fair and Equitable Test

This test applies to Classes of different priority and status (e.g., secured versus unsecured) and includes the general requirement that no Class of Claims or Interests receive more than 100% of the amount of the allowed Claims or Interests in such Class. As to the dissenting Class, the test sets different standards depending on the type

of Claims or Interests of the Debtor in such Class. In order to demonstrate that a plan is fair and equitable, the plan proponent must demonstrate:

- <u>Secured Creditors</u>: Each holder of a secured claim either (1) retains its liens on the property, to the extent of the allowed amount of its secured claim and receives deferred cash payments having a value, as of the effective date of the chapter 11 plan, of at least the allowed amount of such claim, (2) has the right to credit bid the amount of its claim if its property is sold and retains its liens on the proceeds of the sale (or if sold, on the proceeds thereof), or (3) receives the "indubitable equivalent" of its allowed secured claim.
- <u>Unsecured Creditors</u>: Either (1) each holder of an impaired unsecured claim receives or retains under the chapter 11 plan property of a value equal to the amount of its allowed claim or (2) the holders of claims and interests that are junior to the claims of the dissenting class will not receive any property under the chapter 11 plan.
- Equity Interests: Either (1) each holder of an interest will receive or retain under the chapter 11 plan property of a value equal to the greatest of the fixed liquidation preference to which such holder is entitled, the fixed redemption price to which such holder is entitled, or the value of the interest or (2) the holder of an interest that is junior to the non-accepting class will not receive or retain any property under the chapter 11 plan.

The Debtors believe the Plan satisfies the "fair and equitable" requirement notwithstanding that Class 11 (Section 510(b) Claims) is deemed to reject the Plan, because, as to such Class, there is no Class of equal priority receiving more favorable treatment and no Class that is junior to such a dissenting Class will receive or retain any property on account of the Claims in such Class.

ARTICLE XII ALTERNATIVES TO CONFIRMATION AND CONSUMMATION OF THE PLAN

If the Plan cannot be confirmed, the Debtors may seek to (1) prepare and present to the Bankruptcy Court an alternative chapter 11 plan for confirmation, (2) effect a merger or sale transaction, including, potentially, a sale of all or substantially all of the Debtors' assets pursuant to section 363 of the Bankruptcy Code, or (3) liquidate the Debtors under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code. If the Debtors were to pursue a liquidation, the Chapter 11 Cases would be converted to cases under chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code and a trustee would be elected or appointed to liquidate the assets of the Debtors for distribution in accordance with the priorities established by the Bankruptcy Code. A discussion of the effects that a chapter 7 liquidation would have on Creditors' recoveries and the Debtors is described in the unaudited liquidation analysis attached hereto as Exhibit G.

ARTICLE XIII CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES

13.1 Introduction

The following is a general discussion of the material U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Plan to the Debtors and to certain holders of Claims. The following summary does not address the U.S. federal income tax consequences to holders of Claims or Interests not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan. This summary is based on the IRC, the U.S. Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, judicial authorities, published administrative positions of the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (the "IRS") and other applicable authorities, all as in effect on the date of this Disclosure Statement, and all of which are subject to change or differing interpretations, possibly with retroactive effect. Due to the lack of definitive judicial and administrative authority in a number of areas, substantial uncertainty may exist with respect to some of the tax consequences described below. No opinion of counsel has been obtained and the Debtors do not intend to seek a ruling from the IRS as to any of the tax consequences of the Plan discussed below. The discussion below is not binding upon the IRS or the courts. No assurance can be given that the IRS would not assert, or that a court would not sustain, a different position than any

position discussed herein. This summary does not apply to holders of Claims that are not "U.S. persons" (as such phrase is defined in the IRC). This discussion does not purport to address all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be relevant to the Debtors or to certain holders in light of their individual circumstances. This discussion does not address tax issues with respect to holders subject to special treatment under the U.S. federal income tax laws (including, for example, banks, governmental authorities, or agencies, pass-through entities, subchapter S corporations, dealers and traders in securities, insurance companies, financial institutions, tax-exempt organizations, small business investment companies, foreign taxpayers, persons who are related to the Debtors within the meaning of the IRC, persons using a mark-to-market method of accounting, holders of Claims who are themselves in bankruptcy, persons who received their Claims pursuant to the exercise of an employee stock option or otherwise as compensation, and regulated investment companies, entities treated as partnerships for U.S. federal income tax purposes (and partners therein) and those holding, or who will hold, Claims under the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement as part of a hedge, straddle, conversion or other integrated transaction). No aspect of state, local, estate, gift, or non-U.S. taxation is addressed. Furthermore, this summary assumes that a holder of a Claim holds only Claims in a single Class and holds a Claim as a "capital asset" (within the meaning of section 1221 of the IRC). This summary also assumes that the various debt and other arrangements to which the Debtors are a party will be respected for U.S. federal income tax purposes in accordance with their form. Further, this discussion assumes that the transaction will be completed in accordance with the Merger Agreement and as further described in this document.

ACCORDINGLY, THE FOLLOWING SUMMARY OF CERTAIN U.S. FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES IS FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES ONLY AND IS NOT A SUBSTITUTE FOR CAREFUL TAX PLANNING AND ADVICE BASED UPON THE INDIVIDUAL CIRCUMSTANCES PERTAINING TO A HOLDER OF A CLAIM. ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS ARE URGED TO CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS FOR THE FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL AND NON-U.S. TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN.

INTERNAL REVENUE SERVICE CIRCULAR 230 DISCLOSURE: TO ENSURE COMPLIANCE WITH REQUIREMENTS IMPOSED BY THE IRS, ANY TAX ADVICE CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT (INCLUDING ANY ATTACHMENTS) IS NOT INTENDED OR WRITTEN TO BE USED, AND CANNOT BE USED, BY ANY TAXPAYER FOR THE PURPOSE OF AVOIDING TAX RELATED PENALTIES UNDER THE IRC. TAX ADVICE CONTAINED IN THIS DISCLOSURE STATEMENT (INCLUDING ANY ATTACHMENTS) IS WRITTEN IN CONNECTION WITH THE PROMOTION OR MARKETING OF THE PLAN OR MATTERS ADDRESSED BY THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT. EACH TAXPAYER SHOULD SEEK ADVICE BASED ON THE TAXPAYER'S PARTICULAR CIRCUMSTANCES FROM AN INDEPENDENT TAX ADVISOR.

13.2 <u>Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to the Debtors</u>

(a) Cancellation of Debt and Reduction of Tax Attributes

In general, absent an exception, a debtor will realize and recognize COD Income upon satisfaction of its outstanding indebtedness for total consideration less than the amount of such indebtedness. The amount of COD Income is the excess of (a) the adjusted issue price of the indebtedness satisfied, over (b) the sum of (x) the amount of cash paid, (y) the issue price of any new indebtedness of the taxpayer issued and (z) the fair market value of any new consideration.

A debtor will not, however, be required to include any amount of COD Income in gross income if the debtor is under the jurisdiction of a court in a case under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code and the discharge of debt occurs pursuant to that proceeding. Instead, as a consequence of such exclusion, a debtor must reduce its tax attributes by the amount of COD Income that it excluded from gross income pursuant to section 108 of the IRC. In general, tax attributes will be reduced in the following order: (a) net operating losses ("NOLs"); (b) most tax credits; (c) capital loss carryovers; (d) tax basis in assets (but not below the amount of liabilities to which the debtor remains subject); (e) passive activity loss and credit carryovers; and (f) foreign tax credits. A debtor with COD

Income may elect first to reduce the basis of its depreciable assets pursuant to section 108(b)(5) of the IRC. In the context of a consolidated group of corporations, the tax rules provide for a complex ordering mechanism in determining how the tax attributes of one member can be reduced by the COD Income of another member.

Pursuant to the Plan, allowed Class 5 Claims will be exchanged for a pro rata share of the loan under the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement (see discussion of "Consequences to Holders of Class 5 Claims" below). Consequently, the amount of COD Income incurred by the Debtors as a result of the exchange of the Class 5 Claims, and accordingly the amount of tax attributes required to be reduced, will depend on the "issue price" of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement exchanged therefor (see discussion of "Issue Price" below). As this price cannot be known with certainty until after the Effective Date, the amount of COD Income the Debtors may incur is thus uncertain.

However, the Debtors do not expect to have significant NOLs or other tax attributes that would be subject to any such reduction and expect that the amount of COD Income attributable to the exchange of Class 5 Claims for the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement will result in a corresponding amount of original issue discount that will be deductible for U.S. federal income tax purposes by the Reorganized Debtors over the term of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement.

(b) <u>Limitation of NOL Carryforwards and Other Tax Attributes</u>

The Debtors anticipate that the Reorganized Debtors will not have significant NOLs or other tax attributes at emergence but that they will have access to significant NOLs and other tax attributes of Newdex at emergence. The amount of such Newdex tax attributes that will be available to the Reorganized Debtors at emergence is based on a number of factors and is impossible to calculate at this time. Some of the factors that will impact the amount of available tax attributes include: (a) the amount of taxable income incurred by Dex One and Newdex in 2012; and (b) the issue price of the Newdex Credit Agreements. Following consummation of the Plan, the Debtors anticipate that Newdex's NOLs and other tax attributes may be subject to limitation under section 382 of the IRC by reason of the transactions pursuant to the Plan.

Under section 382 of the IRC, if a corporation undergoes an "ownership change," the amount of its NOLs (collectively, "<u>Pre-Change Losses</u>") that may be utilized to offset future taxable income generally is subject to an annual limitation. The merger of Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc. with and into SuperMedia pursuant to the Plan (the "<u>SuperMedia Plan Merger</u>") may result in an "ownership change" with respect to Newdex for these purposes, and the use of Newdex's Pre-Change Losses may be subject to limitation unless an exception to the general rules of section 382 of the IRC applies.

(1) General Section 382 Annual Limitation

This discussion refers to the limitation determined under section 382 of the IRC in the case of an "ownership change" as the "Section 382 Limitation." In general, a corporation's annual Section 382 Limitation on the use of its Pre-Change Losses in any "post-change year" is equal to the product of (a) the fair market value of the stock of the corporation immediately before the "ownership change" (with certain adjustments) multiplied by (b) the "long-term tax-exempt rate" (which is the highest of the adjusted Federal long-term rates in effect for any month in the 3-calendar-month period ending with the calendar month in which the "ownership change" occurs, approximately 3%). ¹⁴ If Newdex will have a NUBIG, generally meaning that, immediately before an ownership change, the fair market value of its assets exceeds the aggregate tax basis of its assets, then the limitation described above is generally increased for the first five years after the change date by the amount of recognized built-in gain during a post-change year (but not cumulatively to exceed the NUBIG). Any unused limitation may be carried forward, thereby increasing the annual limitation in the subsequent taxable year. As discussed below, however, special rules may apply in the case of a corporation which experiences an ownership change as the result of a bankruptcy proceeding.

_

Percentage subject to update if disclosure finalized after January.

The SuperMedia Plan Merger may cause an ownership change with respect to Newdex on the Effective Date. As a result, unless an exception applies, section 382 of the IRC may apply to limit Newdex's use of (and the Reorganized Debtors' access to) any remaining Pre-Change Losses after the Effective Date. In the event that Newdex experiences an ownership change as a result of the SuperMedia Plan Merger, although there can be no assurance in this regard, the Debtors expect that the resulting limitation on Newdex's ability to utilize its NOLs should be significantly increased as a result of its NUBIG, permitting Newdex to use more of its NOLs than it would otherwise. This limitation is independent of, and in addition to, the reduction of tax attributes described in the preceding section resulting from the exclusion of COD Income. Newdex's use of its Pre-Change Losses after the Effective Date may be adversely affected if an "ownership change" within the meaning of section 382 of the IRC were to occur after the Effective Date. With respect to any ownership change after the Effective Date, NOLs and other tax attributes attributes to the period prior to the Effective Date are treated as Pre-Change Losses for the latter ownership change as well, with the result that such NOLs would be subject to the smaller of the earlier annual limitation and any later annual limitations. In order to prevent a post-Effective Date "ownership change" of Newdex, Newdex Common Stock will be subject to transfer restrictions. No such transfer restrictions currently exist with respect to Dex One stock. However, there can be no assurances that these restrictions will prevent an ownership change from occurring in the future.

(2) Special Bankruptcy Exceptions

An exception to the foregoing annual limitation rules generally applies when a debtor company's existing shareholders and/or so-called "qualified creditors" of a debtor company in chapter 11 receive, in respect of their claims or interests, at least 50% of the vote and value of the stock of the reorganized debtor (or a controlling corporation if also in chapter 11) pursuant to a confirmed chapter 11 plan (the "382(1)(5) Exception"). Under the 382(1)(5) Exception, a debtor's Pre-Change Losses are not limited on an annual basis but, instead, the debtor's NOLs are required to be reduced by the amount of any interest deductions attributable to "qualified creditors" claimed during any taxable year ending during the three-year period preceding the taxable year that includes the effective date of the plan of reorganization, and during the part of the taxable year prior to and including the effective date of the plan of reorganization, in respect of all debt converted into stock in the reorganization. If the 382(1)(5) Exception applies and the debtor undergoes another ownership change within two years after consummation, then the debtor's Pre-Change Losses effectively would be eliminated in their entirety.

Where the 382(1)(5) Exception is not applicable (either because the debtor does not qualify for it or the debtor otherwise elects not to utilize the 382(1)(5) Exception), a second special rule will generally apply (the "382(1)(6) Exception"). When the 382(1)(6) Exception applies, a debtor corporation that undergoes an ownership change generally is permitted to determine the fair market value of its stock after taking into account the increase in value resulting from any surrender or cancellation of creditors' claims in the bankruptcy. This differs from the ordinary rule that requires the fair market value of a debtor corporation that undergoes an ownership change to be determined before the events giving rise to the change. The 382(1)(6) Exception also differs from the 382(1)(5) Exception in that the debtor corporation is not required to reduce its NOLs by interest deductions in the manner described above, and the debtor may undergo a change of ownership within two years without triggering the elimination of its Pre-Change Losses.

It has not yet been determined whether Newdex will utilize the 382(1)(5) Exception. In the event that there is an ownership change with respect to Newdex as a result of the SuperMedia Plan Merger and Newdex does not use the 382(1)(5) Exception, the Debtors expect that Newdex's use of any Pre-Change Losses after the Effective Date will be subject to limitation based on the rules discussed above, but taking into account the 382(1)(6) Exception.

13.3 Certain U.S. Federal Income Tax Consequences of the Plan to Holders of Allowed Claims

(a) Consequences to Holders of Class 5 Claims

Pursuant to the Plan and in full and final satisfaction of their Claims, holders of Allowed Class 5 Claims will be exchanged for their portion of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement. The U.S. federal income tax consequences of the Plan to such holders of Claims depends, in part, on whether the exchange of such Claims for the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement should be treated as a "significant modification" for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Under the applicable Treasury Regulations, a

"significant modification" is treated as a "deemed" exchange of an old debt instrument for a new debt instrument on which taxable gain or loss may be realized. In general, the Treasury Regulations consider a modification a "significant modification" if, based on all the facts and circumstances and taking into account all modifications of the debt instrument collectively, the legal rights or obligations that are altered and the degree to which they are altered are economically significant. The Treasury Regulations also provide certain specific guidance as to what may be considered a "significant modification." The Debtors expect that the exchange of the Class 5 Claims for their portion of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement will constitute, and thus intend to treat the exchange as constituting, a "significant modification" resulting in a deemed exchange of the Class 5 Claims, and, as a result, holders of Allowed Class 5 Claims will realize gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes upon the exchange qualifies as a recapitalization (which depends on whether the debt instruments underlying each of the Allowed Class 5 Claims and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement constitute "securities" for U.S. federal income tax purposes).

(1) Treatment of a Debt Instrument as a "Security"

Whether a debt instrument constitutes a "security" for U.S. federal income tax purposes is determined based on all the relevant facts and circumstances, but several authorities have held that the length of the term of a debt instrument is an important factor in determining whether such instrument may be a security for U.S. federal income tax purposes. Some authorities have indicated that a term of less than five years is evidence that the instrument is not a security, whereas a term of ten years or more is evidence that it is a security. There are numerous other factors that could be taken into account in determining whether a debt instrument is a security, including the security for payment, the creditworthiness of the obligor, the subordination or lack thereof to other creditors, the right to vote or otherwise participate in the management of the obligor, convertibility of the instrument into an equity interest of the obligor, whether payments of interest are fixed, variable or contingent, and whether such payments are made on a current basis or accrued. Each holder of an allowed Class 5 Claim should consult with its own tax advisor to determine whether or not the debt instruments underlying each of the Claim and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement constitute "securities" for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

(2) Treatment of a Holder of an Allowed Claim if the Exchange of its Claim is not Treated as a Recapitalization

If the exchange of the Allowed Class 5 Claims is not treated as a recapitalization for U.S. federal income tax purposes (e.g., because the debt instruments underlying either of the Claim or the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement are not treated as securities for U.S. federal income tax purposes), a holder of such a Claim should be treated as exchanging its allowed Claim for its portion of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement in a fully taxable exchange. A holder of an allowed Claim who is subject to this treatment would recognize gain or loss equal to the difference between (i) the issue price (as described below) of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement that is not allocable to accrued but untaxed interest, and (ii) the holder's adjusted tax basis in the obligation constituting the surrendered allowed Claim. The character of such gain or loss as capital gain or loss or as ordinary income or loss would be determined by a number of factors, including the tax status of the holder, the nature of the Claim in such holder's hands, whether the Claim constitutes a capital asset in the hands of the holder, whether the Claim was purchased at a discount and whether and to what extent the holder has previously claimed a bad debt deduction with respect to its Claim. See the discussions of accrued interest and market discount below. A holder's tax basis in its portion of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement received on the Effective Date would equal its issue price. A holder's holding period for its portion of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement received on the Effective Date would begin on the day following the Effective Date.

(3) Treatment of a Holder of an Allowed Claim if the Exchange of its Claim is Treated as a Recapitalization

If the exchange of the Allowed Class 5 Claims is treated as a recapitalization for U.S. federal income tax purposes (e.g, because the debt instruments underlying each of the Claim and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement are treated as securities for U.S. federal income tax purposes), a holder would not recognize loss with respect to the exchange and would not recognize gain except to the extent that the

share of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement received is allocable to accrued but untaxed interest on the allowed Claim surrendered therefor (see discussion below, "Accrued Interest"). Such holder's tax basis in its portion of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement would be equal to the tax basis of the obligation constituting the allowed Claim surrendered therefor, and a holder's holding period for its portion of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement would include the holding period for the obligation constituting the surrendered allowed Claim; provided that the tax basis of any portion of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement treated as received in satisfaction of accrued but untaxed interest would equal the amount of such accrued but untaxed interest, and the holding period for any such portion of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement would not include the holding period of the debt instrument constituting the surrendered allowed Claim.

The tax consequences of the Plan and to the holders of allowed Class 5 Claims are highly uncertain. Holders of allowed Class 5 Claims should consult their tax advisors regarding whether the debt instruments underlying each of the Claims and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement could be treated as "securities" for U.S. federal income tax purposes.

(4) Issue Price of a Debt Instrument

The determination of "issue price" for purposes of this analysis will depend, in part, on whether the debt instruments issued to a holder of the allowed Claims surrendered under the Plan are traded on an "established securities market" for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The issue price of a debt instrument that is traded on an established market (or that is issued for stock or securities so traded) would be the fair market value of such debt instrument (or such stock or securities so traded) on the issue date as determined by such trading. The issue price of a debt instrument that is neither so traded nor issued for stock or securities so traded would be its stated principal amount (provided that the interest rate on the debt instrument exceeds the applicable federal rate published by the IRS). Although not free from doubt, the Debtors believe and intend to take the position that the debt instruments underlying the allowed Class 5 Claims are traded on an established market and expect that the debt instruments underlying the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement will be traded on an established market. These rules are complex and you should consult your tax advisor regarding the determination of the issue price of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement.

(5) Accrued Interest

To the extent that any amount received by a holder of a surrendered allowed Claim under the Plan is attributable to accrued but unpaid interest and such amount has not previously been included in the holder's gross income for U.S. federal income tax purposes, such amount would be taxable to the holder as ordinary interest income. Conversely, a holder of a surrendered allowed Claim may be able to recognize a deductible loss to the extent that any accrued interest on the debt instruments constituting such Claim was previously so included in the holder's gross income but was not paid in full by the Debtors.

The extent to which the consideration received by a holder of a surrendered allowed Claim will be attributable to accrued interest on the debt underlying the surrendered allowed Claim is unclear. Certain legislative history indicates that an allocation of consideration as between principal and interest provided in a chapter 11 plan of reorganization is binding for U.S. federal income tax purposes, while certain Treasury Regulations treat payments as allocated first to any accrued but untaxed interest. Pursuant to the Plan, distributions in respect of allowed claims shall be allocated first to the principal amount of such claims (as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes) and then, to the extent the consideration exceeds the principal amount of the claims, to any portion of such claims for accrued but unpaid interest. However, the provisions of the Plan are not binding on either the IRS or a court with respect to the appropriate tax treatment for creditors.

(6) Market Discount

Under the "market discount" provisions of sections 1276 through 1278 of the IRC, some or all of any gain realized by a holder exchanging the debt instruments constituting its allowed claim may be treated as ordinary income (instead of capital gain), to the extent of the amount of "market discount" on the debt constituting the surrendered allowed claim.

In general, a debt instrument is considered to have been acquired with "market discount" if it is acquired other than on original issue and if its holder's adjusted tax basis in the debt instrument is less than (i) the sum of all remaining payments to be made on the debt instrument, excluding "qualified stated interest" or, (ii) in the case of a debt instrument issued with "original issue discount," its adjusted issue price, by at least a *de minimis* amount (equal to 0.25% of the sum of all remaining payments to be made on the debt instrument, excluding qualified stated interest, multiplied by the number of remaining whole years to maturity).

Any gain recognized by a holder on the taxable disposition (determined as described above) of debts that it acquired with market discount would be treated as ordinary income to the extent of the market discount that accrued thereon while such debts were considered to be held by the holder (unless the holder elected to include market discount in income as it accrued). To the extent that the surrendered debts that had been acquired with market discount are exchanged in a tax-free or other reorganization transaction for other property (as may occur here if the exchange is treated as a recapitalization), any market discount that accrued on such debts but was not recognized by the holder may be required to be carried over to the property received therefor and any gain recognized on the subsequent sale, exchange, redemption or other disposition of such property may be treated as ordinary income to the extent of the accrued but unrecognized market discount with respect to the exchanged debt instrument.

(b) <u>Consequences to Holders of Class 9 Interests</u>

Pursuant to the Plan and upon consummation of the Merger, each holder of Allowed Class 9 Interests shall receive 0.4386 shares of Newdex Common Stock for each of its Allowed Class 9 Interests.

The Debtors expect and intend to treat the SuperMedia Plan Merger, as a "reorganization" within the meaning of section 368(a) of the IRC. However, such treatment is not free from doubt. In March of 2005, the U.S. Treasury issued proposed regulations which, if finalized in their current form, likely would cause the SuperMedia Plan Merger to be a fully taxable transaction. The proposed regulations purport to resolve an uncertainty under current law and would generally require that there be an "exchange of net value" in order for a transaction to qualify as a reorganization. In the context of a reverse triangular merger, the exchange of net value requirement in the proposed regulations is not met where the liabilities of the corporation whose stock is surrendered (in this case, SuperMedia) are in excess of the value of its assets. In the absence of conclusive authority requiring that there be an exchange of net value in order for a transaction to qualify as a reorganization, the Debtors intend to take the position that the SuperMedia Plan Merger be treated as a reorganization. No opinion from legal counsel has been given regarding whether the SuperMedia Plan Merger will qualify as a "reorganization" within the meaning of section 368(a) of the IRC, and the Debtors have not requested, nor do they intend to request, a ruling from the IRS regarding the U.S. federal income tax consequences of the transaction. As a result, there can be no assurance that the IRS will not assert, or that a court would not sustain, a position contrary to the Debtor's intended treatment of the SuperMedia Plan Merger. Holders of Class 9 claims should consult their own tax advisors regarding the possible treatment of the SuperMedia Plan Merger as a fully taxable transaction.

Assuming that the SuperMedia Plan Merger is treated as a reorganization, a holder of a Class 9 Claim generally will not recognize gain or loss upon the receipt of shares of Newdex Common Stock in exchange for such allowed Claims pursuant to the Plan. The holder's tax basis in the shares of Newdex Common Stock received pursuant to the Plan will equal its adjusted tax basis in the shares of SuperMedia Common Stock underlying the Class 9 Claims surrendered in exchange therefor. The holder's holding period for the shares of Newdex Common Stock received pursuant to the Plan will include the holder's holding period for those shares of SuperMedia Common Stock.

In the event that the SuperMedia Plan Merger does not qualify as a reorganization, a holder of a Class 9 Claim generally will recognize an amount of taxable gain or loss equal to the difference between (1) the fair market value of the shares of Newdex Common Stock received pursuant to the Plan, and (2) the holder's adjusted tax basis in the SuperMedia Common Stock underlying the Class 9 Claims exchanged therefor. That gain or loss generally will be capital gain or loss and will generally be long—term capital gain or loss if the holder held those shares of SuperMedia Common Stock for more than one year as of the Effective Date. The deductibility of capital losses is subject to limitations. The holder's tax basis in any shares of Newdex Common Stock received pursuant to the Plan would equal the fair market value of those shares on the Effective Date and the holding period for those shares would begin on the date immediately following the Effective Date.

13.4 Withholding and Reporting

The Debtors will withhold all amounts required by law to be withheld from payments of interest. The Debtors will comply with all applicable reporting requirements of the IRC. In general, information reporting requirements may apply to distributions or payments made to a holder of an allowed Claim. Additionally, backup withholding, currently at a rate of 28%, will generally apply to such payments if a holder fails to provide an accurate taxpayer identification number or otherwise fails to comply with the applicable requirements of the backup withholding rules. Any amounts withheld under the backup withholding rules will be allowed as a credit against such holder's U.S. federal income tax liability and may entitle such holder to a refund from the IRS, provided that the required information is provided to the IRS.

In addition, from an information reporting perspective, U.S. Treasury Regulations generally require disclosure by a taxpayer on its U.S. federal income tax return of certain types of transactions in which the taxpayer participated, including, among other types of transactions, certain transactions that result in the taxpayer's claiming a loss in excess of specified thresholds. Holders are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding these regulations and whether the transactions contemplated by the Plan would be subject to these regulations and require disclosure on the holders' tax returns.

THE FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLAN ARE COMPLEX. THE FOREGOING SUMMARY DOES NOT DISCUSS ALL ASPECTS OF FEDERAL INCOME TAXATION THAT MAY BE RELEVANT TO A PARTICULAR HOLDER IN LIGHT OF SUCH HOLDER'S CIRCUMSTANCES AND INCOME TAX SITUATION. ALL HOLDERS OF CLAIMS SHOULD CONSULT WITH THEIR TAX ADVISORS AS TO THE PARTICULAR TAX CONSEQUENCES TO THEM OF THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THE PLAN, INCLUDING THE APPLICABILITY AND EFFECT OF ANY STATE, LOCAL OR NON-U.S. TAX LAWS, AND OF ANY CHANGE IN APPLICABLE TAX LAWS.

ARTICLE XIV CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION

The Plan effects the Merger and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement required for the Debtors to implement their long-term business plan. In addition, any alternative other than Confirmation could result in extensive delays and increased administrative expenses resulting in smaller distributions to holders of Allowed Claims than proposed under the Plan. The Debtors urge all holders of Claims entitled to vote to accept the Plan and to evidence such acceptance by returning their ballots and master ballots so they will be received by the Claims and Solicitation Agent no later than 1:30 p.m. prevailing Eastern Time on March 13, 2013.

Dated: February 8, 2013

Respectfully submitted,

SUPERMEDIA INC.

on behalf of itself and all other Debtors

By: /s/ Samuel D. Jones

Samuel D. Jones

Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer

and Treasurer, SuperMedia Inc.

Prepared by:

CLEARY GOTTLIEB STEEN & HAMILTON LLP

Sean A. O'Neal. One Liberty Plaza New York, New York 10006 Telephone: (212) 225-2000 Facsimile: (212) 225-3999 YOUNG CONAWAY STARGATT & TAYLOR, LLP

Pauline K. Morgan Rodney Square 1000 North King Street Wilmington, Delaware 19801 Telephone: (302) 571-6600 Facsimile: (302) 571-1253

Proposed Co-Counsel to the Debtors and Debtors in Possession

APPENDIX: RULES OF INTERPRETATION, COMPUTATION OF TIME, GOVERNING LAW, AND OTHER REFERENCES

1. Rules of Interpretation

For purposes of the Disclosure Statement: (a) in the appropriate context, each term, whether stated in the singular or the plural, shall include both the singular and the plural, and pronouns stated in the masculine, feminine, or neuter gender shall include the masculine, feminine, and the neuter gender; (b) unless otherwise specified, any reference herein to a contract, lease, instrument, release, indenture, or other agreement or document being in a particular form or on particular terms and conditions means that such document shall be substantially in such form or substantially on such terms and conditions; (c) unless otherwise specified, any reference herein to an existing document, schedule, or exhibit, shall mean such document, schedule, or exhibit, as it may have been or may be amended, modified, or supplemented; (d) unless otherwise specified, all references herein to "Articles" are references to Articles hereof or hereto; (e) the words "herein," "hereof," and "hereto" refer to the Disclosure Statement in its entirety rather than to any particular portion of the Disclosure Statement; (f) captions and headings to Articles are inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the interpretation of the Disclosure Statement; (g) unless otherwise specified herein, the rules of construction set forth in section 102 of the Bankruptcy Code shall apply; and (h) any term used in capitalized form herein that is not otherwise defined but that is used in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules, as applicable.

2. <u>Computation of Time</u>

Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a) applies in computing any period of time prescribed or allowed herein.

3. Governing Law

Except to the extent the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules apply, and subject to the provisions of any contract, lease, instrument, release, indenture, or other agreement or document entered into expressly in connection herewith, the rights and obligations arising hereunder shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to conflict of laws principles.

4. Reference to Monetary Figures

All references in the Disclosure Statement to monetary figures refer to currency of the United States of America, unless otherwise expressly provided.

5. Reference to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Disclosure Statement to the contrary, references in the Disclosure Statement to the Debtors or to the Reorganized Debtors mean the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, to the extent the context requires.

EXHIBIT A TO THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

DEBTORS' JOINT PREPACKAGED CHAPTER 11 PLAN

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

In re:) Chapter 11	
SUPERMEDIA INC., et al., 1	Case No. 13-[] ([])	
Debtors.) Joint Administration Requested)	

DEBTORS' JOINT PREPACKAGED CHAPTER 11 PLAN

THIS CHAPTER 11 PLAN IS BEING SOLICITED FOR ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 1125 AND WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 1126 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE, 11 U.S.C. §§ 1125, 1126. THIS CHAPTER 11 PLAN WILL BE SUBMITTED TO THE BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR APPROVAL FOLLOWING SOLICITATION AND THE DEBTORS' FILING FOR CHAPTER 11 BANKRUPTCY.

CLEARY GOTTLIEB STEEN & HAMILTON LLP

Sean A. O'Neal One Liberty Plaza New York, New York 10006 Telephone: (212) 225-2000 Facsimile: (212) 225-3999

YOUNG CONAWAY STARGATT & TAYLOR, LLP

Pauline K. Morgan Rodney Square 1000 North King Street Wilmington, Delaware 19801 Telephone: (302) 571-6600 Facsimile: (302) 571-1253

Proposed Co-Counsel to the Debtors and Debtors in Possession

Dated: February 8, 2013

The Debtors, together with the last four digits of each of the Debtors' federal tax identification number, are: SuperMedia Inc. (5175), SuperMedia LLC (6092), SuperMedia Services Inc. (2834) and SuperMedia Sales Inc. (4411). For the purpose of these chapter 11 cases, the service address for the Debtors is: 2200 West Airfield Drive, P.O. Box 619810, D/FW Airport, Texas, 75261.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page
INTRODUCT	ON	1
ARTICLE I D	EFINED TERMS, RULES OF INTERPRETATION, COMPUTATION OF TIME,	
	ERNING LAW, AND OTHER REFERENCES	1
1.1	Defined Terms	
1.2	Rules of Interpretation	8
1.3	Computation of Time	8
1.4	Governing Law	8
1.5	Reference to Monetary Figures	
1.6	Reference to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors	9
ARTICLE II A	DMINISTRATIVE AND PRIORITY CLAIMS	
2.1	Administrative Claims	
2.2	Professional Claims	9
2.3	Priority Tax Claims	9
ARTICLE III	CLASSIFICATION, TREATMENT, AND VOTING OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS	
3.1	Classification of Claims and Interests	10
3.2	Treatment of Classes of Claims and Interests	10
3.3	Special Provision Governing Unimpaired Claims	13
ARTICLE IV	PROVISIONS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PLAN	13
4.1	General Settlement of Claims	13
4.2	Newdex Common Stock	13
4.3	Amended and Restated Credit Documents	13
4.4	Offering and Issuance of Newdex Common Stock	
4.5	Subordination	14
4.6	Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtors	
4.7	Cancellation of Notes, Instruments, Certificates, and Other Documents	
4.8	Issuance of New Securities; Execution of Plan Documents	
4.9	Corporate Action	
4.10	Charter and Bylaws	
4.11	Effectuating Documents; Further Transactions	
4.12	Section 1146(a) Exemption.	
4.13	Directors and Officers	
4.14	Incentive Plans and Employee and Retiree Benefits	
4.15	Preservation of Rights of Action	16
4.16	Restructuring Transactions	16
ARTICLE V T	REATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES	17
5.1	Assumption of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	
5.2	Cure of Defaults and Objections to Cure and Assumption	
5.3	Pre-existing Payment and Other Obligations	
5.4	Rejection Damages Claims and Objections to Rejections	
5.5	Contracts, Intercompany Contracts, and Leases Entered Into After the Petition Date	
5.6	Reservation of Rights	19
ARTICLE VI	PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS	
6.1	Distributions on Account of Claims and Interests Allowed as of the Effective Date	
6.2	Special Rules for Distributions to Holders of Disputed Claims and Interests	20
6.3	Delivery of Distributions	
6.4	Claims Paid or Payable by Third Parties	22

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 84 of 483

6.5	Setoffs	23			
6.0	Allocation Between Principal and Accrued Interest				
ADTICI E	VII PROCEDURES FOR RESOLVING DISPUTED CLAIMS AND INTERESTS	22			
7.					
7	r				
7	\boldsymbol{J}				
7					
7.4	Disanowance of Claims and Interests	24			
ARTICLE	VIII EFFECT OF CONFIRMATION OF THE PLAN	24			
8.	Discharge of Claims and Termination of Interests	24			
8.2	Releases by the Debtors	24			
8.3	Releases by Holders of Claims and Interests	25			
8.4	Exculpation	26			
8.3	injunction	26			
8.6	Protection Against Discriminatory Treatment	26			
8.′	Indemnification	27			
8.8					
8.9	Release of Liens	27			
8.	0 Reimbursement or Contribution.	27			
ADTICLE	IX CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE	27			
ARTICLE 9.		21			
9.		27			
9.2	that the following conditions shall have been satisfied or waived pursuant to Section 9.2: Waiver of Conditions Precedent				
9 9.:					
9	Effect of Non-Occurrence of Conditions to Consummation	20			
ARTICLE	X MODIFICATION, REVOCATION, OR WITHDRAWAL OF THE PLAN	28			
10		28			
10	.2 Revocation or Withdrawal of Plan	28			
10	.3 Confirmation of the Plan	29			
ARTICLE	XI RETENTION OF JURISDICTION	29			
ARTICLE	XII MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	30			
12					
12					
12					
12					
12					
12					
12	· ·				
12	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·				
12	11				

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 85 of 483

LIST OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit A Merger Agreement

Exhibit B Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement

INTRODUCTION

SuperMedia and its Debtor subsidiaries in the above-captioned chapter 11 cases jointly propose this Plan. Although proposed jointly for administrative purposes, the Plan constitutes a separate Plan for each Debtor for the resolution of outstanding claims against and interests in each Debtor pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors and Dex One and its subsidiaries seek to consummate the Merger on the Effective Date of the Plan. Each Debtor is a proponent of the Plan within the meaning of section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code. The classifications of claims and interests set forth in <u>ARTICLE III</u> shall be deemed to apply separately with respect to each Plan proposed by each Debtor, as applicable. The Plan contemplates no substantive consolidation of any of the Debtors. Reference is made to the Disclosure Statement for a discussion of the debtors' history, business, properties and operations, projections, risk factors, a summary and analysis of this Plan, the Merger and certain related matters.

ARTICLE I

DEFINED TERMS, RULES OF INTERPRETATION, COMPUTATION OF TIME, GOVERNING LAW, AND OTHER REFERENCES

1.1 <u>Defined Terms</u>

- 1. "Administrative Claim" means a Claim for costs and expenses of administration of the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to sections 503(b), 507(a)(2), 507(b), or 1114(e)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, including: (a) the actual and necessary costs and expenses incurred on or after the Petition Date until and including the Effective Date of preserving the Estates and operating the businesses of the Debtors; (b) Allowed Professional Claims; and (c) all fees and charges assessed against the Estates pursuant to section 1930 of chapter 123 of title 28 of the United States Code.
 - 2. "Affiliate" has the meaning set forth in section 101(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 3. "Allowed" means, as to a Claim or an Interest, a Claim or an Interest allowed under the Plan, under the Bankruptcy Code, as applicable, or by a Final Order.
- 4. "Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement by and among SuperMedia Inc., as borrower thereunder, certain lender financial institutions from time to time party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as administrative agent and collateral agent thereunder, to be effective on the Effective Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the SuperMedia Administrative Agent and the Majority Documentation Lenders and in substantially the form attached to the Plan as Exhibit B.
- 5. "Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Documents" means, collectively, the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, each of the other Loan Documents (as defined in the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement) and all other agreements, documents and instruments delivered or entered into in connection therewith (including any guarantee agreements, pledge and collateral agreements, intercreditor agreements and other security documents).
- 6. "Avoidance Actions" means any and all avoidance, recovery, subordination, or other claims, actions, or remedies that may be brought by or on behalf of the Debtors or their Estates or other authorized parties in interest under the Bankruptcy Code or applicable non-bankruptcy law, including actions or remedies under sections 502, 510, 542, 544, 545, and 547 through and including 553 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 7. "Bankruptcy Code" means Title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101–1532, as may be amended from time to time.
- 8. "Bankruptcy Court" means the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware or such other court having jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Cases.

- 9. "Bankruptcy Rules" means the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure as promulgated by the United States Supreme Court under section 2075 of title 28 of the United States Code, 28 U.S.C. § 2075, as applicable to the Chapter 11 Cases and the general, local, and chambers rules of the Bankruptcy Court.
- 10. "Business Day" means any day, other than a Saturday, Sunday, or a legal holiday, as defined in Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a).
- 11. "Cash" means the legal tender of the United States of America or the equivalent thereof, including bank deposits and checks.
- 12. "Causes of Action" means any and all claims, actions, causes of action, choses in action, suits, debts, damages, dues, sums of money, accounts, reckonings, bonds, bills, specialties, covenants, contracts, controversies, agreements, promises, variances, trespasses, judgments, remedies, rights of set-off, third-party claims, subrogation claims, contribution claims, reimbursement claims, indemnity claims, counterclaims, and crossclaims (including all claims and any avoidance, recovery, subordination, or other actions against Insiders and/or any other Entities under the Bankruptcy Code, including Avoidance Actions) of any of the Debtors, the debtors in possession, and/or the Estates (including those actions set forth in the Plan Supplement), whether known or unknown, liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, disputed or undisputed, that are or may be pending on the Effective Date or commenced by the Reorganized Debtors after the Effective Date against any Entity, based in law or equity, including under the Bankruptcy Code, whether direct, indirect, derivative, or otherwise and whether asserted or unasserted as of the date of entry of the Confirmation Order.
- 13. "Certificate" means any instrument evidencing a Claim or an Interest, <u>provided</u>, "Certificate" includes no instrument issued pursuant to, or evidencing a Claim under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement.
- 14. "Chapter 11 Cases" means the procedurally consolidated chapter 11 cases pending for the Debtors in the Bankruptcy Court.
 - 15. "Claim" has the meaning set forth in section 101(5) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 16. "Claims and Solicitation Agent" means the claims and solicitation agent the Debtors may retain in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to order of the Bankruptcy Court.
- 17. "Claims Register" means the official register of Claims against or Interests in the Debtors maintained by the Claims and Solicitation Agent.
- 18. "Class" means a category of holders of Claims or Interests under section 1122(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.
 - 19. "Confirmation" means the entry of the Confirmation Order on the docket of the Chapter 11 Cases.
- 20. "Confirmation Date" means the date on which the Bankruptcy Court enters the Confirmation Order on the docket of the Chapter 11 Cases within the meaning of Bankruptcy Rules 5003 and 9021.
- 21. "Confirmation Hearing" means the hearing(s) before the Bankruptcy Court under section 1128 of the Bankruptcy Code at which the Debtors seek entry of the Confirmation Order.
- 22. "Confirmation Order" means the order of the Bankruptcy Court confirming the Plan under section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code and approving the Lender Disclosure Statement and the Shareholder Disclosure Statement, which order shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the SuperMedia Administrative Agent.
 - 23. "Consummation" means the occurrence of the Effective Date.
 - 24. "Creditor" has the meaning set forth in section 101(10) of the Bankruptcy Code.

- 25. "Cure" means a Claim (unless waived or modified by the applicable counterparty) based upon a Debtor's defaults under an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease assumed by such Debtor under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, other than a default which is not required to be cured pursuant to section 365(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 26. "Debtors" means, collectively, each of the following: SuperMedia Inc., SuperMedia LLC, SuperMedia Services Inc. and SuperMedia Sales Inc.
- 27. "Designated Employee Benefit Plans" means the employee benefit plans designated by the Dex One Debtors, with the consent of the Debtors, on or before the Effective Date.
 - 28. "Dex One" means Dex One Corporation.
- 29. "Dex One Chapter 11 Cases" means the procedurally consolidated chapter 11 cases, if any, filed by the Dex One Debtors in the Bankruptcy Court in accordance with the Dex One Support Agreement and Merger Agreement.
- 30. "Dex One Confirmation Order" means the order of the Bankruptcy Court confirming the Dex One Plan under section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code and approving the Dex One Disclosure Statement in the Dex One Chapter 11 Cases.
- 31. "Dex One Debtors" means, collectively, if Dex One and certain of its subsidiaries file the Dex One Chapter 11 Cases, each of the following: Dex One; Dex Media, Inc.; Dex Media East, Inc.; Dex Media West, Inc.; Dex Media Service LLC; Dex One Digital, Inc.; Dex One Service, Inc.; R.H. Donnelley Inc.; R.H. Donnelley APIL, Inc.; R.H. Donnelley Corporation; Newdex, Inc.; and Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc.
- 32. "Dex One Plan" means the chapter 11 plan filed in the Dex One Chapter 11 Cases in accordance with the Dex One Support Agreement and Merger Agreement.
- 33. "Dex One Support Agreement" means the Support and Limited Waiver Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2012, by and among the Dex One Debtors, Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. in their respective capacities as administrative agents and collateral agents under certain senior secured credit agreements to which various of the Dex One Debtors are party and certain lenders under such credit agreements from time to time party to such Support Agreement and Limited Waiver Agreement.
- 34. "Disclosure Statement" means either the Lender Disclosure Statement or the Shareholder Disclosure Statement, as applicable.
- 35. "Disputed" means, as to a Claim or an Interest, a Claim or an Interest: (a) that is not Allowed; (b) that is not disallowed under the Plan, the Bankruptcy Code, as applicable, or a Final Order; or (c) with respect to which a party in interest has filed a proof of claim or otherwise made a written request to a Debtor for payment, without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.
- 36. "Distribution Agent" means Newdex or any Entity Newdex selects to make or to facilitate distributions in accordance with the Plan.
- 37. "Distribution Date" means, except as otherwise set forth herein, the date or dates determined by the Debtors or Newdex, in their sole discretion, on or after the Effective Date, upon which the Distribution Agent shall make distributions to holders of Allowed Claims and Interests entitled to receive distributions under the Plan; provided that Distribution Dates shall occur no less frequently than every 30 days after the Effective Date, as necessary.
- 38. "Distribution Record Date" means the date that is three Business Days after entry of the Confirmation Order.

3

- 39. "Effective Date" means the date that is the first Business Day after the Confirmation Date on which all conditions precedent to the occurrence of the Effective Date set forth in Section 9.1 have been satisfied or waived in accordance with Section 9.2.
 - 40. "Entity" has the meaning set forth in section 101(15) of the Bankruptcy Code.
 - 41. "Equity Security" has the meaning set forth in section 101(16) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 42. "Estate" means the bankruptcy estate of any Debtor created under sections 301 and 541 of the Bankruptcy Code upon the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases.
- 43. "Exculpated Claim" means any Claim related to any act or omission in connection with, relating to, or arising out of the Debtors' in court or out-of-court efforts to implement the Transaction, the Chapter 11 Cases, the SuperMedia Support Agreement, the formulation, preparation, solicitation, dissemination, negotiation, or filing of the Lender Disclosure Statement, the Shareholder Disclosure Statement or Plan or any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or document created or entered into in connection with or pursuant to the SuperMedia Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement or the Plan, the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, the pursuit of Confirmation, the pursuit of Consummation, the administration and implementation of the Plan, or the distribution of property under the Plan.
- 44. "Exculpated Party" means each of the following in its capacity as such: (a) the Debtors; (b) the Reorganized Debtors; (c) the Dex One Debtors; (d) the SuperMedia Secured Lenders and SuperMedia Administrative Agent; and (e) with respect to each of the foregoing Entities in clauses (a) through (d), such Entity's successors and assigns and current and former affiliates, subsidiaries, officers, directors, principals, employees, agents, financial advisors, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, consultants, representatives, and other Professionals.
- 45. "Executory Contract" means a contract or lease to which one or more of the Debtors is a party that is subject to assumption or rejection under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code.
 - 46. "Final Decree" means the decree contemplated under Bankruptcy Rule 3022.
- 47. "Final Order" means, as applicable, an order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court or other court of competent jurisdiction with respect to the relevant subject matter, which has not been reversed, stayed, modified, or amended, and as to which the time to appeal or seek certiorari has expired and no appeal or petition for certiorari has been timely taken, or as to which any appeal that has been taken or any petition for certiorari that has been or may be filed has been resolved by the highest court to which the order or judgment could be appealed or from which certiorari could be sought or the new trial, reargument, or rehearing shall have been denied, resulted in no modification of such order, or has otherwise been dismissed with prejudice.
- 48. "General Unsecured Claim" means any Claim other than an Administrative Claim, a Professional Claim, a Secured Tax Claim, an Other Secured Claim, a Priority Tax Claim, an Other Priority Claim, a SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claim, and a Section 510(b) Claim.
 - 49. "Governmental Unit" has the meaning set forth in section 101(27) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 50. "Impaired" means, with respect to any Class of Claims or Interests, a Claim or an Interest that is not Unimpaired.
 - 51. "Insider" has the meaning set forth in section 101(31) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 52. "Intercompany Contract" means a contract between or among two or more Debtors or a contract between or among one or more Affiliates and one or more Debtors.
 - 53. "Intercompany Interest" means an Interest held by a Debtor or an Affiliate.

- 54. "Interest" means any Equity Security of a Debtor existing immediately prior to the Effective Date.
- 55. "Lender Disclosure Statement" means the disclosure statement for the Plan provided to the SuperMedia Secured Lenders as may be amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time, including all exhibits and schedules thereto, to be approved by the Confirmation Order.
 - 56. "Lien" has the meaning set forth in section 101(37) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 57. "Majority Documentation Lenders" means, if the SuperMedia Support Agreement has not been terminated, as of any date of determination, the majority by number of the Consenting Lenders (as defined in the SuperMedia Support Agreement) set forth on Schedule 2 to the SuperMedia Support Agreement excluding the SuperMedia Administrative Agent (and, for the avoidance of doubt, not such Consenting Lenders' successors or assigns and not any Consenting Lender that is no longer bound by the Support Agreement pursuant to the terms thereof) that exercise their consent or approval rights as of such date of determination in accordance with the terms of the SuperMedia Support Agreement.
- 58. "Merger" means the merger of Dex One and its subsidiaries with SuperMedia and its subsidiaries in accordance with the Merger Agreement and the Plan.
- 59. "Merger Agreement" means the amended and restated agreement and plan of merger, dated December 5, 2012, by and among Dex One, SuperMedia, Newdex, Inc., and Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc., as may be amended from time to time, attached hereto as Exhibit A.
- 60. "Newdex" means the Reorganized Debtors' ultimate parent company upon consummation of the Merger.
 - 61. "Newdex Board" means Newdex's initial board of directors.
- 62. "Newdex Bylaws" means Newdex's bylaws, substantially in the form contained in the Merger Agreement.
- 63. "Newdex Charter" means Newdex's amended and restated certificate of incorporation, substantially in the form contained in the Merger Agreement.
- 64. "Newdex Common Stock" means Newdex's authorized shares of common stock on the Effective Date, par value \$0.001 per share.
 - 65. "Option" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.16(b) herein.
- 66. "Other Priority Claim" means any Claim other than an Administrative Claim or a Priority Tax Claim entitled to priority in right of payment under section 507(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 67. "Other Secured Claim" means any Secured Claim other than a SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claim or a Secured Tax Claim. For the avoidance of doubt, "Other Secured Claims" includes any Claim arising under, derived from, or based upon any letter of credit issued in favor of one or more Debtors, the reimbursement obligation for which is either secured by a Lien on collateral or is subject to a valid right of setoff pursuant to section 553 of the Bankruptcy Code.
 - 68. "*Person*" has the meaning set forth in section 101(41) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 69. "Petition Date" means the date on which each of the Debtors filed their petitions for relief commencing the Chapter 11 Cases.
- 70. "Plan" means this chapter 11 plan, as it may be altered, amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time, including the Plan Supplement and all exhibits, supplements, appendices, and schedules.

- 71. "Plan Supplement" means any compilation of documents and forms of documents, agreements, schedules, and exhibits to the Plan, which shall be filed by the Debtors no later than 10 Business Days after the Petition Date or such later date as may be approved by the Bankruptcy Court on notice to parties in interest, and additional documents filed with the Bankruptcy Court prior to the Effective Date as amendments to the Plan Supplement.
- 72. "Priority Tax Claim" means any Claim of a Governmental Unit of the kind specified in section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 73. "Pro Rata" means the proportion that an Allowed Claim or an Allowed Interest in a particular Class bears to the aggregate amount of Allowed Claims or Allowed Interests in that Class.
- 74. "Professional" means an Entity: (a) employed in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to a Final Order in accordance with sections 327 and 1103 of the Bankruptcy Code and to be compensated for services rendered prior to or on the Effective Date pursuant to sections 327, 328, 329, 330, and 331 of the Bankruptcy Code or (b) for which compensation and reimbursement has been Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to section 503(b)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 75. "Professional Claim" means a Claim by a Professional seeking an award by the Bankruptcy Court of compensation for services rendered or reimbursement of expenses incurred through and including the Confirmation Date under sections 330, 331, 503(b)(2), 503(b)(3), 503(b)(4), or 503(b)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code.
 - 76. "Proof of Claim" means a proof of Claim filed against any of the Debtors in the Chapter 11 Cases.
- 77. "Rejection Schedule" means the schedule of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases in the Plan Supplement, as may be amended from time to time, setting forth certain Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases for rejection as of the Effective Date under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 78. "Released Party" means each of the following in its capacity as such: (a) the Debtors; (b) the SuperMedia Secured Lenders and SuperMedia Administrative Agent; and (c) with respect to each of the foregoing Entities in clauses (a) and (b), such Entity's successors and assigns, and current and former affiliates, subsidiaries, officers, directors, principals, employees, agents, financial advisors, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, consultants, representatives, and other Professionals.
- 79. "Releasing Parties" means each of the following in its capacity as such: (a) the SuperMedia Secured Lenders and the SuperMedia Administrative Agent; and (b) without limiting the foregoing clause (a), each holder of a Claim or an Interest other than a holder of a Claim or an Interest that has voted to reject the Plan or is a member of a Class that is deemed to reject the Plan.
- 80. "Reorganized Debtor" means a Debtor, or any successor thereto, by merger, consolidation, or otherwise, on or after the Effective Date.
- 81. "Restructuring Transactions" means the transactions, including the Merger, described in <u>Section</u> 4.16.
- 82. "Section 510(b) Claim" means any Claim against the Debtors arising from rescission of a purchase or sale of a security of the Debtors or an Affiliate of the Debtors, for damages arising from the purchase or sale of such a security, or for reimbursement or contribution allowed under section 502 of the Bankruptcy Code on account of such a Claim.
- 83. "Secured Claim" means a Claim: (a) secured by a Lien on collateral to the extent of the value of such collateral, as determined in accordance with section 506(a) of the Bankruptcy Code or (b) subject to a valid right of setoff pursuant to section 553 of the Bankruptcy Code.

- 84. "Secured Tax Claim" means any Secured Claim that, absent its secured status, would be entitled to priority in right of payment under section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code (determined irrespective of time limitations), including any related Secured Claim for penalties.
- 85. "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77a–77aa, or any similar federal, state, or local law.
- 86. "Security" has the meaning set forth in section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act. For the avoidance of doubt, none of the following is, or shall be deemed to be, a Security: the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, any loan or Claim under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement or the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, or any note or other instrument issued in connection therewith.
- 87. "Servicer" means an indenture trustee, agent, or other authorized representative of holders of Claims or Interests.
- 88. "Shareholder Disclosure Statement" means the combined Form S-4 regarding the Merger filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and disclosure statement for the Plan, as may be amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time, including all exhibits and schedules thereto, to be approved by the Confirmation Order.
 - 89. "SuperMedia" means SuperMedia Inc.
- 90. "SuperMedia Administrative Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. or its successor, in its capacity as administrative agent and collateral agent under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Documents.
- 91. "SuperMedia Cash Collateral Order" means, collectively, the interim order and, if applicable, the Final Order entered by the Bankruptcy Court authorizing SuperMedia and certain of the other Debtors to use the SuperMedia Secured Lenders' collateral (including cash collateral) and granting adequate protection to the SuperMedia Secured Lenders, which orders shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the SuperMedia Administrative Agent.
- 92. "SuperMedia Cash Management Arrangement" means any "Cash Management Agreement", as defined in the SuperMedia Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, that is of a type described in clause (ii) of the definition of "Obligations" in the SuperMedia Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.
- 93. "SuperMedia Guarantee and Collateral Agreement" means the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2009, among SuperMedia, the other Debtors party thereto and the SuperMedia Administrative Agent.
 - 94. "SuperMedia Interest" means any Interest in SuperMedia.
- 95. "SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement" means the Loan Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2009, as amended on December 13, 2010 and November 8, 2011, by and among SuperMedia Inc. (formerly known as Idearc Inc.), as borrower thereunder, the SuperMedia Secured Lenders from time to time party thereto and the SuperMedia Administrative Agent.
- 96. "SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claim" means any Claim arising under, derived from or based upon the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Documents.
- 97. "SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Documents" means collectively, (a) the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, (b) all other agreements, documents and instruments delivered or entered into in connection therewith (including any guarantee agreements, pledge and collateral agreements, intercreditor agreements and other security documents) and (c) any SuperMedia Cash Management Arrangements.

- 98. "SuperMedia Secured Lenders" means the "Secured Parties", as defined in the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement.
- 99. "SuperMedia Support Agreement" means the Support and Limited Waiver Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2012, by and among the Debtors, the SuperMedia Administrative Agent and the SuperMedia Secured Lenders party thereto from time to time.
- 100. "Transaction" means the Merger and the transactions related thereto including the entry into and delivery and effectiveness of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreements and other Amended and Restated Credit Documents.
- 101. "Unclaimed Distribution" means any distribution under the Plan on account of an Allowed Claim or Interest to a holder that has not: (a) accepted a particular distribution or, in the case of distributions made by check, negotiated such check; (b) given notice to the Reorganized Debtors of an intent to accept a particular distribution; (c) responded to the Debtors' or Reorganized Debtors' requests for information necessary to facilitate a particular distribution; or (d) taken any other action necessary to facilitate such distribution.
- 102. "Unexpired Lease" means a lease of nonresidential real property to which one or more of the Debtors is a party that is subject to assumption or rejection under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 103. "Unimpaired" means a Class of Claims or Interests that is unimpaired within the meaning of section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.2 Rules of Interpretation

For purposes of the Plan: (a) in the appropriate context, each term, whether stated in the singular or the plural, shall include both the singular and the plural, and pronouns stated in the masculine, feminine, or neuter gender shall include the masculine, feminine, and the neuter gender; (b) unless otherwise specified, any reference herein to a contract, lease, instrument, release, indenture, or other agreement or document being in a particular form or on particular terms and conditions means that such document shall be substantially in such form or substantially on such terms and conditions; (c) unless otherwise specified, any reference herein to an existing document, schedule, or exhibit, shall mean such document, schedule, or exhibit, as it may have been or may be amended, modified, or supplemented; (d) unless otherwise specified, all references herein to "Articles" are references to Articles hereof or hereto; (e) the words "herein," "hereof," and "hereto" refer to the Plan in its entirety rather than to any particular portion of the Plan; (f) captions and headings to Articles are inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the interpretation of the Plan; (g) unless otherwise specified herein, the rules of construction set forth in section 102 of the Bankruptcy Code shall apply; and (h) any term used in capitalized form herein that is not otherwise defined but that is used in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules, as applicable.

1.3 Computation of Time

Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a) applies in computing any period of time prescribed or allowed herein.

1.4 Governing Law

Except to the extent the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules apply, and subject to the provisions of any contract, lease, instrument, release, indenture, or other agreement or document entered into expressly in connection herewith, the rights and obligations arising hereunder shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to conflict of laws principles.

1.5 Reference to Monetary Figures

All references in the Plan to monetary figures refer to currency of the United States of America, unless otherwise expressly provided.

1.6 Reference to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan to the contrary, references in the Plan to the Debtors or to the Reorganized Debtors mean the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, to the extent the context requires.

ARTICLE II

ADMINISTRATIVE AND PRIORITY CLAIMS

In accordance with section 1123(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, Administrative Claims, Professional Claims, and Priority Tax Claims have not been classified and thus are excluded from the Classes of Claims set forth in <u>ARTICLE III</u>.

2.1 Administrative Claims

Unless otherwise agreed to by the holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim and the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, each holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim (other than holders of Professional Claims and Claims for fees and expenses pursuant to section 1930 of chapter 123 of title 28 of the United States Code) will receive in full and final satisfaction of its Administrative Claim an amount of Cash equal to the amount of such Allowed Administrative Claim either: (a) on the Effective Date, or as soon as practicable thereafter; (b) if the Administrative Claim is not Allowed as of the Effective Date, no later than 30 days after the date on which an order Allowing such Administrative Claim becomes a Final Order, or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter; or (c) if the Allowed Administrative Claim is based on liabilities incurred by the Debtors in the ordinary course of their business after the Petition Date in accordance with the terms and conditions of the particular transaction giving rise to such Allowed Administrative Claims without any further action by the holders of such Allowed Administrative Claims.

2.2 Professional Claims

All requests for payment of Professional Claims for services rendered and reimbursement of expenses incurred prior to the Confirmation Date must be filed no later than 45 days after the Effective Date. The Bankruptcy Court shall determine the Allowed amounts of such Professional Claims after notice and a hearing in accordance with the procedures established by the Bankruptcy Code. The Reorganized Debtors shall pay Professional Claims in Cash in the amount the Court Allows. From and after the Confirmation Date, any requirement that Professionals comply with sections 327 through 331 and 1103 of the Bankruptcy Code in seeking retention or compensation for services rendered after such date shall terminate, and the Reorganized Debtors may employ and pay any Professional in the ordinary course of business without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

2.3 **Priority Tax Claims**

Each holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim due and payable on or before the Effective Date shall receive on the Effective Date, or as soon as practicable thereafter, from the respective Debtor liable for such Allowed Priority Tax Claim, payment in Cash in an amount equal to the amount of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim. To the extent any Allowed Priority Tax Claim is not due and owing on the Effective Date, such Claim shall be paid in full in Cash in accordance with the terms of any agreement between the Debtors and the holder of such Claim, or as may be due and payable under applicable non-bankruptcy law, or in the ordinary course of business.

ARTICLE III

CLASSIFICATION, TREATMENT, AND VOTING OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS

3.1 Classification of Claims and Interests

This Plan constitutes a separate Plan proposed by each Debtor. Except for the Claims addressed in ARTICLE II, all Claims and Interests are classified in the Classes set forth below in accordance with section 1122 of the Bankruptcy Code. A Claim or Interest is classified in a particular Class only to the extent that the Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of that Class and is classified in other Classes to the extent that any portion of the Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of such other Classes. A Claim or Interest is also classified in a particular Class for the purpose of receiving distributions pursuant to the Plan only to the extent that such Claim or Interest is an Allowed Claim or Interest in that Class and has not been paid, released, or otherwise satisfied prior to the Effective Date.

Below is a chart assigning each Class a number for purposes of identifying each separate Class. The Classes have been numbered in a manner consistent with the Dex One Plan for convenience and ease of reading. There are no Classes 4, 6, or 7 under this Plan.

Class	Claim or Interest	Status	Voting Rights
1	Secured Tax Claims	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
2	Other Secured Claims	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
3	Other Priority Claims	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
5	SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
8	General Unsecured Claims	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
9	SuperMedia Interests	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
10	Intercompany Interests	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
11	Section 510(b) Claims	Impaired	Presumed to Reject

3.2 Treatment of Classes of Claims and Interests

Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest, as applicable, agrees to a less favorable treatment, such holder shall receive under the Plan the treatment described below in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for such holder's Allowed Claim or Interest. Unless otherwise indicated, the holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest, as applicable, shall receive such treatment on the Effective Date, or as soon as practicable thereafter.

(a) Class 1 — Secured Tax Claims

- (1) Classification: Class 1 consists of any Secured Tax Claims against any Debtor.
- (2) *Treatment*: Each holder of an Allowed Class 1 Claim shall receive, as applicable:
 - A. If the Allowed Class 1 Claim is due and payable on or before the Effective Date, Cash in an amount equal to such Allowed Class 1 Claim; or
 - B. If the Allowed Class 1 Claim is not due and payable on or before the Effective Date, such Claim shall be paid in full in Cash in accordance with the terms of any agreement between the Debtors and the holder of such Claim or as may be

due and payable under applicable non-bankruptcy law or in the ordinary course of business.

(3) Voting: Class 1 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 1 Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 1 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(b) Class 2 — Other Secured Claims

- (1) Classification: Class 2 consists of any Other Secured Claims against any Debtor.
- (2) *Treatment*: Each holder of an Allowed Class 2 Claim shall, at the sole option of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable:
 - A. have its Allowed Class 2 Claim reinstated and rendered Unimpaired in accordance with section 1124(2) of the Bankruptcy Code; or
 - B. receive the collateral securing its Allowed Class 2 Claim and any interest on such Allowed Class 2 Claim required to be paid pursuant to section 506(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- (3) Voting: Class 2 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 2 Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 2 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(c) Class 3 — Other Priority Claims

- (1) Classification: Class 3 consists of any Other Priority Claims against any Debtor.
- (2) Treatment: Each holder of an Allowed Class 3 Claim shall be paid in full in Cash.
- (3) Voting: Class 3 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 3 Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 3 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(d) Class 5 — SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims

- (1) Classification: Class 5 consists of any SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims.
- (2) Allowance: On the Effective Date, Class 5 Claims shall be Allowed, and shall not be subject to avoidance, objection, challenge, deduction, subordination, recharacterization or offset, in the aggregate principal amount of \$1,441,990,818, plus (A) any accrued but unpaid interest payable at the non-default interest rate in accordance with the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, (B) any unpaid fees, expenses or other amounts that constitute Obligations (other than principal) under and as defined in the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement, (C) any unpaid adequate protection payments required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the SuperMedia Cash Collateral Order and (D) to the extent applicable, any unpaid amounts required to be paid pursuant to a SuperMedia Cash Management Arrangement, less any other payments of principal paid by the Debtors after December 31, 2012, or during the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to the terms of the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement or the SuperMedia Cash Collateral Order.
- (3) *Treatment*: (A) On the Effective Date, each holder of an Allowed Class 5 Claim shall receive, in satisfaction of such holder's Allowed Class 5 Claim (other than the portion of

the Allowed Class 5 Claim which directly arises under, is derived from or is based upon a SuperMedia Cash Management Arrangement): (a) its Pro Rata share of the loans under the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and (b) Cash in an amount equal to such holder's Pro Rata share of any outstanding amounts described in clauses (A), (B) or (C) of the immediately foregoing paragraph (d)(2), to the extent such amounts are owed to a lender under the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement or SuperMedia Cash Collateral Order; and (B) in satisfaction of the portion (if any) of such holder's Allowed Class 5 Claim that directly arises under, is derived from or is based upon a SuperMedia Cash Management Arrangement, Cash in an amount equal to such partial Claim amount.

(4) *Voting*: Class 5 is Impaired. Holders of Allowed Class 5 Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(e) Class 8 — General Unsecured Claims

- (1) Classification: Class 8 consists of any General Unsecured Claims against any Debtor.
- (2) Treatment: Each holder of an Allowed Class 8 Claim shall receive Cash in an amount equal to such Allowed Class 8 Claim on the later of the Effective Date or in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the terms and conditions of the particular transaction giving rise to such Allowed Class 8 Claim.
- (3) Voting: Class 8 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 8 Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 8 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(f) Class 9 — SuperMedia Interests

- (1) Classification: Class 9 consists of any SuperMedia Interests.
- (2) *Treatment*: Upon consummation of the Merger, each holder of an Allowed Class 9 Interest shall receive 0.4386 shares of Newdex Common Stock for each of its Allowed Class 9 Interests.
- (3) *Voting*: Class 9 is Impaired. Holders of Allowed Class 9 Interests are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(g) Class 10 — Intercompany Interests

- (1) Classification: Class 10 consists of any Intercompany Interests.
- (2) Treatment: Each holder of an Allowed Class 10 Interest shall have its Allowed Class 10 Interest left unaltered and rendered Unimpaired in accordance with section 1124(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- (3) Voting: Class 10 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 10 Interests are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 10 Interests are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(h) Class 11 — Section 510(b) Claims

(1) Classification: Class 11 consists of any Section 510(b) Claims against any Debtor.

- (2) Allowance: Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, a Class 11 Claim, if existing, may only become Allowed by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court. The Debtors are not aware of any asserted Class 11 Claim and believe that no Class 11 Claim exists.
- (3) Treatment: A holder of an Allowed Class 11 Claim shall, in the Reorganized Debtors' sole discretion, (A) receive Cash in the full amount of its Allowed Class 11 Claim or (B) be treated as if such holder held a number of Allowed Class 9 Interests instead of its Allowed Class 11 Claim equal in value to the amount of its Allowed Class 11 Claim.
- (4) Voting: Class 11 is Impaired. Holders (if any) of Allowed Class 11 Claims are conclusively presumed to have rejected the Plan. Holders (if any) of Allowed Class 11 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

3.3 **Special Provision Governing Unimpaired Claims**

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, nothing under the Plan shall affect the Debtors' or the Reorganized Debtors' rights regarding any Unimpaired Claim, including all rights regarding legal and equitable defenses to or setoffs or recoupments against any such Unimpaired Claim.

ARTICLE IV

PROVISIONS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PLAN

4.1 General Settlement of Claims

Unless otherwise set forth in the Plan, pursuant to section 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 9019, and in consideration for the classification, distributions, releases, and other benefits provided under the Plan, on the Effective Date, the provisions of the Plan shall constitute a good-faith compromise and settlement of all Claims and Interests.

4.2 Newdex Common Stock

The issuance of Newdex Common Stock, including any options for the purchase thereof and equity awards associated therewith, is authorized without the need for any further corporate action or without any further action by the Debtors or Newdex, as applicable. The Newdex Charter shall authorize the issuance and distribution on the Effective Date of shares of Newdex Common Stock to the Distribution Agent for the benefit of holders of Allowed Interests in Class 9, subject to the exercise of the Option described in Section 4.16(b). All of the shares of Newdex Common Stock issued under the Plan shall be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid, and non-assessable.

Newdex shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain approval of the Newdex Common Stock for listing on the New York Stock Exchange or the NASDAQ Stock Market on, or as soon as reasonably practicable after, the Effective Date.

- 4.3 Amended and Restated Credit Documents. On the Effective Date, SuperMedia, as a Reorganized Debtor, shall execute and deliver (1) the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and (2) all other Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Documents. The Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and all such other Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Documents that are contemplated to become effective on the Effective Date shall become so effective in accordance with their terms and the Plan. On the Effective Date, each holder of a SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claim shall automatically be deemed a party to the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement.
- (b) Holders of SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims have, pursuant to the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Documents, and shall have valid, binding and enforceable Liens on the collateral specified in the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Documents and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia

Secured Credit Documents. The guarantees, mortgages, pledges, liens and other security interests previously granted pursuant to the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Documents and, if applicable, granted pursuant to the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Documents have been and are granted in good faith as an inducement to the holders of the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims to agree to the treatment contemplated by the Plan and shall be deemed not to constitute a fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer, shall not otherwise be subject to avoidance, and the priorities of such liens and security interests shall be as set forth in the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Documents and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Documents.

4.4 Offering and Issuance of Newdex Common Stock

The offering, issuance, and distribution of any Securities, including the Newdex Common Stock, pursuant to the Plan will be in compliance with the registration requirements of the Securities Act or exempt from the registration requirements of section 5 therein pursuant to section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, section 4(2) of the Securities Act, or any other available exemption from registration under the Securities Act, as applicable. In addition, under section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, if applicable, any Securities issued under the Plan will be freely transferable under the Securities Act by the recipients thereof, subject to: (1) the provisions of section 1145(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code relating to the definition of an underwriter in section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act, and compliance with any applicable state or foreign securities laws, if any, and the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, if any, applicable at the time of any future transfer of such Securities or instruments; (2) the restrictions, if any, on the transferability of such Securities and instruments; and (3) any other applicable regulatory approval.

4.5 Subordination

The allowance, classification, and treatment of all Claims and Interests under the Plan shall conform to and with the respective contractual, legal, and equitable subordination rights of such Claims and Interests, and the Plan shall recognize and implement any such rights. Pursuant to section 510 of the Bankruptcy Code, except where otherwise provided herein, the Reorganized Debtors reserve the right to re-classify any Allowed Claim or Interest in accordance with any contractual, legal, or equitable subordination relating thereto.

4.6 Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtors

Except as otherwise provided herein, including in connection with the Merger, or in any agreement, instrument, or other document incorporated in the Plan (including the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Documents), on the Effective Date, all property in each Estate, all Causes of Action, and any property acquired by any of the Debtors under the Plan shall vest in each respective Reorganized Debtor, free and clear of all Liens, Claims, charges, or other encumbrances. On and after the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, each Reorganized Debtor may operate its business and may use, acquire, or dispose of property and compromise or settle any Claims, Interests, or Causes of Action without supervision or approval by the Bankruptcy Court and free of any restrictions of the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules.

4.7 Cancellation of Notes, Instruments, Certificates, and Other Documents

On the Effective Date, except to the extent otherwise provided herein (including as otherwise provided with respect to the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and any contracts evidencing transactions described in Section 3.2(e)(2)), all notes, instruments, Certificates, and other documents evidencing Claims or Interests shall be cancelled and the obligations of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors and the non-Debtor Affiliates thereunder or in any way related thereto shall be discharged; provided, however, that notwithstanding Confirmation or the occurrence of the Effective Date, any agreement that governs the rights of the holder of a Claim shall continue in effect solely for purposes of (a) allowing holders to receive distributions under the Plan and (b) allowing and preserving the rights of the SuperMedia Administrative Agent and any Servicer, as applicable, to make distributions on account of Claims and Interests as provided in <u>ARTICLE VI</u>.

4.8 <u>Issuance of New Securities; Execution of Plan Documents</u>

Except as otherwise provided herein, on the Effective Date, or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Reorganized Debtors shall issue all Securities, notes, instruments, Certificates, and other documents required to be issued under the Plan.

4.9 Corporate Action

Each of the matters provided for by the Plan involving the corporate structure of the Debtors or corporate or related actions to be taken by or required of the Reorganized Debtors, whether taken prior to or as of the Effective Date, including the Merger, shall be authorized without the need for any further corporate action or without any further action by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable. Such actions may include: (a) the adoption and filing of the Newdex Charter and Newdex Bylaws; (b) the appointment of the Newdex Board; and (c) the authorization, issuance, and distribution of Newdex Common Stock and other Securities to be authorized, issued, and distributed pursuant to the Plan.

4.10 Charter and Bylaws

The Debtors' respective certificates of incorporation and bylaws (and other formation documents relating to limited liability companies) shall be amended as may be required to be consistent with the provisions of the Plan, the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Documents and the Bankruptcy Code. Newdex's certificate of incorporation shall be amended to, among other things: (a) authorize the issuance of the shares of Newdex Common Stock and (b) pursuant to and only to the extent required by section 1123(a)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code, include a provision prohibiting the issuance of non-voting Equity Securities. After the Effective Date, each Reorganized Debtor may amend and restate its certificate of incorporation and other constituent documents as permitted by the laws of its respective jurisdiction of formation and its respective charter and bylaws.

4.11 Effectuating Documents; Further Transactions

On and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, and the officers and members of the boards of directors thereof, are authorized to and may issue, execute, deliver, file, or record such contracts, Securities, instruments, releases, and other agreements or documents and take such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate, implement, and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Merger, the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Documents and the Securities issued pursuant to the Plan in the name of and on behalf of the Reorganized Debtors, without the need for any approvals, authorizations, or consents except for those expressly required under the Plan.

4.12 Section 1146(a) Exemption

Pursuant to section 1146(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, any transfers of property under the Plan shall not be subject to any document recording tax, stamp tax, conveyance fee, intangibles or similar tax, mortgage tax, stamp act, real estate transfer tax, mortgage recording tax, or other similar tax or governmental assessment, and upon entry of the Confirmation Order, the appropriate state or local governmental officials or agents shall forgo the collection of any such tax or governmental assessment and accept for filing and recordation any of the foregoing instruments or other documents without the payment of any such tax, recordation fee, or governmental assessment.

4.13 <u>Directors and Officers</u>

On the Effective Date, the Newdex Board will comprise 10 members including: (a) five current Dex One non-employee directors designated by Dex One, including Alan F. Schultz as Chairman of the Newdex Board; (b) four current SuperMedia non-employee directors designated by SuperMedia; and (c) Peter McDonald, the current Chief Executive Officer and President of SuperMedia, as President and Chief Executive Officer of Newdex. Also on the Effective Date, the existing officers and directors of the Debtors, shall serve in their current capacities in the Reorganized Debtors. From and after the Effective Date, each director or officer of the Reorganized Debtors shall serve pursuant to the terms of their respective charters and bylaws or other constituent documents, and

applicable state corporation law. Additionally, in accordance with section 1129(a)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code, the identities and affiliations of the members of the Newdex Board and any Person proposed to serve as an officer of Newdex shall have been disclosed at or before the Confirmation Hearing.

4.14 Incentive Plans and Employee and Retiree Benefits

Except as otherwise provided herein, on and after the Effective Date, subject to any Final Order, the Reorganized Debtors shall: (a) amend, adopt, assume and/or honor in the ordinary course of business, any contracts, agreements, policies, programs, and plans, in accordance with their respective terms, for, among other things, compensation, including any incentive plan, health care benefits, disability benefits, deferred compensation benefits, savings, severance benefits, retirement benefits, welfare benefits, workers' compensation insurance, and accidental death and dismemberment insurance for the directors, officers, and employees of any of the Debtors who served in such capacity from and after the Petition Date and (b) honor, in the ordinary course of business, Claims of employees employed as of the Effective Date for accrued vacation time arising prior to the Petition Date and not otherwise paid pursuant to a Bankruptcy Court order. Notwithstanding the foregoing, pursuant to section 1129(a)(13) of the Bankruptcy Code, from and after the Effective Date, all retiree benefits (as that term is defined in section 1114 of the Bankruptcy Code), if any, shall continue to be paid in accordance with applicable law.

4.15 Preservation of Rights of Action

Unless any Causes of Action against an Entity are expressly waived, relinquished, exculpated, released, compromised, or settled in the Plan or by a Final Order, in accordance with section 1123(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Reorganized Debtors shall retain and may enforce all rights to commence and pursue any and all Causes of Action, whether arising before or after the Petition Date, including any actions specifically enumerated in the Plan Supplement, and the Reorganized Debtors' rights to commence, prosecute, or settle such Causes of Action shall be preserved notwithstanding the occurrence of the Effective Date. No Entity may rely on the absence of a specific reference in the Plan, the Plan Supplement, or the Disclosure Statement to any Cause of Action against them as any indication that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors will not pursue any and all available Causes of Action against them. The Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve all rights to prosecute any and all Causes of Action against any Entity, except as otherwise expressly provided in the Plan. Unless any Causes of Action against an Entity are expressly waived, relinquished, exculpated, released, compromised, or settled in the Plan or a Bankruptcy Court order, the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve all Causes of Action, for later adjudication, and, therefore no preclusion doctrine, including the doctrines of res judicata, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, claim preclusion, estoppel (judicial, equitable, or otherwise), or laches, shall apply to such Causes of Action upon, after, or as a consequence of the Confirmation or Consummation.

The Reorganized Debtors reserve and shall retain Causes of Action notwithstanding the rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease during the Chapter 11 Cases or pursuant to the Plan. In accordance with section 1123(b)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code, any Causes of Action that a Debtor may hold against any Entity shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors. The applicable Reorganized Debtor, through its authorized agents or representatives, shall retain and may exclusively enforce any and all such Causes of Action. The Reorganized Debtors shall have the exclusive right, authority, and discretion to determine and to initiate, file, prosecute, enforce, abandon, settle, compromise, release, withdraw, or litigate to judgment any such Causes of Action, or to decline to do any of the foregoing, without the consent or approval of any third party or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

4.16 Restructuring Transactions

(a) The Restructuring Transactions

On the Effective Date, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as the case may be, may take such actions, in their sole discretion, including as set forth below, as are necessary or appropriate to effect the Merger in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement and the Plan. Such actions shall include:

- (1) the entry into, delivery of and effectiveness of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and the other Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Documents contemplated to be effective or delivered on the Effective Date;
- (2) immediately thereafter, Dex One merging with and into Newdex, with Newdex surviving the merger;
- immediately thereafter, Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc. merging with and into SuperMedia, with SuperMedia surviving the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of Newdex; and
- (4) immediately thereafter, only if the Option set forth in Section 4.16(b) is exercised, the distribution of stock in accordance with Section 4.16(b).

(b) Option to Distribute Newdex Common Stock

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Merger Agreement or this Plan, the Dex One Debtors, with the consent of the Debtors, shall have the option on the Effective Date to issue and distribute Newdex Common Stock to the Distribution Agent for the benefit of the Designated Employee Benefit Plans in an amount necessary to give rise to an ownership change as defined in 26 U.S.C. § 382(g) (but in no event to exceed 10.0 % of the Newdex Common Stock issued on the Effective Date) (the "Option").

(c) Additional Restructuring Transactions and Actions

Without limiting the foregoing, on the Effective Date, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors may enter into the following transactions and take any actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effect a corporate restructuring of their respective businesses or a corporate restructuring of the overall corporate structure of the Reorganized Debtors, as and to the extent provided therein. The Restructuring Transactions may include one or more inter-company mergers, consolidations, amalgamations, arrangements, continuances, restructurings, conversions, dissolutions, transfers, liquidations, or other corporate transactions as may be determined by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, to be necessary or appropriate. The actions to effect the Restructuring Transactions may include: (a) the execution and delivery of appropriate agreements or other documents of merger, amalgamation, consolidation, restructuring, conversion, disposition, transfer, arrangement, continuance, dissolution, sale, purchase, or liquidation containing terms that are consistent with the terms of the Plan and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Documents; (b) the execution and delivery of appropriate instruments of transfer, assignment, assumption, or delegation of any asset, property, right, liability, debt, or obligation on terms consistent with the terms of the Plan and the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Documents and having other terms for which the applicable parties agree; (c) the filing of appropriate certificates or articles of incorporation, reincorporation, merger, consolidation, conversion, amalgamation, arrangement, continuance, or dissolution pursuant to applicable state law; and (d) all other actions that the applicable Entities determine to be necessary or appropriate, including making filings or recordings that may be required by applicable law in connection with the Restructuring Transactions.

ARTICLE V

TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES

5.1 Assumption of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

Except as otherwise provided herein, each Executory Contract and Unexpired Lease shall be deemed assumed, without the need for any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, as of the Effective Date under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, unless any such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease: (a) is listed on the Rejection Schedule; (b) has been previously assumed or rejected by the Debtors by Final Order or has been assumed or rejected by the Debtors by order of the Bankruptcy Court as of the Effective Date, which order becomes a Final Order after the Effective Date; or (c) is the subject of a motion to assume or reject pending as of the

Effective Date. The assumption of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases hereunder may include the assignment of certain of such contracts to Affiliates or to Dex One and its subsidiaries. The Confirmation Order will constitute an order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the above-described assumptions, assignments, and rejections.

Except as otherwise provided herein or agreed to by the Debtors with the applicable counterparty, each assumed Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease shall include all modifications, amendments, supplements, restatements, or other agreements related thereto, and all rights related thereto, if any, including all easements, licenses, permits, rights, privileges, immunities, options, rights of first refusal, and any other interests, unless any of the foregoing agreements has been previously rejected or repudiated or is rejected or repudiated hereunder. Modifications, amendments, supplements, and restatements to prepetition Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases that have been executed by the Debtors during the Chapter 11 Cases shall not be deemed to alter the prepetition nature of the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or the validity, priority, or amount of any Claims that may arise in connection therewith.

5.2 <u>Cure of Defaults and Objections to Cure and Assumption</u>

The Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall pay Cures on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter. Unless otherwise agreed upon in writing by the parties to the applicable Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, all requests for payment of Cure that differ from the amounts paid or proposed to be paid by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors must be filed with the Claims and Solicitation Agent on or before 30 days after the Effective Date. Any such request that is not timely filed shall be disallowed and forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from assertion, and shall not be enforceable against any Reorganized Debtor, without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. Any Cure shall be deemed fully satisfied, released, and discharged upon payment by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors of the Cure; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prevent the Reorganized Debtors from paying any Cure despite the failure of the relevant counterparty to file such request for payment of such Cure. The Reorganized Debtors also may settle any Cure without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. In addition, any objection to the assumption of an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to the Plan must be filed with the Bankruptcy Court on or before 30 days after the Effective Date. Any such objection will be scheduled to be heard by the Bankruptcy Court at the Debtors' or Reorganized Debtors', as applicable, first scheduled omnibus hearing for which such objection is timely filed. Any counterparty to an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that fails to timely object to the proposed assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease will be deemed to have consented to such assumption.

If there is a dispute regarding Cure, the ability of the Reorganized Debtors or any assignee to provide "adequate assurance of future performance" within the meaning of section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, or any other matter pertaining to assumption, then payment of Cure shall occur as soon as practicable after entry of a Final Order resolving such dispute, approving such assumption (and, if applicable, assignment), or as may be agreed upon by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and the counterparty to the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease. The Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, reserve the right either to reject or nullify the assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease within 45 days after a Final Order resolving an objection to assumption or determining the Cure or any request for adequate assurance of future performance required to assume such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, is entered.

Assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to the Plan or otherwise shall result in the full release and satisfaction of any Cures, Claims, or defaults, whether monetary or nonmonetary, including defaults of provisions restricting the change in control or ownership interest composition or other bankruptcy-related defaults, arising under any assumed Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease at any time prior to the effective date of assumption. Any and all Proofs of Claim based upon Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases that have been assumed in the Chapter 11 Cases, including pursuant to the Confirmation Order, shall be deemed disallowed and expunged as of the Effective Date without the need for any objection thereto or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

5.3 **Pre-existing Payment and Other Obligations**

Rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to the Plan or otherwise shall not constitute a termination of pre-existing obligations owed to the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, under such contract or lease. In particular, notwithstanding any non-bankruptcy law to the contrary, the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve and do not waive any right to receive, or any continuing obligation of a counterparty to provide: (a) payment to the contracting Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, of outstanding and future amounts owing thereto under or in connection with rejected Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases or (b) warranties or continued maintenance obligations on goods previously purchased by the contracting Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, from counterparties to rejected Executory Contracts.

5.4 Rejection Damages Claims and Objections to Rejections

Pursuant to section 502(g) of the Bankruptcy Code, counterparties to Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases that are rejected shall have the right to assert Claims, if any, on account of the rejection of such contracts and leases. Unless otherwise provided by a Bankruptcy Court order, any Proofs of Claim asserting Claims arising from the rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases pursuant to the Plan must be filed with the Claims and Solicitation Agent no later than 30 days after the later of the Confirmation Date or the effective date of rejection. Any such Proofs of Claim that are not timely filed shall be disallowed without the need for any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. Such Proofs of Claim shall be forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from assertion. Moreover, such Proofs of Claim shall not be enforceable against any Reorganized Debtor, without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, and any Claim arising out of the rejection of the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease shall be deemed fully satisfied, released, and discharged notwithstanding anything in a Proof of Claim to the contrary. All Allowed Claims arising from the rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases shall be classified as Class 8 - General Unsecured Claims against the applicable Debtor counterparty thereto.

5.5 Contracts, Intercompany Contracts, and Leases Entered Into After the Petition Date

Contracts, Intercompany Contracts, and leases entered into after the Petition Date by any Debtor and any Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases assumed by any Debtor may be performed by the applicable Reorganized Debtor in the ordinary course of business.

5.6 Reservation of Rights

Neither the exclusion nor inclusion of any contract or lease in the Plan Supplement, nor anything contained in the Plan, shall constitute an admission by the Debtors that any such contract or lease is in fact an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or that any Reorganized Debtor has any liability thereunder. If there is a dispute regarding whether a contract or lease is or was executory or unexpired at the time of assumption or rejection, the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall have 45 days following entry of a Final Order resolving such dispute to alter their treatment of such contract or lease.

ARTICLE VI

PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS

6.1 <u>Distributions on Account of Claims and Interests Allowed as of the Effective Date</u>

(a) Delivery of Distributions in General

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, a Final Order, or as otherwise agreed to by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors (as the case may be) and the holder of the applicable Claim or Interest, on the first Distribution Date, the Distribution Agent shall make initial distributions under the Plan on account of Claims and Interests Allowed on or before the Effective Date, subject to the Reorganized Debtors' right to object to Claims and Interests; provided, however, that (1) Allowed Administrative Claims with respect to liabilities incurred by the Debtors in the

ordinary course of business during the Chapter 11 Cases or assumed by the Debtors prior to the Effective Date shall be paid or performed in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the terms and conditions of any controlling agreements, course of dealing, course of business, or industry practice and (2) Allowed Priority Tax Claims and Allowed Secured Tax Claims shall be paid in accordance with Sections 2.3 and 3.2(a)(2), respectively. To the extent any Allowed Priority Tax Claim or Allowed Secured Tax Claim is not due and owing on the Effective Date, such Claim shall be paid in full in Cash in accordance with the terms of any agreement between the Debtors and the holder of such Claim or as may be due and payable under applicable non-bankruptcy law or in the ordinary course of business. Distribution Dates shall occur no less frequently than every 30 days, as necessary in the Reorganized Debtors' sole discretion, after the Effective Date.

6.2 Special Rules for Distributions to Holders of Disputed Claims and Interests

Notwithstanding any provision otherwise in the Plan and except as otherwise agreed by the relevant parties: (1) no partial payments and no partial distributions shall be made with respect to a Disputed Claim or Interest until all such disputes in connection with such Disputed Claim or Interest have been resolved by settlement or Final Order and (2) any Entity that holds both an Allowed Claim or Interest and a Disputed Claim or Interest shall not receive any distribution on the Allowed Claim or Interest unless and until all objections to the Disputed Claim or Interest have been resolved by settlement or Final Order or the Claims or Interests have been Allowed or expunged. Any dividends or other distributions arising from property distributed to holders of Allowed Claims or Interests, as applicable, in a Class and paid to such holders under the Plan shall be paid also, in the applicable amounts, to any holder of a Disputed Claim or Interest, as applicable, in such Class that becomes an Allowed Claim or Interest after the date or dates that such dividends or other distributions were earlier paid to holders of Allowed Claims or Interests in such Class.

6.3 <u>Delivery of Distributions</u>

(a) Record Date for Distributions

On the Distribution Record Date, the Claims Register shall be closed and the Distribution Agent shall be authorized and entitled to recognize only those record holders, if any, listed on the Claims Register as of the close of business on the Distribution Record Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Claim or Interest, other than one based on a publicly traded Certificate, is transferred less than 20 days before the Distribution Record Date, the Distribution Agent shall make distributions to the transferee only to the extent practical and in any event only if the relevant transfer form contains an unconditional and explicit certification and waiver of any objection to the transfer by the transferor.

(b) Distribution Process

The Distribution Agent shall make all distributions required under the Plan, except that distributions to holders of Allowed Claims or Interests governed by a separate agreement and administered by a Servicer shall be deposited with the appropriate Servicer, at which time such distributions shall be deemed complete, and the Servicer shall deliver such distributions in accordance with the Plan and the terms of the governing agreement. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, and notwithstanding any authority to the contrary, distributions to holders of Allowed Claims and Interests, including Claims and Interests that become Allowed after the Distribution Record Date, shall be made to holders of record as of the Distribution Record Date by the Distribution Agent or a Servicer, as appropriate: (1) to the address of such holder as set forth in the books and records of the applicable Debtor (or if the Debtors have been notified in writing, on or before the date that is 14 days before the Effective Date, of a change of address, to the changed address); (2) in accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 4, as modified and made applicable by Bankruptcy Rule 7004, if no address exists in the Debtors books and records, no Proof of Claim has been filed and the Distribution Agent has not received a written notice of a change of address on or before the date that is 14 days before the Effective Date; or (3) on any counsel that has appeared in the Chapter 11 Cases on the holder's behalf. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, including this Section 6.3(b), distributions under the Plan to holders of the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims shall be made to, or to Entities at the direction of the SuperMedia Administrative Agent in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement. The Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, and the Distribution Agent, as applicable, shall not incur any liability whatsoever on account of any distributions under the Plan.

(c) Accrual of Dividends and Other Rights

For purposes of determining the accrual of dividends or other rights after the Effective Date, Newdex Common Stock shall be deemed distributed as of the Effective Date regardless of the date on which it is actually issued, dated, authenticated, or distributed; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, the Reorganized Debtors shall not pay any such dividends or distribute such other rights, if any, until after distributions of Newdex Common Stock actually take place.

(d) Compliance Matters

In connection with the Plan, to the extent applicable, the Reorganized Debtors and the Distribution Agent shall comply with all tax withholding and reporting requirements imposed on them by any Governmental Unit, and all distributions pursuant to the Plan shall be subject to such withholding and reporting requirements. Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, the Reorganized Debtors and the Distribution Agent shall be authorized to take all actions necessary or appropriate to comply with such withholding and reporting requirements, including liquidating a portion of the distribution to be made under the Plan to generate sufficient funds to pay applicable withholding taxes, withholding distributions pending receipt of information necessary to facilitate such distributions, or establishing any other mechanisms they believe are reasonable and appropriate. The Reorganized Debtors reserve the right to allocate all distributions made under the Plan in compliance with all applicable wage garnishments, alimony, child support, and other spousal awards, liens, and encumbrances.

(e) Foreign Currency Exchange Rate

Except as otherwise provided in a Bankruptcy Court order, as of the Effective Date, any Claim asserted in currency other than U.S. dollars shall be automatically deemed converted to the equivalent U.S. dollar value using the exchange rate for the applicable currency as published in The Wall Street Journal, National Edition, on the Effective Date.

(f) Fractional, Undeliverable, and Unclaimed Distributions

- (1) Fractional Distributions. The Distribution Agent shall make distributions of fractions of shares of Newdex Common Stock, as applicable. The Distribution Agent shall not make distributions or payments of fractions of dollars. Whenever any payment of Cash of a fraction of a dollar pursuant to the Plan would otherwise be required, the actual payment shall reflect a rounding of such fraction to the nearest whole dollar (up or down), with half dollars or less being rounded down.
- (2) Undeliverable Distributions. If any distribution to a holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest is returned to a Distribution Agent as undeliverable, no further distributions shall be made to such holder unless and until such Distribution Agent is notified in writing of such holder's then-current address or other necessary information for delivery, at which time all currently due missed distributions shall be made to such holder on the next Distribution Date. Undeliverable distributions shall remain in the possession of the Reorganized Debtors until such time as a distribution becomes deliverable, or such distribution reverts to the Reorganized Debtors or is cancelled pursuant to Section 6.3(f)(3), and shall not be supplemented with any interest, dividends, or other accruals of any kind.
- (3) Reversion. Any distribution under the Plan that is an Unclaimed Distribution for a period of six months after distribution shall be deemed unclaimed property under section 347(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and such Unclaimed Distribution shall revest in the applicable Reorganized Debtor and, to the extent such Unclaimed Distribution is Newdex Common Stock, shall be deemed cancelled. Upon such revesting, the Claim or Interest of any holder or its successors with respect to such property shall be cancelled, discharged, and forever barred notwithstanding any applicable federal or state escheat, abandoned, or

unclaimed property laws, or any provisions in any document governing the distribution that is an Unclaimed Distribution, to the contrary.

(g) Surrender of Cancelled Instruments or Securities

On the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, each holder of a Certificate shall surrender such Certificate to the Distribution Agent or a Servicer (to the extent the relevant Claim or Interest is governed by an agreement and administered by a Servicer). Such Certificate shall be cancelled solely with respect to the Debtors, and such cancellation shall not alter the obligations or rights of any non-Debtor third parties vis-à-vis one another with respect to such Certificate. No distribution of property pursuant to the Plan shall be made to or on behalf of any such holder unless and until such Certificate is received by the Distribution Agent or the Servicer or the unavailability of such Certificate is reasonably established to the satisfaction of the Distribution Agent or the Servicer pursuant to the provisions of <u>Section 6.3(h)</u>. Any holder who fails to surrender or cause to be surrendered such Certificate or fails to execute and deliver an affidavit of loss and indemnity acceptable to the Distribution Agent or the Servicer prior to the first anniversary of the Effective Date shall have its Claim or Interest discharged with no further action, be forever barred from asserting any such Claim or Interest against the relevant Reorganized Debtor or its property, be deemed to have forfeited all rights, and Claims and Interests with respect to such Certificate, and not participate in any distribution under the Plan; furthermore, all property with respect to such forfeited distributions, including any dividends or interest attributable thereto, shall revert to the Reorganized Debtors, notwithstanding any federal or state escheat, abandoned, or unclaimed property law to the contrary. Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, this Section 6.3(g) shall not apply to any Claims and Interests reinstated pursuant to the terms of the Plan.

(h) Lost, Stolen, Mutilated, or Destroyed Securities

Any holder of Allowed Claims or Interests evidenced by a Certificate that has been lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed shall, in lieu of surrendering such Certificate, deliver to the Distribution Agent or Servicer, if applicable, an affidavit of loss acceptable to the Distribution Agent or Servicer setting forth the unavailability of the Certificate and such additional indemnity as may be required reasonably by the Distribution Agent or Servicer to hold the Distribution Agent or Servicer harmless from any damages, liabilities, or costs incurred in treating such holder as a holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest. Upon compliance with this procedure by a holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest evidenced by such a lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed Certificate, such holder shall, for all purposes pursuant to the Plan, be deemed to have surrendered such Certificate.

6.4 Claims Paid or Payable by Third Parties

(a) Claims Paid by Third Parties

A Claim shall be reduced in full, and such Claim shall be disallowed without a Claims objection having to be filed and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, to the extent that the holder of such Claim receives payment in full on account of such Claim from a party that is not a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor. To the extent a holder of a Claim receives a distribution on account of such Claim and receives payment from a party that is not a Debtor or a Reorganized Debtor on account of such Claim, such holder shall repay, return or deliver any distribution held by or transferred to the holder to the applicable Reorganized Debtor to the extent the holder's total recovery on account of such Claim from the third party and under the Plan exceeds the amount of such Claim as of the date of any such distribution under the Plan.

(b) Claims Payable by Insurance Carriers

Other than with respect to the SuperMedia Secured Credit Facility Claims, no distributions under the Plan shall be made on account of an Allowed Claim that is payable pursuant to one of the Debtors' insurance policies until the holder of such Allowed Claim has exhausted all remedies with respect to such insurance policy. Other than with respect to the SuperMedia Secured Credit Facility Claims, to the extent that one or more of the Debtors' insurers agrees to satisfy in full a Claim (if and to the extent adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction), then immediately upon such insurers' agreement, such Claim may be expunged to the extent of any agreed upon

satisfaction on the Claims Register by the Claims and Solicitation Agent without a Claims objection having to be filed and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

(c) Applicability of Insurance Policies

Except as otherwise provided herein, distributions to holders of Allowed Claims shall be in accordance with the provisions of an applicable insurance policy. Nothing contained in the Plan shall constitute or be deemed a waiver of any Cause of Action that the Debtors or any Entity may hold against any other Entity, including insurers under any policies of insurance, nor shall anything contained herein constitute or be deemed a waiver by such insurers of any defenses, including coverage defenses, held by such insurers.

6.5 Setoffs

Except as otherwise expressly provided for herein (including with respect to any SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims or Claims with respect to letters of credit as provided in the definition of Other Secured Claims), each Reorganized Debtor, pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code (including section 553 of the Bankruptcy Code), applicable non-bankruptcy law, or as may be agreed to by the holder of a Claim, may set off against any Allowed Claim and the distributions to be made pursuant to the Plan on account of such Allowed Claim (before any distribution is made on account of such Allowed Claim), any Claims, rights, and Causes of Action of any nature that such Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, may hold against the holder of such Allowed Claim, to the extent such Claims, rights, or Causes of Action against such holder have not been otherwise compromised or settled on or prior to the Effective Date (whether pursuant to the Plan or otherwise); provided, however, that neither the failure to effect such a setoff nor the allowance of any Claim pursuant to the Plan shall constitute a waiver or release by such Reorganized Debtor of any such Claims, rights, and Causes of Action that such Reorganized Debtor may possess against such holder. In no event shall any holder of Claims be entitled to set off any Claim against any Claim, right, or Cause of Action of the Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, unless such holder has filed a motion with the Bankruptcy Court requesting the authority to perform such setoff on or before the Confirmation Date, and notwithstanding any indication in any Proof of Claim or otherwise that such holder asserts, has, or intends to preserve any right of setoff pursuant to section 553 or otherwise.

6.6 Allocation Between Principal and Accrued Interest

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the aggregate consideration paid to holders with respect to their Allowed Claims shall be treated pursuant to the Plan as allocated first to the principal amount of such Allowed Claims (to the extent thereof) and, thereafter, to the interest, if any, accrued through the Effective Date.

ARTICLE VII

PROCEDURES FOR RESOLVING DISPUTED CLAIMS AND INTERESTS

7.1 Disputed Claims Process

Except as otherwise provided herein, if a party files a proof of claim and the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, do not determine in their sole discretion, and without the need for notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, that the Claim subject to such proof of claim is Allowed, such Claim shall be Disputed unless Allowed or disallowed by a Final Order or as otherwise set forth in this ARTICLE VII. Except as otherwise provided herein, all proofs of claim filed after the Effective Date shall be disallowed and forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from assertion, and shall not be enforceable against any Reorganized Debtor, without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

7.2 Prosecution of Objections to Claims and Interests

Except insofar as a Claim or Interest is Allowed under the Plan, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors or any other party in interest shall be entitled to object to the Claim or Interest. Any objections to Claims and Interests shall be served and filed on or before the 120th day after the Effective Date or by such later date as ordered by the Bankruptcy Court. All Claims and Interests not objected to by the end of such 120-day period shall be deemed Allowed unless such period is extended upon approval of the Bankruptcy Court. For the avoidance of doubt, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, from and after the Effective Date, each Reorganized Debtor shall have and retain any and all rights and defenses such Debtor had immediately prior to the Effective Date with respect to any Disputed Claim or Interest, including the Causes of Action retained pursuant to Section 4.15.

7.3 No Interest

Unless otherwise specifically provided for in the Plan or by order of the Bankruptcy Court (including pursuant to the SuperMedia Cash Collateral Order), postpetition interest shall not accrue or be paid on Claims, and no holder of a Claim shall be entitled to interest accruing on or after the Petition Date on any Claim or right. Additionally, and without limiting the foregoing, interest shall not accrue or be paid on any Disputed Claim with respect to the period from the Effective Date to the date a final distribution is made on account of such Disputed Claim, if and when such Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim.

7.4 Disallowance of Claims and Interests

All Claims and Interests of any Entity from which property is sought by the Debtors under section 542, 543, 550, or 553 of the Bankruptcy Code or that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors allege is a transferee of a transfer that is avoidable under section 522(f), 522(h), 544, 545, 547, 548, 549, or 724(a) of the Bankruptcy Code shall be disallowed if: (a) the Entity, on the one hand, and the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, on the other hand, agree or the Bankruptcy Court has determined by Final Order that such Entity or transferee is liable to turn over any property or monies under any of the aforementioned sections of the Bankruptcy Code and (b) such Entity or transferee has failed to turn over such property by the date set forth in such agreement or Final Order.

ARTICLE VIII

EFFECT OF CONFIRMATION OF THE PLAN

8.1 <u>Discharge of Claims and Termination of Interests</u>

Except as otherwise provided for herein and effective as of the Effective Date: (a) the rights afforded in the Plan and the treatment of all Claims and Interests shall be in exchange for and in complete satisfaction, discharge, and release of all Claims and Interests of any nature whatsoever, including any interest accrued on such Claims from and after the Petition Date, against the Debtors or any of their assets, property, or Estates; (b) the Plan shall bind all holders of Claims and Interests, notwithstanding whether any such holders failed to vote to accept or reject the Plan or voted to reject the Plan; (c) all Claims and Interests shall be satisfied, discharged, and released in full, and the Debtors' liability with respect thereto shall be extinguished completely, including any liability of the kind specified under section 502(g) of the Bankruptcy Code; and (d) all Entities shall be precluded from asserting against the Debtors, the Debtors' Estates, the Reorganized Debtors, their successors and assigns, and their assets and properties any other Claims or Interests based upon any documents, instruments, or any act or omission, transaction, or other activity of any kind or nature that occurred prior to the Effective Date.

Releases by the Debtors

Pursuant to section 1123(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, and except as otherwise specifically provided for herein, for good and valuable consideration, on and after the Effective Date, the Released Parties are

deemed released and discharged by the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, and the Estates from any and all Claims, obligations, rights, and liabilities whatsoever, whether for tort, fraud, contract, violations of federal or state securities laws, Avoidance Actions, including any derivative Claims, asserted or that could possibly have been asserted directly or indirectly on behalf of the Debtors, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereinafter arising, in law, equity, or otherwise, and any and all Causes of Action asserted or that could possibly have been asserted on behalf of the Debtors, that the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Estates, or Affiliates would have been legally entitled to assert in their own right (whether individually or collectively) or on behalf of the holder of any Claim or Interest or other Entity, based on or relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part, the Debtors or their Affiliates, the Chapter 11 Cases, the Transaction, the purchase, sale, or rescission of the purchase or sale of any Security of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, the subject matter of, or the transactions or events giving rise to, any Claim or Interest that is treated in the Plan, the business or contractual arrangements between any Debtor and any Released Party, prepetition contracts and agreements with one or more Debtors (including the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and other agreements reflecting long-term indebtedness), the SuperMedia Support Agreement, the restructuring of Claims and Interests prior to or in the Chapter 11 Cases, the negotiation, formulation, solicitation or preparation of the Plan and Disclosure Statement or related agreements, instruments, or other documents, upon any other act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence taking place before the Effective Date, other than Claims or liabilities arising out of or related to any contractual or fixed monetary obligation owed to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors.

Entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval, pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019, of the release set forth in this Section 8.2, which includes by reference each of the related provisions and definitions contained herein, and further, shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's finding that such release is: (a) in exchange for the good and valuable consideration provided by the Released Parties; (b) a good faith settlement and compromise of the Claims released by this Section 8.2; (c) in the best interests of the Debtors and all holders of Claims and Interests; (d) fair, equitable, and reasonable; (e) given and made after due notice and opportunity for hearing; and (f) a bar to any of the Debtors asserting any Claim or Cause of Action released by this Section 8.2.

8.3 Releases by Holders of Claims and Interests

As of the Effective Date, the Releasing Parties shall be deemed to have conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally, irrevocably, and forever, released and discharged the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Estates, and the Released Parties from any and all Claims, Interests, obligations, rights, liabilities, actions, causes of action, choses in action, suits, debts, damages, dues, sums of money, accounts, reckonings, bonds, bills, specialties, covenants, contracts, controversies, agreements, promises, variances, trespasses, damages, judgments, remedies, rights of set-off, third-party claims, subrogation claims, contribution claims, reimbursement claims, indemnity claims, counterclaims, and crossclaims (including all claims and actions against any Entities under the Bankruptcy Code) whatsoever, whether for tort, fraud, contract, violations of federal or state securities laws, Avoidance Actions, including any derivative Claims, asserted on behalf of the Debtors, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereinafter arising, in law, equity, or otherwise, that such Entity would have been legally entitled to assert (whether individually or collectively), based on or in any way relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part, the Debtors, the Debtors' restructuring, the Chapter 11 Cases, the Transaction, the purchase, sale, or rescission of the purchase or sale of any Security of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, the subject matter of, or the transactions or events giving rise to, any Claim or Interest that is treated in the Plan, the business or contractual arrangements between any Debtor and any Released Party, prepetition contracts and agreements with one or more Debtors (including the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement and other agreements reflecting long-term indebtedness), the SuperMedia Support Agreement, the restructuring of Claims and Interests prior to or in the Chapter 11 Cases, the negotiation, formulation, solicitation or preparation of the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Plan Supplement, or related agreements, instruments, or other documents, upon any other act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence taking place before the Effective Date of the Plan. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the release set forth above does not release any obligations arising on or after the Effective Date of any party under the Plan, or any document, instrument, or agreement (including those set forth in the Plan Supplement) executed to implement the Plan.

Entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval, pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019, of the release set forth in this Section 8.3, which includes by reference each of the related provisions and definitions contained herein, and further, shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's finding that such release is: (a) in exchange for the good and valuable consideration provided by the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Estates, and the Released Parties; (b) a good faith settlement and compromise of the Claims released by this Section 8.3; (c) in the best interests of the Debtors and all holders of Claims and Interests; (d) fair, equitable, and reasonable; (e) given and made after due notice and opportunity for hearing; and (f) a bar to any Entity granting a release under this Section 8.3 from asserting any Claim or Cause of Action released by this Section 8.3.

8.4 Exculpation

No Exculpated Party shall have or incur, and each Exculpated Party is hereby released and exculpated from any Exculpated Claim or any obligation, Cause of Action, or liability for any Exculpated Claim; provided, however, that the foregoing "exculpation" shall have no effect on the liability of any Entity that results from any such act or omission that is determined in a Final Order to have constituted gross negligence or willful misconduct; provided, further, that in all respects such Entities shall be entitled to reasonably rely upon the advice of counsel with respect to their duties and responsibilities pursuant to, or in connection with, the Plan. The Exculpated Parties have, and upon Confirmation shall be deemed to have, participated in good faith and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code with regard to the solicitation of acceptances and rejections of the Plan and the making of distributions pursuant to the Plan and, therefore, are not and shall not be liable at any time for the violation of any applicable, law, rule, or regulation governing the solicitation of acceptances or rejections of the Plan or such distributions made pursuant to the Plan.

8.5 Injunction

Except as otherwise provided herein or for obligations issued pursuant hereto, all Entities that have held, hold, or may hold Claims or Interests that have been released pursuant to Section 8.2 or Section 8.3, discharged pursuant to Section 8.1, or are subject to exculpation pursuant to Section 8.4 are permanently enjoined, from and after the Effective Date, from taking any of the following actions against, as applicable, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Released Parties, or the Exculpated Parties: (a) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests; (b) enforcing, attaching, collecting, or recovering by any manner or means any judgment, award, decree, or order against such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests; (c) creating, perfecting, or enforcing any encumbrance of any kind against such Entities or the property or Estates of such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests; (d) asserting any right of setoff, subrogation, or recoupment of any kind against any obligation due from such Entities or against the property or Estates of such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests unless such holder has filed a motion requesting the right to perform such setoff on or before the Confirmation Date; and (e) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests released, exculpated, or settled pursuant to the Plan.

8.6 Protection Against Discriminatory Treatment

In accordance with section 525 of the Bankruptcy Code, and consistent with paragraph 2 of Article VI of the United States Constitution, no Governmental Unit shall discriminate against any Reorganized Debtor, or any Entity with which a Reorganized Debtor has been or is associated, solely because such Reorganized Debtor was a Debtor under chapter 11, may have been insolvent before the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases (or during the Chapter 11 Cases but before such Debtor was granted or denied a discharge), or has not paid a debt that is dischargeable in the Chapter 11 Cases.

8.7 <u>Indemnification</u>

On and from the Effective Date, and except as prohibited by applicable law, the Reorganized Debtors shall assume or reinstate, as applicable, all indemnification obligations in place as of the Effective Date (whether in bylaws, certificates of incorporation, board resolutions, contracts, or otherwise) for the current and former directors, officers, managers, employees, attorneys, other professionals and agents of the Debtors and such current and former directors', officers', managers', and employees' respective Affiliates.

8.8 Recoupment

In no event shall any holder of Claims or Interests be entitled to recoup any Claim or Interest against any Claim, right, or Cause of Action of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, unless such holder actually has performed such recoupment and provided notice thereof in writing to the Debtors on or before the Confirmation Date, notwithstanding any indication in any Proof of Claim or Interest or otherwise that such holder asserts, has, or intends to preserve any right of recoupment.

8.9 Release of Liens

Except (a) with respect to the Liens securing the SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement Claims, (b) with respect to the Liens securing the Secured Tax Claims or Other Secured Claims (depending on the treatment of such Claims), or (c) as otherwise provided herein or in any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or document created pursuant to the Plan, on the Effective Date, all mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges, or other security interests against any property of the Estates shall be fully released and discharged, and all of the right, title, and interest of any holder of such mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges, or other security interests shall revert to the Reorganized Debtor and its successors and assigns.

8.10 Reimbursement or Contribution

If the Bankruptcy Court disallows a Claim for reimbursement or contribution of an Entity pursuant to section 502(e)(1)(B) of the Bankruptcy Code, then to the extent that such Claim is contingent as of the Effective Date, such Claim shall be forever disallowed notwithstanding section 502(j) of the Bankruptcy Code, unless prior to the Effective Date (a) such Claim has been adjudicated as noncontingent or (b) the relevant holder of a Claim has filed a noncontingent Proof of Claim on account of such Claim and a Final Order has been entered determining such Claim as no longer contingent.

ARTICLE IX

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE

- **9.1** Conditions Precedent to the Effective Date. It shall be a condition to the Effective Date that the following conditions shall have been satisfied or waived pursuant to Section 9.2:
- (a) the Confirmation Order shall have been entered, and such order shall not have been stayed, modified, or vacated on appeal;
- **(b)** if the Dex One Chapter 11 Cases have been filed, the Dex One Confirmation Order shall have been entered by the Bankruptcy Court and such order shall not have been stayed, modified, or vacated on appeal;
- (c) the Merger shall have been consummated, and all conditions set forth in Article VII of the Merger Agreement shall have been satisfied (and not waived);
- (d) all respective conditions precedent to the consummation of the Amended and Restated SuperMedia Secured Credit Agreement shall have been waived or satisfied in accordance with the terms thereof;

- (e) if the Dex One Chapter 11 Cases have been filed, the effective date of the Dex One Plan shall have occurred in accordance with the terms thereof concurrently with the occurrence of the Effective Date;
- (f) all fees and expenses of the SuperMedia Administrative Agent, including the fees and expenses of counsel and the financial advisors to the SuperMedia Administrative Agent, shall have been paid in full in cash; and
- (g) all documents and agreements necessary to implement the Plan shall have: (1) all conditions precedent to such documents and agreements satisfied or waived pursuant to the terms of such documents or agreements; (2) been tendered for delivery to the required parties and, to the extent required, filed with and approved by any applicable Governmental Units in accordance with applicable laws; and (3) been effected or executed.

9.2 Waiver of Conditions Precedent

The Debtors, with the prior written consent of the SuperMedia Administrative Agent, which may not be unreasonably withheld, may waive any of the conditions to the Effective Date set forth in Section 9.1 at any time without any notice to any other parties in interest and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, and without any formal action other than proceeding to confirm or consummate the Plan.

9.3 Effect of Non-Occurrence of Conditions to Consummation

If prior to Consummation, the Confirmation Order is vacated pursuant to a Final Order, then except as provided in any order of the Bankruptcy Court vacating the Confirmation Order, the Plan will be null and void in all respects, and nothing contained in the Plan or Disclosure Statement shall: (a) constitute a waiver or release of any Claims, Interests, or Causes of Action; (b) prejudice in any manner the rights of any Debtor or any other Entity; or (c) constitute an admission, acknowledgment, offer, or undertaking of any sort by any Debtor or any other Entity.

ARTICLE X

MODIFICATION, REVOCATION, OR WITHDRAWAL OF THE PLAN

10.1 Modification of Plan

Effective as of the date hereof: (a) the Debtors reserve the right, in accordance with the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules, to amend or modify the Plan before the entry of the Confirmation Order, subject to the limitations set forth herein and, if effective, the SuperMedia Support Agreement; and (b) after the entry of the Confirmation Order, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, may, upon order of the Bankruptcy Court, amend or modify the Plan, in accordance with section 1127(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, remedy any defect or omission, or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in such manner as may be necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of the Plan, subject to the limitations set forth herein and, if effective, the SuperMedia Support Agreement.

10.2 Revocation or Withdrawal of Plan

The Debtors reserve the right to revoke or withdraw the Plan before the Confirmation Date and to file subsequent chapter 11 plans. If the Debtors revoke or withdraw the Plan, or if Confirmation or the Effective Date does not occur, then: (a) the Plan will be null and void in all respects; (b) any settlement or compromise embodied in the Plan, assumption or rejection of Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases effected by the Plan, and any document or agreement executed pursuant hereto will be null and void in all respects; and (c) nothing contained in the Plan shall (1) constitute a waiver or release of any Claims, Interests, or Causes of Action, (2) prejudice in any manner the rights of any Debtor or any other Entity, or (3) constitute an admission, acknowledgement, offer, or undertaking of any sort by any Debtor or any other Entity.

10.3 Confirmation of the Plan

The Debtors request Confirmation of the Plan under section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to any Impaired Class that does not accept the Plan pursuant to section 1126 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors reserve the right to amend the Plan to the extent, if any, that Confirmation pursuant to section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code requires modification.

ARTICLE XI

RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

Notwithstanding the entry of the Confirmation Order and the occurrence of the Effective Date, the Bankruptcy Court shall retain exclusive jurisdiction over all matters arising out of, or related to, the Chapter 11 Cases and the Plan pursuant to sections 105(a) and 1142 of the Bankruptcy Code, including jurisdiction to:

- 1. allow, disallow, determine, liquidate, classify, estimate, or establish the priority, secured or unsecured status, or amount of any Claim or Interest, including the resolution of any request for payment of any Claim or Interest and the resolution of any and all objections to the secured or unsecured status, priority, amount, or allowance of Claims or Interests;
- 2. decide and resolve all matters related to the granting and denying, in whole or in part, any applications for allowance of compensation or reimbursement of expenses to Professionals authorized pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or the Plan;
- 3. resolve any matters related to Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases, including: (a) the assumption, assumption and assignment, or rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease to which a Debtor is party or with respect to which a Debtor may be liable and to hear, determine, and, if necessary, liquidate, any Cure or Claims arising therefrom, including pursuant to section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code; (b) any potential contractual obligation under any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that is assumed; (c) the Reorganized Debtors' amendment, modification, or supplement, after the Effective Date, pursuant to ARTICLE V, of the list of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases to be rejected or otherwise; and (d) any dispute regarding whether a contract or lease is or was executory or expired;
- 4. ensure that distributions to holders of Allowed Claims are accomplished pursuant to the provisions of the Plan and adjudicate any and all disputes arising from or relating to distributions under the Plan;
- 5. adjudicate, decide, or resolve any motions, adversary proceedings, contested or litigated matters, and any other matters, and grant or deny any applications involving a Debtor that may be pending on the Effective Date;
- 6. enter and implement such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to execute, implement, or consummate the provisions of (a) contracts, instruments, releases, indentures, and other agreements or documents approved by Final Order in the Chapter 11 Cases and (b) the Plan or the Confirmation Order, including contracts, instruments, releases, indentures, and other agreements or documents created in connection with the Plan;
- 7. enforce any order for the sale of property pursuant to sections 363, 1123, or 1146(a) of the Bankruptcy Code;
- 8. grant any consensual request to extend the deadline for assuming or rejecting Unexpired Leases pursuant to section 365(d)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code;
- 9. issue injunctions, enter and implement other orders, or take such other actions as may be necessary or appropriate to restrain interference by any Entity with Consummation or enforcement of the Plan;

- 10. hear, determine, and resolve any cases, matters, controversies, suits, disputes, or Causes of Action in connection with or in any way related to the Chapter 11 Cases, including: (a) with respect to the repayment or return of distributions and the recovery of additional amounts owed by the holder of a Claim or Interest for amounts not timely repaid pursuant to Section 6.4(a); (b) with respect to the releases, injunctions, and other provisions contained in ARTICLE VIII, including entry of such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to implement such releases, injunctions, and other provisions; (c) that may arise in connection with the Consummation, interpretation, implementation, or enforcement of the Plan or the Confirmation Order, or any Entity's obligations incurred in connection with the Plan or the Confirmation Order, including those arising under agreements, documents, or instruments executed in connection with the Plan; or (d) related to section 1141 of the Bankruptcy Code;
- 11. enter and implement such orders as are necessary or appropriate if the Confirmation Order is for any reason modified, stayed, reversed, revoked, or vacated;
- 12. consider any modifications of the Plan, to cure any defect or omission, or to reconcile any inconsistency in any Bankruptcy Court order, including the Confirmation Order;
- 13. hear and determine matters concerning state, local, and federal taxes in accordance with sections 346, 505, and 1146 of the Bankruptcy Code;
 - 14. enter an order or Final Decree concluding or closing the Chapter 11 Cases;
 - 15. enforce all orders previously entered by the Bankruptcy Court; and
 - 16. hear any other matter not inconsistent with the Bankruptcy Code.

After the Effective Date, notwithstanding anything in this ARTICLE XI to the contrary, disputes arising under the Amended and Restated Credit Documents will be governed by the jurisdictional provisions therein.

ARTICLE XII

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

12.1 Additional Documents

On or before the Effective Date, the Debtors may file with the Bankruptcy Court such agreements and other documents as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan. The Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and all holders of Claims and Interests receiving distributions pursuant to the Plan and all other parties in interest shall, from time to time, prepare, execute, and deliver any agreements or documents and take any other actions as may be necessary or advisable to effectuate the provisions and intent of the Plan.

12.2 Payment of Statutory Fees

All fees payable pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1930(a) shall be paid for each quarter (including any fraction thereof) until the Chapter 11 Cases are converted, dismissed, or a Final Decree is issued, whichever occurs first.

12.3 Reservation of Rights

Except as expressly set forth herein, the Plan shall have no force or effect unless the Bankruptcy Court shall enter the Confirmation Order. None of the filing of the Plan, any statement or provision contained in the Plan, or the taking of any action by any Debtor with respect to the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, or the Plan Supplement shall be or shall be deemed to be an admission or waiver of any rights of any Debtor with respect to the holders of Claims or Interests prior to the Effective Date.

12.4 Successors and Assigns

The rights, benefits, and obligations of any Entity named or referred to in the Plan shall be binding on, and shall inure to the benefit of any heir, executor, administrator, successor or assign, affiliate, officer, director, agent, representative, attorney, beneficiaries, or guardian, if any, of each Entity.

12.5 Service of Documents

Administrative Agent

After the Effective Date, any pleading, notice, or other document required by the Plan to be served on or delivered to the Reorganized Debtors shall be served on:

Reorganized Debtors SuperMedia Inc.

2200 West Airfield Driver

P.O. Box 619810 D/FW Airport Texas, 75261

Attn: Chief Executive Officer With a copy to: General Counsel

Counsel to Debtors Young Conaway Stargatt &

Taylor, LLPRodney Square
1000 North King Street
Wilmington, Delaware 19801
Attn: Pauline K. Morgan

Cleary Gottlieb Steen &

Hamilton LLPOne Liberty Plaza

New York, New York 10006

Attn: Sean A. O'Neal

Counsel to the SuperMedia Richards, Layton & Finger, P.A.

One Rodney Square 920 N. King Street

Wilmington, Delaware 19801

Attn: Mark Collins, Esq.

Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP

425 Lexington Avenue New York, New York 10017 Attn: Steve Fuhrman, Esq. Sandy Qusba, Esq.

Counsel to Dex One Pachulski Stang Ziehl & Jones LLP

919 North Market Street, 17th Floor

P.O. Box 8705

Wilmington, Delaware 19899-8705

(Courier 19801)

Attn: Laura Davis Jones Peter J. Keane

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

601 Lexington Avenue

New York, New York 10022-4611 Attn: Marc Kieselstein, P.C. Christopher J. Marcus **United States Trustee**

Office of the United States Trustee for the District of Delaware 844 King Street, Suite 2207 Wilmington, Delaware 19801 Attn:

12.6 Term of Injunctions or Stays

Unless otherwise provided in the Plan or in the Confirmation Order, all injunctions or stays in effect in the Chapter 11 Cases (pursuant to sections 105 or 362 of the Bankruptcy Code or any order of the Bankruptcy Court) and existing on the Confirmation Date (excluding any injunctions or stays contained in the Plan or the Confirmation Order) shall remain in full force and effect until the Effective Date. All injunctions or stays contained in the Plan or the Confirmation Order shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with their terms.

12.7 Entire Agreement

Except as otherwise indicated, the Plan supersedes all previous and contemporaneous negotiations, promises, covenants, agreements, understandings, and representations on such subjects, all of which have become merged and integrated into the Plan.

12.8 Plan Supplement Exhibits

All exhibits and documents included in the Plan Supplement are incorporated into and are a part of the Plan as if set forth in full in the Plan. After the exhibits and documents are filed, copies of such exhibits and documents shall be made available upon written request to the Debtors' counsel at the address above or by downloading such exhibits and documents from www.epiq11.com/SuperMedia or the Bankruptcy Court's website at www.deb.uscourts.gov. Unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court, to the extent any exhibit or document in the Plan Supplement is inconsistent with the terms of any part of the Plan that does not constitute the Plan Supplement, such part of the Plan that does not constitute the Plan Supplement shall control.

12.9 Non-Severability

If, prior to Confirmation, any term or provision of the Plan is held by the Bankruptcy Court to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the Bankruptcy Court shall have the power to alter and interpret such term or provision to make it valid or enforceable to the maximum extent practicable, consistent with the original purpose of the term or provision held to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, and such term or provision shall then be applicable as altered or interpreted. Notwithstanding any such holding, alteration, or interpretation, the remainder of the terms and provisions of the Plan will remain in full force and effect and will in no way be affected, impaired, or invalidated by such holding, alteration, or interpretation. The Confirmation Order shall constitute a judicial determination and shall provide that each term and provision of the Plan, as it may have been altered or interpreted in accordance with the foregoing, is: (a) valid and enforceable pursuant to its terms; (b) integral to the Plan and may not be deleted or modified without the Debtors' consent; and (c) nonseverable and mutually dependent.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 118 of 483

Dated: [], 2013	SUPERMEDIA INC.
	Name: Samuel D. Jones
	Title: Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
	SUPERMEDIA LLC
	Name: Samuel D. Jones Title: Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
	SUPERMEDIA SERVICES INC.
	Name: Samuel D. Jones Title: Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
	SUPERMEDIA SALES INC.
	Name: Samuel D. Jones Title: Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

EXHIBIT A TO THE PLAN

MERGER AGREEMENT

See Exhibit E to the Disclosure Statement

EXHIBIT B TO THE PLAN

AMENDED AND RESTATED SUPERMEDIA SECURED CREDIT AGREEMENT

LOAN AGREEMENT

Dated as of December 31, 2009, as amended and restated as of [], 2013

among

SUPERMEDIA INC. (formerly known as IDEARC INC.), as Borrower,

DEX ONE CORPORATION,

The Lenders from Time to Time Parties Hereto

and

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent

Table of Contents

	Page
ARTICLE I Definitions	2
SECTION 1.01 Defined Terms	2
SECTION 1.02 Type of Loans and Borrowings	38
SECTION 1.03 Terms Generally	38
SECTION 1.04 Accounting Terms; GAAP	38
SECTION 1.05 Certain Terms	39
ARTICLE II The Credits	39
SECTION 2.01 Loans Deemed Made on the Closing Date	39
SECTION 2.02 Loans and Borrowings	39
SECTION 2.03 Conversion and Continuation Options	39
SECTION 2.04 Evidence of Debt	40
SECTION 2.05 Repayment of Loans	41
SECTION 2.06 Prepayment of Loans	41
SECTION 2.07 Fees	43
SECTION 2.08 Interest	43
SECTION 2.09 Alternate Rate of Interest	44
SECTION 2.10 Increased Costs	44
SECTION 2.11 Break Funding Payments	45
SECTION 2.12 Taxes	46
SECTION 2.13 Payments Generally; Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing of Setoffs	48
SECTION 2.14 Mitigation Obligations; Replacement of Lenders	50
SECTION 2.15 Voluntary Prepayments	50
ARTICLE III Representations and Warranties	52
SECTION 3.01 Organization; Powers	52
SECTION 3.02 Authorization; Enforceability	52
SECTION 3.03 Governmental Approvals; No Conflicts	52
SECTION 3.04 Financial Condition; No Material Adverse Change	53
SECTION 3.05 Properties	53
SECTION 3.06 Litigation and Environmental Matters	53
SECTION 3.07 Compliance with Laws and Agreements; Absence of Default	54
SECTION 3.08 Investment Company Status	54
SECTION 3.09 Taxes	54

SECTION 3.10 Employee Benefit Plans	54
SECTION 3.11 Disclosure	55
SECTION 3.12 Subsidiaries	55
SECTION 3.13 Insurance	55
SECTION 3.14 Labor Matters	55
SECTION 3.15 Margin Regulations	56
SECTION 3.16 Certain Agreements	56
SECTION 3.17 Security Documents	56
SECTION 3.18 [Bankruptcy Court Orders	57
ARTICLE IV Conditions	57
SECTION 4.01 Effectiveness of Agreement	57
ARTICLE V Affirmative Covenants	61
SECTION 5.01 Financial Statements and Other Information	61
SECTION 5.02 Notices of Material Events	65
SECTION 5.03 Information Regarding Collateral	65
SECTION 5.04 Existence; Conduct of Business	65
SECTION 5.05 Payment of Obligations	66
SECTION 5.06 Maintenance of Properties	66
SECTION 5.07 Insurance	66
SECTION 5.08 Casualty and Condemnation	66
SECTION 5.09 Books and Records; Inspection and Audit Rights	66
SECTION 5.10 Compliance with Laws	66
SECTION 5.11 Additional Subsidiaries	67
SECTION 5.12 Further Assurances	67
SECTION 5.13 Account Control Agreements	67
SECTION 5.14 Credit Ratings	68
SECTION 5.15 Intellectual Property	68
SECTION 5.16 Independent Director	68
ARTICLE VI Negative Covenants	68
SECTION 6.01 Indebtedness; Certain Equity Securities	68
SECTION 6.02 Liens	71
SECTION 6.03 Fundamental Changes	73
SECTION 6.04 Investments, Loans, Advances, Guarantees and Acquisitions	73
SECTION 6.05 Asset Sales	76
SECTION 6.06 Sale and Leaseback Transactions	77

SECTION 6.07 Swap Agreements	77
SECTION 6.08 Restricted Payments; Certain Payments of Indebtedness	77
SECTION 6.09 Transactions with Affiliates	79
SECTION 6.10 Restrictive Agreements	80
SECTION 6.11 Fiscal Year	81
SECTION 6.12 Amendment of Material Documents	81
SECTION 6.13 Financial Covenants	81
SECTION 6.14 Capital Expenditures	82
SECTION 6.15 Ultimate Parent Covenants	82
SECTION 6.16 Service Company Covenants.	84
SECTION 6.17 Limitation on Activities of the License Subsidiaries	85
ARTICLE VII Events of Default	86
ARTICLE VIII The Agent	90
ARTICLE IX Miscellaneous	92
SECTION 9.01 Notices	92
SECTION 9.02 Waivers; Amendments	92
SECTION 9.03 Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver	94
SECTION 9.04 Successors and Assigns	95
SECTION 9.05 Survival	98
SECTION 9.06 Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness	98
SECTION 9.07 Severability	98
SECTION 9.08 Right of Setoff	98
SECTION 9.09 Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process.	98
SECTION 9.10 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	99
SECTION 9.11 Headings	99
SECTION 9.12 Confidentiality	100
SECTION 9.13 U.S.A. PATRIOT Act	100
SECTION 9.14 Termination or Release	100
SECTION 9.15 No Fiduciary Relationship	101
SECTION 9.16 Intercreditor Agreement	102
SECTION 9.17 Amendment and Restatement	102
SECTION 9.18 [No Requirement of Lender Signatures	102

Directory Consolidation Project Post-Closing Items Schedule 1.01A --

Schedule 1.01B --

Contents, p. 4

Schedule 2.01 -- Loans Deemed Made on the Closing Date

Schedule 3.05 -- Properties

Schedule 3.06 -- Disclosed Matters

Schedule 3.12 -- Subsidiaries

Schedule 3.13 -- Insurance

Schedule 6.01 -- Existing Indebtedness

Schedule 6.02 -- Existing Liens

Schedule 6.02(u) -- Directory Consolidation Liens

Schedule 6.04 -- Existing Investments

Schedule 6.05(j) -- Asset Sales

Schedule 6.05(m)-- Directory Consolidation Sales, Transfers and Other Dispositions

Schedule 6.09 -- Affiliate Transactions

Schedule 6.09(o) -- Directory Consolidation Transactions with Affiliates

Schedule 6.10 -- Existing Restrictions

EXHIBITS:

Exhibit A -- Form of Assignment and Assumption

Exhibit B -- Form of Perfection Certificate

Exhibit C -- Form of U.S. Tax Compliance Certificates

Exhibit D -- Form of Amended and Restated Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement

Exhibit E -- Form of Amended and Restated Shared Services Agreement

Exhibit F -- Form of Subordinated Guarantee Agreement Exhibit G -- Form of Acknowledgment and Confirmation

Exhibit H -- Form of Amended and Restated Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement

Exhibit I -- Form of License Agreement

Exhibit J -- Form of Master IP License Agreement

Exhibit K -- Form of Election Notice

Exhibit L -- Form of Tax Sharing Agreement

Exhibit M -- Form of Newco Subordinated Guarantee

LOAN AGREEMENT dated as of December 31, 2009 (this " <u>Agreement</u> "), as amended and restated as of [], 2013, among SUPERMEDIA INC. (formerly known as Idearc Inc.), a Delaware corporation (the " <u>Borrower</u> "), which is a reorganized company pursuant to Reorganization Plan referred to below, DEX ONE CORPORATION, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time parties hereto (the " <u>Lenders</u> ") and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent for such Lenders. Capitalized terms used but not defined in the succeeding recitals have the meanings set forth in Section 1.01 below.
[WHEREAS, on [, 2013] (the " <u>Petition Date</u> "), the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries each commenced bankruptcy cases (the " <u>Chapter 11 Cases</u> ") by filing voluntary petitions under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the " <u>Bankruptcy Court</u> ");
WHEREAS, on the Petition Date, the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries filed with the Bankruptcy Court the Reorganization Plan and the Disclosure Statement;
WHEREAS, on [, 2013], the Bankruptcy Court entered the Confirmation Order confirming the Reorganization Plan; and
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Reorganization Plan, the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries will implement the Amendments on the Closing Date;] ¹
WHEREAS, the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower have entered into a Merger Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2012, as amended and restated as of December 5, 2012 (the "Merger Agreement"), by and among Dex One Corporation, a Delaware corporation ("Dex One"), NewDex, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Newdex"), Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc., a Delaware corporation ("Merger Sub") and the Borrower, pursuant to which Dex One will be merged with Newdex, with Newdex as the surviving corporation (the "Dex Merger"), and the Borrower will be merged with Merger Sub, with the Borrower as the surviving corporation (the "SuperMedia Merger" and together with the Dex Merger, the "Mergers");
WHEREAS, after giving effect to the Mergers, the Borrower will become a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Newdex and Newdex will become the Ultimate Parent;
WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Lenders amend and restate the Existing Credit Agreement as provided in this Agreement; and
WHEREAS, the Lenders are willing to so amend and restate the Existing Credit Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto agree that the Existing Credit Agreement shall be amended and restated in its entirety as of the Closing Date to read as follows:

¹ To be included if applicable.

ARTICLE I

Definitions

SECTION 1.01 <u>Defined Terms</u>. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified below:

"ABR", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, bear interest at a rate determined by reference to the Alternate Base Rate.

"Acceptable Payment Percentage" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(c).

"Acknowledgment and Confirmation" means an Acknowledgment and Confirmation, substantially in the form of Exhibit G hereto, dated the date hereof, executed by each SuperMedia Loan Party.

"Additional Notes" means notes issued by the Ultimate Parent after the Closing Date (a) that are not secured by any assets of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, (b) that bear interest at a prevailing market rate at the time of the issuance thereof, (c) the proceeds of which are used to refinance the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes, (d) that do not mature, and are not mandatorily redeemable, in whole or in part, or required to be repurchased or reacquired, in whole or in part, prior to the date that is six months after the Maturity Date (other than pursuant to asset sale or change in control provisions customary in offerings of similar notes), (e) that have no financial maintenance covenants and no restrictive covenants that apply to any Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent or that impose limitations on the Ultimate Parent's ability to guarantee or pledge assets to secure the Obligations and otherwise have covenants, representations and warranties and events of default that are no more restrictive than those existing in the prevailing market at the time of issuance for companies with the same or similar credit ratings of the Ultimate Parent at such time issuing similar securities, (f) are not guaranteed by any Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent and are subordinated to the Obligations on terms that are no less favorable to the Lenders than the subordination terms set forth in the Restructuring Notes Indenture and that are otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and (g) are not convertible or exchangeable except into (i) other Indebtedness of the Ultimate Parent meeting the qualifications set forth in this definition or (ii) common equity of the Ultimate Parent, provided that any such exchange or conversion, if effected, would not result in a Change in Control or a Default.

"Adjusted LIBO Rate" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing for any Interest Period, an interest rate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) equal to (a) the LIBO Rate for such Interest Period multiplied by (b) the Statutory Reserve Rate.

"Administrative Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as administrative agent for the Lenders hereunder and its Affiliates and permitted successors acting in such capacity.

"Administrative Questionnaire" means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by the Administrative Agent.

"Advance Prepayment Certificate" means a certificate of a Responsible Officer furnished to the Administrative Agent with respect to a fiscal quarter certifying in reasonable detail the expected increase in Available Cash during such fiscal quarter.

"Advance Prepayments" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.06(c).

"Affiliate" means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this definition, none of Verizon and its Affiliates will be deemed to be an Affiliate of the Borrower or any Subsidiary unless (x) any of such Persons is the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rules 13d-3 and 13d-5 under the Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of shares representing 10% or more of the total voting power of the Equity Interests of the Borrower and (y) the first such Person would otherwise be such an Affiliate within the meaning of this definition.

"Agents" means the collective reference to the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent.

"Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the preamble hereto.

"Allocable Net Proceeds" means, with respect to any Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance, 53% of the Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance; provided, that to the extent the Indebtedness outstanding under (a) the RHDI Credit Agreement has been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 65% of the Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance, (b) the Dex East Credit Agreement has been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 61% of the Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance, (c) the Dex West Credit Agreement has been repaid in full, the Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 62% of the Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance, (d) the RHDI Credit Agreement and the Dex West Credit Agreement have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 80% of the Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance, (e) the RHDI Credit Agreement and the Dex East Credit Agreement have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 78% of the Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance, (f) the Dex West Credit Agreement and the Dex East Credit Agreement have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 74% of the Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance and (g) if the Dex Credit Agreements have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance and (g) if the Dex Credit Agreements have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance and (g) if the Dex Credit Agreements have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance and (g) if the Dex Credit Agreements have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance.

"Alternate Base Rate" means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the greatest of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such day, (b) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on such day plus ½ of 1% and (c) the LIBO Rate that would be calculated as of such day (or, if such day is not a Business Day, as of the next preceding Business Day) in respect of a proposed Eurodollar Loan with a one-month Interest Period plus 1%. Any change in the Alternate Base Rate due to a change in the Prime Rate, the Federal Funds Effective Rate or such LIBO Rate shall be effective from and including the effective date of such change in the Prime Rate, the Federal Funds Effective Rate or such LIBO Rate, as the case may be.

"Amendments" means, collectively, the amendment and restatement of the RHDI Existing Credit Agreement, the Dex East Existing Credit Agreement and the Dex West Existing Credit Agreement, pursuant to the RHDI Credit Agreement, the Dex East Credit Agreement and the Dex West Credit Agreement, respectively (in each case referred to in clause (a) in the definition thereof)[, which amendments were consummated pursuant to the Reorganization Plan].²

² To be included if applicable.

"Applicable Margin" means (a) with respect to any ABR Loan, 7.60%, and (b) with respect to any Eurodollar Loan, 8.60%.

"Applicable Payment Percentage" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(c).

"Approved Fund" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04(b).

"Asset Disposition" means (a) any sale, transfer or other disposition (including pursuant to a Sale and Leaseback Transaction) of any property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary other than sales, transfers or other dispositions permitted under Section 6.05 (other than clauses (g), (i), (j) and (k)) and (b) any casualty or other insured damage to, or any taking under power of eminent domain or by condemnation or similar proceeding of, any property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, but, in the case of this clause (b), only to the extent that the Net Proceeds therefrom have not been applied to repair, restore or replace such property or asset within 180 days after such event.

"Assignment and Assumption" means an assignment and assumption entered into by a Lender and an assignee (with the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section 9.04), and accepted by the Administrative Agent, substantially in the form of Exhibit A or any other form approved by the Administrative Agent.

"Attributable Debt" means, on any date, in respect of any lease of the Borrower or any Subsidiary entered into as part of a Sale and Leaseback Transaction subject to Section 6.06 (a) if such lease is a Capital Lease Obligation, the capitalized amount thereof that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP and (b) if such lease is not a Capital Lease Obligation, the capitalized amount of the remaining lease payments under such lease that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP if such lease were accounted for as a Capital Lease Obligation.

"Available Cash" means, on any Determination Date, an amount (which may be a negative amount) calculated in accordance with Section 1.05 and equal to the sum (without duplication) of the following in respect of the Borrower and its Wholly Owned Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis for the period commencing on January 1, 2013 and ending on the last day of the most recent fiscal quarter for which a certificate shall have been delivered to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 5.01(d):

- (a) Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for such period; plus
- (b) to the extent not included in calculating such Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA, any extraordinary or non-recurring cash gain during such period, other than any such gain resulting from any sale, transfer or other disposition of assets; <u>plus</u>
- (c) without duplication, decreases in Consolidated Working Capital for such period; minus
- (d) without duplication, increases in Consolidated Working Capital for such period; $\underline{\text{minus}}$
- (e) without duplication and to the extent included in determining such Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA, the sum of (i) Consolidated Interest Expense for such period, (ii) all taxes of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries paid in cash during such period (other than Incremental COD Tax Payments), (iii) any extraordinary or nonrecurring loss, expense or charge paid in cash during

such period (other than Specified Charges) and (iv) the aggregate amount of Capital Expenditures made during such period, other than Capital Expenditures financed with (1) Net Proceeds from an Asset Disposition not otherwise required to be applied to prepay Loans pursuant to Section 2.06(b) or (2) the proceeds of Indebtedness permitted by Section 6.01 (other than proceeds of Indebtedness incurred in reliance on Section 6.01(a)(iii)); provided that amounts shall be included in this clause (e) for any period only to the extent not duplicative of any cost or expense which was (x) included in determining Consolidated Net Income for such period and (y) not added back to Consolidated Net Income in determining Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for such period.

["Bankruptcy Code" means the United States Bankruptcy Code (11 U.S.C. $\S 101 \ \underline{et} \ \underline{seq}$.), as amended from time to time, and any successor statute.]

["Bankruptcy Court" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.]⁴

"<u>Billing Services Agreement</u>" means the Billing Services Agreement dated as of November 17, 2006, between Idearc Media LLC (formerly known as Idearc Media Corp.) and Verizon Services Corp.

"<u>Board</u>" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States of America.

"Borrower" has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

"Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Available Cash" means an amount determined for each fiscal quarter of the Borrower, commencing with the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2013, equal to the amount of any increase in Available Cash during such fiscal quarter multiplied by 12.5%.

"Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Available Cash" means (i) an amount determined for each fiscal quarter of the Borrower, commencing with the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2013, equal to the amount of any increase in Available Cash during such fiscal quarter multiplied by 20% <u>plus</u> (ii) Existing Available Cash.

"Borrower's Portion of Available Cash" means, collectively, the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Available Cash and the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Available Cash.

"Borrowing" means Loans of the same Type made, converted or continued on the same date and, in the case of Eurodollar Loans, as to which a single Interest Period is in effect.

"Branding Agreement" means the Branding Agreement dated as of November 17, 2006, between Idearc Media LLC (formerly known as Idearc Media Corp.) and Verizon.

"Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York City are authorized or required by law to remain closed; provided that,

³ To be included if applicable.

⁴ To be included if applicable.

when used in connection with a Eurodollar Loan, the term "Business Day" shall also exclude any day on which banks are not open for dealings in dollar deposits in the London interbank market.

"Capital Expenditures" means, for any period, without duplication, (i) the additions to property, plant and equipment and other capital expenditures of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries for such period, determined in accordance with GAAP and (ii) the portion of the additions to property, plant and equipment and other capital expenditures of the Service Company for such period allocated to, and funded by, the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement.

"Capital Lease Obligations" of any Person means, without duplication, (i) the obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under any Capitalized Lease, and the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP and (ii) in the case of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, the portion of the obligations of the Service Company described in the foregoing clause (i) allocated to, and funded by, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement.

"<u>Capitalized Leases</u>" means all leases that have been or should be, in accordance with GAAP, recorded as capitalized leases.

["Cash Collateral Order" means the Final Order Under 11 U.S.C. §§ 105, 361, 362, 3	63,
552 and Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2002, 4001 and 9014 (I) Authorizing Debtors to Use Cash Collateral and ((II)
Granting Adequate Protection to the Prepetition Secured Parties, entered by the Bankruptcy Court on	
$[], 2013.]^5$	

"<u>Cash Consideration</u>" means the consideration received by the Borrower or any Subsidiary for any Asset Disposition that is in the form of cash, Permitted Investments or a combination of the foregoing. For purposes of this provision, each of the following will be deemed to be cash:

- (a) any liabilities (as shown on the Borrower's most recent consolidated balance sheet) of the Borrower or any Subsidiary that are assumed by the transferee of any such assets or Equity Interests pursuant to a written assignment and assumption agreement that releases the Borrower or applicable Subsidiary from further liability therefor; and
- (b) any securities, notes or other obligations received by the Borrower or any Subsidiary from such transferee that are converted by the Borrower or any Subsidiary into cash or Permitted Investments within 180 days of the receipt thereof.

"Change in Control" means:

- (a) the failure of the Borrower to own, directly or indirectly through one or more Wholly Owned Subsidiaries, 100% of the outstanding Equity Interests in Idearc Information Services LLC;
- (b) the failure of the Ultimate Parent to own, directly or indirectly through one or more of its Wholly Owned Subsidiaries, 100% of the outstanding Equity Interests in the Borrower free of Liens;

⁵ To be included if applicable.

- (c) for so long as the Shared Services Agreement is in existence, the ownership, beneficially or of record, by any Person other than the Ultimate Parent of any Equity Interests in the Service Company;
- (d) the ownership, beneficially or of record, by any "person" or "group" (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Exchange Act of more than 35% of the outstanding Equity Interests in the Ultimate Parent; or
- (e) the occupation of a majority of the seats (excluding, for purposes of this clause, vacant seats) on the Governing Board of the Ultimate Parent by Persons who were not (i) members of such Governing Board on the Closing Date [(after giving effect to the Reorganization Plan)], (ii) nominated by, or whose nomination for election was approved or ratified by a majority of the directors or members of, the Governing Board of the Ultimate Parent or (iii) appointed by Persons referred to in clause (i) and (ii) above;

<u>provided</u> that that the consummation of the Mergers pursuant to the Merger Agreement shall not constitute a Change in Control.

"Change in Law" means (a) the adoption of any law, rule or regulation after the Closing Date, (b) any change in any law, rule or regulation or in the interpretation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority after the Closing Date or (c) compliance by any Lender (or, for purposes of Section 2.10(b), by any lending office of such Lender or by such Lender's holding company, if any) with any request, guideline or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority made or issued after the Closing Date. For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (i) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines, requirements and directives thereunder, issued in connection therewith or in implementation thereof, and (ii) all requests, rules, guidelines, requirements and directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be deemed to be a Change in Law regardless of the date enacted, adopted, issued or implemented.

Agreement.] ⁷	["Chapter 11 Cases" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this
Agreement.	"Chattel Paper" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Guarantee and Collateral
`	"Closing Date" means the date on which the conditions specified in Article IV are nived in accordance with Section 9.02) and the notice in the last sentence of Section 4.01 delivered, which date is [
⁶ To be	included if applicable.

⁷ To be included if applicable.

⁸ If the Closing Date occurs prior to March 31, 2013, the date for the commencement of delivery of, and the representation with respect to previously delivered, annual financial statements will be adjusted and the Available Cash prepayment provisions will be adjusted to require payment of the Available Cash prepayment under the Existing Credit Agreement for the period ending December 31, 2012.

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

"Collateral" means any and all "Collateral", as defined in any applicable Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document.

"Collateral Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as collateral agent for the Secured Parties and its Affiliates and permitted successors in such capacity.

"Collateral Agreements" means the collective reference to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

"Collateral and Guarantee Requirement" means the requirement that:

- (a) the Collateral Agent shall have received from each SuperMedia Loan Party either (i) a counterpart of the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement duly executed and delivered on behalf of such SuperMedia Loan Party or (ii) in the case of any Person that becomes a Subsidiary Loan Party after the Closing Date, a supplement to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, in substantially the form specified therein (or in such other form as the Borrower and the Collateral Agent may agree), duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Person (within the time frames required by Section 5.11);
- (b) the Shared Collateral Agent shall have received from each Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Newco Subordinated Guarantors) either (i) a counterpart of the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Shared Collateral Loan Party or (ii) in the case of any such Person that becomes a Shared Collateral Loan Party after the Closing Date, a supplement to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, in the form specified therein, duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Shared Collateral Loan Party;
- (c) all outstanding Equity Interests in each Subsidiary directly owned by any SuperMedia Loan Party shall have been pledged pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement (except that the SuperMedia Loan Parties shall not be required to pledge more than 65% of the outstanding voting Equity Interests of any Foreign Subsidiary) and the Collateral Agent shall have received all certificates or other instruments representing such Equity Interests, if any, together with stock powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank;
- (d) all outstanding Equity Interests of each Subsidiary owned by or on behalf of the Service Company or any Newco that becomes a Shared Collateral Loan Party after the Closing Date shall have been pledged pursuant to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement (except that neither the Service Company nor any such Shared Collateral Loan Party shall be required to pledge more than 65% of the outstanding voting Equity Interests of any Foreign Subsidiary) and, subject to the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement, the Shared Collateral Agent shall have received all certificates or other instruments representing such Equity Interests, together with stock powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank;
- (e) all Indebtedness of the Borrower and each Subsidiary that is owing to any SuperMedia Loan Party shall have been pledged pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and, if any such Indebtedness is evidenced by a promissory note (which may be a master note), the Collateral Agent shall have received all such promissory notes (other than promissory notes evidencing items of Indebtedness with a principal amount of \$500,000 or less;

<u>provided</u> that the aggregate principal amount of all such items of Indebtedness shall not exceed \$1,000,000), together with note powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank;

(f) the Shared Collateral Agent shall have received from each Newco Subordinated Guarantor, to the extent that such Newco Subordinated Guarantor becomes a Dex Guarantor, a subordinated guarantee substantially in the form of Exhibit M (or such other form as shall be reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent and the Shared Collateral Agent), which shall (i) to the extent permitted by the terms of any assumed Indebtedness of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor in existence prior to the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor (without giving effect to any restriction effected by any amendment thereto entered into in contemplation of such assumption) and any Indebtedness incurred to finance the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor, be secured by a pledge of the Equity Interests of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor's Subsidiaries and any joint venture interest owned by such Newco Subordinated Guarantor (subject to any restrictions in the applicable joint venture agreement applicable to all partners of such joint venture; it being understood and agreed that in the event any such restriction exists, the Administrative Agent and such Newco Subordinated Guarantor shall agree upon alternative structures, if available, to effect the economic equivalent of a pledge of the applicable joint venture interest) and (ii) to the extent required by the terms of any such Indebtedness (without giving effect to any restriction effected by any amendment, waiver, modification or refinancing thereto entered into in contemplation of such assumption), be subordinated to any assumed Indebtedness of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor in existence prior to the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor and any Indebtedness incurred to finance the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor; provided, that (i) to the extent that any restriction shall exist which shall not permit such Guarantee or which requires the subordination thereof as described above, the Borrower shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, true and complete copies of all relevant agreements received by the Borrower in respect of such Indebtedness, certified by a Financial Officer, to the Administrative Agent at least ten Business Days prior to the completion of the acquisition of the applicable Newco Subordinated Guarantor (or, in the case of any such agreement received by the Borrower after such tenth Business Day, promptly following the Borrower's receipt of such agreement) and (ii) notwithstanding the foregoing, no Newco Subordinated Guarantor shall be required to guarantee the Obligations to the extent such Guarantee is prohibited by the terms of any assumed Indebtedness of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor in existence prior to the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor (without giving effect to any restriction effected by any amendment, waiver, modification or refinancing thereto entered into in contemplation of such assumption) or any Indebtedness incurred to finance the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor if no alternative financing (on terms not materially less favorable taken as a whole to the applicable borrower or issuer) is available that would permit such Guarantee or is otherwise prohibited under applicable law; provided, further, that (x) the Ultimate Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to amend any such assumed Indebtedness that is otherwise being amended in connection with such acquisition to permit such Guarantee and (y) if any Newco Subordinated Guarantor is unable to Guarantee the Obligations due to circumstances described in the first proviso hereof, then (A) the Ultimate Parent may only effect the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor to the extent it provides evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, and certification by a Financial Officer, that the Ultimate Parent was unable to obtain amendments (after use of commercially reasonable efforts) and/or alternative financing (on terms not materially less favorable taken as a whole to the applicable borrower or issuer) was not available, as the case may be, permitting such Guarantee or such Guarantee was otherwise prohibited by applicable law (and providing a description of such applicable law) and (B) to the extent permitted by applicable law, a holding company shall be formed to hold 100% of the shares of the applicable Newco Subordinated Guarantor, which holding company shall Guarantee the Obligations and pledge the stock of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor to secure such Guarantee (any Guarantee provided by this clause (f), a "Newco Subordinated Guarantee");

- (g) all documents and instruments, including Uniform Commercial Code financing statements, required by law or reasonably requested by the Collateral Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, to be filed, registered or recorded to create the Liens intended to be created by the Security Documents (including any supplements thereto) and the Shared Collateral Security Documents and perfect such Liens to the extent required by, and with the priority required by, the Collateral Agreements, shall have been filed, registered or recorded (or arrangements reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, shall have been made to provide for the foregoing) or, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, delivered to the Collateral Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, for filing, registration or recording;
- (h) (1) subject to Schedule 1.01B, the Collateral Agent shall have received with respect to each Mortgaged Property existing on the Closing Date (i) a Mortgage Amendment, together with (i) evidence that counterparts of said Mortgage Amendments have been delivered to the Title Company (defined below), (ii) a datedown endorsement to the existing title policy insuring the Lien of each such Mortgage (or a reissued title insurance policy) (the "Mortgage Endorsements"), issued by Stewart Title Guaranty Company (the "Title Company"), insuring the Lien of such Mortgage (as amended by the applicable Mortgage Amendment) as a valid Lien on the Mortgaged Property described therein, free of any Liens except those permitted under Section 6.02, (iii) the opinions, addressed to the Collateral Agent and the Lenders of (A) outside counsel or in-house counsel, as to the due authorization, execution and delivery of the Mortgage Amendments by the Borrower or any Loan Party, as applicable, and (B) local counsel in each jurisdiction where Mortgaged Property is located regarding the Mortgage Amendments, (iv) with respect to each Mortgaged Amendment, such affidavits, certificates, instruments of indemnification and other items (including a so-called "gap" indemnification) as shall be reasonably required to induce the Title Company to issue the Mortgage Endorsements contemplated above, (v) evidence reasonably acceptable to the Collateral Agent of payment by the Borrower of all Mortgage Endorsement premiums, search and examination charges, mortgage recording taxes, fees, charges, costs and expenses required for the recording of the Mortgage Amendments, fixture filings and issuance of the Mortgage Endorsements referred to above, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent, and (2) with respect to each Mortgaged Property acquired after the Closing Date (i) execute and deliver a first priority Mortgage in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, covering such real property, subject to any Liens permitted by Section 6.02, (ii) if requested by the Collateral Agent, the Collateral Agent shall have received, and the Title Company shall have received, maps or plats of an as-built survey of the sites of such Mortgaged Property prepared by an independent professional licensed land surveyor reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent and the Title Company (and certified by such surveyor to the Collateral Agent and the Title Company), which maps or plats and the surveys on which they are based shall be made in accordance with the Minimum Standard Detail Requirements for Land Title Surveys jointly established and adopted by the American Land Title Association and the American Congress on Surveying and Mapping in 1992, (iii) the Collateral Agent shall have received in respect of such Mortgaged Property a mortgagee's title insurance policy (or policies) or marked up unconditional binder for such insurance, and each such policy shall (A) be in an amount reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent; (B) be issued at ordinary rates; (C) insure that the Mortgage insured thereby creates a valid first Lien on such Mortgaged Property free and clear of all defects and encumbrances, except as disclosed therein; (D) name the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the

Secured Parties as the insured thereunder; (E) be in the form of ALTA Loan Policy - 2006 (or equivalent policies); (F) contain such endorsements and affirmative coverage as the Collateral Agent may reasonably request, and the Collateral Agent shall have received evidence satisfactory to it that all premiums in respect of each such policy, all charges for mortgage recording tax, and all related expenses, if any, have been paid; (iv) any consents or estoppels reasonably deemed necessary or advisable by the Collateral Agent in connection with such Mortgage, each of the foregoing in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent; (v) if requested by the Collateral Agent, deliver to the Collateral Agent legal opinions relating to the matters described above, which opinions shall be in form and substance, and from counsel, reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent, and (vi) deliver to the Collateral Agent a completed "Life-of-Loan" Federal Emergency Management Agency Standard Flood Hazard Determination with respect to such Mortgaged Property (together with a notice about special flood hazard area status and flood disaster assistance duly executed by the Borrower and each Loan Party relating thereto) and if any such Mortgaged Property is located in a special flood hazard area, evidence of flood insurance in form and amount reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent;

- (i) each Loan Party shall have used commercially reasonable efforts to obtain all consents and approvals required to be obtained by it in connection with the execution and delivery of all Security Documents and Shared Collateral Security Documents (or supplements thereto) to which it is a party, the performance of its obligations thereunder and the granting by it of the Liens thereunder, except in each case to the extent the failure to obtain such contents and approvals does not materially and adversely affect the interests of the Secured Parties; and
- (j) each Loan Party shall have executed and delivered to the Administrative Agent account control agreements in accordance with Section 5.13.

"Collateral Trademarks" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.01(e).

"Companies" means collectively, the Borrower, Dex East, Dex West and RHDI, and each, individually, a "Company".

["Confirmation	on Order" means that	t certain order app	roving the Disclosure	Statement and
confirming the Reorganization	Plan pursuant to Se	ection 1129 of the	Bankruptcy Code ente	ered by the
Bankruptcy Court on [$[2013.]^9$			

"Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA" means, for any period, Consolidated Net Income for such period plus (or minus), without duplication:

- (a) provision for taxes based on income or profits of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries for such period, to the extent deducted in computing Consolidated Net Income; <u>plus</u>
- (b) Interest Expense of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries for such period, to the extent deducted in computing Consolidated Net Income; <u>plus</u>
- (c) depreciation, amortization (including amortization of intangibles and amortization and write-off of financing costs) and impairment charges (solely with respect to goodwill or other intangibles) of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries for such period to the extent

⁹ To be included if applicable.

that such depreciation, amortization and impairment charges were deducted in computing Consolidated Net Income; <u>plus</u>

- (d) any non-cash compensation charge arising from any grant of stock, stock options or other equity-based awards, to the extent deducted in computing Consolidated Net Income; <u>plus</u>
- (e) any extraordinary, unusual or non-recurring non-cash losses or non-cash charges, to the extent deducted in computing Consolidated Net Income; <u>plus</u>
- (f) to the extent deducted in computing Consolidated Net Income, the Specified Charges; <u>provided</u> that such charges are recorded during the period starting on October 1, 2012 and ending on December 31, 2013 and the aggregate amount of charges added back pursuant to this clause (f) for all periods shall not exceed \$40,000,000 (it being understood that such charges may be added back in any four-fiscal-quarter period which includes the fiscal quarter in which such charges are recorded); <u>plus</u>
- (g) any non-recurring charges consisting of any severance charges incurred in connection with a restructuring recorded during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016, not to exceed \$10,000,000 in any such fiscal year, to the extent deducted in computing Consolidated Net Income (it being understood that such amounts shall only be deducted in the determination of Available Cash in the period in which the payments are made); plus
- (h) any non-cash impact attributable to [(i)] the reduction in deferred revenue or reduction in deferred costs to balance sheet accounts as a result of the fair value exercise undertaken as required by purchase accounting for the transactions contemplated by any acquisition [or (ii) the adoption of fresh start accounting in connection with the transactions under the Reorganization Plan, all in accordance with GAAP]; 10 plus
- (i) any non-cash Accounting Standards Codification 815 income (or loss) related to hedging activities, to the extent deducted in computing Consolidated Net Income; minus
- (j) extraordinary gains and non-recurring gains (for the avoidance of doubt, to the extent that any Voluntary Prepayment results in a gain that would be reflected in Consolidated Net Income in any period, such gain shall be subtracted in calculating Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for such period pursuant to this clause (j)); minus
- (k) non-cash items increasing Consolidated Net Income for such period, other than (i) the accrual of revenue consistent with past practice and (ii) the reversal in such period of an accrual of, or cash reserve for, cash expenses in a prior period, but only to the extent such accrual or reserve was not added back to Consolidated Net Income in calculating Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA in a prior period; minus
- (l) any cash payments made during such period in respect of items described in clause (e) above subsequent to the fiscal quarter in which the relevant non-cash losses or charges were reflected as a charge in the statement of Consolidated Net Income;

in each case determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP.

_

¹⁰ To be included if applicable.

For the purposes of calculating Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters (each, a "Reference Period"), (i) if at any time during such Reference Period (and after the Closing Date) the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall have made any Material Disposition (as defined below), the Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for such Reference Period shall be reduced by an amount equal to the Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA (if positive) attributable to the property that is the subject of such Material Disposition for such Reference Period or increased by an amount equal to the Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA (if negative) attributable thereto for such Reference Period and (ii) if during such Reference Period (and after the Closing Date) the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries shall have made a Material Acquisition, Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for such Reference Period shall be calculated after giving pro forma effect thereto in accordance with Regulation S-X or in such other manner acceptable to the Administrative Agent as if such Material Acquisition occurred on the first day of such Reference Period. As used in this definition, "Material Acquisition" means any acquisition of property or series of related acquisitions of property that (x) constitutes assets comprising all or substantially all of an operating unit of a business or constitutes all or substantially all of the common stock of a Person and (y) involves the payment of consideration by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in excess of \$5,000,000; and "Material Disposition" means any disposition of property or series of related dispositions of property that (x) constitutes assets comprising all or substantially all of an operating unit of a business or constitutes all or substantially all of the common stock of a Person and (y) yields gross proceeds to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in excess of \$5,000,000. In addition, Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for any Reference Period including the first four full fiscal quarters following the Closing Date shall be subject to any [adjustment with respect to such quarters required to be made by the Borrower's independent certified public accountants as a result of "fresh start" accounting and set forth in reasonable detail in a certificate of a Responsible Officer delivered to the Administrative Agent] [, and, with respect to the Reference Period immediately prior to the Closing Date, Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA shall be so adjusted on a pro forma basis as though the Reorganization Plan had become effective on the first day of such Reference Period].¹¹

"Consolidated Current Assets" means, at any date, all amounts (other than cash and Permitted Investments) that would, in conformity with GAAP, be set forth opposite the caption "total current assets" (or any like caption) on a consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries at such date.

"Consolidated Current Liabilities" means, at any date, all amounts that would, in conformity with GAAP, be set forth opposite the caption "total current liabilities" (or any like caption) on a consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries at such date, but excluding the current portion of any Funded Debt of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries.

"Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio" means, for any period, the ratio of (a) Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for such period less the aggregate amount actually paid by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries during such period on account of (i) Capital Expenditures of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (other than any such Capital Expenditures financed with (1) Net Proceeds from an Asset Disposition not otherwise required to be applied to prepay Loans pursuant to Section 2.06(b) or (2) the proceeds of Indebtedness permitted by Section 6.01 (other than proceeds of Indebtedness incurred in reliance on Section 6.01(a)(iii)) and (ii) Taxes to (b) Consolidated Fixed Charges for such period.

"Consolidated Fixed Charges" means, for any period, the sum (without duplication) of (a) Interest Expense for such period and (b) scheduled payments made during such period on account of principal of Indebtedness of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries.

¹¹ To be included if applicable.

"Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio" means, for any period, the ratio of (a) Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for such period to (b) Interest Expense for such period.

"Consolidated Interest Expense" means, for any period, the interest expense (including that attributable to Capitalized Leases) of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP. For the avoidance of doubt, Consolidated Interest Expense shall not include any PIK Interest Amount.

"Consolidated Net Income" means, for any period, the net income (loss) of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries for such period, calculated in accordance with Section 1.05 and determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP and before any reduction in respect of Preferred Stock dividends; provided that (a) the net income of any Person that is not a Subsidiary or that is accounted for by the equity method of accounting will be included only to the extent of the amount of dividends or other distributions actually paid in cash to the Borrower or any Subsidiary during such period, (b) the net loss of any such Person will be included only to the extent such loss is funded in cash by the Borrower or a Subsidiary during such period and (c) the income or loss of any Person will be excluded to the extent such income or loss is accrued prior to the date it becomes a Subsidiary or is merged into or consolidated with the Borrower or any Subsidiary or the date that such Person's assets are acquired by the Borrower or any Subsidiary.

"Consolidated Working Capital" means, at any date, the excess of Consolidated Current Assets on such date over Consolidated Current Liabilities on such date.

"Control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise. "Controlling" and "Controlled" have meanings correlative thereto.

"Core Verizon Agreements" means the Publishing Agreement, the Non-Competition Agreement and the Branding Agreement.

"Credit Party" means any Agent or any Lender.

"Debt Issuance" means the incurrence by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of any Indebtedness in reliance on Section 6.01(a)(xx).

["<u>Debtors</u>" means the Borrower and its Domestic Subsidiaries in their capacities as debtors and debtors-in-possession under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code.]¹²

"<u>Default</u>" means any event or condition that constitutes an Event of Default or which upon notice, lapse of time or both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.

"<u>Defaulting Lender</u>" means any Lender that has been deemed insolvent or become the subject of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding.

"<u>Determination Date</u>" means any date on which the amount of Available Cash is determined hereunder, which shall be each date on which a certificate shall have been delivered to the Administrative Agent pursuant to Section 5.01(d).

¹² To be included if applicable.

"<u>Dex Credit Agreements</u>" means the Dex East Credit Agreement, the Dex West Credit Agreement and the RHDI Credit Agreement.

"Dex Digital" means Dex One Digital, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Dex East" means Dex Media East LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

"Dex East Credit Agreement" means (a) the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 24, 2007 (as amended and restated as of January 29, 2010, as further amended and restated as of the Closing Date, and as further amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time), among the Ultimate Parent, the Dex Parent, Dex East, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and (b) any other credit agreement, loan agreement, note agreement, promissory note, indenture or other agreement or instrument evidencing or governing the terms of any Indebtedness or other financial accommodation that has been incurred to refinance (whether by the same or different banks) in whole or in part (under one or more agreements) the Indebtedness and other obligations outstanding under the Dex East Credit Agreement referred to in clause (a) above or any other agreement or instrument referred to in this clause (b) (including, without limitation, adding or removing any Person as a borrower, guarantor or other obligor thereunder).

"<u>Dex East Existing Credit Agreement</u>" means the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 24, 2007, as amended and restated as of January 29, 2010, among the Ultimate Parent, the Dex Parent, Dex West, as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the effectiveness of the Dex West Credit Agreement.

"<u>Dex East Loan Documents</u>" means the "Loan Documents" as defined in the Dex East Credit Agreement.

"<u>Dex Guarantors</u>" means the Ultimate Parent, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, the Dex Parent, each Newco Senior Guarantor and each Newco Subordinated Guarantor, and any Subsidiary of Dex East, Dex West or RHDI, as applicable, that is not a Foreign Subsidiary.

"Dex Merger" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Dex One" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Dex Parent" means Dex Media Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Dex West" means Dex Media West Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Dex West Credit Agreement" means (a) the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 6, 2008 (as amended and restated as of January 29, 2010, as further amended and restated as of the Closing Date, and as further amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time), among the Ultimate Parent, the Dex Parent, Dex West, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and (b) any other credit agreement, loan agreement, note agreement, promissory note, indenture or other agreement or instrument evidencing or governing the terms of any Indebtedness or other financial accommodation that has been incurred to refinance (whether by the same or different banks) in whole or in part (under one or more agreements) the Indebtedness and other obligations outstanding under the Dex West Credit Agreement referred to in clause (a) above or any other agreement or instrument referred to in

this clause (b) (including, without limitation, adding or removing any Person as a borrower, guarantor or other obligor thereunder).

"<u>Dex West Existing Credit Agreement</u>" means the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 6, 2008, as amended and restated as of January 29, 2010, among the Ultimate Parent, the Dex Parent, Dex West, as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the effectiveness of the Dex West Credit Agreement.

"<u>Dex West Loan Documents</u>" means the "Loan Documents" as defined in the Dex West Credit Agreement.

"Directory Consolidation Project" means the initiative described in Schedule 1.01A. 13

["<u>Disclosed Matters</u>" means the matters, proceedings, transactions and other information disclosed in the [Disclosure Statement][Registration Statement on Form S-4] (other than any risk factor disclosures contained under the heading "Risk Factors", any disclosures of risks in the "Forward-Looking Statements" disclaimer or any other similar forward-looking statements in the Disclosure Statement).]¹⁴

["<u>Disclosure Statement</u>" means the Disclosure Statement for the Reorganization Plan, the adequacy of which was approved by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to the Confirmation Order.]¹⁵

"Disinterested Director" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.09.

"Disqualified Stock" means any Equity Interest that, by its terms (or by the terms of any security into which it is convertible, or for which it is exchangeable, in each case at the option of the holder thereof), or upon the happening of any event, matures or is mandatorily redeemable, pursuant to a sinking fund obligation or otherwise, or is redeemable at the option of the holder thereof, in whole or in part, on or prior to the date that is one year after the Maturity Date; provided, however, that only the portion of such Equity Interests which so matures or is mandatorily redeemable, is so convertible or exchangeable or is so redeemable at the option of the holder thereof prior to such dates shall be deemed to be Disqualified Stock; provided further that any such Equity Interests (including any options, warrants or other rights in respect thereof) issued or sold as compensation and held by future, present or former directors, officers, members of management, employees or consultants of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or family members or relatives thereof, or trusts, partnerships or limited liability companies for the benefit of any of the foregoing, or any of their heirs, executors, successors and legal representatives shall not constitute Disqualified Stock. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, any Equity Interests that would constitute Disqualified Stock solely because the holders thereof have the right to require the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to repurchase such Equity Interests upon the occurrence of a change of control or a sale of all or substantially all its assets will not constitute Disqualified Stock if the terms of such Equity Interest provide that the Borrower or any Subsidiary may not repurchase or redeem any such Equity Interest pursuant to such provisions unless such repurchase or redemption complies with Section 6.08. Subject to all of the preceding provisos in this definition, the term "Disqualified Stock" will also include any options, warrants or other rights that are convertible into

¹³ Summary from the Term Sheet to be listed on the schedule.

¹⁴ To be included if applicable.

¹⁵ To be included if applicable.

Disqualified Stock or that are redeemable at the option of the holder, or required to be redeemed, prior to the date that is one year after the Maturity Date.

"<u>Documents</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

"<u>Domestic Subsidiary</u>" means any Subsidiary that is organized under the laws of any State of the United States of America or the District of Columbia.

"dollars" or "\sums" refers to lawful money of the United States of America.

"<u>Election Notice</u>" means a written notice from the Borrower to the Administrative Agent in the form of Exhibit K hereto.

"Environmental Laws" means all applicable federal, state, and local laws (including common law), regulations, rules, ordinances, codes, decrees, judgments, directives, orders (including consent orders), and binding agreements with any Governmental Authority in each case, relating to protection of the environment, natural resources, human health and safety or the presence, Release of, or exposure to, Hazardous Materials, or the generation, manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, transport, recycling or handling of, or the arrangement for such activities with respect to, Hazardous Materials.

"Environmental Liability" means any liability, claim, action, suit, judgment or order under or relating to any Environmental Law for any damages, injunctive relief, losses, fines, penalties, fees, expenses (including reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys and consultants) or costs, whether contingent or otherwise, including those arising from or relating to: (a) compliance or non-compliance with any Environmental Law, (b) the generation, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials, (d) the presence or Release of any Hazardous Materials or (e) any contract, agreement or other consensual arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.

"Equity Interests" means shares of capital stock, partnership interests, membership interests in a limited liability company, beneficial interests in a trust or other equity ownership interests in a Person of whatever nature, and any warrants, options or other rights entitling the holder thereof to purchase or acquire any of the foregoing, but excluding any debt security that is convertible into, or exchangeable for, any of the foregoing.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time.

"ERISA Affiliate" means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that, together with any Loan Party, is treated as a single employer under Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code or, solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code, is treated as a single employer under Section 414 of the Code.

"ERISA Event" means (a) any Reportable Event; (b) the existence with respect to any Plan of a non-exempt Prohibited Transaction; (c) any failure by any Pension Plan to satisfy the minimum funding standards (within the meaning of Sections 412 or 430 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA) applicable to such Pension Plan, whether or not waived; (d) the filing pursuant to Section 412 of the Code or Section 303 of ERISA of an application for a waiver of the minimum funding standard with respect to any Pension Plan, the failure to make by its due date a required installment under Section 430(j) of the

Code with respect to any Pension Plan or the failure by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates to make any required contribution to a Multiemployer Plan; (e) the incurrence by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability under Title IV of ERISA with respect to the termination of any Pension Plan, including but not limited to the imposition of any Lien in favor of the PBGC or any Pension Plan; (f) a determination that any Pension Plan is, or is expected to be, in "at risk" status (within the meaning of Section 430 of the Code or Title IV of ERISA); (g) the receipt by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates from the PBGC or a plan administrator of any notice relating to an intention to terminate any Pension Plan or to appoint a trustee to administer any Pension Plan under Section 4042 of ERISA; (h) the incurrence by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability with respect to the withdrawal or partial withdrawal from any Plan or Multiemployer Plan; or (i) the receipt by any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, or the receipt by any Multiemployer Plan from a Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate of any notice, concerning the imposition of Withdrawal Liability or a determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, Insolvent or in ERISA Reorganization or in endangered or critical status, within the meaning of Section 432 of the Code or Section 305 or Title IV of ERISA.

"ERISA Reorganization" means, with respect to any Multiemployer Plan, the condition that such plan is in reorganization within the meaning of Section 4241 of ERISA.

"Escrow Materials" means copies of (i) all software source code and all documentation and training manuals relating thereto and (ii) all other tangible or written embodiments of material technology, websites and databases (but excluding any print directories or other publicly distributed print materials), in each case to the extent (1) owned (or licensed, if such license grants the licensee (x) possession of same and the right to allow the foregoing entities (and any escrow agent, as applicable) to access same and (y) the right to sublicense such right of possession and access without (I) the licensor's consent, unless consent can be obtained with no additional fees or other consideration (unless the sublicensee fully reimburses the sublicensor for such additional fees or other consideration) or additional obligations upon sublicensor or (IV) any additional fees or consideration (unless the sublicensee fully reimburses the sublicensor for such fees or other consideration (unless the sublicensee fully reimburses the sublicensor for such fees or other consideration required to obtain such right of possession and access) and (2) currently used by the Borrower, Dex East, Dex West, RHDI, the Service Company or any of such Shared Collateral Loan Parties, as applicable, in their respective businesses.

"<u>Eurodollar</u>", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, bear interest at a rate determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate.

"Event of Default" has the meaning assigned to such term in Article VII.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

"Excluded Subsidiary" means (a) any Subsidiary that is prohibited by applicable law from guaranteeing the Obligations, (b) any Domestic Subsidiary that is a Subsidiary of a Foreign Subsidiary, (c) any Foreign Subsidiary, (d) any Domestic Subsidiary that is not a Wholly Owned Subsidiary, (e) any Insignificant Subsidiary and (f) any Subsidiary that is a License Subsidiary.

"Excluded Taxes" means, with respect to the Administrative Agent, any Lender or any other recipient of any payment to be made by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder, (a) income taxes imposed on (or measured by) its net income or net profits and franchise taxes, capital taxes or net worth taxes imposed, in each case, in lieu of net income or net profits taxes by the United

States of America, by any State thereof or by the jurisdiction (or any political subdivision thereof) under the laws of which such recipient is organized or in which its principal office is located or, in the case of any Lender, in which its applicable lending office is located or by any jurisdiction by reason of any connection between such jurisdiction and the Administrative Agent, Lender or recipient (other than arising solely from the Loan Documents), (b) any branch profits taxes imposed by the United States of America or any similar tax imposed by any other jurisdiction described in clause (a) above, (c) in the case of a Lender, (i) any U.S. withholding tax that is in effect at the time such Lender becomes a party to this Agreement (or designates a new lending office), except to the extent that such Lender (or its assignor, if any) was entitled, at the time of designation of a new lending office (or assignment), to receive additional amounts from the Borrower with respect to any withholding tax pursuant to Section 2.12(a) or such Lender is an assignee pursuant to a request by the Borrower under Section 2.14(b) or (ii) any tax that is attributable to such Lender's failure to comply with Section 2.12(f) and (d) any U.S. Federal withholding taxes imposed under FATCA.

"Existing Available Cash" means \$[].16

"Existing Credit Agreement" means the Loan Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2009, among the Borrower, the several lenders and agents parties thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the Closing Date.

"Existing Loans" means the Loans (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement) outstanding under the Existing Credit Agreement prior to the Closing Date.

"Expanded Core Verizon Agreements" means the Publishing Agreement, the Non-Competition Agreement, the Branding Agreement, the Intellectual Property Agreement, the Listings License Agreement and the Billing Services Agreement.

"<u>Fair Market Value</u>" means a price that would be paid in an arm's-length transaction between an informed and willing seller under no compulsion to sell and an informed and willing buyer under no compulsion to buy, as determined in good faith by a Financial Officer of the Borrower, whose determination will be conclusive if evidenced by an officer's certificate.

"FATCA" means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with), any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof and any agreements entered into pursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code.

"Federal Funds Effective Rate" means, for any day, the weighted average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers, as published on the next succeeding Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so published for any day that is a Business Day, the average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the quotations for such day for such transactions received by the Administrative Agent from three Federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by it.

"Financial Covenants" means each of the covenants set forth in Section 6.13.

¹⁶ To be the amount of Available Retained Cash as of December 31, 2012.

"Financial Officer" means the chief financial officer, the principal accounting officer, the treasurer or the controller of the Borrower or the Ultimate Parent, as applicable, or any assistant treasurer or assistant controller of the Borrower or the Ultimate Parent, as applicable, designated in writing by the chief financial officer, principal accounting officer, treasurer or controller of the Borrower or the Ultimate Parent, as applicable, for so long as such designation is effective in accordance with its terms.

"<u>Foreign Benefit Arrangement</u>" means each employee benefit arrangement mandated by non-US law that is maintained or contributed to by the Borrower or any ERISA Affiliate.

"<u>Foreign Lender</u>" means any Lender that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than that in which the Borrower is located. For purposes of this definition, the United States of America, each State thereof and the District of Columbia shall be deemed to constitute a single jurisdiction.

"<u>Foreign Plan</u>" means each employee benefit plan (within the meaning of section 3(3) of ERISA, whether or not subject to ERISA) that is not subject to US law and is maintained or contributed to by any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate.

"Foreign Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary that is not a Domestic Subsidiary.

"Funded Debt" means, as to any Person, all Indebtedness of such Person that matures more than one year from the date of its creation or matures within one year from such date but is renewable or extendible, at the option of such Person, to a date more than one year from such date or arises under a revolving credit or similar agreement that obligates the lender or lenders to extend credit during a period of more than one year from such date, including all current maturities and current sinking fund payments in respect of such Indebtedness whether or not required to be paid within one year from the date of its creation and, in the case of the Borrower, Indebtedness in respect of the Loans.

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

"Governing Board" means (a) the managing member or members or any controlling committee of members of any Person, if such Person is a limited liability company, (b) the board of directors of any Person, if such Person is a corporation or (c) any similar governing body (or committee) of any Person.

"Governmental Authority" means the government of the United States of America, any other nation or any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government.

"Guarantee" of or by any Person (the "guarantor") means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of the guarantor guaranteeing or having the economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness or other obligation of any other Person (the "primary obligor") in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, and including any obligation of the guarantor, direct or indirect, (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or other obligation or to purchase (or to advance or supply funds for the purchase of) any security for the payment thereof, (b) to purchase or lease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the owner of such Indebtedness or other obligation of the payment thereof, (c) to maintain working capital, equity capital or any other financial statement condition or liquidity of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness or other obligation or (d) as an account party in respect of any letter of

credit or letter of guaranty issued to support such Indebtedness or other obligation; <u>provided</u>, that the term Guarantee shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business.

"Guarantee and Collateral Agreement" means the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2009, among the Borrower, the Subsidiary Loan Parties and the Collateral Agent.

"<u>Guarantors</u>" means the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Subsidiary Loan Parties, and each Person that becomes a Dex Guarantor after the Closing Date (other than Dex East and its Subsidiaries, Dex West and its Subsidiaries and RHDI and its Subsidiaries).

"<u>Hazardous Materials</u>" means (i) any petroleum products or byproducts and all other hydrocarbons, coal ash, radon gas, asbestos or asbestos-containing materials, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, polychlorinated biphenyls, chlorofluorocarbons and all other ozone-depleting substances; or (ii) any chemical, material, substance or waste that is prohibited, limited or regulated by or pursuant to any applicable Environmental Law.

"Incremental COD Tax Payments" means the excess, if any, of (a) the taxes of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries paid in cash during such period, over (b) the taxes that the Borrower and the Subsidiaries would have paid in cash during such period calculated by excluding any cancellation of debt income resulting from Voluntary Prepayments made after November 8, 2011.

"Indebtedness" of any Person means, on any date, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money or with respect to deposits or advances of any kind, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, (c) all obligations of such Person under conditional sale agreements relating to property acquired by such Person reflected as a liability on a balance sheet of such Person in accordance with GAAP (or, if no such balance sheet of such Person has been prepared as of such date, as would be reflected as a liability on such balance sheet in accordance with GAAP), (d) all obligations of such Person in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding (i) current accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business and (ii) any earn-out obligation reflected as a liability on the balance sheet of such Person (or, if no such balance sheet of such Person has been prepared as of such date, as would be reflected as a liability on such balance sheet in accordance with GAAP)), (e) all Indebtedness of others secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not the Indebtedness secured thereby has been assumed, (f) all Guarantees by such Person of Indebtedness of other Persons, (g) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (h) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person as an account party in respect of letters of credit and letters of guaranty, (i) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect of bankers' acceptances and (j) all obligations of such Person under Swap Agreements, after giving effect to applicable netting arrangements; provided, however, that "Indebtedness" shall not include any deferred payment obligation for Local Tax Claims. The Indebtedness of any Person shall include the Indebtedness of any other entity (including any partnership in which such Person is a general partner) to the extent such Person is liable therefor as a result of such Person's ownership interest in or other relationship with such entity, except to the extent the terms of such Indebtedness provide that such Person is not liable therefor. The amount of any obligation under any Swap Agreement on any date shall be deemed to be the Swap Termination Value thereof as of such date. The amount of Indebtedness of any Person for purposes of clause (e) shall be deemed to be equal to the lesser of (i) the aggregate unpaid amount of such Indebtedness and (ii) the Fair Market Value of the property encumbered thereby.

"Indemnified Taxes" means Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of any Loan Party under any Loan Document and Other Taxes.

"Insignificant Subsidiary" means a Subsidiary of the Borrower that (a) neither has total assets with a book value of \$10,000 or more nor had revenues for the period of four fiscal quarters most recently completed of \$10,000 or more, and (b) is designated by the Borrower as an "Insignificant Subsidiary" in a written notice to the Administrative Agent, provided, that the Borrower may designate at any one time no more than five then existing Subsidiaries as "Insignificant Subsidiaries."

"Insolvent" with respect to any Multiemployer Plan, means the condition that such Plan is insolvent within the meaning of Section 4245 of ERISA.

"<u>Instrument</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

"Intellectual Property" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

"Intellectual Property Agreement" means the Intellectual Property Agreement dated as of November 17, 2006, between Verizon and between Idearc Media LLC (formerly known as Idearc Media Corp.).

"Intercreditor Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit D, entered into among the Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent on behalf of the Secured Parties, the Shared Collateral Agent on behalf of the Shared Collateral Secured Parties, the administrative agent and collateral agent under the Dex East Credit Agreement, the administrative agent and collateral agent under the Dex West Credit Agreement and the administrative agent and collateral agent under the RHDI Credit Agreement.

"Interest Election Request" means a request by the Borrower to convert or continue a Borrowing in accordance with Section 2.03.

"Interest Expense" means, with respect to any Person for any period, the sum, without duplication, of:

- (a) the consolidated interest expense of such Person and its subsidiaries for such period, whether paid or accrued, including, without limitation, original issue discount, non-cash interest payments, the interest component of any deferred payment obligations, the interest component of all payments associated with Capital Lease Obligations, commissions, discounts and other fees and charges incurred in respect of letter of credit or bankers' acceptance financings, and net of the effect of all payments made or received pursuant to Swap Agreements, but excluding the amortization or write-off of debt issuance costs; plus
- (b) the consolidated interest of such Person and its subsidiaries that was capitalized during such period; <u>plus</u>
- (c) any interest expense on Indebtedness of another Person that is Guaranteed by such Person or one of its subsidiaries or secured by a Lien on assets of such Person or one of its subsidiaries, whether or not such Guarantee or Lien is called upon;

in each case determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that "Interest Expense" shall exclude interest expense arising in connection with any deferred payment of Local Tax Claims.

"Interest Payment Date" means (a) with respect to any ABR Loan, the last day of each March, June, September and December and (b) with respect to any Eurodollar Loan, the last day of the Interest Period applicable to the Borrowing of which such Loan is a part.

"Interest Period" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the calendar month that is one, two or three months thereafter, as the Borrower may elect; provided, that (a) if any Interest Period would end on a day other than a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless such next succeeding Business Day would fall in the next calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day and (b) any Interest Period that commences on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the last calendar month of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period. For purposes hereof, the date of a Borrowing of Eurodollar Loans initially shall be the effective date of the most recent conversion or continuation of such Borrowing.

"Investment" means purchasing, holding or acquiring (including pursuant to any merger with any Person that was not a Wholly Owned Subsidiary prior to such merger) any Equity Interest, evidences of indebtedness or other securities (including any option, warrant or other right to acquire any of the foregoing) of, or making or permitting to exist any loans or advances (other than commercially reasonable extensions of trade credit) to, guaranteeing any obligations of, or making or permitting to exist any investment in, any other Person, or purchasing or otherwise acquiring (in one transaction or a series of transactions) any assets of any Person constituting a business unit. The amount, as of any date of determination, of any Investment shall be the original cost of such Investment minus the amount, as of such date, of any portion of such Investment repaid to the investor in cash as a repayment of principal or a return of capital, as the case may be. In determining the amount of any Investment or repayment involving a transfer of any property other than cash, such property shall initially be valued at its Fair Market Value at the time of such transfer.

"Lender" has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble hereto.

"<u>Leverage Ratio</u>" means, on any date, the ratio of (a) Total Indebtedness as of such date to (b) Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA for the most recently ended period of four consecutive fiscal quarters of the Borrower.

"LIBO Rate" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing for any Interest Period, the rate appearing on the Reuters "LIBOR01" screen displaying British Bankers' Association Interest Settlement Rates (or on any successor or substitute page of such service, or any successor to or substitute for such service, providing rate quotations comparable to those currently provided on such page of such service, as determined by the Administrative Agent from time to time for purposes of providing quotations of interest rates applicable to dollar deposits in the London interbank market) at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, two Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period, as the rate for dollar deposits with a maturity comparable to such Interest Period in an amount comparable to such Eurodollar Borrowing. In the event that such rate is not available at such time for any reason, then the "LIBO Rate" with respect to such Eurodollar Borrowing for such Interest Period shall be the rate at which dollar deposits and for a maturity comparable to such Interest Period in an amount comparable to such Eurodollar Borrowing are offered by the principal London office of the Administrative Agent in

immediately available funds in the London interbank market at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, two Business Days prior to the commencement of such Interest Period. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for the purposes of this Agreement, the LIBO Rate shall in no event be less than 3.00%.

"<u>License Agreement</u>" means an agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit I hereto, pursuant to which each License Subsidiary shall grant a license to use trademarks to the Ultimate Parent and each Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent.

"License Subsidiary" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.01(e).

"<u>Lien</u>" means, with respect to any asset, (a) any mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, hypothecation, encumbrance, charge or security interest in, on or of such asset, (b) the interest of a vendor or a lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or title retention agreement (or any financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing) relating to such asset and (c) in the case of securities, any purchase option, call or similar right of a third party with respect to such securities.

"<u>Listings License Agreement</u>" means the Listings License Agreement dated as of November 17, 2006, between Idearc Media LLC (formerly known as Idearc Media Corp.) and certain subsidiaries of Verizon parties thereto.

"Loan Documents" means this Agreement, the Intercreditor Agreement, the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, the Security Documents and the Shared Collateral Security Documents.

"Loan Parties" means the Borrower and the Guarantors.

"Loans" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.01 and shall include all PIK Interest Amounts added to the principal amount of the Loans pursuant to Section 2.08(d).

"<u>Local Tax Claims</u>" means state or local Tax claims accruing for operations of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries on or prior to the Petition Date, regardless of when asserted against the Borrower or its Subsidiaries."

"Margin Stock" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Regulation U of the Board.

"Master IP License Agreement" means an agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit J hereto.

"Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, operations, assets, or financial condition of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, excluding any material adverse effect resulting directly from the taking of any action required by any Expanded Core Verizon Agreement or (b) the validity or enforceability of, or the rights and remedies, taken as a whole, of the Agents or the Lenders under the Loan Documents.

"Material Indebtedness" means Indebtedness (other than the Loans and the Subordinated Guarantee), including obligations in respect of one or more Swap Agreements, of any one or more of the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex East, Dex West and their respective Subsidiaries, but including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, the Service Company, any Newcos, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries) in an aggregate principal amount exceeding \$20,000,000. For

purposes of determining Material Indebtedness, the "principal amount" of the obligations of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any Swap Agreement on any date shall be deemed to be the Swap Termination Value thereof as of such date.

"Material Ultimate Parent Subsidiary" means (i) any License Subsidiary and (ii) any Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent (other than RHDI, Dex East, Dex West and their respective Subsidiaries) which meets any of the following conditions: (a) the Ultimate Parent's and its other Subsidiaries' aggregate investments in and advances to such Subsidiary exceed \$10,000,000 as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter, (b) the consolidated assets of such Subsidiary exceed \$10,000,000 as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter or (c) the consolidated pre-tax income from continuing operations of such Subsidiary for the most recently ended period of four consecutive fiscal quarters exceeds \$5,000,000.

"Maturity Date" means December 31, 2016, or, if such day is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day.

"Merger Agreement" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Merger Sub" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Mergers" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc. and any successors thereto.

"Mortgage" means any mortgage, deed of trust, assignment of leases and rents or other security document granting a Lien on any real property and improvements thereto to secure the Obligations. Each Mortgage shall be reasonably satisfactory in form and substance to the Collateral Agent and the Borrower.

"Mortgaged Property" means, initially, each parcel of real property and the improvements thereto owned by a Loan Party and identified on Schedule 3.05, and includes each other parcel of real property and improvements thereto owned by a Loan Party with respect to which a Mortgage is granted pursuant to Section 5.12.

"<u>Multiemployer Plan</u>" means a multiemployer plan as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.

"Net Proceeds" means, (a) with respect to any Asset Disposition, the aggregate cash proceeds (including (x) payments in respect of deferred payment obligations (to the extent corresponding to the principal, but not the interest component, thereof) and (y) any cash received upon the sale or other disposition of any non-cash consideration received in any Asset Disposition) received by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any Asset Disposition, net of (i) the direct costs relating to such Asset Disposition and the sale or other disposition of any such non-cash consideration, including legal, accounting, investment banking and brokerage fees and sales commissions and any relocation expenses incurred as a result thereof, (ii) Taxes paid or payable as a result thereof, in each case, after taking into account any available Tax credits or deductions and any Tax sharing arrangements (including, in respect of any proceeds received in connection with an Asset Disposition of any asset of any Foreign Subsidiary, deductions in respect of withholding taxes that are or would be payable in cash if such funds were repatriated to the United States), (iii) amounts required to be applied to the repayment of Indebtedness or other liabilities secured by a Lien on the asset or assets that were the subject of such Asset Disposition or

required to be paid as a result of such Asset Disposition, (iv) any reserve for adjustment in respect of the sale price of such asset or assets established in accordance with GAAP, (v) in the case of any Asset Disposition by a Subsidiary of the Borrower, payments to holders of Equity Interests in such Subsidiary in such capacity (other than such Equity Interests held by the Borrower or any Subsidiary) to the extent that such payment is required to permit the distribution of such proceeds in respect of the Equity Interests in such Subsidiary held by the Borrower or such Subsidiary and (vi) appropriate amounts to be provided by the Borrower or its Subsidiaries as a reserve against liabilities associated with such Asset Disposition, including, without limitation, pension and other post-employment benefit liabilities, liabilities related to environmental matters and liabilities under any indemnification obligations associated with such Asset Disposition, all as determined in accordance with GAAP; provided that (a) any excess amounts set aside for payment of Taxes pursuant to clause (ii) above that are remaining after such Taxes have been paid in full or the statute of limitations therefor has expired and (b) the amount of any release or reversal of a reserve pursuant to clause (vi), will, in each case when no longer so held, become Net Proceeds; and

(b) with respect to any Debt Issuance by the Borrower or any Subsidiary, the aggregate cash proceeds received by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any Debt Issuance, net of the direct costs relating to such Debt Issuance, including, without limitation, the investment banking fees, underwriting discounts, commissions, costs and other out-of-pocket expenses and other customary expenses, incurred by the Borrower or such Subsidiary (or, in the case of Taxes, any member thereof) in connection with such incurrence or issuance and, in the case of Indebtedness of any Foreign Subsidiary, deductions in respect of withholding taxes that are or would otherwise be payable in cash if such funds were repatriated to the United States.

(c) with respect to any Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance or Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition (a) the cash proceeds received in respect of such Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance or Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition including (i) any cash received in respect of any non-cash proceeds, including cash received in respect of any debt instrument or equity security received as non cash proceeds, but only as and when received, (ii) in the case of a casualty, insurance proceeds, and (iii) in the case of a condemnation or similar event, condemnation awards and similar payments, net of (b) the sum of (i) all reasonable fees and out of pocket expenses (including underwriting discounts and commissions and collection expenses) paid or payable by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof to third parties (including Affiliates, if permitted by Section 6.09) in connection with such event, (ii) in the case of a sale, transfer or other disposition of an asset (including pursuant to a sale and leaseback transaction or a casualty or a condemnation or similar proceeding), the amount of all payments required to be made by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof as a result of such event to repay Indebtedness (other than Loans) secured by such asset or otherwise subject to mandatory prepayment as a result of such event, including, for the avoidance of doubt, in the case of an Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition, payments required to be made by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement (it being understood that this clause shall not apply to customary asset sale provisions in offerings of debt securities) and (iii) the amount of all taxes paid (or reasonably estimated to be payable) by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof (provided that such amounts withheld or estimated for the payment of taxes shall, to the extent not utilized for the payment of taxes, be deemed to be Net Proceeds received when such nonutilization is determined), and the amount of any reserves established by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof to fund contingent liabilities reasonably estimated to be payable, in each case that are directly attributable to such event (provided that such reserves and escrowed amounts shall be disclosed to the Administrative Agent promptly upon being taken or made and any reversal of any such reserves will be deemed to be Net Proceeds received at the time and in the amount of such reversal), in each case as determined reasonably and in good faith by the chief financial officer of the Borrower; provided that for the purposes of calculating the Net Proceeds of an Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition, payments made (or reasonably estimated to be payable) under the Tax Sharing Agreements shall be

deducted in the same manner as taxes paid (or reasonably estimated to be payable) under clause (b)(iii) above.

"Newco" means any Subsidiary (direct or indirect) of the Ultimate Parent (other than the Borrower and its Subsidiaries) acquired or formed by the Ultimate Parent after the Closing Date other than a Subsidiary of the Borrower, Dex East, Dex West or RHDI.

"Newco Senior Guarantor" means any Newco, the acquisition or formation of which is accomplished, directly or indirectly, using cash or other credit support (including debt service) provided by the Borrower, any Subsidiary or any other Newco Senior Guarantor or in which any Investment is made by the Borrower, any Subsidiary or any other Newco Senior Guarantor.

"Newco Subordinated Guarantee" has the meaning assigned to such term in clause (f) of the definition of "Collateral and Guarantee Requirement".

"Newco Subordinated Guarantor" means any Newco other than a Newco Senior Guarantor.

"Newdex" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Non-Competition Agreement" means the Non-Competition Agreement dated as of November 17, 2006, between Idearc Media LLC (formerly known as Idearc Media Corp.) and Verizon.

"Non-Consenting Lender" means any Lender that withholds its consent to any proposed amendment, modification or waiver to a Loan Document consented to by the Required Lenders, if such proposed amendment, modification or waiver cannot become effective under Section 9.02 without the consent of such Lender.

"Obligations" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

"Other Taxes" means any and all present or future recording, stamp, documentary, excise, transfer, sales, property or similar Taxes, charges or levies arising from any payment made under any Loan Document or from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, any Loan Document.

"Participant" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.04(c).

"Participant Register" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.04(c).

"Payment Percentage" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(b).

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred to and defined in ERISA and any successor entity performing similar functions.

"<u>Pension Plan</u>" means any Plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) subject to the provisions of Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA.

"<u>Perfection Certificate</u>" means a certificate in the form of <u>Exhibit B</u> or any other form approved by the Collateral Agent.

"<u>Permitted Acquisitions</u>" means any acquisition (by merger, consolidation or otherwise) by the Borrower or a Subsidiary Loan Party of all or substantially all the assets of, or all the Equity

Interests in, a Person or division or line of business of a Person, if (a) immediately after giving effect thereto, no Default has occurred and is continuing or would result therefrom, (b) each Subsidiary resulting from such acquisition (and which survives such acquisition) shall be a Subsidiary Loan Party and the Equity Interests of each such Subsidiary shall be owned directly by the Borrower and/or Subsidiary Loan Parties and shall have been (or within 10 Business Days (or such longer period as may be acceptable to the Agent) after such acquisition shall be) pledged pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, (c) the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement shall have been (or within 10 Business Days (or such longer period as may be acceptable to the Agent) after such acquisition shall be) satisfied with respect to each such Subsidiary (whether or not it is an Excluded Subsidiary), (d) the aggregate amount of consideration for all Permitted Acquisitions shall not exceed \$20,000,000 during the term of this Agreement, (e) the Borrower and the Subsidiaries are in Pro Forma Compliance, after giving effect to such acquisition and (f) in the case of any such acquisition for aggregate consideration in excess of \$10,000,000, the Borrower has delivered to the Agent an officer's certificate to the effect set forth in clauses (a), (d) and (e) above, together with all relevant financial information for the Person or assets acquired and reasonably detailed calculations demonstrating satisfaction of the requirements set forth in clauses (d) and (e) above.

"<u>Permitted Business</u>" means any businesses or business activity conducted by the Borrower or any Subsidiary on the Closing Date and any business or business activity reasonably incidental or ancillary thereto, or any business or activity that is reasonably similar thereto or a reasonable extension, development or expansion thereof or ancillary thereto.

"Permitted Encumbrances" means:

- (a) Liens imposed by law for Taxes, assessments or governmental charges which are not delinquent for a period of more than 60 days or are being contested in compliance with Section 5.05;
- (b) carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, landlord's, repairmen's and other like Liens imposed by law, arising in the ordinary course of business and securing obligations that are not overdue by more than 60 days or are being contested in compliance with Section 5.05;
- (c) (i) pledges and deposits made in the ordinary course of business in compliance with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security laws or regulations, (ii) Liens incurred in the ordinary course of business securing insurance premiums or reimbursement obligations under insurance policies and (iii) Liens securing obligations in respect of letters of credit or bank guarantees that have been posted by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to support the payment of the items set forth in clauses (i) and (ii) of this clause (c);
- (d) (i) deposits to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts, leases, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, performance bonds and other obligations of a like nature, in each case in the ordinary course of business and (ii) Liens securing obligations in respect of letters of credit or bank guarantees that have been posted by a Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to support the payment of items set forth in clause (i) of this clause (d);
- (e) judgment liens in respect of judgments or attachments that do not constitute an Event of Default under clause (j) of Article VII;
- (f) easements, zoning restrictions, rights-of-way, restrictive covenants, irregularities in title and similar encumbrances on real property imposed by law or arising in the ordinary course of business that are not substantial in amount and do not materially detract from the value of the

affected property or interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of the Borrower or any Subsidiary or, for purposes of (i) Section 6.15, the Ultimate Parent or (ii) Section 6.16, the Service Company; and

(g) the licensing or sublicensing (other than exclusive licenses or sublicenses) of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business in a manner that does not, or could not reasonably be expected to, materially interfere with the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries.

provided that the term "Permitted Encumbrances" shall not include any Lien securing Indebtedness.

"Permitted Investments" means (a) securities issued or fully guaranteed or insured by the United States government or any agency or instrumentality thereof, (b) time deposits, certificates of deposit or bankers' acceptances of (i) any Lender or Affiliate thereof or (ii) any commercial bank having capital and surplus in excess of \$500,000,000 and the commercial paper of the holding company of which is rated at least A-1 or the equivalent thereof by S&P or any successor rating agency or at least P-1 or the equivalent thereof by Moody's or any successor rating agency (or if at such time neither is issuing ratings, then a comparable rating of such other nationally recognized rating agency as shall be approved by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable judgment), (c) commercial paper rated at least A-1 or the equivalent thereof by S&P or at least P-1 or the equivalent thereof by Moody's (or if at such time neither is issuing ratings, then a comparable rating of such other nationally recognized rating agency as shall be approved by the Administrative Agent in its reasonable judgment), (d) investments in money market funds complying with the risk limiting conditions of Rule 2a-7 or any successor rule of the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Investment Company Act, (e) fully collateralized repurchase agreements with a term of not more than 30 days for securities described in clause (a) above and entered into with a financial institution satisfying the criteria described in clause (b) above and (f) investments similar to any of the foregoing denominated in foreign currencies approved by the Governing Board of the Borrower, in each case provided in clauses (a), (b), (c) and (f) above only, maturing within twelve months after the date of acquisition.

"Permitted Subordinated Indebtedness" means (a) the Subordinated Guarantee and (b) Indebtedness of the Borrower which (i) does not mature, and is not subject to mandatory repurchase, redemption or amortization (other than pursuant to customary asset sale or change in control provisions requiring redemption or repurchase only if and to the extent then permitted by this Agreement), in each case, prior to the date that is one year after the Maturity Date, (ii) is not secured, directly or indirectly, by any assets of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, (iii) is not exchangeable or convertible into Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than Indebtedness which would qualify as "Permitted Subordinated Indebtedness" hereunder) or Disqualified Stock and (iv) is, together with any Guarantee thereof by any Subsidiary (a "Permitted Subordinated Guarantee"), subordinated to the Obligations pursuant to subordination provisions that are no less favorable to the Lenders than those applicable to offerings of "high yield" subordinated debt by similar issuers of similar debt at or about the same time or pursuant to other subordination provisions on terms reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

"Person" means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity.

[" $\underline{\text{Petition Date}}$ " has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.]

¹⁷ To be included if applicable.

"PIK Interest Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.08(d).

"Plan" means any employee benefit plan as defined in Section 3(3) of ERISA, including any employee welfare benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(1) of ERISA), any employee pension benefit plan (as defined in Section 3(2) of ERISA), and any plan which is both an employee welfare benefit plan and an employee pension benefit plan, and in respect of which any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate is (or, if such plan were terminated, would under Section 4069 of ERISA be deemed to be) an "employer" as defined in Section 3(5) of ERISA.

"<u>Preferred Stock</u>" means, with respect to any Person, any Equity Interests in such Person that have preferential rights to any other Equity Interests in such Person with respect to dividends or redemptions upon liquidation.

"Prepayment Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as prepayment agent in connection with any Voluntary Prepayment and its permitted successors in such capacity.

"Prepayment Amount" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(b).

"Prepayment Notice" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(b).

"Prime Rate" means the rate of interest per annum publicly announced from time to time by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as its prime rate in effect at its principal office in New York City; each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective from and including the date such change is publicly announced as being effective.

"Pro Forma Compliance" means, with respect to any event, that the Borrower is in *pro forma* compliance, calculated in accordance with Section 1.05, with each of the Financial Covenants recomputed as if the event with respect to which Pro Forma Compliance is being tested had occurred on the first day of each relevant period with respect to which current compliance with any Financial Covenant would be determined (for example, in the case of any Financial Covenant based on Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA, as if such event had occurred on the first day of the four fiscal quarter period ending on the last day of the most recent fiscal quarter in respect of which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(a) or (b)). *Pro forma* calculations made pursuant to this definition that require the calculation of Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA on a *pro forma* basis will be made in accordance with the last paragraph of the definition of such term, except that, when testing Pro Forma Compliance with respect to any acquisition or disposition, references to Material Acquisition and Material Disposition in such last paragraph will be deemed to include such acquisition and disposition.

"Prohibited Transaction" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975(f)(3) of the Code.

"Projections" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 3.11.

"Publishing Agreement" means the Publishing Agreement dated as of November 17, 2006 between Idearc Media LLC (formerly known as Idearc Media Corp.) and Verizon.

"Qualifying Loans" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(c).

"Range" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(b).

"Refinancing Indebtedness" means Indebtedness issued or incurred (including by means of the extension or renewal of existing Indebtedness) to extend, renew, refinance, replace, defease or refund, or in exchange for existing Indebtedness ("Refinanced Debt"); provided that (i) such extending, renewing, refinancing, replacing, defeasing or refunding Indebtedness is in an original aggregate principal amount not greater than the aggregate principal amount of, and unpaid interest (including post-petition interest) on, the Refinanced Debt plus the amount of any premiums paid thereon and fees and expenses associated therewith, (ii) such Indebtedness has an equal or later final maturity and an equal or longer Weighted Average Life than the Refinanced Debt, (iii) if the Refinanced Debt or any Guarantees thereof are subordinated to the Obligations, such Indebtedness and Guarantees thereof are subordinated to the Obligations on terms no less favorable in any material respect to the holders of the Obligations than the subordination terms of such Refinanced Debt or Guarantees thereof (and no Loan Party that has not guaranteed such Refinanced Debt Guarantees such Indebtedness), (iv) if such Refinanced Debt or any Guarantees thereof are secured, such Indebtedness and any Guarantees thereof are either unsecured or secured only by such assets as secured the Refinanced Debt and Guarantees thereof. (vii) if such Refinanced Debt and any Guarantees thereof are unsecured, such Indebtedness and Guarantees thereof are also unsecured, (v) such Indebtedness is issued only by the issuer of such Refinanced Debt and (vi) such Indebtedness is incurred not more than 30 days prior to and not more than 30 days after the date on which such Refinanced Debt is repaid, extended or renewed.

"Register" has the meaning set forth in Section 9.04(b).

"Registration Statement on Form S-4" means the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by the Ultimate Parent with the Securities and Exchange Commission on December 5, 2012.

"Regulation S-X" means Regulation S-X adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as in effect on the Closing Date.

"Related Parties" means, with respect to any specified Person, such Person's Affiliates and the directors, officers, employees, agents, trustees, Controlling Persons and advisors of such Person and of each of such Person's Affiliates.

"Release" means any actual or threatened release, spill, emission, leaking, dumping, injection, pouring, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, leaching or migration into or through the environment or within or upon any building, structure, facility or fixture.

["Reorganization Plan" means the Debtors' Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, including any exhibits, supplements, appendices and schedules thereto, dated [], 2013, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the SuperMedia Support Agreement and as confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to the Confirmation Order.]¹⁸

"Replacement Assets" means (a) non-current assets (including any such assets acquired by capital expenditures) that will be used or useful in a Permitted Business or (b) substantially all the assets of a Permitted Business or the voting stock of any Person engaged in a Permitted Business that will become on the date of acquisition thereof a Subsidiary Loan Party.

"Reportable Event" means any "reportable event," as defined in Section 4043(c) of ERISA or the regulations issued thereunder, other than those events as to which the 30-day notice period referred to in Section 4043(c) of ERISA has been waived, with respect to a Pension Plan.

_

¹⁸ To be included if applicable.

"Required Lenders" means, at any time, Lenders having Loans representing more than 50% of the total outstanding principal amount of the Loans at such time.

"Responsible Officer" means (a) the chief executive officer and/or the president of the Borrower, (b) the chief operating officer of the Borrower, (c) any Financial Officer, (d) the general counsel of the Borrower and (e) any vice president of the Borrower who has been designated in writing as a Responsible Officer by the chief executive officer or the president of the Borrower.

"Restricted Payment" means any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property) with respect to any Equity Interests in the Borrower or any Subsidiary, or any payment (whether in cash, securities or other property), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, cancellation, termination or amendment of any Equity Interests in the Borrower or any Subsidiary or of any option, warrant or other right to acquire any such Equity Interests in the Borrower or any Subsidiary.

"Restructuring Notes" means the 12%/14% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2017 of the Ultimate Parent issued pursuant to the Restructuring Notes Indenture in an aggregate principal of \$300,000,000 on January 29, 2010.

"<u>Restructuring Notes Indenture</u>" means the Indenture, dated as of January 29, 2010, between the Ultimate Parent and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee.

"RHDC" means R.H. Donnelley Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

"RHDI" means R.H. Donnelley Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"RHDI Credit Agreement" means (a) the Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date (as further amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time), among the Ultimate Parent, RHDI, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as administrative agent, and (b) any other credit agreement, loan agreement, note agreement, promissory note, indenture or other agreement or instrument evidencing or governing the terms of any Indebtedness or other financial accommodation that has been incurred to refinance (whether by the same or different banks) in whole or in part (under one or more agreements) the Indebtedness and other obligations outstanding under the RHDI Credit Agreement referred to in clause (a) above or any other agreement or instrument referred to in this clause (b) (including, without limitation, adding or removing any Person as a borrower, guarantor or other obligor thereunder).

"RHDI Existing Credit Agreement" means the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 29, 2010, among the Ultimate Parent, RHDI, as borrower, the several lenders from time to time party thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as administrative agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the effectiveness of the RHDI Credit Agreement.

"RHDI Loan Documents" means the "Loan Documents" as defined in the RHDI Credit Agreement.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC and any successors thereto.

"Sale and Leaseback Transaction" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.06.

"Sale and Leaseback Indebtedness" means, in respect of a Sale and Leaseback Transaction, as at the time of determination, the present value (discounted at the interest rate implicit in the transaction) of the total obligations of the lessee for rental payments during the remaining term of the lease included in such Sale and Leaseback Transaction (including any period for which such lease has been extended), determined in accordance with GAAP; provided, that if such Sale and Leaseback Transaction results in a Capitalized Lease Obligation, the amount of Indebtedness represented thereby will be determined in accordance with the definition of "Capitalized Lease Obligations".

"SEC" means the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission.

"<u>Secured Parties</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

"Security Documents" means the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the Mortgages and each other security agreement or other instrument or document executed and delivered by any SuperMedia Loan Party pursuant to Section 5.11 or 5.12 or pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement to secure any of the Obligations.

"Service Company" means Dex One Service, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Shared Assets" means any asset (including intellectual property rights) owned by the Service Company or any License Subsidiary.

"Shared Collateral Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as collateral agent for the Shared Collateral Secured Parties, pursuant to the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement.

"Shared Collateral Loan Parties" means the Ultimate Parent, the Dex Parent, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, and each Newco that is a party to the Shared Collateral Security Documents.

"Shared Collateral Secured Parties" has the meaning as set forth in the Intercreditor Agreement.

"Shared Collateral Security Documents" means the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the Newco Subordinated Guarantees, any mortgage and each other security agreement or other instruments or documents executed and delivered by any Shared Collateral Loan Party pursuant to Section 5.12 or pursuant to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement to secure any of the SuperMedia Obligations.

"Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Guarantee and Collateral Agreement in substantially the form of Exhibit H hereto, among each Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Newco Subordinated Guarantors) and the Shared Collateral Agent.

"Shared Services" means the centralized, shared or pooled services, undertakings and arrangements which are provided by the Service Company or any of its Subsidiaries to or for the benefit of the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement, including, without limitation, the acquisition and ownership of assets by the Service Company or any of its Subsidiaries used in the provision of the foregoing and centralized payroll, benefits and account payable operations.

"Shared Services Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Shared Services Agreement in substantially the form of Exhibit E hereto, dated as of the Closing Date, among the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower and the other Subsidiaries of the Ultimate Parent party thereto.

"Shared Services Transactions" means, collectively, (a) the engagement of the Service Company for the provision of Shared Services pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement, (b) sales, transfers and other dispositions of assets to the Service Company or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement for use in the provision of Shared Services, (c) the transfer of employees of the Loan Parties to the Service Company or any of its Subsidiaries for the provision of Shared Services pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement and (d) payments, distributions and other settlement of payment obligations by the recipient of Shared Services to, or for ultimate payment to, the provider of such Shared Services pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement in respect of the provision of such Shared Services (including, without limitation, the prefunding in accordance with the Shared Services Agreement of certain such payment obligations in connection with the establishment of the payment and settlement arrangements under the Shared Services Agreement); provided, that all such payments, distributions and settlements shall reflect a fair and reasonable allocation of the costs of such Shared Services in accordance with the terms of the Shared Services Agreement (it being understood and agreed that payments in respect of tax liabilities or tax attributes pursuant to the Tax Sharing Agreement shall not constitute Shared Services Transactions; provided, further, that the foregoing shall not restrict the ability of the Borrower to make Restricted Payments (x) pursuant to Section 6.08(a)(vii) to the Service Company in respect of tax liabilities incurred by the Service Company in connection with the performance of its obligations under the Shared Services Agreement).

"Specified Asset" means owned real property and patents, trademarks, trade names, copyrights and other intellectual property.

"Specified Charges" means (a) out-of-pocket costs, fees and expenses for attorneys, auditors, accountants, consultants, and advisors retained by the Borrower incurred in connection with the Mergers, this Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, costs, fees, and expenses incurred in connection with satisfying the conditions precedent in Sections 4.01(e) and 4.01(f)) and the other Loan Documents, and the transactions contemplated by the SuperMedia Support Agreement[, including, those incurred in connection with the events leading up to, and throughout, the ongoing administration of the Chapter 11 Cases] and (b) out-of-pocket costs, fees and expenses for attorneys, auditors, accountants, consultants, and advisors retained by the Administrative Agent and the steering committee Lenders and reimbursed by the Borrower (without, including without limitation, the fees and expenses of the Administrative Agent and the steering committee Lenders) incurred in connection with this Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, costs, fees, and expenses incurred in connection with satisfying the conditions precedent in Sections 4.01(e) and 4.01(f)) and the other Loan Documents, and the transactions contemplated by the SuperMedia Support Agreement[, including, those incurred in connection with the events leading up to, and throughout, the ongoing administration of the Chapter 11 Cases]. ¹⁹

"Statutory Reserve Rate" means a fraction (expressed as a decimal carried to the sixth decimal place), the numerator of which is the number one and the denominator of which is the number one minus the aggregate of the maximum reserve percentages (including any marginal, special, emergency or supplemental reserves) expressed as a decimal established by the Board to which the Administrative Agent is subject with respect to eurocurrency funding (currently referred to as "Eurocurrency Liabilities" in Regulation D of the Board). Such reserve percentages shall include those

¹⁹ To be included if applicable.

imposed pursuant to such Regulation D. Eurodollar Loans shall be deemed to constitute eurocurrency funding and to be subject to such reserve requirements without benefit of or credit for proration, exemptions or offsets that may be available from time to time to any Lender under such Regulation D or any comparable regulation. The Statutory Reserve Rate shall be adjusted automatically on and as of the effective date of any change in any reserve percentage.

"Subordinated Guarantee" means the Guarantee made by the Borrower pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement.

"Subordinated Guarantee Agent" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement.

"Subordinated Guarantee Agreement" means the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date, attached hereto as Exhibit F, among the Borrower, Dex East, Dex West and RHDI.

"Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person (the "parent") at any date, any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity the accounts of which would be consolidated with those of the parent in the parent's consolidated financial statements if such financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP as of such date, as well as any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity of which securities or other ownership interests representing more than 50% of the equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, more than 50% of the general partnership interests are, as of such date, owned, Controlled or held by the parent or one or more Subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent and one or more Subsidiaries of the parent. Unless otherwise qualified, all references to a "Subsidiary" or to "Subsidiaries" in this Agreement shall refer to a Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of the Borrower.

"Subsidiary Loan Party" means any Subsidiary (other than an Excluded Subsidiary) that is a party to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

"SuperMedia Loan Parties" means the Borrower and the Subsidiary Loan Parties.

"SuperMedia Merger" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals of this Agreement.

"<u>SuperMedia Obligations</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Intercreditor Agreement.

"SuperMedia Support Agreement" means the Support and Limited Waiver Agreement dated as of December 5, 2012 among the Borrower, certain Subsidiaries of the Borrower party thereto, the Administrative Agent and each of the lenders party thereto.

"Swap Agreement" means any agreement with respect to any swap, forward, future or derivative transaction or option or similar agreement involving, or settled by reference to, one or more rates, currencies, commodities, equity or debt instruments or securities, or economic, financial or pricing indices or measures of economic, financial or pricing risk or value or any similar transaction or any combination of these transactions; provided that no phantom stock or similar plan providing for payments only on account of services provided by current or former directors, officers, employees or consultants of the Borrower or the Subsidiaries shall be a Swap Agreement.

"Swap Termination Value" means, in respect of any one or more Swap Agreements, after taking into account the effect of any legally enforceable netting agreement relating to such Swap Agreements, (a) for any date on or after the date such Swap Agreements have been closed out and termination values determined in accordance therewith, such termination values and (b) for any date prior to the date referenced in clause (a), the amounts determined as the mark-to-market values for such Swap Agreements, as determined based upon one or more mid-market or other readily available quotations provided by any recognized dealer in such Swap Agreements (which may include a Lender or any Affiliate of a Lender).

"<u>Tax Payments</u>" means payments for (i) the net amounts payable by the Borrower pursuant to the Tax Sharing Agreement for the current tax period and (ii) to the extent not duplicative with (i), taxes which are not determined by reference to income, but which are imposed on a direct or indirect owner of the Borrower as a result of such owner's ownership of the equity of the Borrower.

"<u>Tax Sharing Agreement</u>" means the Tax Sharing Agreement in the form of Exhibit L hereto, dated the Closing Date, among the Borrower, SuperMedia Sales Inc., SuperMedia Services Inc., Newdex, Dex One and the Service Company.

"Taxes" means any and all present or future taxes (including documentary taxes), levies, imposts, duties, deductions, charges, fees, assessments or withholdings (including backup withholding) imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

"<u>Title Company</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in clause (h) of the definition of "Collateral and Guarantee Requirement".

"Total Indebtedness" means, as of any date, the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries outstanding as of such date, other than the Subordinated Guarantee, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP and which would be reflected as long-term debt or short-term debt on a consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower in accordance with GAAP if such balance sheet were prepared on such date, minus, solely for purposes of Section 6.13, the lesser of (i) the aggregate amount of Unrestricted Cash and (ii) \$50,000,000; provided, that the amount of such Indebtedness shall be determined exclusive of any reimbursement obligations and intercompany non-cash obligations constituting intercompany Indebtedness or Attributable Debt owing to the Service Company incurred pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions. Total Indebtedness shall in all cases be calculated without giving effect to Accounting Standards Codification 815.

"<u>Transactions</u>" means (a) the execution, delivery and performance by each Loan Party of the Loan Documents to which it is to be a party, (b) [the effectiveness and consummation of the Reorganization Plan pursuant to the Confirmation Order and]²⁰ and (c) the payment of fees and expenses in connection with the Amendments and the Loan Documents.

"Type", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether the rate of interest on such Loan, or on the Loans comprising such Borrowing, is determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate or the Alternate Base Rate.

"<u>Ultimate Parent</u>" means (i) prior to the Mergers, Dex One, and (ii) after the Mergers, Newdex.

²⁰ To be included if applicable.

"<u>Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition</u>" means any sale, transfer or other disposition (including pursuant to a public offering or spin-off transaction) by the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof of all or a portion of the Equity Interests of the Borrower, Dex East, Dex West, RHDI, Dex Digital, RHDC or any Newco (or substantially all of the assets constituting a business unit, division or line of business thereof).

"Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance" means the issuance by the Ultimate Parent of any Equity Interests, or the receipt by the Ultimate Parent of any capital contribution, other than (i) any issuance of Equity Interests or receipt of capital contributions to the extent as a result of (x) a non-cash exchange of Restructuring Notes or Additional Notes for Equity Interests or (y) the issuance of Equity Interests that are issued on a non-cash basis as consideration for a Permitted Acquisition or other Investment permitted hereunder, (ii) any issuance of Equity Interests to, or receipt of any capital contribution from, the Ultimate Parent, the Dex Parent or any SuperMedia Loan Party or (iii) any issuance of Equity Interests made on the Closing Date in connection with the consummation of [the Mergers] [the "Restructuring Transactions" as defined in the Reorganization Plan]²¹ to the extent permitted under the Merger Agreement.

"<u>Ultimate Parent PIK Election</u>" means the election by the Ultimate Parent to make paid-in-kind interest payments on the Restructuring Notes as permitted by the Restructuring Notes Indenture.

"Unrestricted Cash" means the amount of cash and Permitted Investments of the Borrower and the other Loan Parties on such date, excluding cash and Permitted Investments that are (i) subject to any consensual Lien (other than Liens referred to in Section 6.02(a), Section 6.02(h) or Section 6.02(i)) or (ii) subject to any other contractual restriction specifically requiring the application thereof or of the proceeds thereof to a particular use.

"<u>U.S. Person</u>" means "United States person" within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code.

"<u>U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.12(f)(ii)(3).

"Verizon" means Verizon Communications Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Voluntary Prepayment" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15.

"Weighted Average Life" means, when applied to any Indebtedness at any date, the number of years obtained by dividing:

- (a) the sum of the products obtained by multiplying (i) the amount of each then remaining installment, sinking fund, serial maturity or other required payments of principal, including payment at final maturity, in respect thereof, by (ii) the number of years (calculated to the nearest one-twelfth) that will elapse between such date and the making of such payment; by
 - (b) the then outstanding principal amount of such Indebtedness.

²¹ To be included if applicable.

"Wholly Owned Subsidiary" means, as to any Person, any other Person all of the Equity Interests of which (other than directors' qualifying shares required by law) is owned by such Person directly and/or through other Wholly Owned Subsidiaries.

"<u>Withdrawal Liability</u>" means liability to a Multiemployer Plan as a result of a complete or partial withdrawal from such Multiemployer Plan, as such terms are defined in Part I of Subtitle E of Title IV of ERISA.

SECTION 1.02 <u>Type of Loans and Borrowings</u>. For purposes of this Agreement, Loans may be referred to by Type (<u>e.g.</u>, a "Eurodollar Loan"). Borrowings also may be referred to by Type (<u>e.g.</u>, a "Eurodollar Borrowing").

SECTION 1.03 Terms Generally. The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words "include", "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation". The word "will" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word "shall". Unless the context requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to time amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments, supplements or modifications set forth herein), (b) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person's successors and assigns, (c) the words "herein", "hereof" and "hereunder", and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (d) all references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement, and (e) the words "asset" and "property" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to any and all tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts and contract rights. When the performance of any covenant, duty or obligation under any Loan Document is required on a day that is not a Business Day, unless otherwise expressly provided therein, the date of such required performance shall be extended to the immediately succeeding Business Day.

SECTION 1.04 Accounting Terms; GAAP. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all terms of an accounting or financial nature shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, as in effect from time to time; provided that, if the Borrower notifies the Administrative Agent that the Borrower requests an amendment to any provision hereof (including any definition) to eliminate the effect of any change occurring after the Closing Date in GAAP or in the application thereof on the operation of such provision (or if the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower that the Required Lenders request an amendment to any provision hereof for such purpose), regardless of whether any such notice is given before or after such change in GAAP or in the application thereof, then such provision shall be interpreted on the basis of GAAP as in effect and applied immediately before such change shall have become effective until such notice shall have been withdrawn or such provision amended in accordance herewith. Upon any such request for an amendment, the Borrower, the Required Lenders and the Administrative Agent agree to consider in good faith any such amendment in order to amend the provisions of this Agreement so as to reflect equitably such accounting changes so that the criteria for evaluating the Borrower's financial condition shall be the same after such accounting changes as if such accounting changes had not occurred. Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, all terms of an accounting or financial nature used herein shall be construed, and all computations of amounts and ratios referred to herein shall be made, without giving effect to any election under Accounting Standards Codification 825-10 (or any other Accounting Standards Codification having a similar result or effect) to value any Indebtedness or other liabilities of the Borrower or any Subsidiary at "fair value", as defined therein.

SECTION 1.05 <u>Certain Terms.</u> "Available Cash", "Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio", "Consolidated Net Income", "Pro Forma Compliance", "Total Indebtedness", the "Leverage Ratio" and the "Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio" shall be calculated for the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on a stand-alone basis as if, after closing of the Mergers, (1) the Borrower were not a Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent and (2) the preparation of financial statements and other calculations (including without limitation the Leverage Ratio, the Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio and the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio) in accordance with GAAP did not require or give effect to intercompany eliminations for transactions between the Borrower and its Subsidiaries on the one hand and the Ultimate Parent and its other Subsidiaries on the other hand, and all transactions with the Ultimate Parent or its other Subsidiaries were transactions with a person not affiliated with the Borrower (provided that Section 6.09 shall continue to apply and give effect to the affiliate status of the Ultimate Parent and its other Subsidiaries).

ARTICLE II

The Credits

SECTION 2.01 <u>Loans Deemed Made on the Closing Date</u>. Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each Existing Loan shall continue to be outstanding and, on and as of the Closing Date, constitute a term loan hereunder (each, a "<u>Loan</u>" and, collectively, the "<u>Loans</u>"). Amounts repaid or prepaid in respect of Loans may not be reborrowed.

SECTION 2.02 <u>Loans and Borrowings</u>. (a) Each Loan shall be maintained ratably by the Lenders as part of a Borrowing consisting of Loans of the same Type.

- (b) The Loans deemed made pursuant to Section 2.01 shall be made without any actual funding and each Eurodollar Borrowing under and as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement shall be continued as a Eurodollar Borrowing hereunder, with an Interest Period ending on the same day it otherwise would have ended. Subject to Section 2.09, after the Closing Date, each Borrowing shall be comprised entirely of ABR Loans or Eurodollar Loans as the Borrower may request in accordance herewith.
- (c) At the commencement of each Interest Period for any Eurodollar Borrowing, such Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amount that is an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 and not less than \$1,000,000. At the time that each ABR Borrowing is made, such Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amount that is an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 and not less than \$1,000,000. Borrowings of more than one Type may be outstanding at the same time; <u>provided</u> that there shall not at any time be more than a total of 10 Eurodollar Borrowings outstanding.
- (d) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Borrower shall not be entitled to elect to convert or continue any Borrowing if the Interest Period requested with respect thereto would end after the Maturity Date.

SECTION 2.03 <u>Conversion and Continuation Options</u>. (a) The Borrower may elect from time to time to convert Eurodollar Loans to ABR Loans by giving the Administrative Agent prior irrevocable notice of such election no later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the Business Day preceding the proposed conversion date, <u>provided</u> that any such conversion of Eurodollar Loans may only be made on the last day of an Interest Period with respect thereto. The Borrower may elect from time to time to convert ABR Loans to Eurodollar Loans by giving the Administrative Agent prior irrevocable notice of such election no later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the third Business Day preceding the proposed conversion date (which notice shall specify the length of the initial Interest Period therefor).

- (b) Any Eurodollar Loan may be continued as such upon the expiration of the then current Interest Period with respect thereto by the Borrower giving irrevocable notice (not later than 11:00 A.M., New York City time, on the date that is three Business Days prior to the last day of the then current Interest Period with respect thereto) to the Administrative Agent of the length of the next Interest Period to be applicable to such Loans.
- (c) To make an election pursuant to this Section, the Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent of such election by telephone. Each such telephonic Interest Election Request shall be irrevocable and shall be confirmed promptly by hand delivery or telecopy to the Administrative Agent of a written Interest Election Request in a form approved by the Administrative Agent and signed by the Borrower. Each telephonic and written Interest Election Request shall specify the following information:
 - (i) the Borrowing to which such Interest Election Request applies and, if different options are being elected with respect to different portions thereof, the portions thereof to be allocated to each resulting Borrowing (in which case the information to be specified pursuant to clauses (iii) and (iv) below shall be specified for each resulting Borrowing);
 - (ii) the effective date of the election made pursuant to such Interest Election Request, which shall be a Business Day;
 - (iii) whether the resulting Borrowing is to be an ABR Borrowing or a Eurodollar Borrowing; and
 - (iv) if the resulting Borrowing is a Eurodollar Borrowing, the Interest Period to be applicable thereto after giving effect to such election, which shall be a period contemplated by the definition of the term "Interest Period".

If any such Interest Election Request requests a Eurodollar Borrowing but does not specify an Interest Period, then the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one month's duration.

- (d) Promptly following receipt of an Interest Election Request, the Administrative Agent shall advise each Lender of the details thereof.
- (e) If the Borrower fails to deliver a timely Interest Election Request with respect to a Eurodollar Borrowing prior to the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto, then, unless such Borrowing is repaid as provided herein, at the end of such Interest Period such Borrowing shall be converted to a Eurodollar Borrowing with an Interest Period of one month's duration. Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing and the Administrative Agent, at the request of the Required Lenders, so notifies the Borrower, then, so long as such Event of Default is continuing (i) no outstanding Borrowing may be converted to or continued as a Eurodollar Borrowing and (ii) unless repaid, each Eurodollar Borrowing shall be converted to an ABR Borrowing at the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto.

SECTION 2.04 Evidence of Debt. (a) Each Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice an account or accounts evidencing the indebtedness of the Borrower to such Lender resulting from each Loan held by such Lender, including the amounts of principal and interest (including, without limitation, any PIK Interest Amount) payable and paid to such Lender from time to time hereunder.

(b) The Administrative Agent shall maintain accounts in which it shall record (i) the amount of each Loan outstanding hereunder, the Type thereof and the Interest Period applicable thereto,

- (ii) the amount of any principal or interest (including, without limitation, any PIK Interest Amount) due and payable or to become due and payable from the Borrower to each Lender hereunder and (iii) the amount of any sum received by the Administrative Agent hereunder for the account of the Lenders and each Lender's share thereof.
- (c) The entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section shall be conclusive evidence of the existence and amounts of the obligations recorded therein, absent demonstrable error; <u>provided</u> that the failure of any Lender or the Administrative Agent to maintain such accounts or any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the Borrower to repay the Loans in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- (d) Any Lender may request that Loans held by it be evidenced by a promissory note. In such event, the Borrower shall prepare, execute and deliver to such Lender a promissory note payable to such Lender (or, if requested by such Lender, to such Lender and its registered assigns) and in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the Borrower; <u>provided</u> that, in order for any such promissory note to be delivered on the Closing Date, the request therefor shall be delivered no later than two Business Days prior to the Closing Date. Such promissory note shall state that it is subject to the provisions of this Agreement. Thereafter, the Loans evidenced by such promissory note and interest thereon shall at all times (including after assignment pursuant to Section 9.04) be represented by one or more promissory notes in such form.

SECTION 2.05 <u>Repayment of Loans</u>. The Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of each Lender the then unpaid principal amount of each Loan of such Lender on the Maturity Date.

SECTION 2.06 <u>Prepayment of Loans</u>. (a) The Borrower shall have the right at any time and from time to time to prepay any Borrowing in whole or in part, without premium or penalty (but subject to Section 2.11), in an aggregate principal amount that is an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 and not less than \$1,000,000 or, if less, the amount outstanding, subject to the requirements of this Section.

- (b) (i) In the event and on each occasion that any Net Proceeds are received by or on behalf of the Borrower or any Subsidiary in respect of any Asset Disposition, the Borrower shall, not later than the fifth Business Day after the date on which such Net Proceeds are received, prepay Borrowings in an aggregate principal amount equal to such Net Proceeds; provided that if the Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent a certificate of a Financial Officer to the effect that the Borrower or a Subsidiary intends to apply the Net Proceeds from such event (or a portion thereof specified in such certificate) within 365 days after receipt of such Net Proceeds to acquire Replacement Assets and certifying that no Default has occurred and is continuing, then no prepayment shall be required pursuant to this paragraph in respect of the Net Proceeds from such event (or the portion of such Net Proceeds specified in such certificate, if applicable) except to the extent of any such Net Proceeds that have not been so applied by the end of such 365 day period, at which time a prepayment shall be required in an amount equal to such Net Proceeds that have not been so applied. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in each fiscal year the Borrower may exclude up to \$5,000,000 of Net Proceeds of Asset Dispositions from the requirements of this paragraph (b) (provided that the Net Proceeds of a single Asset Disposition may only be excluded pursuant to the foregoing sentence in the fiscal year during which such Asset Disposition was consummated).
 - (ii) In the event and on each occasion that any Net Proceeds are received by or on behalf of the Borrower or any Subsidiary in respect of any Debt Issuance, the Borrower shall, not later than the fifth Business Day after the date on which such Net Proceeds are received, prepay Borrowings in an aggregate principal amount equal to 100% of such Net Proceeds.

- (iii) In the event and on each occasion that any Net Proceeds are received by or on behalf of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition, the Borrower shall, not later than the Business Day next after the date on which such Net Proceeds are received by the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, prepay Borrowings in an aggregate amount equal to 100% of the Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition; provided that, to the extent that no amount is deducted in the calculation of the Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition because no amount is paid to and distributed by the Subordinated Guarantee Agent pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, the percentage of such Net Proceeds to be prepaid shall be the percentage that the SuperMedia Credit Parties (as defined in the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement) would have received pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement if the Net Proceeds had been paid to and distributed by the Subordinated Guarantee Agent pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement.
- (iv) In the event and on each occasion that any Net Proceeds are received by or on behalf of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance, the Borrower shall, not later than the Business Day next after the date on which such Net Proceeds are received by the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, prepay Borrowings in an aggregate amount equal to 50% of the Allocable Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Equity Issuance.
- (c) Within five Business Days following the date on which financial statements are delivered by the Borrower pursuant to Section 5.01(a) or (b), the Borrower will prepay Borrowings in an aggregate amount equal to (i) 67.50% of the amount of any increase in Available Cash during such fiscal quarter less (ii) the aggregate principal amount of any prepayments of Loans pursuant to Section 2.06(a) or 2.06(d)(ii) made during the period from the last day of the fiscal period covered by such financial statements to the date the mandatory prepayment for such quarter is made pursuant to this paragraph (c) not to exceed the amount set forth in an Advance Prepayment Certificate for such fiscal quarter ("Advance Prepayments").
- (d) Subject to the immediately following sentence, the Borrower shall on one or more occasions use the aggregate Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Available Cash, as determined following the end of a fiscal quarter, to effect Voluntary Prepayments within 180 days after the date on which financial statements are delivered pursuant to Section 5.01(a) or (b) with respect to such quarter, with such Voluntary Prepayments to be designated as having been made to satisfy the Borrower's obligations under this Section 2.06(d) pursuant to an Election Notice delivered to the Administrative Agent. If the Borrower does not make such Voluntary Prepayments within such 180-day period equal to such Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Available Cash for the applicable fiscal quarter (as designated in the applicable Election Notice), the Borrower shall (i) make an optional prepayment pursuant to Section 2.06(a) at the end of the fiscal quarter during which such 180-day period (as designated in an Election Notice to such effect) expires, or (ii) make an Advance Prepayment pursuant to Section 2.06(c) (as designated in an Election Notice to such effect).
- (e) The Borrower may retain the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Available Cash and may utilize such Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Available Cash for purposes otherwise permitted hereunder, including, but not limited to, from time to time and at the Borrower's option and in the Borrower's sole discretion, (i) to effect Voluntary Prepayments or (ii) for optional prepayments pursuant to Section 2.06(a).
- (f) The aggregate amount required to be applied to prepayments pursuant to paragraph (b), (c) and (d) above will be applied on a *pro rata* basis, in accordance with the relative amounts of the then outstanding Borrowings <u>first</u> to the then outstanding ABR Borrowings and <u>second</u> to the then

outstanding Eurodollar Borrowings (and if more than one Interest Period is applicable to Eurodollar Borrowings, to the Eurodollar Borrowings with the least number of days remaining in the Interest Period applicable thereto and ending with the Eurodollar Borrowings with the most number of days remaining in the Interest Period applicable thereto in each case, subject to Section 2.11).

(g) The Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent by telephone (confirmed by email of a "pdf" copy or telecopy) of any prepayment hereunder (i) in the case of prepayment of a Eurodollar Borrowing, not later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, three Business Days before the date of prepayment or (ii) in the case of prepayment of an ABR Borrowing, not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the date of prepayment. Each such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the prepayment date, the principal amount of each Borrowing or portion thereof to be prepaid and, in the case of a mandatory prepayment, a reasonably detailed calculation of the amount thereof; provided that the Borrower may provide that such notice is conditioned upon the occurrence or non-occurrence of any event specified therein (including the consummation of an acquisition, sale or other similar transaction, the receipt of proceeds from the incurrence or issuance of Indebtedness or Equity Interests or the effectiveness of other credit facilities), in which case such notice may be revoked by the Borrower (by notice to the Administrative Agent on or prior to the specified effective date) if such condition is not satisfied. Promptly following receipt of any such notice, the Administrative Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof. Each prepayment of a Borrowing shall be applied ratably to the Loans included in the prepaid Borrowing. Prepayments shall be accompanied by accrued interest and other amounts to the extent required by Sections 2.08 and 2.11.

SECTION 2.07 <u>Fees</u>. The Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for its own account, fees payable in the amounts and at the times separately agreed upon between the Borrower and the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 2.08 <u>Interest</u>. (a) The Loans comprising each ABR Borrowing shall bear interest at the Alternate Base Rate plus the Applicable Margin.

- (b) The Loans comprising each Eurodollar Borrowing shall bear interest at the Adjusted LIBO Rate for the Interest Period in effect for such Borrowing plus the Applicable Margin.
- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any principal of or interest on any Loan or any fee or other amount payable by the Borrower hereunder is not paid when due, whether at stated maturity, upon acceleration or otherwise, such overdue amount shall bear interest, after as well as before judgment, at a rate per annum equal to (i) in the case of overdue principal of any Loan, 2.00% <u>plus</u> the rate otherwise applicable to such Loan as provided in the preceding paragraphs of this Section or (ii) in the case of any other amount, 2.00% <u>plus</u> the rate applicable to ABR Loans as provided in paragraph (a) of this Section.
- (d) Accrued interest on each Loan shall be payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date for such Loan; <u>provided</u> that (i) interest accrued pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section shall be payable on demand, (ii) in the event of any repayment or prepayment of any Loan, accrued interest on the principal amount repaid or prepaid shall be payable on the date of such repayment or prepayment, (iii) in the event of any conversion of any Eurodollar Loan prior to the end of the current Interest Period therefor, accrued interest on such Loan shall be payable on the effective date of such conversion, and (iv) a portion of the interest, not to exceed 2.50% per annum, accrued during and after the first fiscal quarter commencing after the first anniversary of the Closing Date for which the Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (determined on a trailing four-quarter basis ending with such quarter) is less than 1.25 to 1.00, may be paid at the Borrower's option (as notified to the Administrative Agent in writing at least

three Business Days prior to each relevant Interest Payment Date) through an increase in the principal amount of the Loans equal to the amount of such interest (the "<u>PIK Interest Amount</u>").

(e) All interest hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days, except that interest computed by reference to the Alternate Base Rate at times when the Alternate Base Rate is based on the Prime Rate shall be computed on the basis of a year of 365 days (or 366 days in a leap year), and in each case shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day). The applicable Alternate Base Rate or Adjusted LIBO Rate shall be determined by the Administrative Agent, and such determination shall be conclusive absent demonstrable error.

SECTION 2.09 <u>Alternate Rate of Interest</u>. If prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a Eurodollar Borrowing:

- (a) the Administrative Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent demonstrable error) that adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the Adjusted LIBO Rate for such Interest Period; or
- (b) the Administrative Agent is advised by the Required Lenders that the Adjusted LIBO Rate for such Interest Period will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to Lenders of making or maintaining their Loans included in such Borrowing for such Interest Period;

then the Administrative Agent shall give notice thereof to the Borrower and the Lenders by telephone or telecopy as promptly as practicable thereafter and, until the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower and the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer exist, any Interest Election Request that requests the conversion of any Borrowing to, or continuation of any Borrowing as, a Eurodollar Borrowing shall be ineffective; provided, however, that, in the case of a notice received pursuant to clause (b) above, if the Administrative Agent is able prior to the commencement of such Interest Period to ascertain, after using reasonable efforts to poll the Lenders giving such notice, that a rate other than the Alternate Base Rate would adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders of making or maintaining their Loans included in such Borrowing for such Interest Period, the Administrative Agent shall notify the Borrower of such alternate rate and the Borrower may agree by written notice to the Agent prior to the commencement of such Interest Period to have the Loans included in such Borrowing bear interest for such Interest Period at an interest rate equal to such alternate rate, in which case such alternate interest rate shall apply to all the Eurodollar Loans included in the relevant Borrowing.

SECTION 2.10 <u>Increased Costs</u>. (a) If any Change in Law shall:

- (i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Lender (except any such reserve requirement reflected in the Adjusted LIBO Rate);
- (ii) subject the Administrative Agent or any Lender to any Taxes (other than Indemnified Taxes, Excluded Taxes and Other Taxes) on its loans, loan principal, letters of credit, commitments, or other obligations, or its deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital attributable thereto; or
- (iii) impose on any Lender or the London interbank market any other condition affecting this Agreement or Eurodollar Loans held by such Lender;

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such Lender of maintaining any Eurodollar Loan or to increase the cost to such Lender or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lender hereunder (whether of principal, interest or otherwise), then the Borrower will pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender for such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.

- (b) If any Lender determines that any Change in Law regarding capital or liquidity requirements has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Lender's capital or on the capital of such Lender's holding company, if any, as a consequence of this Agreement or the Loans held by such Lender to a level below that which such Lender or such Lender's holding company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into consideration such Lender's policies and the policies of such Lender's holding company with respect to capital adequacy and liquidity), then from time to time after submission by such Lender to the Borrower of a written request therefor, the Borrower will pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or such Lender's holding company for any such reduction suffered.
- (c) A certificate of a Lender setting forth in reasonable detail the matters giving rise to a claim under this Section 2.10 and the calculation of such claim by such Lender or its holding company, as the case may be, shall be delivered to the Borrower and shall be conclusive absent demonstrable error. The Borrower shall pay such Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within 15 Business Days after receipt thereof.
- (d) Failure or delay on the part of any Lender to demand compensation pursuant to this Section shall not constitute a waiver of such Lender's right to demand such compensation; <u>provided</u> that the Borrower shall not be required to compensate a Lender pursuant to this Section for any increased costs or reductions incurred more than 180 days prior to the date that such Lender notifies the Borrower of the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of such Lender's intention to claim compensation therefor; <u>provided further</u> that, if the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the 180-day period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof.

SECTION 2.11 Break Funding Payments. In the event of (a) the payment by or on behalf of the Borrower of any principal of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of an Interest Period applicable thereto (including as a result of an Event of Default), (b) the conversion of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto, (c) the failure by the Borrower to convert, continue or prepay any Eurodollar Loan on the date specified in any notice delivered pursuant hereto (regardless of whether such notice may be revoked under Section 2.06(g) and is revoked in accordance therewith) or (d) the assignment of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto as a result of a request by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.14, then, in any such event, the Borrower shall compensate each Lender for the loss, cost and expense attributable to such event. In the case of a Eurodollar Loan, such loss, cost or expense to any Lender shall consist of an amount determined by such Lender to be the excess, if any, of (i) the amount of interest that would have accrued on the principal amount of such Loan had such event not occurred, at the Adjusted LIBO Rate that would have been applicable to such Loan (but excluding the Applicable Margin), for the period from the date of such event to the last day of the then current Interest Period therefor (or, in the case of a failure to convert or continue, for the period that would have been the Interest Period for such Loan) over (ii) the amount of interest that would accrue on such principal amount for such period at the interest rate that such Lender would bid were it to bid, at the commencement of such period, for dollar deposits of a comparable amount and period from other banks in the Eurodollar market. A certificate of any Lender setting forth any amount or amounts that such Lender is entitled to receive pursuant to this Section shall be delivered promptly to the Borrower and shall be conclusive absent demonstrable error. The Borrower

shall pay such Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within 15 days after receipt thereof.

SECTION 2.12 <u>Taxes</u>. (a) Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of any Loan Party hereunder or under any other Loan Document shall be made free and clear of, and without deduction for, any <u>Taxes</u>; <u>provided</u> that if the applicable withholding agent shall be required to deduct any <u>Taxes</u> from such payments, then (i) if such <u>Taxes</u> are Indemnified <u>Taxes</u> or Other <u>Taxes</u>, the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section) the Administrative Agent or Lender (as the case may be) receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made, (ii) the applicable withholding agent shall make such deductions and (iii) the applicable withholding agent shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law.

- (b) In addition, the Borrower shall pay any Other Taxes to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law, or, at the option of the Administrative Agent timely reimburse it for the payment thereof.
- (c) The Loan Parties shall jointly and severally indemnify the Administrative Agent and each Lender, within 30 Business Days after written demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes payable or paid by the Administrative Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, directly or indirectly to a Governmental Authority on or with respect to any payment by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder or under any other Loan Document or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to such Administrative Agent or Lender (including Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section) and any penalties, interest and reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A copy of a receipt or any other certificate documenting payment and reasonably acceptable to the Borrower as to the amount of such payment or liability delivered to the Borrower by a Lender (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), or by the Administrative Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
- (d) As soon as reasonably practicable after any payment of Taxes by any Loan Party to a Governmental Authority, such Loan Party shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
- (e) Each Lender shall indemnify the Administrative Agent within ten days after written demand therefor, for the full amount of (i) any Taxes attributable to such Lender and (ii) any Taxes attributable to such Lender's failure to comply with the provisions of Section 9.04(c) relating to the maintenance of a Participant Register, in either case, that are payable or paid by the Administrative Agent, and any penalties, interest and reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability prepared in good faith and delivered to any Lender by the Administrative Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Each Lender hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to such Lender under any Loan Document or otherwise payable by the Administrative Agent to the Lender from any other source against any amount due to the Administrative Agent under this paragraph (e).

- (f) (i) Each Foreign Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding tax under the law of the jurisdiction in which the Borrower is located, or any treaty to which such jurisdiction is a party, with respect to payments under this Agreement shall deliver to the Borrower (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), on or before the date that such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender hereunder or becomes entitled to any payments under any other Loan Document and at such times prescribed by applicable law, such properly completed and executed documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as will permit such payments to be made without or at a reduced rate of withholding. In addition, any Lender, at the time or times prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, shall deliver such other documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as will enable the Borrower or the Administrative Agent to determine whether or not such Lender is subject to backup withholding or information reporting requirements. Each Lender shall promptly notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent of any change in circumstances which would modify or render invalid any claimed exemption of or reduction in withholding and deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent further copies of any documentation on or before the date that any such documentation expires or becomes obsolete and after the occurrence of any event requiring a change in the most recent documentation previously delivered.
 - (ii) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event the Borrower is a U.S. Person,
 - (A) any Foreign Lender shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent on or before the date that such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender hereunder or becomes entitled to any payments under any other Loan Document (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent or at such times prescribed by applicable law, but only if such Foreign Lender is legally entitled to do so), whichever of the following is applicable:
 - (i) in the case of any Foreign Lender that is claiming the benefits of an income tax treaty to which the United States is a party, two duly completed copies of United States Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN (certifying that it is a resident of the applicable country within the meaning of the income tax treaty between the United States and that country) or successor applicable form;
 - (ii) in the case of any Foreign Lender that is claiming an exemption from United States federal withholding tax because the payments made hereunder are effectively connected with a United States trade or business of such Foreign Lender, two duly completed copies of United States Internal Revenue Service Form W-8ECI, or successor applicable form;
 - (iii) in the case of any Foreign Lender that is claiming the so-called "portfolio interest exemption", under Section 871(h) or 881(c) of the Code, (A) two duly completed certificates substantially in the form of Exhibit C (any such certificate, a "<u>U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate</u>") and (B) two duly completed copies of Internal Revenue Service Form W-8BEN, or successor applicable form, together with any information required to be provided with such form;
 - (iv) in the case of any Foreign Lender that is an intermediary or flow-through entity for United States federal withholding tax purposes, two duly completed copies of Internal Revenue Service Form W-8IMY, or successor applicable form, together with any information required to be provided with such form;

- (B) two duly completed copies of any other form prescribed by applicable law as a basis for claiming exemption from or a reduction in United States federal withholding tax together with such supplementary documentation as may be prescribed by applicable law to permit the Borrower or the Administrative Agent to determine the withholding or deduction required to be made; and
- (C) if a payment made to a Lender under any Loan Document would be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by applicable law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower and the Administrative Agent to comply with their obligations under FATCA and to determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender's obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solely for purposes of this clause (C), "FATCA" shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.
- (D) any Lender that is a U.S. Person shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent on or prior to the date on which such Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent), executed originals of Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 certifying that such Lender is exempt from United States federal backup withholding tax.
- (g) If the Administrative Agent or a Lender determines, in its sole discretion and good faith, that it has received a refund of any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes as to which it has been indemnified by the Borrower or with respect to which the Borrower has paid additional amounts pursuant to this Section 2.12, it shall pay over such refund to the Borrower (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by the Borrower under this Section 2.12 with respect to the Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent or such Lender and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund); provided, that the Borrower, upon the request of the Administrative Agent or such Lender, agrees to repay the amount paid over to the Borrower (plus any penalties, interest or other charges imposed by the relevant Governmental Authority) to the Administrative Agent or such Lender in the event the Administrative Agent or such Lender is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. This Section shall not be construed to require the Administrative Agent or any Lender to make available its tax returns (or any other information relating to its Taxes that it deems confidential) to the Borrower or any other Person. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this paragraph (g), in no event will the Administrative Agent or Lender be required to pay any amount to the Borrower pursuant to this paragraph (g) the payment of which would place the Administrative Agent or Lender in a less favorable net after-Tax position than the Administrative Agent or Lender would have been in if the Tax subject to indemnification and giving rise to such refund had not been deducted, withheld or otherwise imposed and the indemnification payments or additional amounts with respect to such Tax had never been paid.

SECTION 2.13 <u>Payments Generally; Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing of Setoffs.</u> (a) The Borrower shall make each payment required to be made by it hereunder or under any other Loan Document (whether of principal, interest or fees, or of amounts payable under Section 2.10, 2.11 or 2.12, or otherwise) prior to the time expressly required hereunder or under such other Loan Document for such

payment (or, if no such time is expressly required, prior to 3:00 p.m., New York City time), on the date when due, in immediately available funds, without setoff or counterclaim. Any amounts received after such time on any date may, in the discretion of the Administrative Agent, be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding Business Day for purposes of calculating interest thereon. All such payments shall be made to the Administrative Agent to such account as the Administrative Agent shall from time to time specify in a notice delivered to the Borrower, except that payments pursuant to Sections 2.10, 2.11, 2.12 and 9.03 shall be made directly to the Persons entitled thereto and payments pursuant to other Loan Documents shall be made to the Persons specified therein. The Administrative Agent shall distribute any such payments received by it for the account of any other Person to the appropriate recipient promptly following receipt thereof. If any payment under any Loan Document shall be due on a day that is not a Business Day, the date for payment shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day, and, in the case of any payment accruing interest, interest thereon shall be payable for the period of such extension. All payments under each Loan Document shall be made in dollars.

- (b) If at any time insufficient funds are received by and available to the Administrative Agent to pay fully all amounts of principal, interest and fees then due hereunder (after giving effect to all applicable grace periods and cure periods, if any), such funds shall be applied (i) first, towards payment of interest and fees then due hereunder, ratably among the parties entitled thereto in accordance with the amounts of interest and fees then due to such parties, and (ii) second, towards payment of principal then due hereunder, ratably among the parties entitled thereto in accordance with the amounts of principal then due to such parties.
- (c) If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of setoff or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payment in respect of any principal of or interest on any of its Loans resulting in such Lender receiving payment of a greater proportion of the aggregate amount of its Loans and accrued interest thereon than the proportion received by any other Lender, then the Lender receiving such greater proportion shall purchase (for cash at face value) participations in the Loans of other Lenders to the extent necessary so that the benefit of all such payments shall be shared by the Lenders ratably in accordance with the relative aggregate amounts of principal of and accrued interest on their Loans; provided that (i) if any such participations are purchased and all or any portion of the payment giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, without interest, and (ii) the provisions of this paragraph shall not be construed to apply to any payment made by the Borrower pursuant to and in accordance with the express terms of this Agreement or any payment obtained by a Lender as consideration for the assignment of or sale of a participation in any of its Loans to any assignee or participant, other than to the Borrower or any Subsidiary or Affiliate thereof (as to which the provisions of this paragraph shall apply). The Borrower consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively do so under applicable law, that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements may exercise against the Borrower rights of setoff and counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of the Borrower in the amount of such participation.
- (d) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from the Borrower prior to the date on which any payment is due to the Administrative Agent for the account of any Lender hereunder that the Borrower will not make such payment, the Administrative Agent may assume that the Borrower has made such payment on such date in accordance herewith and may, in reliance upon such assumption, distribute to such Lender the amount due. In such event, if the Borrower has not in fact made such payment, then each of the Lenders severally agrees to repay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand the amount so distributed to such Lender with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Administrative Agent, at the greater of the Federal Funds Effective Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation.

(e) If any Lender shall fail to make any payment required to be made by it pursuant to Section 2.13(d) or 9.03(c), then the Administrative Agent may, in its discretion (notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof), apply any amounts thereafter received by the Administrative Agent for the account of such Lender to satisfy such Lender's obligations under such Sections until all such unsatisfied obligations are fully paid.

SECTION 2.14 <u>Mitigation Obligations; Replacement of Lenders</u>. (a) If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.10, or if the Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender to Section 2.12, then such Lender shall use reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office for funding or booking its Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the good faith judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 2.10 or 2.12, as the case may be, in the future and (ii) would not subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense that such Lender deems material and would not otherwise be, in the reasonable judgment of such Lender, materially disadvantageous to such Lender. The Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with any such designation or assignment.

(b) If (i) any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.10, (ii) the Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.12 or (iii) any Lender becomes a Non-Consenting Lender, then the Borrower may, at its sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Administrative Agent. require such Lender to assign and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions contained in Section 9.04), all its interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement to an assignee that shall assume such obligations (which assignee may be another Lender, if a Lender accepts such assignment); provided that (i) the Borrower shall have received the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, which consent shall not unreasonably be withheld, (ii) such Lender shall have received payment of an amount equal to the outstanding principal of its Loans, accrued interest thereon, accrued fees and all other amounts payable to it hereunder, from the assignee (to the extent of such outstanding principal and accrued interest and fees) or the Borrower (in the case of all other amounts) and such Lender shall be released from all obligations hereunder and (iii) in the case of any such assignment resulting from the status of such Lender as a Non-Consenting Lender, such assignment, together with any assignments by other Non-Consenting Lenders, will enable the Borrower to obtain sufficient consents to cause the applicable amendment, modification or waiver to become effective. A Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment and delegation if, prior thereto, as a result of a waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the circumstances entitling the Borrower to require such assignment and delegation cease to apply.

SECTION 2.15 <u>Voluntary Prepayments</u>. (a) The Borrower may elect to notify the Administrative Agent and the Lenders that it may wish to make below par voluntary prepayments of the Loans (each such payment a "<u>Voluntary Prepayment</u>") pursuant to the procedures set forth in this Section 2.15; <u>provided</u> that (x) the Borrower shall specify in an Election Notice to the Administrative Agent whether such Voluntary Prepayment will be a utilization of the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Available Cash or the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Available Cash and (y) Voluntary Prepayments shall only be permitted to be made in amounts not exceeding aggregate unused amount of the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Available Cash or the aggregate unused amount of the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Available Cash (as applicable) at the time such Voluntary Prepayment is made. At the time of any Voluntary Prepayment, the Borrower shall certify, with reasonable supporting detail (as determined by the Administrative Agent), (i) compliance with the requirements of this Section 2.15, which certification shall include a schedule setting forth the computation (and any utilization by the Borrower) of Available Cash, Borrower's Discounted Prepayment

Portion of Available Cash and Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Available Cash, (ii) that no Event of Default pursuant to Section 6.13 could reasonably be expected to occur during the succeeding four calendar quarters if such Voluntary Prepayment is not made, (iii) that such Voluntary Prepayment shall have been approved by at least 66 ½3% of the Borrower's Governing Board and (iv) that immediately prior to and after giving effect to any Voluntary Prepayment, (x) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing and (y) the Loan Parties shall have Unrestricted Cash of at least \$40,000,000.

- (b) In connection with any Voluntary Prepayment, the Borrower shall notify the Lenders (the "Prepayment Notice") that the Borrower desires to prepay Loans with cash proceeds in an aggregate amount (each, a "Prepayment Amount") specified by the Borrower (which amount shall be not less than \$5,000,000) at a price within a range (the "Range") to be specified by the Borrower equal to a percentage of par (not to exceed 100%) (the "Payment Percentage") of the principal amount of the Loans to be prepaid. No proposed Voluntary Prepayment shall be made if the amount expended to make such Voluntary Prepayment would exceed an amount equal to the aggregate unused amount of the Borrower's Portion of Available Cash at such time. For the avoidance of doubt, Voluntary Prepayments may be made only from the Borrower's Portion of Available Cash.
- (c) In connection with any Voluntary Prepayment, the Borrower shall allow each Lender to specify a Payment Percentage (the "Acceptable Payment Percentage") for a principal amount (subject to rounding requirements specified by the Prepayment Agent) of Loans at which such Lender is willing to permit such Voluntary Prepayment. Based on the Acceptable Payment Percentages and principal amounts of Loans specified by Lenders, the applicable Payment Percentage (the "Applicable Payment Percentage") for the Voluntary Prepayment shall be the lowest Acceptable Payment Percentage at which the Borrower can complete the Voluntary Prepayment for the applicable Prepayment Amount that is within the applicable Range; provided that if the offers received from Lenders are insufficient to allow the Borrower to complete the Voluntary Prepayment for the applicable Prepayment Amount, then the Applicable Payment Percentage shall instead be the highest Acceptable Payment Percentage that is within the applicable Range. The Borrower shall prepay Loans (or the respective portions thereof) offered by Lenders at the Acceptable Payment Percentages specified by each such Lender that are equal to or less than the Applicable Payment Percentage ("Qualifying Loans") by remitting an amount to each Lender to be prepaid equal to the product of the face amount, or par, of the Loan being prepaid multiplied by the Applicable Payment Percentage; provided that if the aggregate cash proceeds required to prepay Qualifying Loans (disregarding any interest payable under Section 2.15(d)) would exceed the applicable Prepayment Amount for such Voluntary Prepayment, the Borrower shall prepay such Qualifying Loans at the Applicable Payment Percentage ratably based on the respective principal amounts of such Qualifying Loans (subject to rounding requirements specified by the Prepayment Agent).
- (d) All Loans prepaid by the Borrower pursuant to this Section 2.15 shall be accompanied by payment of accrued and unpaid interest on the par principal amount so prepaid to, but not including, the date of prepayment.
- (e) Each Voluntary Prepayment shall be consummated pursuant to procedures (including as to rounding and minimum amounts, Type and Interest Periods of accepted Loans, irrevocability of Prepayment Notice and other notices by the Borrower and Lenders and determination of Applicable Payment Percentage) reasonably established by the Prepayment Agent in consultation with the Borrower and not inconsistent with the terms hereof.
- (f) Each Voluntary Prepayment shall constitute an optional prepayment of Loans for all purposes under this Agreement, including for purposes of Section 2.06(a), but excluding for purposes of Section 2.06(c).

- (g) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement (including, without limitation, Sections 2.06 and 2.13), the Lenders hereby consent to the transactions described in this Section 2.15 and further acknowledge that in connection with any Voluntary Prepayment, principal and interest payments may be made on a non-pro rata basis, as determined by the Prepayment Agent, to the applicable Lenders.
- (h) This Section 2.15 shall not require the Borrower to undertake or any Lender to participate in any Voluntary Prepayment.

ARTICLE III

Representations and Warranties

The Borrower represents and warrants to the Lenders with respect to itself and its Subsidiaries and, commencing after the consummation of the Mergers and solely for purposes of Sections 3.01, 3.02, 3.03, 3.08, 3.09, 3.11, 3.12, 3.18, the Ultimate Parent (with respect to itself and the Service Company) represents and warrants to the Lenders that:

SECTION 3.01 <u>Organization; Powers</u>. Each of the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, has all requisite power and authority to carry on its business as now conducted and, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, is qualified to do business in, and is in good standing in, every jurisdiction where such qualification is required by applicable law.

SECTION 3.02 <u>Authorization; Enforceability</u>. The Transactions entered into and to be entered into by each of the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company and the SuperMedia Loan Parties are within such Person's corporate (or other organizational) powers and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate (or other organizational) and, if required, stockholder or member action. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower and constitutes, and each other Loan Document to which any of the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company and the SuperMedia Loan Parties is to be a party, when executed and delivered by such Person, will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Person, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

SECTION 3.03 Governmental Approvals; No Conflicts. The Transactions (a) do not require any consent or approval of, registration or filing with, or any other action by, any Governmental Authority, except such as have been obtained or made and are in full force and effect and except filings necessary to perfect Liens created under the Loan Documents, (b) will not violate (i) any applicable law or regulation, (ii) the charter, by-laws or other organizational documents of the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or (iii) any order of any Governmental Authority applicable to the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or such Subsidiary, (c) will not violate or result in a default under any material indenture, agreement or other instrument binding upon the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their assets, or give rise to a right thereunder to require any payment to be made by the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and (d) will not result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, except Liens permitted under Section 6.02 and except with respect to clauses (a), (b)(i)

and (iii) and (c) to the extent any of the foregoing would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

- (b) The Borrower has heretofore furnished to the Lenders its *pro forma* consolidated balance sheet as of [] prepared giving effect to the Transactions as if such Transactions had occurred on such date. Such *pro forma* consolidated balance sheet (i) accurately reflects all adjustments reasonably believed by the Borrower to be necessary to give effect to the Transactions and (ii) presents fairly, in all material respects, on a *pro forma* basis, the financial position of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries as of such date, as if the Transactions had occurred on such date.
- (c) Since December 31, 2012, except as set forth in the Disclosure Statement, there has been no change, development, event, effect, condition or occurrence that, individually or in the aggregate, has had a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.05 <u>Properties</u>. (a) Each of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries has good title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all its real and personal property material to their business (including its Mortgaged Properties), taken as a whole, except for Liens permitted by Section 6.02 and minor defects in title that do not interfere with its ability to conduct their business as currently conducted and except where the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

- (b) Each of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries owns, or has the right to use, all trademarks, trade names, copyrights, patents and other intellectual property material to their business, taken as a whole, and, to the knowledge of the Borrower, the use thereof by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries does not infringe upon the rights of any other Person, except, in each case, for such failure to own or have the right to use or such infringement that, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.
- (c) <u>Schedule 3.05</u> sets forth the address of each real property that has an individual Fair Market Value (including fixtures and improvements) equal to or greater than \$1,000,000 and is owned by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date and indicates each such property that is a Mortgaged Property as of the Closing Date.

SECTION 3.06 <u>Litigation and Environmental Matters</u>. (a) [Except for the Disclosed Matters,]²² there are no actions, suits or proceedings by or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority pending against or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened against or affecting the

²² To be included if applicable.

Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries which would reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect [(other than the Disclosed Matters)].

(b) Except for [either the Disclosed Matters or]²³ any other matters that, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, none of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries (i) has failed to comply with any Environmental Law or to obtain, maintain or comply with any permit, license or other approval required under any Environmental Law, (ii) has become subject to any Environmental Liability, (iii) has received written notice of any claim with respect to any Environmental Liability or (iv) knows of any Environmental Liability.

SECTION 3.07 <u>Compliance with Laws and Agreements; Absence of Default.</u> Each of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries is in compliance with all laws, regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority, in each case applicable to it or its property and all indentures, agreements and other instruments binding upon it or its property, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. No Default has occurred and is continuing.

SECTION 3.08 <u>Investment Company Status</u>. None of the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is an "investment company" as defined in, or subject to regulation under, the Investment Company Act of 1940.

SECTION 3.09 <u>Taxes</u>. Each of the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries has timely filed (taking into account any extensions) or caused to be filed all material Tax returns and reports required to have been filed and has paid or caused to be paid all material Taxes required to have been paid by it, except (a) any Taxes that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or such Subsidiary, as applicable, has set aside on its books adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP or (b) to the extent that the failure to do so has not had and would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.10 Employee Benefit Plans. (a) Except as could not reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to have a Material Adverse Effect: (i) each Loan Party and each of their respective ERISA Affiliates is in compliance with the applicable provisions of ERISA and the provisions of the Code relating to Plans and the regulations and published interpretations thereunder; (ii) no ERISA Event has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur; and (iii) all amounts required by applicable law with respect to or by the terms of, any retiree welfare benefit arrangement maintained by any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate or to which any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate has an obligation to contribute have been accrued in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification 715. The Fair Market Value of the assets of each Plan was not materially less than the present value of either the accumulated benefit obligations or projected benefit obligations under such Plan (based on the assumptions used for purposes of the Accounting Standards Codification 715) as of the close of the most recent Plan year, as reported in the most recent financial statements reflecting such amounts, and if all of the Plans were terminated (disregarding any Plans with surpluses), the unfunded liabilities with respect to the Plans, individually and in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

(b) Except as, in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect: (i) all employer and employee contributions required by applicable law or by the terms of

²³ To be included if applicable.

any Foreign Benefit Arrangement or Foreign Plan have been made, or, if applicable, accrued in accordance with normal accounting practices; (ii) the accrued benefit obligations of each Foreign Plan (based on the assumptions used to fund such Foreign Plan) with respect to all current and former participants do not exceed the assets of such Foreign Plan; (iii) each Foreign Plan that is required to be registered has been registered and has been maintained in good standing with applicable regulatory authorities; and (iv) each such Foreign Benefit Arrangement and Foreign Plan is in compliance (A) with all material provisions of applicable law and all material applicable regulations and published interpretations thereunder with respect to such Foreign Benefit Arrangement or Foreign Plan and (B) with the terms of such plan or arrangement.

SECTION 3.11 Disclosure. None of the written reports, financial statements, certificates or other written information (other than projections, budgets or other estimates or forward-looking statements or information of a general economic or industry nature or reports or studies prepared by third parties that were not expressly commissioned by the Borrower or its Affiliates (collectively, the "Projections")) (including, without limitation, the Registration Statement on Form S-4 [and the Disclosure Statement (as supplemented in writing through the Closing Date))]²⁴, taken as a whole, furnished by or on behalf of the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company or any SuperMedia Loan Party to the Administrative Agent, any Lender [or the Bankruptcy Court]²⁵ prior to the Closing Date in connection with the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or any other Loan Document or delivered hereunder or thereunder (as modified or supplemented by other information so furnished prior to the Closing Date) contains any material misstatement of fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made, not materially misleading; provided that, with respect to Projections, the Borrower represents only that such information was prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed by the Borrower to be reasonable at the time such Projections were prepared, it being understood that projections by their nature are uncertain and no assurance is given that the results reflected in such projections will be achieved. [The Bankruptcy Court entered an order on or about [], 2013 approving the adequacy of the Disclosure Statement.]²⁶

SECTION 3.12 <u>Subsidiaries</u>. <u>Schedule 3.12</u> sets forth the name of, and the ownership interest of the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company and the Borrower in, each Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company and the Borrower and identifies each Subsidiary that is a Subsidiary Loan Party, in each case as of the Closing Date.

SECTION 3.13 <u>Insurance</u>. <u>Schedule 3.13</u> sets forth a description of all insurance for risks associated with casualty, workers compensation claims, general liability, automobiles, excess liability, directors and officers risks, errors and omissions, fiduciary claims, EPLI, environmental matters, crime, property risks, business travel and accident claims and flood risks, maintained by or on behalf of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date. As of the Closing Date, all premiums due and payable in respect of such insurance have been paid.

SECTION 3.14 <u>Labor Matters</u>. As of the Closing Date, there are no strikes, lockouts or slowdowns against the Borrower or any Subsidiary pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened. As of the Closing Date, except as would not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect: (a) the hours worked by and payments made to employees of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries have not been in violation of the Fair Labor Standards

²⁴ To be included if applicable.

²⁵ To be included if applicable.

²⁶ To be included if applicable.

Act or any other applicable Federal, state, local or foreign law dealing with such matters; (b) all payments due from the Borrower or any Subsidiary, or for which any claim may be made against the Borrower or any Subsidiary, on account of wages and employee health and welfare insurance and other benefits, have been paid or accrued as a liability on the books of the Borrower or such Subsidiary; and (c) the consummation of the Transactions will not give rise to any right of termination or right of renegotiation on the part of any union under any collective bargaining agreement to which the Borrower or any Subsidiary is bound.

SECTION 3.15 <u>Margin Regulations</u>. None of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is engaged principally, or as one of its important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of buying or carrying Margin Stock.

SECTION 3.16 <u>Certain Agreements</u>. As of the Closing Date, each of the Core Verizon Agreements has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Borrower, and to the knowledge of the Borrower, each of the other parties thereto and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of the Borrower, and to the knowledge of the Borrower, each other party thereto, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law. As of the Closing Date, a true, correct and complete copy (including any amendments and waivers) of each of the Core Verizon Agreements has been furnished to the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 3.17 Security Documents. (a) The Guarantee and Collateral Agreement is effective to create in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a legal, valid and enforceable security interest in the Collateral described therein and proceeds thereof to the extent described therein. When (a) the actions specified in Section [4.02(b)]²⁷ to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement have been duly taken, (b) all applicable Instruments, Chattel Paper and Documents in which a security interest is perfected by possession have been delivered to, and/or are in the continued possession of, the Collateral Agent, (c) all deposit accounts, electronic chattel paper and Pledged Equity Interests (each, as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement), a security interest in which is required to be or is perfected by "control" (as described in the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State of New York from time to time) are under the "control" of the Collateral Agent and (d) the Mortgages have been duly recorded, the security interests granted pursuant thereto shall constitute (to the extent described therein) a perfected security interest in, all right, title and interest of each pledgor or mortgagor (as applicable) party thereto in the Collateral described therein with respect to such pledgor or mortgagor (as applicable), subject, in each case to no other Lien other than Liens permitted under Section 6.02.

(b) When the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement or a summary thereof is properly filed in the United States Patent and Trademark Office and the United States Copyright Office, and, with respect to Collateral composed of Intellectual Property in which a security interest cannot be perfected by such filings, upon the proper filing of the financing statements referred to in paragraph (a) above, the Collateral Agent shall have, for the ratable benefit of the Secured Parties, a perfected security interest in, all right, title and interest of the SuperMedia Loan Parties in such Collateral and the proceeds thereof, as security for the Obligations, in each case subject to no other Lien other than Liens permitted under Section 6.02, it being understood that subsequent recordings in the United States Patent and Trademark Office and the United States Copyright Office may be necessary to perfect a lien on registered trademarks and patents, trademark and patent applications and registered copyrights acquired by the grantors after the Closing Date.

²⁷ Section reference to be updated as appropriate based on final Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

(c) The Mortgages entered into on the Closing Date, when amended by the mortgage amendment referred to in clause (h)(1) of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement (the "Mortgage Amendments") and the Mortgages, if any, entered into after the Closing Date pursuant to Section 5.12, shall be effective to create in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Secured Parties, a legal, valid and enforceable Lien on all of the SuperMedia Loan Parties' right, title and interest in and to the Mortgaged Property thereunder and the proceeds thereof, and when such Mortgages are filed in the proper real estate filing offices, such Mortgages shall constitute a perfected security interest in, all right, title and interest of the SuperMedia Loan Parties in such Mortgaged Property and the proceeds thereof, as security for the Obligations, in each case subject to no other Lien other than Liens permitted under Section 6.02.

SECTION 3.18 [Bankruptcy Court Orders. The Confirmation Order has been entered by the Bankruptcy Court, and such order has not been stayed, reversed, modified or vacated on appeal.]²⁸

ARTICLE IV

Conditions

SECTION 4.01 <u>Effectiveness of Agreement</u>. This Agreement shall not become effective until the date on which each of the following conditions is satisfied (or waived in accordance with Section 9.02) (and the delivery of the notice contemplated in the last section of this Section 4.01); <u>provided</u> that nothing herein shall limit the consent rights set forth in the SuperMedia Support Agreement.

- (a) Loan Documents. The Administrative Agent (or its counsel) shall have received:
- (i) a counterpart of this Agreement signed on behalf of the Borrower, the Ultimate Parent, the Administrative Agent and the Collateral Agent and[, to the extent requested by the Administrative Agent,]²⁹ the Lenders;
- (ii) an Acknowledgment and Confirmation, executed and delivered by each SuperMedia Loan Party;
- (iii) the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, executed and delivered by each Shared Collateral Loan Party;
- (iv) the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, executed and delivered by the Borrower, Dex East, Dex West and RHDI;
- (v) the Intercreditor Agreement, executed and delivered by the Ultimate Parent, the Dex Parent, Dex Media Service LLC, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Borrower, Dex East, Dex West, RHDI, the Agent, the Shared Collateral Agent, the administrative agent and collateral agent under the Dex East Credit Agreement, the administrative agent and collateral agent under the Dex West Credit Agreement and the administrative agent and collateral agent under the RHDI Credit Agreement;
- (vi) the Shared Services Agreement, duly executed and delivered by the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower and each other party thereto; and

²⁸ To be included if applicable.

²⁹ To be included if applicable.

(vii) the Tax Sharing Agreement, duly executed and delivered by the Borrower and the other parties thereto.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the deliverables described in clauses (vi) and (vii) of this Section 4.01(a) shall be held in escrow to become effective immediately after the effectiveness of this Agreement, and the deliverables described in clauses (iii), (iv) and (v) of this Section 4.01(a) shall be held in escrow to become effective immediately after the consummation of the Mergers.

- (b) [Confirmation of the Reorganization Plan. The Reorganization Plan shall have been confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to the Confirmation Order. The Confirmation Order shall not have been stayed, modified or vacated on appeal. All conditions precedent to the effectiveness of the Reorganization Plan shall have been satisfied (or waived) or shall be concurrently with the effective date of the Reorganization Plan satisfied (or waived) in accordance with the terms of the Reorganization Plan.]³⁰
- (c) <u>Amendments</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received satisfactory evidence that the conditions to effectiveness of each of the Amendments (other than the conditions that either of the Mergers have been consummated by the filing of either of the Certificates of Merger with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware as such terms are defined in the Merger Agreement) have been satisfied[; provided, that it is acknowledged and agreed that the filing by the Ultimate Parent, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiaries, with the Bankruptcy Court of written notice of the occurrence of the "Effective Date" under (and as defined in) the Reorganization Plan shall satisfy this condition.]
- (d) <u>Merger Agreement</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received satisfactory evidence that the conditions to effectiveness of the Merger Agreement (other than the condition that this Agreement shall have become effective) have been satisfied.
- Trademarks. The trademarks owned by the Borrower, Dex East, Dex West, RHDI, the Service Company and each other Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Ultimate Parent) ("Collateral Trademarks") shall have been transferred (together with the associated goodwill) to and owned by a bankruptcy remote Subsidiary of each such Person. respectively, and in each case, (i) the organizational documents of such bankruptcy remote Subsidiaries (each, a "License Subsidiary") shall provide for, and require that there at all times be, two special independent directors or members whose consent would be required for such License Subsidiary to file a petition for bankruptcy or for the transfer of any equity interests therein (other than the sale of such equity interests in a transaction permitted under the Loan Documents) and shall otherwise be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the Administrative Agent shall have received and shall be reasonably satisfied with (A) a certificate of an authorized officer of the Ultimate Parent including the certificate of incorporation or formation, as applicable, for the License Subsidiaries, certified by the relevant authority of the jurisdiction of organization of such License Subsidiary, (B) a complete copy of resolutions adopted by the Governing Board of such License Subsidiary authorizing the execution, delivery and performance in accordance with their respective terms of the agreements described in clause (ii) below and (C) a long form good standing certificate of such License Subsidiary, as applicable, from its jurisdiction of organization, (ii) the License

³⁰ To be included if applicable.

³¹ To be included if applicable.

Subsidiaries shall have entered into License Agreements and (iii) except as permitted by a License Agreement, anything incidental to the ownership of the Collateral Trademarks (including filing or registering any application for or registration of all current or future Collateral Trademarks and the prosecution, maintenance, renewal or enforcement of same) shall be done solely by the Licensee Subsidiaries (or their respective selected designees).

- (f) Other Intellectual Property Arrangements. (i) Each of the Borrower, Dex East, Dex West, RHDI, the Service Company and each other Shared Collateral Loan Party shall have entered into Master IP License Agreements substantially in the form of Exhibit J hereto and (ii) each of the Borrower, Dex East, Dex West, RHDI, the Service Company and each other Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Ultimate Parent) shall have delivered to each other abovereferenced party and its Subsidiaries (other than License Subsidiaries) as of the Closing Date current or contingent (e.g., through an escrow arrangement reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) possession of, or access to, all Escrow Materials in existence as of the Closing Date, to the extent the applicable owner or licensee of any Escrow Materials is not permitted by the Agent to make delivery of same to any of such other parties promptly after the Closing Date. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 4.01(f), neither the Borrower, Dex East, Dex West, RHDI, the Service Company nor any other Shared Collateral Loan Party shall be deemed to have failed to satisfy this Section 4.01(f) for any inadvertent failure to deliver or place into escrow any Escrow Materials because such party was unaware of the existence of any such item, provided that (x) delivery or escrow of any such item is made promptly after identification or discovery of such item (and that such item has not been delivered or escrowed) by such party and (y) none of such other parties are damaged or prejudiced, and do not lose any material rights, due to such failure.
- (g) <u>Legal Opinions</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received the following executed opinions, in each case in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent: (i) the legal opinion of Fulbright & Jaworski L.L.P., counsel for the Borrower, (ii) the legal opinion of Kirkland & Ellis LLP, counsel to the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries, and (iii) the legal opinion of Mark W. Hianik, the general counsel of the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries. The Borrower hereby requests each such counsel to deliver such opinions.
- (h) <u>Closing Documents</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received such customary documents and certificates for financing transactions of the type contemplated by this Agreement as the Administrative Agent or its counsel may reasonably request relating to the organization, existence and good standing of each Loan Party and the Ultimate Parent, the authorization of the Transactions and any other legal matters relating to the Loan Parties, the Ultimate Parent, the Loan Documents, the Transactions, all in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
- (i) Representations and Warranties; No Default. The Administrative Agent shall have received a certificate, dated the Closing Date and signed by the President, a Vice President or a Financial Officer of the Borrower and the Ultimate Parent, confirming that (i) the representations and warranties of each Loan Party set forth in the Loan Documents are true and correct in all material respects on and as of the Closing Date and (ii) at the time of and immediately after giving effect to the Transactions, no Default shall have occurred and be continuing.
- (j) <u>Fees</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received all fees and other amounts due and payable on or prior to the Closing Date, including, to the extent invoiced, reimbursement or payment of all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses (including reasonable invoiced fees, charges

and disbursements of counsel) required to be reimbursed or paid by any Loan Party hereunder, or under any other Loan Document [or the Reorganization Plan]³².

- Collateral and Guarantee Requirement. Except as set forth on Schedule 1.01B, (k) the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement shall have been satisfied and the Administrative Agent shall have received a completed Perfection Certificate dated the Closing Date and signed by an executive officer or Financial Officer of the Borrower, together with all attachments contemplated thereby, including the results of a search of the Uniform Commercial Code (or equivalent) filings made with respect to the Loan Parties in the jurisdictions contemplated by the Perfection Certificate and copies of the financing statements (or similar documents) disclosed by such search and evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent that the Liens indicated by such financing statements (or similar documents) are permitted by Section 6.02 or have been (or substantially simultaneously with the closing of the Transactions shall be) released; provided that the requirements of clauses (b), (d), (f), (g) and (i) (solely to the extent that clauses (g) and (i) relate to the Shared Collateral Agent or the Shared Collateral Security Documents) of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement shall be deemed satisfied if all steps required to cause such requirements to be satisfied immediately upon the effectiveness of the Amendments have been taken.
- (l) <u>Insurance</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received evidence that the insurance required by Section 5.07 is (or substantially simultaneously with the closing of the Transactions shall be) in effect.
- (m) <u>No Other Indebtedness</u>. After giving effect to the Transactions to be consummated on the Closing Date, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries shall have outstanding no Indebtedness or preferred Equity Interests other than (i) the Loans, (ii) the Subordinated Guarantee and (iii) the Indebtedness set forth in <u>Schedule 6.01</u>.
- (n) <u>Consents and Approvals; No Actions</u>. All consents and approvals required to be obtained from any Governmental Authority or material third parties in connection with the Transactions shall have been obtained to the extent such consents or approvals are required under applicable laws or agreements or otherwise, and all applicable regulatory appeal periods shall have expired. The Administrative Agent shall have received a certificate of a Financial Officer of the Borrower and the Ultimate Parent, certifying that there is no claim, action or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower or the Ultimate Parent, as applicable, threatened, by any Governmental Authority to enjoin, restrain or prohibit (or by any other Person that has a reasonable likelihood of enjoining, restraining or prohibiting) the Transactions that has a reasonable likelihood of imposing burdensome conditions on the Transactions.
- (o) <u>Flood Hazards</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received a completed "Life-of-Loan" Federal Emergency Management Agency Standard Flood Hazard Determination with respect to each Mortgaged Property (together with a notice about special flood hazard area status and flood disaster assistance duly executed by the Borrower and each Loan Party relating thereto), and if any such Mortgaged Property is located in a special flood hazard area, evidence of flood insurance in form and amount reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

³² To be included if applicable.

(p) <u>Existing Credit Agreement</u>. The Borrower shall have timely paid current scheduled interest (at the non-default rate) on the Loans (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement) in accordance with the Existing Credit Agreement [and, to the extent applicable, the Cash Collateral Order,]³³ and shall have paid all other fees and expenses then due and payable with respect to the Existing Credit Agreement.

The Administrative Agent shall notify the Borrower and the Lenders of the Closing Date, and such notice shall be conclusive and binding.

ARTICLE V

Affirmative Covenants

Until the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees which are due and payable hereunder shall have been paid in full, each of the Borrower and, commencing after the consummation of the Mergers and solely for purposes of Sections 5.01(a), (b) and (k), 5.12(c), 5.14, 5.15 and 5.16, the Ultimate Parent covenants and agrees with the Lenders that:

SECTION 5.01 <u>Financial Statements and Other Information</u>. The Borrower will furnish to the Administrative Agent for prompt distribution to each Lender:

(a) no later than the earlier of (i) 10 days after the date that the Borrower is required to file a report on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission in compliance with the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (whether or not the Borrower is so subject to such reporting requirements), and (ii) 90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Borrower, commencing with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013, (A) (x) the Ultimate Parent's audited consolidated balance sheet and related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such year and (y) the Ultimate Parent's audited consolidating balance sheets and related consolidating statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such year (with each such consolidating financial statement showing the standalone financial information for each of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries, Dex East and its consolidated Subsidiaries, Dex West and its consolidated Subsidiaries and RHDI and its consolidated Subsidiaries and otherwise being in form substantially similar in all material respects to the consolidating financial statements of the Ultimate Parent most recently delivered pursuant to the Dex Credit Agreements prior to the Closing Date or such other form as may be reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent), setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all reported on by KPMG LLP or other independent public accountants of recognized national standing (without a "going concern" or like qualification, exception or explanatory paragraph and without any qualification or exception as to the scope of such audit or other material qualification or exception; provided, that if the Ultimate Parent switches from one independent public accounting firm to another, the audit report of any such new accounting firm may contain a qualification or exception as to the scope of such consolidated or consolidating financial statements that relates to any fiscal year prior to its retention which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall have been the subject of an audit report of the previous accounting firm meeting the criteria set forth above) to the effect that such consolidated and consolidating financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Ultimate Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated or consolidating basis, as the case may be, in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except for the income tax provision which reflects

_

³³ To be included if applicable.

an allocation to each Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent's income tax provision prepared on a consolidated basis and (B) the Borrower's unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all certified by a Financial Officer of the Borrower as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except for the income tax provision which reflects an allocation to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries of the Ultimate Parent's income tax provision prepared on a consolidated basis[; provided, that detailed income statement and balance sheet information reflecting the elimination of the Borrower's adoption of fresh-start accounting in accordance with GAAP upon effectiveness of the Reorganization Plan shall be included in (x) Management's Discussion and Analysis or Liquidity and Capital Resources, in the case of the financial statements delivered pursuant to clause (A), and (y) Borrower's Management's Narrative Analysis and Results of Operations, in the case of the financial statements delivered pursuant to clause (B)];³⁴

no later than the earlier of (i) 10 days after the date that the Borrower is required (b) to file a report on Form 10-O with the Securities and Exchange Commission in compliance with the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (whether or not the Borrower is so subject to such reporting requirements), and (ii) 45 days after the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year of the Borrower, commencing with the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2013. (A) (x) the Ultimate Parent's unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year and (y) the Ultimate Parent's unaudited consolidating balance sheets and related consolidating statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year (with each such consolidating financial statement showing the standalone financial information for each of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries. Dex East and its consolidated Subsidiaries, Dex West and its consolidated Subsidiaries and RHDI and its consolidated Subsidiaries and otherwise being in form substantially similar in all material respects to the consolidating financial statements of the Ultimate Parent most recently delivered pursuant to the Dex Credit Agreements prior to the Closing Date or such other form as may be reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent), setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding period or periods of (or, in the case of the balance sheet, as of the end of) the previous fiscal year, all certified by a Financial Officer of the Ultimate Parent as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Ultimate Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except for the income tax provision which reflects an allocation to each Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent's income tax provision prepared on a consolidated basis, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes and (B) the Borrower's unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related consolidated statements of operations. stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding period or periods of (or, in the case of the balance sheet, as of the end of) the previous fiscal year, all certified by a Financial Officer of the Borrower as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except for the income tax provision which reflects an allocation to the Borrower and its

³⁴ To be included if applicable.

Subsidiaries of the Ultimate Parent's income tax provision prepared on a consolidated basis, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes[;provided, that detailed income statement and balance sheet information reflecting the elimination of the Borrower's adoption of fresh-start accounting in accordance with GAAP upon effectiveness of the Reorganization Plan shall be included in (x) Management's Discussion and Analysis or Liquidity and Capital Resources, in the case of the financial statements delivered pursuant to clause (A), and (y) Borrower's Management's Narrative Analysis and Results of Operations, in the case of the financial statements delivered pursuant to clause (B):

- (c) after consummation of the Mergers, concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a)(B) or (b)(B) above, the corresponding financial statements with respect to Dex East, Dex West and RHDI that are required to be delivered by Dex East, Dex West and RHDI under the Dex East Credit Agreement, the Dex West Credit Agreement, and the RHDI Credit Agreement, respectively;
- (d) [within 20 days after the end of each month, (i) consolidated and consolidating financial statements for the Debtors as of the end of the preceding month, and (ii) a monthly statement showing revenue pacings for the preceding month, with comparisons to those results from the preceding monthly statement delivered pursuant to this paragraph (d);]³⁶
- concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a) or (b) above, a certificate of a Financial Officer of the Borrower (i) certifying as to whether a Default has occurred and, if a Default has occurred, specifying the details thereof and any action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto, (ii) setting forth reasonably detailed calculations demonstrating compliance with each of the Financial Covenants, (iii) identifying any Permitted Acquisition that has been consummated since the end of the immediately preceding fiscal quarter, (iv) identifying any prepayment events of the type set forth in Section 2.06(b), Ultimate Parent Equity Issuances or Ultimate Parent Asset Dispositions that have occurred since the end of the previous fiscal quarter and setting forth a reasonably detailed calculation of the Net Proceeds received from any such prepayment events, Ultimate Parent Equity Issuances or Ultimate Parent Asset Dispositions, (v) identifying any Services Assets (as defined in the Shared Services Agreement) (but with respect to Services Assets that constitute Intellectual Property, solely Intellectual Property that has been registered or patented or the registration of which has been applied for) contributed by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries to the Service Company during the immediately preceding fiscal quarter, and a reasonably detailed description of such Services Assets and the value thereof, (vi) attaching a schedule setting forth a computation (and any utilization by the Borrower) of Available Cash, Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Available Cash and Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Available Cash as of the end of the period covered by such financial statements and (vii) setting forth (A) a reporting sales metric (which will serve as the leading indicator of reported print and digital revenues), (B) print and digital revenue and a gross margin amount for each of such reported revenue amounts and (C) statements of cash flow from operations (with a reconciliation of net income to operating cash flow from operations and financing activities (including capital expenditures)), in each case under this clause (vii) for such fiscal quarter or fiscal year, as applicable, ended as of the period to which such certificate relates;

³⁵ To be included if applicable.

³⁶ To be included if applicable.

- (f) within 90 days after the commencement of each fiscal year of the Borrower, a detailed consolidated budget for such fiscal year (including a projected consolidated balance sheet and related statements of projected income and cash flow as of the end of and for such fiscal year and setting forth the assumptions used for purposes of preparing such budget) and, promptly when available, any material significant revisions of such budget;
- (g) promptly after the same become publicly available, copies of all periodic reports, proxy statements and registration statements filed by the Borrower or any Subsidiary with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any Governmental Authority succeeding to any or all of the functions of said Commission, or with any national securities exchange, or any other materials distributed by the Ultimate Parent to its shareholders generally;
- (h) promptly following receipt thereof, copies of any documents described in Sections 101(k) or 101(l) of ERISA that any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate may request with respect to any Multiemployer Plan; provided, that if the Loan Parties or any of their ERISA Affiliates have not requested such documents or notices from the administrator or sponsor of the applicable Multiemployer Plan then, upon reasonable request of the Administrative Agent, the Loan Parties and/or their ERISA Affiliates shall promptly make a request for such documents or notices from such administrator or sponsor and the Borrower shall provide copies of such documents and notices to the Administrative Agent (on behalf of each requesting Lender) promptly after receipt thereof; provided, further, that the rights granted to the Administrative Agent in this section shall not be exercised more than once during a 12-month period;
- (i) promptly following any written request therefor, such other information regarding the operations, business affairs and financial condition of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, or compliance with the terms of any Loan Document, as the Administrative Agent (including on behalf of any Lender) may reasonably request;
- (j) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements and related information by any Loan Party to any debtholder of Dex Digital, RHDC or of any Newco not otherwise required to be delivered hereunder, copies of such financial statements and related information;
- (k) no later than five Business Days prior to the effectiveness thereof, copies of substantially final drafts of any proposed material amendment, supplement, waiver or other modification with respect to the Dex East Credit Agreement, Dex West Credit Agreement, the RHDI Credit Agreement, the Shared Services Agreement, the Tax Sharing Agreement, the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, any Master IP License Agreement, any License Agreement, any escrow arrangement with respect to the Escrow Materials entered into pursuant to this Agreement, the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes; and
- (l) (i) promptly following receipt thereof, any notice of changes of allocation percentages that any SuperMedia Loan Party shall receive pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement and (ii) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a) or (b) above, a statement of changes in the intercompany balances of the Loan Parties with the Service Company in substantially the form delivered pursuant to the Dex Credit Agreements prior to the Closing Date.

Any financial statement or other information required to be delivered pursuant to this Section 5.01 shall be deemed to have been delivered on the date on which such information is posted on the Ultimate Parent or the Borrower's website on the Internet or by the Administrative Agent on an IntraLinks or similar site to which Lenders have been granted access or shall be available on the SEC's

website on the Internet at www.sec.gov; <u>provided</u> that if the Ultimate Parent or the Borrower elect to post any financial statement or other information on its respective website, the Borrower shall concurrently deliver to the Administrative Agent paper copies of any such financial statement or other information. Notwithstanding anything contained herein, in every instance the Borrower shall be required to provide paper copies of any certificate required by Section 5.01(b) or (e) to the Administrative Agent. If any financial statement or other information required to be delivered under this Agreement shall be required to be delivered on any date that is not a Business Day, such information may be delivered to the Administrative Agent on the next succeeding Business Day after such date.

SECTION 5.02 <u>Notices of Material Events</u>. The Borrower will furnish to the Administrative Agent for prompt further distribution to each Lender written notice of the following promptly after any Responsible Officer obtains actual knowledge thereof:

- (a) the occurrence of any Default;
- (b) the filing or commencement of any action, suit or proceeding by or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority against or affecting the Ultimate Parent, the Borrower or any Affiliate thereof that would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;
- (c) the occurrence of any ERISA Event that, alone or together with any other ERISA Events that have occurred, would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;
- (d) the occurrence, with respect to any Foreign Benefit Arrangement or Foreign Plan of an event that, alone or together with any other events with respect to any Foreign Benefit Arrangement or Foreign Plan that have occurred, would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and
- (e) any other development that would be materially likely, in the reasonable judgment of the Borrower, to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Each notice delivered under this Section shall be accompanied by a statement of a Responsible Officer setting forth the details of the event or development requiring such notice and any action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto.

SECTION 5.03 <u>Information Regarding Collateral</u>. The Borrower will furnish to the Administrative Agent prompt written notice of any change (a) in any SuperMedia Loan Party's legal name, as reflected in its organization documents, (b) in any SuperMedia Loan Party's jurisdiction of organization or form of organization and (c) in any SuperMedia Loan Party's identity, Federal Taxpayer Identification Number or organization number, if any, assigned by the jurisdiction of its organization. Not later than 30 Business Days after any change referred to in clauses (a) through (c) of the preceding sentence the Borrower shall confirm in writing to the Administrative Agent that (i) all filings have been made under the Uniform Commercial Code or otherwise that are required in order for the Agent to continue at all times following such change to have a valid, legal and perfected security interest in any Collateral affected by such change for the benefit of the Secured Parties to the extent required by the Collateral Agreements or (ii) that the Borrower has provided to the Administrative Agent all information required for the Collateral Agent to make such filings.

SECTION 5.04 Existence; Conduct of Business. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, do or cause to be done all things reasonably necessary to preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect (i) its legal existence and (ii) the rights, contracts, licenses, permits, privileges, franchises, patents, copyrights, trademarks and trade names material to the conduct of its business, except,

in the case of this clause (ii), where the failure to do so would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect; <u>provided</u> that the foregoing shall not prohibit any merger, consolidation, liquidation or dissolution permitted under Section 6.03 or any sale of assets permitted under Section 6.05.

SECTION 5.05 <u>Payment of Obligations</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, pay, discharge or otherwise satisfy its Taxes and other material governmental charges or levies imposed upon it or upon its income or profits or in respect of its property before the same shall become delinquent or in default, except where (a) the validity or amount thereof is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and (b) the Borrower or such Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate reserves with respect thereto in accordance with GAAP.

SECTION 5.06 <u>Maintenance of Properties</u>. Except as permitted by Section 6.05, the Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, keep and maintain all property (other than Intellectual Property) necessary to the conduct of its business in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear, damage caused by casualty and condemnation excepted, except where the failure to take such actions would not reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, subject to its and their reasonable business judgment, take all actions to maintain all registrations and applications with respect to material Intellectual Property owned by any of them.

SECTION 5.07 <u>Insurance</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, maintain, with financially sound and reputable insurance companies or with Verizon or any of its Affiliates, insurance in such amounts (after giving effect to any self-insurance) and against such risks as are, in the Borrower's good faith judgment, customarily maintained by companies of established repute engaged in the same or similar businesses operating in the same or similar locations.

SECTION 5.08 <u>Casualty and Condemnation</u>. The Borrower will furnish to the Administrative Agent prompt written notice of any casualty or other damage to any Collateral of the SuperMedia Loan Parties with a Fair Market Value of more than \$5,000,000 or the commencement of any action or proceeding for the taking of any Collateral of the SuperMedia Loan Parties or any material part thereof or material interest therein under power of eminent domain or by condemnation or similar proceeding.

SECTION 5.09 <u>Books and Records; Inspection and Audit Rights</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, keep proper books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries are made of all dealings and transactions in relation to its business and activities to the extent necessary to permit the preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, permit any representatives designated by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, upon not fewer than five Business Days' prior notice, to visit and inspect its properties, to examine and make extracts from its books and records, and to discuss its affairs, finances and condition with its appropriate representatives and, with the opportunity for representatives of the Borrower to be present, independent accountants, all at such reasonable times and as often as reasonably requested, provided that (a) the Lenders will coordinate any visits through the Administrative Agent and (b) at times when no Default is continuing, the Borrower shall not be required to pay for more than two visits per year by the Administrative Agent or its representatives, or two visits per year by the Lenders or their respective representatives.

SECTION 5.10 <u>Compliance with Laws</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, comply in all material respects with all laws, rules, regulations, including Environmental Laws, and orders of any Governmental Authority applicable to it, its operations or its property, except

where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, would not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.11 <u>Additional Subsidiaries</u>. If any additional Subsidiary of the SuperMedia Loan Parties (other than an Excluded Subsidiary) is formed or acquired after the Closing Date, the Borrower will, within 10 Business Days (or such longer period as may be acceptable to the Collateral Agent) after such Subsidiary is formed or acquired, notify the Administrative Agent thereof and cause the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement to be satisfied with respect to such Subsidiary and with respect to any Equity Interest in or Indebtedness of such Subsidiary owned by or on behalf of any SuperMedia Loan Party.

SECTION 5.12 Further Assurances. (a) The Borrower will, and will cause each Subsidiary Loan Party to, execute any and all further documents, financing statements, agreements and instruments, and take all such further actions (including the filing and recording of financing statements, fixture filings, Mortgages and other documents), that may be required under any applicable law, or that the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders may reasonably request, to cause all provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement applicable to the SuperMedia Loan Parties to be and remain satisfied, all at the expense of the SuperMedia Loan Parties; provided that such provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement need not be satisfied with respect to (i) real properties owned by the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party with an individual Fair Market Value (including fixtures and improvements) that is less than \$1,000,000 and (ii) any real property held by the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party as a lessee under a lease. The Borrower also agrees to provide to the Administrative Agent, from time to time upon reasonable request, evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent as to the perfection and priority of the Liens created or intended to be created by the Security Documents.

- (b) If any Specified Asset that has an individual Fair Market Value of more than \$1,000,000 is acquired by the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party after the Closing Date or owned by an entity at the time it becomes a Subsidiary Loan Party, the Borrower will notify the Administrative Agent thereof (and the Administrative Agent shall notify the Lenders thereof), and, if requested by the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders, the Borrower will cause the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement to be satisfied with respect to such asset.
- (c) Subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, the Ultimate Parent shall cause all provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement applicable to the Shared Collateral Loan Parties to be satisfied, including by causing, as applicable, (i) each Newco Subordinated Guarantor to execute a Newco Subordinated Guarantee as described in clause (e) of the definition of "Collateral and Guarantee Requirement" and (ii) each Newco Senior Guarantor to execute a supplement to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement as required thereunder; provided, that such provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement need not be satisfied with respect to (i) real properties owned by the Service Company or any Newco that becomes a Shared Collateral Loan Party after the Closing Date with an individual Fair Market Value (including fixtures and improvements) that is less than \$10,000,000 and (ii) any real property held by the Service Company or any Newco that becomes a Shared Collateral Loan Party after the Closing Date as a lessee under a lease.

SECTION 5.13 <u>Account Control Agreements</u>. As promptly as possible and in any event within 30 days following the Closing Date (or such later date as is satisfactory to the Administrative Agent in its sole discretion), each SuperMedia Loan Party shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent account control agreements with respect to deposit accounts of the SuperMedia Loan Parties containing at least 90% of the aggregate consolidated cash and Permitted Investments of the SuperMedia Loan Parties pursuant to which a first priority perfected security interest shall be created in favor of the

Administrative Agent in such deposit accounts and all amounts on deposit therein. Thereafter, the SuperMedia Loan Parties shall cause at least 90% of the aggregate cash and Permitted Investments of the SuperMedia Loan Parties to be held in deposit accounts which are subject to such control agreements. Each such account control agreement shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 5.14 <u>Credit Ratings</u>. Each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower will use its commercially reasonable efforts to maintain at all times monitored public ratings of the Loans by Moody's and S&P and a corporate family rating for each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower from Moody's and a corporate issuer rating for each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower from S&P.

SECTION 5.15 Intellectual Property. Each of the Borrower, Dex East, Dex West, RHDI, the Service Company and each other Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Ultimate Parent) shall deliver to each other, following the Closing Date, current or contingent (e.g., through an escrow arrangement reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) possession of, or access to, all future Escrow Materials that were not Escrow Materials as of the Closing Date and material updates on an ongoing basis to Escrow Materials in existence as of the Closing Date, in each case within a reasonable period of time following such Escrow Materials becoming owned, licensed or updated, as applicable, by Borrower, Dex East, Dex West, RHDI, the Service Company or another Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Ultimate Parent), as applicable. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 5.15, neither Borrower, Dex East, Dex West, RHDI, the Service Company nor any other Shared Collateral Loan Party shall be deemed to have failed to satisfy this Section 5.15 for any inadvertent failure to deliver or place into escrow any Escrow Materials because such party was unaware of the existence of any such item, provided that (x) delivery or escrow of any such item is made within a reasonable period of time after identification or discovery of such item (and that such item has not been delivered or escrowed) by such party and (y) none of such other parties are materially damaged or prejudiced, and do not lose any material rights, due to such failure.

SECTION 5.16 Independent Director. Each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower shall cause the Governing Board of each License Subsidiary of the Shared Collateral Loan Parties to include at least two special, independent directors or members (or equivalent thereof), pursuant to documentation reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, whose consent shall be required for (i) any filing of a petition for bankruptcy by the relevant License Subsidiary, (ii) the transfer of any membership or other equity interests therein (other than the sale or other transfer of such membership or equity interests in a transaction permitted under the Loan Documents) and (iii) encumbering any asset owned by such License Subsidiary with a real property mortgage or deed of trust, as applicable, or a security agreement, pledge agreement or any similar agreement creating a Lien in respect thereof, except as permitted under the Loan Documents (including as a result of any consent, amendment, waiver or other modification obtained in accordance with the terms of the Loan Documents).

ARTICLE VI

Negative Covenants

Until the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees which are due and payable hereunder have been paid in full, each of (x) the Borrower and (y) commencing after the consummation of the Mergers and solely for purposes of Sections 6.12(b), 6.15, 6.16 and 6.17, the Ultimate Parent, covenants and agrees with the Lenders that:

SECTION 6.01 <u>Indebtedness; Certain Equity Securities</u>. (a) The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Indebtedness, except:

- (i) Indebtedness created under the Loan Documents;
- (ii) Indebtedness existing on the Closing Date set forth in Schedule 6.01;
- (iii) Indebtedness of the Borrower to any Subsidiary and of any Subsidiary to the Borrower or any other Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that Indebtedness of any Subsidiary that is not a Loan Party to the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party shall be subject to Section 6.04;
- (iv) Guarantees by the Borrower of Indebtedness of any Subsidiary and by any Subsidiary of Indebtedness of the Borrower or any other Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that Guarantees by the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party of Indebtedness of any Subsidiary that is not a Loan Party shall be subject to Section 6.04;
- (v) Indebtedness incurred to finance the acquisition, construction or improvement of any fixed or capital assets, including Capital Lease Obligations and any Indebtedness assumed in connection with the acquisition of any such assets or secured by a Lien on any such assets prior to the acquisition thereof; provided that (1) such Indebtedness is incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction or improvement and (2) the aggregate principal amount of Capital Lease Obligations and Indebtedness incurred pursuant to this clause (v), when added to the aggregate principal amount of Sale and Leaseback Indebtedness incurred pursuant to Section 6.06 and the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness and Attributable Debt of the Service Company described in Section 6.16(d)(i) allocated to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement, shall not exceed \$15,000,000 at any time outstanding;
- (vi) Indebtedness of any Person that becomes a Subsidiary after the Closing Date; provided that (A) such Indebtedness exists at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary and is not created in contemplation of or in connection with such Person becoming a Subsidiary, (B) such Indebtedness does not prevent the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement from being fully satisfied with respect to any such Subsidiary that is required to become a Subsidiary Loan Party, (C) the Borrower is in Pro Forma Compliance after giving effect to the acquisition of such Subsidiary and (D) the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness incurred pursuant to this clause (vi) shall not exceed \$20,000,000 at any time outstanding;
- (vii) Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary in respect of letters of credit obtained in the ordinary course of business so long as the aggregate amount of the reimbursement obligations (contingent or otherwise) in respect thereof is expressly limited to a face amount at any time outstanding not to exceed \$15,000,000;
- (viii) Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary in respect of performance bonds, bid bonds, appeal bonds, surety bonds, performance and completion guarantees and similar obligations (other than in respect of Indebtedness for borrowed money);
 - (ix) Indebtedness in respect of Swap Agreements permitted by Section 6.07;
- (x) Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary arising from the honoring by a bank or other financial institution of a check, draft or similar instrument drawn against insufficient funds in the ordinary course of business, <u>provided</u> that such Indebtedness is extinguished within five Business Days of its incurrence;
 - (xi) Indebtedness that constitutes an Investment permitted under Section 6.04;

- (xii) Indebtedness of Foreign Subsidiaries in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding not exceeding \$5,000,000;
- (xiii) Indebtedness incurred by the Borrower or any Subsidiary representing deferred compensation to employees of the Borrower or any Subsidiary incurred in the ordinary course of business;
- (xiv) Indebtedness consisting of promissory notes issued by the Borrower or any Subsidiary to future, present or former directors, officers, members of management, employees or consultants of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective estates, heirs, family members, spouses or former spouses to finance the purchase or redemption of Equity Interests in the Borrower as permitted by Section 6.08(a)(iii);
- (xv) Indebtedness incurred by the Borrower or any Subsidiary in connection with any Permitted Acquisition consisting of obligations in respect of indemnification, the adjustment of the purchase price or similar adjustments:
- (xvi) Indebtedness consisting of obligations of the Borrower or any Subsidiary under deferred compensation or other similar arrangements incurred by such Person in connection with Permitted Acquisitions;
- (xvii) Indebtedness incurred by Borrower or any Subsidiary in respect of netting services, overdraft protections and similar arrangements, in each case in connection with cash management and deposit accounts;
- (xviii) Indebtedness consisting of (A) the financing of insurance premiums or (B) take-or-pay obligations of the Borrower or any Subsidiary contained in supply arrangements, in each case, in the ordinary course of business;
- (xix) Refinancing Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary incurred in exchange for, or the Net Proceeds of which are used to refund, refinance or replace Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness of the Borrower to any Subsidiary or of any Subsidiary to the Borrower or any other Subsidiary) that was permitted to be incurred under clause (ii), (v), (vi) or (xix) of this Section 6.01(a);
- (xx) Permitted Subordinated Indebtedness, without any limitation as to amount, so long as (other than with respect to the Subordinated Guarantee) the Borrower and the Subsidiaries are in Pro Forma Compliance;
- (xxi) other Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than Indebtedness of the Borrower or a Subsidiary to any Affiliate of the Borrower (other than a Subsidiary of the Borrower)), in an aggregate principal amount at any time outstanding pursuant to this clause (xxi) not in excess of \$30,000,000;
- (xxii) unsecured Indebtedness and Attributable Debt owing to the Service Company incurred pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions; and
- (xxiii) all premium (if any), interest (including post-petition interest), fees, expenses, charges and additional or contingent interest on obligations described above.

(b) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, issue any Disqualified Stock.

SECTION 6.02 <u>Liens</u>. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Lien on any property or asset now owned or hereafter acquired by it, or assign or sell any income or revenues (including accounts receivable) or rights in respect of any thereof, except:

- (a) Liens created under the Loan Documents:
- (b) Permitted Encumbrances;
- (c) any Lien existing on the Closing Date and set forth in <u>Schedule 6.02</u> on any property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that (A) such Lien shall not apply to any other property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than proceeds) and (B) such Lien shall secure only those obligations which it secures on the Closing Date and extensions, renewals, refinancings and replacements thereof that do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof (other than by an amount not in excess of accrued interest thereon and fees and expenses, including premium and defeasance costs, associated therewith);
- (d) any Lien existing on any property or asset prior to the acquisition thereof by the Borrower or any Subsidiary or existing on any property or asset of any Person that becomes a Subsidiary after the Closing Date prior to the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary; provided that (A) such Lien is not created in contemplation of or in connection with such acquisition or such Person becoming a Subsidiary, as the case may be, (B) such Lien shall not apply to any other property or assets of the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than proceeds), (C) such Lien shall secure only those obligations which it secures on the date of such acquisition or the date such Person becomes a Subsidiary, as the case may be, and extensions, renewals, refinancings and replacements thereof that do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof (other than by an amount not in excess of accrued interest and fees and expenses, including premium and defeasance costs, associated therewith) and (D) the aggregate principal amount of the obligations secured pursuant to this clause (d) shall not exceed \$20,000,000 at any time outstanding;
- (e) Liens on fixed or capital assets acquired, constructed or improved by the Borrower or any Subsidiary (including any such assets made the subject of a Capital Lease Obligation); provided that (A) such Liens secure Indebtedness permitted by clause (v) of Section 6.01(a), (B) such Liens and the Indebtedness secured thereby are incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction or improvement, (C) the Indebtedness secured thereby does not exceed the cost of acquiring, constructing or improving such fixed or capital assets and (D) such Liens shall not apply to any other property or assets of the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than proceeds);
- (f) Liens on property of any Foreign Subsidiary securing Indebtedness of such Foreign Subsidiary (or Guarantees of such Indebtedness), in each case to the extent permitted under Section 6.01(a);
 - (g) Liens in favor of the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party;
- (h) Liens that are contractual rights of set-off (i) relating to the establishment of depository relations with banks not given in connection with the issuance of Indebtedness, (ii) relating to pooled deposit or sweep accounts of the Borrower or any Subsidiary to permit

satisfaction of overdraft or similar obligations incurred in the ordinary course of business of the Borrower or any Subsidiaries, (iii) relating to purchase orders and other agreements entered into with customers of the Borrower or any Subsidiary in the ordinary course of business or (iv) arising under or pursuant to banking relationships;

- (i) Liens arising solely by virtue of any statutory or common law provision relating to banker's liens, rights of set-off or similar rights;
- (j) Liens arising out of conditional sale, title retention, consignment or similar arrangements for the sale of goods, in each case entered into in the ordinary course of business;
- (k) Liens securing Refinancing Indebtedness; <u>provided</u> that such Liens do not extend to any property or assets other than the property or assets (and proceeds thereof) that secure the Indebtedness being refinanced;
- (l) Liens (i) attaching to advances to a seller of any property to be acquired, (ii) consisting of an agreement to dispose of property and (iii) on cash earnest money deposits in connection with Investments permitted under Section 6.04;
- (m) Liens on insurance policies and the proceeds thereof granted in the ordinary course to secure the financing of insurance premiums with respect thereto;
 - (n) any sale or assignment of accounts receivable permitted by Section 6.05(d);
- (o) licenses, sublicenses, leases or subleases granted to third Persons in the ordinary course of business of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries;
- (p) precautionary UCC financing statements in respect of operating leases permitted by this Agreement;
- (q) any interest or title of a licensor, lessor, sublicensor or sublessor under any license or lease permitted by this Agreement;
- (r) Liens arising under Environmental Laws which (i) are being contested in good faith and by appropriate proceedings for which adequate reserves have been established in accordance with GAAP or (ii) arise by operation of law (and not as a result of any grant or consent by the Borrower or any Subsidiary) to secure performance by the Borrower or its Subsidiaries of remediation activity, so long as the Borrower and its Subsidiaries are in compliance with all material requirements applicable to such remediation activity;
- (s) in the case of Equity Interests issued by a joint venture or a non-Wholly Owned Subsidiary, any call or similar right in the nature of a right of first offer or a first refusal right of a third party that is also an investor in such joint venture or Subsidiary and, in the case of Equity Interests issued by a joint venture or Subsidiary, any call or similar right on any nominee, trust or directors' qualifying shares or similar arrangements designed to satisfy requirements of applicable local laws
- (t) cash collateral securing reimbursement obligations in respect of letters of credit described in Section 6.01(a)(vii);

- (u) Liens in the nature of non-exclusive licenses of Intellectual Property granted to or in favor of another Company pursuant to the Directory Consolidation Project; and
- (v) Liens not otherwise permitted by this Section 6.02 securing obligations and Indebtedness in an aggregate amount not in excess of \$10,000,000 at any time outstanding;

<u>provided</u> that notwithstanding the foregoing, no consensual Liens shall exist on Pledged Equity Interests that constitute Collateral other than pursuant to clauses (a) or (s) above.

SECTION 6.03 Fundamental Changes. (a) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, merge into or consolidate with any other Person, or permit any other Person to merge into or consolidate with it, or liquidate or dissolve, except that, if at the time thereof and immediately after giving effect thereto no Default shall have occurred and be continuing, (i) any Person may merge into the Borrower in a transaction in which the Borrower is the surviving corporation, (ii) subject to Section 6.17, any Person may merge into any other Subsidiary in a transaction in which the surviving entity is (or upon consummation of such merger becomes a Subsidiary in accordance with the terms of this Agreement) a Subsidiary and, if any party to such merger is a Subsidiary Loan Party, a Subsidiary Loan Party, (iii) any Subsidiary may merge or consolidate with any other Person in order to effect a Permitted Acquisition and (iv) any Subsidiary may liquidate or dissolve if the Borrower determines in good faith that such liquidation or dissolution is in the best interests of the Borrower and is not materially disadvantageous to the Lenders; provided that (x) any such merger involving a Person that is not a Wholly Owned Subsidiary immediately prior to such merger shall not be permitted unless also permitted by Section 6.04 and (y) any such liquidation or dissolution involving a Subsidiary that is a License Subsidiary shall not be permitted unless such License Subsidiary conveys, leases, sells, transfers or otherwise disposes of, in one transaction or series of transactions, all or substantially all of its business or property, whether now or hereafter acquired, to a License Subsidiary.

- (b) The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, engage to any material extent in any business other than a Permitted Business.
- (c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, this Section 6.03 shall not prohibit [the SuperMedia Merger] [the "Restructuring Transactions" as defined in the Reorganization Plan.]³⁷

SECTION 6.04 <u>Investments, Loans, Advances, Guarantees and Acquisitions</u>. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, make, purchase, hold or acquire (including pursuant to any merger with any Person that was not a Wholly Owned Subsidiary prior to such merger) any Investment, except:

- (a) Permitted Investments;
- (b) Investments existing on the Closing Date or made pursuant to binding commitments in effect on the Closing Date and, in each case, set forth on Schedule 6.04;
- (c) Investments by the Borrower in any Subsidiary and made by any Subsidiary in the Borrower or any Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that the aggregate amount of Investments made after the Closing Date by SuperMedia Loan Parties in Subsidiaries that are not SuperMedia Loan Parties shall not exceed \$10,000,000 during the term of this Agreement;

³⁷ To be included if applicable.

- (d) Guarantees constituting Indebtedness permitted by Section 6.01; <u>provided</u> that the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness of Subsidiaries that are not SuperMedia Loan Parties that is Guaranteed by any SuperMedia Loan Party shall be subject to the limitation set forth in clause (c) above;
- (e) Guarantees made in the ordinary course of business by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of obligations other than Indebtedness of any Excluded Subsidiary, <u>provided</u> that the funding of any such guarantees by the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party shall be deemed to constitute an Investment subject to Section 6.04(c) unless reimbursed by such Excluded Subsidiary;
- (f) Permitted Acquisitions (other than Permitted Acquisitions involving the purchase or other acquisition of assets from Affiliates that are not Subsidiaries of the Borrower), including any cash earnest money deposits required in connection therewith;
- (g) Investments (including debt obligations and equity securities) acquired (i) in connection with the bankruptcy or reorganization of, or settlement of delinquent accounts and disputes with, customers and suppliers, in each case in the ordinary course of business or (ii) as a result of a foreclosure by the Borrower or any Subsidiary with respect to any secured Investment or other transfer of title with respect to any secured Investment in default;
 - (h) extensions of trade credit in the ordinary course of business;
- (i) Investments received in connection with the sale, transfer, lease or other disposition of any asset permitted by Section 6.05;
 - (j) Swap Agreements entered into in compliance with Section 6.07;
- (k) loans and advances by the Borrower and any of its Subsidiaries to their employees, officers, members of management, consultants, agents, customers or suppliers (i) in connection with relocation expenses and (ii) for other purposes in an aggregate amount at any time outstanding not in excess of \$2,500,000;
- (l) Investments consisting of purchases and acquisitions of inventory, supplies, materials and equipment or purchases of contract rights or licenses or leases of intellectual property, in each case in the ordinary course of business;
- (m) commission, payroll, travel and similar advances to officers and employees to cover matters that are expected at the time of such advances ultimately to be treated as expenses of the Borrower or any Subsidiary in accordance with GAAP;
- (n) Investments in the ordinary course of business consisting of the licensing or acquisition of, or investment in, intellectual property pursuant to joint marketing arrangements with other Persons;
- (o) Investments of any Person existing at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary or consolidates or merges with the Borrower or any Subsidiary (including in connection with a Permitted Acquisition) so long as such Investments were not made in contemplation of such Person becoming a Subsidiary or of such consolidation or merger;

- (p) Investments resulting from pledges or deposits described in clause (c) or (d) of the definition of "Permitted Encumbrance";
- (q) Investments in the ordinary course consisting of endorsements of collection or deposit;
- (r) advances to customers or suppliers in the ordinary course of business that are, in conformity with GAAP, recorded as accounts receivable, prepaid expenses or deposits on the balance sheet of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries and endorsements for collection or deposit arising in the ordinary course of business;
 - (s) Investments arising from any transaction permitted by Section 6.08;
- (t) Investments arising or deemed to arise from the payment, repayment, prepayment, acquisition, purchase or repurchase of any part of the Loans pursuant to any provision of Article II of this Agreement;
- so long as (i) no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result therefrom, (ii) no portion of the proceeds of any such Investment is used, directly or indirectly, to purchase or repurchase, or finance the purchase or repurchase, of any Restructuring Notes, Additional Notes or any other Indebtedness of any Affiliate (and the terms of any Investment shall not permit any such purchase or repurchase by the Person in which such Investment is made while such Investment is outstanding) and (iii) no such Investment is made in any Person that is an Affiliate of the Borrower (other than the Borrower and its Subsidiaries) other than Investments that result in a purchase of assets by a Newco Senior Guarantor or the Service Company in connection with equivalent Investments by each of Dex East, Dex West and RHDI, additional Investments in any Person in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$20,000,000, net of the aggregate amount of cash received by the Borrower or any Subsidiary from any such Investment as a repayment of principal or a return of capital; provided, that any Investment made pursuant to this clause (u) in any Person that is not a SuperMedia Loan Party at the time such Investment is made may, if such Person thereafter becomes a SuperMedia Loan Party, from and after such date, be deemed to have been made pursuant to clause (c) or (d) of this Section, as the case may be, and not pursuant to this clause (u);
 - (v) Investments in connection with the Shared Services Transactions;
- (w) advances or payments made by the Borrower or any Subsidiary to (x) the License Subsidiaries of the Borrower or (y) any other Person for the purpose of (i) filing, prosecuting, registering, renewing, enforcing or maintaining any Intellectual Property applications or registrations owned by such License Subsidiaries and (ii) satisfying all other liabilities related to, in connection with or incidental to (x) the maintenance of the existence of such License Subsidiaries and (y) activities of such License Subsidiaries permitted under this Agreement (including, without limitation, reimbursement for directors and officers fees and compensation) and under the organizational documents of such License Subsidiaries;
- (x) the licensing or sublicensing (other than exclusive licenses or sublicenses) of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business in a manner that does not, and could not reasonably be expected to, materially interfere with the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries; and

(y) the acquisitions or transfers in connection with the Directory Consolidation Project.

SECTION 6.05 <u>Asset Sales</u>. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, sell, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of any asset, including any Equity Interest owned by it, nor will the Borrower permit any of its Subsidiaries to issue any additional Equity Interest in such Subsidiary (other than issuing directors' qualifying shares and other than issuing Equity Interests to the Borrower or a Subsidiary), except:

- (a) sales, transfers, leases and other dispositions of (x) any property (including inventory), (y) used, surplus, obsolete or worn-out equipment and (z) Permitted Investments, in each case in the ordinary course of business;
- (b) sales, transfers, leases and other dispositions to the Borrower or a Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that any such sales, transfers or dispositions involving a Subsidiary that is not a Loan Party shall be made in compliance with Section 6.09;
- (c) leases or subleases of property, and licenses or sublicenses of intellectual property, in each case entered into in the ordinary course of business and which do not, and would not reasonably be expected to, materially interfere with the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries taken as a whole:
- (d) dispositions or write-downs of accounts receivable in connection with the compromise, settlement or collection thereof in the ordinary course of business or bankruptcy or similar proceedings;
- (e) sales, transfers, leases and other dispositions permitted by Sections 6.03 and 6.08 and Liens permitted under Section 6.02;
- (f) sales, transfers, leases and other dispositions of property constituting Investments permitted under Section 6.04(g);
- (g) dispositions resulting from any casualty or other insured damage to, or any taking under power of eminent domain or by condemnation or similar proceeding of, any property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary;
 - (h) voluntary terminations of Swap Agreements;
 - (i) sales, leases, transfers, licenses or other dispositions identified on <u>Schedule 6.05</u>;
 - (j) Sale and Leaseback Transactions permitted by Section 6.06;
- (k) sales, transfers, leases and other dispositions of assets that are not permitted by any other clause of this Section; <u>provided</u> that the aggregate Fair Market Value of all assets sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of in reliance on this clause (k) shall not exceed \$50,000,000; <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that such sale, transfer, lease or other disposition of assets is not made to an Affiliate of the Borrower (other than the Borrower or a Subsidiary);
- (l) sales, transfers and other dispositions pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions;

- (m) the licensing or sublicensing (other than exclusive licenses or sublicenses) of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business in a manner that does not, and could not reasonably be expected to, materially interfere with the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries; and
- (n) the sales, transfers or other dispositions in connection with the Directory Consolidation Project.³⁸

provided that, notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) Equity Interests of any Wholly Owned Subsidiary may not be sold, transferred, leased or otherwise disposed of unless 100% of such Equity Interests are being sold, transferred, leased or otherwise disposed of pursuant to a transaction permitted by Section 6.03 or 6.05(k) and (ii) any sales, transfers, leases and other dispositions permitted by clause (i), (j), or (k) of this Section 6.05 shall be made (x) for Fair Market Value and (y) for at least 75% Cash Consideration.

SECTION 6.06 <u>Sale and Leaseback Transactions</u>. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into any arrangement, directly or indirectly, whereby it shall sell or transfer any property, real or personal, used or useful in its business, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, and thereafter rent or lease such property or other property that it intends to use for substantially the same purpose or purposes as the property sold or transferred (any such transaction, a "<u>Sale and Leaseback Transaction</u>"), except (a) pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions or (b) for Sale and Leaseback Transactions resulting in Sale and Leaseback Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount, when added to the aggregate principal amount of Capital Lease Obligations and Indebtedness incurred pursuant to Section 6.01(a)(v), not to exceed \$15,000,000 at any time outstanding; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the Borrower applies the Net Proceeds of such Sale and Leaseback Transactions in compliance with Section 2.06(b).

SECTION 6.07 Swap Agreements. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into any Swap Agreement, except (a) Swap Agreements entered into to hedge or mitigate risks to which the Borrower or any Subsidiary has actual exposure (other than those in respect of Equity Interests of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries) in the conduct of its business or the management of its liabilities and (b) Swap Agreements entered into in order to effectively cap, collar or exchange interest rates (from fixed to floating rates, from one floating rate to another floating rate or otherwise) with respect to any interest-bearing liability or investment of the Borrower or any Subsidiary.

SECTION 6.08 <u>Restricted Payments; Certain Payments of Indebtedness</u>. (a) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, declare or make, or agree to pay or make, directly or indirectly, any Restricted Payment, or incur any obligation (contingent or otherwise) to do so, except:

- (i) the Borrower may declare and pay dividends with respect to its Equity Interests payable solely in additional Equity Interests of the same class (other than Disqualified Stock);
- (ii) Subsidiaries may declare and pay dividends ratably with respect to their Equity Interests;

³⁸ Schedule 1.01A to provide that the profits of the consolidated directories will be shared among the contributing companies in a manner reasonably acceptable to the admin agent taking into account the respective revenues of the directories that are combined, the costs of achieving the combination and the ongoing operating costs of the combination.

- (iii) the Borrower may make Restricted Payments to the Ultimate Parent. provided that (A) the proceeds of such Restricted Payments are used to repurchase, redeem or otherwise acquire or retire for value of any Equity Interests in the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary held by any future, present or former directors, officers, members of management, employees or consultants of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or their respective estates, heirs, family members, spouses or former spouses pursuant to the terms of any employee equity subscription agreement, stock option agreement or similar agreement, (B) (x) any Restricted Payments used to effect such repurchases, redemptions, acquisitions or retirements are made not earlier than ten Business Days prior to the date when such Equity Interests are repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired, if such repurchase, redemption, acquisition or retirement is made and (y) if such Restricted Payments are not used for such repurchase, redemption, acquisition or retirement, the proceeds therefrom shall be returned to the Borrower as a capital contribution within ten Business Days from the date such Restricted Payment was made, (C) the aggregate price paid for all such repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired Equity Interests in any fiscal year pursuant to this clause (iii) (other than (1) any such Equity Interests repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired in compensation for any taxes due or payable by the holder thereof, and (2) any such Equity Interests that are deemed repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired by the Ultimate Parent in connection with the exercise of stock options or warrants by the holder thereof in connection with the payment of all or a portion of the exercise price of such options or warrant) will not exceed \$5,000,000 per fiscal year and (D) such Equity Interests shall only be repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired in connection with the death, resignation or retirement of, or settlement of a dispute with, any such Person;
- (iv) the making of any payment in exchange for, or out of the Net Proceeds of, a substantially concurrent sale (other than to a Subsidiary of the Borrower) of, common Equity Interests of the Borrower;
- (v) other Restricted Payments in an aggregate amount not exceeding \$2,000,000 during any fiscal year of the Borrower, <u>provided</u> that (A) no Default or Event of Default is continuing or would result therefrom, (B) the aggregate amount of Restricted Payments made pursuant to this clause (v) shall not exceed \$5,000,000 over the term of this Agreement, (C) the Ultimate Parent shall apply such Restricted Payments within 30 days of receipt thereof and only to fund general corporate expenses permitted hereunder and (D) no Restricted Payments made pursuant to this clause (v) shall be used to (x) effect the repurchase, or the making of any payments in respect, of Restructuring Notes or Additional Notes or (y) make any payment to or Investment in any Affiliate of the Borrower other than the Borrower or a Subsidiary of the Borrower (or any director, officer or employee of the Borrower or any such Affiliate);
- (vi) the Borrower may make Restricted Payments required by the Shared Services Transactions; and
- (vii) Restricted Payments in amounts as shall be necessary to make Tax Payments; provided that all Restricted Payments made pursuant to this clause (vii) are used by the Ultimate Parent for the purpose specified in this clause (vii) within 30 days of receipt thereof.
- (b) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, make or agree to pay or make, directly or indirectly, any payment or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property) of or in respect of principal of or interest on any Permitted Subordinated Indebtedness, or any payment or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, cancellation or termination of any Permitted Subordinated Indebtedness, except:

- (i) payment of fees, expenses and regularly scheduled interest and principal payments as and when due in respect of such Indebtedness; and
- (ii) refinancings of such Indebtedness to the extent permitted by Section 6.01(a)(xix).

SECTION 6.09 <u>Transactions with Affiliates</u>. The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, sell, lease or otherwise transfer any property or assets to, or purchase, lease or otherwise acquire any property or assets from, or otherwise engage in any other transactions with, any of its Affiliates, except:

- (a) transactions that are at prices and on terms and conditions, taken as a whole, not less favorable to the Borrower or such Subsidiary than could be obtained on an arm's length basis from unrelated third parties;
- (b) the indemnification of directors of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries in accordance with customary practice;
- (c) any issuance of securities, or other payments, awards or grants in cash, securities or otherwise pursuant to, or the funding of, employment arrangements, stock options and stock ownership plans approved by the Governing Board of the Borrower;
- (d) Investments permitted under Section 6.04 specifically contemplated by Section 6.04 to be made among Affiliates;
- (e) transactions among the Borrower and any Subsidiary Loan Parties and transactions among Subsidiary Loan Parties otherwise permitted by this Agreement;
- (f) the payment of fees and indemnities to directors, officers and employees of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business;
- (g) transactions pursuant to permitted agreements in existence on the Closing Date and set forth on Schedule 6.09 or any amendment thereto to the extent such amendment is not adverse to the Lenders in any material respect;
- (h) any employment agreements entered into by the Borrower or any of the Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business;
 - (i) Restricted Payments permitted under Section 6.08;
- (j) transactions with Subsidiaries for the purchase or sale of goods, products, parts and services and entered into in the ordinary course of business in a manner consistent with past practice;
- (k) transactions with joint ventures for the purchase or sale of equipment or services entered into in the ordinary course of business and in a manner consistent with past practice;
- (l) transactions with any one or more Lenders pursuant to the Loan Documents including, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the repayment, prepayment, acquisition, purchase or repurchase of any part of the Loans pursuant to any provision of this Agreement;

- (m) subject to Section 6.12(b), the existence of, or performance by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of its respective obligations under the terms of, the Tax Sharing Agreements;
 - (n) Shared Services Transactions;
 - (o) the transactions in connection with the Directory Consolidation Project;
- (p) the issuance by the Borrower of Equity Interests to, or the receipt of any capital contribution from, the Ultimate Parent or any of its subsidiaries; and
- (q) [the "Restructuring Transactions" under (and as defined in) the Reorganization Plan³⁹

For purposes of this Section 6.09, any transaction with any Affiliate involving an amount less than \$5,000,000 shall be deemed to have satisfied the standard set forth in clause (a) above if such transaction is approved as being on an arm's length basis by a majority of the Disinterested Directors of the Governing Board of either the Borrower or such Subsidiary. "Disinterested Director" shall mean, with respect to any Person and transaction, a member of the Governing Board of such Person who does not have any material direct or indirect financial interest in or with respect to such transaction.

SECTION 6.10 Restrictive Agreements. The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, enter into, incur or permit to exist any agreement or other arrangement that prohibits, restricts or imposes any condition upon (a) the ability of the Borrower or any Subsidiary to create, incur or permit to exist any Lien upon any of its property or assets to the Secured Parties securing the Obligations or (b) the ability of any Subsidiary to pay dividends or other distributions with respect to any shares of its capital stock or to make or repay loans or advances to the Borrower or any other Subsidiary or to Guarantee Indebtedness of the Borrower or any other Subsidiary; provided that (i) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions and conditions imposed by law or by any Loan Document, (ii) the foregoing shall not apply to prohibitions, restrictions and conditions existing on the Closing Date identified on Schedule 6.10 and to any extension, renewal or modification thereof, other than to any extension or renewal of, or any amendment or modification to the extent expanding the scope of, any such restriction or condition, (iii) the foregoing shall not apply to customary restrictions and conditions contained in agreements relating to the sale of a Subsidiary pending such sale, provided such restrictions and conditions apply only to the Subsidiary that is to be sold and such sale is permitted hereunder, (iv) clause (a) of the foregoing shall not apply to prohibitions, restrictions or conditions imposed by any agreement relating to secured Indebtedness permitted by this Agreement if such restrictions or conditions apply only to the property or assets securing such Indebtedness and the proceeds thereof, (v)(A) clause (a) of the foregoing shall not apply to customary provisions in leases or other contracts restricting the assignment thereof and (B) clause (b) of the foregoing shall not apply to customary provisions in leases or other contracts restricting the assignment thereof to the extent such provisions restrict the distribution of such lease or other contract, (vi) the foregoing shall not apply to prohibitions, restrictions or conditions applicable to any Person or the property or assets of a Person acquired by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (other than pursuant to a Permitted Acquisition) existing at the time of such acquisition and not incurred in connection with or in contemplation of such acquisition, which restriction or condition is not applicable to any Person or the properties or assets of any Person, other than the Person, or the property or assets of the Person, so acquired and any amendments, modifications, restatements, renewals, extensions, supplements, refundings, replacements or refinancings thereof, provided that the restrictions and conditions in any such amendments, modifications, restatements, renewals, extensions, supplements, refundings, replacement or refinancings are no more restrictive, taken as a whole, than those in effect on

³⁹ To be included if applicable.

the date of the acquisition, (vii) the foregoing shall not apply to prohibitions, restrictions or conditions on cash or other deposits or net worth imposed by customers or required by insurance, surety or bonding companies, in each case, under contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, (viii) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions or conditions imposed by any agreement related to the refinancing of Indebtedness, <u>provided</u> that the terms of any such restrictions or conditions are not materially less favorable, taken as a whole, as determined by the Borrower in good faith, to the Lenders than the restrictions or conditions contained in the predecessor agreements and (ix) the foregoing shall not apply to customary provisions in joint venture agreements, limited liability company agreements of joint ventures and other similar agreements.

SECTION 6.11 <u>Fiscal Year</u>. The Borrower shall not change its fiscal year for accounting and financial reporting purposes to end on any date other than December 31.

SECTION 6.12 <u>Amendment of Material Documents</u>. (a) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, amend, modify or waive any of its rights under its certificate of incorporation, by-laws or other organizational documents, if, taken as a whole, such amendment, modification or waiver is materially adverse to the interests of the Lenders. The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, amend, modify or waive any of its rights under any Core Verizon Agreement, if such amendment, modification or waiver would reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on the ability of the Borrower to perform its principal obligations under the Loan Documents.

(b) Neither the Ultimate Parent nor the Borrower will, nor will they permit the Service Company or any Subsidiary, respectively, to, amend, modify, waive or terminate any of its rights under the Shared Services Agreement, the Tax Sharing Agreement, the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, any License Agreement, any Master IP License Agreement, any escrow arrangement with respect to the Escrow Materials entered into pursuant to this Agreement or the organizational documents of any License Subsidiary to the extent that such amendment, modification, waiver or termination is adverse in any material respect to the interests of the Lenders.

SECTION 6.13 <u>Financial Covenants</u>. (a) The Borrower will not permit the Leverage Ratio, at any time during any fiscal quarter ending during any period set forth below, to exceed the ratio set forth opposite such fiscal quarter:

Fiscal Quarter Ended	Leverage Ratio
March 31, 2013	4.7500 to 1:00
June 30, 2013	4.7500 to 1:00
September 30, 2013	4.7500 to 1:00
December 31, 2013	4.7500 to 1:00
March 31, 2014	4.6875 to 1:00
June 30, 2014	4.6250 to 1:00
September 30, 2014	4.5625 to 1:00
December 31, 2014	4.5000 to 1:00
March 31, 2015	4.5000 to 1:00
June 30, 2015	4.5000 to 1:00
September 30, 2015	4.5000 to 1:00
December 31, 2015	4.5000 to 1:00
March 31, 2016	4.4375 to 1:00
June 30, 2016	4.3750 to 1:00
September 30, 2016	4.3125 to 1:00
December 31, 2016	4.2500 to 1:00

- (b) The Borrower will not permit the Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio, for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters of the Borrower, to be less than 1.10 to 1.0.
- (c) The Leverage Ratio and the Consolidated Interest Coverage Ratio shall be calculated in accordance with Section 1.05.

SECTION 6.14 <u>Capital Expenditures</u>. The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, make or commit to make any Capital Expenditure, except Capital Expenditures of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business not exceeding \$30,000,000 in the aggregate in any fiscal year; provided that Capital Expenditures of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business, in the aggregate when combined with the Capital Expenditures of Dex East, Dex West and RHDI and their respective Subsidiaries, shall not exceed (i) \$57,500,000 during the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013 and (ii) \$50,000,000 during the fiscal years ending December 31, 2014, December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016; provided, further, that (x) in each case, (A) up to 75% of such stated amounts referred to above, if not so expended in the fiscal year for which it is permitted, may be carried over for expenditure in the next succeeding fiscal year and (B) Capital Expenditures made pursuant to this Section 6.14 during any fiscal year shall be deemed made, first, in respect of such stated amounts permitted for such fiscal year as provided above and, second, in respect of amounts carried over from the prior fiscal year pursuant to clause (A) above and (y) Capital Expenditures of a Company permitted hereunder shall (A) relate to assets directly owned or acquired by such Company and shall be allocated to (and paid by) such Company or (B) relate to the acquisition or development of Shared Assets and shall be allocated to (and paid by) the Companies in accordance with their Allocated Share (as defined in the Shared Services Agreement) at the time any such payment is made.

SECTION 6.15 <u>Ultimate Parent Covenants</u>. (a) The Ultimate Parent will not engage in any business or activity other than the ownership of outstanding Equity Interests of its Subsidiaries and other assets permitted under Section 6.15(b), the issuance and sale of its Equity Interests, the performance of its obligations under the Shared Services Agreement and, in each case, activities incidental thereto.

- (b) The Ultimate Parent will not own or acquire any assets (other than Equity Interests of its existing Subsidiaries or any Newcos, other Investments in its existing Subsidiaries and any Newcos, assets owned or acquired in connection with its obligations under the Shared Services Agreement, cash, Permitted Investments, joint ventures or minority investments permitted under Section 6.15(e) and the Equity Interests of the Borrower) or incur any liabilities (other than ordinary course trade payables, employee compensation liabilities (including, without limitation, loans and advances to employees in the ordinary course of business) and liabilities under the Loan Documents, the Dex East Loan Documents, the Dex West Loan Documents and the RHDI Loan Documents, liabilities imposed by law, including Tax liabilities, Indebtedness permitted under Section 6.15(d), liabilities under the Shared Services Agreement, liabilities under the Merger Agreement and other liabilities incidental to the maintenance of its existence and permitted activities).
- (c) The Ultimate Parent will not create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Liens on any property or assets now owned or hereafter acquired by it other than (i) Permitted Encumbrances and (ii) Liens securing the SuperMedia Obligations, the obligations under the Dex East Loan Documents, the obligations under the Dex West Loan Documents and the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement.
- (d) The Ultimate Parent shall not in any event incur or permit to exist any Indebtedness for borrowed money other than (i) the Restructuring Notes, (ii) any Additional Notes and (iii) subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, a Guarantee of the SuperMedia Obligations, the obligations under the Dex East

Loan Documents, the obligations under the Dex West Loan Documents and the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents.

- (e) The Ultimate Parent may only make Investments in, or acquisitions of, any Newco so long as (i) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, (ii) any Newco that is acquired or created as a result of such Investment or acquisition shall become a Guarantor as and to the extent required by the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement, (iii) all transactions related thereto are consummated in accordance with applicable laws in all material respects and (iv) in case of an acquisition of assets, such assets (other than assets to be retired or disposed of) are to be used, and in the case of an acquisition of any Equity Interests, the Person so acquired is engaged, in the same line of business as that of the Ultimate Parent or a line of business reasonably related thereto. The Ultimate Parent may make Investments (not consisting of contribution of assets of any of its Subsidiaries) in joint ventures and other minority investments, provided that such Investment shall be pledged as Collateral to the Shared Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Shared Collateral Secured Parties pursuant to the Shared Collateral and Guarantee Agreement.
- (f) The Ultimate Parent shall not (i) make any dividends or other Restricted Payments to the holders of its Equity Interests or (ii) optionally redeem or repurchase any Restructuring Notes or Additional Notes (other than any non-cash exchange therefor for common stock of the Ultimate Parent).
- (g) The Ultimate Parent may not make any Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition unless the Net Proceeds are applied to prepay the Loans to the extent required pursuant to Section 2.06(b).
- (h) The Ultimate Parent shall not permit the Restructuring Notes or the Restructuring Indenture to be amended in any way that is, taken as a whole, materially adverse to the interests of the Lenders and shall not (i) permit the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to be secured by any assets of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) permit the proceeds of any Additional Notes to be used to finance anything other than refinancing of the Restructuring Notes or any other Additional Notes, (iii) alter the maturity of the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to a date, or make the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes mandatorily redeemable, in whole or in part, or required to be repurchased or reacquired, in whole or in part, prior to the date that is six months after the Maturity Date (other than pursuant to customary asset sale or change in control provisions), (iv) allow the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to (A) have financial maintenance covenants, (B) have restrictive covenants that apply to the Dex Parent, the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than, solely in the case of the Restructuring Notes, the restrictive covenants set forth in the Restructuring Notes Indenture as of the Closing Date) or that impose limitations on the Ultimate Parent's ability to guarantee or pledge assets to secure the SuperMedia Obligations or (C) otherwise have covenants, representations and warranties and events of default that are more restrictive than those existing in the prevailing market at the time of issuance thereof for companies with the same or similar credit ratings of the Ultimate Parent at such time issuing similar securities, (v) permit the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to be guaranteed by any Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent or not be subordinated to the SuperMedia Obligations on terms at least as favorable to the Lenders as the subordination terms set forth in the Restructuring Notes Indenture on the Closing Date and that are otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent or (vi) permit the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to be convertible or exchangeable into other Indebtedness, except other Indebtedness of the Ultimate Parent meeting the qualifications set forth in the definition of "Additional Notes".
- (i) The Ultimate Parent shall not at any time hold an aggregate amount of cash and Permitted Investments in excess of an amount equal to (a) \$5,000,000 plus (b) any amounts received pursuant to Section 6.08(a)(iv) of the Dex Credit Agreements pending use by the Ultimate Parent within

10 Business Days of receipt of such amounts (in accordance with Section 6.08(a)(iv) of the Dex Credit Agreements.

- (j) The Ultimate Parent shall continue to make the Ultimate Parent PIK Election during the term of this Agreement.
- SECTION 6.16 <u>Service Company Covenants</u>. (a) The Ultimate Parent will not permit the Service Company to engage in any business or activity other than the issuance and sale of its Equity Interests, ownership of the outstanding Equity Interests of its Subsidiaries and other assets permitted under Section 6.16(b) and the provision of Shared Services and, in each case, activities incidental thereto.
- (b) Subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, the Ultimate Parent will not permit the Service Company to own or acquire any assets (other than the outstanding Equity Interests of its Subsidiaries, assets owned or acquired in connection with the Shared Services, cash and Permitted Investments) or incur any liabilities (other than ordinary course trade payables, employee compensation liabilities (including, without limitation, loans and advances to employees in the ordinary course of business) and other liabilities incurred in the ordinary course in connection with the provision of Shared Services by the Service Company or any Subsidiary of the Service Company pursuant to the terms of the Shared Service Agreement, liabilities under the Loan Documents, the Dex East Loan Documents, the Dex West Loan Documents and the RHDI Loan Documents, liabilities imposed by law, including Tax liabilities, liabilities under the Shared Services Agreement and other liabilities incidental to the maintenance of its existence and permitted activities).
- (c) Subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, the Ultimate Parent will not permit the Service Company to create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Liens on any property or assets now owned or hereafter acquired by it other than:
 - (i) Permitted Encumbrances;
 - (ii) Liens securing the SuperMedia Obligations, the obligations under the Dex East Loan Documents, the obligations under the Dex West Loan Documents and the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement; and
 - (iii) Liens on fixed or capital assets acquired, constructed or improved by the Service Company; <u>provided</u> that (A) such Liens secure Indebtedness permitted by Section 6.16(d), (B) such Liens and the Indebtedness secured thereby are incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction or improvement, (C) the Indebtedness secured thereby does not exceed the cost of acquiring, constructing or improving such fixed or capital assets and (D) such Liens shall not apply to any other property or assets of such Service Company.
- (d) The Ultimate Parent shall not permit the Service Company to in any event incur or permit to exist any Indebtedness for borrowed money other than:
 - (i) Indebtedness and Attributable Debt of the Service Company incurred to finance the acquisition, construction or improvement of any fixed or capital assets in connection with the provision of Shared Services, including Capital Lease Obligations and extensions, renewals, refinancings and replacements of any such Indebtedness that do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof (other than by an amount not greater than fees and expenses, including premium and defeasance costs, associated therewith) or result in a decreased average weighted

life thereof; <u>provided</u> that such Indebtedness or Attributable Debt is incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction or improvement; and

- (ii) a Guarantee of the SuperMedia Obligations, the obligations under the Dex East Loan Documents, the obligations under the Dex West Loan Documents and the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement.
- (e) The Ultimate Parent will not permit the Service Company to sell, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of any asset, other than:
 - (i) sales of assets, the proceeds of which are reinvested within 90 days of such sale in assets of the Service Company related to the provision of Shared Services;
 - (ii) sales of (x) inventory, (y) used, surplus, obsolete or worn-out equipment and (z) Permitted Investments, in each case in the ordinary course of business;
 - (iii) sales, transfers and other dispositions pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions;
 - (iv) the licensing or sublicensing (other than exclusive licenses or sublicenses) of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business in a manner that does not, and could not reasonably be expected to, materially interfere with the business of the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries; and
 - (v) other dispositions of assets (other than Equity Interests in a Subsidiary) not otherwise permitted by this Section 6.16(e); <u>provided</u>, that the aggregate cumulative fair market value of all assets sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of after the Closing Date in reliance upon this clause (v) shall not exceed \$1,000,000.

SECTION 6.17 Limitation on Activities of the License Subsidiaries. The Ultimate Parent shall not, directly or indirectly, permit any License Subsidiary to (a) (i) conduct, transact or otherwise engage in, or commit to conduct, transact or otherwise engage in, any business or operations other than ownership of Collateral Trademarks and anything incidental thereto (including filing or registering any application for or registration of Collateral Trademarks and the prosecution, maintenance, renewal or enforcement of Collateral Trademarks) or (ii) take any action, or conduct its affairs in a manner, that could reasonably be expected to result in the separate existence of such License Subsidiary being ignored, or the assets and liabilities of such License Subsidiary being substantively consolidated with those of the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof in a bankruptcy, reorganization or other insolvency proceeding, (b) incur, create, assume or suffer to exist any Indebtedness or other liabilities or financial obligations, except (i) Indebtedness evidenced by the Loan Documents, (ii) Indebtedness owed to another Loan Party so long as such Indebtedness is subordinated to the Obligations (or a guarantee thereof), (iii) nonconsensual obligations imposed by operation of law, (iv) obligations with respect to its equity interests. (v) obligations (other than Indebtedness) in the ordinary course of business in the operation of its assets and (vi) the statutory liability of any general partner for the liabilities of the limited partnership in which it is a general partner, (c) breach any provision of, or default in the performance of its obligations under, any License Agreement to which it is a party, (d) without the consent of the two special independent directors or members required by Section 5.16 (but without prejudice to clause (i) of Article VII), (i) voluntarily commence any proceeding or file any petition seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief under any Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or hereafter in effect, (ii) consent to the institution of any proceeding or petition

described in clause (i) of Article VII, (iii) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for a substantial part of its assets, (iv) file an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any such proceeding that would entitle the other party or parties to an order for relief, (v) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or (vi) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing (it being understood and agreed that the consent of such special independent directors or members to any of the actions described in this clause (d) shall not in any manner limit the provisions of Article VII), (e) assign any right, title or interest in or to any current or future Collateral Trademarks to any Person except as otherwise permitted under this Agreement or license any right, title or interest in or to any of the Collateral Trademarks to any Person except to the Ultimate Parent, a Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent or as otherwise permitted under this Agreement or (f) without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, not to be unreasonably withheld, merge into or consolidate with any other Person, or permit any other Person to merge into or consolidate with it, or liquidate, wind up or dissolve. The Ultimate Parent shall not (x) consent to or vote in favor of (and shall not permit any Subsidiary to consent to or vote in favor of) the incurrence of any Indebtedness by any License Subsidiary (other than Indebtedness permitted pursuant to clause (b)(i) above) or (y) permit the organizational documents of any License Subsidiary, or any License Agreement to which any License Subsidiary is a party, to be amended, supplemented, waived, terminated or otherwise modified in any material respect without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, not to be unreasonably withheld.

ARTICLE VII

Events of Default

Subject to the last sentence of this Article VII, if any of the following events ("Events of Default") shall occur:

- (a) the Borrower shall fail to pay any principal of any Loan when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at the due date thereof or at a date fixed for prepayment thereof or otherwise;
- (b) the Borrower shall fail to pay any interest on any Loan or any fee or any other amount (other than an amount referred to in clause (a) of this Article) payable under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, when and as the same shall become due and payable, and such failure shall continue unremedied for a period of three Business Days;
- (c) any representation or warranty made or deemed made by or on behalf of any Loan Party in or in connection with any Loan Document or any amendment or modification thereof or waiver thereunder, or in any certificate furnished pursuant to or in connection with any Loan Document or any amendment or modification thereof or waiver thereunder, shall prove to have been incorrect in any material respect when made or deemed made;
- (d) the Ultimate Parent or the Borrower shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in Section 5.02(a), 5.04 (with respect to the existence of the Borrower), 5.11, 5.13 or in Article VI applicable to it;
- (e) (i) any Shared Collateral Loan Party shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in Section [6.4 or 6.5]⁴⁰ of the Shared Guarantee and

⁴⁰ Section references to be updated as appropriate based on final Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

Collateral Agreement or (ii) any Shared Collateral Loan Party shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in Section [6.1, 6.2 or 6.3]⁴¹ of the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, and such failure shall continue unremedied for a period of 30 days after the earlier of (A) knowledge thereof by the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof and (B) notice thereof from the Administrative Agent to the Borrower (which notice will be promptly given at the request of any Lender);

- (f) any Loan Party shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in any Loan Document (other than those specified in clause (a), (b) or (d) of this Article), and such failure shall continue unremedied for a period of 30 days after written notice thereof from the Administrative Agent to the Borrower (which notice will promptly be given at the request of any Lender);
- (g) the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex East, Dex West, and their respective Subsidiaries, but including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, the Service Company, any Newcos, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries) shall fail to make any payment (whether of principal or interest and regardless of amount) in respect of any Material Indebtedness, when and as the same shall become due and payable (after giving effect to any applicable grace period specified in the agreement or instrument governing such Indebtedness);
- any event or condition occurs that results in any Material Indebtedness becoming (h) due prior to its scheduled maturity or that enables or permits the holder or holders of any Material Indebtedness or any trustee or agent on its or their behalf to cause any Material Indebtedness to become due, or to require the prepayment, repurchase, redemption or defeasance thereof, prior to its scheduled maturity and any applicable grace period specified in the agreement or instrument evidencing such Indebtedness shall have expired; provided that this clause (g) shall not apply to (i) secured Indebtedness that becomes due as a result of the voluntary sale, transfer or other disposition of the property or assets securing such Indebtedness, (ii) Indebtedness that by its terms becomes due or is required to be repurchased as a result of changes in tax laws, regulations or the interpretation or application thereof and (iii) Guarantees by the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries of the obligations under the Dex East Loan Documents, the obligations under the Dex West Loan Documents and the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents unless (x) any payment shall have been demanded to be made by, or any other remedy shall have been exercised against, the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex East, Dex West and their respective Subsidiaries) or their respective assets in respect of such Guarantees and (y) the obligations under the Dex East Loan Documents, the Dex West Loan Documents or the RHDI Loan Documents, as the case may be, shall have been accelerated;
- (i) an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be filed seeking (i) liquidation, reorganization or other relief in respect of the Borrower, any Subsidiary (other than a Foreign Subsidiary or an Insignificant Subsidiary), the Ultimate Parent, any Material Ultimate Parent Subsidiary or the Service Company or its debts, or of a substantial part of its assets, under any Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or hereafter in effect or (ii) the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for the Borrower, any Subsidiary (other than a Foreign Subsidiary or an Insignificant Subsidiary) the Ultimate Parent, any Material Ultimate

⁴¹ Section references to be updated as appropriate based on final Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

Parent Subsidiary or the Service Company or for a substantial part of its assets, and, in any such case, such proceeding or petition shall continue undismissed for 60 days or an order or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered;

- Subsidiary or the Service Company shall (i) voluntarily commence any proceeding or file any petition seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief under any Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or hereafter in effect, (ii) consent to the institution of any proceeding or petition described in clause (h) of this Article, (iii) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for the Borrower, any Subsidiary, the Ultimate Parent, any Material Ultimate Parent Subsidiary or the Service Company or for a substantial part of its assets, (iv) file an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any such proceeding that would entitle the other party or parties to an order for relief, (v) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or (vi) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing;
- (k) one or more judgments for the payment of money in an aggregate amount in excess of \$20,000,000 (net of amounts covered by insurance, <u>provided</u> that the insurance carriers have been notified of such judgment and have not contested liability therefor) shall be rendered against the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex East, Dex West and their respective Subsidiaries, but including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, the Service Company, any Newcos, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries) or any combination thereof and the same shall remain undischarged for a period of 60 consecutive days during which execution shall not be effectively stayed, or any action shall be legally taken by a judgment creditor to attach or levy upon any assets of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex East, Dex West and their respective Subsidiaries, but including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, the Service Company, any Newcos, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries) to enforce any such judgment;
- (l) (i) an ERISA Event shall have occurred, (ii) a trustee shall be appointed by a United States district court to administer any Pension Plan, (iii) the PBGC shall institute proceedings to terminate any Pension Plan(s), (iv) any Loan Party or any of their respective ERISA Affiliates shall have been notified by the sponsor of a Multiemployer Plan that it has incurred or will be assessed Withdrawal Liability to such Multiemployer Plan and such entity does not have reasonable grounds for contesting such Withdrawal Liability or is not contesting such Withdrawal Liability in a timely and appropriate manner or (v) any other event or condition shall occur or exist with respect to a Plan, a Foreign Plan, or a Foreign Benefit Arrangement that, in each case, in the opinion of the Required Lenders, individually or in the aggregate, would reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect:
- (m) any Lien purported to be created under any Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document shall cease to be, or shall be asserted in writing by any Loan Party not to be, a valid and, except to the extent otherwise permitted under the applicable Collateral Agreement or any other relevant Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document, perfected Lien on any Collateral having, in the aggregate, a value in excess of \$20,000,000, with the priority required by the applicable Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document, except (i) as a result of the sale or other disposition of the applicable Collateral in a transaction permitted under the Loan Documents or (ii) as a result of the Collateral Agent's or Shared Collateral Agent's failure to maintain possession of any stock certificates, promissory notes or other instruments delivered to it under the Collateral Agreements or to file Uniform Commercial Code continuation statements;

- (n) a Change in Control shall occur;
- (o) any Guarantee under the Collateral Agreements for any reason shall cease to be in full force and effect (other than in accordance with its terms), or any Guarantor shall assert in writing that the Collateral Agreements or any Guarantee thereunder has ceased to be or is not enforceable;
- (p) the material breach of or material loss of rights under any Core Verizon Agreement that has resulted in a material adverse effect on the business, operations, assets or financial condition of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole;
- (q) the Intercreditor Agreement or any material portion thereof for any reason shall cease to be in full force and effect, or any Loan Party or any Affiliate of any Loan Party shall assert any of the foregoing;
- (r) the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement or any material portion thereof for any reason shall cease to be in full force and effect, or any Loan Party or any Affiliate of any Loan Party shall assert any of the foregoing;
- (s) the commencement of enforcement actions under the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement with respect to any Shared Collateral Loan Party party thereto;
- (t) (i) the commencement of enforcement actions under the Shared Services Agreement or (ii) the occurrence of an event that permits the Service Company to terminate the Shared Services Agreement with respect to any Client Company (as defined in the Shared Services Agreement) and such event continues unremedied for a period of three days;
- (u) the failure of the Borrower to receive any payment under the Tax Sharing Agreement when due and such failure continues unremedied for a period of three days;
- (v) any License Agreement, Master IP License Agreement or any escrow arrangement with respect to the Escrow Materials entered into pursuant to this Agreement shall be terminated (other than upon the expiration of any of the respective terms thereof), cease to be effective or cease to be the legally valid, binding and enforceable obligation in any material respect of any party thereto;
- (w) the Tax Sharing Agreement shall be terminated (other than upon expiration of the term thereof), cease to be effective or cease to be the legally valid, binding and enforceable obligation in any material respect of any party thereto; or
- (x) the failure (i) to consummate the Mergers immediately following the effectiveness of this Agreement or (ii) to consummate the Amendments immediately following completion of the Mergers.

then, and in every such event (other than an event with respect to the Borrower described in clause (i) or (j) of this Article), and at any time thereafter during the continuance of such event, the Administrative Agent may with the consent of the Required Lenders, and at the request of the Required Lenders shall, by notice to the Borrower, declare the Loans then outstanding to be due and payable in whole or in part, and thereupon the principal of the Loans so declared to be due and payable, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall become due and payable immediately, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are

hereby waived by the Borrower; and in case of any event with respect to the Borrower described in clause (i) or (j) of this Article, the principal of the Loans then outstanding, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall automatically become due and payable, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the events described in the foregoing clauses (except for clause (x)) to the extent that they apply to any Person other than the Borrower or any Subsidiary shall not constitute an Event of Default unless they exist after the consummation of the Mergers.

ARTICLE VIII

The Agent

Each of the Lenders hereby irrevocably appoints the Agent as its agent and authorizes the Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as are delegated to the Agent by the terms of the Loan Documents, together with such actions and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto.

The bank serving as the Agent hereunder shall have the same rights and powers in its capacity as a Lender as any other Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent, and such bank and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to and generally engage in any kind of business with the Borrower or any Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof as if it were not the Agent hereunder

The Agent shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set forth in the Loan Documents. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (a) the Agent shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of whether a Default has occurred and is continuing, (b) the Agent shall not have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers, except discretionary rights and powers expressly contemplated by the Loan Documents that the Agent is required to exercise in writing as directed by the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as provided in Section 9.02), and (c) except as expressly set forth in the Loan Documents, the Agent shall not have any duty to disclose, and shall not be liable for the failure to disclose, any information relating to the Ultimate Parent, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries that is communicated to or obtained by the bank serving as Agent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity (other than as Agent). The Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as provided in Section 9.02) or in the absence of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Agent shall be deemed not to have knowledge of any Default unless and until written notice thereof is given to the Agent by the Borrower or a Lender, and the Agent shall not be responsible for or have any duty to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with any Loan Document, (ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered thereunder or in connection therewith, (iii) the performance or observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other terms or conditions set forth in any Loan Document, (iv) the validity, enforceability, effectiveness or genuineness of any Loan Document or any other agreement, instrument or document, or (v) the satisfaction of any condition set forth in Article IV or elsewhere in any Loan Document, other than to confirm receipt of items expressly required to be delivered to the Agent.

The Agent shall be entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any liability for relying upon, any notice, request, certificate, consent, statement, instrument, document or other writing believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or sent by the proper Person. The Agent also may rely upon any

statement made to it orally or by telephone and believed by it to be made by the proper Person, and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon other than as a result of its gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be counsel for the Borrower), independent accountants and other experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts other than as a result of its gross negligence or willful misconduct.

The Agent may perform any and all its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through any one or more sub-agents appointed by the Agent in the exercise of its reasonable judgment. The Agent and any such sub-agent may perform any and all its duties and exercise its rights and powers through their respective Related Parties. The exculpatory provisions of the preceding paragraphs shall apply to any such sub-agent and to the Related Parties of each Agent and any such sub-agent, and shall apply to their respective activities in connection with the syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein as well as activities as Agent.

The Agent may resign as Agent at any time upon 15 days notice to the Lenders and the Borrower. Upon any such resignation, the Required Lenders shall have the right, with the consent of the Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed and such consent not to be required if an Event of Default under clause (a), (b), (h) or (i) of Article VII has occurred and is continuing), to appoint a successor. If no successor shall have been so appointed by the Required Lenders and shall have accepted such appointment within 15 days after the retiring Agent gives notice of its resignation, then the retiring Agent may, with the consent of the Borrower (such consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed and such consent shall not be required if an Event of Default under clause (a), (b), (h) or (i) of Article VII has occurred and is continuing), on behalf of the Lenders, appoint a successor Agent which shall be a bank with an office in New York, New York, or an Affiliate of any such bank. Upon the acceptance of its appointment as Agent and Collateral Agent hereunder by a successor, such successor shall succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Agent, and the retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder. If no successor agent has accepted appointment as Agent by the date that is 5 days following a retiring Agent's notice of resignation, the retiring Agent's resignation shall nevertheless thereupon become effective, and the Lenders shall assume and perform all of the duties of the Agent hereunder until such time, if any, as the Required Lenders appoint a successor agent as provided for above. The fees payable by the Borrower to a successor Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise agreed in writing between the Borrower and such successor. After any Agent's resignation hereunder, the provisions of this Article and Section 9.03 shall continue in effect for the benefit of such retiring Agent, its sub-agents and their respective Related Parties in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by any of them while it was acting as Agent.

Pursuant to the Reorganization Plan, the Agent, on behalf of the Lenders, is empowered and authorized to execute and deliver to the Loan Parties the other Loan Documents and all related agreements, certificates, documents, or instruments as shall be necessary or appropriate to effect the purposes of the Loan Documents. Any action taken by the Agent or the Required Lenders (or any other instructing group of Lenders specified by this Agreement) in accordance with the terms of this Agreement or the other Loan Documents, and the exercise by the Agent or the Required Lenders (or any other instructing group of Lenders specified by this Agreement) of their respective powers set forth therein or herein, together with such other powers that are reasonably incidental thereto, shall be binding upon all of the Lenders.

Each Lender acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other Lender and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement. Each Lender also acknowledges

that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other Lender and based on such documents and information as it shall from time to time deem appropriate, continue to make its own decisions in taking or not taking action under or based upon this Agreement, any other Loan Document or related agreement or any document furnished hereunder or thereunder.

Neither the joint lead arrangers, the syndication agent nor the co-documentation agents listed on the cover page to this Agreement shall have any duties or responsibilities hereunder in their capacities as such.

ARTICLE IX

Miscellaneous

SECTION 9.01 <u>Notices</u>. (a) Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly permitted to be given by telephone (and subject to paragraph (b) below), all notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by telecopy, as follows:

- (i) if to the Borrower, to it at SuperMedia Inc., 2200 West Airfield Drive, DFW Airport, TX 75261, Attention of General Counsel (Telecopy No. (972) 453-6829);
- (ii) if to the Ultimate Parent, to it at NewDex, Inc., 1001 Winstead Drive, Cary, North Carolina, 27513, Attention of General Counsel (Telecopy No. (919) 297-1518)
- (iii) if to the Agents, to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Global Loan Operations, 500 Stanton Christiana Road, Ops 2, Floor 3, Newark, Delaware 19713, Attention of John Getchius (Telecopy No. (9302) 634-3301), with a copy to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 383 Madison Avenue, New York, New York 10179, Attention of Neil Boylan (Telecopy No. (212) 622-4560); and
- (iv) if to any other Lender, to it at its address (or telecopy number) set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire.
- (b) Notices and other communications to the Lenders hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by the Administrative Agent and the Borrower; <u>provided</u> that the foregoing shall not apply to notices pursuant to Article II unless otherwise agreed by the Administrative Agent and the applicable Lender. The Administrative Agent or the Borrower may, in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by it; <u>provided</u> that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications.
- (c) Any party hereto may change its address or telecopy number for notices and other communications hereunder by notice to the other parties hereto. All notices and other communications given to any party hereto in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been given on the date of receipt.

SECTION 9.02 <u>Waivers</u>; <u>Amendments</u>. (a) No failure or delay by the Agent or any Lender in exercising any right or power hereunder or under any other Loan Document shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such a right or power, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power. The rights and remedies of the Agent and the Lenders hereunder

and under the other Loan Documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies that they would otherwise have. No waiver of any provision of any Loan Document or consent to any departure by any Loan Party therefrom shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be permitted by paragraph (b) of this Section, and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the making, deemed making or maintenance of a Loan shall not be construed as a waiver of any Default, regardless of whether the Agent or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of such Default at the time.

(b) Neither this Agreement nor any other Loan Document nor any provision hereof or thereof may be waived, amended or modified except (x) in the case of this Agreement, pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by the Ultimate Parent, the Borrower and the Required Lenders, (y) in the case of any other Loan Document, pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by the Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, and the Loan Party or Loan Parties that are parties thereto, in each case with the consent of the Required Lenders or (z) in the case of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by the Loan Party or Loan Parties subject to such Loan Document, the Administrative Agent and, as applicable, the Shared Collateral Agent, to cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or inconsistency; provided that any such agreement to waive, amend or modify this Agreement or any other Loan Document or any provision hereof or thereof pursuant to the foregoing clause (z) shall also be made to the Dex East Credit Agreement or the Dex East Loan Documents, the Dex West Credit Agreement or the Dex West Loan Documents, or the RHDI Credit Agreement or the RHDI Loan Documents, as applicable; provided, further, that no such agreement shall (i) reduce the principal amount of any Loan held by any Lender or reduce the rate of interest thereon, or reduce any fees payable hereunder, without the written consent of such Lender, (ii) postpone the maturity of any Lender's Loan, or any scheduled date of payment of the principal amount of any Lender's Loans under Section 2.05, or any date for the payment of any interest or fees payable to any Lender hereunder, or reduce the amount of, waive or excuse any such payment, without the written consent of such Lender (it being understood that the waiver of any mandatory prepayment of Loans shall not constitute a postponement of any date scheduled for the payment of principal or interest), (iii) change Section 2.13(b) or (c) in a manner that would alter the pro rata sharing of payments required thereby, without the written consent of each Lender adversely affected thereby (it being understood that an amendment with respect to Section 2.15, and definitions related thereto, shall not be deemed to be a change to Section 2.13(b) or (c)), (iv) change any of the provisions of this Section or the percentage set forth in the definition of "Required Lenders" or any other provision of any Loan Document specifying the number or percentage of Lenders required to waive, amend or modify any rights hereunder or thereunder or make any determination or grant any consent thereunder, without the written consent of each Lender, (v) except as provided by Section 9.14, release any Guarantor from its Guarantee under a Collateral Agreement, Newco Subordinated Guarantee or other applicable Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document (except as expressly provided in the applicable Collateral Agreement, Newco Subordinated Guarantee or other Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document), or limit its liability in respect of such Guarantee, without the written consent of each Lender or (vi) release all or substantially all the Collateral from the Liens of the Security Documents and Shared Collateral Security Documents, without the written consent of each Lender; provided, further that no such agreement shall amend, modify or otherwise affect the rights or duties of the Agent without the prior written consent of the Agent. Notwithstanding the other provisions of this paragraph, any provision of this Agreement may be amended by an agreement in writing entered into by the Ultimate Parent, the Borrower, the Required Lenders and the Agent if at the time such amendment becomes effective, each Lender not consenting thereto receives payment in full of the principal of and interest accrued on each Loan held by it and all other amounts owing to it or accrued for its account under the Loan Documents. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, no Defaulting Lender shall have the right to approve or disapprove any waiver, amendment or other modification to any Loan Document, and any such

Defaulting Lender's Loans shall be disregarded for the purpose of calculating Required Lenders, except for waivers, amendments or other modifications that relate to any of the matters described in the first proviso to this Section 9.02(b).

SECTION 9.03 Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver. (a) The Borrower shall pay (i) all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent, the joint lead arrangers listed on the cover page of this Agreement and their Affiliates, including the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of (a) a single transaction and documentation counsel for the Agent, such joint arrangers and such Affiliates and (b) such other local counsel and special counsel as may be required in the reasonable judgment of the Agent and whose retention has been approved in writing by the Borrower, in connection with the structuring, arrangement and syndication of the credit facilities provided herein, the preparation and administration of the Loan Documents or any amendments, modifications or waivers of the provisions thereof (whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby shall be consummated), (ii) all documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Administrative Agent or any Lender (including the fees, charges and disbursements of (a) a single transaction and documentation counsel for the Agent, the joint lead arrangers, and any Lender and (b) such other local counsel and special counsel as may be required in the reasonable judgment of the Administrative Agent and the joint lead arrangers) in connection with the enforcement or protection of its rights in connection with the Loan Documents, including its rights under this Section, or in connection with the Loans, including all such out-of-pocket expenses incurred during any workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect of such Loans and (iii) all other reasonable out-of-pocket expenses as may be separately agreed with the Administrative Agent.

(b) The Borrower shall indemnify the Agent, each Lender, each joint lead arranger listed on the cover page of this Agreement and each Related Party of any of the foregoing Persons (each such Person being called an "Indemnitee") against, and hold each Indemnitee harmless from, any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and related expenses, including the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of (a) a single transaction and documentation counsel for any Indemnitee and (b) such other local counsel and special counsel as may be required in the reasonable judgment of the Administrative Agent and the joint lead arrangers, incurred by or asserted against any Indemnitee (excluding Taxes, which are governed by Section 2.12) arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (i) the structuring, arrangement, and syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein, (ii) the execution or delivery of any Loan Document or any other agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the performance by the parties to the Loan Documents of their obligations thereunder or the consummation the Transactions, (iii) any Loan or the use of the proceeds therefrom, (iv) any actual or alleged presence or Release of Hazardous Materials on or from any Mortgaged Property or any Environmental Liability related in any way to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or (v) any actual or prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other theory, and regardless of whether such claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding is brought by a third party or the Borrower or any of its Affiliates and regardless of whether any Indemnitee is a party thereto; provided that such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct of, or breach of its obligations under this Agreement or any other Loan Document by, such Indemnitee or any of its Related Parties. For the avoidance of doubt, it is acknowledged hereby that nothing contained in this Agreement is or shall be deemed to constitute an indemnification by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of any Lender in its capacity as a holder of Equity Interests of the Borrower for any loss, cause, claim, expense, liability, cause or action or damage arising under or in connection with United States federal or state securities laws.

(c) To the extent that the Borrower fails to pay any amount required to be paid by it to the Agent under paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section, each Lender severally agrees to pay to the Agent

such Lender's *pro rata* share (determined as of the time that the applicable unreimbursed expense or indemnity payment is sought) of such unpaid amount; <u>provided</u> that the unreimbursed expense or indemnified loss, claim, damage, liability or related expense, as the case may be, was incurred by or asserted against the Agent in its capacity as such. For purposes hereof, a Lender's "<u>pro rata share</u>" shall be determined based upon its share of the sum of the total outstanding Loans at the time.

- (d) No Indemnitee referred to in subsection (b) above shall be liable for any damages arising from the wrongful use by unintended recipients of any information or other materials distributed by it through telecommunications, electronic or other information transmission systems in connection with this Agreement or the other Loan Documents or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby, except to the extent arising from the bad faith, gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee or any of its Related Parties, nor shall any Indemnitee or any Loan Party have any liability for any special, punitive, indirect or consequential damages relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or arising out of its activities in connection herewith or therewith (whether before or after the Closing Date).
- (e) All amounts due under this Section shall be payable not later than 15 Business Days after written demand therefor, together with an invoice setting forth in reasonable detail such amounts and the basis therefor.

SECTION 9.04 Successors and Assigns. (a) The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that (i) the Borrower may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of each Lender (and any attempted assignment or transfer by the Borrower without such consent shall be null and void) and (ii) no Lender may assign or otherwise transfer its rights or obligations hereunder except in accordance with this Section. Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their successors and assigns permitted hereby, Participants (to the extent provided in paragraph (c) of this Section) and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the Related Parties of each of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.

- (b) (i) Subject to the conditions set forth in paragraph (b)(ii) below and applicable law, any Lender may assign to one or more assignees all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of the Loans at the time owing to it), with the prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) of:
 - (A) the Borrower, <u>provided</u> that no consent of the Borrower shall be required (x) for an assignment of Loans to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund (as defined below) or (y) if an Event of Default under clause (a), (b), (i) or (j) of Article VII has occurred and is continuing, to any assignee; and
 - (B) the Administrative Agent, <u>provided</u> that no consent of the Administrative Agent shall be required for an assignment of Loans to an assignee that is a Lender immediately prior to giving effect to such assignment, an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund.
 - (ii) Assignments shall be subject to the following conditions:
 - (A) except in the case of an assignment to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund, the amount of Loans of the assigning Lender subject to each such assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment and Assumption with respect to

such assignment is delivered to the Administrative Agent) shall not be less than \$1,000,000, unless each of the Borrower and the Administrative Agent expressly consent to the assignment of a lesser amount, <u>provided</u> that (i) no such consent of the Borrower shall be required if an Event of Default under clause (a), (b), (h) or (i) of Article VII has occurred and is continuing and (ii) the principal amount of concurrent assignments to related Approved Funds shall be aggregated for purposes of determining compliance with the foregoing minimum assignment amounts.

- (B) each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement;
- (C) the parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent an Assignment and Assumption, together with a processing and recordation fee of \$3,500; and
- (D) the assignee, if it shall not be a Lender, shall deliver to the Administrative Agent an Administrative Questionnaire in which the assignee designates one or more credit contacts to whom all syndicate-level information (which may contain material non-public information about the Loan Parties and their Related Parties or their securities) will be made available and who may receive such information in accordance with the assignee's compliance procedures and applicable laws, including Federal and state securities laws.

For purposes of this Section 9.04(b), the term "Approved Fund" has the following

"Approved Fund" means any Person (other than an natural person) that is engaged in making, purchasing, holding or investing in bank loans and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course and that is administered or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c) any entity or an Affiliate of an entity that administers or manages a Lender.

meaning:

- (iii) Subject to acceptance and recording thereof pursuant to paragraph (b)(iv) of this Section, from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Assumption the assignee thereunder shall be a party hereto and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, be released from its obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Assumption covering all of the assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a party hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Sections 2.10, 2.11, 2.12 and 9.03). Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this Section 9.04 shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with paragraph (c) of this Section.
- (iv) The Administrative Agent, acting for this purpose as an agent of the Borrower, shall maintain at one of its offices a copy of each Assignment and Assumption delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders and the principal amount of the Loans owing to each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time, which register shall indicate that each Lender is entitled to interest paid with respect to such Loans (the "Register"). Absent demonstrable error, the entries in the Register shall be

conclusive, and the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders may treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the contrary. The Register shall be available for inspection by the Borrower and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.

- (v) Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assignment and Assumption executed by an assigning Lender and an assignee, the assignee's completed Administrative Questionnaire (unless the assignee shall already be a Lender hereunder), the processing and recordation fee referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section and any written consent to such assignment required by paragraph (b) of this Section, the Administrative Agent shall accept such Assignment and Assumption and record the information contained therein in the Register. No assignment shall be effective for purposes of this Agreement unless it has been recorded in the Register as provided in this paragraph.
- (c) (i) Any Lender may, without the consent of, or notice to, the Borrower and the Administrative Agent sell participations to one or more banks or other entities (a "Participant") in all or a portion of such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of the Loans owing to it); provided that (A) such Lender's obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (B) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (C) the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement. Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement; provided that such agreement or instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment, modification or waiver described in the first proviso to Section 9.02(b) that affects such Participant. Subject to paragraph (c)(ii) of this Section, the Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Sections 2.10, 2.11 and 2.12 (subject to the requirements and limitations therein, including the requirements under Section 2.12(e) (it being understood that the documentation required under Section 2.12(e) shall be delivered to the participating Lender)) to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section. To the extent permitted by law, each Participant also shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 9.08 as though it were a Lender, provided such Participant agrees to be subject to Section 2.13(c) as though it were a Lender.
 - (ii) A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section 2.10 or 2.12 than the applicable Lender would have been entitled to receive with respect to the participation sold to such Participant, unless the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Borrower's prior written consent.
 - (iii) Each Lender that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this purpose as an agent of the Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each Participant and the principal amounts (and stated interest) of each Participant's interest in the Loans or other obligations under this Agreement (the "Participant Register"). The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary.
- (d) Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender, including without limitation any

pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank, and this Section shall not apply to any such pledge or assignment of a security interest; <u>provided</u> that no such pledge or assignment of a security interest shall release a Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.

SECTION 9.05 <u>Survival</u>. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made by the Loan Parties in the Loan Documents and in the certificates or other instruments delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be considered to have been relied upon by the other parties hereto and shall survive the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents and the making of any Loans, regardless of any investigation made by any such other party or on its behalf and notwithstanding that the Administrative Agent or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of any Default or incorrect representation or warranty at the time any credit is extended hereunder, and shall continue in full force and effect as long as the principal of or any accrued interest on any Loan or any fee or any other amount payable under this Agreement is outstanding. The provisions of Sections 2.10, 2.11, 2.12 and 9.03 and Article VIII shall survive and remain in full force and effect regardless of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the repayment of the Loans or the termination of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

SECTION 9.06 Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. This Agreement, the other Loan Documents and any separate letter agreements with respect to fees payable to the Administrative Agent constitute the entire contract among the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof. Except as provided in Article IV, this Agreement shall become effective when it shall have been executed by the Administrative Agent and when the Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts hereof which, when taken together, bear the signatures of each of the other parties hereto, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by email or telecopy shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.

SECTION 9.07 <u>Severability</u>. Any provision of this Agreement held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.

SECTION 9.08 <u>Right of Setoff</u>. If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, each Lender is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held and other obligations at any time owing by such Lender to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against any of and all the obligations of the Borrower now or hereafter existing under this Agreement held by such Lender (other than deposits held in a custodial, trust or fiduciary capacity), irrespective of whether or not such Lender shall have made any demand under this Agreement and although such obligations may be unmatured. The rights of each Lender under this Section are in addition to other rights and remedies (including other rights of setoff) which such Lender may have.

SECTION 9.09 Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process. (a) THIS AGREEMENT AND THE RIGHTS AND OBLIGATIONS OF THE PARTIES UNDER THIS

AGREEMENT SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED AND INTERPRETED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAW OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK.

- (b) Each party hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of the State of New York sitting in New York County and of the United States District Court of the Southern District of New York, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to any Loan Document, or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such New York State or, to the extent permitted by law, in such Federal court. Each party hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document will prevent any Lender or the Agent from bringing any action to enforce any award or judgment or exercise any right under the Security Documents or against any Collateral or any other property of any Loan Party in any other forum in which jurisdiction can be established.
- (c) Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document in any court referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court.
- (d) Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner provided for notices in Section 9.01. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.
- (e) [After the Closing Date, the Bankruptcy Court's retention of jurisdiction shall not govern the interpretation or enforcement of the Loan Documents or any rights or remedies related thereto.]⁴²

WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.

SECTION 9.11 <u>Headings</u>. Article and Section headings and the Table of Contents used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Agreement and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Agreement.

_

⁴² To be included if applicable.

SECTION 9.12 Confidentiality. Each of the Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its and its Affiliates' trustees, directors, officers, employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other advisors in connection with the Transactions (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential), (b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority, (c) to the extent required by applicable laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party to this Agreement, (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or any suit, action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (f) subject to an agreement for the benefit of the Borrower containing provisions substantially the same as those of this Section, to (i) any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of or Participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement, (ii) any pledgee referred to in Section 9.04(d) or (iii) any actual or prospective counterparty (or its advisors) to any swap or derivative transaction relating to the Borrower and its obligations, (g) with the consent of the Borrower or (h) to the extent such Information (i) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section or (ii) becomes available to the Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than the Borrower (other than a source actually known by such party to be bound by confidentiality obligations). For the purposes of this Section, "Information" means all information received from the Borrower or its Related Parties relating to the Borrower, its Subsidiaries or its business, other than any such information that is available to the Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by the Borrower (other than a source actually known by such party to be bound by confidentiality obligations). Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such Person would accord other its own confidential information.

Each Lender acknowledges that Information furnished to it pursuant to this Agreement or the other Loan Documents may include material non-public information concerning the Borrower and its Related Parties or its or their securities, and confirms that it has developed compliance procedures regarding the use of material non-public information and that it will handle such material non-public information in accordance with the procedures and applicable law, including Federal, State and foreign securities laws.

All Information, including requests for waivers and amendments, furnished by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent pursuant to, or in the course of administering, this Agreement will be syndicate-level information, which may contain material non-public information about the Borrower and the Subsidiaries and its and their Related Parties or securities. Accordingly, each Lender represents to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent that it has identified in its Administrative Questionnaire a credit contact who may receive information that may contain material non-public information in accordance with its compliance procedures and applicable law, including Federal, State and foreign securities laws.

SECTION 9.13 <u>U.S.A. PATRIOT Act</u>. The Administrative Agent and each Lender hereby notifies the Borrower, for itself and its Subsidiaries, that pursuant to the requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the "<u>Act</u>"), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the Loan Parties, which information includes the name and address of the Loan Parties and other information that will allow the Administrative Agent and such Lender to identify the Loan Parties in accordance with the Act.

SECTION 9.14 <u>Termination or Release</u>. (a) At such time as the Loans, all accrued interest and fees under this Agreement and all other obligations of the SuperMedia Loan Parties under the

Loan Documents then due and payable (other than obligations under Sections 2.10, 2.12 and 9.03 that are not then due and payable) shall have been paid in full in cash, (i) the Collateral shall be released from the Liens created by the Security Documents and, with respect to the SuperMedia Obligations, the Shared Collateral Security Documents and (ii) and the obligations (other than those expressly stated to survive termination) of the Administrative Agent and each Loan Party under the Security Documents and, with respect to the SuperMedia Obligations, the Shared Collateral Security Documents shall terminate, all without delivery of any instrument or performance of any act by any Person.

- (b) A Subsidiary Loan Party shall automatically be released from its obligations under the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and any other Loan Document and the security interests in the Collateral of such Subsidiary Loan Party shall be automatically released upon the consummation of any transaction permitted by this Agreement as a result of which such Subsidiary Loan Party ceases to be a Subsidiary of the Borrower.
- (c) Upon any sale or other transfer by any SuperMedia Loan Party of any Collateral that is permitted under this Agreement to any Person that is not a SuperMedia Loan Party, or upon the effectiveness of any written consent to the release of the security interest granted by the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement in any Collateral of the SuperMedia Loan Parties pursuant to Section 9.02 of this Agreement, the security interest in such Collateral shall be automatically released (it being understood that, in the case of a sale or other transfer to a Shared Collateral Loan Party, such Collateral shall become subject to a security interest in favor of the Shared Collateral Agent as to the extent set forth in the Shared Collateral Security Documents upon the consummation of such sale or other transfer).
- (d) In connection with any termination or release pursuant to paragraph (a), (b) or (c) of this Section 9.14, the Collateral Agent shall execute and deliver to any Loan Party at such Loan Party's expense all documents that such Loan Party shall reasonably request to evidence such termination or release. Any execution and delivery of documents pursuant to this Section 9.14 shall be without recourse to or warranty by the Collateral Agent or any Lender.

SECTION 9.15 No Fiduciary Relationship. Each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower hereby acknowledges and agrees that (a) no fiduciary, advisory or agency relationship between the Loan Parties and the Credit Parties is intended to be or has been created in respect of any of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the other Loan Documents, irrespective of whether the Credit Parties have advised or are advising the Loan Parties on other matters, and the relationship between the Credit Parties, on the one hand, and the Loan Parties, on the other hand, in connection herewith and therewith is solely that of creditor and debtor, (b) the Credit Parties, on the one hand, and the Loan Parties, on the other hand, have an arm's length business relationship that does not directly or indirectly give rise to, nor do the Loan Parties rely on, any fiduciary duty to the Loan Parties or their affiliates on the part of the Credit Parties, (c) the Loan Parties are capable of evaluating and understanding, and the Loan Parties understand and accept, the terms, risks and conditions of the transactions contemplated by this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, (d) the Loan Parties have been advised that the Credit Parties are engaged in a broad range of transactions that may involve interests that differ from the Loan Parties' interests and that the Credit Parties have no obligation to disclose such interests and transactions to the Loan Parties, (e) the Loan Parties have consulted their own legal, accounting, regulatory and tax advisors to the extent the Loan Parties have deemed appropriate in the negotiation, execution and delivery of this Agreement and the other Loan Documents, (f) each Credit Party has been, is, and will be acting solely as a principal and, except as otherwise expressly agreed in writing by it and the relevant parties, has not been, is not, and will not be acting as an advisor, agent or fiduciary for the Loan Parties, any of their affiliates or any other Person, (g) none of the Credit Parties has any obligation to the Loan Parties or their affiliates with respect to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the other Loan Documents except those obligations expressly set forth herein or therein or

in any other express writing executed and delivered by such Credit Party and the Loan Parties or any such affiliate and (h) no joint venture is created hereby or by the other Loan Documents or otherwise exists by virtue of the transactions contemplated hereby among the Credit Parties or among the Loan Parties and the Credit Parties.

SECTION 9.16 <u>Intercreditor Agreement</u>. Each Lender agrees that it will be bound by, and shall take no actions contrary to, the provisions of the Intercreditor Agreement or any intercreditor agreement entered into in connection with any Newco Subordinated Guarantee and authorizes the Administrative Agent to enter into the Intercreditor Agreement and any intercreditor agreement to be entered into in connection with any Newco Subordinated Guarantee (which shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) on its behalf.

SECTION 9.17 <u>Amendment and Restatement</u>. On the Closing Date, the Existing Credit Agreement will be automatically amended and restated in its entirety to read in full as set forth herein, and all of the provisions of this Agreement which were previously not effective or enforceable shall become effective and enforceable. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, subject to the satisfaction (or waiver) of the conditions set forth in Section 4.01, the Lenders hereby waive, and shall be deemed to have waived, each Default and Event of Default under (and as defined in) the Existing Credit Agreement in existence as of the Closing Date to the extent (i) arising out of the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases or (ii) such Default or Event of Default otherwise shall have occurred and be continuing based on facts known to the Administrative Agent or any Lender as of the Closing Date.

SECTION 9.18 [No Requirement of Lender Signatures. Each Lender listed on Schedule 2.01 shall be a party hereto in accordance with the Reorganization Plan and, pursuant to the Reorganization Plan, is bound hereby without the requirement of any such Lender to execute a signature page hereto.]⁴³

⁴³ To be included if applicable.

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 228 of 483

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Borrower and the Agents have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers or representatives as of the day and year first above written.

SUPERMEDIA INC.,
by
Name:
Title:
DEX ONE CORPORATION,
by
Name:
Title:
JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,
as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent
by
Name:
Title:

EXHIBIT B TO THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS

FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS

Below are the consolidated projected financial results ("<u>Projections</u>") for Newdex for the years ending 2012 through 2016 (the "<u>Projection Period</u>"). The Projections should be read in conjunction with the respective SEC filings of the Debtors and Dex One, the Plan, this Disclosure Statement, the Shareholder Disclosure Statement, the Dex One Plan and Dex One lender disclosure statement, in their entirety.

Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Disclosure Statement contains or incorporates by reference certain forward-looking statements, including statements about the financial condition, results of operations, earnings outlook and prospects of each of the Debtors and Dex One, whether and when the Effective Date will occur, and the benefits of combination of the Debtors and Dex One, which are subject to numerous assumptions, risks and uncertainties. These forward-looking statements are found at various places throughout this Disclosure Statement, including in this Exhibit B and in ARTICLE VIII, entitled "Certain Factors to be Considered." You can find many of these statements by looking for words such as "plan," "believe," "expect," "intend," "anticipate," "estimate," "project," "potential," "possible" or other similar expressions. Actual results could differ materially from those contained or implied by such statements for a variety of factors, including:

- the continuing decline in the use of print directories;
- increased competition, particularly from existing and emerging digital technologies;
- ongoing weak economic conditions and continued decline in advertising sales;
- the Debtors' and Dex One's abilities to collect trade receivables from customers to whom they extend credit;
- the Debtors' and Dex One's abilities to generate sufficient cash to service their debt;
- the Debtors' and Dex One's abilities to comply with the financial covenants contained in their debt agreements and the potential impact to operations and liquidity as a result of restrictive covenants in such debt agreements;
- the Debtors' and Dex One's abilities to refinance or restructure their debt on reasonable terms and
 conditions as might be necessary from time to time, including without limitation, obtaining approval of
 the Debtors' senior secured creditors and Dex One's senior secured creditors with respect to the
 Newdex Credit Agreements required under the Merger Agreement;
- increasing interest rates;
- changes in the companies' and the companies' subsidiaries' credit ratings;
- changes in accounting standards;
- regulatory changes and judicial rulings impacting the companies' businesses;
- adverse results from litigation, governmental investigations or tax related proceedings or audits;
- the effect of labor strikes, lock-outs and negotiations;
- successful realization of the expected benefits of acquisitions, divestitures and joint ventures;

- the Debtors' and Dex One's abilities to maintain agreements with major internet search and local media companies;
- the Debtors' and Dex One's reliance on third-party vendors for various services;
- other events beyond the Debtors' and Dex One's control that may result in unexpected adverse operating results;
- the ability of the Debtors and Dex One to effect the Merger on the terms set forth in the Merger Agreement;
- the risk that anticipated cost savings, growth opportunities, and other financial and operating benefits as a result of the Merger may not be realized or may take longer to realize than expected;
- the risk that benefits from the Merger may be significantly offset by costs incurred in integrating the companies;
- potential adverse impacts or delay in effecting the Merger as a result of obtaining consents from lenders to the Debtors or Dex One;
- failure to receive the approval of the stockholders of either the SuperMedia or Dex One for the Merger;
- difficulties in connection with the process of integrating the Debtors and Dex One, including: coordinating geographically separate organizations; integrating business cultures, which could prove to be incompatible; difficulties and costs of integrating information technology systems; and the potential difficulty in retaining key officers and personnel;
- the ability of the Debtors and Dex One to effect the Merger on the terms set forth in the Plan or Dex One Plan, as applicable;
- the risks related to the impact of any chapter 11 cases and the Plan or Dex One Plan, as applicable, could have on the Debtors' and Dex One's, as applicable, business operations, financial condition, liquidity, or cash flow;
- the possibility that the Bankruptcy Court does not confirm the Plan or Dex One Plan, if filed, or requires a re-solicitation of the votes;
- the risks related to other parties objecting to the Plan or Dex One Plan, if filed, and the resulting cost and expenses of delays in any chapter 11 cases; and
- each of the Debtors and Dex One, if Dex One commences any chapter 11 cases, will incur significant, non-recurring costs in connection with the administration of their bankruptcy cases.

In light of these assumptions, risks and uncertainties, the results anticipated by the forward-looking statements contained in this Disclosure Statement or made by representatives of the Debtors or Dex One may not occur. You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof or, in the case of statements incorporated by reference, on the date of the document incorporated by reference, or, in the case of statements made by representatives of the Debtors or Dex One, on the date those statements are made. All subsequent written and oral forward-looking statements concerning the Merger or Newdex or other matters addressed in this Disclosure Statement and attributable to the Debtors or Dex One or any person acting on their behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section. All forward-looking statements included in this Disclosure Statement are based on information available at the time of the document. Except to the extent required by applicable law or regulation, neither the Debtors nor Dex One assumes any obligation to update any forward-looking statement.

For additional information about factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements, please see the reports that the Debtors and Dex One have filed with the SEC.

Financial Forecasts

The Debtors generally do not provide public financial forecasts, and Dex One generally does not make public financial forecasts as to future performance, earnings or other results beyond the current fiscal year. Each party is especially cautious of making financial forecasts for extended periods due to the unpredictability of the underlying assumptions and estimates. However, prior to entering into the Merger Agreement, each of the parties provided the other party and the parties' respective financial advisors with non-public internal forecasts that were prepared by management for planning purposes and not for public disclosure and that are subjective in many respects. The parties have included below a subset of these management forecasts to give holders of Claims access to certain non-public information that was furnished to and considered by the parties.

The summary of the management forecasts is not being included in this Disclosure Statement to influence the decision of a holder of Claims as to whether to vote to accept the Plan, but is included because the management forecasts were provided by each of the parties to the other party and the parties' respective financial advisors. The management forecasts, while presented with numerical specificity, necessarily were based on numerous variables and assumptions that are inherently uncertain and may be beyond the control of the parties' management. Important factors that may affect actual results and cause the management forecasts to not be achieved include, but are not limited to, risks and uncertainties relating to each party's business (including its ability to achieve strategic goals, objectives and targets over applicable periods), industry performance, the regulatory environment, general business and economic conditions and other factors. The management forecasts also reflect assumptions as to certain business decisions that are subject to change. Further, events and circumstances occurring subsequent to the date on which the financial projections were prepared may be different from those assumed, or, alternatively, may have been unanticipated, and the occurrence of these events may affect financial results in a materially adverse or materially beneficial manner. As a result, actual results may differ materially from those contained in the management forecasts. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the management forecasts will be realized.

The inclusion of the management forecasts in this Disclosure Statement should not be regarded as an indication that either party or any of their respective officers, directors, advisors or representatives considered or consider the management forecasts to be predictive of actual future events, and the management forecasts should not be relied upon as such. Neither party nor any of their respective officers, directors, advisors or representatives can give any assurance that actual results will not differ from the management forecasts, and none of them undertakes any obligation to update or otherwise revise or reconcile the management forecasts to reflect circumstances existing after the date the management forecasts were generated or to reflect the occurrence of future events even in the event that any or all of the assumptions underlying the management forecasts are shown to be in error. The parties do not intend to, and disclaim any obligation to, make publicly available any update or other revision to the management forecasts. Neither party nor any of their respective affiliates, advisors, officers, directors or representatives has made or makes any representation to any holder of Claims of the Debtors or Dex One or other person regarding the parties' ultimate performance compared to the information contained in the management forecasts or that forecasted results will be achieved. Neither party has made any representation in the Merger Agreement or otherwise, concerning the management forecasts.

In light of the foregoing factors and the uncertainties inherent in the management forecasts, holders of Claims are cautioned not to place undue, if any, reliance on the management forecasts.

The Projections have been prepared based on assumption that the Effective Date is March 31, 2013 and assume the successful implementation of the Debtors' and Dex One's business plans for the combined company. Although the Debtors and Dex One presently intend to cause the Effective Date to occur as soon as practicable, there can be no assurance as to when, or if, the Effective Date will actually occur. The projections are based on, among other things, the following: (a) current and projected market conditions in each of the Debtors' and Dex One's respective markets; (b) the ability to maintain sufficient working capital to fund operations; and (c) consummation of the Merger under the Plan.

The Projections were not prepared with a view towards complying with the Guidelines for Prospective Financial Statements published by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The Debtors' and Dex One's respective independent accountants have not reviewed the accompanying projections to determine the reasonableness thereof and, accordingly, have not expressed an opinion or any other form of assurance with respect thereto. In addition, the Debtors' and Dex One's financial advisors do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance with respect to the Projections, assumed no responsibility for the Projections, and disclaim any association with the Projections.

The Projections have been prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable. The Projections include assumptions with respect to various financial accounts of the companies, which are based upon the managements' estimates and market conditions.

Business combination adjustments have not been reflected in the Projections. The debt balances in the Projections reflect debt outstanding and do not have any existing or pro forma fair market value adjustments factored into such debt balances.

EBITDA is measured as earnings (defined as total operating revenue less total operating expenses, as described below) before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization. Adjusted EBITDA is determined by adjusting EBITDA for (1) gain on debt repurchases, (2) stock-based compensation expense and long-term incentive program, (3) impairment charges, (4) gain on sale of assets, net and (5) restructuring charges and other non-recurring items including transaction-related costs. EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA are not measurements of operating performance computed in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as a substitute for net income (loss) prepared in conformity with GAAP. In addition, EBITDA and Adjusted EBITDA may not be comparable to similarly titled measures of other companies. Management of Dex One and the Debtors believe that these non-GAAP financial measures are important indicators of the companies' respective operations because they exclude items that may not be indicative of, or related to, the companies' core operating results, and provide a better baseline for analyzing the companies' underlying business. EBITDA is a metric used by the companies' management and is frequently used by the financial community to provide insight into an organization's operating trends and to facilitate comparisons between peer companies, since interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization can differ greatly between organizations as a result of differing capital structures and tax strategies.

Leveraged free cash flow is not a measurement of operating performance computed in accordance with GAAP and should not be considered as a substitute for cash flow from operations prepared in conformity with GAAP. In addition, leveraged free cash flow may not be comparable to a similarly titled measure of other companies. Management believes that this cash flow measure provides investors and holders of Claims with a relevant measure of liquidity and a useful basis for assessing the Debtors' and Dex One's ability to fund their activities and obligations.

Management of Dex One and the Debtors prepared the Projections for Dex One and the Debtors, respectively, for the years ending December 31, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, and 2016. The Projections are based on a number of assumptions, and while Dex One and the Debtors have prepared the Projections in good faith and believe the assumptions to be reasonable, it is important to note that the companies' can provide no assurance that such assumptions will ultimately be realized. In deciding whether to vote to accept the Plan, holders of Claims must make their own determinations as to the reasonableness of such assumptions and the reliability of the Projections. The Projections should be read in conjunction with the assumptions, qualifications and notes contained herein, the risk factors described <u>ARTICLE VIII</u> of this Disclosure Statement, entitled "Certain Factors to be Considered," the section above entitled "Cautionary Statement about Forward Looking Statements," and the historical financial statements filed by the Debtors and Dex One.

The following summarizes the underlying key assumptions upon which the Projections were based.

Operating Revenue

The Debtors and Dex One derive operating revenue primarily from the sale of advertising in their print directories ("<u>Print Revenue</u>") and from internet-based marketing solutions including online directories ("<u>Digital</u> Revenue").

Growth in operating revenue can be affected by several factors, including changes in the number of advertising customers, changes in the pricing of advertising, changes in the quantity of advertising purchased per customer, changes in the size of the sales force and the introduction of new products. In addition, growth in operating revenue can be affected by the ongoing advertiser and consumer shift toward internet-delivered advertisement and away from the print directory. The Projections reflect the Debtors' and Dex One's expectation for continued change in its overall operating revenue mix by forecasting a consistent decline in Print Revenue that is partially offset by growth in Digital Revenue.

The revenue projections were prepared jointly between the Debtors and Dex One. The Debtors' Digital Revenue excludes revenue from Idearc Inceptor, LLC, which was divested in August 2012. The Debtors' and Dex One's management made certain adjustments to the Projections based on their views of the industry and potential new business prospects as well as potential business delays and other risks and contingencies related to the potential bankruptcy filing.

	Dex One				The Debtors				Pro Forma Combined									
	2011A	2012E	2013E	2014E	2015E	2016E	2011PF	2012E	2013E	2014E	2015E	2016E	2011PF	2012E	2013E	2014E	2015E	2016E
Print & Direct Mail	1,320	1,068	841	690	566	466	1,406	1,145	919	754	618	507	2,726	2,213	1,761	1,444	1,184	975
Digital ⁽¹⁾	159	240	334	416	508	615	256	235	271	339	413	501	416	475	604	754	920	1,117
Other	17	11	7	7	7	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	17	11	7	7	7	7
Allowances & Credits	(16)	(14)	(15)	(14)	(14)	(14)	(37)	(27)	(24)	(22)	(21)	(20)	(53)	(41)	(39)	(36)	(35)	(35)
Net Revenue ⁽¹⁾	1,481	1,304	1,167	1,098	1,066	1,077	1,625	1,353	1,166	1,071	1,010	988	3,106	2,657	2,333	2,169	2,076	2,065
Year-over-Yea	r Growth	Rates																
Print & Direct Mail		-19%	-21%	-18%	-18%	-18%		-19%	-20%	-18%	-18%	-18%		-19%	-20%	-18%	-18%	-18%
Digital		51%	39%	25%	22%	21%		-8%	15%	25%	22%	22%		14%	27%	25%	22%	21%
Net Revenue		-12%	-11%	-6%	-3%	1%		-17%	-14%	-8%	-6%	-2%		-14%	-12%	-7%	-4%	-1%

 $⁽¹⁾ The\ Debtors'\ Digital\ Revenue\ excludes\ revenue\ from\ Idearc\ Inceptor,\ LLC,\ which\ was\ divested\ in\ August\ 2012.$

Operating Expenses

Operating expense (excluding depreciation and amortization) includes the cost of sales, direct selling expense as well as general and administrative costs. Costs directly attributable to producing print directories as well as sales commissions are amortized over the average life of a directory or advertising service. All other costs are expensed as incurred.

The Debtors and Dex One expect expenses to increase as a percentage of revenue principally due to the inability to completely offset the decline in Print Revenue with incremental cost reductions. As Digital Revenue increases, expenses are expected to increase but the companies expect to recognize some economies of scale to partially offset the expenses.

Based on an in-depth review of the potential synergies by the management of both companies estimated that the combined companies could achieve \$150 to \$175 million of operating expense savings related to the mergers. These cost savings are expected to be realized across all categories of operating expenses. Associated with these savings are certain costs to incur those savings. The Debtors and Dex One have forecasted that these costs will largely offset the expense savings in the first year following the Merger but that the combined company

should be able to recognize its full annual cost savings by 2015. The annual synergies and the associated costs assumed in the Projections are shown in the table below. These cost savings are included in the Projections as a reduction to the forecasted operating expenses.

\$ millions	2013	2014	2015	2016
Gross Synergies	\$ 60	\$ 125	\$ 175	\$ 175
Cost to Achieve	(77)	(21)	0	0
Net Synergies	\$ (17)	\$ 104	175	175

Taxes

The Projections assume that the RHDI NOL carryforward will partially be offset by cancellation of indebtedness income upon the amendment of the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement. It is assumed, however, that the NOL carryforward will still have a significant balance following the Merger that will offset the taxable income of the combined companies over the Projection Period. In addition, the Projections assume that the cancellation of indebtedness income incurred upon the consummation of the Merger will generate original issue discount deductions for U.S. federal income tax purposes at all four credit silos. It is anticipated that the amount of original issue discount will also partially offset Newdex's taxable income over the Projection Period. The Projections assume that certain tax sharing payments are made between and among the related entities in accordance with the tax sharing agreements.

Post-Merger Debt

The Projections assume that the current capital structure of the combined companies will be substantially similar to their independent pre-Merger structures. As per the amended terms of these agreements, the debt is assumed to remain outstanding throughout the Projection Period. The Projections further assume that the [Borrowers' Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow and Voluntary Prepayments] (as those terms are defined in the applicable amended and restated credit agreements) of debt are completed at par. The cash interest paid under each loan agreement is calculated London Interbank Offered Rate (assumed to be 3.0% throughout the Projection Period) plus the respective applicable margins. The applicable margins are 8.60% for SuperMedia, 6.75% for RHDI, 3.0% for Dex East and 5.0% for Dex West.

Capital Expenditures

The capital expenditure requirements of the companies' business are modest and forecasted to represent between 1.5% and 2.0% of annual operating revenues.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank]

Newdex (Consolidated Pro Forma Company)

\$MM			Newdex		
	2012E	2013E	2014E	2015E	2016E
Revenue	\$2,657	\$2,333	\$2,169	\$2,077	\$2,065
Adj EBITDA—Pre Synergies	1,094	882	732	607	544
Synergies, net		(17)	104	175	175
Adj EBITDA	1,094	865	836	782	719
Bank Debt Interest	(316)	(292)	(259)	(216)	(176)
Bond Debt Interest	(22)	(16)	(17)	(19)	(20)
Taxes/Tax Sharing	(111)	(63)	(23)	(37)	(41)
Other	(67)	(141)	(63)	(72)	(71)
Leveraged Free Cash Flow	578	352	474	439	412
Debt, ending	3,467	3,072	2,616	2,196	1,805
Cash, ending	249	190	191	192	192
Net Debt, ending	3,217	2,881	2,424	2,004	1,613
Net Debt/Adj EBITDA	2.9x	3.3x	2.9x	2.6x	2.2x

Dex East

\$MM			Dex East		
	2012E	2013E	2014E	2015E	2016E
Revenue	\$348	\$308	\$292	\$285	\$288
Adj EBITDA—Pre Synergies	162	131	112	93	86
Synergies, net		(2)	15	26	26
Adj EBITDA	162	128	127	119	112
Bank Interest	(24)	(31)	(30)	(25)	(20)
Rest. Payment—Bond Interest	(6)	(4)	(5)	(5)	(5)
Rest. Payment—General	(5)		_	_	
Taxes/Tax Sharing	(6)	7	8	0	(0)
Other	19	(22)	(12)	(13)	(9)
Leveraged Free Cash Flow	141	78	89	76	78
Debt, ending	538	453	364	288	210
Cash, ending	56	48	48	48	48
Net Debt, ending	482	405	316	240	162
Net Debt/Adj EBITDA	3.0x	3.2x	2.5x	2.0x	1.4x

Dex West

\$MM			Dex West		
	2012E	2013E	2014E	2015E	2016E
Revenue	\$411	\$366	\$339	\$325	\$329
Adj EBITDA—Pre Synergies	184	150	126	104	97
Synergies, net		(3)	17	29	29
Adj EBITDA	184	148	143	133	126
Bank Interest	(42)	(35)	(29)	(21)	(14)
Rest. Payment—Bond Interest	(8)	(6)	(6)	(7)	(7)
Rest. Payment—General	(5)	_	_	_	_
Taxes/Tax Sharing	(12)	(4)	(4)	(3)	(3)
Other	(7)	(24)	(13)	(14)	(13)
Leveraged Free Cash Flow	110	78	91	88	89
Debt, ending	491	403	311	223	135
Cash, ending	45	35	35	35	35
Net Debt, ending	446	367	276	188	99
Net Debt/Adj EBITDA	2.4x	2.5x	1.9x	1.4x	0.8x

RHDI

\$MM			RHDI		
	2012E	2013E	2014E	2015E	2016E
Revenue	\$541	\$479	\$449	\$437	\$441
Adj EBITDA—Pre Synergies	215	174	143	118	105
Synergies, net		(3)	20	33	32
Adj EBITDA	215	170	162	150	136
Bank Interest	(77)	(68)	(60)	(49)	(40)
Rest. Payment—Bond Interest	(8)	(6)	(6)	(7)	(7)
Rest. Payment—General	(5)	_	_	_	_
Taxes/Tax Sharing	5	6	27	17	9
Other	(56)	(25)	(10)	(11)	(14)
Leveraged Free Cash Flow	73	78	114	101	84
Debt, ending	757	668	554	454	370
Cash, ending	32	21	21	21	21
Net Debt, ending	725	647	533	432	348
Net Debt/Adj EBITDA	<i>3.4x</i>	3.8x	3.3x	2.9x	2.6x

SuperMedia

\$MM			SuperMedia		
	2012E	2013E	2014E	2015E	2016E
Revenue	\$1,353	\$1,166	\$1,071	\$1,010	\$988
Adj EBITDA—Pre Synergies	534	427	351	291	257
Synergies, net		(9)	52	88	87
Adj EBITDA	534	419	403	379	344
Bank Debt Interest	(174)	(158)	(141)	(121)	(101)
Taxes/Tax Sharing	(96)	(72)	(54)	(51)	(47)
Other	(8)	(71)	(28)	(33)	(35)
Leveraged Free Cash Flow	256	118	180	173	161
Debt, ending	1,456	1,308	1,128	955	794
Cash, ending	110	80	80	80	80
Net Debt, ending	1,346	1,227	1,048	875	714
Net Debt/Adj EBITDA	2.5x	2.9x	2.6x	2.3x	2.1x

$Parent\ (unconsolidated)^{1}$

\$MM	Parent (unconsolidated)					
	2012E	2013E	2014E	2015E	2016E	
Revenue	\$ 4	\$ 14	\$ 18	\$ 19	\$ 19	
Adj EBITDA—Pre Synergies	(2)	_	1	1	(0)	
Synergies, net						
Adj EBITDA	(2)	_	1	1	(0)	
Bank Interest	_	_	_	_	_	
Rest. Payment—Bond Interest	22	16	17	19	20	
Rest. Payment—General	15	_	_	_	_	
Taxes/Tax Sharing	(1)	_	_	_	_	
Bond Interest	(22)	(16)	(17)	(19)	(20)	
Other	(15)					
Leveraged Free Cash Flow	(3)	_	1	1	(0)	
Debt, ending	224	240	257	276	296	
Cash, ending	5	5	6	7	7	
Net Debt, ending	219	235	251	269	289	
Net Debt/Adj EBITDA	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	n/a	

¹ Parent refers to Newdex.

EXHIBIT C TO THE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

DEX ONE PLAN

IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE

In re:) Chapter 11
DEX ONE CORPORATION, et al.,) Case No. 13-[] ([])
Debtors.) (Joint Administration Requested)

DEBTORS' JOINT PREPACKAGED CHAPTER 11 PLAN

THIS CHAPTER 11 PLAN IS BEING SOLICITED FOR ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION IN ACCORDANCE WITH SECTION 1125 AND WITHIN THE MEANING OF SECTION 1126 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE, 11 U.S.C. §§ 1125, 1126. THIS CHAPTER 11 PLAN WILL BE SUBMITTED TO THE BANKRUPTCY COURT FOR APPROVAL FOLLOWING SOLICITATION AND THE DEBTORS' FILING FOR CHAPTER 11 BANKRUPTCY.

KIRKLAND & ELLIS LLP

James H.M. Sprayregen, P.C. (*pro hac vice* admission pending) Marc Kieselstein, P.C. (*pro hac vice* admission pending) Christopher J. Marcus (*pro hac vice* admission pending) 601 Lexington Avenue

New York, New York 10022-4611 Telephone: (212) 446-4800 Facsimile: (212) 446-4900

Email: james.sprayregen@kirkland.com

marc.kieselstein@kirkland.com christopher.marcus@kirkland.com

Proposed Attorneys for the Debtors and Debtors in Possession

Dated: February 8, 2013

PACHULSKI STANG ZIEHL & JONES LLP

Laura Davis Jones (DE Bar No. 2436) Peter J. Keane (DE Bar No. 5503) 919 North Market Street, 17th Floor P.O. Box 8705

Wilmington, Delaware 19899-8705 (Courier 19801)

Telephone: (302) 652-4100
Facsimile: (302) 652-4400
Email: ljones@pszjlaw.com
pkeane@pszjlaw.com

The Debtors, together with the last four digits of each of the Debtors' federal tax identification number (if applicable), are: Dex One Corporation (0040); Dex Media, Inc. (9762); Dex Media East, Inc. (5763); Dex Media West, Inc. (7004); Dex Media Service LLC (9647); Dex One Digital, Inc. (9750); Dex One Service, Inc. (0222); R.H. Donnelley Inc. (7635); R.H. Donnelley APIL, Inc. (6495); R.H. Donnelley Corporation (2490); Newdex, Inc. (1335); and Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc. (4006). For the purpose of these chapter 11 cases, the service address for the Debtors is: 1001 Winstead Drive, Cary, North Carolina 27513.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page

INTRODUCT	ION	1
ARTICLE I D	EFINED TERMS, RULES OF INTERPRETATION, COMPUTATION OF TIME,	
GOVI	ERNING LAW, AND OTHER REFERENCES	1
1.1	Defined Terms	1
1.2	Rules of Interpretation	11
1.3	Computation of Time	11
1.4	Governing Law	11
1.5	Reference to Monetary Figures	11
1.6	Reference to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors	11
ARTICLE II A	ADMINISTRATIVE AND PRIORITY CLAIMS	11
2.1	Administrative Claims	
2.2	Professional Claims.	12
2.3	Priority Tax Claims	12
ARTICLE III	CLASSIFICATION, TREATMENT, AND VOTING OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS.	12
3.1	Classification of Claims and Interests	
3.2	Treatment of Classes of Claims and Interests	
3.3	Special Provision Governing Unimpaired Claims	17
ARTICLE IV	PROVISIONS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PLAN	17
4.1	General Settlement of Claims	
4.2	Newdex Common Stock	
4.3	Amended and Restated Credit Documents	
4.4	Offering and Issuance of Newdex Common Stock	
4.5	Subordination	
4.6	Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtors	19
4.7	Cancellation of Notes, Instruments, Certificates, and Other Documents	
4.8	Issuance of New Securities; Execution of Plan Documents	19
4.9	Corporate Action	19
4.10	Charter and Bylaws	19
4.11	Effectuating Documents; Further Transactions	
4.12	Section 1146(a) Exemption	
4.13	Directors and Officers	
4.14	Incentive Plans and Employee and Retiree Benefits	
4.15	Preservation of Rights of Action	
4.16	Restructuring Transactions	21
ARTICLE V	TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES	22
5.1	Assumption of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	22
5.2	Cure of Defaults and Objections to Cure and Assumption	
5.3	Pre-existing Payment and Other Obligations	
5.4	Rejection Damages Claims and Objections to Rejections	
5.5	Contracts, Intercompany Contracts, and Leases Entered Into After the Petition Date	
5.6	Reservation of Rights	24
ARTICLE VI	PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS	24

Distributions on Account of Claims and Interests Allowed as of the Effective Date24

6.1

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 242 of 483

6.2	Special Rules for Distributions to Holders of Disputed Claims and Interests	24
6.3	Delivery of Distributions	24
6.4	Claims Paid or Payable by Third Parties	
6.5	Setoffs	
6.6	Allocation Between Principal and Accrued Interest	28
ARTICLE V	VII PROCEDURES FOR RESOLVING DISPUTED CLAIMS AND INTERESTS	28
7.1	Disputed Claims Process	28
7.2	Prosecution of Objections to Claims and Interests	
7.3	No Interest	
7.4	Disallowance of Claims and Interests	
ARTICLE V	/III EFFECT OF CONFIRMATION OF THE PLAN	29
8.1	Discharge of Claims and Termination of Interests	29
8.2	Releases by the Debtors	29
8.3	Releases by Holders of Claims and Interests	
8.4	Exculpation	30
8.5	Injunction	
8.6	Protection Against Discriminatory Treatment	
8.7	Indemnification	
8.8	Recoupment	
8.9	Release of Liens	
8.10		
ARTICLE 1	X CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE	32
9.1	Conditions Precedent to the Effective Date. It shall be a condition to the Effective Date	
	that the following conditions shall have been satisfied or waived pursuant to Section 9.2:	32
9.2	Waiver of Conditions Precedent	
9.3	Effect of Non-Occurrence of Conditions to Consummation	32
ARTICLE 2	MODIFICATION, REVOCATION, OR WITHDRAWAL OF THE PLAN	33
10.1		
10.2	Revocation or Withdrawal of Plan	33
10.3	Confirmation of the Plan	33
ARTICLE 2	XI RETENTION OF JURISDICTION	33
ARTICLE	XII MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	35
12.		
12.2		
12.3	·	
12		
12.5		
12		
12.0	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	
12.	6	
12.0		

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 243 of 483

LIST OF EXHIBITS

Exhibit A	Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Agreement

 $\underline{Exhibit\ B} \qquad \quad Amended\ and\ Restated\ Dex\ West\ Secured\ Credit\ Agreement$

Exhibit C Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit Agreement

Exhibit D Merger Agreement

INTRODUCTION

Dex One and its Debtor subsidiaries in the above-captioned chapter 11 cases jointly propose this Plan. Although proposed jointly for administrative purposes, the Plan constitutes a separate Plan for each Debtor for the resolution of outstanding claims against and interests in each Debtor pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors and the SuperMedia Debtors seek to consummate the Merger on the Effective Date of the Plan. Each Debtor is a proponent of the Plan within the meaning of section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code. The classifications of claims and interests set forth in <u>ARTICLE III</u> shall be deemed to apply separately with respect to each Plan proposed by each Debtor, as applicable. The Plan contemplates no substantive consolidation of any of the Debtors. Reference is made to the Disclosure Statement for a discussion of the debtors' history, business, properties and operations, projections, risk factors, a summary and analysis of this Plan, the Merger and certain related matters.

ARTICLE I

DEFINED TERMS, RULES OF INTERPRETATION, COMPUTATION OF TIME, GOVERNING LAW, AND OTHER REFERENCES

1.1 <u>Defined Terms</u>

- 1. "Administrative Claim" means a Claim for costs and expenses of administration of the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to sections 503(b), 507(a)(2), 507(b), or 1114(e)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, including: (a) the actual and necessary costs and expenses incurred on or after the Petition Date until and including the Effective Date of preserving the Estates and operating the businesses of the Debtors; (b) Allowed Professional Claims; and (c) all fees and charges assessed against the Estates pursuant to section 1930 of chapter 123 of title 28 of the United States Code.
 - 2. "Affiliate" has the meaning set forth in section 101(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 3. "Allowed" means, as to a Claim or an Interest, a Claim or an Interest allowed under the Plan, under the Bankruptcy Code, as applicable, or by a Final Order.
- 4. "Amended and Restated Credit Agreements" means, collectively, the Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Agreement, the Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Agreement and the Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit Agreement.
- 5. "Amended and Restated Credit Documents" means, collectively, the Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Documents, the Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Documents and the Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit Documents.
- 6. "Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among Dex East, as borrower thereunder, Dex Media, Inc., Dex One, and Dex Media Service LLC, as guarantors thereunder, the financial institutions from time to time party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacities as administrative agent and collateral agent thereunder, to be effective on the Effective Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Credit Agreement Agents and the Majority Documentation Lenders and in substantially the form attached to the Plan as Exhibit A.
- 7. "Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Documents" means, collectively, the Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Agreement, each of the other Loan Documents (as defined in the Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Agreement) and all other agreements, documents and instruments delivered or entered into in connection therewith (including any guarantee agreements, pledge and collateral agreements, intercreditor agreements and other security documents).
- 8. "Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among Dex West, as borrower thereunder, Dex Media, Inc., Dex One, and Dex Media Service LLC, as guarantors thereunder, the certain financial institutions from time to time party thereto, and

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacities as administrative agent and collateral agent thereunder, to be effective on the Effective Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Credit Agreement Agents and the Majority Documentation Lenders and in substantially the form attached to the Plan as Exhibit B.

- 9. "Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Documents" means, collectively, the Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Agreement, each of the other Loan Documents (as defined in the Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Agreement) and all other agreements, documents and instruments delivered or entered into in connection therewith (including any guarantee agreements, pledge and collateral agreements, intercreditor agreements and other security documents).
- 10. "Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement by and among RHDI, as borrower thereunder, Dex One and RH Donnelley APIL, Inc., as guarantors thereunder, the financial institutions from time to time party thereto, and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, in its capacities as administrative agent and collateral agent thereunder, to be effective on the Effective Date, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Credit Agreement Agents and the Majority Documentation Lenders and in substantially the form attached to the Plan as Exhibit C.
- 11. "Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit Documents" means, collectively, the Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit Agreement, each of the other Loan Documents (as defined in the Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit Agreement) and all other agreements, documents and instruments delivered or entered into in connection therewith (including any guarantee agreements, pledge and collateral agreements, intercreditor agreements and other security documents).
- 12. "Avoidance Actions" means any and all avoidance, recovery, subordination, or other claims, actions, or remedies that may be brought by or on behalf of the Debtors or their Estates or other authorized parties in interest under the Bankruptcy Code or applicable non-bankruptcy law, including actions or remedies under sections 502, 510, 542, 544, 545, and 547 through and including 553 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 13. "Bankruptcy Code" means Title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101–1532, as may be amended from time to time.
- 14. "Bankruptcy Court" means the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware or such other court having jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Cases.
- 15. "Bankruptcy Rules" means the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure as promulgated by the United States Supreme Court under section 2075 of title 28 of the United States Code, 28 U.S.C. § 2075, as applicable to the Chapter 11 Cases and the general, local, and chambers rules of the Bankruptcy Court.
- 16. "Business Day" means any day, other than a Saturday, Sunday, or a legal holiday, as defined in Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a).
- 17. "Cash" means the legal tender of the United States of America or the equivalent thereof, including bank deposits and checks.
- 18. "Causes of Action" means any and all claims, actions, causes of action, choses in action, suits, debts, damages, dues, sums of money, accounts, reckonings, bonds, bills, specialties, covenants, contracts, controversies, agreements, promises, variances, trespasses, judgments, remedies, rights of set-off, third-party claims, subrogation claims, contribution claims, reimbursement claims, indemnity claims, counterclaims, and crossclaims (including all claims and any avoidance, recovery, subordination, or other actions against Insiders and/or any other Entities under the Bankruptcy Code, including Avoidance Actions) of any of the Debtors, the debtors in possession, and/or the Estates (including those actions set forth in the Plan Supplement), whether known or unknown, liquidated or unliquidated, fixed or contingent, matured or unmatured, disputed or undisputed, that are or may be pending on the Effective Date or commenced by the Reorganized Debtors after the Effective Date against any Entity, based in law or equity, including under the Bankruptcy Code, whether direct, indirect, derivative, or otherwise and whether asserted or unasserted as of the date of entry of the Confirmation Order.

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 246 of 483

- 19. "Certificate" means any instrument evidencing a Claim or an Interest, <u>provided</u>, "Certificate" includes no instrument issued pursuant to, or evidencing a Claim under, any Credit Agreement.
- 20. "Chapter 11 Cases" means the procedurally consolidated chapter 11 cases pending for the Debtors in the Bankruptcy Court.
 - 21. "Claim" has the meaning set forth in section 101(5) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 22. "Claims and Solicitation Agent" means the claims and solicitation agent the Debtors may retain in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to order of the Bankruptcy Court.
- 23. "Claims Register" means the official register of Claims against or Interests in the Debtors maintained by the Claims and Solicitation Agent.
- 24. "Class" means a category of holders of Claims or Interests under section 1122(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.
 - 25. "Confirmation" means the entry of the Confirmation Order on the docket of the Chapter 11 Cases.
- 26. "Confirmation Date" means the date on which the Bankruptcy Court enters the Confirmation Order on the docket of the Chapter 11 Cases within the meaning of Bankruptcy Rules 5003 and 9021.
- 27. "Confirmation Hearing" means the hearing(s) before the Bankruptcy Court under section 1128 of the Bankruptcy Code at which the Debtors seek entry of the Confirmation Order.
- 28. "Confirmation Order" means the order of the Bankruptcy Court confirming the Plan under section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code and approving the Lender Disclosure Statement and the Shareholder Disclosure Statement, which order shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Credit Agreement Agents.
 - 29. "Consummation" means the occurrence of the Effective Date.
- 30. "Credit Agreements" means, collectively, the Dex East Secured Credit Agreement, the Dex West Secured Credit Agreement, or the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement.
- 31. "Credit Agreement Agent" means, as applicable, the Dex East Administrative Agent, the Dex West Administrative Agent, or the RHDI Administrative Agent.
 - 32. "Creditor" has the meaning set forth in section 101(10) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 33. "Cure" means a Claim (unless waived or modified by the applicable counterparty) based upon a Debtor's defaults under an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease assumed by such Debtor under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, other than a default which is not required to be cured pursuant to section 365(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 34. "Debtors" means, collectively, each of the following: Dex One; Dex Media, Inc.; Dex Media East, Inc.; Dex Media West, Inc.; Dex Media Service LLC; Dex One Digital, Inc.; Dex One Service, Inc.; R.H. Donnelley Inc.; R.H. Donnelley APIL, Inc.; R.H. Donnelley Corporation; Newdex, Inc.; and Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc.
- 35. "Designated Employee Benefit Plans" means the employee benefit plans designated by the Debtors, with the consent of the SuperMedia Debtors, on or before the Effective Date.
 - 36. "Dex East" means Dex Media East, Inc.

- 37. "Dex East Administrative Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. or its successor, in its capacities as administrative agent and collateral agent under the Dex East Secured Credit Facility Documents.
- 38. "Dex East Cash Collateral Order" means, collectively, the interim order and, if applicable, the Final Order entered by the Bankruptcy Court authorizing Dex East and certain of the other Debtors to use the Dex East Secured Lenders' collateral (including cash collateral) and granting adequate protection to the Dex East Secured Lenders, which orders shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Credit Agreement Agents.
- 39. "Dex East Cash Management Arrangement" means any "Specified Cash Management Arrangement", as defined in the Dex East Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.
- 40. "Dex East Guarantee and Collateral Agreement" means the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of October 24, 2007 and as amended and restated on January 29, 2010, among Dex East, the other Debtors party thereto and the Dex East Administrative Agent.
- 41. "Dex East Secured Credit Agreement" means the credit agreement, dated as of October 24, 2007, and as amended and restated on January 29, 2010 and further amended thereafter, by and among Dex East, as borrower thereunder, Dex One, Dex West, Dex Media, Inc., the Dex East Secured Lenders party thereto from time to time, the Dex East Administrative Agent and the other agents and arrangers party thereto.
- 42. "Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claim" means any Claim arising under, derived from, or based upon the Dex East Secured Credit Facility Documents.
- 43. "Dex East Secured Credit Facility Documents" means, collectively, (a) the Dex East Secured Credit Agreement, (b) all other agreements, documents and instruments delivered or entered into in connection therewith (including any guarantee agreements, pledge and collateral agreements, intercreditor agreements and other security documents), (c) any Dex East Specified Cash Management Arrangement and (d) any Dex East Specified Swap Agreement.
- 44. "Dex East Secured Lenders" means the "Secured Parties", as defined in the Dex East Secured Credit Agreement.
- 45. "Dex East Specified Swap Agreement" means any "Specified Swap Agreement", as defined in the Dex East Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.
 - 46. "Dex One" means Dex One Corporation.
 - 47. "Dex One Interest" means any Interest in Dex One.
- 48. "Dex One Support Agreement" means the Support and Limited Waiver Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2012, by and among the Debtors, each of the Credit Agreement Agents and the Dex East Secured Lenders, Dex West Secured Lenders, and RHDI Secured Lenders party thereto from time to time.
- 49. "Dex Secured Credit Facility Documents" means, collectively, (a) the Dex East Secured Credit Facility Documents, (b) the Dex West Secured Credit Facility Documents and (c) the RHDI Secured Credit Facility Documents.
 - 50. "Dex West" means Dex Media West, Inc.
- 51. "Dex West Administrative Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. or its successor, in its capacities as administrative agent and collateral agent under the Dex West Secured Credit Facility Documents.
- 52. "Dex West Cash Collateral Order" means, collectively, the interim order and, if applicable, the Final Order entered by the Bankruptcy Court authorizing Dex West and certain of the other Debtors to use the Dex

West Secured Lenders' collateral (including cash collateral) and granting adequate protection to the Dex West Secured Lenders, which orders shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Credit Agreement Agents.

- 53. "Dex West Cash Management Arrangement" means any "Specified Cash Management Arrangement", as defined in the Dex West Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.
- 54. "Dex West Guarantee and Collateral Agreement" means the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of June 6, 2008 and as amended and restated on January 29, 2010, among Dex West, the other Debtors party thereto and the Dex West Administrative Agent.
- 55. "Dex West Secured Credit Agreement" means the credit agreement, dated as of June 6, 2008, and as amended and restated on January 29, 2010 and further amended thereafter, by and among Dex West, as borrower thereunder, Dex One, Dex Media Inc., the Dex West Secured Lenders party thereto from time to time, the Dex West Administrative Agent and the other agents and arrangers party thereto.
- 56. "Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claim" means any Claim arising under, derived from, or based upon the Dex West Secured Credit Facility Documents.
- 57. "Dex West Secured Credit Facility Documents" means, collectively, (a) the Dex West Secured Credit Agreement, (b) all other agreements, documents and instruments delivered or entered into in connection therewith (including any guarantee agreements, pledge and collateral agreements, intercreditor agreements and other security documents), (c) any Dex West Cash Management Arrangement and (d) any Dex West Specified Swap Agreement.
- 58. "Dex West Secured Lenders" means the "Secured Parties", as defined in the Dex West Secured Credit Agreement.
- 59. "Dex West Specified Swap Agreement" means any "Specified Swap Agreement", as defined in the Dex West Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.
- 60. "Disclosure Statement" means either the Lender Disclosure Statement or the Shareholder Disclosure Statement, as applicable.
- 61. "Disputed" means, as to a Claim or an Interest, a Claim or an Interest: (a) that is not Allowed; (b) that is not disallowed under the Plan, the Bankruptcy Code, as applicable, or a Final Order; or (c) with respect to which a party in interest has filed a proof of claim or otherwise made a written request to a Debtor for payment, without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.
- 62. "Distribution Agent" means Newdex or any Entity Newdex selects to make or to facilitate distributions in accordance with the Plan.
- 63. "Distribution Date" means, except as otherwise set forth herein, the date or dates determined by the Debtors or Newdex, in their sole discretion, on or after the Effective Date, upon which the Distribution Agent shall make distributions to holders of Allowed Claims and Interests entitled to receive distributions under the Plan; provided that Distribution Dates shall occur no less frequently than every 30 days after the Effective Date, as necessary.
- 64. "Distribution Record Date" means the date that is three Business Days after entry of the Confirmation Order.
- 65. "Effective Date" means the date that is the first Business Day after the Confirmation Date on which all conditions precedent to the occurrence of the Effective Date set forth in Section 9.1 have been satisfied or waived in accordance with Section 9.2.

- 66. "Entity" has the meaning set forth in section 101(15) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 67. "Equity Security" has the meaning set forth in section 101(16) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 68. "Estate" means the bankruptcy estate of any Debtor created under sections 301 and 541 of the Bankruptcy Code upon the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases.
- 69. "Exculpated Claim" means any Claim related to any act or omission in connection with, relating to, or arising out of the Debtors' in court or out-of-court efforts to implement the Transaction, the Chapter 11 Cases, the Dex One Support Agreement, the formulation, preparation, solicitation, dissemination, negotiation, or filing of the Lender Disclosure Statement, the Shareholder Disclosure Statement or Plan or any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or document created or entered into in connection with or pursuant to the Dex One Support Agreement, the Disclosure Statement or the Plan, the filing of the Chapter 11 Cases, the pursuit of Confirmation, the pursuit of Consummation, the administration and implementation of the Plan, or the distribution of property under the Plan.
- 70. "Exculpated Party" means each of the following in its capacity as such: (a) the Debtors; (b) the Reorganized Debtors; (c) the SuperMedia Debtors; (d) the RHDI Secured Lenders and the RHDI Administrative Agent; (e) the Dex East Secured Lenders and the Dex East Administrative Agent; (f) the Dex West Secured Lenders and the Dex West Administrative Agent; and (g) with respect to each of the foregoing Entities in clauses (a) through (f), such Entity's successors and assigns and current and former affiliates, subsidiaries, officers, directors, principals, employees, agents, financial advisors, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, consultants, representatives, and other Professionals.
- 71. "Executory Contract" means a contract or lease to which one or more of the Debtors is a party that is subject to assumption or rejection under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code.
 - 72. "Final Decree" means the decree contemplated under Bankruptcy Rule 3022.
- 73. "Final Order" means, as applicable, an order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court or other court of competent jurisdiction with respect to the relevant subject matter, which has not been reversed, stayed, modified, or amended, and as to which the time to appeal or seek certiorari has expired and no appeal or petition for certiorari has been timely taken, or as to which any appeal that has been taken or any petition for certiorari that has been or may be filed has been resolved by the highest court to which the order or judgment could be appealed or from which certiorari could be sought or the new trial, reargument, or rehearing shall have been denied, resulted in no modification of such order, or has otherwise been dismissed with prejudice.
- 74. "General Unsecured Claim" means any Claim other than an Administrative Claim, a Professional Claim, a Secured Tax Claim, an Other Secured Claim, a Priority Tax Claim, an Other Priority Claim, a RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claim, a Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claim, a Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claim, a Senior Subordinated Notes Claim, and a Section 510(b) Claim.
 - 75. "Governmental Unit" has the meaning set forth in section 101(27) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 76. "Impaired" means, with respect to any Class of Claims or Interests, a Claim or an Interest that is not Unimpaired.
 - 77. "Indenture Trustee" means the indenture trustee of the Senior Subordinated Notes.
 - 78. "Insider" has the meaning set forth in section 101(31) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 79. "Intercompany Contract" means a contract between or among two or more Debtors or a contract between or among one or more Affiliates and one or more Debtors.
 - 80. "Intercompany Interest" means an Interest held by a Debtor or an Affiliate.

- 81. "Interest" means any Equity Security of a Debtor existing immediately prior to the Effective Date.
- 82. "Lender Disclosure Statement" means the disclosure statement for the Plan provided to the Dex East Secured Lenders, Dex West Secured Lenders, and RHDI Secured Lenders as may be amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time, including all exhibits and schedules thereto, to be approved by the Confirmation Order.
 - 83. "Lien" has the meaning set forth in section 101(37) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 84. "Majority Documentation Lenders" means, if the Dex One Support Agreement has not been terminated, as of any date of determination, the majority by number of the Consenting Lenders (as defined in the Dex One Support Agreement) set forth on Schedule 2 to the Dex One Support Agreement excluding the Credit Agreement Agents (and, for the avoidance of doubt, not such Consenting Lenders' successors or assigns and not any Consenting Lender that is no longer bound by the Dex One Support Agreement pursuant to the terms thereof) that exercise their consent or approval rights as of such date of determination in accordance with the terms of the Dex One Support Agreement.
- 85. "Merger" means the merger of Dex One and its subsidiaries with SuperMedia and its subsidiaries in accordance with the Merger Agreement and the Plan.
- 86. "Merger Agreement" means the amended and restated agreement and plan of merger, dated December 5, 2012, by and among Dex One, SuperMedia, Newdex, Inc., and Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc., as may be amended from time to time, attached hereto as Exhibit D.
- 87. "Newdex" means the Reorganized Debtors' ultimate parent company upon consummation of the Merger.
 - 88. "Newdex Board" means Newdex's initial board of directors.
- 89. "Newdex Bylaws" means Newdex's bylaws, substantially in the form contained in the Merger Agreement.
- 90. "Newdex Charter" means Newdex's amended and restated certificate of incorporation, substantially in the form contained in the Merger Agreement.
- 91. "Newdex Common Stock" means Newdex's authorized shares of common stock on the Effective Date, par value \$0.001 per share.
 - 92. "Option" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.16(b) herein.
- 93. "Other Priority Claim" means any Claim other than an Administrative Claim or a Priority Tax Claim entitled to priority in right of payment under section 507(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 94. "Other Secured Claim" means any Secured Claim other than the following: (a) a RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claim; (b) a Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claim; (c) a Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claim; or (d) a Secured Tax Claim. For the avoidance of doubt, "Other Secured Claims" includes any Claim arising under, derived from, or based upon any letter of credit issued in favor of one or more Debtors, the reimbursement obligation for which is either secured by a Lien on collateral or is subject to a valid right of setoff pursuant to section 553 of the Bankruptcy Code.
 - 95. "Person" has the meaning set forth in section 101(41) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 96. "Petition Date" means the date on which each of the Debtors filed their petitions for relief commencing the Chapter 11 Cases.

- 97. "Plan" means this chapter 11 plan, as it may be altered, amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time, including the Plan Supplement and all exhibits, supplements, appendices, and schedules.
- 98. "Plan Supplement" means any compilation of documents and forms of documents, agreements, schedules, and exhibits to the Plan, which shall be filed by the Debtors no later than 10 Business Days after the Petition Date or such later date as may be approved by the Bankruptcy Court on notice to parties in interest, and additional documents filed with the Bankruptcy Court prior to the Effective Date as amendments to the Plan Supplement.
- 99. "Priority Tax Claim" means any Claim of a Governmental Unit of the kind specified in section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 100. "Pro Rata" means the proportion that an Allowed Claim or an Allowed Interest in a particular Class bears to the aggregate amount of Allowed Claims or Allowed Interests in that Class.
- 101. "Professional" means an Entity: (a) employed in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to a Final Order in accordance with sections 327 and 1103 of the Bankruptcy Code and to be compensated for services rendered prior to or on the Effective Date pursuant to sections 327, 328, 329, 330, and 331 of the Bankruptcy Code or (b) for which compensation and reimbursement has been Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to section 503(b)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 102. "Professional Claim" means a Claim by a Professional seeking an award by the Bankruptcy Court of compensation for services rendered or reimbursement of expenses incurred through and including the Confirmation Date under sections 330, 331, 503(b)(2), 503(b)(3), 503(b)(4), or 503(b)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code.
 - 103. "Proof of Claim" means a proof of Claim filed against any of the Debtors in the Chapter 11 Cases.
- 104. "Rejection Schedule" means the schedule of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases in the Plan Supplement, as may be amended from time to time, setting forth certain Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases for rejection as of the Effective Date under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 105. "Released Party" means each of the following in its capacity as such: (a) the Debtors; (b) the RHDI Secured Lenders and the RHDI Administrative Agent; (c) the Dex East Secured Lenders and the Dex East Administrative Agent; (d) the Dex West Secured Lenders and the Dex West Administrative Agent; and (e) with respect to each of the foregoing Entities in clauses (a) through (d), such Entity's successors and assigns, and current and former affiliates, subsidiaries, officers, directors, principals, employees, agents, financial advisors, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, consultants, representatives, and other Professionals.
- 106. "Releasing Parties" means each of the following in its capacity as such: (a) the RHDI Secured Lenders and the RHDI Administrative Agent; (b) the Dex East Secured Lenders and the Dex East Administrative Agent; (c) the Dex West Secured Lenders and the Dex West Administrative Agent; and (d) without limiting the foregoing clauses (a), (b), and (c), each holder of a Claim or an Interest other than a holder of a Claim or an Interest that has voted to reject the Plan or is a member of a Class that is deemed to reject the Plan.
- 107. "Reorganized Debtor" means a Debtor, or any successor thereto, by merger, consolidation, or otherwise, on or after the Effective Date.
- 108. "Restructuring Transactions" means the transactions, including the Merger, described in Section 4.16.
 - 109. "RHDI" means R.H. Donnelley Inc.
- 110. "RHDI Administrative Agent" means Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas or its successor, in its capacities as administrative agent and collateral agent under the RHDI Secured Credit Facility Documents.

- 111. "RHDI Cash Management Arrangement" means any "Specified Cash Management Arrangement", as defined in the RHDI Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.
- 112. "RHDI Guarantee and Collateral Agreement" means the Third Amended Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of January 29, 2010, among RHDI, the other Debtors party thereto and the RHDI Administrative Agent.
- 113. "RHDI Cash Collateral Order" means, collectively, the interim order and, if applicable, the Final Order entered by the Bankruptcy Court authorizing RHDI and certain of the other Debtors to use the RHDI Secured Lenders' collateral (including cash collateral) and granting adequate protection to the RHDI Secured Lenders, which orders shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Credit Agreement Agents.
- 114. "RHDI Secured Credit Agreement" means the third amended and restated credit agreement, dated January 29, 2010 and further amended thereafter, by and among RHDI, as borrower thereunder, Dex One, the RHDI Secured Lenders party thereto from time to time, the RHDI Administrative Agent and the other agents and arrangers party thereto.
- 115. "RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claim" means any Claim arising under, derived from, or based upon the RHDI Secured Credit Facility Documents.
- 116. "RHDI Secured Credit Facility Documents" means, collectively, (a) the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement, (b) all other agreements, documents and instruments delivered or entered into in connection therewith (including any guarantee agreements, pledge and collateral agreements, intercreditor agreements and other security documents), (c) any RHDI Cash Management Arrangement and (d) any RHDI Specific Swap Agreement.
- 117. "RHDI Secured Lenders" means the "Secured Parties" (as defined in the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement).
- 118. "RHDI Specified Swap Agreement" means any "Specified Swap Agreement" (as defined in the RHDI Guarantee and Collateral Agreement).
- 119. "Section 510(b) Claim" means any Claim against the Debtors arising from rescission of a purchase or sale of a security of the Debtors or an Affiliate of the Debtors, for damages arising from the purchase or sale of such a security, or for reimbursement or contribution allowed under section 502 of the Bankruptcy Code on account of such a Claim.
- 120. "Secured Claim" means a Claim: (a) secured by a Lien on collateral to the extent of the value of such collateral, as determined in accordance with section 506(a) of the Bankruptcy Code or (b) subject to a valid right of setoff pursuant to section 553 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 121. "Secured Tax Claim" means any Secured Claim that, absent its secured status, would be entitled to priority in right of payment under section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code (determined irrespective of time limitations), including any related Secured Claim for penalties.
- 122. "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. §§ 77a–77aa, or any similar federal, state, or local law.
- 123. "Security" has the meaning set forth in section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act. For the avoidance of doubt, no Credit Agreement or Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, or any loan or Claim thereunder, or any note or other instrument issued in connection therewith, is, or shall be deemed to be, a Security.
- 124. "Senior Subordinated Notes" means the Dex One 12%/14% senior subordinated notes due 2017, issued on January 29, 2010.

- 125. "Senior Subordinated Notes Claim" means any Claim arising under, derived from, or based upon the Senior Subordinated Notes.
 - 126. "Senior Subordinated Noteholders" means holders of the Senior Subordinated Notes.
- 127. "Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture" means the Indenture, dated January 29, 2010, among The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee, and Dex One as the issuer, which Indenture governs the Senior Subordinated Notes.
- 128. "Servicer" means an indenture trustee, agent, or other authorized representative of holders of Claims or Interests.
- 129. "Shareholder Disclosure Statement" means the combined Form S-4 regarding the Merger filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and disclosure statement for the Plan, as may be amended, supplemented, or modified from time to time, including all exhibits and schedules thereto, to be approved by the Confirmation Order.
 - 130. "SuperMedia" means SuperMedia Inc.
- 131. "SuperMedia Chapter 11 Cases" means the procedurally consolidated chapter 11 cases, if any, filed by the SuperMedia Debtors in the Bankruptcy Court in accordance with the SuperMedia Support Agreement and the Merger Agreement.
- 132. "SuperMedia Confirmation Order" means the order of the Bankruptcy Court confirming the SuperMedia Plan under section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code and approving the SuperMedia Disclosure Statement in the SuperMedia Chapter 11 Cases, if filed.
- 133. "SuperMedia Debtors" means, collectively, each of the following: SuperMedia Inc.; SuperMedia LLC; SuperMedia Services Inc.; and SuperMedia Sales Inc.
- 134. "SuperMedia Plan" means the chapter 11 plan filed in the SuperMedia Chapter 11 Cases in accordance with the SuperMedia Support Agreement and Merger Agreement.
- 135. "SuperMedia Support Agreement" means the Support and Limited Waiver Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2012, by and among the SuperMedia Debtors, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent under the SuperMedia senior secured credit agreement, and the lenders under the credit agreement from time to time party to such Support and Limited Waiver Agreement.
- 136. "*Transaction*" means the Merger and the transactions related thereto including the entry into and delivery and effectiveness of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreements and other Amended and Restated Credit Documents.
- 137. "Unclaimed Distribution" means any distribution under the Plan on account of an Allowed Claim or Interest to a holder that has not: (a) accepted a particular distribution or, in the case of distributions made by check, negotiated such check; (b) given notice to the Reorganized Debtors of an intent to accept a particular distribution; (c) responded to the Debtors' or Reorganized Debtors' requests for information necessary to facilitate a particular distribution; or (d) taken any other action necessary to facilitate such distribution.
- 138. "Unexpired Lease" means a lease of nonresidential real property to which one or more of the Debtors is a party that is subject to assumption or rejection under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 139. "Unimpaired" means a Class of Claims or Interests that is unimpaired within the meaning of section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

1.2 Rules of Interpretation

For purposes of the Plan: (a) in the appropriate context, each term, whether stated in the singular or the plural, shall include both the singular and the plural, and pronouns stated in the masculine, feminine, or neuter gender shall include the masculine, feminine, and the neuter gender; (b) unless otherwise specified, any reference herein to a contract, lease, instrument, release, indenture, or other agreement or document being in a particular form or on particular terms and conditions means that such document shall be substantially in such form or substantially on such terms and conditions; (c) unless otherwise specified, any reference herein to an existing document, schedule, or exhibit, shall mean such document, schedule, or exhibit, as it may have been or may be amended, modified, or supplemented; (d) unless otherwise specified, all references herein to "Articles" are references to Articles hereof or hereto; (e) the words "herein," "hereof," and "hereto" refer to the Plan in its entirety rather than to any particular portion of the Plan; (f) captions and headings to Articles are inserted for convenience of reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the interpretation of the Plan; (g) unless otherwise specified herein, the rules of construction set forth in section 102 of the Bankruptcy Code shall apply; and (h) any term used in capitalized form herein that is not otherwise defined but that is used in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules shall have the meaning assigned to such term in the Bankruptcy Code or the Bankruptcy Rules, as applicable.

1.3 <u>Computation of Time</u>

Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a) applies in computing any period of time prescribed or allowed herein.

1.4 Governing Law

Except to the extent the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules apply, and subject to the provisions of any contract, lease, instrument, release, indenture, or other agreement or document entered into expressly in connection herewith, the rights and obligations arising hereunder shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to conflict of laws principles.

1.5 Reference to Monetary Figures

All references in the Plan to monetary figures refer to currency of the United States of America, unless otherwise expressly provided.

1.6 Reference to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan to the contrary, references in the Plan to the Debtors or to the Reorganized Debtors mean the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, to the extent the context requires.

ARTICLE II

ADMINISTRATIVE AND PRIORITY CLAIMS

In accordance with section 1123(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, Administrative Claims, Professional Claims, and Priority Tax Claims have not been classified and thus are excluded from the Classes of Claims set forth in ARTICLE III.

2.1 <u>Administrative Claims</u>

Unless otherwise agreed to by the holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim and the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, each holder of an Allowed Administrative Claim (other than holders of Professional Claims and Claims for fees and expenses pursuant to section 1930 of chapter 123 of title 28 of the United States Code) will receive in full and final satisfaction of its Administrative Claim an amount of Cash equal to the amount of such Allowed Administrative Claim either: (a) on the Effective Date, or as soon as practicable thereafter; (b) if the Administrative Claim is not Allowed as of the Effective Date, no later than 30 days after the

date on which an order Allowing such Administrative Claim becomes a Final Order, or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter; or (c) if the Allowed Administrative Claim is based on liabilities incurred by the Debtors in the ordinary course of their business after the Petition Date in accordance with the terms and conditions of the particular transaction giving rise to such Allowed Administrative Claims without any further action by the holders of such Allowed Administrative Claims.

2.2 Professional Claims

All requests for payment of Professional Claims for services rendered and reimbursement of expenses incurred prior to the Confirmation Date must be filed no later than 45 days after the Effective Date. The Bankruptcy Court shall determine the Allowed amounts of such Professional Claims after notice and a hearing in accordance with the procedures established by the Bankruptcy Code. The Reorganized Debtors shall pay Professional Claims in Cash in the amount the Court Allows. From and after the Confirmation Date, any requirement that Professionals comply with sections 327 through 331 and 1103 of the Bankruptcy Code in seeking retention or compensation for services rendered after such date shall terminate, and the Reorganized Debtors may employ and pay any Professional in the ordinary course of business without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

2.3 **Priority Tax Claims**

Each holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim due and payable on or before the Effective Date shall receive on the Effective Date, or as soon as practicable thereafter, from the respective Debtor liable for such Allowed Priority Tax Claim, payment in Cash in an amount equal to the amount of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim. To the extent any Allowed Priority Tax Claim is not due and owing on the Effective Date, such Claim shall be paid in full in Cash in accordance with the terms of any agreement between the Debtors and the holder of such Claim, or as may be due and payable under applicable non-bankruptcy law, or in the ordinary course of business.

ARTICLE III

CLASSIFICATION, TREATMENT, AND VOTING OF CLAIMS AND INTERESTS

3.1 Classification of Claims and Interests

This Plan constitutes a separate Plan proposed by each Debtor. Except for the Claims addressed in ARTICLE II, all Claims and Interests are classified in the Classes set forth below in accordance with section 1122 of the Bankruptcy Code. A Claim or Interest is classified in a particular Class only to the extent that the Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of that Class and is classified in other Classes to the extent that any portion of the Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of such other Classes. A Claim or Interest is also classified in a particular Class for the purpose of receiving distributions pursuant to the Plan only to the extent that such Claim or Interest is an Allowed Claim or Interest in that Class and has not been paid, released, or otherwise satisfied prior to the Effective Date.

Below is a chart assigning each Class a number for purposes of identifying each separate Class.

Class	Claim or Interest	Status	Voting Rights
1	Secured Tax Claims	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
2	Other Secured Claims	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
3	Other Priority Claims	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
4	Senior Subordinated Notes Claims	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
5	Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
6	Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote

Class	Claim or Interest	Status	Voting Rights
7	RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
8	General Unsecured Claims	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
9	Dex One Interests	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
10	Intercompany Interests	Unimpaired	Presumed to Accept
11	Section 510(b) Claims	Impaired	Deemed to Reject

3.2 Treatment of Classes of Claims and Interests

Except to the extent that a holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest, as applicable, agrees to a less favorable treatment, such holder shall receive under the Plan the treatment described below in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for such holder's Allowed Claim or Interest. Unless otherwise indicated, the holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest, as applicable, shall receive such treatment on the Effective Date, or as soon as practicable thereafter.

(a) Class 1 — Secured Tax Claims

- (1) Classification: Class 1 consists of any Secured Tax Claims against any Debtor.
- (2) Treatment: Each holder of an Allowed Class 1 Claim shall receive, as applicable:
 - A. If the Allowed Class 1 Claim is due and payable on or before the Effective Date, Cash in an amount equal to such Allowed Class 1 Claim; or
 - B. If the Allowed Class 1 Claim is not due and payable on or before the Effective Date, such Claim shall be paid in full in Cash in accordance with the terms of any agreement between the Debtors and the holder of such Claim or as may be due and payable under applicable non-bankruptcy law or in the ordinary course of business.
- (3) Voting: Class 1 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 1 Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 1 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(b) Class 2 — Other Secured Claims

- (1) Classification: Class 2 consists of any Other Secured Claims against any Debtor.
- (2) *Treatment*: Each holder of an Allowed Class 2 Claim shall, at the sole option of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable:
 - A. have its Allowed Class 2 Claim reinstated and rendered Unimpaired in accordance with section 1124(2) of the Bankruptcy Code; or
 - B. receive the collateral securing its Allowed Class 2 Claim and any interest on such Allowed Class 2 Claim required to be paid pursuant to section 506(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- (3) Voting: Class 2 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 2 Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 2 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(c) Class 3 — Other Priority Claims

- (1) Classification: Class 3 consists of any Other Priority Claims against any Debtor.
- (2) Treatment: Each holder of an Allowed Class 3 Claim shall be paid in full in Cash.
- (3) Voting: Class 3 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 3 Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 3 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(d) Class 4 — Senior Subordinated Notes Claims

- (1) Classification: Class 4 consists of any Senior Subordinated Notes Claims.
- (2) Allowance: On the Effective Date, Class 4 Claims shall be Allowed in the aggregate principal amount of \$219,707,502, plus any accrued but unpaid interest thereon payable at the non-default interest rate in accordance with the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture.
- (3) *Treatment*: Each holder of an Allowed Class 4 Claim shall have its Allowed Class 4 Claim reinstated and rendered Unimpaired in accordance with section 1124(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- (4) *Voting*: Class 4 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 4 Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 4 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(e) Class 5 — Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claims

- (1) Classification: Class 5 consists of all Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claims.
- (2) Allowance: On the Effective Date, Class 5 Claims shall be Allowed, and shall not be subject to avoidance, objection, challenge, deduction, subordination, recharacterization or offset, in the aggregate principal amount of \$540,875,487, plus (A) any accrued but unpaid interest payable at the non-default interest rate in accordance with the Dex East Secured Credit Agreement, (B) any unpaid fees, expenses or other amounts that constitute Obligations (other than principal) under and as defined in the Dex East Secured Credit Agreement, (C) any unpaid adequate protection payments required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the Dex East Cash Collateral Order and (D) to the extent applicable, any unpaid amounts required to be paid pursuant to a Dex East Specified Swap Agreement or a Dex East Cash Management Arrangement, less any amortization or other payments of principal paid by the Debtors after December 31, 2012, or during the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to the terms of the Dex East Secured Credit Agreement or the Dex East Cash Collateral Order.
- (3) Treatment: On the Effective Date, each holder of an Allowed Class 5 Claim shall receive:
 - A. in satisfaction of such holder's Allowed Class 5 Claim (other than the portion of the Allowed Class 5 Claim which directly arises under, is derived from or is based upon a Dex East Specified Swap Agreement or a Dex East Cash Management Arrangement) (a) its Pro Rata share of the loans under the Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Agreement and (b) Cash in an amount equal to such holder's Pro Rata share of any outstanding amounts described in clauses (A), (B) or (C) of the immediately foregoing paragraph

- (e)(2), to the extent such amounts are owed to a lender under the Dex East Secured Credit Agreement or the Dex East Cash Collateral Order; and
- B. in satisfaction of the portion (if any) of such holder's Allowed Class 5 Claim that directly arises under, is derived from or is based upon a Dex East Specified Swap Agreement or a Dex East Cash Management Arrangement, Cash in an amount equal to such partial Claim amount.
- (4) *Voting*: Class 5 is Impaired. Holders of Allowed Class 5 Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(f) Class 6 — Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claims

- (1) Classification: Class 6 consists of all Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claims.
- (2) Allowance: On the Effective Date, Class 6 Claims shall be Allowed, and shall not be subject to avoidance, objection, challenge, deduction, subordination, recharacterization or offset, in the aggregate principal amount of \$503,232,404, plus (A) any accrued but unpaid interest payable at the non-default interest rate in accordance with the Dex West Secured Credit Agreement, (B) any unpaid fees, expenses or other amounts that constitute Obligations (other than principal) under and as defined in the Dex West Secured Credit Agreement, (C) any unpaid adequate protection payments required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the Dex West Cash Collateral Order and (D) to the extent applicable, any unpaid amounts required to be paid pursuant to a Dex West Specified Swap Agreement or a Dex West Cash Management Arrangement, less any amortization or other payments of principal paid by the Debtors after December 31, 2012, or during the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to the terms of the Dex West Secured Credit Agreement or the Dex West Cash Collateral Order.
- (3) *Treatment*: On the Effective Date, each holder of an Allowed Class 6 Claim shall receive:
 - A. in satisfaction of such holder's Allowed Class 6 Claim (other than the portion of the Allowed Class 6 Claim which directly arises under, is derived from or is based upon a Dex West Specified Swap Agreement or a Dex West Cash Management Arrangement) (a) its Pro Rata share of the loans under the Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Agreement and (b) Cash in an amount equal to such holder's Pro Rata share of any outstanding amounts described in clauses (A), (B) or (C) of the immediately foregoing paragraph (f)(2), to the extent such amounts are owed to a lender under the Dex West Secured Credit Agreement or the Dex West Cash Collateral Order; and
 - B. in satisfaction of the portion (if any) of such holder's Allowed Class 6 Claim that directly arises under, is derived from or is based upon a Dex West Specified Swap Agreement or a Dex West Cash Management Arrangement, Cash in an amount equal to such partial Claim amount.
- (4) *Voting*: Class 6 is Impaired. Holders of Allowed Class 6 Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(g) Class 7 — RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claims

(1) Classification: Class 7 consists of all RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claims.

- (2) Allowance: On the Effective Date, Class 7 Claims shall be Allowed, and shall not be subject to avoidance, objection, challenge, deduction, subordination, recharacterization or offset, in the aggregate principal amount of \$782,499,573, plus (A) any accrued but unpaid interest payable at the non-default interest rate in accordance with the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement, (B) any unpaid fees, expenses or other amounts that constitute Obligations (other than principal) under and as defined in the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement, (C) any unpaid adequate protection payments required to be paid pursuant to the terms of the RHDI Cash Collateral Order and (D) to the extent applicable, any unpaid amounts required to be paid pursuant to an RHDI Specified Swap Agreement or an RHDI Cash Management Arrangement, less any amortization or other payments of principal paid by the Debtors after December 31, 2012, or during the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to the terms of the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement or the RHDI Cash Collateral Order.
- (3) Treatment: On the Effective Date, each holder of an Allowed Class 7 Claim shall receive:
 - A. in satisfaction of such holder's Allowed Class 7 Claim (other than the portion of the Allowed Class 7 Claim which directly arises under, is derived from or is based upon an RHDI Specified Swap Agreement or an RHDI Cash Management Arrangement) (a) its Pro Rata share of the loans under the Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit Agreement and (b) Cash in an amount equal to such holder's Pro Rata share of any outstanding amounts described in clauses (A), (B) or (C) of the immediately foregoing paragraph (g)(2), to the extent such amounts are owed to a lender under the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement or the RHDI Cash Collateral Order; and
 - B. in satisfaction of the portion (if any) of such holder's Allowed Class 7 Claim that directly arises under, is derived from or is based upon an RHDI Specified Swap Agreement or an RHDI Cash Management Arrangement, Cash in an amount equal to such partial Claim amount.
- (4) *Voting*: Class 7 is Impaired. Holders of Allowed Class 7 Claims are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(h) Class 8 — General Unsecured Claims

- (1) Classification: Class 8 consists of any General Unsecured Claims against any Debtor.
- (2) Treatment: Each holder of an Allowed Class 8 Claim shall receive Cash in an amount equal to such Allowed Class 8 Claim on the later of the Effective Date or in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the terms and conditions of the particular transaction giving rise to such Allowed Class 8 Claim.
- (3) Voting: Class 8 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 8 Claims are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 8 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(i) Class 9 — Dex One Interests

- (1) Classification: Class 9 consists of any Dex One Interests.
- (2) *Treatment*: Upon consummation of the Merger, each holder of an Allowed Class 9 Interest shall receive 0.2 shares of Newdex Common Stock for each of its Allowed Class 9 Interests.

(3) Voting: Class 9 is Impaired. Holders of Allowed Class 9 Interests are entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(j) Class 10 — Intercompany Interests

- (1) Classification: Class 10 consists of any Intercompany Interests.
- (2) *Treatment*: Each holder of an Allowed Class 10 Interest shall have its Allowed Class 10 Interest left unaltered and rendered Unimpaired in accordance with section 1124(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- (3) Voting: Class 10 is Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Class 10 Interests are conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan under section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. Holders of Allowed Class 10 Interests are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

(k) Class 11 — Section 510(b) Claims

- (1) Classification: Class 11 consists of any Section 510(b) Claims against any Debtor.
- (2) Allowance: Notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, a Class 11 Claim, if existing, may only become Allowed by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court. The Debtors are not aware of any asserted Class 11 Claim and believe that no Class 11 Claim exists.
- (3) Treatment: A holder of an Allowed Class 11 Claim shall, in the Reorganized Debtors' sole discretion, (A) receive Cash in the full amount of its Allowed Class 11 Claim or (B) be treated as if such holder held a number of Allowed Class 9 Interests instead of its Allowed Class 11 Claim equal in value to the amount of its Allowed Class 11 Claim.
- (4) Voting: Class 11 is Impaired. Holders (if any) of Allowed Class 11 Claims are conclusively presumed to have rejected the Plan. Holders (if any) of Allowed Class 11 Claims are not entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

3.3 Special Provision Governing Unimpaired Claims

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, nothing under the Plan shall affect the Debtors' or the Reorganized Debtors' rights regarding any Unimpaired Claim, including all rights regarding legal and equitable defenses to or setoffs or recoupments against any such Unimpaired Claim.

ARTICLE IV

PROVISIONS FOR IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PLAN

4.1 General Settlement of Claims

Unless otherwise set forth in the Plan, pursuant to section 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 9019, and in consideration for the classification, distributions, releases, and other benefits provided under the Plan, on the Effective Date, the provisions of the Plan shall constitute a good-faith compromise and settlement of all Claims and Interests.

4.2 Newdex Common Stock

The issuance of Newdex Common Stock, including any options for the purchase thereof and equity awards associated therewith, is authorized without the need for any further corporate action or without any further action by the Debtors or Newdex, as applicable. The Newdex Charter shall authorize the issuance and distribution on the

Effective Date of shares of Newdex Common Stock to the Distribution Agent for the benefit of holders of Allowed Interests in Class 9, subject to the Debtors' exercise of the Option described in Section 4.16(b). All of the shares of Newdex Common Stock issued under the Plan shall be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid, and non-assessable.

Newdex shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to obtain approval of the Newdex Common Stock for listing on the New York Stock Exchange or the NASDAQ Stock Market on, or as soon as reasonably practicable after, the Effective Date.

- Amended and Restated Credit Documents. On the Effective Date, each of the Reorganized Debtors shall execute and deliver (1) each of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreements to which such Reorganized Debtor is contemplated to be a party and (2) all other Amended and Restated Credit Documents to which such Reorganized Debtor is contemplated to be a party on the Effective Date. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreements and all such other Amended and Restated Credit Documents that are contemplated to become effective on the Effective Date shall become so effective in accordance with their terms and the Plan. On the Effective Date, (1) each holder of a Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claim shall automatically be deemed a party to the Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Agreement, (2) each holder of a Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claim shall automatically be deemed a party to the Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Agreement, and (3) each holder of an RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claim shall automatically be deemed a party to the Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit Agreement.
- Holders of Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claims, Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claims and RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claims have, pursuant to the Dex Secured Credit Facility Documents, and shall have valid, binding and enforceable Liens on the collateral specified in the Dex Secured Credit Facility Documents and the Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Documents, the Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Documents and the Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit Documents, respectively. The guarantees, mortgages, pledges, liens and other security interests previously granted pursuant to the Dex Secured Credit Facility Documents and, if applicable, granted pursuant to each of the Amended and Restated Credit Documents have been and are granted in good faith as an inducement to the holders of the Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claims, the Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claims and the RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claims to agree to the treatment contemplated by the Plan and shall be deemed not to constitute a fraudulent conveyance or fraudulent transfer, shall not otherwise be subject to avoidance, and the priorities of such liens and security interests shall be as set forth in the respective Dex Secured Credit Facility Documents and the respective Amended and Restated Credit Documents (and the claims and obligations arising under the Senior Subordinated Notes shall continue to be subordinate to the claims and obligations arising under each of the Amended and Restated Credit Documents, as applicable, and subject to the terms of the Amended and Restated Credit Documents, and any subordination agreement, if any, in effect prior to the Effective Date with respect to such subordination shall continue in full force and effect).

4.4 Offering and Issuance of Newdex Common Stock

The offering, issuance, and distribution of any Securities, including the Newdex Common Stock, pursuant to the Plan will be in compliance with the registration requirements of the Securities Act or exempt from the registration requirements of section 5 therein pursuant to section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, section 4(2) of the Securities Act, or any other available exemption from registration under the Securities Act, as applicable. In addition, under section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code, if applicable, any Securities issued under the Plan will be freely transferable under the Securities Act by the recipients thereof, subject to: (1) the provisions of section 1145(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code relating to the definition of an underwriter in section 2(a)(11) of the Securities Act, and compliance with any applicable state or foreign securities laws, if any, and the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission, if any, applicable at the time of any future transfer of such Securities or instruments; (2) the restrictions, if any, on the transferability of such Securities and instruments; and (3) any other applicable regulatory approval.

4.5 Subordination

The allowance, classification, and treatment of all Claims and Interests under the Plan shall conform to and with the respective contractual, legal, and equitable subordination rights of such Claims and Interests, and the Plan

shall recognize and implement any such rights. Pursuant to section 510 of the Bankruptcy Code, except where otherwise provided herein, the Reorganized Debtors reserve the right to re-classify any Allowed Claim or Interest in accordance with any contractual, legal, or equitable subordination relating thereto.

4.6 Vesting of Assets in the Reorganized Debtors

Except as otherwise provided herein, including in connection with the Merger, or in any agreement, instrument, or other document incorporated in the Plan (including the Amended and Restated Credit Documents), on the Effective Date, all property in each Estate, all Causes of Action, and any property acquired by any of the Debtors under the Plan shall vest in each respective Reorganized Debtor, free and clear of all Liens, Claims, charges, or other encumbrances. On and after the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, each Reorganized Debtor may operate its business and may use, acquire, or dispose of property and compromise or settle any Claims, Interests, or Causes of Action without supervision or approval by the Bankruptcy Court and free of any restrictions of the Bankruptcy Code or Bankruptcy Rules.

4.7 Cancellation of Notes, Instruments, Certificates, and Other Documents

On the Effective Date, except to the extent otherwise provided herein (including as otherwise provided with respect to the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture, the Amended and Restated Credit Agreements and any contracts evidencing transactions described in Section 3.2(h)(2)), all notes, instruments, Certificates, and other documents evidencing Claims or Interests shall be cancelled and the obligations of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors and the non-Debtor Affiliates thereunder or in any way related thereto shall be discharged; provided, however, that notwithstanding Confirmation or the occurrence of the Effective Date, any indenture or agreement that governs the rights of the holder of a Claim shall continue in effect solely for purposes of (a) allowing holders to receive distributions under the Plan and (b) allowing and preserving the rights of the Dex East Administrative Agent, the Dex West Administrative Agent, the RHDI Administrative Agent, and any Servicer, as applicable, to make distributions on account of Claims and Interests as provided in ARTICLE VI.

4.8 Issuance of New Securities; Execution of Plan Documents

Except as otherwise provided herein, on the Effective Date, or as soon as practicable thereafter, the Reorganized Debtors shall issue all Securities, notes, instruments, Certificates, and other documents required to be issued under the Plan.

4.9 Corporate Action

Each of the matters provided for by the Plan involving the corporate structure of the Debtors or corporate or related actions to be taken by or required of the Reorganized Debtors, whether taken prior to or as of the Effective Date, including the Merger, shall be authorized without the need for any further corporate action or without any further action by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable. Such actions may include: (a) the adoption and filing of the Newdex Charter and Newdex Bylaws; (b) the appointment of the Newdex Board; and (c) the authorization, issuance, and distribution of Newdex Common Stock and other Securities to be authorized, issued, and distributed pursuant to the Plan.

4.10 Charter and Bylaws

The Debtors' respective certificates of incorporation and bylaws (and other formation documents relating to limited liability companies) shall be amended as may be required to be consistent with the provisions of the Plan, the Amended and Restated Credit Documents and the Bankruptcy Code. Newdex's certificate of incorporation shall be amended to, among other things: (a) authorize the issuance of the shares of Newdex Common Stock and (b) pursuant to and only to the extent required by section 1123(a)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code, include a provision prohibiting the issuance of non-voting Equity Securities. After the Effective Date, each Reorganized Debtor may amend and restate its certificate of incorporation and other constituent documents as permitted by the laws of its respective jurisdiction of formation and its respective charter and bylaws.

4.11 <u>Effectuating Documents; Further Transactions.</u>

On and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, and the officers and members of the boards of directors thereof, are authorized to and may issue, execute, deliver, file, or record such contracts, Securities, instruments, releases, and other agreements or documents and take such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate, implement, and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan, the Merger, the Amended and Restated Credit Documents and the Securities issued pursuant to the Plan in the name of and on behalf of the Reorganized Debtors, without the need for any approvals, authorizations, or consents except for those expressly required under the Plan.

4.12 <u>Section 1146(a) Exemption</u>

Pursuant to section 1146(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, any transfers of property under the Plan shall not be subject to any document recording tax, stamp tax, conveyance fee, intangibles or similar tax, mortgage tax, stamp act, real estate transfer tax, mortgage recording tax, or other similar tax or governmental assessment, and upon entry of the Confirmation Order, the appropriate state or local governmental officials or agents shall forgo the collection of any such tax or governmental assessment and accept for filing and recordation any of the foregoing instruments or other documents without the payment of any such tax, recordation fee, or governmental assessment.

4.13 Directors and Officers

On the Effective Date, the Newdex Board will comprise 10 members including: (a) five current Dex One non-employee directors designated by Dex One, including Alan F. Schultz as Chairman of the Newdex Board; (b) four current SuperMedia non-employee directors designated by SuperMedia; and (c) Peter McDonald, the current Chief Executive Officer and President of SuperMedia, as President and Chief Executive Officer of Newdex. On the Effective Date, the terms of the current members of the board of directors and the appointment of the officers of Dex One shall terminate, and the terms of the current members of the board of directors of Newdex and the appointment of the current President and Chief Executive Officer of Newdex shall terminate. Otherwise, on the Effective Date, the existing officers and directors of the Debtors, including Newdex, shall serve in their current capacities in the Reorganized Debtors. From and after the Effective Date, each director or officer of the Reorganized Debtors shall serve pursuant to the terms of their respective charters and bylaws or other constituent documents, and applicable state corporation law. In accordance with section 1129(a)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code, the identities and affiliations of the members of the Newdex Board and any Person proposed to serve as an officer of Newdex shall have been disclosed at or before the Confirmation Hearing.

4.14 Incentive Plans and Employee and Retiree Benefits

Except as otherwise provided herein, on and after the Effective Date, subject to any Final Order, the Reorganized Debtors shall: (a) amend, adopt, assume and/or honor in the ordinary course of business, any contracts, agreements, policies, programs, and plans, in accordance with their respective terms, for, among other things, compensation, including any incentive plan, health care benefits, disability benefits, deferred compensation benefits, savings, severance benefits, retirement benefits, welfare benefits, workers' compensation insurance, and accidental death and dismemberment insurance for the directors, officers, and employees of any of the Debtors who served in such capacity from and after the Petition Date and (b) honor, in the ordinary course of business, Claims of employees employed as of the Effective Date for accrued vacation time arising prior to the Petition Date and not otherwise paid pursuant to a Bankruptcy Court order. Notwithstanding the foregoing, pursuant to section 1129(a)(13) of the Bankruptcy Code, from and after the Effective Date, all retiree benefits (as that term is defined in section 1114 of the Bankruptcy Code), if any, shall continue to be paid in accordance with applicable law.

4.15 Preservation of Rights of Action

Unless any Causes of Action against an Entity are expressly waived, relinquished, exculpated, released, compromised, or settled in the Plan or by a Final Order, in accordance with section 1123(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Reorganized Debtors shall retain and may enforce all rights to commence and pursue any and all Causes of Action, whether arising before or after the Petition Date, including any actions specifically enumerated in the Plan

Supplement, and the Reorganized Debtors' rights to commence, prosecute, or settle such Causes of Action shall be preserved notwithstanding the occurrence of the Effective Date. No Entity may rely on the absence of a specific reference in the Plan, the Plan Supplement, or the Disclosure Statement to any Cause of Action against them as any indication that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors will not pursue any and all available Causes of Action against them. The Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve all rights to prosecute any and all Causes of Action against any Entity, except as otherwise expressly provided in the Plan. Unless any Causes of Action against an Entity are expressly waived, relinquished, exculpated, released, compromised, or settled in the Plan or a Bankruptcy Court order, the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve all Causes of Action, for later adjudication, and, therefore no preclusion doctrine, including the doctrines of res judicata, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, claim preclusion, estoppel (judicial, equitable, or otherwise), or laches, shall apply to such Causes of Action upon, after, or as a consequence of the Confirmation or Consummation.

The Reorganized Debtors reserve and shall retain Causes of Action notwithstanding the rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease during the Chapter 11 Cases or pursuant to the Plan. In accordance with section 1123(b)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code, any Causes of Action that a Debtor may hold against any Entity shall vest in the Reorganized Debtors. The applicable Reorganized Debtor, through its authorized agents or representatives, shall retain and may exclusively enforce any and all such Causes of Action. The Reorganized Debtors shall have the exclusive right, authority, and discretion to determine and to initiate, file, prosecute, enforce, abandon, settle, compromise, release, withdraw, or litigate to judgment any such Causes of Action, or to decline to do any of the foregoing, without the consent or approval of any third party or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

4.16 <u>Restructuring Transactions</u>

(a) The Restructuring Transactions

On the Effective Date, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as the case may be, may take such actions, in their sole discretion, including as set forth below, as are necessary or appropriate to effect the Merger in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement and the Plan. Such actions shall include:

- (1) Dex One merging with and into Newdex, with Newdex surviving the merger;
- immediately thereafter, Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc. merging with and into SuperMedia, with SuperMedia surviving the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of Newdex;
- immediately thereafter, only if the Option set forth in Section 4.16(b) is exercised, the distribution of stock in accordance with Section 4.16(b); and
- (4) immediately thereafter, the entry into, delivery of and effectiveness of the Amended and Restated Credit Agreements and the other Amended and Restated Credit Documents contemplated to be effective or delivered on the Effective Date.

(b) Option to Distribute Newdex Common Stock

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Merger Agreement or this Plan, the Debtors, with the consent of the SuperMedia Debtors, shall have the option on the Effective Date to issue and distribute Newdex Common Stock to the Distribution Agent for the benefit of the Designated Employee Benefit Plans in an amount necessary to give rise to an ownership change as defined in 26 U.S.C. § 382(g) (but in no event to exceed 10% of the Newdex Common Stock issued on the Effective Date) (the "Option").

(c) Additional Restructuring Transactions and Actions

Without limiting the foregoing, on the Effective Date, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors may enter into the following transactions and take any actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effect a corporate restructuring of their respective businesses or a corporate restructuring of the overall corporate structure of the

Reorganized Debtors, as and to the extent provided therein. The Restructuring Transactions may include one or more inter-company mergers, consolidations, amalgamations, arrangements, continuances, restructurings, conversions, dissolutions, transfers, liquidations, or other corporate transactions as may be determined by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, to be necessary or appropriate. The actions to effect the Restructuring Transactions may include: (a) the execution and delivery of appropriate agreements or other documents of merger, amalgamation, consolidation, restructuring, conversion, disposition, transfer, arrangement, continuance, dissolution, sale, purchase, or liquidation containing terms that are consistent with the terms of the Plan and the Amended and Restated Credit Documents; (b) the execution and delivery of appropriate instruments of transfer, assignment, assumption, or delegation of any asset, property, right, liability, debt, or obligation on terms consistent with the terms of the Plan and the Amended and Restated Credit Documents and having other terms for which the applicable parties agree; (c) the filing of appropriate certificates or articles of incorporation, reincorporation, merger, consolidation, conversion, amalgamation, arrangement, continuance, or dissolution pursuant to applicable state law; and (d) all other actions that the applicable Entities determine to be necessary or appropriate, including making filings or recordings that may be required by applicable law in connection with the Restructuring Transactions.

ARTICLE V

TREATMENT OF EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES

5.1 <u>Assumption of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases</u>

Except as otherwise provided herein, each Executory Contract and Unexpired Lease shall be deemed assumed, without the need for any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, as of the Effective Date under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, unless any such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease: (a) is listed on the Rejection Schedule; (b) has been previously assumed or rejected by the Debtors by Final Order or has been assumed or rejected by the Debtors by order of the Bankruptcy Court as of the Effective Date, which order becomes a Final Order after the Effective Date; or (c) is the subject of a motion to assume or reject pending as of the Effective Date. The assumption of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases hereunder may include the assignment of certain of such contracts to Affiliates or to the SuperMedia Debtors. The Confirmation Order will constitute an order of the Bankruptcy Court approving the above-described assumptions, assignments, and rejections.

Except as otherwise provided herein or agreed to by the Debtors with the applicable counterparty, each assumed Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease shall include all modifications, amendments, supplements, restatements, or other agreements related thereto, and all rights related thereto, if any, including all easements, licenses, permits, rights, privileges, immunities, options, rights of first refusal, and any other interests, unless any of the foregoing agreements has been previously rejected or repudiated or is rejected or repudiated hereunder. Modifications, amendments, supplements, and restatements to prepetition Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases that have been executed by the Debtors during the Chapter 11 Cases shall not be deemed to alter the prepetition nature of the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or the validity, priority, or amount of any Claims that may arise in connection therewith.

5.2 Cure of Defaults and Objections to Cure and Assumption

The Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall pay Cures on the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter. Unless otherwise agreed upon in writing by the parties to the applicable Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, all requests for payment of Cure that differ from the amounts paid or proposed to be paid by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors must be filed with the Claims and Solicitation Agent on or before 30 days after the Effective Date. Any such request that is not timely filed shall be disallowed and forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from assertion, and shall not be enforceable against any Reorganized Debtor, without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. Any Cure shall be deemed fully satisfied, released, and discharged upon payment by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors of the Cure; provided, however, that nothing herein shall prevent the Reorganized Debtors from paying any Cure despite the failure of the relevant counterparty to file such request for payment of such Cure. The Reorganized Debtors also may settle any Cure without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

In addition, any objection to the assumption of an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease under the Plan must be filed with the Bankruptcy Court on or before 30 days after the Effective Date. Any such objection will be scheduled to be heard by the Bankruptcy Court at the Debtors' or Reorganized Debtors', as applicable, first scheduled omnibus hearing for which such objection is timely filed. Any counterparty to an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that fails to timely object to the proposed assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease will be deemed to have consented to such assumption.

If there is a dispute regarding Cure, the ability of the Reorganized Debtors or any assignee to provide "adequate assurance of future performance" within the meaning of section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code, or any other matter pertaining to assumption, then payment of Cure shall occur as soon as practicable after entry of a Final Order resolving such dispute, approving such assumption (and, if applicable, assignment), or as may be agreed upon by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and the counterparty to the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease. The Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, reserve the right either to reject or nullify the assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease within 45 days after a Final Order resolving an objection to assumption or determining the Cure or any request for adequate assurance of future performance required to assume such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, is entered.

Assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to the Plan or otherwise shall result in the full release and satisfaction of any Cures, Claims, or defaults, whether monetary or nonmonetary, including defaults of provisions restricting the change in control or ownership interest composition or other bankruptcy-related defaults, arising under any assumed Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease at any time prior to the effective date of assumption. Any and all Proofs of Claim based upon Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases that have been assumed in the Chapter 11 Cases, including pursuant to the Confirmation Order, shall be deemed disallowed and expunged as of the Effective Date without the need for any objection thereto or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

5.3 **Pre-existing Payment and Other Obligations**

Rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to the Plan or otherwise shall not constitute a termination of pre-existing obligations owed to the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, under such contract or lease. In particular, notwithstanding any non-bankruptcy law to the contrary, the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve and do not waive any right to receive, or any continuing obligation of a counterparty to provide: (a) payment to the contracting Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, of outstanding and future amounts owing thereto under or in connection with rejected Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases or (b) warranties or continued maintenance obligations on goods previously purchased by the contracting Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, from counterparties to rejected Executory Contracts.

5.4 Rejection Damages Claims and Objections to Rejections

Pursuant to section 502(g) of the Bankruptcy Code, counterparties to Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases that are rejected shall have the right to assert Claims, if any, on account of the rejection of such contracts and leases. Unless otherwise provided by a Bankruptcy Court order, any Proofs of Claim asserting Claims arising from the rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases pursuant to the Plan must be filed with the Claims and Solicitation Agent no later than 30 days after the later of the Confirmation Date or the effective date of rejection. Any such Proofs of Claim that are not timely filed shall be disallowed without the need for any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. Such Proofs of Claim shall be forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from assertion. Moreover, such Proofs of Claim shall not be enforceable against any Reorganized Debtor, without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, and any Claim arising out of the rejection of the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease shall be deemed fully satisfied, released, and discharged notwithstanding anything in a Proof of Claim to the contrary. All Allowed Claims arising from the rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases shall be classified as Class 8 - General Unsecured Claims against the applicable Debtor counterparty thereto.

5.5 Contracts, Intercompany Contracts, and Leases Entered Into After the Petition Date

Contracts, Intercompany Contracts, and leases entered into after the Petition Date by any Debtor and any Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases assumed by any Debtor may be performed by the applicable Reorganized Debtor in the ordinary course of business.

5.6 Reservation of Rights

Neither the exclusion nor inclusion of any contract or lease in the Plan Supplement, nor anything contained in the Plan, shall constitute an admission by the Debtors that any such contract or lease is in fact an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or that any Reorganized Debtor has any liability thereunder. If there is a dispute regarding whether a contract or lease is or was executory or unexpired at the time of assumption or rejection, the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall have 45 days following entry of a Final Order resolving such dispute to alter their treatment of such contract or lease.

ARTICLE VI

PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS

6.1 <u>Distributions on Account of Claims and Interests Allowed as of the Effective Date</u>

(a) **Delivery of Distributions in General**

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, a Final Order, or as otherwise agreed to by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors (as the case may be) and the holder of the applicable Claim or Interest, on the first Distribution Date, the Distribution Agent shall make initial distributions under the Plan on account of Claims and Interests Allowed on or before the Effective Date, subject to the Reorganized Debtors' right to object to Claims and Interests; provided, however, that (1) Allowed Administrative Claims with respect to liabilities incurred by the Debtors in the ordinary course of business during the Chapter 11 Cases or assumed by the Debtors prior to the Effective Date shall be paid or performed in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the terms and conditions of any controlling agreements, course of dealing, course of business, or industry practice and (2) Allowed Priority Tax Claims and Allowed Secured Tax Claims shall be paid in accordance with Sections 2.3 and 3.2(a)(2), respectively. To the extent any Allowed Priority Tax Claim or Allowed Secured Tax Claim is not due and owing on the Effective Date, such Claim shall be paid in full in Cash in accordance with the terms of any agreement between the Debtors and the holder of such Claim or as may be due and payable under applicable non-bankruptcy law or in the ordinary course of business. Distribution Dates shall occur no less frequently than every 30 days, as necessary in the Reorganized Debtors' sole discretion, after the Effective Date.

6.2 Special Rules for Distributions to Holders of Disputed Claims and Interests

Notwithstanding any provision otherwise in the Plan and except as otherwise agreed by the relevant parties: (1) no partial payments and no partial distributions shall be made with respect to a Disputed Claim or Interest until all such disputes in connection with such Disputed Claim or Interest have been resolved by settlement or Final Order and (2) any Entity that holds both an Allowed Claim or Interest and a Disputed Claim or Interest shall not receive any distribution on the Allowed Claim or Interest unless and until all objections to the Disputed Claim or Interest have been resolved by settlement or Final Order or the Claims or Interests have been Allowed or expunged. Any dividends or other distributions arising from property distributed to holders of Allowed Claims or Interests, as applicable, in a Class and paid to such holders under the Plan shall be paid also, in the applicable amounts, to any holder of a Disputed Claim or Interest, as applicable, in such Class that becomes an Allowed Claim or Interest after the date or dates that such dividends or other distributions were earlier paid to holders of Allowed Claims or Interests in such Class.

Delivery of Distributions

(a) Record Date for Distributions

On the Distribution Record Date, the Claims Register shall be closed and the Distribution Agent shall be authorized and entitled to recognize only those record holders, if any, listed on the Claims Register as of the close of business on the Distribution Record Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if a Claim or Interest, other than one based on a publicly traded Certificate, is transferred less than 20 days before the Distribution Record Date, the Distribution Agent shall make distributions to the transferee only to the extent practical and in any event only if the relevant transfer form contains an unconditional and explicit certification and waiver of any objection to the transfer by the transferor.

(b) **Distribution Process**

The Distribution Agent shall make all distributions required under the Plan, except that distributions to holders of Allowed Claims or Interests governed by a separate agreement and administered by a Servicer shall be deposited with the appropriate Servicer, at which time such distributions shall be deemed complete, and the Servicer shall deliver such distributions in accordance with the Plan and the terms of the governing agreement. Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, and notwithstanding any authority to the contrary, distributions to holders of Allowed Claims and Interests, including Claims and Interests that become Allowed after the Distribution Record Date, shall be made to holders of record as of the Distribution Record Date by the Distribution Agent or a Servicer, as appropriate: (1) to the address of such holder as set forth in the books and records of the applicable Debtor (or if the Debtors have been notified in writing, on or before the date that is 14 days before the Effective Date, of a change of address, to the changed address); (2) in accordance with Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 4, as modified and made applicable by Bankruptcy Rule 7004, if no address exists in the Debtors books and records, no Proof of Claim has been filed and the Distribution Agent has not received a written notice of a change of address on or before the date that is 14 days before the Effective Date; or (3) on any counsel that has appeared in the Chapter 11 Cases on the holder's behalf. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan, including this Section 6.3(b), distributions under the Plan to holders of Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claims, Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claims and RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claims shall be made to, or to Entities at the direction of, the Dex East Administrative Agent, Dex West Administrative Agent and the RHDI Administrative Agent, respectively, in accordance with the terms of the Plan and the Dex East Secured Credit Agreement, Dex West Secured Credit Agreement and the RHDI Secured Credit Agreement, respectively. The Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, and the Distribution Agent, as applicable, shall not incur any liability whatsoever on account of any distributions under the Plan.

(c) Accrual of Dividends and Other Rights

For purposes of determining the accrual of dividends or other rights after the Effective Date, Newdex Common Stock shall be deemed distributed as of the Effective Date regardless of the date on which it is actually issued, dated, authenticated, or distributed; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, the Reorganized Debtors shall not pay any such dividends or distribute such other rights, if any, until after distributions of Newdex Common Stock actually take place.

(d) Compliance Matters

In connection with the Plan, to the extent applicable, the Reorganized Debtors and the Distribution Agent shall comply with all tax withholding and reporting requirements imposed on them by any Governmental Unit, and all distributions pursuant to the Plan shall be subject to such withholding and reporting requirements. Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, the Reorganized Debtors and the Distribution Agent shall be authorized to take all actions necessary or appropriate to comply with such withholding and reporting requirements, including liquidating a portion of the distribution to be made under the Plan to generate sufficient funds to pay applicable withholding taxes, withholding distributions pending receipt of information necessary to facilitate such distributions, or establishing any other mechanisms they believe are reasonable and appropriate. The Reorganized Debtors reserve the right to allocate all distributions made under the Plan in compliance with all applicable wage garnishments, alimony, child support, and other spousal awards, liens, and encumbrances.

(e) Foreign Currency Exchange Rate

Except as otherwise provided in a Bankruptcy Court order, as of the Effective Date, any Claim asserted in currency other than U.S. dollars shall be automatically deemed converted to the equivalent U.S. dollar value using

the exchange rate for the applicable currency as published in The Wall Street Journal, National Edition, on the Effective Date.

(f) Fractional, Undeliverable, and Unclaimed Distributions

- (1) Fractional Distributions. The Distribution Agent shall make distributions of fractions of shares of Newdex Common Stock, as applicable. The Distribution Agent shall not make distributions or payments of fractions of dollars. Whenever any payment of Cash of a fraction of a dollar pursuant to the Plan would otherwise be required, the actual payment shall reflect a rounding of such fraction to the nearest whole dollar (up or down), with half dollars or less being rounded down.
- (2) Undeliverable Distributions. If any distribution to a holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest is returned to a Distribution Agent as undeliverable, no further distributions shall be made to such holder unless and until such Distribution Agent is notified in writing of such holder's then-current address or other necessary information for delivery, at which time all currently due missed distributions shall be made to such holder on the next Distribution Date. Undeliverable distributions shall remain in the possession of the Reorganized Debtors until such time as a distribution becomes deliverable, or such distribution reverts to the Reorganized Debtors or is cancelled pursuant to Section 6.3(f)(3), and shall not be supplemented with any interest, dividends, or other accruals of any kind.
- (3) Reversion. Any distribution under the Plan that is an Unclaimed Distribution for a period of six months after distribution shall be deemed unclaimed property under section 347(b) of the Bankruptcy Code and such Unclaimed Distribution shall revest in the applicable Reorganized Debtor and, to the extent such Unclaimed Distribution is Newdex Common Stock, shall be deemed cancelled. Upon such revesting, the Claim or Interest of any holder or its successors with respect to such property shall be cancelled, discharged, and forever barred notwithstanding any applicable federal or state escheat, abandoned, or unclaimed property laws, or any provisions in any document governing the distribution that is an Unclaimed Distribution, to the contrary.

(g) Surrender of Cancelled Instruments or Securities

On the Effective Date or as soon as practicable thereafter, each holder of a Certificate shall surrender such Certificate to the Distribution Agent or a Servicer (to the extent the relevant Claim or Interest is governed by an agreement and administered by a Servicer). Such Certificate shall be cancelled solely with respect to the Debtors, and such cancellation shall not alter the obligations or rights of any non-Debtor third parties vis-à-vis one another with respect to such Certificate. No distribution of property pursuant to the Plan shall be made to or on behalf of any such holder unless and until such Certificate is received by the Distribution Agent or the Servicer or the unavailability of such Certificate is reasonably established to the satisfaction of the Distribution Agent or the Servicer pursuant to the provisions of <u>Section 6.3(h)</u>. Any holder who fails to surrender or cause to be surrendered such Certificate or fails to execute and deliver an affidavit of loss and indemnity acceptable to the Distribution Agent or the Servicer prior to the first anniversary of the Effective Date shall have its Claim or Interest discharged with no further action, be forever barred from asserting any such Claim or Interest against the relevant Reorganized Debtor or its property, be deemed to have forfeited all rights, and Claims and Interests with respect to such Certificate, and not participate in any distribution under the Plan; furthermore, all property with respect to such forfeited distributions, including any dividends or interest attributable thereto, shall revert to the Reorganized Debtors, notwithstanding any federal or state escheat, abandoned, or unclaimed property law to the contrary. Notwithstanding the foregoing paragraph, this Section 6.3(g) shall not apply to any Claims and Interests reinstated pursuant to the terms of the Plan.

(h) Lost, Stolen, Mutilated, or Destroyed Securities

Any holder of Allowed Claims or Interests evidenced by a Certificate that has been lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed shall, in lieu of surrendering such Certificate, deliver to the Distribution Agent or Servicer, if applicable, an affidavit of loss acceptable to the Distribution Agent or Servicer setting forth the unavailability of the Certificate and such additional indemnity as may be required reasonably by the Distribution Agent or Servicer to hold the Distribution Agent or Servicer harmless from any damages, liabilities, or costs incurred in treating such holder as a holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest. Upon compliance with this procedure by a holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest evidenced by such a lost, stolen, mutilated, or destroyed Certificate, such holder shall, for all purposes pursuant to the Plan, be deemed to have surrendered such Certificate.

6.4 Claims Paid or Payable by Third Parties

(a) Claims Paid by Third Parties

A Claim shall be reduced in full, and such Claim shall be disallowed without a Claims objection having to be filed and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, to the extent that the holder of such Claim receives payment in full on account of such Claim from a party that is not a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor. To the extent a holder of a Claim receives a distribution on account of such Claim and receives payment from a party that is not a Debtor or a Reorganized Debtor on account of such Claim, such holder shall repay, return or deliver any distribution held by or transferred to the holder to the applicable Reorganized Debtor to the extent the holder's total recovery on account of such Claim from the third party and under the Plan exceeds the amount of such Claim as of the date of any such distribution under the Plan.

(b) Claims Payable by Insurance Carriers

Other than with respect to the Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claims, the Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claims or the RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claims, no distributions under the Plan shall be made on account of an Allowed Claim that is payable pursuant to one of the Debtors' insurance policies until the holder of such Allowed Claim has exhausted all remedies with respect to such insurance policy. Other than with respect to the Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claims, the Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claims or the RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claims, to the extent that one or more of the Debtors' insurers agrees to satisfy in full a Claim (if and to the extent adjudicated by a court of competent jurisdiction), then immediately upon such insurers' agreement, such Claim may be expunged to the extent of any agreed upon satisfaction on the Claims Register by the Claims and Solicitation Agent without a Claims objection having to be filed and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

(c) Applicability of Insurance Policies

Except as otherwise provided herein, distributions to holders of Allowed Claims shall be in accordance with the provisions of an applicable insurance policy. Nothing contained in the Plan shall constitute or be deemed a waiver of any Cause of Action that the Debtors or any Entity may hold against any other Entity, including insurers under any policies of insurance, nor shall anything contained herein constitute or be deemed a waiver by such insurers of any defenses, including coverage defenses, held by such insurers.

6.5 Setoffs

Except as otherwise expressly provided for herein (including with respect to any Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claims, Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claims, RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claims or Claims with respect to letters of credit as provided in the definition of Other Secured Claims), each Reorganized Debtor, pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code (including section 553 of the Bankruptcy Code), applicable non-bankruptcy law, or as may be agreed to by the holder of a Claim, may set off against any Allowed Claim and the distributions to be made pursuant to the Plan on account of such Allowed Claim (before any distribution is made on account of such Allowed Claim), any Claims, rights, and Causes of Action of any nature that such Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, may hold against the holder of such Allowed Claim, to the extent such Claims, rights, or Causes of Action against such holder have not been otherwise compromised or settled on or prior to the Effective Date (whether pursuant to the Plan or otherwise); provided, however, that neither the failure to effect such a setoff nor the

allowance of any Claim pursuant to the Plan shall constitute a waiver or release by such Reorganized Debtor of any such Claims, rights, and Causes of Action that such Reorganized Debtor may possess against such holder. In no event shall any holder of Claims be entitled to set off any Claim against any Claim, right, or Cause of Action of the Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, unless such holder has filed a motion with the Bankruptcy Court requesting the authority to perform such setoff on or before the Confirmation Date, and notwithstanding any indication in any Proof of Claim or otherwise that such holder asserts, has, or intends to preserve any right of setoff pursuant to section 553 or otherwise.

6.6 Allocation Between Principal and Accrued Interest

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, the aggregate consideration paid to holders with respect to their Allowed Claims shall be treated pursuant to the Plan as allocated first to the principal amount of such Allowed Claims (to the extent thereof) and, thereafter, to the interest, if any, accrued through the Effective Date.

ARTICLE VII

PROCEDURES FOR RESOLVING DISPUTED CLAIMS AND INTERESTS

7.1 <u>Disputed Claims Process</u> Except as otherwise provided herein, if a party files a proof of claim and the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, do not determine in their sole discretion, and without the need for notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, that the Claim subject to such proof of claim is Allowed, such Claim shall be Disputed unless Allowed or disallowed by a Final Order or as otherwise set forth in this ARTICLE VII. Except as otherwise provided herein, all proofs of claim filed after the Effective Date shall be disallowed and forever barred, estopped, and enjoined from assertion, and shall not be enforceable against any Reorganized Debtor, without the need for any objection by the Reorganized Debtors or any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

7.2 Prosecution of Objections to Claims and Interests

Except insofar as a Claim or Interest is Allowed under the Plan, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors or any other party in interest shall be entitled to object to the Claim or Interest. Any objections to Claims and Interests shall be served and filed on or before the 120th day after the Effective Date or by such later date as ordered by the Bankruptcy Court. All Claims and Interests not objected to by the end of such 120-day period shall be deemed Allowed unless such period is extended upon approval of the Bankruptcy Court. For the avoidance of doubt, except as otherwise provided in the Plan, from and after the Effective Date, each Reorganized Debtor shall have and retain any and all rights and defenses such Debtor had immediately prior to the Effective Date with respect to any Disputed Claim or Interest, including the Causes of Action retained pursuant to Section 4.15.

7.3 No Interest

Unless otherwise specifically provided for in the Plan or by order of the Bankruptcy Court (including pursuant to the Dex East Cash Collateral Order, the Dex West Cash Collateral Order or the RHDI Cash Collateral Order), postpetition interest shall not accrue or be paid on Claims, and no holder of a Claim shall be entitled to interest accruing on or after the Petition Date on any Claim or right. Additionally, and without limiting the foregoing, interest shall not accrue or be paid on any Disputed Claim with respect to the period from the Effective Date to the date a final distribution is made on account of such Disputed Claim, if and when such Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim.

7.4 <u>Disallowance of Claims and Interests</u>

All Claims and Interests of any Entity from which property is sought by the Debtors under section 542, 543, 550, or 553 of the Bankruptcy Code or that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors allege is a transferee of a transfer that is avoidable under section 522(f), 522(h), 544, 545, 547, 548, 549, or 724(a) of the Bankruptcy Code shall be disallowed if: (a) the Entity, on the one hand, and the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, on the other hand, agree or the Bankruptcy Court has determined by Final Order that such Entity or transferee is liable to turn

over any property or monies under any of the aforementioned sections of the Bankruptcy Code and (b) such Entity or transferee has failed to turn over such property by the date set forth in such agreement or Final Order.

ARTICLE VIII

EFFECT OF CONFIRMATION OF THE PLAN

8.1 Discharge of Claims and Termination of Interests

Except as otherwise provided for herein and effective as of the Effective Date: (a) the rights afforded in the Plan and the treatment of all Claims and Interests shall be in exchange for and in complete satisfaction, discharge, and release of all Claims and Interests of any nature whatsoever, including any interest accrued on such Claims from and after the Petition Date, against the Debtors or any of their assets, property, or Estates; (b) the Plan shall bind all holders of Claims and Interests, notwithstanding whether any such holders failed to vote to accept or reject the Plan or voted to reject the Plan; (c) all Claims and Interests shall be satisfied, discharged, and released in full, and the Debtors' liability with respect thereto shall be extinguished completely, including any liability of the kind specified under section 502(g) of the Bankruptcy Code; and (d) all Entities shall be precluded from asserting against the Debtors, the Debtors' Estates, the Reorganized Debtors, their successors and assigns, and their assets and properties any other Claims or Interests based upon any documents, instruments, or any act or omission, transaction, or other activity of any kind or nature that occurred prior to the Effective Date.

Releases by the Debtors

Pursuant to section 1123(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, and except as otherwise specifically provided for herein, for good and valuable consideration, on and after the Effective Date, the Released Parties are deemed released and discharged by the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, and the Estates from any and all Claims, obligations, rights, and liabilities whatsoever, whether for tort, fraud, contract, violations of federal or state securities laws, Avoidance Actions, including any derivative Claims, asserted or that could possibly have been asserted directly or indirectly on behalf of the Debtors, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereinafter arising, in law, equity, or otherwise, and any and all Causes of Action asserted or that could possibly have been asserted on behalf of the Debtors, that the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Estates, or Affiliates would have been legally entitled to assert in their own right (whether individually or collectively) or on behalf of the holder of any Claim or Interest or other Entity, based on or relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part, the Debtors or their Affiliates, the Chapter 11 Cases, the Transaction, the purchase, sale, or rescission of the purchase or sale of any Security of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, the subject matter of, or the transactions or events giving rise to, any Claim or Interest that is treated in the Plan, the business or contractual arrangements between any Debtor and any Released Party, prepetition contracts and agreements with one or more Debtors (including the Credit Agreements and other agreements reflecting long-term indebtedness), the Dex One Support Agreement, the restructuring of Claims and Interests prior to or in the Chapter 11 Cases, the negotiation, formulation, solicitation or preparation of the Plan and Disclosure Statement or related agreements, instruments, or other documents, upon any other act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence taking place before the Effective Date, other than Claims or liabilities arising out of or related to any contractual or fixed monetary obligation owed to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors.

Entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval, pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019, of the release set forth in this Section 8.2, which includes by reference each of the related provisions and definitions contained herein, and further, shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's finding that such release is: (a) in exchange for the good and valuable consideration provided by the Released Parties; (b) a good faith settlement and compromise of the Claims released by this Section 8.2; (c) in the best interests of the Debtors and all holders of Claims and Interests; (d) fair, equitable, and reasonable; (e) given and made after due notice and opportunity for hearing; and (f) a bar to any of the Debtors asserting any Claim or Cause of Action released by this Section 8.2.

8.3 Releases by Holders of Claims and Interests

As of the Effective Date, the Releasing Parties shall be deemed to have conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally, irrevocably, and forever, released and discharged the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Estates, and the Released Parties from any and all Claims, Interests, obligations, rights, liabilities, actions, causes of action, choses in action, suits, debts, damages, dues, sums of money, accounts, reckonings, bonds, bills, specialties, covenants, contracts, controversies, agreements, promises, variances, trespasses, damages, judgments, remedies, rights of set-off, third-party claims, subrogation claims, contribution claims, reimbursement claims, indemnity claims, counterclaims, and crossclaims (including all claims and actions against any Entities under the Bankruptcy Code) whatsoever, whether for tort, fraud, contract, violations of federal or state securities laws, Avoidance Actions, including any derivative Claims, asserted on behalf of the Debtors, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, existing or hereinafter arising, in law, equity, or otherwise, that such Entity would have been legally entitled to assert (whether individually or collectively), based on or in any way relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part, the Debtors, the Debtors' restructuring, the Chapter 11 Cases, the Transaction, the purchase, sale, or rescission of the purchase or sale of any Security of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, the subject matter of, or the transactions or events giving rise to, any Claim or Interest that is treated in the Plan, the business or contractual arrangements between any Debtor and any Released Party, prepetition contracts and agreements with one or more Debtors (including the Credit Agreements and other agreements reflecting long-term indebtedness), the Dex One Support Agreement, the restructuring of Claims and Interests prior to or in the Chapter 11 Cases, the negotiation, formulation, solicitation or preparation of the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, the Plan Supplement, or related agreements, instruments, or other documents, upon any other act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence taking place before the Effective Date of the Plan. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the foregoing, the release set forth above does not release any obligations arising on or after the Effective Date of any party under the Plan, or any document, instrument, or agreement (including those set forth in the Plan Supplement) executed to implement the Plan.

Entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval, pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 9019, of the release set forth in this Section 8.3, which includes by reference each of the related provisions and definitions contained herein, and further, shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's finding that such release is: (a) in exchange for the good and valuable consideration provided by the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Estates, and the Released Parties; (b) a good faith settlement and compromise of the Claims released by this Section 8.3; (c) in the best interests of the Debtors and all holders of Claims and Interests; (d) fair, equitable, and reasonable; (e) given and made after due notice and opportunity for hearing; and (f) a bar to any Entity granting a release under this Section 8.3 from asserting any Claim or Cause of Action released by this Section 8.3.

8.4 Exculpation

No Exculpated Party shall have or incur, and each Exculpated Party is hereby released and exculpated from any Exculpated Claim or any obligation, Cause of Action, or liability for any Exculpated Claim; provided, however, that the foregoing "exculpation" shall have no effect on the liability of any Entity that results from any such act or omission that is determined in a Final Order to have constituted gross negligence or willful misconduct; provided, further, that in all respects such Entities shall be entitled to reasonably rely upon the advice of counsel with respect to their duties and responsibilities pursuant to, or in connection with, the Plan. The Exculpated Parties have, and upon Confirmation shall be deemed to have, participated in good faith and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code with regard to the solicitation of acceptances and rejections of the Plan and the making of distributions pursuant to the Plan and, therefore, are not and shall not be liable at any time for the violation of any applicable, law, rule, or regulation governing the solicitation of acceptances or rejections of the Plan or such distributions made pursuant to the Plan.

8.5 Injunction

Except as otherwise provided herein or for obligations issued pursuant hereto, all Entities that have held, hold, or may hold Claims or Interests that have been released pursuant to <u>Section 8.2</u> or <u>Section 8.3</u>,

discharged pursuant to Section 8.1, or are subject to exculpation pursuant to Section 8.4 are permanently enjoined, from and after the Effective Date, from taking any of the following actions against, as applicable, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Released Parties, or the Exculpated Parties: (a) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests; (b) enforcing, attaching, collecting, or recovering by any manner or means any judgment, award, decree, or order against such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests; (c) creating, perfecting, or enforcing any encumbrance of any kind against such Entities or the property or Estates of such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests; (d) asserting any right of setoff, subrogation, or recoupment of any kind against any obligation due from such Entities or against the property or Estates of such Entities on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests unless such holder has filed a motion requesting the right to perform such setoff on or before the Confirmation Date; and (e) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind on account of or in connection with or with respect to any such Claims or Interests released, exculpated, or settled pursuant to the Plan.

8.6 Protection Against Discriminatory Treatment

In accordance with section 525 of the Bankruptcy Code, and consistent with paragraph 2 of Article VI of the United States Constitution, no Governmental Unit shall discriminate against any Reorganized Debtor, or any Entity with which a Reorganized Debtor has been or is associated, solely because such Reorganized Debtor was a Debtor under chapter 11, may have been insolvent before the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases (or during the Chapter 11 Cases but before such Debtor was granted or denied a discharge), or has not paid a debt that is dischargeable in the Chapter 11 Cases.

8.7 <u>Indemnification</u>

On and from the Effective Date, and except as prohibited by applicable law, the Reorganized Debtors shall assume or reinstate, as applicable, all indemnification obligations in place as of the Effective Date (whether in bylaws, certificates of incorporation, board resolutions, contracts, or otherwise) for the current and former directors, officers, managers, employees, attorneys, other professionals and agents of the Debtors and such current and former directors', officers', managers', and employees' respective Affiliates.

8.8 Recoupment

In no event shall any holder of Claims or Interests be entitled to recoup any Claim or Interest against any Claim, right, or Cause of Action of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, unless such holder actually has performed such recoupment and provided notice thereof in writing to the Debtors on or before the Confirmation Date, notwithstanding any indication in any Proof of Claim or Interest or otherwise that such holder asserts, has, or intends to preserve any right of recoupment.

8.9 Release of Liens

Except (a) with respect to the Liens securing the Dex East Secured Credit Facility Claims, Dex West Secured Credit Facility Claims or the RHDI Secured Credit Facility Claims, (b) with respect to the Liens securing the Secured Tax Claims or Other Secured Claims (depending on the treatment of such Claims), or (c) as otherwise provided herein or in any contract, instrument, release, or other agreement or document created pursuant to the Plan, on the Effective Date, all mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges, or other security interests against any property of the Estates shall be fully released and discharged, and all of the right, title, and interest of any holder of such mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges, or other security interests shall revert to the Reorganized Debtor and its successors and assigns.

8.10 Reimbursement or Contribution

If the Bankruptcy Court disallows a Claim for reimbursement or contribution of an Entity pursuant to section 502(e)(1)(B) of the Bankruptcy Code, then to the extent that such Claim is contingent as of the Effective

Date, such Claim shall be forever disallowed notwithstanding section 502(j) of the Bankruptcy Code, unless prior to the Effective Date (a) such Claim has been adjudicated as noncontingent or (b) the relevant holder of a Claim has filed a noncontingent Proof of Claim on account of such Claim and a Final Order has been entered determining such Claim as no longer contingent.

ARTICLE IX

CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO THE EFFECTIVE DATE

- **9.1** Conditions Precedent to the Effective Date. It shall be a condition to the Effective Date that the following conditions shall have been satisfied or waived pursuant to Section 9.2:
- (a) the Confirmation Order shall have been entered, and such order shall not have been stayed, modified, or vacated on appeal;
- (b) if the SuperMedia Chapter 11 Cases have been filed, the SuperMedia Confirmation Order shall have been entered by the Bankruptcy Court, and such order shall not have been stayed, modified, or vacated on appeal;
- (c) the Merger shall have been consummated, and all conditions set forth in Article VII of the Merger Agreement shall have been satisfied (and not waived);
- (d) all respective conditions precedent to the consummation of each of the Amended and Restated Dex East Secured Credit Agreement, the Amended and Restated Dex West Secured Credit Agreement, and the Amended and Restated RHDI Secured Credit Agreement shall have been waived or satisfied in accordance with the respective terms thereof;
- (e) if the SuperMedia Chapter 11 Cases have been filed, the effective date of the SuperMedia Plan shall have occurred in accordance with the terms thereof concurrently with the occurrence of the Effective Date;
- (f) all fees and expenses of the Credit Agreement Agents, including the fees and expenses of counsel and the financial advisors to the Credit Agreement Agents, shall have been paid in full in cash; and
- (g) all documents and agreements necessary to implement the Plan shall have: (1) all conditions precedent to such documents and agreements satisfied or waived pursuant to the terms of such documents or agreements; (2) been tendered for delivery to the required parties and, to the extent required, filed with and approved by any applicable Governmental Units in accordance with applicable laws; and (3) been effected or executed.

9.2 Waiver of Conditions Precedent

The Debtors, with the prior written consent of each Credit Agreement Agent, which may not be unreasonably withheld, may waive any of the conditions to the Effective Date set forth in Section 9.1 at any time without any notice to any other parties in interest and without any further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, and without any formal action other than proceeding to confirm or consummate the Plan.

9.3 <u>Effect of Non-Occurrence of Conditions to Consummation</u>

If prior to Consummation, the Confirmation Order is vacated pursuant to a Final Order, then except as provided in any order of the Bankruptcy Court vacating the Confirmation Order, the Plan will be null and void in all respects, and nothing contained in the Plan or Disclosure Statement shall: (a) constitute a waiver or release of any Claims, Interests, or Causes of Action; (b) prejudice in any manner the rights of any Debtor or any other Entity; or (c) constitute an admission, acknowledgment, offer, or undertaking of any sort by any Debtor or any other Entity.

ARTICLE X

MODIFICATION, REVOCATION, OR WITHDRAWAL OF THE PLAN

10.1 <u>Modification of Plan</u>

Effective as of the date hereof: (a) the Debtors reserve the right, in accordance with the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules, to amend or modify the Plan before the entry of the Confirmation Order, subject to the limitations set forth herein and, if effective, the Dex One Support Agreement; and (b) after the entry of the Confirmation Order, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, may, upon order of the Bankruptcy Court, amend or modify the Plan, in accordance with section 1127(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, remedy any defect or omission, or reconcile any inconsistency in the Plan in such manner as may be necessary to carry out the purpose and intent of the Plan, subject to the limitations set forth herein and, if effective, the Dex One Support Agreement.

10.2 Revocation or Withdrawal of Plan

The Debtors reserve the right to revoke or withdraw the Plan before the Confirmation Date and to file subsequent chapter 11 plans. If the Debtors revoke or withdraw the Plan, or if Confirmation or the Effective Date does not occur, then: (a) the Plan will be null and void in all respects; (b) any settlement or compromise embodied in the Plan, assumption or rejection of Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases effected by the Plan, and any document or agreement executed pursuant hereto will be null and void in all respects; and (c) nothing contained in the Plan shall (1) constitute a waiver or release of any Claims, Interests, or Causes of Action, (2) prejudice in any manner the rights of any Debtor or any other Entity, or (3) constitute an admission, acknowledgement, offer, or undertaking of any sort by any Debtor or any other Entity.

10.3 <u>Confirmation of the Plan</u>

The Debtors request Confirmation of the Plan under section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to any Impaired Class that does not accept the Plan pursuant to section 1126 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Debtors reserve the right to amend the Plan to the extent, if any, that Confirmation pursuant to section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code requires modification.

ARTICLE XI

RETENTION OF JURISDICTION

Notwithstanding the entry of the Confirmation Order and the occurrence of the Effective Date, the Bankruptcy Court shall retain exclusive jurisdiction over all matters arising out of, or related to, the Chapter 11 Cases and the Plan pursuant to sections 105(a) and 1142 of the Bankruptcy Code, including jurisdiction to:

- 1. allow, disallow, determine, liquidate, classify, estimate, or establish the priority, secured or unsecured status, or amount of any Claim or Interest, including the resolution of any request for payment of any Claim or Interest and the resolution of any and all objections to the secured or unsecured status, priority, amount, or allowance of Claims or Interests;
- 2. decide and resolve all matters related to the granting and denying, in whole or in part, any applications for allowance of compensation or reimbursement of expenses to Professionals authorized pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or the Plan;
- 3. resolve any matters related to Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases, including: (a) the assumption, assumption and assignment, or rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease to which a Debtor is party or with respect to which a Debtor may be liable and to hear, determine, and, if necessary, liquidate, any Cure or Claims arising therefrom, including pursuant to section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code; (b) any potential contractual obligation under any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that is assumed; (c) the Reorganized Debtors' amendment, modification, or supplement, after the Effective Date, pursuant to ARTICLE V, of the list of

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 277 of 483

Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases to be rejected or otherwise; and (d) any dispute regarding whether a contract or lease is or was executory or expired;

- 4. ensure that distributions to holders of Allowed Claims are accomplished pursuant to the provisions of the Plan and adjudicate any and all disputes arising from or relating to distributions under the Plan;
- 5. adjudicate, decide, or resolve any motions, adversary proceedings, contested or litigated matters, and any other matters, and grant or deny any applications involving a Debtor that may be pending on the Effective Date;
- 6. enter and implement such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to execute, implement, or consummate the provisions of (a) contracts, instruments, releases, indentures, and other agreements or documents approved by Final Order in the Chapter 11 Cases and (b) the Plan or the Confirmation Order, including contracts, instruments, releases, indentures, and other agreements or documents created in connection with the Plan;
- 7. enforce any order for the sale of property pursuant to sections 363, 1123, or 1146(a) of the Bankruptcy Code;
- 8. grant any consensual request to extend the deadline for assuming or rejecting Unexpired Leases pursuant to section 365(d)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code;
- 9. issue injunctions, enter and implement other orders, or take such other actions as may be necessary or appropriate to restrain interference by any Entity with Consummation or enforcement of the Plan;
- 10. hear, determine, and resolve any cases, matters, controversies, suits, disputes, or Causes of Action in connection with or in any way related to the Chapter 11 Cases, including: (a) with respect to the repayment or return of distributions and the recovery of additional amounts owed by the holder of a Claim or Interest for amounts not timely repaid pursuant to Section 6.4(a); (b) with respect to the releases, injunctions, and other provisions contained in ARTICLE VIII, including entry of such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to implement such releases, injunctions, and other provisions; (c) that may arise in connection with the Consummation, interpretation, implementation, or enforcement of the Plan or the Confirmation Order, or any Entity's obligations incurred in connection with the Plan or the Confirmation Order, including those arising under agreements, documents, or instruments executed in connection with the Plan; or (d) related to section 1141 of the Bankruptcy Code;
- 11. enter and implement such orders as are necessary or appropriate if the Confirmation Order is for any reason modified, stayed, reversed, revoked, or vacated;
- 12. consider any modifications of the Plan, to cure any defect or omission, or to reconcile any inconsistency in any Bankruptcy Court order, including the Confirmation Order;
- 13. hear and determine matters concerning state, local, and federal taxes in accordance with sections 346, 505, and 1146 of the Bankruptcy Code;
 - 14. enter an order or Final Decree concluding or closing the Chapter 11 Cases;
 - 15. enforce all orders previously entered by the Bankruptcy Court; and
 - 16. hear any other matter not inconsistent with the Bankruptcy Code.

After the Effective Date, notwithstanding anything in this ARTICLE XI to the contrary, any disputes arising under the Amended and Restated Credit Documents will be governed by the jurisdictional provisions therein.

ARTICLE XII

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

12.1 Additional Documents

On or before the Effective Date, the Debtors may file with the Bankruptcy Court such agreements and other documents as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan. The Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and all holders of Claims and Interests receiving distributions pursuant to the Plan and all other parties in interest shall, from time to time, prepare, execute, and deliver any agreements or documents and take any other actions as may be necessary or advisable to effectuate the provisions and intent of the Plan.

12.2 Payment of Statutory Fees

All fees payable pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1930(a) shall be paid for each quarter (including any fraction thereof) until the Chapter 11 Cases are converted, dismissed, or a Final Decree is issued, whichever occurs first.

12.3 Reservation of Rights

Except as expressly set forth herein, the Plan shall have no force or effect unless the Bankruptcy Court shall enter the Confirmation Order. None of the filing of the Plan, any statement or provision contained in the Plan, or the taking of any action by any Debtor with respect to the Plan, the Disclosure Statement, or the Plan Supplement shall be or shall be deemed to be an admission or waiver of any rights of any Debtor with respect to the holders of Claims or Interests prior to the Effective Date.

12.4 Successors and Assigns

The rights, benefits, and obligations of any Entity named or referred to in the Plan shall be binding on, and shall inure to the benefit of any heir, executor, administrator, successor or assign, affiliate, officer, director, agent, representative, attorney, beneficiaries, or guardian, if any, of each Entity.

12.5 Service of Documents

After the Effective Date, any pleading, notice, or other document required by the Plan to be served on or delivered to the Reorganized Debtors shall be served on:

Reorganized Debtors Dex Media Inc.

1001 Winstead Drive

Cary, North Carolina 27513 Attn.: Mark W. Hianik

Counsel to Debtors

Pachulski Stang Ziehl & Jones LLP

919 North Market Street, 17th Floor

P.O. Box 8705

Wilmington, Delaware 19899-8705

(Courier 19801)

Attn.: Laura Davis Jones

Peter J. Keane

Kirkland & Ellis LLP

601 Lexington Avenue

New York, New York 10022-4611

Attn.: Marc Kieselstein, P.C.

Christopher J. Marcus

Counsel to the Credit Agreement Agents Richards, Layton & Finger, P.A.

One Rodney Square 920 N. King Street

Wilmington, Delaware 19801 Attn: Mark Collins, Esq.

Simpson Thacher & Bartlett LLP

425 Lexington Avenue New York, New York 10017 Steve Fuhrman, Esq. Attn: Sandy Qusba, Esq.

Counsel to SuperMedia Young Conaway Stargatt &

> Taylor, LLP Rodney Square 1000 North King Street Wilmington, Delaware 19801 Attn: Pauline K. Morgan

Cleary Gottlieb Steen &

Hamilton LLP One Liberty Plaza New York, New York 10006

Attn. Sean A. O'Neal

United States Trustee Office of the United States Trustee

> for the District of Delaware 844 King Street, Suite 2207 Wilmington, Delaware 19801

Attn.: []

Term of Injunctions or Stays 12.6

Unless otherwise provided in the Plan or in the Confirmation Order, all injunctions or stays in effect in the Chapter 11 Cases (pursuant to sections 105 or 362 of the Bankruptcy Code or any order of the Bankruptcy Court) and existing on the Confirmation Date (excluding any injunctions or stays contained in the Plan or the Confirmation Order) shall remain in full force and effect until the Effective Date. All injunctions or stays contained in the Plan or the Confirmation Order shall remain in full force and effect in accordance with their terms.

12.7 **Entire Agreement**

Except as otherwise indicated, the Plan supersedes all previous and contemporaneous negotiations, promises, covenants, agreements, understandings, and representations on such subjects, all of which have become merged and integrated into the Plan.

12.8 **Plan Supplement Exhibits**

All exhibits and documents included in the Plan Supplement are incorporated into and are a part of the Plan as if set forth in full in the Plan. After the exhibits and documents are filed, copies of such exhibits and documents shall be made available upon written request to the Debtors' counsel at the address above or by downloading such exhibits and documents from www.epiq11.com/dexone or the Bankruptcy Court's website at

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 280 of 483

www.deb.uscourts.gov. Unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court, to the extent any exhibit or document in the Plan Supplement is inconsistent with the terms of any part of the Plan that does not constitute the Plan Supplement, such part of the Plan that does not constitute the Plan Supplement shall control.

12.9 Non-Severability

If, prior to Confirmation, any term or provision of the Plan is held by the Bankruptcy Court to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the Bankruptcy Court shall have the power to alter and interpret such term or provision to make it valid or enforceable to the maximum extent practicable, consistent with the original purpose of the term or provision held to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, and such term or provision shall then be applicable as altered or interpreted. Notwithstanding any such holding, alteration, or interpretation, the remainder of the terms and provisions of the Plan will remain in full force and effect and will in no way be affected, impaired, or invalidated by such holding, alteration, or interpretation. The Confirmation Order shall constitute a judicial determination and shall provide that each term and provision of the Plan, as it may have been altered or interpreted in accordance with the foregoing, is: (a) valid and enforceable pursuant to its terms; (b) integral to the Plan and may not be deleted or modified without the Debtors' consent; and (c) nonseverable and mutually dependent.

[The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.]

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 281 of 483

Dated: [], 2013	DEX ONE CORPORATION on behalf of itself and all other Debtors
	Alfred T. Mockett Chief Executive Officer

EXHIBIT A TO THE DEX ONE PLAN

AMENDED AND RESTATED DEX EAST SECURED CREDIT AGREEMENT

CREDIT AGREEMENT

dated as of

October 24, 2007, as amended and restated as of January 29, 2010, and as further amended and restated as of [], 2013,

among

NEWDEX, INC.,

DEX MEDIA, INC.,

DEX MEDIA EAST, INC., as Borrower,

The Lenders Party Hereto

and

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent

DEUTSCHE BANK TRUST COMPANY AMERICAS, as Syndication Agent

J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES LLC and

DEUTSCHE BANK TRUST COMPANY AMERICAS, as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners

-Active.13504878.21

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01	Defined Terms	2
Section 1.02	Classification of Loans and Borrowings	
Section 1.03	Terms Generally	
Section 1.04	Accounting Terms; GAAP	34
	ARTICLE II	
	THE CREDITS	
Section 2.01	Loans	
Section 2.02	Borrowings	
Section 2.03	Interest Elections	
Section 2.04	Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt	
Section 2.05	Amortization of Loans	
Section 2.06	Prepayment of Loans	
Section 2.07	Fees	
Section 2.08	Interest	
Section 2.09	Alternate Rate of Interest	
Section 2.10	Increased Costs; Illegality	
Section 2.11	Break Funding Payments.	
Section 2.12	Taxes.	
Section 2.13	Payments Generally; Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing of Setoffs	
Section 2.14	Mitigation Obligations; Replacement of Lenders	
Section 2.15	Voluntary Prepayments Below Par	47
	ARTICLE III	
	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	
Section 3.01	Organization; Powers.	49
Section 3.02	Authorization; Enforceability.	
Section 3.03	Governmental Approvals; No Conflicts	
Section 3.04	Financial Condition	
Section 3.05	Properties	
Section 3.06	Litigation and Environmental Matters	
Section 3.07	Compliance with Laws and Agreements	
Section 3.08	Investment Company Status	
Section 3.09	Taxes	
Section 3.10	ERISA	51
Section 3.11	Margin Regulations.	
Section 3.12	Disclosure	
Section 3.13	Subsidiaries	51
Section 3.14	Insurance	52
Section 3.15	Labor Matters.	52

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 285 of 483

Contents, p. 2

Section 3.16	Senior Debt	52
Section 3.17	Security Documents	52
Section 3.18	Liens.	53
Section 3.19	[Bankruptcy Court Orders	53
	ARTICLE IV	
	CONDITIONS	
Section 4.01	Effectiveness of Agreement	53
	ARTICLE V	
	AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS	
Section 5.01	Financial Statements and Other Information.	57
Section 5.02	Notices of Material Events.	61
Section 5.03	Information Regarding Collateral	62
Section 5.04	Existence; Conduct of Business.	62
Section 5.05	Payment of Obligations.	62
Section 5.06	Maintenance of Properties.	62
Section 5.07	Insurance	63
Section 5.08	Casualty and Condemnation.	63
Section 5.09	Books and Records; Inspection and Audit Rights.	63
Section 5.10	Compliance with Laws.	63
Section 5.11	Additional Subsidiaries.	63
Section 5.12	Further Assurances.	63
Section 5.13	Credit Ratings	64
Section 5.14	Intellectual Property	64
Section 5.15	Independent Director	65
	ARTICLE VI	
	NEGATIVE COVENANTS	
Section 6.01	Indebtedness; Certain Equity Securities	65
Section 6.02	Liens.	66
Section 6.03	Fundamental Changes.	67
Section 6.04	Investments, Loans, Advances, Guarantees and Acquisitions	67
Section 6.05	Asset Sales.	69
Section 6.06	Sale and Leaseback Transactions.	70
Section 6.07	Swap Agreements.	70
Section 6.08	Restricted Payments; Certain Payments of Indebtedness	70
Section 6.09	Transactions with Affiliates.	72
Section 6.10	Restrictive Agreements	
Section 6.11	Change in Business	
Section 6.12	Fiscal Year.	
Section 6.13	Amendment of Material Documents.	
Section 6.14	Leverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio.	
Section 6.15	Capital Expenditures	74

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 286 of 483

Contents, p. 3

Section 6.16	Parent Covenants.	74
Section 6.17	Ultimate Parent Covenants	
Section 6.18	Service Company Covenants	
Section 6.19	Dex Media Service Covenant	
Section 6.20	Limitation on Activities of the License Subsidiaries	78
	ARTICLE VII	
	EVENTS OF DEFAULT	
	ARTICLE VIII	
	THE AGENT	
	ARTICLE IX	
	MISCELLANEOUS	
Section 9.01	Notices	84
Section 9.02	Waivers; Amendments	84
Section 9.03	Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver	86
Section 9.04	Successors and Assigns.	
Section 9.05	Survival	
Section 9.06	Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness	
Section 9.07	Severability	
Section 9.08	Right of Setoff.	
Section 9.09	Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process	90
Section 9.10	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	
Section 9.11	Headings	
Section 9.12	Confidentiality	
Section 9.13	Interest Rate Limitation.	
Section 9.14	Termination or Release	
Section 9.15	USA Patriot Act	93

Section 9.16

Section 9.17

Contents, p. 4

SCHEDULES:

Schedule 1.01A -- Directory Consolidation Project

Schedule 1.01B -- Mortgaged Property

Schedule 3.05 -- Properties
Schedule 3.09 -- Taxes
Schedule 3.13 -- Subsidiaries

Schedule 3.13 -- Subsidiaries
Schedule 3.14 -- Insurance

Schedule 3.17 -- UCC Filing Jurisdictions
Schedule 6.01 -- Existing Indebtedness

Schedule 6.02 -- Existing Liens

Schedule 6.04 -- Existing Investments Schedule 6.10 -- Existing Restrictions

EXHIBITS:

Exhibit A -- Form of Assignment and Assumption

Exhibit B -- Form of Acknowledgment and Confirmation

Exhibit C -- Form of Amended and Restated Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement
Exhibit D -- Form of Amended and Restated Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement

Exhibit E -- Form of Amended and Restated Shared Services Agreement

Exhibit F -- Form of Newco Subordinated Guarantee
Exhibit G -- Form of Subordinated Guarantee Agreement

Exhibit H -- Form of License Agreement

Exhibit I -- Form of Master IP License Agreement

Exhibit J -- Form of Election Notice

Exhibit K -- Form of Dex Tax Sharing Agreement

Exhibit L -- Form of SuperMedia Tax Sharing Agreement

Exhibit M -- Form of Tax Certificates

CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of October 24, 2007, as amended and restated as of January 29, 2010 and as further amended and restated as of [] (this "Agreement"), among NEWDEX, INC., a Delaware corporation, DEX MEDIA, INC., a Delaware corporation, DEX MEDIA EAST, INC., a Delaware corporation, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party hereto (the "Lenders"), and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent for such lenders.
Recitals
WHEREAS, the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower (as each term is defined below) are parties to the Credit Agreement (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the Closing Date (as defined below), the "Existing Credit Agreement"), dated as of October 24, 2007 and amended and restated as of January 29, 2010 (the "Original Restatement Date"), among the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower, the Lenders and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent;
[WHEREAS, on [, 2013] (the "Petition Date"), the Ultimate Parent (as defined below) and its Subsidiaries (as defined below) each commenced bankruptcy cases (the "Chapter 11 Cases") by filing voluntary petitions under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code (as defined below) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the "Bankruptcy Court");
WHEREAS, on the Petition Date, the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries filed with the Bankruptcy Court the Reorganization Plan (as defined below) and the Disclosure Statement (as defined below);
WHEREAS, on [, 2013], the Bankruptcy Court entered the Confirmation Order (as defined below) confirming the Reorganization Plan;
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Reorganization Plan, the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries have implemented (or substantially simultaneously with the Closing Date will implement) the Amendments (as defined below);] ¹
WHEREAS, the Ultimate Parent and SuperMedia Inc. ("SuperMedia") have entered into a Merger Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2012, as amended and restated as of December 5, 2012 (the "Merger Agreement"), by and among Dex One, NewDex, Inc. ("Newdex"), Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc. ("Merger Sub") and SuperMedia, pursuant to which Dex One merged with Newdex, with Newdex as the surviving corporation (the "Dex Merger"), and SuperMedia merged with Merger Sub, with SuperMedia as the surviving corporation (the "SuperMedia Merger" and together with the Dex Merger, the "Mergers");
WHEREAS, after giving effect to the Mergers, SuperMedia has become a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Newdex and Newdex has become the Ultimate Parent;
WHEREAS, the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower have requested that the Lenders amend and restate the Existing Credit Agreement as provided in this Agreement; and
WHEREAS, the Lenders are willing to so amend and restate the Existing Credit Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth herein.

¹ To be included if applicable

Now, therefore, the parties hereto agree that the Existing Credit Agreement shall be amended and restated in its entirety as of the Closing Date to read as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01 <u>Defined Terms</u>. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified below:

"ABR", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the Alternate Base Rate.

"Acceptable Payment Percentage" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(c).

"Acknowledgment and Confirmation" means an Acknowledgment and Confirmation substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto, dated the date hereof, executed by each Dex East Loan Party.

"Additional Notes" means notes issued by the Ultimate Parent after the date hereof (a) that are not secured by any assets of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, (b) that bear interest at a prevailing market rate at the time of the issuance thereof, (c) the proceeds of which are used to refinance the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes, (d) that do not mature, and are not mandatorily redeemable, in whole or in part, or required to be repurchased or reacquired, in whole or in part, prior to the date that is six months after the Maturity Date (other than pursuant to asset sale or change in control provisions customary in offerings of similar notes), (e) that have no financial maintenance covenants and no restrictive covenants that apply to any Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent or that impose limitations on the Ultimate Parent's ability to guarantee or pledge assets to secure the Obligations and otherwise have covenants, representations and warranties and events of default that are no more restrictive than those existing in the prevailing market at the time of issuance for companies with the same or similar credit ratings of the Ultimate Parent at such time issuing similar securities, (f) are not guaranteed by any Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent and are subordinated to the Obligations on terms that are no less favorable to the Lenders than the subordination terms set forth in the Restructuring Notes Indenture and that are otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and (g) are not convertible or exchangeable except into (i) other Indebtedness of the Ultimate Parent meeting the qualifications set forth in this definition or (ii) common equity of the Ultimate Parent, provided that any such exchange or conversion, if effected, would not result in a Change in Control or a Default.

"Adjusted LIBO Rate" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing for any Interest Period, an interest rate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) equal to (a) the LIBO Rate for such Interest Period multiplied by (b) the Statutory Reserve Rate.

"<u>Administrative Agent</u>" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as administrative agent for the Lenders hereunder and its Affiliates and permitted successors acting in such capacity.

"<u>Administrative Questionnaire</u>" means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by the Administrative Agent.

"Advance Amortization Payment" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.06(a).

"Affiliate" means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified.

"Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacities as Administrative Agent and/or Collateral Agent, and each of its Affiliates and successors acting in any such capacity. The Administrative Agent may act on behalf of or in place of any Person included in the "Agent".

"Agreement" has the meaning assigned in the preamble hereto.

"Allocable Net Proceeds" means, with respect to any Equity Issuance by the Ultimate Parent, 13% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance; provided, that to the extent the Indebtedness outstanding under (a) the RHDI Credit Agreement has been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 16% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance, (b) the Dex West Credit Agreement has been repaid in full, the Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 15% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance, (c) the RHDI Credit Agreement and the Dex West Credit Agreement have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 20% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance, (d) the SuperMedia Credit Agreement have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 28% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance, (e) the RHDI Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Credit Agreement have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 46% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance, (f) the Dex West Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Credit Agreement have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 41% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance and (g) the Dex West Credit Agreement, RHDI Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Credit Agreement have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 100% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance.

"Alternate Base Rate" means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the greatest of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such day, (b) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on such day plus ½ of 1%, (c) the Adjusted LIBO Rate for a Eurodollar Loan with an Interest Period of one month commencing on such day plus 1% and (d) 4.00%, provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the Adjusted LIBO Rate for any day shall be based on the rate appearing on Reuters Screen LIBOR 01 Page (or on any successor or substitute of such page) at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on such day. Any change in the Alternate Base Rate due to a change in the Prime Rate, the Federal Funds Effective Rate or the Adjusted LIBO Rate shall be effective from and including the effective date of such change in the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Effective Rate or the Adjusted LIBO Rate, as the case may be.

"Amendments" means, collectively, the amendment and restatement of the RHDI Existing Credit Agreement, the Dex West Existing Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Existing Credit Agreement, pursuant to the RHDI Credit Agreement, the Dex West Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Credit Agreement, respectively (in each case referred to in clause (a) in the definition thereof)[, which amendments were consummated pursuant to the Reorganization Plan]².

"Applicable Payment Percentage" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(c).

"Applicable Rate" means, for any day, with respect to any Loan, 2.00% per annum, in the case of an ABR Loan, and 3.00% per annum, in the case of a Eurodollar Loan.

² To be included if applicable

"Approved Fund" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04.

"<u>Arrangers</u>" means, collectively, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., in their capacities as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners.

"Asset Disposition" means (a) any sale, lease, assignment, conveyance, transfer or other disposition (including pursuant to a sale and leaseback or securitization transaction) of any property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary other than (i) dispositions described in clauses (a), (b), (c), (d), (f), (g) and (h) of Section 6.05 and (ii) dispositions described in Section 6.05(e) resulting in aggregate Net Proceeds not exceeding \$2,500,000 during the term of this Agreement and (b) any casualty or other insured damage to, or any taking under power of eminent domain or by condemnation or similar proceeding of, any property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, but only to the extent that the Net Proceeds therefrom have not been applied to repair, restore or replace such property or asset within 365 days after such event.

"Assignment and Assumption" means an assignment and assumption entered into by a Lender and an assignee (with the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section 9.04), and accepted by the Administrative Agent, in the form of Exhibit A or any other form approved by the Administrative Agent.

"Attributable Debt" means, on any date, in respect of any lease of the Borrower or any Subsidiary entered into as part of a sale and leaseback transaction subject to Section 6.06, (a) if such lease is a Capital Lease Obligation, the capitalized amount thereof that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP and (b) if such lease is not a Capital Lease Obligation, the capitalized amount of the remaining lease payments under such lease that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP if such lease were accounted for as a Capital Lease Obligation.

["Bankruptcy Code" means title 11 of the United States Code (11 U.S.C. §101 et seq.), as amended from time to time, and any successor statute.]³

["Bankruptcy Court" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.]⁴

"Billing and Collection Agreement" means the Agreement for the Provision of Billing and Collection Services for Directory Publishing Services dated as of November 1, 2004, between Qwest Corp. and the Parent.

"<u>Board</u>" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States of America.

"Borrower" means Dex Media East, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"<u>Borrower Receivables</u>" means the receivables of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries subject to purchase by Qwest Corp. pursuant to the Billing and Collection Agreement.

³ To be included if applicable

⁴ To be included if applicable

"Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow" means an amount determined following the end of each fiscal quarter of the Borrower (and certified by a Financial Officer of the Borrower pursuant to Section 5.01(d)), commencing with the first such fiscal quarter ending after the Closing Date, equal to (i) the Excess Cash Flow as of the end of such fiscal quarter multiplied by the Borrower's Percentage, minus (ii) (a) any Discounted Voluntary Prepayment made during the applicable ECF Period as to which the Borrower has delivered an Election Notice to the Administrative Agent that such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall constitute a utilization of the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow within the applicable 180-day period described in Section 2.06(e) and (b) all (x) Advance Amortization Payments, (y) prepayments made pursuant to Section 2.06(a) (other than Advance Amortization Payments) and (z) other prepayments made pursuant to Section 2.06(d), in each case to the extent the Borrower has delivered an Election Notice to the Administrative Agent that such payment shall constitute a utilization of the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow, provided that, for purposes of Section 2.06(e), the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow shall be calculated as to each individual fiscal quarter and shall not be reduced or affected by any subsequent calculation of the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow at the end of any subsequent fiscal quarter.

"Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow" means an amount determined following the end of each fiscal quarter of the Borrower (and certified by a Financial Officer of the Borrower pursuant to Section 5.01(d)), commencing with the first such fiscal quarter ending after the Closing Date, equal to (i) the Excess Cash Flow as of the end of such fiscal quarter multiplied by the Borrower's Percentage, minus (ii) all Discounted Voluntary Prepayments made during the applicable ECF Period as to which the Borrower has delivered an Election Notice to the Administrative Agent that such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall constitute a utilization of the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow.

"Borrower's Percentage" means (a) with respect to any fiscal quarter of the Borrower in the fiscal years ending December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014, 15%, and (b) with respect to any fiscal quarter of the Borrower in the fiscal years ending December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016, 20%.

"Borrower's Portion of Excess Cash Flow" means, collectively, the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow and the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow.

"Borrowing" means Loans of the same Type, made, converted or continued on the same date and, in the case of Eurodollar Loans, as to which a single Interest Period is in effect.

"Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York City are authorized or required by law to remain closed; <u>provided</u>, that, when used in connection with a Eurodollar Loan, the term "Business Day" shall also exclude any day on which banks are not open for dealings in dollar deposits in the London interbank market.

"Capital Expenditures" means, for any period, without duplication, (i) the additions to property, plant and equipment and other capital expenditures of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries for such period, determined in accordance with GAAP and (ii) the portion of the additions to property, plant and equipment and other capital expenditures of the Service Company for such period allocated to, and funded by, the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement.

"Capital Lease Obligations" of any Person means (i) the obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as capital leases on a balance sheet of such Person under GAAP, and the amount of such obligations shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP and (ii) in the case of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, the portion of the obligations of the Service Company described in the foregoing clause (i) allocated to, and funded by, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement.

["<u>Cash Collateral Order</u>" means the Final Order Under 11 U.S.C. §§ 105, 361, 362, 363, 552 and Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2002, 4001 and 9014 (I) Authorizing Debtors to Use Cash Collateral and (II) Granting Adequate Protection to the Prepetition Secured Parties, entered by the Bankruptcy Court on [____], 2013.]⁵

"Change in Control" means, subject to the proviso below:

- (a) the ownership, beneficially or of record, by any Person other than the Parent of any Equity Interest in the Borrower;
- (b) the ownership, beneficially or of record, by any Person other than the Ultimate Parent of any Equity Interest in the Parent;
- (c) for so long as the Shared Services Agreement is in existence, the ownership, beneficially or of record, by any Person other than the Ultimate Parent of any Equity Interests in the Service Company;
- (d) the ownership, beneficially or of record, by any "person" or "group" (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) of more than 35% of the outstanding Equity Interests in the Ultimate Parent;
- (e) occupation of a majority of the seats (other than vacant seats) on the Governing Board of the Ultimate Parent or the Parent by Persons who were not (i) members of such Governing Board as of the Closing Date [(after giving effect to the Reorganization Plan)]⁶, (ii) nominated by, or whose nomination for election was approved or ratified by a majority of the directors or members of, the Governing Board of the Ultimate Parent or the Parent, as applicable, or (iii) appointed by Persons described in the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii); or
- (f) the occurrence of a "Change of Control" (or similar term) as defined in the Restructuring Notes Indenture or any indenture, agreement or other instrument governing the Additional Notes;

<u>provided</u>, that the consummation of the Mergers pursuant to the SuperMedia Merger Agreement shall not constitute a Change in Control.

"Change in Law" means (a) the adoption of any law, rule or regulation after the date of this Agreement, (b) any change in any law, rule or regulation or in the interpretation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority after the date of this Agreement or (c) compliance by any Lender (or, for

-Active.13504878.21

⁵ To be included if applicable

⁶ To be included if applicable

purposes of Section 2.10(b), by any lending office of such Lender or by such Lender's holding company, if any) with any request, guideline or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority made or issued after the date of this Agreement.

["Chapter 11 Cases" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.] 7

"Charges" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.13.

"Closing Date" means the date on which the conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.01 shall have been satisfied (or waived) and the notice contemplated in the last sentence of Section 4.01 shall have been delivered, which date is [, 2013].8

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

"Collateral" means all property of the Loan Parties, now owned or hereafter acquired, upon which a Lien is purported to be created by any Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document.

"Collateral Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as collateral agent for the Secured Parties and its Affiliates and permitted successors acting in such capacity.

"Collateral Agreements" means the collective reference to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

"Collateral and Guarantee Requirement" means the requirement that:

- (a) the Collateral Agent shall have received from each Dex East Loan Party either (i) a counterpart of the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Dex East Loan Party or (ii) in the case of any Subsidiary that becomes a Subsidiary Loan Party after the Closing Date, a supplement to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, in the form specified therein, duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Subsidiary;
- (b) the Shared Collateral Agent shall have received from each Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Newco Subordinated Guarantors) either (i) a counterpart of the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Shared Collateral Loan Party or (ii) in the case of any Newco that becomes a Shared Collateral Loan Party after the Closing Date, a supplement to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, in the form specified therein, duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Newco;
- (c) all outstanding Equity Interests of the Borrower and each other Subsidiary Loan Party shall have been pledged pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement (except that the Borrower and each other Subsidiary Loan Party shall not be required to pledge more than 65% of the outstanding voting Equity Interests of any Foreign Subsidiary) and the Collateral

⁷ To be included if applicable

⁸ If the Closing Date occurs prior to March 31, 2013, the initial delivery of annual financial statements will be adjusted and the Excess Cash Flow prepayment provisions will be adjusted to require payment of the Excess Cash Flow prepayment under the Existing Credit Agreement for the period ending December 31, 2012.

Agent shall have received all certificates or other instruments representing such Equity Interests, together with stock powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank;

- (d) all outstanding Equity Interests of the Parent, Dex Media Service, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company and each other Subsidiary owned by or on behalf of any Shared Collateral Loan Party shall have been pledged pursuant to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement (except that the Shared Collateral Loan Parties shall not be required to pledge more than 65% of the outstanding voting Equity Interests of any Foreign Subsidiary) and, subject to the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement, the Shared Collateral Agent shall have received all certificates or other instruments representing such Equity Interests, together with stock powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank;
- the Shared Collateral Agent shall have received from each Newco Subordinated Guarantor a subordinated guarantee substantially in the form of Exhibit F (or such other form as shall be reasonably acceptable to the Agent and the Shared Collateral Agent), which shall (i) to the extent permitted by the terms of any assumed Indebtedness of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor in existence prior to the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor (without giving effect to any restriction effected by any amendment thereto entered into in contemplation of such assumption) and any Indebtedness incurred to finance the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor, be secured by a pledge of the Equity Interests of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor's Subsidiaries and any joint venture interest owned by such Newco Subordinated Guarantor (subject to any restrictions in the applicable joint venture agreement applicable to all partners of such joint venture; it being understood and agreed that in the event any such restriction exists, the Administrative Agent and such Newco Subordinated Guarantor shall agree upon alternative structures, if available, to effect the economic equivalent of a pledge of the applicable joint venture interest) and (ii) to the extent required by the terms of any such Indebtedness (without giving effect to any restriction effected by any amendment, waiver, modification or refinancing thereto entered into in contemplation of such assumption) be subordinated to any assumed Indebtedness of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor in existence prior to the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor and any Indebtedness incurred to finance the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor; provided, that (i) to the extent that any restriction shall exist which shall not permit such Guarantee or which requires the subordination thereof as described above, the Borrower shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, true and complete copies of all relevant agreements received by the Borrower in respect of such Indebtedness, certified by a Financial Officer, to the Agent at least ten Business Days prior to the completion of the acquisition of the applicable Newco Subordinated Guarantor (or, in the case of any such agreement received by the Borrower after such tenth Business Day, promptly following the Borrower's receipt of such agreement) and (ii) notwithstanding the foregoing, no Newco Subordinated Guarantor shall be required to guarantee the Obligations to the extent such Guarantee is prohibited by the terms of any assumed Indebtedness of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor in existence prior to the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor (without giving effect to any restriction effected by any amendment, waiver, modification or refinancing thereto entered into in contemplation of such assumption) or any Indebtedness incurred to finance the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor if no alternative financing (on terms not materially less favorable taken as a whole to the applicable borrower or issuer) is available that would permit such Guarantee or is otherwise prohibited under applicable law; provided, further, that (x) the Ultimate Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to amend any such assumed Indebtedness that is otherwise being amended in connection with such acquisition to permit such Guarantee and (y) if any Newco Subordinated Guaranter is unable to Guarantee the Obligations due to circumstances described in the first proviso hereof, then (A) the Ultimate Parent may only effect the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor to the extent it

provides evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, and certification by a Financial Officer, that the Ultimate Parent was unable to obtain amendments (after use of commercially reasonable efforts) and/or alternative financing (on terms not materially less favorable taken as a whole to the applicable borrower or issuer) was not available, as the case may be, permitting such Guarantee or such Guarantee was otherwise prohibited by applicable law (and providing a description of such applicable law) and (B) to the extent permitted by applicable law, a holding company shall be formed to hold 100% of the shares of the applicable Newco Subordinated Guarantor, which holding company shall Guarantee the Obligations and pledge the stock of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor to secure such Guarantee (any Guarantee provided by this clause (e), a "Newco Subordinated Guarantee");

- (f) all documents and instruments, including Uniform Commercial Code financing statements, required by law or reasonably requested by the Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, to be filed, registered or recorded to create the Liens intended to be created by the Security Documents and the Shared Collateral Security Documents and perfect such Liens to the extent required by, and with the priority required by, the Collateral Agreements, shall have been filed, registered or recorded or, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, delivered to the Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, for filing, registration or recording;
- (1) the Collateral Agent shall have received with respect to each Mortgaged (g) Property existing on the Closing Date (i) a Mortgage Amendment, together with (i) evidence that counterparts of said Mortgage Amendments have been delivered to the Title Company (defined below), (ii) a datedown endorsement to the existing title policy insuring the Lien of each such Mortgage (or a reissued title insurance policy) (the "Mortgage Endorsements"), issued by Stewart Title Guaranty Company (the "Title Company"), insuring the Lien of such Mortgage (as amended by the applicable Mortgage Amendment) as a valid Lien on the Mortgaged Property described therein, free of any Liens except those permitted under Section 6.02, (iii) the opinions, addressed to the Collateral Agent and the Lenders of (A) outside counsel or in-house counsel, as to the due authorization, execution and delivery of the Mortgage Amendments by the Borrower or any Loan Party, as applicable, and (B) local counsel in each jurisdiction where Mortgaged Property is located regarding the Mortgage Amendments, (iv) with respect to each Mortgaged Amendment, such affidavits, certificates, instruments of indemnification and other items (including a so-called "gap" indemnification) as shall be reasonably required to induce the Title Company to issue the Mortgage Endorsements contemplated above, (v) evidence reasonably acceptable to the Collateral Agent of payment by the Borrower of all Mortgage Endorsement premiums, search and examination charges, mortgage recording taxes, fees, charges, costs and expenses required for the recording of the Mortgage Amendments, fixture filings and issuance of the Mortgage Endorsements referred to above, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent, and (2) with respect to each Mortgaged Property acquired after the date hereof (i) execute and deliver a first priority Mortgage in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, covering such real property, subject to any Liens permitted by Section 6.02, (ii) if requested by the Collateral Agent, the Collateral Agent shall have received, and the Title Company shall have received, maps or plats of an as-built survey of the sites of such Mortgaged Property prepared by an independent professional licensed land surveyor reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent and the Title Company (and certified by such surveyor to the Collateral Agent and the Title Company), which maps or plats and the surveys on which they are based shall be made in accordance with the Minimum Standard Detail Requirements for Land Title Surveys jointly established and adopted by the American Land Title Association and the American Congress on Surveying and Mapping in 1992, (iii) the Collateral Agent shall have received in respect of such Mortgaged Property a mortgagee's title insurance policy (or policies) or marked up unconditional binder for such insurance, and each such policy shall (A) be in an

amount reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent; (B) be issued at ordinary rates; (C) insure that the Mortgage insured thereby creates a valid first Lien on such Mortgaged Property free and clear of all defects and encumbrances, except as disclosed therein; (D) name the Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Secured Parties as the insured thereunder; (E) be in the form of ALTA Loan Policy - 2006 (or equivalent policies); (F) contain such endorsements and affirmative coverage as the Collateral Agent may reasonably request, and the Collateral Agent shall have received evidence satisfactory to it that all premiums in respect of each such policy, all charges for mortgage recording tax, and all related expenses, if any, have been paid; (iv) any consents or estoppels reasonably deemed necessary or advisable by the Collateral Agent in connection with such Mortgage, each of the foregoing in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent; (v) if requested by the Collateral Agent, deliver to the Collateral Agent legal opinions relating to the matters described above, which opinions shall be in form and substance, and from counsel, reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent, and (vi) deliver to the Collateral Agent a completed "Life-of-Loan" Federal Emergency Management Agency Standard Flood Hazard Determination with respect to such Mortgaged Property (together with a notice about special flood hazard area status and flood disaster assistance duly executed by the Borrower and each Loan Party relating thereto) and if any such Mortgaged Property is located in a special flood hazard area, evidence of flood insurance in form and amount reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent: and

(h) each Loan Party shall have obtained all consents and approvals required to be obtained by it in connection with the execution and delivery of all Security Documents and Shared Collateral Security Documents (or supplements thereto) to which it is a party, the performance of its obligations thereunder and the granting by it of the Liens thereunder.

"Collateral Trademarks" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.01(e).

"Companies" means collectively, the Borrower, Dex West, RHDI and SuperMedia, and each, individually, a "Company".

["<u>Confirmation Order</u>" means that certain order approving the Disclosure Statement and confirming the Reorganization Plan pursuant to Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code entered by the Bankruptcy Court on [], 2013.]⁹

"Consolidated Cash Interest Expense" means, for any period, the excess of (a) sum of (i) total cash interest expense (including that attributable to Capital Lease Obligations) of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period with respect to all outstanding Indebtedness of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (including all commissions, discounts and other fees and charges owed with respect to letters of credit, bankers' acceptance financing and net costs under Swap Agreements in respect of interest rates to the extent such net costs are allocable to such period in accordance with GAAP) plus (ii) the amount of dividends paid by the Borrower during such period pursuant to Section 6.08(a)(iv) minus (b) total cash interest income of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period.

"Consolidated EBITDA" means, for any period, Consolidated Net Income for such period <u>plus</u> (a) without duplication and to the extent deducted in determining such Consolidated Net Income, the sum of (i) consolidated interest expense for such period, (ii) consolidated income tax expense for such period, (iii) all amounts attributable to depreciation and amortization for such period, (iv) any extraordinary charges or non-cash charges for such period (provided, however, that any cash payment or expenditure made with respect to any such non-cash charge shall be subtracted in computing

-Active 13504878 21

⁹ To be included if applicable

Consolidated EBITDA during the period in which such cash payment or expenditure is made), (v) nonrecurring charges consisting of (A) severance costs associated with a restructuring recorded during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016, not to exceed \$3,500,000 in any such fiscal year, (B) payments of customary investment and commercial banking fees and expenses and (C) cash premiums, penalties or other payments payable in connection with the early extinguishment or repurchase of Indebtedness, and (vi) Specified Charges for such period, provided that such charges are recorded during the period starting on October 1, 2012 and ending on December 31, 2013 and the aggregate amount of charges added back pursuant to this clause (vi) for all periods shall not exceed \$11,700,000 (it being understood that such charges may be added back in any four-fiscal-quarter period which includes the fiscal quarter in which such charges are recorded), and minus (b) without duplication and to the extent included in determining such Consolidated Net Income, (i) consolidated interest income for such period and (ii) any extraordinary gains and non-cash gains (including, without limitation, any gain arising from the retirement of Indebtedness) for such period, all determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP. For purposes of calculating the Leverage Ratio or the Interest Coverage Ratio as of any date, if the Borrower or any consolidated Subsidiary has made any Permitted Acquisition or sale, transfer, lease or other disposition outside of the ordinary course of business of a Subsidiary or of assets constituting a business unit, in each case as permitted by Section 6.05, during the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters (a "Reference Period") most recently ended on or prior to such date, Consolidated EBITDA for the such Reference Period shall be calculated after giving pro forma effect thereto, as if such Permitted Acquisition or sale, transfer, lease or other disposition (and any related incurrence, repayment or assumption of Indebtedness with any new Indebtedness being deemed to be amortized over the applicable testing period in accordance with its terms) had occurred on the first day of such Reference Period. The calculation of Consolidated EBITDA shall exclude (i) any non-cash impact attributable to the reduction in deferred revenue or reduction in deferred costs to balance sheet accounts as a result of the fair value exercise undertaken as required by purchase method of accounting for the transactions contemplated by any acquisition, in accordance with GAAP [and (ii) any non-cash impact attributable to the Borrower's adoption of fresh-start accounting in accordance with GAAP upon effectiveness of the Reorganization Plan¹⁰.

"Consolidated Net Income" means, for any period, the net income or loss, before the effect of the payment of any dividends or other distributions in respect of preferred stock, of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP (adjusted to reflect any charge, tax or expense incurred or accrued by the Parent during such period as though such charge, tax or expense had been incurred by the Borrower, to the extent that the Borrower has made or would be entitled under the Loan Documents to make and intends to make any payment or dividend or other distribution to or for the account of the Parent in respect thereof (but without duplication of any such charge, tax or expense in respect of which Dex West has made or intends to make a payment or dividend or other distribution to or for the account of the Parent) and adjusted to eliminate (i) any non-cash impact attributable to the reduction in deferred revenue or reduction in deferred costs to balance sheet accounts as a result of the fair value exercise undertaken as required by purchase method of accounting for the transactions contemplated by any acquisition, in accordance with GAAP [and (ii) any non-cash impact attributable to the Borrower's adoption of fresh-start accounting in accordance with GAAP upon effectiveness of the Reorganization Plan¹¹; provided, that there shall be excluded (a) the income of any Person (other than the Borrower or a Subsidiary Loan Party) in which any other Person (other than the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party or any director holding qualifying shares in compliance with applicable law) owns an Equity Interest, except to the extent of the amount of dividends or other distributions actually paid to the Borrower or any of the Subsidiary Loan Parties during such

¹⁰ To be included if applicable

¹¹ To be included if applicable

period, and (b) except as otherwise contemplated by the definition of "Consolidated EBITDA", the income or loss of any Person accrued prior to the date it becomes a Subsidiary or is merged into or consolidated with the Borrower or any Subsidiary or the date that such Person's assets are acquired by the Borrower or any Subsidiary.

"Control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise. "Controlling" and "Controlled" have meanings correlative thereto.

"<u>Debt Issuance</u>" means the incurrence by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of any Indebtedness, other than Indebtedness permitted by Section 6.01(a).

"<u>Default</u>" means any event or condition that constitutes an Event of Default or which upon notice, lapse of time or both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.

"Defaulting Lender" means any Lender, as reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent, that has (a) notified the Borrower, the Administrative Agent or any other Lender in writing that it does not intend to comply with any of its funding obligations under this Agreement or has made a public statement to the effect that it does not intend to comply with its funding obligations under this Agreement or under agreements in which it commits to extend credit generally, (b) otherwise failed to pay over to the Administrative Agent or any other Lender any other amount required to be paid by it hereunder within three Business Days of the date when due, unless the subject of a good faith dispute, or (c) (i) been (or has a parent company that has been) adjudicated as, or determined by any Governmental Authority having regulatory authority over such Person or its assets to be, insolvent or (ii) become the subject of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, or has had a receiver, conservator, trustee, administrator, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person charged with reorganization or liquidation of its business or custodian, appointed for it, or has taken any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any such proceeding or appointment or has a parent company that has become the subject of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, or has had a receiver, conservator, trustee, administrator, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person charged with reorganization or liquidation of its business or custodian appointed for it, or has taken any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any such proceeding or appointment, unless in the case of any Lender referred to in this clause (c) the Borrower and the Administrative Agent shall be satisfied that such Lender intends, and has all approvals required to enable it, to continue to perform its obligations as a Lender hereunder. For the avoidance of doubt, a Lender shall not be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender solely by virtue of the ownership or acquisition of any Equity Interest in such Lender or its parent by a Governmental Authority.

"Dex" means Qwest Dex, Inc., a Colorado corporation.

"Dex Digital" means Dex One Digital, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Dex East Loan Parties" means the Borrower and the Subsidiary Loan Parties.

"Dex East Obligations" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Intercreditor

Agreement.

company.

"<u>Dex Media Service</u>" means Dex Media Service LLC, a Delaware limited liability

"Dex Merger" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Dex One" means Dex One Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

"<u>Dex Support Agreement</u>" means the Support and Limited Waiver Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2013, among the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower, Dex West, RHDI and their respective Subsidiaries party thereto, the Agent, the administrative agent and collateral agent under the Dex West Credit Agreement, the administrative agent under the RHDI Credit Agreement and each of the lenders party thereto.

"<u>Dex Tax Sharing Agreement</u>" means the Amended and Restated Tax Sharing Agreement in the form of Exhibit K hereto, dated the date hereof, among Newdex, Dex One, Parent, the Borrower, the Service Company, RHDC, Dex West, RHDI, R.H. Donnelley Apil, Inc. and Dex Digital.

"Dex West" means Dex Media West Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Dex West Existing Credit Agreement" means the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 6, 2008, as amended and restated as of January 29, 2010, among the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, Dex West, as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the effectiveness of the Dex West Credit Agreement.

"Dex West Credit Agreement" means (a) the Credit Agreement, dated as of June 6, 2008 (as amended and restated as of January 29, 2010, as further amended and restated as of the Closing Date, and as further amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time), among the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, Dex West, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and (b) any other credit agreement, loan agreement, note agreement, promissory note, indenture or other agreement or instrument evidencing or governing the terms of any Indebtedness or other financial accommodation that has been incurred to refinance (whether by the same or different banks) in whole or in part (under one or more agreements) the Indebtedness and other obligations outstanding under the Dex West Credit Agreement referred to in clause (a) above or any other agreement or instrument referred to in this clause (b) (including, without limitation, adding or removing any Person as a borrower, guarantor or other obligor thereunder).

"<u>Dex West Loan Documents</u>" means the "Loan Documents" as defined in the Dex West Credit Agreement.

"Directory Consolidation Project" means the initiative described in Schedule 1.01A. 12

["<u>Disclosed Matters</u>" means the matters, proceedings, transactions and other information disclosed in the [Disclosure Statement][Registration Statement on Form S-4] (other than any risk factor disclosures contained under the heading "Risk Factors", any disclosures of risks in the "Forward-Looking Statements" disclaimer or any other similar forward-looking statements in the Disclosure Statement).]¹³

["<u>Disclosure Statement</u>" means the Disclosure Statement for the Reorganization Plan, the adequacy of which was approved by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to the Confirmation Order.]¹⁴

¹² Summary from the Term Sheet to be listed on the schedule.

¹³ To be included if applicable

¹⁴ To be included if applicable

"<u>Discounted Voluntary Prepayment</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(a).

"<u>Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Amount</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(b).

"<u>Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Notice</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(b).

"Dollars" or "\sums" refers to lawful money of the United States of America.

"East Acquisition" means the acquisition by the Borrower pursuant to the East Acquisition Agreement of all of the Equity Interests of SGN LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and the other transactions contemplated by the East Acquisition Agreement and the documents related thereto. Immediately after such acquisition of SGN LLC, the Borrower was merged with and into SGN LLC, which changed its name to "Dex Media East LLC" and on February 1, 2010, Dex Media East LLC merged with and into Dex Media East, Inc., with Dex Media East, Inc. being the surviving entity.

"<u>East Acquisition Agreement</u>" means the Purchase Agreement dated as of August 19, 2002, among Dex, Qwest Services, Qwest and Dex Holdings LLC.

"<u>ECF Period</u>" means the period beginning on January 1, 2013 and ending at the end of the applicable fiscal quarter thereafter.

"ECF Sweep Percentage" means (a) with respect to any fiscal quarter in the fiscal years ending December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014, 70% and (b) with respect to any fiscal quarter in the fiscal years ending December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016, 60%.

"<u>Election Notice</u>" means a written notice from the Borrower to the Administrative Agent in the form of Exhibit J hereto.

"Environmental Laws" means all applicable federal, state, and local laws (including common law), regulations, rules, ordinances, codes, decrees, judgments, directives, orders (including consent orders), and binding agreements with any Governmental Authority in each case, relating to protection of the environment, natural resources, human health and safety or the presence, Release of, or exposure to, Hazardous Materials, or the generation, manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, transport, recycling or handling of, or the arrangement for such activities with respect to, Hazardous Materials.

"Environmental Liability" means any liability, claim, action, suit, judgment or order under or relating to any Environmental Law for any damages, injunctive relief, losses, fines, penalties, fees, expenses (including reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys and consultants) or costs, whether contingent or otherwise, including those arising from or relating to: (a) compliance or non-compliance with any Environmental Law, (b) the generation, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials, (d) the Release of any Hazardous Materials or (e) any contract, agreement or other consensual arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.

"<u>Equity Interests</u>" means shares of capital stock, partnership interests, membership interests in a limited liability company, beneficial interests in a trust or other equity ownership interests in

a Person of whatever nature, and any warrants, options or other rights entitling the holder thereof to purchase or acquire any of the foregoing.

"Equity Issuance" means the issuance by the Ultimate Parent, the Borrower or any Subsidiary of any Equity Interests, or the receipt by the Ultimate Parent, the Borrower or any Subsidiary of any capital contribution, other than (i) any issuance of Equity Interests or receipt of capital contributions to the extent as a result of (x) a non-cash exchange of Restructuring Notes or Additional Notes or (y) the issuance of Equity Interests that are issued on a non-cash basis as consideration for a Permitted Acquisition or other Investment permitted hereunder or (ii) any issuance of Equity Interests to, or receipt of any capital contribution from, the Ultimate Parent, the Parent or any Dex East Loan Party.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time.

"ERISA Affiliate" means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that, together with any Loan Party, is treated as a single employer under Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code or, solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code, is treated as a single employer under Section 414(m) of the Code.

"ERISA Event" means (a) any "reportable event", as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA or the regulations issued thereunder with respect to a Plan (other than an event for which the 30-day notice period is waived); (b) any failure by any Plan to satisfy the minimum funding standards (within the meaning of Sections 412 and 430 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA) applicable to such Plan, including, for Plan years ending prior to January 1, 2008, any "accumulated funding deficiency" (as defined in Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA), whether or not waived; (c) the filing pursuant to Section 412(c) of the Code or Section 302(c) of ERISA of an application for a waiver of the minimum funding standard with respect to any Plan, the failure to make by its due date a required installment under Section 430(j) of the Code with respect to any Plan or the failure by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates to make any required contribution to a Multiemployer Plan; (d) the incurrence by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability under Title IV of ERISA with respect to the termination of any Plan, including but not limited to the imposition of any Lien in favor of the PBGC or any Plan; (e) a determination that any Plan is, or is expected to be, in "at risk" status (within the meaning of Section 430 of the Code or Section 303 of ERISA; (f) the receipt by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates from the PBGC or a plan administrator of any notice relating to an intention to terminate any Plan or Plans or to appoint a trustee to administer any Plan under Section 4042 of ERISA; (g) the incurrence by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability with respect to the withdrawal or partial withdrawal from any Plan or Multiemployer Plan; or (h) the receipt by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any notice, or the receipt by any Multiemployer Plan from a Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any notice, concerning the imposition of Withdrawal Liability or a determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, insolvent or in reorganization or in endangered or critical status, within the meaning of Section 432 of the Code or Section 305 or Title IV of ERISA.

"Escrow Materials" means copies of (i) all software source code and all documentation and training manuals relating thereto and (ii) all other tangible or written embodiments of material technology, websites and databases (but excluding any print directories or other publicly distributed print materials), in each case to the extent (1) owned (or licensed, if such license grants the licensee (x) possession of same and the right to allow the foregoing entities (and any escrow agent, as applicable) to access same and (y) the right to sublicense such right of possession and access without (I) the licensor's consent, unless consent can be obtained with no additional fees or other consideration (unless the sublicensee fully reimburses the sublicensor for such additional fees or other consideration) or additional

obligations upon sublicensor or any loss of rights of sublicensor, (II) loss of any rights of sublicensor, (III) additional obligations upon sublicensor or (IV) any additional fees or consideration (unless the sublicensee fully reimburses the sublicensor for such fees or other consideration required to obtain such right of possession and access) and (2) currently used by SuperMedia, Borrower, Dex West, RHDI, the Service Company or any of such Shared Collateral Loan Parties, as applicable, in their respective businesses.

"<u>Eurodollar</u>", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate.

"Event of Default" has the meaning assigned to such term in Article VII.

"Excess Cash Flow" means, as of the end of each fiscal quarter ending after the Closing Date, for the period starting on January 1, 2013 and ending on the last day of such fiscal quarter, the result (without duplication) of:

- (a) net cash provided by operating activities of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period as reflected in the statement of cash flows on the consolidated financial statements of the Borrower for each applicable quarter during such period , that (i) to the extent the Borrower makes any Discounted Voluntary Prepayments and the gain arising from the retirement of Indebtedness in connection with such Discounted Voluntary Prepayments results in any additional cash taxes, the payment of such additional cash taxes shall not be deducted in the calculation of Excess Cash Flow and (ii) for the avoidance of doubt, income related to the retirement of Indebtedness shall not be included in the calculation of Excess Cash Flow; plus
- (b) cash payments received during such period to enter into or settle Swap Agreements to the extent not already recognized in net cash provided by operating activities; <u>plus</u>
- (c) to the extent deducted in the determination of net cash provided by operating activities of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period, the Specified Charges for such period; minus
- (d) the amount of Capital Expenditures for such period (except to the extent attributable to the incurrence of Capital Lease Obligations or otherwise financed by incurring Long Term Indebtedness and except to the extent made with Net Proceeds in respect of Prepayment Events); minus
- (e) the aggregate principal amount of Long Term Indebtedness repaid or prepaid (for the avoidance of doubt, including any Advance Amortization Payment) by the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries during such period to the extent permitted by Section 6.08(b), excluding (i) any prepayment of Loans and (ii) repayments or prepayments of Long Term Indebtedness financed by incurring other Long Term Indebtedness; minus
- (f) the aggregate amount of cash dividends or other distributions paid by the Borrower to the Parent during such period pursuant to Section 6.08(a)(iv) (other than in reliance on clause (B) thereof); minus
- (g) cash payments made during such period to enter into or settle Swap Agreements to the extent not already included in net cash provided by operating activities.

"Exchange Act" has the meaning assigned to such term in the definition of "Change in Control".

"Excluded Taxes" means, with respect to the Administrative Agent, any Lender or any other recipient of any payment to be made by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder, (a) any taxes imposed on or measured, in whole or in part, by revenue or net income and franchise taxes imposed in lieu thereof by the United States of America, or by the jurisdiction under the laws of which such recipient is organized or in which its principal office is located, has a present or former connection (other than in connection with the Loan Documents) or, in the case of any Lender, in which its applicable lending office is located, (b) any branch profits taxes imposed by the United States of America or any similar tax imposed by any other jurisdiction described in clause (a) above and (c) in the case of a Foreign Lender (other than an assignee pursuant to a request by the Borrower under Section 2.14(b)), any U.S. withholding tax that (i) is in effect and would apply to amounts payable to such Foreign Lender at the time such Foreign Lender becomes a party to this Agreement (or designates a new lending office), except to the extent that such Foreign Lender (or its assignor, if any) was entitled, at the time of designation of a new lending office (or assignment), to receive additional amounts from the Borrower with respect to any withholding tax pursuant to Section 2.12(a), or (ii) is attributable to such Foreign Lender's failure (other than as a result of any Change in Law) to comply with Section 2.12(e) and (d) any U.S. Federal withholding taxes imposed under FATCA.

"Existing Credit Agreement" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Existing Loans" means the Loans (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement) outstanding under the Existing Credit Agreement prior to the Closing Date.

"FATCA" means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with) and any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof.

"Federal Funds Effective Rate" means, for any day, the weighted average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers, as published on the next succeeding Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so published for any day that is a Business Day, the average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the quotations for such day for such transactions received by the Administrative Agent from three Federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by it.

"<u>Financial Officer</u>" means the chief financial officer, principal accounting officer, treasurer or controller of the Borrower or the Ultimate Parent, as applicable.

"<u>First Amendment</u>" means the First Amendment to this Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2012.

"<u>First Amendment Effective Date</u>" means the date on which the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3 of the First Amendment shall have been satisfied, which for the avoidance of doubt is March 9, 2012.

"Foreign Lender" means any Lender that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than that in which the Borrower is located or, with respect to any Borrower that is a "Untied States person" within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code, that is not a "United States person"

within the meaning of such Section. For purposes of this definition, the United States of America, each State thereof and the District of Columbia shall be deemed to constitute a single jurisdiction.

"<u>Foreign Subsidiary</u>" means (i) a Subsidiary organized under the laws of a jurisdiction located outside the United States of America or (ii) a Subsidiary of any Person described in the foregoing clause (i).

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

"Governing Board" means (a) the managing member or members or any controlling committee of members of any Person, if such Person is a limited liability company, (b) the board of directors of any Person, if such Person is a corporation or (c) any similar governing body of any Person.

"Governmental Authority" means the government of the United States of America, any other nation or any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government.

"Guarantee" of or by any Person (the "guarantor") means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of the guarantor guaranteeing or having the economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness or other obligation of any other Person (the "primary obligor") in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, and including any obligation of the guarantor, direct or indirect, (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or other obligation or to purchase (or to advance or supply funds for the purchase of) any security for the payment thereof, (b) to purchase or lease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the owner of such Indebtedness or other obligation of the payment thereof, (c) to maintain working capital, equity capital or any other financial statement condition or liquidity of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness or other obligation or (d) as an account party in respect of any letter of credit or letter of guaranty issued to support such Indebtedness or other obligation; provided, that the term Guarantee shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business.

"Guarantee and Collateral Agreement" means the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of the Original Restatement Date, among each Dex East Loan Party and the Agent.

"Guarantors" means the Ultimate Parent, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, the Parent, the Subsidiary Loan Parties, each Newco Senior Guarantor and each Newco Subordinated Guarantor.

"<u>Hazardous Materials</u>" means (a) any petroleum products or byproducts and all other hydrocarbons, coal ash, radon gas, asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, polychlorinated biphenyls, chlorofluorocarbons and all other ozone-depleting substances; or (b) any chemical, material, substance or waste that is prohibited, limited or regulated by or pursuant to any applicable Environmental Law.

"Indebtedness" of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money or with respect to deposits or advances of any kind, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, (c) all obligations of such Person under conditional sale agreements relating to property acquired by such Person, (d) all obligations of such Person in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding current accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business), (e) all Indebtedness of others secured by (or for

which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not the Indebtedness secured thereby has been assumed, (f) all Guarantees by such Person of Indebtedness of others, (g) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (h) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person as an account party in respect of letters of credit and letters of guaranty and (i) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect of bankers' acceptances. The Indebtedness of any Person shall include the Indebtedness of any other entity (including any partnership in which such Person is a general partner) to the extent such Person is liable therefor as a result of such Person's ownership interest in or other relationship with such entity, except to the extent the terms of such Indebtedness provide that such Person is not liable therefor.

"Indemnified Taxes" means Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of any Loan Party under any Loan Document and Other Taxes.

"Indemnitee" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.03(b).

"Independent Financial Advisor" means an accounting, appraisal or investment banking firm of national standing or any third party appraiser or recognized expert with experience in appraising the terms and conditions of the type of transaction or series of related transactions for which an opinion is required; provided, that such firm or appraiser is not an Affiliate of the Borrower.

"Information" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.12.

"Intellectual Property" means the collective reference to all rights, priorities and privileges relating to intellectual property, whether arising under United States, multinational or foreign laws or otherwise, including copyrights, copyright licenses, patents, patent licenses, trademarks, trademark licenses, technology, know-how and processes, and all rights to sue at law or in equity for any infringement or other impairment thereof, including the right to receive all proceeds and damages therefrom.

"Intercreditor Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit D, entered into among the Agent on behalf of the Secured Parties, the Shared Collateral Agent on behalf of the Shared Collateral Secured Parties, the administrative agent and collateral agent under the Dex West Credit Agreement, the administrative agent and collateral agent under the RHDI Credit Agreement and the administrative agent and collateral agent under the SuperMedia Credit Agreement.

"Interest Coverage Ratio" means, with respect to the Borrower and for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters ending on any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated EBITDA for such period to (b) Consolidated Cash Interest Expense for such period.

"Interest Election Request" means a request by the Borrower to convert or continue a Borrowing in accordance with Section 2.03.

"Interest Payment Date" means (a) with respect to any ABR Loan, the last day of each March, June, September and December and (b) with respect to any Eurodollar Loan, the last day of the Interest Period applicable to the Borrowing of which such Loan is a part and, in the case of a Eurodollar Borrowing with an Interest Period of more than three months' duration, each day prior to the last day of such Interest Period that occurs at intervals of three months' duration after the first day of such Interest Period.

"Interest Period" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the calendar month that is one, two, three or six months thereafter, as the Borrower may elect; provided, that (a) if any Interest Period would end on a day other than a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless such next succeeding Business Day would fall in the next calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day and (b) any Interest Period that commences on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the last calendar month of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period. For purposes hereof, the date of a Borrowing initially shall be the date on which such Borrowing is made and thereafter shall be the effective date of the most recent conversion or continuation of such Borrowing.

"Investment" means purchasing, holding or acquiring (including pursuant to any merger with any Person that was not a wholly owned Subsidiary prior to such merger) any Equity Interest, evidences of indebtedness or other securities (including any option, warrant or other right to acquire any of the foregoing) of, or making or permitting to exist any loans or advances (other than commercially reasonable extensions of trade credit) to, guaranteeing any obligations of, or making or permitting to exist any investment in, any other Person, or purchasing or otherwise acquiring (in one transaction or a series of transactions) any assets of any Person constituting a business unit. The amount, as of any date of determination, of any Investment shall be the original cost of such Investment (including any Indebtedness of a Person existing at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary in connection with any Investment and any Indebtedness assumed in connection with any acquisition of assets), plus the cost of all additions, as of such date, thereto and minus the amount, as of such date, of any portion of such Investment repaid to the investor in cash or property as a repayment of principal or a return of capital (including pursuant to any sale or disposition of such Investment), as the case may be, but without any other adjustments for increases or decreases in value, or write-ups, write-downs or write-offs with respect to such Investment. In determining the amount of any Investment or repayment involving a transfer of any property other than cash, such property shall be valued at its fair market value at the time of such transfer.

"Lenders" has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble to this Agreement.

"<u>Leverage Ratio</u>" means, on any date, the ratio of (a) Total Indebtedness as of such date to (b) Consolidated EBITDA for the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters of the Borrower ended on such date.

"LIBO Rate" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing for any Interest Period, the greater of (a) the rate per annum determined on the basis of the rate for deposits in dollars for a period equal to such Interest Period commencing on the first day of such Interest Period appearing on Reuters Screen LIBOR 01 Page as of 11:00 A.M., London time, two Business Days prior to the beginning of such Interest Period (or in the event that such rate does not appear on Reuters Screen LIBOR 01 Page (or otherwise on such screen), the "LIBO Rate" shall be determined by reference to such other comparable publicly available service for displaying eurodollar rates as may be selected by the Administrative Agent or, in the absence of such availability, by reference to the rate at which the Administrative Agent is offered Dollar deposits at or about 10:00 A.M., New York City time, two Business Days prior to the beginning of such Interest Period in the interbank eurodollar market where its eurodollar and foreign currency and exchange operations are then being conducted for delivery on the first day of such Interest Period for the number of days comprised therein and (b) 3.00%.

"<u>License Agreement</u>" means an agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit H hereto, pursuant to which each License Subsidiary shall grant a license to use trademarks to the Ultimate Parent and each Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent.

"License Subsidiary" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.01(e).

"Lien" means, with respect to any asset, (a) any mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, hypothecation, encumbrance, charge or security interest in, on or of such asset, (b) the interest of a vendor or a lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or title retention agreement (or any financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing) relating to such asset and (c) in the case of securities, any purchase option, call or similar right of a third party with respect to such securities.

"Loan Documents" means this Agreement, the Intercreditor Agreement, the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, the Security Documents and the Shared Collateral Security Documents.

"Loan Parties" means the Borrower and the Guarantors.

"Loan" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.01(a).

"Long Term Indebtedness" means any Indebtedness that, in accordance with GAAP, constitutes (or, when incurred, constituted) a long-term liability. For purposes of determining the Long Term Indebtedness of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries, Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary owed to the Borrower or a Subsidiary shall be excluded.

"<u>Margin Stock</u>" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Regulation U of the Board.

"<u>Master IP License Agreement</u>" means an agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit I hereto.

"Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, assets, property, material agreements, liabilities, financial condition or results of operations of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (b) the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or the rights and remedies of the Agent or the Lenders under any of the Loan Documents.

"Material Indebtedness" means Indebtedness (other than the Loans and the Subordinated Guarantee but including, for the avoidance of doubt, Guarantees (other than the Subordinated Guarantee)), or obligations in respect of one or more Swap Agreements, of any one or more of the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex West, SuperMedia and their respective Subsidiaries, but including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, Dex Media Service, any Newcos, the Parent, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries), in an aggregate principal amount exceeding \$25,000,000. For purposes of determining Material Indebtedness, the "principal amount" of the obligations of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any Swap Agreement at any time shall be the maximum aggregate amount (giving effect to any netting agreements) that the Ultimate Parent or such Subsidiary would be required to pay if such Swap Agreement were terminated at such time.

"<u>Material Subsidiary</u>" means any Subsidiary which meets any of the following conditions: (a) the Borrower's and the other Subsidiaries' investments in and advances to such

Subsidiary exceed 5% of the consolidated total assets of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter, (b) the consolidated assets of such Subsidiary exceed 5% of the consolidated total assets of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter or (c) the consolidated pre-tax income from continuing operations of such Subsidiary for the most recently ended period of four consecutive fiscal quarters exceeds 5% of the consolidated pre-tax income from continuing operations of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries for such period.

"Material Ultimate Parent Subsidiary" means (i) any License Subsidiary and (ii) any Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent (other than RHDI, Dex West, SuperMedia and their respective Subsidiaries) which meets any of the following conditions: (a) the Ultimate Parent's and its other Subsidiaries' aggregate investments in and advances to such Subsidiary exceed \$10,000,000 as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter, (b) the consolidated assets of such Subsidiary exceed \$10,000,000 as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter or (c) the consolidated pre-tax income from continuing operations of such Subsidiary for the most recently ended period of four consecutive fiscal quarters exceeds \$5,000,000.

"Maturity Date" means December 31, 2016, or, if such day is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day.

"Maximum Rate" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.13.

"Merger Agreement" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Merger Sub" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Mergers" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc.

"Mortgage" means any mortgage, deed of trust, assignment of leases and rents, leasehold mortgage or other security document granting a Lien on any real property and improvements thereto to secure the Obligations delivered after the Closing Date pursuant to Section 5.12. Each Mortgage shall be satisfactory in form and substance to the Collateral Agent.

"Mortgage Amendment" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.01(a).

"Mortgage Endorsement" has the meaning assigned to such term in clause (g) of the definition of "Collateral and Guarantee Requirement".

"Mortgaged Property" means each parcel of real property and improvements thereto listed on Schedule 1.01B and each other parcel of real property and improvements thereto owned by a Dex East Loan Party with respect to which a Mortgage is granted pursuant to Section 5.12.

"Multiemployer Plan" means a multiemployer plan as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.

"Net Proceeds" means, with respect to any event (a) the cash proceeds received in respect of such event including (i) any cash received in respect of any non-cash proceeds, including cash received in respect of any debt instrument or equity security received as non-cash proceeds, but only as and when

received, (ii) in the case of a casualty, insurance proceeds, and (iii) in the case of a condemnation or similar event, condemnation awards and similar payments, net of (b) the sum of (i) all reasonable fees and out-of-pocket expenses (including underwriting discounts and commissions and collection expenses) paid or payable by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof to third parties (including Affiliates, if permitted by Section 6.09) in connection with such event, (ii) in the case of a sale, transfer or other disposition of an asset (including pursuant to a sale and leaseback transaction or a casualty or a condemnation or similar proceeding), the amount of all payments required to be made by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof as a result of such event to repay Indebtedness (other than Loans) secured by such asset or otherwise subject to mandatory prepayment as a result of such event, including, for the avoidance of doubt, in the case of an Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition, payments required to be made by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement (it being understood that this clause shall not apply to customary asset sale provisions in offerings of debt securities) and (iii) the amount of all taxes paid (or reasonably estimated to be payable) by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof (provided that such amounts withheld or estimated for the payment of taxes shall, to the extent not utilized for the payment of taxes, be deemed to be Net Proceeds received when such nonutilization is determined), and the amount of any reserves established by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof to fund contingent liabilities reasonably estimated to be payable, in each case that are directly attributable to such event (provided that such reserves and escrowed amounts shall be disclosed to the Administrative Agent promptly upon being taken or made and any reversal of any such reserves will be deemed to be Net Proceeds received at the time and in the amount of such reversal), in each case as determined reasonably and in good faith by the chief financial officer of the Borrower; provided that for the purposes of calculating the Net Proceeds of an Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition, payments made (or reasonably estimated to be payable) under the Tax Sharing Agreements shall be deducted in the same manner as taxes paid (or reasonably estimated to be payable) under clause (b)(iii) above.

"Newco" means any Subsidiary (direct or indirect) of the Ultimate Parent (other than SuperMedia and its Subsidiaries) acquired or formed by the Ultimate Parent after the Closing Date other than a Subsidiary of the Borrower, Dex West, RHDI or SuperMedia.

"Newco Senior Guarantor" means any Newco the acquisition or formation of which is accomplished, directly or indirectly, using cash or other credit support (including debt service) provided by the Borrower, any Subsidiary or any other Newco Senior Guarantor or in which any Investment is made by the Borrower, any Subsidiary or any other Newco Senior Guarantor.

"Newco Subordinated Guarantee" has the meaning assigned to such term in clause (e) of the definition of "Collateral and Guarantee Requirement".

"Newco Subordinated Guarantor" means any Newco other than a Newco Senior Guarantor.

"Newdex" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Obligations" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

"Optional Repurchase" means, with respect to any outstanding Indebtedness, any optional or voluntary repurchase, redemption or prepayment made in cash of such Indebtedness, the related payment in cash of accrued interest to the date of such repurchase, redemption or prepayment on the principal amount of such Indebtedness repurchased, redeemed or prepaid, the payment in cash of associated premiums (whether voluntary or mandatory) on such principal amount and the cash payment of other fees and expenses incurred in connection with such repurchase, redemption or prepayment.

"Original Restatement Date" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Other Taxes" means any and all present or future recording, stamp, documentary, excise, transfer, sales, property or similar Taxes, charges or levies arising from any payment made under any Loan Document or from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, or otherwise with respect to, any Loan Document.

"Parent" means Dex Media, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Participant" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04(c)(i).

"Participant Register" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04(c)(iii).

"Payment Percentage" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(b).

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred to and defined in ERISA and any successor entity performing similar functions.

"Permitted Acquisitions" means any acquisition (by merger, consolidation or otherwise) by the Borrower or a Subsidiary Loan Party of all or substantially all the assets of, or all the Equity Interests in, a Person or division or line of business of a Person, if (a) both before and immediately after giving effect thereto, no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result therefrom, (b) such acquired Person is organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof or the District of Columbia and substantially all the business of such acquired Person or business consists of one or more Permitted Businesses and not less than 80% of the consolidated gross operating revenues of such acquired Person or business for the most recently ended period of twelve months is derived from domestic operations in the United States of America, (c) each Subsidiary resulting from such acquisition (and which survives such acquisition) other than any Foreign Subsidiary, shall be a Subsidiary Loan Party and at least 80% of the Equity Interests of each such Subsidiary shall be owned directly by the Borrower and/or Subsidiary Loan Parties and shall have been (or within ten Business Days (or such longer period as may be acceptable to the Agent) after such acquisition shall be) pledged pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement (subject to the limitations of the pledge of Equity Interests of Foreign Subsidiaries set forth in the definition of "Collateral and Guarantee Requirement"), (d) the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement shall have been (or within ten Business Days (or such longer period as may be acceptable to the Agent) after such acquisition shall be) satisfied with respect to each such Subsidiary, (e) the Borrower and the Subsidiaries are in Pro Forma Compliance after giving effect to such acquisition and (f) the Borrower has delivered to the Agent an officer's certificate to the effect set forth in clauses (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) above, together with all relevant financial information for the Person or assets acquired and reasonably detailed calculations demonstrating satisfaction of the requirement set forth in clause (e) above.

"<u>Permitted Business</u>" means the telephone and internet directory services businesses and businesses reasonably related, incidental or ancillary thereto.

"Permitted Encumbrances" means:

(a) Liens imposed by law for taxes that are not yet due or are being contested in compliance with Section 5.05;

- (b) carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, landlord's, repairmen's and other like Liens imposed by law, arising in the ordinary course of business and securing obligations that are not overdue by more than 30 days or are being contested in compliance with Section 5.05;
- (c) pledges and deposits made in the ordinary course of business in compliance with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security laws or regulations;
- (d) deposits to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts, leases, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, performance bonds and other obligations of a like nature, in each case in the ordinary course of business;
- (e) judgment Liens in respect of judgments or attachments that do not constitute a Default or an Event of Default under clause (k) of Article VII; <u>provided</u> that any such Lien is released within 30 days following the creation thereof;
- (f) easements, zoning restrictions, rights-of-way and similar encumbrances on real property imposed by law or arising in the ordinary course of business that are not substantial in amount and do not, or could not reasonably be expected to, materially detract from the value of the affected property or interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of the Borrower or any Subsidiary or, for purposes of (i) Section 6.16, the Parent, (ii) Section 6.17, the Ultimate Parent or (iii) Section 6.18, the Service Company;
- (g) Liens arising solely by virtue of any statutory or common law provisions relating to bankers' Liens, rights of set-off or similar rights and remedies as to deposit accounts or other funds maintained with a creditor depositary institution;
- (h) any interest or title of a lessor under any lease entered into by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower or, for purposes of (i) Section 6.16, the Parent, (ii) Section 6.17, the Ultimate Parent or (iii) Section 6.18, the Service Company, in the ordinary course of its business and covering only the assets so leased;
- (i) the licensing or sublicensing (other than exclusive licenses or sublicenses) of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business in a manner that does not, or could not reasonably be expected to, materially interfere with the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries; and
- (j) any provision for the retention of title to any property by the vendor or transferor of such property, which property is acquired by the Borrower or a Subsidiary of the Borrower or, for purposes of (i) Section 6.16, the Parent, (ii) Section 6.17, the Ultimate Parent or (iii) Section 6.18, the Service Company, in a transaction entered into in the ordinary course of business of the Borrower or such Subsidiary of the Borrower, or, for purposes of (A) Section 6.16, the Parent, (B) Section 6.17, the Ultimate Parent or (C) Section 6.18, the Service Company, and for which kind of transaction it is normal market practice for such retention of title provision to be included;

provided, that the term "Permitted Encumbrances" shall not include any Lien securing Indebtedness.

"Permitted Investments" means:

(a) direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America (or by any agency thereof to the

extent such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America), in each case maturing or allowing for liquidation at the original par value at the option of the holder within one year from the date of acquisition thereof;

- (b) investments in commercial paper (other than commercial paper issued by the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower or any of their Affiliates) maturing within 270 days from the date of acquisition thereof and having, at such date of acquisition, the highest credit rating obtainable from S&P or from Moody's;
- (c) investments in certificates of deposit, banker's acceptances, time deposits or overnight bank deposits maturing within 180 days from the date of acquisition thereof issued or guaranteed by or placed with, and money market deposit accounts issued or offered by, any domestic office of any commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof which has a combined capital and surplus and undivided profits of not less than \$500,000,000, and having a debt rating of "A-1" or better from S&P or "P-1" or better from Moody's;
- (d) fully collateralized repurchase agreements with a term of not more than 30 days for securities described in clause (a) above and entered into with a financial institution satisfying the criteria described in clause (c) above; and
- (e) money market funds that (i) comply with the criteria set forth in Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 2a-7 under the Investment Company Act of 1940, (ii) are rated AAA by S&P and Aaa by Moody's and (iii) have portfolio assets of at least \$5,000,000,000.

"Permitted Subordinated Indebtedness" means (a) the Subordinated Guarantee and (b) Indebtedness of the Borrower which (i) does not mature, and is not subject to mandatory repurchase, redemption or amortization (other than pursuant to customary asset sale or change in control provisions requiring redemption or repurchase only if and to the extent then permitted by this Agreement), in each case, prior to the date that is six months after the Maturity Date, (ii) is not secured by any assets of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, (iii) is not exchangeable or convertible into Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary or any preferred stock or other Equity Interest (other than common equity of the Ultimate Parent, provided that any such exchange or conversion, if effected, would not result in a Change in Control or Default) and (iv) is, together with any Guarantee thereof by any Subsidiary, subordinated to the Obligations pursuant to a written instrument delivered to the Administrative Agent and having subordination terms that are no less favorable to the Lenders than the subordination terms set forth in the Restructuring Notes Indenture and that are otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

"<u>Person</u>" means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity.

"<u>Plan</u>" means any employee pension benefit plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) subject to the provisions of Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA, and in respect of which any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate is (or, if such plan were terminated, would under Section 4062 of ERISA be deemed to be) an "employer" as defined in Section 3(5) of ERISA.

-Active.13504878.21

¹⁵ To be included if applicable

"<u>Prepayment Event</u>" means any (a) Asset Disposition, (b) Equity Issuance or (c) Debt Issuance.

"Prime Rate" means the rate of interest per annum publicly announced from time to time by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as its prime rate in effect at its principal office in New York City; each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective from and including the date such change is publicly announced as being effective.

"Pro Forma Compliance" means, with respect to any event, that the Borrower is in <u>proforma</u> compliance with Section 6.14 recomputed as if the event with respect to which Pro Forma Compliance is being tested had occurred on the first day of the four fiscal quarter period most recently ended on or prior to such date for which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 5.01.

"Qualifying Loans" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(c).

"Qwest" means Qwest Communications International Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Qwest Corp." means Qwest Corporation, a Colorado corporation.

"Qwest Services" means Qwest Services Corporation, a Colorado corporation.

"Range" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(b).

"Refinanced Debt" has the meaning assigned to such term in the definition of "Refinancing Indebtedness".

"Refinancing Indebtedness" means Indebtedness issued or incurred (including by means of the extension or renewal of existing Indebtedness) to extend, renew or refinance existing Indebtedness ("Refinanced Debt"); provided, that (a) such extending, renewing or refinancing Indebtedness is in an original aggregate principal amount not greater than the aggregate principal amount of, and unpaid interest on, the Refinanced Debt plus the amount of any premiums paid thereon and fees and expenses associated therewith, (b) such Indebtedness has a later maturity and a longer weighted average life than the Refinanced Debt, (c) such Indebtedness bears a market interest rate (as reasonably determined in good faith by the board of directors of the Borrower) as of the time of its issuance or incurrence, (d) if the Refinanced Debt or any Guarantees thereof are subordinated to the Obligations, such Indebtedness and Guarantees thereof are subordinated to the Obligations on terms no less favorable to the holders of the Obligations than the subordination terms of such Refinanced Debt or Guarantees thereof (and no Loan Party that has not guaranteed such Refinanced Debt guarantees such Indebtedness), (e) such Indebtedness contains covenants and events of default and is benefited by Guarantees (if any) which, taken as a whole, are reasonably determined in good faith by the board of directors of the Borrower not to be materially less favorable to the Lenders than the covenants and events of default of or Guarantees (if any) in respect of such Refinanced Debt, (f) if such Refinanced Debt or any Guarantees thereof are secured, such Indebtedness and any Guarantees thereof are either unsecured or secured only by such assets as secured the Refinanced Debt and Guarantees thereof, (g) if such Refinanced Debt and any Guarantees thereof are unsecured, such Indebtedness and Guarantees thereof are also unsecured, (h) such Indebtedness is issued only by the issuer of such Refinanced Indebtedness and (i) the proceeds of such Indebtedness are applied promptly (and in any event within 45 days) after receipt thereof to the repayment of such Refinanced Debt.

"Register" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04.

"Registration Statement on Form S-4" means the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by the Ultimate Parent with the Securities and Exchange Commission on [].

"Reinvestment" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.06(b).

"Related Parties" means, with respect to any specified Person, such Person's Affiliates and the directors, officers, employees, agents, trustees, Controlling Persons and advisors of such Person and of each of such Person's Affiliates.

"Release" means any actual or threatened release, spill, emission, leaking, dumping, injection, pouring, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, leaching or migration into or through the environment or within or upon any building, structure, facility or fixture.

["Reorganization Plan" means the Debtors' Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan for the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries, including any exhibits, supplements, appendices and schedules thereto, dated [], 2013, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the Dex Support Agreement and as confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to the Confirmation Order.]

"Required Lenders" means, at any time, Lenders having Loans representing more than 50% of the sum of the total outstanding Loans at such time.

"Required Percentage" means (a) in the case of an Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition, an Asset Disposition, a Debt Issuance or an Equity Issuance by the Borrower or any Subsidiary, 100%, provided that, in the case of an Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition, to the extent that no amount is deducted in the calculation of the Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition because no amount is paid to and distributed by the Subordinated Guarantee Agent pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, "Required Percentage" shall mean the percentage that the Dex East Credit Parties (as defined in the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement) would have received pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement if the Net Proceeds had been paid to and distributed by the Subordinated Guarantee Agent pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, and (b) in the case of an Equity Issuance by the Ultimate Parent, 50%.

"Restricted Payment" means, with respect to any Person, any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property) with respect to any Equity Interests in such Person, or any payment (whether in cash, securities or other property), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, cancellation, termination or amendment of any Equity Interests in such Person or of any option, warrant or other right to acquire any such Equity Interests in such Person.

"Restructuring Notes" means the 12%/14% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2017 of the Ultimate Parent issued pursuant to the Restructuring Notes Indenture in an aggregate principal of \$300,000,000 on the Original Restatement Date.

"Restructuring Notes Indenture" means the Indenture, dated the date hereof, between the Ultimate Parent and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee.

"RHDC" means R.H. Donnelley Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

-Active.13504878.21

¹⁶ To be included if applicable

"RHDI" means R.H. Donnelley Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"RHDI Credit Agreement" means (a) the Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date (as further amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time), among the Ultimate Parent, RHDI, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as administrative agent, and (b) any other credit agreement, loan agreement, note agreement, promissory note, indenture or other agreement or instrument evidencing or governing the terms of any Indebtedness or other financial accommodation that has been incurred to refinance (whether by the same or different banks) in whole or in part (under one or more agreements) the Indebtedness and other obligations outstanding under the RHDI Credit Agreement referred to in clause (a) above or any other agreement or instrument referred to in this clause (b) (including, without limitation, adding or removing any Person as a borrower, guarantor or other obligor thereunder).

"RHDI Existing Credit Agreement" means the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 29, 2010, among the Ultimate Parent, RHDI, as borrower, the several lenders from time to time party thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as administrative agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the effectiveness of the RHDI Credit Agreement.

"RHDI Loan Documents" means the "Loan Documents" as defined in the RHDI Credit Agreement.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC.

"Secured Parties" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

"Security Documents" means the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the Mortgages and each other security agreement or other instrument or document executed and delivered by any Dex East Loan Party pursuant to Section 5.11 or 5.12 or pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement to secure any of the Obligations.

"Service Company" means Dex One Service, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Shared Assets" means any asset (including intellectual property rights) owned by the Service Company or any License Subsidiary.

"Shared Collateral Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as collateral agent for the Shared Collateral Secured Parties, pursuant to the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement.

"Shared Collateral Loan Parties" means the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, and each Newco that is a party to the Shared Collateral Security Documents.

"Shared Collateral Secured Parties" has the meaning as set forth in the Intercreditor Agreement.

"Shared Collateral Security Documents" means the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the Newco Subordinated Guarantees, any mortgage and each other security agreement or

other instruments or documents executed and delivered by any Shared Collateral Loan Party pursuant to Section 5.12 or pursuant to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement to secure any of the Dex East Obligations.

"Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Guarantee and Collateral Agreement among each Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Newco Subordinated Guarantors) and the Shared Collateral Agent, substantially in the form of Exhibit C.

"Shared Services" means the centralized, shared or pooled services, undertakings and arrangements which are provided by the Service Company or any of its Subsidiaries to or for the benefit of the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement, including, without limitation, the acquisition and ownership of assets by the Service Company or any of its Subsidiaries used in the provision of the foregoing and centralized payroll, benefits and account payable operations.

"Shared Services Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Shared Services Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, among the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower and the other Subsidiaries of the Ultimate Parent party thereto, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit E hereto.

"Shared Services Transactions" means, collectively, (a) the engagement of the Service Company for the provision of Shared Services pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement, (b) sales, transfers and other dispositions of assets to the Service Company or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement for use in the provision of Shared Services, (c) the transfer of employees of the Loan Parties to the Service Company or any of its Subsidiaries for the provision of Shared Services pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement and (d) payments, distributions and other settlement of payment obligations by the recipient of Shared Services to, or for ultimate payment to, the provider of such Shared Services pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement in respect of the provision of such Shared Services (including, without limitation, the prefunding in accordance with the Shared Services Agreement of certain such payment obligations in connection with the establishment of the payment and settlement arrangements under the Shared Services Agreement); provided, that all such payments, distributions and settlements shall reflect a fair and reasonable allocation of the costs of such Shared Services in accordance with the terms of the Shared Services Agreement (it being understood and agreed that payments in respect of tax liabilities or tax attributes pursuant to the Tax Sharing Agreements shall not constitute Shared Services Transactions; provided, further, that the foregoing shall not restrict the ability of the Borrower to make Restricted Payments (i) pursuant to Section 6.08(a)(iii) to the Service Company in respect of tax liabilities incurred by the Service Company in connection with the performance of its obligations under the Shared Services Agreement).

"Specified Charges" means (a) out-of-pocket costs, fees and expenses for attorneys, auditors, accountants, consultants, and advisors retained by the Borrower incurred in connection with the Mergers, this Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, costs, fees, and expenses incurred in connection with satisfying the conditions precedent in Sections 4.01(e) and 4.01(f)), and the transactions contemplated by the Dex Support Agreement[, including, incurred in connection with the events leading up to, and throughout, the ongoing administration of the Chapter 11 Cases]¹⁷ and (b) out-of-pocket costs, fees and expenses for attorneys, auditors, accountants, consultants, and advisors retained by the Administrative Agent and the steering committee Lenders and reimbursed by the Borrower (without, including without limitation, the fees and expenses of the Administrative Agent and the steering committee Lenders) incurred in connection with this Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt,

¹⁷ To be included if applicable

costs, fees, and expenses incurred in connection with satisfying the conditions precedent in Sections 4.01(e) and 4.01(f)), and the transactions contemplated by the Dex Support Agreement[, including, incurred in connection with the events leading up to, and throughout, the ongoing administration of the Chapter 11 Cases]¹⁸.

"Statutory Reserve Rate" means a fraction (expressed as a decimal), the numerator of which is the number one and the denominator of which is the number one minus the aggregate of the maximum reserve percentages (including any marginal, special, emergency or supplemental reserves) expressed as a decimal established by the Board to which the Administrative Agent is subject with respect to eurocurrency funding (currently referred to as "Eurocurrency Liabilities" in Regulation D of the Board). Such reserve percentages shall include those imposed pursuant to such Regulation D. Eurodollar Loans shall be deemed to constitute eurocurrency funding and to be subject to such reserve requirements without benefit of or credit for proration, exemptions or offsets that may be available from time to time to any Lender under such Regulation D or any comparable regulation. The Statutory Reserve Rate shall be adjusted automatically on and as of the effective date of any change in any reserve percentage.

"Subordinated Guarantee" means the Guarantee made by the Borrower pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement.

"Subordinated Guarantee Agent" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement.

"Subordinated Guarantee Agreement" means the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, dated the date hereof, attached hereto as Exhibit G, among the Borrower, Dex West, RHDI and SuperMedia.

"Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person (the "parent") at any date, any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity the accounts of which would be consolidated with those of the parent in the parent's consolidated financial statements if such financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP as of such date, as well as any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity of which securities or other ownership interests representing more than 50% of the equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, more than 50% of the general partnership interests are, as of such date, owned, Controlled or held by the parent or one or more Subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent and one or more Subsidiaries of the parent. Unless otherwise qualified, all references to a "Subsidiary" or to "Subsidiaries" in this Agreement shall refer to a Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of the Borrower.

"Subsidiary Loan Party" means any Subsidiary of the Borrower that is not a Foreign Subsidiary.

"SuperMedia" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals of this Agreement.

"SuperMedia Credit Agreement" means (a) the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2009, as amended and restated as of the date hereof (as further amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time), among SuperMedia, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and (b) any other credit agreement, loan agreement, note agreement, promissory note, indenture or other agreement or instrument evidencing or

-Active.13504878.21

¹⁸ To be included if applicable

governing the terms of any Indebtedness or other financial accommodation that has been incurred to refinance (whether by the same or different banks) in whole or in part (under one or more agreements) the Indebtedness and other obligations outstanding under the SuperMedia Credit Agreement referred to in clause (a) above or any other agreement or instrument referred to in this clause (b) (including, without limitation, adding or removing any Person as a borrower, guarantor or other obligor thereunder).

"SuperMedia Existing Credit Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2009, (as further amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time), among SuperMedia, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the effectiveness of the SuperMedia Credit Agreement.

"SuperMedia Loan Documents" means the "Loan Documents" as defined in the SuperMedia Credit Agreement.

"SuperMedia Merger" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals of this Agreement.

"SuperMedia Tax Sharing Agreement" means the Tax Sharing Agreement in the form of Exhibit L hereto, dated the date hereof, among SuperMedia, SuperMedia Sales Inc., SuperMedia Services Inc., Newdex, Dex One and the Service Company.

"Swap Agreement" means any agreement with respect to any swap, forward, future or derivative transaction or option or similar agreement involving, or settled by reference to, one or more rates, currencies, commodities, equity or debt instruments or securities, or economic, financial or pricing indices or measures of economic, financial or pricing risk or value or any similar transaction or any combination of these transactions; <u>provided</u> that no phantom stock or similar plan providing for payments only on account of services provided by current or former directors, officers, employees or consultants of the Borrower or the Subsidiaries shall be a Swap Agreement.

"Syndication Agent" means Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, in its capacity as syndication agent.

"<u>Tax Payments</u>" means payments for (i) the net amounts payable by the Borrower pursuant to the Tax Sharing Agreements for the current tax period and (ii) to the extent not duplicative with (i), taxes which are not determined by reference to income, but which are imposed on a direct or indirect owner of the Borrower as a result of such owner's ownership of the equity of the Borrower.

"<u>Tax Sharing Agreements</u>" means, collectively, the Dex Tax Sharing Agreement and the SuperMedia Tax Sharing Agreement (each, individually, a "<u>Tax Sharing Agreement</u>").

"Taxes" means any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, charges, fees, assessments or withholdings (including backup withholding) imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

"<u>Title Company</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in clause (g) of the definition of "Collateral and Guarantee Requirement".

"<u>Total Indebtedness</u>" means, as of any date, an amount equal to (a) the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries outstanding as of such date, other

than the Subordinated Guarantee, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP minus, solely for purposes of Section 6.14, (b) the lesser of (i) the aggregate unencumbered cash and Permitted Investments (provided that any such cash and Permitted Investments to the extent subject to a Lien created under the Loan Documents or otherwise subject to a Permitted Encumbrance shall be deemed to be unencumbered for purposes of this definition) maintained by the Borrower and the Subsidiaries as of such date and (ii) \$25,000,000; provided, that the amount of such Indebtedness shall be (A) without regard to the effects of purchase method of accounting requiring that the amount of such Indebtedness be valued at its fair market value instead of its outstanding principal amount and (B) determined exclusive of (x) any reimbursement obligations and intercompany non-cash obligations constituting intercompany Indebtedness or Attributable Debt owing to the Service Company incurred pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions and (y) any letters of credit to the extent cash collateralized in reliance on Section 6.02(a)(vi).

"<u>Transactions</u>" means (a) the execution, delivery and performance by each Loan Party of the Loan Documents to which it is to be a party, (b) [the effectiveness and consummation of the Reorganization Plan pursuant to the Confirmation Order (including, without limitation, the consummation of the Mergers) and]¹⁹ and (c) the payment of fees and expenses in connection with [clause (b) hereof and]²⁰ the Amendments and the Loan Documents.

"Type", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether the rate of interest on such Loan, or on the Loans comprising such Borrowing, is determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate or the Alternate Base Rate.

"<u>Ultimate Parent</u>" means (i) prior to the Mergers, Dex One, and (ii) after the Mergers, Newdex.

"<u>Ultimate Parent Annual Cash Interest Amount</u>" means, for any fiscal year (or full fiscal year equivalent), an amount equal to 27% of \$36,000,000.

"<u>Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition</u>" means any sale, transfer or other disposition (including pursuant to a public offering or spin-off transaction) by the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof of all or a portion of the Equity Interests of the Borrower, Dex West, RHDI, SuperMedia, Dex Digital, RHDC or any Newco (or substantially all of the assets constituting a business unit, division or line of business thereof).

"<u>Ultimate Parent PIK Election</u>" means the election by the Ultimate Parent to make paidin-kind interest payments on the Restructuring Notes as permitted by the Restructuring Notes Indenture.

"<u>U.S. Person</u>" means "United States person" within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code.

" $\underline{U.S.\ Tax\ Compliance\ Certificate}$ " has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.12(e)(ii)(B)(3).

"<u>West Territories</u>" means Arizona, Idaho, Montana, Oregon, Utah, Washington and Wyoming.

¹⁹ To be included if applicable

²⁰ To be included if applicable

"<u>Withdrawal Liability</u>" means liability to a Multiemployer Plan as a result of a complete or partial withdrawal from such Multiemployer Plan, as such terms are defined in Title IV of ERISA.

Section 1.02 <u>Classification of Loans and Borrowings</u>. For purposes of this Agreement, Loans may be classified and referred to by Type (<u>e.g.</u>, a "Eurodollar Loan"). Borrowings also may be classified and referred to by Type (e.g., a "Eurodollar Borrowing").

Terms Generally. The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to Section 1.03 the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words "include", "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation". The word "will" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word "shall". Unless the context requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to time amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments, restatements, supplements or modifications set forth herein), (b) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person's successors and assigns, (c) the words "herein", "hereof" and "hereunder", and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (d) all references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement and (e) the words "asset" and "property" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to any and all tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts and contract rights.

Section 1.04 Accounting Terms; GAAP. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all terms of an accounting or financial nature shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, as in effect from time to time; provided that, if the Borrower notifies the Administrative Agent that the Borrower requests an amendment to any provision hereof to eliminate the effect of any change occurring after the date hereof in GAAP or in the application thereof on the operation of such provision (or if the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower that the Required Lenders request an amendment to any provision hereof for such purpose), regardless of whether any such notice is given before or after such change in GAAP or in the application thereof, then such provision shall be interpreted on the basis of GAAP as in effect and applied immediately before such change shall have become effective until such notice shall have been withdrawn or such provision amended in accordance herewith. Any reference made in this Agreement or any other Loan Document to any consolidated financial statement or statements of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries means such financial statement or statements prepared on a combined basis for the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries pursuant to GAAP, not utilizing the equity method. Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, all terms of an accounting or financial nature used herein shall be construed. and all computations of amounts and ratios referred to herein shall be made, without giving effect to any election under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 159 (or any other Financial Accounting Standard having a similar result or effect) to value any Indebtedness or other liabilities of the Parent, the Borrower or any of their respective Subsidiaries at "fair value", as defined therein.

ARTICLE II

THE CREDITS

Section 2.01 <u>Loans</u>. (a) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each Existing Loan shall continue to be outstanding and, on and as of the Closing Date, constitute term loans hereunder (the "Loans").

(b) Amounts repaid in respect of Loans may not be reborrowed.

Section 2.02 <u>Borrowings</u>. (a) Subject to Section 2.09, each Borrowing shall be comprised entirely of ABR Loans or Eurodollar Loans as the Borrower may request in accordance herewith.

- (b) At the commencement of each Interest Period for any Eurodollar Borrowing, such Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amount that is an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 and not less than \$5,000,000. Borrowings of more than one Type may be outstanding at the same time; provided that there shall not at any time be more than a total of 15 Eurodollar Borrowings outstanding.
- (c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Borrower shall not be entitled to elect to convert or continue, any Borrowing if the Interest Period requested with respect thereto would end after the Maturity Date.
 - Section 2.03 <u>Interest Elections</u>. (a) The Borrower may elect to convert each Borrowing to a different Type or to continue such Borrowing and, in the case of a Eurodollar Borrowing, may elect Interest Periods therefor, all as provided in this Section. The Borrower may elect different options with respect to different portions of the affected Borrowing, in which case each such portion shall be allocated ratably among the Lenders holding the Loans comprising such Borrowing, and the Loans comprising each such portion shall be considered a separate Borrowing.
- (b) To make an election pursuant to this Section, the Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent of such election by telephone (i) in the case of an election to continue or convert to a Eurodollar Borrowing, by not later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, three Business Days before the date of the proposed continuation or conversion or (ii) in the case of an election to convert to an ABR Borrowing, by not later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, one Business Day before the date of the proposed conversion. Each such telephonic Interest Election Request shall be irrevocable and shall be confirmed promptly by hand delivery or telecopy to the Administrative Agent of a written Interest Election Request in a form approved by the Administrative Agent and signed by the Borrower.
- (c) Each telephonic and written Interest Election Request shall specify the following information in compliance with Section 2.02:
 - (i) the Borrowing to which such Interest Election Request applies and, if different options are being elected with respect to different portions thereof, the portions thereof to be allocated to each resulting Borrowing (in which case the information to be specified pursuant to clauses (iii) and (iv) below shall be specified for each resulting Borrowing);
 - (ii) the effective date of the election made pursuant to such Interest Election Request, which shall be a Business Day;
 - (iii) whether the resulting Borrowing is to be an ABR Borrowing or a Eurodollar Borrowing; and
 - (iv) if the resulting Borrowing is a Eurodollar Borrowing, the Interest Period to be applicable thereto after giving effect to such election, which shall be a period contemplated by the definition of the term "Interest Period".

If any such Interest Election Request requests a Eurodollar Borrowing but does not specify an Interest Period, then the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one month's duration.

- (d) Promptly following receipt of an Interest Election Request, the Administrative Agent shall advise each Lender of the details thereof and of such Lender's portion of each resulting Borrowing.
- (e) If the Borrower fails to deliver a timely Interest Election Request with respect to a Eurodollar Borrowing prior to the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto, then, unless such Borrowing is repaid as provided herein, at the end of such Interest Period such Borrowing shall be converted to an ABR Borrowing. Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, if an Event of Default has occurred after the Closing Date and is continuing then, so long as an Event of Default is continuing (i) no outstanding Borrowing may be converted to or continued as a Eurodollar Borrowing and (ii) unless repaid, each Eurodollar Borrowing shall be converted to an ABR Borrowing at the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto.
 - Section 2.04 <u>Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt.</u> (a) The Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of each Lender the then unpaid principal amount of each Loan of such Lender as provided in Section 2.05.
- (b) Each Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice an account or accounts evidencing the indebtedness of the Borrower to such Lender resulting from each Loan made by such Lender, including the amounts of principal and interest payable and paid to such Lender from time to time hereunder.
- (c) The Administrative Agent shall maintain accounts in which it shall record (i) the amount of each Loan made hereunder, the Type thereof and the Interest Period applicable thereto, (ii) the amount of any principal or interest due and payable or to become due and payable from the Borrower to each Lender hereunder and (iii) the amount of any sum received by the Administrative Agent hereunder for the account of the Lenders and each Lender's share thereof.
- (d) The entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to paragraph (b) or (c) of this Section shall be <u>prima facie</u> evidence of the existence and amounts of the obligations recorded therein; <u>provided</u> that the failure of any Lender or the Administrative Agent to maintain such accounts or any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the Borrower to repay the Loans in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- (e) Any Lender may request that Loans made by it be evidenced by a promissory note. In such event, the Borrower shall prepare, execute and deliver to such Lender a promissory note payable to the order of such Lender (or, if requested by such Lender, to such Lender and its registered assigns) and in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent. Such promissory note shall state that it is subject to the provisions of this Agreement. Thereafter, the Loans evidenced by such promissory note and interest thereon shall at all times (including after assignment pursuant to Section 9.04) be represented by one or more promissory notes in such form payable to the order of the payee named therein (or, if such promissory note is a registered note, to such payee and its registered assigns).
 - Section 2.05 Amortization of Loans. (a) Subject to adjustment pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section 2.05 and except for Advance Amortization Payments, the Borrower shall repay the Borrowings on each date set forth below in the amount set forth opposite such date; provided, that, to the extent the Borrower makes a Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, the repayments due to any Lender participating in such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall be reduced ratably by the principal amount of Loans so prepaid (it being understood and agreed that such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall not in any manner affect the scheduled repayments due to the Lenders not participating in such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment):

	Principal Amount
Date	to be Repaid
March 31, 2013	\$16,250,000
June 30, 2013 ²¹	\$16,250,000
September 30, 2013	\$16,250,000
December 31, 2013	\$16,250,000
March 31, 2014	\$13,750,000
June 30, 2014	\$13,750,000
September 30, 2014	\$13,750,000
December 31, 2014	\$13,750,000
March 31, 2015	\$11,250,000
June 30, 2015	\$11,250,000
September 30, 2015	\$11,250,000
December 31, 2015	\$11,250,000
March 31, 2016	\$11,250,000
June 30, 2016	\$11,250,000
September 30, 2016	\$11,250,000
Maturity Date	Remaining Outstanding
	Amounts

- (b) To the extent not previously paid all Loans shall be due and payable on the Maturity Date.
- (c) Any mandatory prepayment of a Borrowing or optional prepayment that is not a Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall be applied to reduce the subsequent scheduled repayments of the Borrowings to be made pursuant to this Section ratably.
- (d) Prior to any repayment of any Borrowings hereunder, the Borrower shall select the Borrowing or Borrowings to be repaid and shall notify the Administrative Agent by telephone (confirmed by telecopy) of such selection not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, three Business Days before the scheduled date of such repayment. Each repayment of a Borrowing shall be applied ratably to the Loans included in the repaid Borrowing. Repayments of Borrowings shall be accompanied by accrued interest on the amount repaid.

Section 2.06 Prepayment of Loans. (a) The Borrower shall have the right at any time and from time to time to prepay any Borrowing in whole or in part, without premium or penalty (but subject to Section 2.11), in an aggregate principal amount that (except as otherwise provided in Section 2.15) is an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 and not less than \$1,000,000 or, if less, the amount outstanding, subject to the requirements of this Section. The Borrower shall have the right to elect by notice to the Administrative Agent that an optional prepayment that is not a Discounted Voluntary Prepayment and that is not subject to the notice contemplated in Section 2.06(d)(iii) is to be applied to a specific scheduled repayment to be made pursuant to Section 2.05 (any such payment, an "Advance Amortization Payment"); provided that (i) each such Advance Amortization Payment shall (x) be made in an amount equal to such scheduled repayment and (y) be applied to the next such scheduled repayment

²¹ The scheduled repayments immediately following the Closing Date will be reduced (in direct order) by an amount equal to the difference between the scheduled repayment due on March 31, 2013 (so long as such payment has been made) under the Existing Credit Agreement and the scheduled repayment due on March 31, 2013 described above.

that has not been prepaid by an Advance Amortization Payment and (ii) for the avoidance of doubt, no Advance Amortization Payment shall be deemed to constitute a prepayment for the purposes of Section 2.06(d).

- (b) In the event and on each occasion that any Net Proceeds are received by or on behalf of any Loan Party in respect of any Prepayment Event, the Borrower shall, not later than the Business Day next after the date on which such Net Proceeds are received, prepay Borrowings in an aggregate amount equal to the Required Percentage of such Net Proceeds or, in the case of an Equity Issuance by the Ultimate Parent, the Required Percentage of the Allocable Net Proceeds of such Prepayment Event; provided that, solely in the case of any Asset Disposition, if the Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent a certificate of a Financial Officer of the Borrower to the effect that the Borrower or a Subsidiary intends to apply the Net Proceeds from such Asset Disposition (or a portion thereof specified in such certificate), within 365 days after receipt of such Net Proceeds, to acquire real property, equipment or other assets to be used in the business of the Borrower or such Subsidiaries or to fund a Permitted Acquisition in accordance with the terms of Section 6.04, in each case as specified in such certificate (any such event, a "Reinvestment"), and certifying that no Default has occurred and is continuing, then no prepayment shall be required pursuant to this paragraph in respect of the Net Proceeds in respect of such Asset Disposition (or the portion of such Net Proceeds specified in such certificate, if applicable) except to the extent of any such Net Proceeds therefrom (i) that the Borrower or the applicable Subsidiary shall have determined not to, or shall have otherwise ceased to, or is not able to, by operation of contract or law or otherwise, apply toward such Reinvestment or (ii) that have not been so applied, or contractually committed to be so applied, by the end of such 365-day period, in each case at which time a prepayment shall be required in an amount equal to such Net Proceeds that have not been, or have been determined not to be, so applied (it being understood that if any portion of such proceeds are not so used within such 365-day period but within such 365-day period are contractually committed to be used, then upon the earlier to occur of (A) the termination of such contract and (B) the expiration of a 180-day period following such 365-day period, such remaining portion shall constitute Net Proceeds as of the date of such termination or expiry without giving effect to this proviso); provided, further, that the Net Proceeds applied toward Reinvestments or contractually committed to be so applied pursuant to the foregoing proviso shall not exceed \$10,000,000 in the aggregate during any fiscal year.
- (c) In the event and on each occasion that any Net Proceeds are received by or on behalf of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition, the Borrower shall, not later than the Business Day next after the date on which such Net Proceeds are received, prepay Borrowings in an aggregate amount equal to the Required Percentage of the Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition.
- (d) Following the end of each fiscal quarter of the Borrower, commencing with the first fiscal quarter ending after the Closing Date, the Borrower will prepay Borrowings in an aggregate amount equal to (i) (A) the Excess Cash Flow as of the end of such fiscal quarter multiplied by the applicable ECF Sweep Percentage in effect at such time, minus (B) all prepayments made during the applicable ECF Period pursuant to this Section 2.06(d)(i) as of the end of such fiscal quarter (including any prepayments that are applied to payments due under this Section 2.06(d)(i) pursuant to an Election Notice delivered pursuant to Section 2.06(e)), less (ii) any voluntary prepayments of Loans made pursuant to Section 2.06(a) during such fiscal quarter (other than any Advance Amortization Payments and any prepayments that are applied to payments due under this Section 2.06(d)(i) pursuant to an Election Notice delivered pursuant to Section 2.06(e) and except as provided in Section 2.15(f)), provided that any prepayment applied pursuant to clause (iii) of this Section 2.06(d) to reduce a prepayment made pursuant to this Section 2.06(d) shall not be applied in the subsequent quarter pursuant to this clause (ii) to reduce a prepayment made pursuant to this Section 2.06(d), less (iii) any voluntary prepayments of the Loans (other than an Advance Amortization Payment, any prepayments that are applied to payments due under this Section 2.06(d)(i) pursuant to an Election Notice delivered pursuant to Section 2.06(e), and except as provided in Section 2.15(f)) made since the end

of such fiscal quarter to the extent the Borrower has, on or prior to the date any mandatory prepayment is due under this paragraph (d) with respect to such fiscal quarter, specified in an Election Notice delivered to the Administrative Agent that such voluntary prepayments shall be applied to reduce the amount of such mandatory prepayment. Each prepayment pursuant to this paragraph shall be made on or before the date on which financial statements are delivered pursuant to Section 5.01 with respect to the fiscal quarter at the end of which Excess Cash Flow is being calculated (and in any event within (x) 55 days after the end of such fiscal quarter or (y) if such fiscal quarter is the last fiscal quarter in a fiscal year of the Borrower, 100 days after the end of such fiscal quarter), provided that if the Closing Date occurs after the date on which such prepayment would otherwise have been due hereunder for the period ended March 31, 2013, then the mandatory quarterly prepayment pursuant to this paragraph for such period shall be due and payable on the Closing Date.

- (e) Subject to the immediately following sentence, the Borrower shall on one or more occasions use the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow, as determined following the end of a fiscal quarter, to effect Discounted Voluntary Prepayments within 180 days after the date on which financial statements are delivered pursuant to Section 5.01 with respect to such quarter, with such Discounted Voluntary Prepayments to be designated as having been made to satisfy the Borrower's obligations under this Section 2.06(e) pursuant to an Election Notice delivered to the Administrative Agent. If the Borrower does not make such Discounted Voluntary Prepayments within such 180-day period equal to the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow for the applicable fiscal quarter (as designated in the applicable Election Notice), the Borrower shall (i) make an optional prepayment pursuant to Section 2.06(a) at the end of the fiscal quarter during which such 180-day period (as designated in an Election Notice to such effect) expires, with such prepayment to be applied to scheduled prepayments under Section 2.05, as directed by the Borrower, or (ii) make a prepayment as described in Section 2.06(d)(iii) (and as designated in an Election Notice to such effect). The Borrower may retain the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow and may utilize such Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow for purposes otherwise permitted hereunder, including, but not limited to, at the Borrower's option and in the Borrower's sole discretion, (i) to effect Discounted Voluntary Prepayments or (ii) for optional prepayments pursuant to Section 2.06(a).
- (f) Prior to any optional or, subject to Sections 2.06(b), (c) and (d), mandatory prepayment of Borrowings hereunder, the Borrower shall select the Borrowing or Borrowings to be prepaid and shall specify such selection in the notice of such prepayment pursuant to paragraph (g) of this Section.
- (g) The Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent by telephone (confirmed by telecopy) of any prepayment hereunder (i) in the case of prepayment of a Eurodollar Borrowing, not later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, three Business Days before the date of prepayment or (ii) in the case of prepayment of an ABR Borrowing, not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the date of prepayment. Each such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the prepayment date, the principal amount of each Borrowing or portion thereof to be prepaid and, in the case of a mandatory prepayment, a reasonably detailed calculation of the amount of such prepayment. Promptly following receipt of any such notice, the Administrative Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof. Each partial prepayment of any Borrowing shall be in an amount that would be permitted in the case of an advance of a Borrowing of the same Type as provided in Section 2.02, except as necessary to apply fully the required amount of a mandatory prepayment or to prepay such Borrowing in full. Each prepayment of a Borrowing shall be applied ratably to the Loans included in the prepaid Borrowing. Prepayments shall be accompanied by accrued interest and other amounts to the extent required by Sections 2.08 and 2.11.

Section 2.07 <u>Fees.</u> (a) The Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for its own account, fees payable in the amounts and at the times separately agreed upon between the Borrower and the Administrative Agent.

- (b) All fees payable hereunder shall be paid on the dates due, in immediately available funds, to the Administrative Agent. Fees paid shall not be refundable under any circumstances.
 - Section 2.08 <u>Interest</u>. (a) The Loans comprising each ABR Borrowing shall bear interest at the Alternate Base Rate <u>plus</u> the Applicable Rate.
- (b) The Loans comprising each Eurodollar Borrowing shall bear interest at the Adjusted LIBO Rate for the Interest Period in effect for such Borrowing <u>plus</u> the Applicable Rate.
- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any principal of or interest on any Loan or any fee or other amount payable by the Borrower hereunder is not paid when due, whether at stated maturity, upon acceleration or otherwise, such overdue amount shall bear interest, after as well as before judgment, at a rate per annum equal to (i) in the case of overdue principal of any Loan, 2% <u>plus</u> the rate otherwise applicable to such Loan as provided in the preceding paragraphs of this Section or (ii) in the case of any other amount, 2% <u>plus</u> the rate applicable to ABR Loans as provided in paragraph (a) of this Section.
- (d) Accrued interest on each Loan shall be payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date for such Loan; <u>provided</u> that (i) interest accrued pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section shall be payable on demand, (ii) in the event of any repayment or prepayment of any Loan, accrued interest on the principal amount repaid or prepaid shall be payable on the date of such repayment or prepayment and (iii) in the event of any conversion of any Eurodollar Loan prior to the end of the current Interest Period therefor, accrued interest on such Loan shall be payable on the effective date of such conversion.
- (e) All interest hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days, except that interest computed by reference to the Alternate Base Rate at times when the Alternate Base Rate is based on the Prime Rate shall be computed on the basis of a year of 365 days (or 366 days in a leap year), and in each case shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day). The applicable Alternate Base Rate or Adjusted LIBO Rate shall be determined by the Administrative Agent, and such determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
 - Section 2.09 <u>Alternate Rate of Interest</u>. If prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a Eurodollar Borrowing:
 - (a) the Administrative Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error) that adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the Adjusted LIBO Rate for such Interest Period; or
 - (b) the Administrative Agent is advised by the Required Lenders that the Adjusted LIBO Rate for such Interest Period will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders of making or maintaining their Loans included in such Borrowing for such Interest Period;

then the Administrative Agent shall give notice thereof to the Borrower and the Lenders by telephone or telecopy as promptly as practicable thereafter and, until the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower and the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer exist, any Interest Election Request that requests the conversion of any Borrowing to, or continuation of any Borrowing as, a Eurodollar Borrowing shall be ineffective; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that, in the case of a notice received pursuant to clause (b) above, if the Administrative Agent is able prior to the commencement of such Interest Period to ascertain, after using reasonable efforts to poll the Lenders giving such notice, that a rate other than the Alternate Base Rate would adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders of making or maintaining their Loans included in such Borrowing for such Interest Period, the Administrative Agent shall notify the Borrower of such alternate rate and the Borrower may agree by

written notice to the Agent prior to the commencement of such Interest Period to increase the Applicable Rate for the Loans included in such Borrowing for such Interest Period to result in an interest rate equal to such alternate rate, in which case such increased Applicable Rate shall apply to all the Eurodollar Loans included in the relevant Borrowing.

Section 2.10 <u>Increased Costs; Illegality</u>. (a) If any Change in Law shall:

- (i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Lender (except any such reserve requirement reflected in the Adjusted LIBO Rate);
- (ii) subject the Administrative Agent or any Lender to any Taxes (other than Indemnified Taxes, Excluded Taxes and Other Taxes) on its loans, loan principal, letters of credit, commitments, or other obligations, or its deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital attributable thereto: or
- (iii) impose on any Lender or the London interbank market any other condition affecting this Agreement or Eurodollar Loans made by such Lender;

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such Lender of making or maintaining any Eurodollar Loan (or of maintaining its obligation to make any such Loan) or to increase the cost to such Lender or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lender hereunder (whether of principal, interest or otherwise), then the Borrower will pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender for such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.

- (b) If any Lender determines that any Change in Law regarding capital or liquidity requirements has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Lender's capital or on the capital of such Lender's holding company, if any, as a consequence of this Agreement or the Loans made by such Lender, to a level below that which such Lender or such Lender's holding company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into consideration such Lender's policies and the policies of such Lender's holding company with respect to capital adequacy and liquidity), then from time to time after submission by such Lender to the Borrower of a written request therefor, the Borrower will pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or such Lender's holding company for any such reduction suffered.
- (c) A certificate of a Lender setting forth in reasonable detail the matters giving rise to a claim under this Section 2.10 and the calculation of such claim by such Lender or its holding company, as the case may be, shall be delivered to the Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower shall pay such Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within 10 days after receipt thereof.
- (d) Failure or delay on the part of any Lender to demand compensation pursuant to this Section shall not constitute a waiver of such Lender's right to demand such compensation; <u>provided</u>, that the Borrower shall not be required to compensate a Lender pursuant to this Section for any increased costs or reductions incurred more than 180 days prior to the date that such Lender notifies the Borrower of the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of such Lender's intention to claim compensation therefor; <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that if the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the 180-day period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof.

- (e) Notwithstanding any other provision herein, if any Change in Law shall make it unlawful for any Lender to maintain Eurodollar Loans as contemplated by this Agreement, (i) the commitment of such Lender hereunder to continue Eurodollar Loans as such and convert ABR Loans to Eurodollar Loans shall forthwith be canceled and (ii) such Lender's Loans then outstanding as Eurodollar Loans, if any, shall be converted automatically to ABR Loans on the respective last days of the then current Interest Periods with respect to such Loans or within such earlier period as required by applicable law. If any such conversion of a Eurodollar Loan occurs on a day which is not the last day of the then current Interest Period with respect thereto, the Borrower shall pay to such Lender such amounts, if any, as may be required pursuant to Section 2.11.
- (f) For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (i) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines, requirements and directives thereunder, issued in connection therewith or in implementation thereof, and (ii) all requests, rules, guidelines, requirements and directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be deemed to be a Change in Law regardless of the date enacted, adopted, issued or implemented.

Section 2.11 Break Funding Payments. In the event of (a) the payment of any principal of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of an Interest Period applicable thereto (including as a result of an Event of Default), (b) the conversion of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto, (c) the failure to convert, continue or prepay any Eurodollar Loan on the date specified in any notice delivered pursuant hereto (regardless of whether such notice may be revoked under Section 2.06(g) and is revoked in accordance therewith) or (d) the assignment of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto as a result of a request by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.14 or 9.02(c), then, in any such event, the Borrower shall compensate each Lender for the loss, cost and expense attributable to such event. Such loss, cost or expense to any Lender shall consist of an amount determined by such Lender to be the excess, if any, of (i) the amount of interest that would have accrued on the principal amount of such Loan had such event not occurred, at the Adjusted LIBO Rate that would have been applicable to such Loan (without giving effect to clause (b) of the definition of LIBO Rate), for the period from the date of such event to the last day of the then current Interest Period therefor (or, in the case of a failure to convert or continue, for the period that would have been the Interest Period for such Loan), over (ii) the amount of interest that would accrue on such principal amount for such period at the interest rate that such Lender would bid were it to bid, at the commencement of such period, for dollar deposits of a comparable amount and period from other banks in the Eurodollar market. A certificate of any Lender setting forth any amount or amounts that such Lender is entitled to receive pursuant to this Section shall be delivered to the Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower shall pay such Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within 10 days after receipt thereof.

Section 2.12 <u>Taxes</u>. (a) Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of any Loan Party hereunder or under any other Loan Document shall be made free and clear of, and without deduction for, any Taxes; <u>provided</u> that if the applicable withholding agent shall be required to deduct any Taxes from such payments, then (i) if such Taxes are Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes, the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section) the Administrative Agent or Lender (as the case may be) receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made, (ii) the applicable withholding agent shall make such deductions and (iii) the applicable withholding agent shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law.

- (b) In addition, the Borrower shall pay any Other Taxes to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law, or, at the option of the Administrative Agent timely reimburse it for the payment thereof.
- (c) The Loan Parties shall jointly and severally indemnify the Administrative Agent and each Lender within 10 days after written demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes paid by the Administrative Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, on or with respect to any payment by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder or under any other Loan Document or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to such Administrative Agent or Lender (including Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section) and any penalties, interest and reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability and a written statement setting forth in reasonable detail the basis and calculation of such amounts prepared in good faith and delivered to the Borrower by a Lender (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), or by the Administrative Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
- (d) As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by any Loan Party to a Governmental Authority pursuant to this Section 2.12, such Loan Party shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
- (e) (i) Any Foreign Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding tax under the law of the jurisdiction in which the Borrower is located, or any treaty to which such jurisdiction is a party, with respect to payments under this Agreement shall deliver to the Borrower (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), at the time or times prescribed by applicable law, such properly completed and executed documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower as will permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate, provided that (i) such Foreign Lender has received written notice from the Borrower advising it of the availability of such exemption or reduction and supplying all applicable documentation and (ii) such Foreign Lender is legally entitled to complete, execute, and deliver such documentation.
 - (ii) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event that the Borrower is a U.S. Person,
 - (A) any Lender that is a U.S. Person shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent on or prior to the date on which such Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent), executed originals of IRS Form W-9 certifying that such Lender is exempt from U.S. Federal backup withholding tax;
 - (B) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent (in such number of copies as shall be requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent), whichever of the following is applicable:
 - (1) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of an income tax treaty to which the United States is a party (x) with respect to payments of interest under any Loan Document, executed originals of IRS Form W-8BEN establishing an exemption from, or reduction of,

- U.S. Federal withholding Tax pursuant to the "interest" article of such tax treaty and (y) with respect to any other applicable payments under any Loan Document, IRS Form W-8BEN establishing an exemption from, or reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tax pursuant to the "business profits" or "other income" article of such tax treaty;
 - (2) executed originals of IRS Form W-8ECI;
- (3) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of the exemption for portfolio interest under Section 881(c) of the Code, (x) a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit M-1 to the effect that such Foreign Lender is not a "bank" within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, a "10 percent shareholder" of the Borrower within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(B) of the Code, or a "controlled foreign corporation" described in Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code (a "U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate") and (y) executed originals of IRS Form W-8BEN; or
- (4) to the extent a Foreign Lender is not the beneficial owner, executed originals of IRS Form W-8IMY, accompanied by IRS Form W-8ECI, IRS Form W-8BEN, a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit M-2 or Exhibit M-3, IRS Form W-9, and/or other certification documents from each beneficial owner, as applicable; provided that if the Foreign Lender is a partnership and one or more direct or indirect partners of such Foreign Lender are claiming the portfolio interest exemption, such Foreign Lender may provide a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit M-4 on behalf of each such direct and indirect partner;
- (C) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent (in such number of copies as shall be requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent), executed originals of any other form prescribed by applicable law as a basis for claiming exemption from or a reduction in U.S. federal withholding Tax, duly completed, together with such supplementary documentation as may be prescribed by applicable law to permit the Borrower or the Administrative Agent to determine the withholding or deduction required to be made; and
- (D) if a payment made to a Lender under any Loan Document would be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by applicable law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower and the Administrative Agent to comply with their obligations under FATCA and to determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender's obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solely for

purposes of this clause (D), "FATCA" shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

Each Lender agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so.

- (f) If the Administrative Agent or a Lender determines, in its sole judgment exercised in good faith, that it has received a refund of any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes as to which it has been indemnified by the Borrower or with respect to which the Borrower has paid additional amounts pursuant to this Section 2.12, it shall pay over such refund to the Borrower within a reasonable period of time (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by the Borrower under this Section 2.12 with respect to the Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent or such Lender and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund); provided, that the Borrower, upon the request of the Administrative Agent or such Lender, agrees to repay the amount paid over to the Borrower to the Administrative Agent or such Lender in the event the Administrative Agent or such Lender is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. This Section shall not be construed to require the Administrative Agent or any Lender to make available its tax returns (or any other information relating to its Taxes that it deems confidential) to the Borrower or any other Person.
- (g) Each Lender shall indemnify the Administrative Agent within ten days after written demand therefor, for the full amount of (i) any Taxes attributable to such Lender and (ii) any Taxes attributable to such Lender's failure to comply with the provisions of Section 10.6(c) relating to the maintenance of a Participant Register, in either case, that are payable or paid by the Administrative Agent, and any penalties, interest and reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability prepared in good faith and delivered to any Lender by the Administrative Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Each Lender hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to such Lender under any Loan Document or otherwise payable by the Administrative Agent to the Lender from any other source against any amount due to the Administrative Agent under this paragraph (g).
- (h) The agreements in this Section 2.12 shall survive the termination of this agreement and the payment of the Loans and all other amounts payable hereunder.
 - Payments Generally; Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing of Setoffs. (a) The Section 2.13 Borrower shall make each payment required to be made by it hereunder or under any other Loan Document (whether of principal, interest or fees, or of amounts payable under Section 2.10, 2.11 or 2.12, or otherwise) prior to the time expressly required hereunder or under such other Loan Document for such payment (or, if no such time is expressly required, prior to 2:00 p.m., New York City time), on the date when due, in immediately available funds, without setoff or counterclaim. Any amounts received after such time on any date may, in the discretion of the Administrative Agent, be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding Business Day for purposes of calculating interest thereon. All such payments shall be made to the Administrative Agent at its offices at 270 Park Avenue, New York, New York, except that payments pursuant to Sections 2.10, 2.11, 2.12 and 9.03 shall be made directly to the Persons entitled thereto and payments pursuant to other Loan Documents shall be made to the Persons specified therein. The Administrative Agent shall distribute any such payments received by it for the account of any other Person to the appropriate recipient promptly following receipt thereof. If any payment under any Loan Document shall be due on a day that is not a Business Day (except as otherwise provided in the definition of "Interest Period"), the date for payment shall be extended to the next

succeeding Business Day, and, in the case of any payment accruing interest, interest thereon shall be payable for the period of such extension. All payments under each Loan Document shall be made in dollars.

- (b) If at any time insufficient funds are received by and available to the Administrative Agent to pay fully all amounts of principal, interest and fees then due hereunder, such funds shall be applied (i) first, towards payment of interest and fees then due hereunder, ratably among the parties entitled thereto in accordance with the amounts of interest and fees then due to such parties, and (ii) second, towards payment of principal then due hereunder, ratably among the parties entitled thereto in accordance with the amounts of principal then due to such parties.
- (c) If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of setoff or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payment in respect of any principal of or interest on any of its Loans resulting in such Lender receiving payment of a greater proportion of the aggregate amount of its Loans and accrued interest thereon than the proportion received by any other Lender, then the Lender receiving such greater proportion shall purchase (for cash at face value) participations in the Loans of other Lenders to the extent necessary so that the benefit of all such payments shall be shared by the Lenders ratably in accordance with the relative aggregate amounts of principal of and accrued interest on their Loans; provided that (i) if any such participations are purchased and all or any portion of the payment giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, without interest, and (ii) the provisions of this paragraph shall not be construed to apply to any payment made by the Borrower pursuant to and in accordance with the express terms of this Agreement or any payment obtained by a Lender as consideration for the assignment of or sale of a participation in any of its Loans to any assignee or participant, other than to the Borrower or any Subsidiary or Affiliate thereof (as to which the provisions of this paragraph shall apply). The Borrower consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively do so under applicable law, that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements may exercise against the Borrower rights of setoff and counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of the Borrower in the amount of such participation.
- (d) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from the Borrower prior to the date on which any payment is due to the Administrative Agent for the account of the Lenders hereunder that the Borrower will not make such payment, the Administrative Agent may assume that the Borrower has made such payment on such date in accordance herewith and may, in reliance upon such assumption, distribute to the Lenders the amount due. In such event, if the Borrower has not in fact made such payment, then each of the Lenders severally agrees to repay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand the amount so distributed to such Lender with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Administrative Agent, at the greater of the Federal Funds Effective Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation.
- (e) If any Lender shall fail to make any payment required to be made by it pursuant to Section 2.13(d) or 9.03(c), then the Administrative Agent may, in its discretion (notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof), apply any amounts thereafter received by the Administrative Agent for the account of such Lender to satisfy such Lender's obligations under such Sections until all such unsatisfied obligations are fully paid.
 - Section 2.14 <u>Mitigation Obligations; Replacement of Lenders</u>. (a) If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.10, or if the Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.12, then such Lender shall use reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office for funding or booking its

Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 2.10 or 2.12, as the case may be, in the future and (ii) would not subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense and would not otherwise be disadvantageous to such Lender, provided that nothing in this Section shall affect or postpone any of the obligations of the Borrower or the rights of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.10 or 2.12. The Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with any such designation or assignment.

(b) If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.10, or if the Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.12, or if any Lender is not able to maintain Eurodollar Loans for reasons described in Section 2.10(e), or if any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, then the Borrower may, at its sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Administrative Agent, require such Lender to assign and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions contained in Section 9.04, provided that the Borrower or assignee must pay any applicable processing or recordation fee), all its interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement to an assignee that shall assume such obligations (which assignee may be another Lender, if a Lender accepts such assignment); provided, further, that (i) the Borrower shall have received the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, which consent shall not unreasonably be withheld and (ii) such Lender shall have received payment of an amount equal to the outstanding principal of its Loans, accrued interest thereon, accrued fees and all other amounts payable to it hereunder, from the assignee (to the extent of such outstanding principal and accrued interest and fees) or the Borrower (in the case of all other amounts) and such Lender shall be released from all obligations hereunder. A Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment and delegation if, prior thereto, as a result of a waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the circumstances entitling the Borrower to require such assignment and delegation cease to apply.

Section 2.15 Voluntary Prepayments Below Par. (a) The Borrower may elect to notify the Administrative Agent and the Lenders that it wishes to make below par voluntary prepayments of the Loans (each such payment a "Discounted Voluntary Prepayment") pursuant to the procedures set forth in this Section 2.15; provided that (i) the Borrower shall specify in an Election Notice to the Administrative Agent whether such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment will be a utilization of the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow or the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow and Discounted Voluntary Prepayments shall only be permitted to be made in amounts not exceeding the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Flow or the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow (as applicable) at the time such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment is made and (ii) no Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall be made after December 31, 2016. At the time of any Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, the Borrower shall certify, with reasonable supporting detail (as reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent), (i) compliance with the requirements of this Section 2.15, which certification shall include a schedule setting forth the computation (of any utilization by the Borrower) of Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow or Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow (as applicable), (ii) that no Event of Default pursuant to Section 6.14 could reasonably be expected to occur during the immediately succeeding four calendar quarters if such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment is not made, (iii) that such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall have been approved by the Borrower's Board of Directors and (iv) that immediately prior to and after giving effect to any Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, (x) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, (y) the aggregate unencumbered cash and Permitted Investments (provided that any such cash and Permitted Investments to the extent subject to a Lien created under the Loan Documents, the Dex West Loan Documents or the RHDI Loan Documents shall be deemed to be unencumbered for purposes of this clause (y)) maintained by the Borrower, Dex West, RHDI and their Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis shall be at least \$40,000,000

and (z) the aggregate unencumbered cash and Permitted Investments (provided that any such cash and Permitted Investments to the extent subject to a Lien created under the Loan Documents shall be deemed to be unencumbered for purposes of this clause (z)) maintained by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries shall be at least \$10,000,000.

- (b) In connection with any Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, the Borrower shall notify the Lenders (the "Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Notice") that the Borrower desires to prepay Loans with cash proceeds in an aggregate amount (each, a "Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Amount") specified by the Borrower (which amount shall be not less than \$5,000,000) at a price within a range (the "Range") to be specified by the Borrower equal to a percentage of par (not to exceed 100%) (the "Payment Percentage") of the principal amount of the Loans to be prepaid; provided that only one Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Notice may be in effect at any time. The Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Notice shall further specify the date by which Lenders are required to indicate their election to participate in such proposed Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, which shall be at least five Business Days following the date of the Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Notice (the "Acceptance Date"). No proposed Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall be made if the amount of cash expended to make Discounted Voluntary Prepayments would exceed an amount equal to the Borrower's Portion of Excess Cash Flow at such time.
- (c) On or prior to the Acceptance Date, each Lender may specify by written notice to the Administrative Agent a minimum Payment Percentage (the "Acceptable Payment Percentage") within the Range for a maximum principal amount (subject to rounding requirements specified by the Administrative Agent) of Loans at which such Lender is willing to permit such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment. Based on the Acceptable Payment Percentages and principal amounts of Loans specified by Lenders, the applicable Payment Percentage (the "Applicable Payment Percentage") for the Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall be the lowest Acceptable Payment Percentage at which the Borrower can complete the Discounted Voluntary Prepayment for the applicable Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Amount that is within the applicable Range; provided that if the offers received from Lenders are insufficient to allow the Borrower to complete the Discounted Voluntary Prepayment for the applicable Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Amount, then the Applicable Payment Percentage shall instead be the highest Acceptable Payment Percentage that is within the applicable Range. The Borrower shall prepay Loans (or the respective portions thereof) offered by Lenders at the Acceptable Payment Percentages specified by each such Lender that are equal to or less than the Applicable Payment Percentage ("Qualifying Loans") by remitting an amount to the Administrative Agent (for distribution to each respective Lender to be prepaid) equal to the product of the face amount, or par, of the Loan being prepaid multiplied by the Applicable Payment Percentage; provided that if the aggregate cash proceeds required to prepay Qualifying Loans (disregarding any interest payable under Section 2.15(d)) would exceed the applicable Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Amount for such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, the Borrower shall prepay such Qualifying Loans at the Applicable Payment Percentage ratably based on the respective principal amounts of such Qualifying Loans (subject to rounding requirements specified by the Administrative Agent).
- (d) All Loans prepaid by the Borrower pursuant to this Section 2.15 shall be accompanied by payment of accrued and unpaid interest on the par principal amount so prepaid to, but not including, the date of prepayment.
- (e) Each Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall be consummated pursuant to procedures (including as to rounding and minimum amounts, Type and Interest Periods of accepted Loans, irrevocability of Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Notice and other notices by the Borrower and Lenders and determination of Applicable Payment Percentage) reasonably established by the Administrative Agent in consultation with the Borrower and not inconsistent with the terms hereof.

- (f) Each Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall constitute an optional prepayment of Loans for all purposes under this Agreement, but excluding for purposes of Section 2.06(d).
- (g) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement (including, without limitation, Sections 2.06 and 2.13), the Lenders hereby consent to the transactions described in this Section 2.15 and further acknowledge that in connection with any Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, principal and interest payments may be made on a non-pro rata basis, as determined by the Administrative Agent, to the applicable Lenders.
- (h) This Section 2.15 shall not require the Borrower to undertake or any Lender to participate in any Discounted Voluntary Prepayment.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

The Borrower and, solely for purposes of Sections 3.01, 3.02, 3.03, 3.08, 3.09, 3.12, 3.13 and 3.19, the Ultimate Parent (with respect to itself and the Service Company) and the Parent represents and warrants to the Lenders that:

Section 3.01 <u>Organization; Powers</u>. Each of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, has all requisite power and authority to carry on its business as now conducted and, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, is qualified to do business in, and is in good standing in, every jurisdiction where such qualification is required.

Section 3.02 <u>Authorization; Enforceability.</u> The Transactions entered into and to be entered into by each of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company and the Dex East Loan Parties are within such Person's corporate or limited liability company powers and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or limited liability company and, if required, stockholder or member action. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Dex East Loan Parties and constitutes, and each other Loan Document to which any of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company and the Dex East Loan Parties is to be a party, when executed and delivered by such Person, will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Person, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

Section 3.03 Governmental Approvals; No Conflicts. The Transactions (a) do not require any consent or approval of, registration or filing with, or any other action by, any Governmental Authority, except as have been obtained or made and are in full force and effect and except filings necessary to perfect Liens created under the Loan Documents, (b) will not violate any applicable law or regulation or the charter, limited liability company agreement, by-laws or other organizational documents of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any order of any Governmental Authority, (c) will not violate or result in a default under any indenture, agreement or other instrument binding upon the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their assets, or give rise to a right thereunder to require any payment to be made by the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, and (d) will not result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of the Ultimate

Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, except Liens permitted under Section 6.02.

Section 3.04 <u>Financial Condition</u>. The unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower as of [_____], 201[_] and the related unaudited consolidated statements of operations and of cash flows for the [___]-month period ended on such date present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position and results of operations and cash flows of the Borrower as of such date and for such period in accordance with GAAP, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments.

Section 3.05 <u>Properties</u>. (a) The Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries has good title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all its real and personal property material to its business (including its Mortgaged Properties), except for minor defects in title that do not, or could not reasonably be expected to, interfere with its ability to conduct its business as currently conducted or to utilize such properties for their intended purposes.

- (b) The Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries owns, or is licensed to use, all trademarks, trade names, copyrights, patents and other intellectual property material to its business, and the use thereof by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries does not infringe upon the rights of any other Person, except, in each case, for any matters that, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect [(other than the Disclosed Matters)]²².
- (c) Schedule 3.05 sets forth the address of each real property that is owned or leased by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date.

Section 3.06 <u>Litigation and Environmental Matters</u>. (a) There are no actions, suits or proceedings by or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority pending against or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened against or affecting the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective executive officers or directors (i) which could reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect [(other than the Disclosed Matters)]²³ or (ii) that involve any of the Loan Documents or the Transactions.

(b) Except for [either the Disclosed Matters or]²⁴ any other matters that, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, none of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (i) has failed to comply with any Environmental Law or to obtain, maintain or comply with any permit, license or other approval required under any Environmental Law, (ii) has become subject to any Environmental Liability, (iii) has received notice of any claim with respect to any Environmental Liability or (iv) knows of any facts or circumstances which are reasonably likely to form the basis for any Environmental Liability.

Section 3.07 <u>Compliance with Laws and Agreements</u>. The Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries is in compliance with all laws, regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority applicable to it or its property and all indentures, agreements and other instruments binding upon it or its property, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. No Default has occurred and is continuing.

²² To be included if applicable

²³ To be included if applicable

²⁴ To be included if applicable

Section 3.08 <u>Investment Company Status</u>. None of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is required to be registered as an "investment company" as defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940.

Section 3.09 <u>Taxes</u>. Each of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries has timely filed or caused to be filed all material Tax returns and reports required to have been filed and has paid or caused to be paid all material Taxes required to have been paid by it, except any Taxes that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or such Subsidiary, as applicable, has set aside on its books adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.09, no material tax Liens have been filed.

Section 3.10 <u>ERISA</u>. During the five year period prior to the date on which this representation is made or deemed to be made with respect to any Plan or Multiemployer Plan, no ERISA Event has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur that, when taken together with all other such ERISA Events for which liability has occurred during such five year period or for which liability is reasonably expected to occur, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. The present value of all accumulated benefit obligations under each Plan (based on the assumptions used for purposes of Accounting Standards Codification No. 715: Compensation Retirement Benefits) did not, as of the date of the most recent financial statements reflecting such amounts, exceed the fair market value of the assets of such Plan by an amount that would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and the present value of all accumulated benefit obligations of all underfunded Plans (based on the assumptions used for purposes of Accounting Standards Codification No. 715: Compensation Retirement Benefits) did not, as of the date of the most recent financial statements reflecting such amounts, exceed the fair market value of the assets of all such underfunded Plans by an amount that would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.11 <u>Margin Regulations</u>. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is engaged principally, or as one of its important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of buying or carrying Margin Stock.

Section 3.12 <u>Disclosure</u>. None of the written reports, financial statements, certificates or other written information (including, without limitation, the Registration Statement on Form S-4 [and the Disclosure Statement (as supplemented in writing through the Closing Date))]²⁵ taken as a whole, furnished by or on behalf of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company or any Dex East Loan Party to the Administrative Agent or any Lender in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or delivered hereunder or thereunder (as of the date thereof and as modified or supplemented by other information so furnished) contains any material misstatement of fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made taken as a whole, not misleading; <u>provided</u> that, with respect to projected financial information, the Borrower represents only that such information was prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable (i) at the time such projected financial information was prepared and (ii) as of the date hereof. [The Bankruptcy Court entered an order on or about [______], 2013 approving the adequacy of the Disclosure Statement.]²⁶

Section 3.13 <u>Subsidiaries</u>. Schedule 3.13 sets forth the name of, and the ownership interest of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company and the Borrower in, each Subsidiary of

²⁵ To be included if applicable

²⁶ To be included if applicable

the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company and the Borrower and identifies each such Subsidiary that is a Loan Party, in each case as of the Closing Date. As of the Closing Date, none of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company and the Borrower has any Subsidiaries other than those set forth on Schedule 3.13.

Section 3.14 <u>Insurance</u>. Schedule 3.14 sets forth a description of all insurance maintained by or on behalf of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date. As of the Closing Date, all premiums due and payable in respect of such insurance have been paid. The Borrower believes that the insurance maintained by or on behalf of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries is adequate.

Section 3.15 <u>Labor Matters.</u> As of the Closing Date[, other than the Disclosed Matters]²⁷, there are no strikes, lockouts or slowdowns against the Borrower or any Subsidiary pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened. Except as could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect: (a) the hours worked by and payments made to employees of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries have not been in violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act or any other applicable Federal, state, local or foreign law dealing with such matters; (b) all payments due from the Borrower or any Subsidiary, or for which any claim may be made against the Borrower or any Subsidiary, on account of wages and employee health and welfare insurance and other benefits, have been paid or accrued as a liability on the books of the Borrower or such Subsidiary; and (c) the consummation of the Transactions will not give rise to any right of termination or right of renegotiation on the part of any union under any collective bargaining agreement to which the Borrower or any Subsidiary is bound.

Section 3.16 <u>Senior Debt</u>. For so long as the Restructuring Notes or Additional Notes are outstanding, the Obligations shall constitute "Senior Debt" under and as defined in the Restructuring Notes Indenture or, if applicable, under the indenture, note purchase agreement or other applicable agreement or instrument under which any such Additional Notes are issued.

Security Documents. (a) The Guarantee and Collateral Agreement is Section 3.17 effective to create in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a legal, valid and enforceable security interest in the Collateral described therein and proceeds thereof. In the case of the Pledged Stock and Pledged Notes (as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement) described in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, when stock certificates representing such Pledged Stock and Pledged Notes are delivered to the Collateral Agent, and in the case of the other Collateral described in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement (other than the Intellectual Property, as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement), when financing statements and other filings are filed in the offices specified on Schedule 3.17 (as updated by the Borrower from time to time in accordance with Section 5.03), the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement shall constitute a fully perfected Lien on, and security interest in, all right, title and interest of the Dex East Loan Parties in such Collateral and the proceeds thereof, as security for the Obligations to the extent perfection can be obtained by filing Uniform Commercial Code financing statements, or in the case of Pledged Stock and Pledged Notes, by possession or control, in each case prior and superior in right to any other Person (except, in the case of Collateral other than Pledged Stock and Pledged Notes, Liens permitted by Section 6.02(a)).

(b) When the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement or a summary thereof is properly filed in the United States Patent and Trademark Office and the United States Copyright Office, and, with respect to Collateral in which a security interest cannot be perfected by such filings, upon the proper filing of the financing statements referred to in paragraph (a) above, the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and such financing statements shall constitute a fully perfected Lien on, and security interest in, all right, title and

-Active.13504878.21

²⁷ To be included if applicable

interest of the grantors thereunder in the Intellectual Property (as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement), in each case prior and superior in right to any other Person (it being understood that subsequent recordings in the United States Patent and Trademark Office and the United States Copyright Office may be necessary to perfect a lien on registered trademarks and patents, trademark and patent applications and registered copyrights acquired by the grantors after the date hereof).

(c) The Mortgages, if any, entered into on or prior to the Closing Date (when amended by the mortgage amendment referred to in clause (g)(1) of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement (the "Mortgage Amendments")), or after the Closing Date pursuant to Section 5.12, are or when entered shall be effective to create in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Secured Parties, a legal, valid and enforceable Lien on all of the Dex East Loan Parties' right, title and interest in and to the Mortgaged Property thereunder and the proceeds thereof, and when such Mortgages are filed in the proper real estate filing offices, such Mortgages shall constitute a fully perfected Lien on, and security interest in, all right, title and interest of the Dex East Loan Parties in such Mortgaged Property and the proceeds thereof, in each case prior and superior in right to any other Person, other than with respect to the rights of Person pursuant to Liens expressly permitted by Section 6.02(a).

Section 3.18 <u>Liens</u>. There are no Liens of any nature whatsoever on any properties of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries other than Permitted Encumbrances and Liens permitted by Section 6.02.

Section 3.19 [Bankruptcy Court Orders. The Confirmation Order has been entered by the Bankruptcy Court, and such order has not been stayed, reversed, modified or vacated on appeal.]²⁸

ARTICLE IV

CONDITIONS

Section 4.01 <u>Effectiveness of Agreement</u>. The effectiveness of this Agreement is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions precedent (and the delivery of the notice contemplated in the last sentence of this Section 4.01), provided that nothing herein shall limit the consent rights set forth in the Dex Support Agreement:

(a) <u>Loan Documents</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received (i) this Agreement, executed and delivered by the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and[, to the extent requested by the Administrative Agent,]²⁹ the Lenders, (ii) an executed Acknowledgment and Confirmation substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto from each Dex East Loan Party, (iii) the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement executed and delivered by each Shared Collateral Loan Party, (iv) the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, executed and delivered by the Borrower, Dex West, RHDI and SuperMedia and (v) the Intercreditor Agreement, executed and delivered by the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, Dex Media Service, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Borrower, Dex West, RHDI, the Agent, the Shared Collateral Agent, the administrative agent and collateral agent under the Dex West Credit Agreement, the administrative agent under the RHDI Credit Agreement and the administrative agent under the SuperMedia Credit Agreement.

(b) [Confirmation of the Reorganization Plan. The Reorganization Plan shall have been confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to the Confirmation Order. The Confirmation Order shall not

²⁸ To be included if applicable

²⁹ To be included if applicable.

have been stayed, modified, or vacated on appeal. All conditions precedent to the effectiveness of the Reorganization Plan shall have been satisfied (or waived) or shall be concurrently with the effective date of the Reorganization Plan satisfied (or waived) in accordance with the terms of the Reorganization Plan.

- (c) Amendments. The Administrative Agent shall have received satisfactory evidence of the completion of the Amendments (including, for the avoidance of doubt, evidence that (i) the RHDI Loan Documents and the Dex West Loan Documents have been entered into, and become effective, substantially simultaneously with this Agreement and (ii) the SuperMedia Loan Documents have been entered into, and become effective, prior to the consummation of the Mergers)[; provided, that it is acknowledged and agreed that the filing by the Ultimate Parent, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiaries, with the Bankruptcy Court of written notice of the occurrence of the "Effective Date" under (and as defined in) the Reorganization Plan shall satisfy this condition.]³¹
- (d) <u>Mergers</u>. The Mergers shall have been consummated by the filing of the Certificates of Merger (as defined in the Merger Agreement) with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.
- (e) Trademarks. The trademarks owned by the Borrower, Dex West, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company and each other Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Ultimate Parent) ("Collateral Trademarks") shall have been transferred (together with the associated goodwill) to and owned by a bankruptcy remote Subsidiary of each such Person, respectively, and in each case, (i) the organizational documents of such bankruptcy remote Subsidiaries (each, a "License Subsidiary") shall provide for, and require that there at all times be, two special independent directors or members whose consent would be required for such License Subsidiary to file a petition for bankruptcy or for the transfer of any equity interests therein (other than the sale of such equity interests in a transaction permitted under the Loan Documents) and shall otherwise be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the Administrative Agent shall have received and shall be reasonably satisfied with (A) a certificate of an authorized officer of the Ultimate Parent including the certificate of incorporation or formation, as applicable, for the License Subsidiaries, certified by the relevant authority of the jurisdiction of organization of such License Subsidiary, (B) a complete copy of resolutions adopted by the Governing Board of such License Subsidiary authorizing the execution, delivery and performance in accordance with their respective terms of the agreements described in clause (ii) below and (C) a long form good standing certificate of such License Subsidiary, as applicable, from its jurisdiction of organization, (ii) the License Subsidiaries shall have entered into License Agreements and (iii) except as permitted by a License Agreement, anything incidental to the ownership of the Collateral Trademarks (including filing or registering any application for or registration of all current or future Collateral Trademarks and the prosecution, maintenance, renewal or enforcement of same) shall be done solely by the Licensee Subsidiaries (or their respective selected designees).
- (f) Other Intellectual Property Arrangements. (i) Each of the Borrower, Dex West, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company and each other Shared Collateral Loan Party shall have entered into Master IP License Agreements substantially in the form of Exhibit I hereto and (ii) each of the Borrower, Dex West, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company and each other Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Ultimate Parent) shall have delivered to each other above-referenced party and its Subsidiaries (other than License Subsidiaries) as of the Closing Date current or contingent (e.g., through an escrow arrangement reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) possession of, or access to, all Escrow Materials in existence as of the Closing Date, to the extent the applicable owner or licensee of any Escrow Materials is not permitted by the Agent to make delivery of same to any of such other parties promptly after

³⁰ To be included if applicable

³¹ To be included if applicable

the Closing Date. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 4.01(f), neither Borrower, Dex West, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company nor any other Shared Collateral Loan Party shall be deemed to have failed to satisfy this Section 4.01(f) for any inadvertent failure to deliver or place into escrow any Escrow Materials because such party was unaware of the existence of any such item, provided that (x) delivery or escrow of any such item is made promptly after identification or discovery of such item (and that such item has not been delivered or escrowed) by such party and (y) none of such other parties are materially damaged or prejudiced, and do not lose any material rights, due to such failure.

- (g) Existing Credit Agreement. The Borrower shall have timely paid current scheduled amortization and interest (at the non-default rate) on the Loans (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement) in accordance with the Existing Credit Agreement [and, to the extent applicable, the Cash Collateral Order,]³² and shall have paid all other fees and expenses then due and payable with respect to the Existing Credit Agreement.
- (h) <u>Fees</u>. The Lenders and the Administrative Agent shall have received all fees required to be paid, and all expenses for which reasonably detailed invoices have been presented, on or before the Closing Date.
- (i) No Actions. There shall be no action, suit, investigation or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened in any court or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority that could reasonably be expected to (x) have a material adverse effect on the business, assets, properties, liabilities (actual and contingent), operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Ultimate Parent and the other Loan Parties and their respective Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (y) adversely affect the ability of the Ultimate Parent or any other Loan Party to perform its obligations under the Loan Documents or (z) adversely affect the rights and remedies of the Agent or the Lenders under the Loan Documents.
- (j) <u>Shared Services Agreement</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received the Shared Services Agreement, duly executed and delivered by the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower and each other party thereto, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit E hereto.
- (k) <u>Tax Sharing Agreements</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received the Tax Sharing Agreements, duly executed and delivered by the parties thereto.
- (l) <u>Financial Statements</u>. The Lenders shall have received the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements described in Section 3.04.
- (m) Closing Certificate. The Administrative Agent shall have received and shall be satisfied with (x) a certificate of an authorized officer of each Loan Party (other than any Newco Subordinated Guarantor), dated the Closing Date, with appropriate insertions and attachments including (i) the certificate of incorporation or formation, as applicable, of such Person, as applicable, certified by the relevant authority of the jurisdiction of organization of such Person, as applicable, (ii) a complete copy of resolutions adopted by the Governing Board of such Person authorizing the execution, delivery and performance in accordance with their respective terms of the Loan Documents to which such Person is a party and any other documents required or contemplated hereunder (in the case of the Ultimate Parent, a copy of the Confirmation Order in lieu of such resolutions; provided that a copy of the resolutions adopted by the new Governing Board of the Ultimate Parent ratifying the execution, delivery and performance in accordance with their respective terms of the Loan Documents to which the Ultimate Parent is a party shall be delivered to the Administrative Agent on the Closing Date) and (iii) a long form good standing certificate of such Person, as applicable, from its jurisdiction of organization and (y) a certificate signed by the president, a vice president or a

-Active.13504878.21

³² To be included if applicable

Financial Officer of the Borrower, the Ultimate Parent and the Parent, confirming that the conditions in Sections 4.01(q) and 4.01(t) have been satisfied, as applicable.

- (n) <u>Legal Opinions</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received the following executed opinions, in each case in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent: (i) the legal opinion of Kirkland & Ellis LLP, counsel to the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries, (ii) the legal opinion of Mark W. Hianik, the general counsel of the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries, and (iii) the legal opinion of Fulbright & Jaworski LLP, counsel to SuperMedia and its Subsidiaries.
- (o) Pledged Stock; Stock Powers; Pledged Notes. To the extent not previously delivered, (i) the Agent shall have received (x) the certificates or other instruments representing all outstanding Equity Interests of each Subsidiary owned by or on behalf of any Loan Party pledged pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, together with stock powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank and (y) each promissory note pledged and required to be delivered to the Agent pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, together with note powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank, and (ii) the Shared Collateral Agent shall have received, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, (x) the certificates or other instruments representing all outstanding Equity Interests of each Subsidiary owned by or on behalf of any Shared Collateral Loan Party pledged pursuant to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, together with stock powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank and (y) each promissory note pledged and required to be delivered to the Shared Collateral Agent pursuant to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, together with note powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank.
- (p) <u>Filings, Registrations and Recordings</u>. All documents and instruments, including Uniform Commercial Code financing statements, required by law or reasonably requested by the Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, to be filed, registered or recorded to create the Liens intended to be created by the Collateral Agreements and perfect such Liens to the extent required by, and with the priority required by, the Collateral Agreements, shall have been executed and be in proper form for filing, subject only to exceptions satisfactory to the Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, and the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement shall have otherwise been satisfied.
- (q) Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties of each Loan Party set forth in the Loan Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects (except to the extent already qualified as to materiality in which case such representations and warranties shall be true in all respects) on and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case such representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all material respects (except to the extent already qualified as to materiality in which case such representations and warranties shall be true in all respects) on and as of such earlier date).
- (r) <u>Mortgages</u>. The Collateral and Guarantee Requirement shall have been satisfied with respect to the Mortgaged Properties listed on Schedule 1.01B.
- (s) Control Agreements. To the extent not previously delivered, (i) the Agent shall have received control agreements executed by all parties thereto with respect to each "deposit account" (as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement) and "securities account" (as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement) with respect to which a control agreement is required to be delivered by any Loan Party to the Agent pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, in each case in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent and (ii) the Shared Collateral Agent shall have received control agreements executed by all parties thereto with respect to each "deposit account" (as defined in the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement) and "securities account" (as defined in the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement) with respect to which a control agreement is required to be delivered by any Shared

Collateral Loan Party to the Shared Collateral Agent pursuant to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, in each case in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Shared Collateral Agent.

- (t) <u>No Default</u>. After giving effect to Section 9.17, no Default shall have occurred and be continuing as of the Closing Date.
- (u) <u>Other Transaction Documents</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received copies of the Dex West Credit Agreement, the RHDI Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Credit Agreement, in each case certified by an authorized officer of the Ultimate Parent.
- (v) <u>Interest under Existing Credit Agreement</u>. The accrued and unpaid interest on the Loans (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement) to the Closing Date (at the applicable non-default rate) shall have been paid in full in cash by the Borrower.³³
- (w) <u>Flood Hazards</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received a completed "Life-of-Loan" Federal Emergency Management Agency Standard Flood Hazard Determination with respect to each Mortgaged Property (together with a notice about special flood hazard area status and flood disaster assistance duly executed by the Borrower and each Loan Party relating thereto), if any, and if any such Mortgaged Property is located in a special flood hazard area, evidence of flood insurance in form and amount reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

The Administrative Agent shall notify the Borrower and the Lenders of the Closing Date, and such notice shall be conclusive and binding.

ARTICLE V

AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

Until the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees payable hereunder shall have been paid in full, each of the Borrower and, solely for purposes of (i) Sections 5.01(a), (b) and (l), 5.12(c), 5.13 and 5.15, the Ultimate Parent and (ii) Section 5.12(c), the Parent covenants and agrees with the Lenders that:

Section 5.01 <u>Financial Statements and Other Information</u>. The Borrower will furnish to the Administrative Agent and each Lender:

(a) no later than the earlier of (i) 10 days after the date that the Borrower is required to file a report on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission in compliance with the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (whether or not the Borrower is so subject to such reporting requirements), and (ii) 90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Borrower, commencing with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013, (A) (x) the Ultimate Parent's audited consolidated balance sheet and related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such year and (y) the Ultimate Parent's audited consolidating balance sheet and related consolidating statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such year (with each such consolidating financial statement showing the standalone financial information for each of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries, Dex West and its consolidated Subsidiaries, RHDI and its consolidated Subsidiaries and SuperMedia and its consolidated Subsidiaries and otherwise

-Active.13504878.21

³³ Potential for breakage or other costs to be discussed.

being in form substantially similar in all material respects to the consolidating financial statements of the Ultimate Parent most recently delivered to the Administrative Agent prior to the Closing Date or such other form as may be reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent), setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all reported on by KPMG LLP or other independent public accountants of recognized national standing (without a "going concern" or like qualification, exception or explanatory paragraph and without any qualification or exception as to the scope of such audit or other material qualification or exception; provided, that if the Ultimate Parent switches from one independent public accounting firm to another, the audit report of any such new accounting firm may contain a qualification or exception as to the scope of such consolidated or consolidating financial statements that relates to any fiscal year prior to its retention which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall have been the subject of an audit report of the previous accounting firm meeting the criteria set forth above) to the effect that such consolidated and consolidating financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Ultimate Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated or consolidating basis, as the case may be, in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except for the income tax provision which reflects an allocation to each Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent's income tax provision prepared on a consolidated basis and (B) the Borrower's unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all certified by a Financial Officer of the Borrower as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except for the income tax provision which reflects an allocation to the Borrower, and its Subsidiaries of the Ultimate Parent's income tax provision prepared on a consolidated basis[; provided, that detailed income statement and balance sheet information reflecting the elimination of the Borrower's adoption of fresh-start accounting in accordance with GAAP upon effectiveness of the Reorganization Plan shall be included in (x) Management's Discussion and Analysis or Liquidity and Capital Resources, in the case of the financial statements delivered pursuant to clause (A). and (y) Borrower's Management's Narrative Analysis and Results of Operations, in the case of the financial statements delivered pursuant to clause (B)]³⁴;

(b) no later than the earlier of (i) 10 days after the date that the Borrower is required to file a report on Form 10-O with the Securities and Exchange Commission in compliance with the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (whether or not the Borrower is so subject to such reporting requirements), and (ii) 45 days after the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year of the Borrower, commencing with the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2013, (A) (x) the Ultimate Parent's unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year and (y) the Ultimate Parent's unaudited consolidating balance sheet and related consolidating statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year (with each such consolidating financial statement showing the standalone financial information for each of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries, Dex West and its consolidated Subsidiaries, RHDI and its consolidated Subsidiaries and SuperMedia and its consolidated Subsidiaries and otherwise being in form substantially similar in all material respects to the consolidating financial statements of the Ultimate Parent most recently delivered to the Administrative Agent prior to the Closing Date or such other form as may be reasonably

³⁴ To be included if applicable

acceptable to the Administrative Agent), setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding period or periods of (or, in the case of the balance sheet, as of the end of) the previous fiscal year, all certified by a Financial Officer of the Ultimate Parent as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Ultimate Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except for the income tax provision which reflects an allocation to each Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent's income tax provision prepared on a consolidated basis, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes and (B) the Borrower's unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding period or periods of (or, in the case of the balance sheet, as of the end of) the previous fiscal year, all certified by a Financial Officer of the Borrower as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except for the income tax provision which reflects an allocation to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries of the Ultimate Parent's income tax provision prepared on a consolidated basis, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes[;provided, that detailed income statement and balance sheet information reflecting the elimination of the Borrower's adoption of fresh-start accounting in accordance with GAAP upon effectiveness of the Reorganization Plan shall be included in (x) Management's Discussion and Analysis or Liquidity and Capital Resources, in the case of the financial statements delivered pursuant to clause (A), and (y) Borrower's Management's Narrative Analysis and Results of Operations, in the case of the financial statements delivered pursuant to clause (B)|³⁵;

- (c) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a)(B) or (b)(B) above, the corresponding financial statements with respect to Dex West, RHDI and SuperMedia that are required to be delivered by Dex West, RHDI and SuperMedia under the Dex West Credit Agreement, the RHDI Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Credit Agreement, respectively;
- (d) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a) or (b) above, a certificate of a Financial Officer of the Borrower (i) certifying as to whether a Default has occurred and, if a Default has occurred, specifying the details thereof and any action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto, (ii) setting forth reasonably detailed calculations demonstrating compliance with Section 6.14 (commencing with the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2013), (iii) stating whether any change in GAAP or in the application thereof has occurred since the Closing Date that has had an effect on the financial statements accompanying such certificate and specifying any such change and the related effect, (iv) identifying any Subsidiary of the Dex East Loan Parties formed or acquired since the end of the previous fiscal quarter, (v) identifying any parcels of real property or improvements thereto with a value exceeding \$10,000,000 that have been acquired by the Dex East Loan Parties since the end of the previous fiscal quarter, (vi) identifying any changes of the type described in Section 5.03(a) that have not been previously reported by the Borrower, (vii) identifying any Permitted Acquisition or other acquisitions of going concerns that have been consummated since the end of the previous fiscal quarter, including the date on which each such acquisition or Investment was consummated and the consideration therefor, (viii) identifying any material Intellectual Property (as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement) with respect to which a notice is required to be delivered

³⁵ To be included if applicable

under the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and has not been previously delivered, (ix) identifying any Prepayment Events or Ultimate Parent Asset Dispositions that have occurred since the end of the previous fiscal quarter and setting forth a reasonably detailed calculation of the Net Proceeds received from any such Prepayment Events or Ultimate Parent Asset Dispositions, (x) identifying any change in the locations at which equipment and inventory, in each case with a value in excess of \$10,000,000, are located, if not owned by the Dex East Loan Parties, (xi) identifying any Services Assets (as defined in the Shared Services Agreement) (but with respect to Services Assets that constitute Intellectual Property, solely Intellectual Property that has been registered or patented or the registration of which has been applied for) contributed by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries to the Service Company during the immediately preceding fiscal quarter, and a reasonably detailed description of such Services Assets and the value thereof, (xii) attaching a schedule setting forth a computation (and any utilization by the Borrower) of Excess Cash Flow, Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow and Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow as of the end of the period covered by such financial statements and (xiii) setting forth (A) a reporting sales metric (which will serve as leading indicator of reported print and digital revenues), for such fiscal quarter or fiscal year, as applicable, (B) print and digital revenue and a gross margin amount for each of such reported revenue amounts for such fiscal quarter or fiscal year, as applicable, and (C) statements of cash flow from operations (with a reconciliation of net income to operating cash flow from operations and financing activities (including capital expenditures)) for such fiscal quarter or fiscal year, as applicable;

- (e) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a) above, a certificate of the accounting firm that reported on such financial statements stating whether they obtained knowledge during the course of their examination of such financial statements of any Default or Event of Default in respect of Section 6.14 (which certificate may be limited to the extent required by accounting rules, guidelines or practice);
- (f) within 30 days after the commencement of each fiscal year of the Borrower, a detailed consolidated budget for such fiscal year (including a projected consolidated balance sheet and related statements of projected operations and cash flow as of the end of and for such fiscal year and setting forth the assumptions used for purposes of preparing such budget, in form reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent), promptly when available, any material significant revisions of such budget;
- (g) promptly after the same become publicly available, and no later than five Business Days after the same are sent, copies of all periodic and other reports, proxy statements and other materials filed by the Dex East Loan Parties with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any Governmental Authority succeeding to any or all of the functions of said Commission, or with any national securities exchange, or distributed by the Ultimate Parent or the Parent to its shareholders generally;
- (h) promptly following any request therefor, such other information regarding the operations, business affairs and financial condition of the Dex East Loan Parties, or compliance with the terms of any Loan Document, as the Administrative Agent (including on behalf of any Lender) may reasonably request;
- (i) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements and related information by any Loan Party to any debtholder of Dex Digital, RHDC or of any Newco not otherwise required to be delivered hereunder, copies of such financial statements and related information;

- (j) promptly following receipt thereof, copies of any documents described in Sections 101(k) or 101(l) of ERISA that any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate may request with respect to any Multiemployer Plan; provided, that if the Loan Parties or any of their ERISA Affiliates have not requested such documents or notices from the administrator or sponsor of the applicable Multiemployer Plan, then, upon reasonable request of the Administrative Agent, the Loan Parties and/or their ERISA Affiliates shall promptly make a request for such documents or notices from such administrator or sponsor and the Borrower shall provide copies of such documents and notices to the Administrative Agent (on behalf of each requesting Lender) promptly after receipt thereof; provided, further, that the rights granted to the Administrative Agent in this section shall be exercised not more than once during a 12-month period;
- (k) if the Borrower is not then a reporting company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, within 45 days after the end of each fiscal quarter of the Borrower or 90 days in the case of the last fiscal quarter of each fiscal year, a narrative discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such fiscal quarter and for the period from the beginning of the then current fiscal year to the end of such fiscal quarter, as compared to the comparable periods of the previous year, in substantially the form delivered to the Administrative Agent prior to the Closing Date;
- (1) no later than five Business Days prior to the effectiveness thereof, copies of substantially final drafts of any proposed material amendment, supplement, waiver or other modification with respect to the Dex West Credit Agreement, the RHDI Credit Agreement, the SuperMedia Credit Agreement, the Shared Services Agreement, the Tax Sharing Agreements, the Subordinated Guarantee, any Master IP License Agreement, any License Agreement, any escrow arrangement with respect to the Escrow Materials entered into pursuant to this Agreement, the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes; and
- (m) (i) promptly following receipt thereof, any notice of changes of allocation percentages that any Dex East Loan Party shall receive pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement and (ii) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a) or (b) above, a statement of changes in the intercompany balances of the Loan Parties with the Service Company in substantially the form delivered to the Administrative Agent prior to the Closing Date.

Section 5.02 <u>Notices of Material Events</u>. The Borrower will furnish to the Administrative Agent and each Lender written notice of the following promptly after any Financial Officer or executive officer of the Borrower or any Subsidiary obtains knowledge thereof:

- (a) the occurrence of any Default;
- (b) the filing or commencement of any action, suit or proceeding by or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority against or affecting the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower or any Affiliate thereof that involves (i) a reasonable possibility of an adverse determination and which, if adversely determined, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) which relates to the Loan Documents;
- (c) the occurrence of any ERISA Event that, alone or together with any other ERISA Events that have occurred, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and

(d) any other development that results in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, a Material Adverse Effect.

Each notice delivered under this Section shall be accompanied by a statement of a Financial Officer or other executive officer of the Borrower setting forth the details of the event or development requiring such notice and any action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto.

Section 5.03 <u>Information Regarding Collateral.</u> (a) The Borrower will furnish to the Administrative Agent prompt written notice of any change (i) in the legal name of any of the Dex East Loan Parties, as reflected in its organization documents, (ii) in jurisdiction of organization or corporate structure of any of the Dex East Loan Parties and (iii) in the identity, Federal Taxpayer Identification Number or organization number of any of the Dex East Loan Parties, if any, assigned by the jurisdiction of its organization. The Borrower agrees not to effect or permit any change referred to in clauses (i) through (iii) of the preceding sentence unless all filings have been made under the Uniform Commercial Code or otherwise that are required in order for the Agent to continue at all times following such change to have a valid, legal and perfected security interest in all the Collateral of the Dex East Loan Parties for the benefit of the Secured Parties. The Borrower also agrees promptly to notify the Administrative Agent if any damage to or destruction of Collateral of the Dex East Loan Parties that is uninsured and has a fair market value exceeding \$10,000,000 occurs.

(b) Each year, at the time of delivery of annual financial statements with respect to the preceding fiscal year pursuant to clause (a) of Section 5.01, the Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent a certificate of a Financial Officer and the chief legal officer of the Borrower certifying that all Uniform Commercial Code financing statements (including fixture filings, as applicable) or other appropriate filings, recordings or registrations, including all refilings, rerecordings and reregistrations, containing a description of the Collateral and required pursuant to the Loan Documents to be filed, have been filed of record in each governmental, municipal or other appropriate office in each jurisdiction necessary to protect and perfect the security interests under the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement for a period of not less than 18 months after the date of such certificate (except as noted therein with respect to any continuation statements to be filed within such period).

Section 5.04 <u>Existence; Conduct of Business</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect its legal existence and the rights, contracts, licenses, permits, privileges and franchises material to the conduct of its business; <u>provided</u>, that the foregoing shall not prohibit any merger, consolidation, liquidation or dissolution permitted under Section 6.03 or any sale of assets permitted under Section 6.05.

Section 5.05 <u>Payment of Obligations</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, pay its material Indebtedness and other material obligations, including Tax liabilities, before the same shall become delinquent or in default, except where (a) the validity or amount thereof is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and (b) the Borrower or such Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate reserves with respect thereto in accordance with GAAP.

Section 5.06 <u>Maintenance of Properties</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, keep and maintain all property (other than Intellectual Property) material to the conduct of its business in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, subject to its and their reasonable business judgment, take all actions to maintain all registrations and applications with respect to material Intellectual Property owned by any of them.

Section 5.07 <u>Insurance</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, maintain, with financially sound and reputable insurance companies (a) insurance in such amounts (with no greater risk retention) and against such risks as are customarily maintained by companies of established repute engaged in the same or similar businesses operating in the same or similar locations and (b) all insurance required to be maintained pursuant to the Security Documents. The Borrower will furnish to the Lenders, upon request of the Administrative Agent, information in reasonable detail as to the insurance so maintained.

Section 5.08 <u>Casualty and Condemnation</u>. The Borrower (a) will furnish to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders prompt written notice of any casualty or other insured damage to any Collateral of the Dex East Loan Parties fairly valued at more than \$10,000,000 or the commencement of any action or proceeding for the taking of any Collateral of the Dex East Loan Parties or any material part thereof or material interest therein under power of eminent domain or by condemnation or similar proceeding and (b) will ensure that the Net Proceeds of any such event (whether in the form of insurance proceeds, condemnation awards or otherwise) are collected and applied in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Security Documents and this Agreement.

Section 5.09 <u>Books and Records; Inspection and Audit Rights.</u> The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, keep proper books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries are made of all dealings and transactions in relation to its business and activities. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, permit any representatives designated by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, upon reasonable prior notice, to visit and inspect its properties, to examine and make extracts from its books and records, and to discuss its affairs, finances and condition with its officers, employees and independent accountants, all at such reasonable times and as often as reasonably requested.

Section 5.10 <u>Compliance with Laws</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, comply with all laws, rules, regulations, including Environmental Laws, and orders of any Governmental Authority applicable to it, its operations or its property, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.11 <u>Additional Subsidiaries</u>. If any additional Subsidiary of the Dex East Loan Parties is formed or acquired after the Closing Date, the Borrower will, within three Business Days after such Subsidiary is formed or acquired, notify the Administrative Agent and the Lenders thereof and, within 15 Business Days (or such longer period as the Administrative Agent shall agree) after such Subsidiary is formed or acquired, cause any applicable provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement to be satisfied with respect to such Subsidiary and with respect to any Equity Interest in or Indebtedness of such Subsidiary owned by or on behalf of the Dex East Loan Parties.

Section 5.12 Further Assurances. (a) The Borrower will, and will cause each Subsidiary Loan Party to, execute any and all further documents, financing statements, agreements and instruments, and take all such further actions (including the filing and recording of financing statements, fixture filings, Mortgages and other documents), that may be required under any applicable law, or that the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders may reasonably request, to cause all provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement applicable to the Dex East Loan Parties to be and remain satisfied, all at the expense of the Dex East Loan Parties; provided, that such provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement need not be satisfied with respect to (i) real properties owned by the Dex East Loan Parties with an individual fair market value (including fixtures and improvements) that is less than \$10,000,000 and (ii) any real property held by the Dex East Loan Parties as a lessee under a lease. The Borrower also agrees to provide to the Administrative Agent, from time to time upon request, evidence

reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent as to the perfection and priority of the Liens created or intended to be created by the Security Documents.

- (b) If any material asset (including any real property or improvements thereto or any interest therein) that has an individual fair market value of more than \$10,000,000 is acquired by the Dex East Loan Parties after the Closing Date or owned by an entity at the time it becomes a Subsidiary Loan Party (in each case other than assets constituting Collateral under the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement that become subject to the Lien of the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement upon acquisition thereof), the Borrower will notify the Administrative Agent and the Lenders thereof, and, if requested by the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders, the Borrower will cause such asset to be subjected to a Lien securing the Obligations and will take, and cause the Dex East Loan Parties to take, such actions as shall be necessary or reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent to grant and perfect such Liens, including actions described in paragraph (a) of this Section, all at the expense of the Dex East Loan Parties; provided, that the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement need not be satisfied with respect to (i) real properties owned by the Dex East Loan Parties with an individual fair market value (including fixtures and improvements) that is less than \$10,000,000, (ii) any real property held by any of the Dex East Loan Parties as a lessee under a lease and (iii) other assets with respect to which the Agent determines that the cost or impracticability of including such assets as Collateral would be excessive in relation to the benefits to the Secured Parties.
- (c) Subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, each of the Ultimate Parent and the Parent shall cause all provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement applicable to the Shared Collateral Loan Parties to be satisfied, including by causing, as applicable, (i) each Newco Subordinated Guarantor to execute a Newco Subordinated Guarantee as described in clause (e) of the definition of "Collateral and Guarantee Requirement" and (ii) each Newco Senior Guarantor to execute a supplement to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement as required thereunder; <u>provided</u>, that such provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement need not be satisfied with respect to (i) real properties owned by the Shared Collateral Loan Parties with an individual fair market value (including fixtures and improvements) that is less than \$10,000,000 and (ii) any real property held by the Shared Collateral Loan Parties as a lessee under a lease.
 - Section 5.13 <u>Credit Ratings</u>. Each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower will use its commercially reasonable efforts to maintain at all times monitored public ratings of the Loans by Moody's and S&P and a corporate family rating for each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower from Moody's and a corporate issuer rating for each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower from S&P.
 - Section 5.14 Intellectual Property. Each of the Borrower, Dex West, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company and each other Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Ultimate Parent) shall deliver to each other, following the Closing Date, current or contingent (e.g., through an escrow arrangement reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) possession of, or access to, all future Escrow Materials that were not Escrow Materials as of the Closing Date and material updates on an ongoing basis to Escrow Materials in existence as of the Closing Date, in each case within a reasonable period of time following such Escrow Materials becoming owned, licensed or updated, as applicable, by Borrower, Dex West, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company or another Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Ultimate Parent), as applicable. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 5.14, neither Borrower, Dex West, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company nor any other Shared Collateral Loan Party shall be deemed to have failed to satisfy this Section 5.14 for any inadvertent failure to deliver or place into escrow any Escrow Materials because such party was unaware of the existence of any such item, provided that (x) delivery or escrow of any such item is made within a reasonable period of time after identification or discovery of such item (and that such item has not been

delivered or escrowed) by such party and (y) none of such other parties are materially damaged or prejudiced, and do not lose any material rights, due to such failure.

Section 5.15 <u>Independent Director</u>. Each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower shall cause the board of directors, board of managers, or other equivalent governing body of each License Subsidiary to include at least two special, independent directors or members (or equivalent thereof), pursuant to documentation reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, whose consent shall be required for (i) any filing of a petition for bankruptcy by the relevant License Subsidiary, (ii) the transfer of any membership or other equity interests therein (other than the sale or other transfer of such membership or equity interests in a transaction permitted under the Loan Documents) and (iii) encumbering any asset owned by such License Subsidiary with a real property mortgage or deed of trust, as applicable, or a security agreement, pledge agreement or any similar agreement creating a Lien in respect thereof, except as permitted under the Loan Documents (including as a result of any consent, amendment, waiver or other modification obtained in accordance with the terms of the Loan Documents).

ARTICLE VI

NEGATIVE COVENANTS

Until the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees payable hereunder have been paid in full, each of the Borrower, and solely for purposes of (i) Sections 6.13(b) and 6.16, the Parent, and (ii) Sections 6.13(b), 6.17, 6.18, 6.19 and 6.20, the Ultimate Parent, covenants and agrees with the Lenders that:

Section 6.01 <u>Indebtedness; Certain Equity Securities</u>. (a) The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Indebtedness or any Attributable Debt, except:

- (i) Indebtedness created under the Loan Documents and any Permitted Subordinated Indebtedness of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries to the extent the Net Proceeds thereof are used to refinance Indebtedness created under the Loan Documents;
- (ii) Indebtedness existing on the Closing Date and set forth in Schedule 6.01 and Refinancing Indebtedness in respect thereof;
- (iii) Indebtedness of the Borrower to any Subsidiary and of any Subsidiary to the Borrower or any other Subsidiary; <u>provided</u>, that no Subsidiary that is not a Loan Party shall have any Indebtedness to the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party;
- (iv) Guarantees by the Borrower of Indebtedness of any Subsidiary Loan Party and by any Subsidiary of Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party;
- (v) Indebtedness and Attributable Debt of the Borrower or any Subsidiary incurred to finance the acquisition, construction or improvement of any fixed or capital assets, including Capital Lease Obligations and any Indebtedness assumed in connection with the acquisition of any such assets or secured by a Lien on any such assets prior to the acquisition thereof, and extensions, renewals, refinancings and replacements of any such Indebtedness that do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof (other than by an amount not greater than fees and expenses, including premium and defeasance costs, associated therewith) or result in a decreased average weighted life thereof; provided that (1) such Indebtedness or Attributable Debt is incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction

or improvement and (2) the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness and Attributable Debt permitted by this clause (v), together with the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness and Attributable Debt of the Service Company described in Section 6.18(d)(i) allocated to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement, shall not exceed \$15,000,000 at any time outstanding;

- (vi) Indebtedness of any Person that becomes a Subsidiary after the Closing Date and Refinancing Indebtedness in respect thereof; <u>provided</u> that (A) such Indebtedness (other than Refinancing Indebtedness) exists at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary and is not created in contemplation of or in connection with such Person becoming a Subsidiary (except to the extent such Indebtedness refinanced other Indebtedness to facilitate such entity becoming a Subsidiary) and (B) the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness permitted by this clause (vi) shall not exceed \$10,000,000 at any time outstanding;
- (vii) Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary in respect of letters of credit in an aggregate face amount not exceeding \$5,000,000 at any time outstanding;
- (viii) unsecured Indebtedness and Attributable Debt owing to the Service Company incurred pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions; and
- (ix) other unsecured Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness of the Borrower to any Affiliate of the Borrower) in an aggregate principal amount not exceeding \$20,000,000 at any time outstanding.
- (b) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, issue any preferred stock or other preferred Equity Interests.

Section 6.02 <u>Liens.</u> (a) The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Lien on any property or asset now owned or hereafter acquired by it, or assign or sell any income or revenues (including accounts receivable) or rights in respect of any thereof, except:

- (i) Liens created under the Loan Documents;
- (ii) Permitted Encumbrances;
- (iii) any Lien existing on the Closing Date and set forth in Schedule 6.02 on any property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that (A) such Lien shall not apply to any other property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than proceeds) and (B) such Lien shall secure only those obligations which it secures on the date hereof and extensions, renewals, refinancings and replacements thereof that do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof or result in an earlier maturity date or decreased weighted average life thereof;
- (iv) any Lien existing on any property or asset prior to the acquisition thereof by the Borrower or any Subsidiary or existing on any property or asset of any Person that becomes a Subsidiary after the Closing Date prior to the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary; provided that (A) such Lien is not created in contemplation of or in connection with such acquisition or such Person becoming a Subsidiary, as the case may be, (B) such Lien shall not apply to any other property or assets of the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than proceeds) and (C) such Lien shall secure only those obligations which it secures on the date of such acquisition or the date such Person becomes a Subsidiary, as the case may be and extensions, renewals,

refinancings and replacements thereof that do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof (other than by an amount not in excess of fees and expenses, including premium and defeasance costs, associated therewith) or result in a decreased average weighted life thereof;

- (v) Liens on fixed or capital assets acquired, constructed or improved by the Borrower or any Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that (A) such Liens secure Indebtedness permitted by clause (v) of Section 6.01(a), (B) such Liens and the Indebtedness secured thereby are incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction or improvement, (C) the Indebtedness secured thereby does not exceed the cost of acquiring, constructing or improving such fixed or capital assets and (D) such Liens shall not apply to any other property or assets of the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than proceeds);
- (vi) Liens on cash collateral securing letters of credit permitted by Section 6.01(a)(vii) in an aggregate amount not to exceed the lesser of (x) \$5,250,000 and (y) 105% of the face amount thereof:
- (vii) Liens in the nature of non-exclusive licenses of Intellectual Property granted to or in favor of another Company pursuant to the Directory Consolidation Project; and
- (viii) Liens not otherwise permitted by this Section 6.02 securing obligations other than Indebtedness and involuntary Liens not otherwise permitted by this Section 6.02 securing Indebtedness, which obligations and Indebtedness are in an aggregate amount not in excess of \$5,000,000 at any time outstanding.

Section 6.03 Fundamental Changes. (a) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, merge into or consolidate with any other Person, or permit any other Person to merge into or consolidate with it, or liquidate, wind up or dissolve, except that, if at the time thereof and immediately after giving effect thereto no Default shall have occurred and be continuing, (i) any Subsidiary may merge into the Borrower in a transaction in which the Borrower is the surviving entity, (ii) subject to Section 6.20, any Subsidiary may merge into any Subsidiary in a transaction in which the surviving entity is a wholly-owned Subsidiary and, if any party to such merger is a Subsidiary Loan Party, a Subsidiary Loan Party, (iii) any Subsidiary may merge or consolidate with any other Person in order to effect a Permitted Acquisition and (iv) any Subsidiary (other than the Borrower) may liquidate or dissolve if the Borrower determines in good faith that such liquidation or dissolution is in the best interests of the Borrower and is not materially disadvantageous to the Lenders; provided that (x) any such merger involving a Person that is not a wholly owned Subsidiary immediately prior to such merger shall not be permitted unless also permitted by Section 6.04 and (y) any such liquidation or dissolution involving a License Subsidiary of the Borrower shall not be permitted unless such License Subsidiary conveys, leases, sells, transfers or otherwise disposes of, in one transaction or series of transactions, all or substantially all of its business or property, whether now or hereafter acquired, to a License Subsidiary.

- (b) The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, engage to any material extent in any business other than a Permitted Business.
- (c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, this Section 6.03 shall not prohibit the [Mergers]["Restructuring Transactions" under (and as defined in) the Reorganization Plan.]³⁶

Section 6.04 <u>Investments, Loans, Advances, Guarantees and Acquisitions</u>. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, make, purchase, hold or acquire

-

³⁶ To be included if applicable

(including pursuant to any merger with any Person that was not a wholly owned Subsidiary prior to such merger) any Investment, except:

- (a) Permitted Investments;
- (b) Investments existing on the date hereof and set forth on Schedule 6.04;
- (c) Investments by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in Equity Interests in Subsidiaries that are Subsidiary Loan Parties immediately prior to the time of such Investments;
- (d) loans or advances made by the Borrower to any Subsidiary Loan Party and made by any Subsidiary to the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party;
 - (e) Guarantees constituting Indebtedness permitted by Section 6.01;
- (f) investments (including debt obligations and equity securities) received in connection with the bankruptcy or reorganization of, or settlement of delinquent accounts and disputes with, customers and suppliers, in each case in the ordinary course of business;
 - (g) extensions of trade credit in the ordinary course of business;
- (h) Investments consisting of non-cash consideration received in respect of sales, transfers or other dispositions of assets to the extent permitted by Section 6.05;
 - (i) Swap Agreements entered into in compliance with Section 6.07;
- (j) loans and advances by the Borrower and any of its Subsidiaries to their employees in the ordinary course of business and for bona fide business purposes in an aggregate amount at any time outstanding not in excess of \$2,500,000;
 - (k) Investments in connection with the Shared Services Transactions;
- (1) Permitted Acquisitions (other than Permitted Acquisitions involving the purchase of assets from Affiliates that are not Subsidiaries of the Borrower) in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$5,000,000 during the term of this Agreement;
- (m) provided that (i) no Event of Default is continuing or would result therefrom, (ii) no portion of the proceeds of any such Investment is used, directly or indirectly, to purchase or repurchase, or finance the purchase or repurchase, of any Restructuring Notes, Additional Notes or any other Indebtedness of any Affiliate (and the terms of any Investment shall not permit any such purchase or repurchase by the Person in which such Investment is made while such Investment is outstanding) and (iii) no such Investment is made in any Person that is an Affiliate of the Borrower (other than the Borrower and its Subsidiaries) other than Investments that result in a purchase of assets (x) by a Newco Senior Guarantor or the Service Company in connection with equivalent Investments by each of Dex West, RHDI and SuperMedia or (y) by the Borrower or a Subsidiary in Dex Digital in connection with equivalent Investments by each of Dex West and RHDI, Investments in any other Person in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$5,000,000 during the term of this Agreement; and
- (n) advances or payments made by the Borrower or any Subsidiary to (x) the License Subsidiaries of the Borrower or (y) any other Person for the purpose of (i) filing, prosecuting,

registering, renewing, enforcing or maintaining any Intellectual Property applications or registrations owned by such License Subsidiaries and (ii) satisfying all other liabilities related to, in connection with or incidental to (x) the maintenance of the existence of such License Subsidiaries and (y) activities of such License Subsidiaries permitted under this Agreement (including, without limitation, reimbursement for directors and officers fees and compensation) and under the organizational documents of such License Subsidiaries.

Section 6.05 <u>Asset Sales</u>. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, sell, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of any asset, including any Equity Interest owned by it and any sale of assets in connection with a securitization, nor will the Borrower permit any of its Subsidiaries to issue any additional Equity Interest in such Subsidiary, except:

- (a) sales of (x) inventory, (y) used, surplus, obsolete or worn-out equipment and (z) Permitted Investments in the ordinary course of business;
- (b) sales, transfers and dispositions to the Borrower or a Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that any such sales, transfers or dispositions involving a Subsidiary that is not a Loan Party shall be made in compliance with Section 6.09;
- (c) sales of receivables on substantially the same terms that the receivables are purchased by Qwest Corp. pursuant to the Billing and Collection Agreement as in effect on November 1, 2004, including sales of receivables pursuant to and in accordance with the Billing and Collection Agreement;
 - (d) sale and leaseback transactions permitted by Section 6.06;
- (e) sales, transfers and other dispositions of assets (other than Equity Interests in a Subsidiary) to bona fide third parties that are not Affiliates of the Borrower and that are not permitted by any other clause of this Section; <u>provided</u>, that the aggregate cumulative fair market value of all assets sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of after the Closing Date in reliance upon this clause (e) shall not exceed \$20,000,000;
 - (f) sales, transfers and other dispositions pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions;
- (g) the licensing or sublicensing (other than exclusive licenses or sublicenses) of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business in a manner that does not, and could not reasonably be expected to, materially interfere with the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries; and
- (h) the sales, transfers or other dispositions in connection with the Directory Consolidation Project³⁷;

<u>provided</u>, that (x) all sales, transfers, leases and other dispositions permitted hereby (other than pursuant to clauses (a)(y), (b), (f) and (f) above) shall be made for at least 80% cash consideration or, in the case of Permitted Investments, sales of receivables or sale and leaseback transactions, 100% cash consideration,

³⁷ Schedule 1.01A to provide that the profits of the consolidated directories will be shared among the contributing companies in a manner reasonably acceptable to the admin agent taking into account the respective revenues of the directories that are combined, the costs of achieving the combination and the ongoing operating costs of the combination

and (y) all sales, transfers, leases and other dispositions permitted by clauses (a)(x), (e) and (g) above shall be made for fair value.

Section 6.06 Sale and Leaseback Transactions. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into any arrangement, directly or indirectly, whereby it shall sell or transfer any property, real or personal, used or useful in its business, whether now owned or hereinafter acquired, and thereafter rent or lease such property or other property that it intends to use for substantially the same purpose or purposes as the property sold or transferred, except (a) pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions or (b) any such sale of any fixed or capital assets that is made for cash consideration in an amount not less than the cost of such fixed or capital asset and is consummated within 90 days after the Borrower or such Subsidiary acquires or completes the construction of such fixed or capital asset, to the extent all Capital Lease Obligations, Attributable Debt and Liens associated with such sale and leaseback transaction are permitted by Sections 6.01(a)(v) and 6.02(a)(v) (treating the property subject thereto as being subject to a Lien securing the related Attributable Debt, in the case of a sale and leaseback not accounted for as a Capital Lease Obligation).

Section 6.07 Swap Agreements. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into any Swap Agreement, except (a) Swap Agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business to hedge or mitigate risks to which the Borrower or any Subsidiary has actual exposure (other than those in respect of Equity Interests of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries) in the conduct of its business or the management of its liabilities and (b) Swap Agreements entered into in order to effectively cap, collar or exchange interest rates (from floating to fixed rates, from one floating rate to another floating rate or otherwise) with respect to any interest-bearing liability or investment of the Borrower or any Subsidiary.

Section 6.08 Restricted Payments; Certain Payments of Indebtedness. (a) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, declare or make, or agree to pay or make, directly or indirectly, any Restricted Payment, or incur any obligation (contingent or otherwise) to do so, except (i) Subsidiaries of the Borrower may declare and pay dividends or distributions ratably with respect to their Equity Interests, (ii) provided no Default or Event of Default is continuing or would result therefrom, the Borrower may make Restricted Payments to the Parent, provided that (A) the proceeds of such Restricted Payments are used to repurchase, redeem, or otherwise acquire or retire for value Equity Interests in the Ultimate Parent held by any future, present or former directors, officers, members of management, employees or consultants of the Ultimate Parent or the Service Company or their respective estates, heirs, family members, spouses or former spouses pursuant to the terms of any employee equity subscription agreement, stock option agreement or similar agreement, (B) (x) any Restricted Payments used to effect such repurchases, redemptions, acquisitions or retirements are made not earlier than ten Business Days prior to the date when such Equity Interests are repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired, if such repurchase, redemption, acquisition or retirement is made and (v) if such Restricted Payments are not used for such repurchase, redemption, acquisition or retirement, the proceeds therefrom shall be returned to the Borrower as a capital contribution within ten Business Days from the date such Restricted Payment was made, (C) the aggregate price paid for all such repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired Equity Interests in any fiscal year pursuant to this clause (ii) (other than (1) any such Equity Interests repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired in compensation for any taxes due or payable by the holder thereof, and (2) any such Equity Interests that are deemed repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired by the Ultimate Parent in connection with the exercise of stock options or warrants by the holder thereof in connection with the payment of all or a portion of the exercise price of such options or warrant) will not exceed \$1,000,000 per year and (D) such Equity Interests shall only be repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired in connection with the death, resignation or retirement of, or settlement of a dispute with, any such Person, (iii) Restricted Payments in amounts as shall be necessary to make Tax Payments; provided that all Restricted Payments made pursuant to this clause (iii) are used by the recipient for the

purpose specified in this clause (iii) within 30 days of receipt thereof, (iv) provided no Default or Event of Default is continuing or would result therefrom, the Borrower may from time to time pay cash dividends or distributions to the Parent in an amount not in excess of the lesser of (x) the Ultimate Parent Annual Cash Interest Amount and (y) the regularly scheduled cash interest payable (taking into account the Ultimate Parent PIK Election made pursuant to Section 6.17(j)) on the Restructuring Notes (or any Additional Notes incurred to refinance such Restructuring Notes) during the next period of ten Business Days, provided, however, that (A) any such dividends or distributions relating to any such cash interest payment must be paid not earlier than ten Business Days prior to the date when such cash interest is required to be paid by the Ultimate Parent and the proceeds must (except to the extent prohibited by applicable subordination provisions) be applied by the Ultimate Parent, to the payment of such interest when due, (B) the Borrower and its Subsidiaries shall be in Pro Forma Compliance after giving effect to the payment of any such dividends or distributions pursuant to this clause (iv) and (C) in no event may the amount of any such dividend or distribution made pursuant to this clause (iv) relating to any such cash interest payment exceed 27% of the amount of such cash interest paid by the Ultimate Parent when due, (v) the Borrower may make Restricted Payments as part of the Shared Services Transactions and (vi) the Borrower may make Restricted Payments to the Parent in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$2,000,000 during any fiscal year of the Borrower, provided that (A) no Default or Event of Default is continuing or would result therefrom, (B) the aggregate amount of Restricted Payments made pursuant to this clause (vi) shall not exceed \$5,000,000 over the term of this Agreement, (C) the Ultimate Parent shall apply such Restricted Payments within 30 days of receipt thereof and only to fund general corporate expenses permitted hereunder and (D) no Restricted Payments made pursuant to this clause (vi) shall be used to (x) effect the repurchase, or the making of any payments in respect, of Restructuring Notes or Additional Notes or (y) make any payment to or Investment in any Affiliate other than the Borrower or a Subsidiary of the Borrower (or any director, officer or employee of any such Affiliate).

- (b) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, make or agree to pay or make, directly or indirectly, any payment or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property) of or in respect of principal of or interest on any Indebtedness, or any payment or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, cancellation or termination of any Indebtedness, except:
 - (i) payment of Indebtedness created under the Loan Documents;
 - (ii) payment of regularly scheduled interest and principal payments as and when due in respect of any Indebtedness, other than payments in respect of subordinated Indebtedness to the extent prohibited by the subordination provisions thereof;
 - (iii) refinancings of Indebtedness to the extent permitted by Section 6.01;
 - (iv) payment of secured Indebtedness that becomes due as a result of the voluntary sale or transfer of the property or assets securing such Indebtedness;
 - (v) prepayment of Capital Lease Obligations in an aggregate cumulative amount from and after the Closing Date not exceeding \$5,000,000;
 - (vi) payment of any Indebtedness owing to the Service Company arising pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions; and
 - (vii) payment of any Indebtedness owing to the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party.

- (c) The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, furnish any funds to, make any Investment in, or provide other consideration to any other Person for purposes of enabling such Person to, or otherwise permit any such Person to, make any Restricted Payment or other payment or distribution restricted by this Section that could not be made directly by the Borrower in accordance with the provisions of this Section.
- (d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or the other Loan Documents, the Loan Parties shall be permitted to make all distributions required to be made by the Loan Parties on or after the Closing Date [(pursuant to the Reorganization Plan and the Confirmation Order]³⁸.

Transactions with Affiliates. The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, sell, lease or otherwise transfer any property or assets to, or purchase, lease or otherwise acquire any property or assets from, or otherwise engage in any other transactions with, any of its Affiliates, except (a) transactions on terms and conditions not less favorable, considered as a whole, to the Borrower or such Subsidiary than could be obtained on an arm's-length basis from unrelated third parties, (b) transactions between or among the Borrower and the Subsidiary Loan Parties not involving any other Affiliate, (c) any payment permitted by Section 6.08 or any Investment permitted by Section 6.04 specifically contemplated by Section 6.04 to be made among Affiliates, (d) the sale of receivables on substantially the same terms that the Borrower Receivables are purchased by Owest Corp. pursuant to the Billing and Collection Agreement as in effect on November 1, 2004, (e) any Restricted Payment permitted by Section 6.08(a)(ii), (f) subject to Section 6.13(b), the existence of, or performance by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of its obligations under the terms of, the Tax Sharing Agreements, (g) Shared Services Transactions, (h) arrangements pursuant to which payments by Owest for advertising in directories that were committed to be made in connection with the East Acquisition and the acquisition by Dex West of Qwest's directories services business in the West Territories are allocated approximately 42% to the Borrower and approximately 58% to Dex West (without regard to the directories in which such advertising is actually placed), (i) the issuance by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of Equity Interests to, or the receipt of any capital contribution from, the Parent, the Borrower or a Subsidiary, (i) the transactions in connection with the Directory Consolidation Project, (k) the License Agreements, the Master IP License Agreements and the provision of the Escrow Materials and [(1) the "Restructuring Transactions" under (and as defined in) the Reorganization Plan³⁹. Additionally, without limiting the foregoing, transactions between the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and Dex Digital, RHDC and/or any Newcos or any of their respective Subsidiaries, on the other hand, that are not part of Shared Services or other similar ordinary course transactions, must satisfy the following requirements: (i) the terms of any such transaction must not be less favorable in any material respect than the terms the Borrower or such Subsidiary of the Borrower would receive in an arms-length transaction with a third party (and, in the case of any such transaction involving consideration in excess of \$50,000,000, the terms of such transaction must be confirmed as arms-length by a reputable financial institution or advisor); (ii) no such transaction shall involve the transfer of ownership of any operating assets (including intellectual property rights) or personnel to Dex Digital, RHDC and/or any Newcos or any of their respective Subsidiaries; and (iii) all such transactions shall result in the receipt of reasonably equivalent value by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and no such transaction shall result in the transfer of any revenues that would otherwise be recognized by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to Dex Digital, RHDC and/or any Newcos or any of their respective Subsidiaries.

Section 6.10 <u>Restrictive Agreements</u>. The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, enter into, incur or permit to exist any agreement or other

³⁸ To be included if applicable

³⁹ To be included if applicable

arrangement that prohibits, restricts or imposes any condition upon (a) the ability of the Borrower or any Subsidiary to create, incur or permit to exist any Lien upon any of its property or assets to the Secured Parties securing the Obligations, or (b) the ability of any Subsidiary to pay dividends or other distributions with respect to any of its Equity Interests or to make or repay loans or advances to the Borrower or any other Subsidiary or to Guarantee Indebtedness of the Borrower or any other Subsidiary; provided, that (i) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions and conditions imposed by law or by any Loan Document, (ii) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions and conditions existing on the date hereof identified on Schedule 6.10 (but shall apply to any extension or renewal of, or any amendment or modification expanding the scope of, any such restriction or condition), (iii) the foregoing shall not apply to customary restrictions and conditions contained in agreements relating to the sale of a Subsidiary pending such sale, provided such restrictions and conditions apply only to the Subsidiary that is to be sold and such sale is permitted hereunder, (iv) clause (a) of the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions or conditions imposed by any agreement relating to secured Indebtedness permitted by this Agreement if such restrictions or conditions apply only to the property or assets securing such Indebtedness and the proceeds thereof, (v) clause (a) of the foregoing shall not apply to customary provisions in leases restricting the assignment thereof, (vi) clause (a) of the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions or conditions imposed by any agreement related to any Indebtedness incurred by a Subsidiary prior to the date on which such Subsidiary was acquired by the Borrower (but shall apply to any extension or renewal of, or any amendment or modification expanding the scope of, any such restriction or condition), (vii) clause (a) of the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions or conditions imposed by any agreement related to the refinancing of Indebtedness, provided that the terms of any such restrictions or conditions are not materially less favorable to the Lenders than the restrictions or conditions contained in the predecessor agreements and (viii) the foregoing shall not apply to customary provisions in joint venture agreements.

Section 6.11 <u>Change in Business</u>. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, engage at any time in any business or business activity other than a Permitted Business.

Section 6.12 <u>Fiscal Year</u>. The Borrower shall not change its fiscal year for accounting and financial reporting purposes to end on any date other than December 31.

Section 6.13 <u>Amendment of Material Documents</u>. (a) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, amend, modify or waive any of its rights under its certificate of incorporation, by-laws or other organizational documents if, taken as a whole, such amendment, modification or waiver is adverse in any material respect to the interests of the Lenders.

(b) None of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent or the Borrower will, nor will they permit the Service Company or any Subsidiary to amend, modify, waive or terminate any of its rights under the Shared Services Agreement, the Tax Sharing Agreements, the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, any License Agreement, any Master IP License Agreement, any escrow arrangement with respect to the Escrow Materials entered into pursuant to this Agreement or the organizational documents of any License Subsidiary to the extent that such amendment, modification, waiver or termination is adverse in any material respect to the interests of the Lenders.

Section 6.14 <u>Leverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio</u>. (a) The Borrower will not permit the Leverage Ratio as of the last day of a fiscal quarter set forth below to exceed the ratio set forth opposite such date:

Fiscal Quarter Ended	Ratio
March 31, 2013	5.00 to 1.00
June 30, 2013	5.00 to 1.00
September 30, 2013	5.00 to 1.00

Fiscal Quarter Ended	Ratio
December 31, 2013	5.00 to 1.00
March 31, 2014	4.9375 to 1.00
June 30, 2014	4.875 to 1.00
September 30, 2014	4.8125 to 1.00
December 31, 2014	4.75 to 1.00
March 31, 2015	4.6875 to 1.00
June 30, 2015	4.625 to 1.00
September 30, 2015	4.5625 to 1.00
December 31, 2015	4.50 to 1.00
March 31, 2016	4.375 to 1.00
June 30, 2016	4.25 to 1.00
September 30, 2016	4.125 to 1.00
December 31, 2016	4.00 to 1.00

(b) The Borrower will not permit the Interest Coverage Ratio as of the last day of a fiscal quarter to be less than 1.10 to 1.00.

Section 6.15 <u>Capital Expenditures</u>. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, make or commit to make any Capital Expenditure, except Capital Expenditures of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business not exceeding \$10,000,000 in the aggregate in each of the fiscal years ending December 31, 2013 and December 31, 2014 and \$9,000,000 in the aggregate in each of the fiscal years ending December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016; provided, that Capital Expenditures of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business, in the aggregate when combined with the Capital Expenditures of Dex West, RHDI, SuperMedia and their respective Subsidiaries, shall not exceed (i) \$57,500,000 during the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013 and (ii) \$50,000,000 during the fiscal years ending December 31, 2014, December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016; provided, further, that, (x) in each case (i) up to 75% of such stated amounts referred to above, if not so expended in the fiscal year for which it is permitted, may be carried over for expenditure in the next succeeding fiscal year and (ii) Capital Expenditures made pursuant to this (b) during any fiscal year shall be deemed made, first, in respect of amounts permitted for such fiscal year as provided above and, second, in respect of amounts carried over from the prior fiscal year and (y) Capital Expenditures of a Company hereunder shall either (i) relate to assets directly owned or acquired by such Company and shall be allocated to (and paid by) such Company or (ii) relate to the acquisition or development of Shared Assets and shall be allocated to (and paid by) the Companies in accordance with their Allocated Share (as defined in the Shared Services Agreement) at the time any such payment is made.

Section 6.16 <u>Parent Covenants</u>. (a)The Parent will not engage in any business or activity other than the ownership of outstanding Equity Interests of the Borrower and Dex West and their respective Subsidiaries, the issuance and sale of its Equity Interests and, in each case, activities incidental thereto.

(b) The Parent will not own or acquire any assets (other than Equity Interests of the Borrower, Dex West and Dex Media Service, other Investments in the Borrower, Dex West and their respective Subsidiaries and Dex Media Service, cash and Permitted Investments) or incur any liabilities (other than ordinary course trade payables, employee compensation liabilities (including, without limitation, loans and advances to employees in the ordinary course of business) and liabilities under the Loan Documents, the Dex West Loan Documents and the RHDI Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, liabilities imposed by law, including Tax liabilities, liabilities under the Shared Services Agreement and other liabilities incidental to the maintenance of its existence and permitted activities).

- (c) The Parent will not create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Liens on any property or assets now owned or hereafter acquired by it other than (i) Permitted Encumbrances and (ii) Liens securing the Dex East Obligations, the obligations under the Dex West Loan Documents and the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement.
- (d) The Parent shall not in any event incur or permit to exist any Indebtedness for borrowed money other than a Guarantee of the Dex East Obligations, the obligations under the Dex West Loan Documents, the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents and the obligations under the SuperMedia Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement.
 - Section 6.17 <u>Ultimate Parent Covenants.</u> (a) The Ultimate Parent will not engage in any business or activity other than the ownership of outstanding Equity Interests of its Subsidiaries and other assets permitted under Section 6.17(b), the issuance and sale of its Equity Interests, the performance of its obligations under the Shared Services Agreement and, in each case, activities incidental thereto.
- (b) The Ultimate Parent will not own or acquire any assets (other than Equity Interests of its existing Subsidiaries or any Newcos, other Investments in its existing Subsidiaries and any Newcos, assets owned or acquired in connection with its obligations under the Shared Services Agreement, cash, Permitted Investments, joint ventures or minority investments permitted under Section 6.17(e) and the Equity Interests of SuperMedia) or incur any liabilities (other than ordinary course trade payables, employee compensation liabilities (including, without limitation, loans and advances to employees in the ordinary course of business) and liabilities under the Loan Documents, the Dex West Loan Documents, the RHDI Loan Documents and the SuperMedia Loan Documents, liabilities imposed by law, including Tax liabilities, Indebtedness permitted under Section 6.17(d), liabilities under the Shared Services Agreement, liabilities under the SuperMedia Merger Agreement and other liabilities incidental to the maintenance of its existence and permitted activities).
- (c) The Ultimate Parent will not create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Liens on any property or assets now owned or hereafter acquired by it other than (i) Permitted Encumbrances and (ii) Liens securing the Dex East Obligations, the obligations under the Dex West Loan Documents, the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents and the obligations under the SuperMedia Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement.
- (d) The Ultimate Parent shall not in any event incur or permit to exist any Indebtedness for borrowed money other than (i) the Restructuring Notes, (ii) any Additional Notes and (iii) subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, a Guarantee of the Dex East Obligations, the obligations under the Dex West Loan Documents, the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents and the obligations under the SuperMedia Loan Documents.
- (e) The Ultimate Parent may only make Investments in, or acquisitions of, any Newco so long as (i) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, (ii) any Newco that is acquired or created as a result of such Investment or acquisition shall become a Guarantor as and to the extent required by the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement, (iii) all transactions related thereto are consummated in accordance with applicable laws in all material respects and (iv) in case of an acquisition of assets, such assets (other than assets to be retired or disposed of) are to be used, and in the case of an acquisition of any Equity Interests, the Person so acquired is engaged, in the same line of business as that of the Ultimate Parent or a line of business reasonably related thereto. The Ultimate Parent may make Investments (not consisting of contribution of assets of any of its Subsidiaries) in joint ventures and other minority investments, provided that such Investment shall be pledged as Collateral to the Shared Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Shared Collateral Secured Parties pursuant to the Shared Collateral and Guarantee Agreement.

- (f) The Ultimate Parent shall not (i) make any dividends or other Restricted Payments to the holders of its Equity Interests or (ii) optionally redeem or repurchase any Restructuring Notes or Additional Notes (other than any non-cash exchange therefor for common stock of the Ultimate Parent).
- (g) The Ultimate Parent may not make any Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition unless the Net Proceeds are applied to prepay the Loans pursuant to Section 2.06(c).
- (h) The Ultimate Parent shall not permit the Restructuring Notes or the Restructuring Indenture to be amended in any way that is, taken as a whole, materially adverse to the interests of the Lenders and shall not (i) permit the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to be secured by any assets of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) permit the proceeds of any Additional Notes to be used to finance anything other than refinancing of the Restructuring Notes or any other Additional Notes, (iii) alter the maturity of the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to a date, or make the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes mandatorily redeemable, in whole or in part, or required to be repurchased or reacquired, in whole or in part, prior to the date that is six months after the Maturity Date (other than pursuant to customary asset sale or change in control provisions), (iv) allow the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to (A) have financial maintenance covenants, (B) have restrictive covenants that apply to the Parent, the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than, solely in the case of the Restructuring Notes, the restrictive covenants set forth in the Restructuring Notes Indenture as of the Closing Date) or that impose limitations on the Ultimate Parent's ability to guarantee or pledge assets to secure the Dex East Obligations or (C) otherwise have covenants, representations and warranties and events of default that are more restrictive than those existing in the prevailing market at the time of issuance thereof for companies with the same or similar credit ratings of the Ultimate Parent at such time issuing similar securities, (v) permit the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to be guaranteed by any Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent or not be subordinated to the Dex East Obligations on terms at least as favorable to the Lenders as the subordination terms set forth in the Restructuring Notes Indenture on the Closing Date and that are otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent or (vi) permit the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to be convertible or exchangeable into other Indebtedness, except other Indebtedness of the Ultimate Parent meeting the qualifications set forth in the definition of "Additional Notes".
- (i) The Ultimate Parent shall not at any time hold an aggregate amount of cash and Permitted Investments in excess of an amount equal to (a) \$5,000,000 plus (b) any amounts received to fund regularly scheduled cash interest payments on the Restructuring Notes (or any Additional Notes incurred to refinance such Restructuring Notes) pursuant to Section 6.08(a)(iv) pending use by the Ultimate Parent within 10 Business Days of receipt of such amounts (in accordance with Section 6.08(a)(iv)).
- (j) The Ultimate Parent shall continue to make the Ultimate Parent PIK Election during the term of this Agreement.
 - Section 6.18 <u>Service Company Covenants.</u> (a) The Ultimate Parent will not permit the Service Company to engage in any business or activity other than the issuance and sale of its Equity Interests, ownership of the outstanding Equity Interests of its Subsidiaries and other assets permitted under Section 6.18(b) and the provision of Shared Services and, in each case, activities incidental thereto.
- (b) Subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, the Ultimate Parent will not permit the Service Company to own or acquire any assets (other than the outstanding Equity Interests of its Subsidiaries, assets owned or acquired in connection with the Shared Services, cash and Permitted Investments) or incur any liabilities (other than ordinary course trade payables, employee compensation liabilities (including, without limitation, loans and advances to employees in the ordinary course of business) and other liabilities incurred in the ordinary course in connection with the provision of Shared Services by the Service Company or any Subsidiary of the Service Company pursuant to the terms of the Shared Service Agreement, liabilities under

the Loan Documents, the Dex West Loan Documents, the RHDI Loan Documents and the SuperMedia Loan Documents, liabilities imposed by law, including Tax liabilities, liabilities under the Shared Services Agreement and other liabilities incidental to the maintenance of its existence and permitted activities).

- (c) Subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, the Ultimate Parent will not permit the Service Company to create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Liens on any property or assets now owned or hereafter acquired by it other than:
 - (i) Permitted Encumbrances;
 - (ii) Liens securing the Dex East Obligations, the obligations under the Dex West Loan Documents, the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents and the obligations under the SuperMedia Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement; and
 - (iii) Liens on fixed or capital assets acquired, constructed or improved by the Service Company; provided that (A) such Liens secure Indebtedness permitted by Section 6.18(d), (B) such Liens and the Indebtedness secured thereby are incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction or improvement, (C) the Indebtedness secured thereby does not exceed the cost of acquiring, constructing or improving such fixed or capital assets and (D) such Liens shall not apply to any other property or assets of such Service Company.
- (d) The Ultimate Parent shall not permit the Service Company to in any event incur or permit to exist any Indebtedness for borrowed money other than:
 - (i) Indebtedness and Attributable Debt of the Service Company incurred to finance the acquisition, construction or improvement of any fixed or capital assets in connection with the provision of Shared Services, including Capital Lease Obligations and extensions, renewals, refinancings and replacements of any such Indebtedness that do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof (other than by an amount not greater than fees and expenses, including premium and defeasance costs, associated therewith) or result in a decreased average weighted life thereof; <u>provided</u> that such Indebtedness or Attributable Debt is incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction or improvement; and
 - (ii) a Guarantee of the Dex East Obligations, the obligations under the Dex West Loan Documents, the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents and the obligations under the SuperMedia Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement.
- (e) The Ultimate Parent will not permit the Service Company to sell, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of any asset, other than:
 - (i) sales of assets, the proceeds of which are reinvested within 90 days of such sale in assets of the Service Company related to the provision of Shared Services;
 - (ii) sales of (x) inventory, (y) used, surplus, obsolete or worn-out equipment and (z) Permitted Investments, in each case in the ordinary course of business;
 - (iii) sales, transfers and other dispositions pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions;

- (iv) the licensing or sublicensing (other than exclusive licenses or sublicenses) of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business in a manner that does not, and could not reasonably be expected to, materially interfere with the business of the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries; and
- (v) other dispositions of assets (other than Equity Interests in a Subsidiary) not otherwise permitted by this Section 6.18(e); <u>provided</u>, that the aggregate cumulative fair market value of all assets sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of after the Closing Date in reliance upon this clause (v) shall not exceed \$1,000,000.

Section 6.19 <u>Dex Media Service Covenant</u>. The Ultimate Parent will not permit Dex Media Service to engage in any business or activity, or to own or acquire any assets or to incur or permit to exist any Indebtedness or Liens on its property or assets, in each case other than those incidental to pension liabilities arising pursuant to the Dex Media, Inc. Pension Plan.

Section 6.20 Limitation on Activities of the License Subsidiaries. The Ultimate Parent shall not, directly or indirectly, permit any License Subsidiary to (a) (i) conduct, transact or otherwise engage in, or commit to conduct, transact or otherwise engage in, any business or operations other than ownership of Collateral Trademarks and anything incidental thereto (including filing or registering any application for or registration of Collateral Trademarks and the prosecution, maintenance, renewal or enforcement of Collateral Trademarks) or (ii) take any action, or conduct its affairs in a manner, that could reasonably be expected to result in the separate existence of such License Subsidiary being ignored, or the assets and liabilities of such License Subsidiary being substantively consolidated with those of the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof in a bankruptcy, reorganization or other insolvency proceeding, (b) incur, create, assume or suffer to exist any Indebtedness or other liabilities or financial obligations, except (i) Indebtedness evidenced by the Loan Documents, (ii) Indebtedness owed to another Loan Party so long as such Indebtedness is subordinated to the Obligations (or a guarantee thereof), (iii) nonconsensual obligations imposed by operation of law, (iv) obligations with respect to its equity interests, (v) obligations (other than Indebtedness) in the ordinary course of business in the operation of its assets and (vi) the statutory liability of any general partner for the liabilities of the limited partnership in which it is a general partner, (c) breach any provision of, or default in the performance of its obligations under, any License Agreement to which it is a party, (d) without the consent of the two special independent directors or members required by Section 5.15 (but without prejudice to clause (j) of Article VII), (i) voluntarily commence any proceeding or file any petition seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief under any Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or hereafter in effect, (ii) consent to the institution of any proceeding or petition described in clause (i) of Article VII, (iii) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for a substantial part of its assets, (iv) file an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any such proceeding that would entitle the other party or parties to an order for relief, (v) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or (vi) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing (it being understood and agreed that the consent of such special independent directors or members to any of the actions described in this clause (d) shall not in any manner limit the provisions of Article VII), (e) assign any right, title or interest in or to any current or future Collateral Trademarks to any Person except as otherwise permitted under this Agreement or license any right, title or interest in or to any of the Collateral Trademarks to any Person except to the Ultimate Parent, a Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent or as otherwise permitted under this Agreement or (f) without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, not to be unreasonably withheld, merge into or consolidate with any other Person, or permit any other Person to merge into or consolidate with it, or liquidate, wind up or dissolve. The Ultimate Parent shall not (x) consent to or vote in favor of (and shall not permit any Subsidiary to consent to or vote in favor of) the incurrence of any Indebtedness by any License Subsidiary (other than Indebtedness permitted pursuant to

clause (b)(i) above) or (y) permit the organizational documents of any License Subsidiary, or any License Agreement to which any License Subsidiary is a party, to be amended, supplemented, waived, terminated or otherwise modified in any material respect without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, not to be unreasonably withheld.

ARTICLE VII

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

If any of the following events ("Events of Default") shall occur:

- (a) the Borrower shall fail to pay any principal of any Loan when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at the due date thereof or at a date fixed for prepayment thereof or otherwise:
- (b) the Borrower shall fail to pay any interest on any Loan or any fee or any other amount (other than an amount referred to in clause (a) of this Article) payable under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, when and as the same shall become due and payable, and such failure shall continue unremedied for a period of five days;
- (c) any representation or warranty made or deemed made by or on behalf of any Loan Party in or in connection with any Loan Document or any amendment or modification thereof or waiver thereunder, or in any certificate furnished pursuant to or in connection with any Loan Document or any amendment or modification thereof or waiver thereunder, shall prove to have been incorrect in any material respect when made or deemed made;
- (d) the Ultimate Parent, the Parent or the Borrower shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in Section 5.02 or 5.04 (with respect to the existence of the Borrower) or in Article VI;
- (e) (i) any Shared Collateral Loan Party shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in Section [6.4 or 6.5]⁴⁰ of the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement or (ii) any Shared Collateral Loan Party shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in Section [6.1, 6.2 or 6.3]⁴¹ of the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, and such failure shall continue unremedied for a period of 30 days after the earlier of (A) knowledge thereof by the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof and (B) notice thereof from the Administrative Agent to the Borrower (which notice will be promptly given at the request of any Lender);
- (f) any Loan Party shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in any Loan Document (other than those specified in clause (a), (b), (d) or (e) of this Article), and such failure shall continue unremedied for a period of 30 days after notice thereof from the Administrative Agent to the Borrower (which notice will promptly be given at the request of any Lender);

⁴⁰ Section references to be updated as appropriate based on final Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

⁴¹ Section references to be updated as appropriate based on final Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

- (g) the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex West, SuperMedia and their respective Subsidiaries, but including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, any Newcos, the Parent, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries) shall fail to make any payment (whether of principal or interest and regardless of amount) in respect of any Material Indebtedness, when and as the same shall become due and payable (after giving effect to any applicable grace period specified in the agreement or instrument governing such Indebtedness);
- (h) any event or condition occurs that results in any Material Indebtedness becoming due prior to its scheduled maturity or that enables or permits (with or without the giving of notice, the lapse of time or both) the holder or holders of any Material Indebtedness or any trustee or agent on its or their behalf to cause any Material Indebtedness to become due, or to require the prepayment, repurchase, redemption or defeasance thereof, prior to its scheduled maturity; provided, that this clause (h) (i) shall not apply to (A) secured Indebtedness that becomes due as a result of the voluntary sale or transfer of the property or assets securing such Indebtedness, (B) Optional Repurchases permitted hereunder, (C) refinancings of Indebtedness to the extent permitted by Section 6.01 and (D) Guarantees by the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries of the obligations under the Dex West Loan Documents, the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents and the obligations under the SuperMedia Loan Documents unless (x) any payment shall have been demanded to be made by, or any other remedy shall have been exercised against, the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex West, SuperMedia and their respective Subsidiaries) or their respective assets in respect of such Guarantees and (v) the obligations under the Dex West Loan Documents, the RHDI Loan Documents or the SuperMedia Loan Documents, as the case may be, shall have been accelerated and (ii) shall give effect to any notice required or grace period provided in the agreement or instrument governing such relevant Material Indebtedness, but shall not give effect to any waiver granted by the holders of such relevant Material Indebtedness after the giving of such notice or during such applicable grace period:
- (i) an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be filed seeking (i) liquidation, reorganization or other relief in respect of the Ultimate Parent, any Material Ultimate Parent Subsidiary, the Service Company, the Parent, the Borrower or any Material Subsidiary or its debts, or of a substantial part of its assets, under any Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or hereafter in effect or (ii) the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for the Ultimate Parent, any Material Ultimate Parent Subsidiary, the Service Company, the Parent, the Borrower or any Material Subsidiary or for a substantial part of its assets, and, in any such case, such proceeding or petition shall continue undismissed for 60 days or an order or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered;
- (j) the Ultimate Parent, any Material Ultimate Parent Subsidiary, the Service Company, the Parent, the Borrower or any Material Subsidiary shall (i) voluntarily commence any proceeding or file any petition seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief under any Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or hereafter in effect, (ii) consent to the institution of any proceeding or petition described in clause (i) of this Article, (iii) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for the Ultimate Parent, any Material Ultimate Parent Subsidiary, the Service Company, the Parent, the Borrower or any Material Subsidiary or for a substantial part of its assets, (iv) file an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any such proceeding that would entitle the other party or parties to an order for relief, (v) make

a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or (vi) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing;

- (k) one or more judgments for the payment of money in an aggregate amount in excess of \$25,000,000 (net of amounts covered by insurance) shall be rendered against the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex West, SuperMedia and their respective Subsidiaries, but including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, Dex Media Service, any Newcos, the Parent, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries) or any combination thereof and the same shall remain undischarged for a period of 30 consecutive days during which execution shall not be effectively stayed, or any action shall be legally taken by a judgment creditor to attach or levy upon any assets of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex West, SuperMedia and their respective Subsidiaries, but including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, Dex Media Service, any Newcos, the Parent, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries) to enforce any such judgment;
- (1) (i) an ERISA Event shall have occurred, (ii) a trustee shall be appointed by a United States district court to administer any Plan(s), (iii) the PBGC shall institute proceedings to terminate any Plan, or (iv) any Loan Party or ERISA Affiliate shall have been notified by the sponsor of a Multiemployer Plan that it has incurred or will be assessed Withdrawal Liability to such Multiemployer Plan and such entity does not have reasonable grounds for contesting such Withdrawal Liability in a timely and appropriate manner; and in each cases (i) through (iv) above, such event or condition, in the opinion of the Required Lenders, when taken together with all other such events or conditions, if any, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;
- (m) any Lien purported to be created under any Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document shall cease to be, or shall be asserted by any Loan Party not to be, a valid and perfected Lien on any Collateral having, in the aggregate, a value in excess of \$10,000,000, with the priority required by the applicable Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document, except (i) as a result of the sale or other disposition of the applicable Collateral in a transaction permitted under the Loan Documents or (ii) as a result of the Agent's or the Shared Collateral Agent's failure to maintain possession of any stock certificates, promissory notes or other instruments delivered to it under the Collateral Agreements;
 - (n) a Change in Control shall occur;
- (o) any guarantee under the Collateral Agreements for any reason shall cease to be in full force and effect (other than in accordance with its terms), or any Guarantor shall assert in writing that the Collateral Agreements or any guarantee thereunder has ceased to be or is not enforceable;
- (p) the Intercreditor Agreement or any material portion thereof for any reason shall cease to be in full force and effect, or any Loan Party or any Affiliate of any Loan Party shall assert any of the foregoing;
- (q) the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement or any material portion thereof for any reason shall cease to be in full force and effect, or any Loan Party or any Affiliate of any Loan Party shall assert any of the foregoing;
- (r) the commencement of enforcement actions under the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement with respect to any Shared Collateral Loan Party party thereto;

- (s) the commencement of enforcement actions under the Shared Services Agreement or the occurrence of an event that permits the Service Company to terminate the Shared Services Agreement with respect to any Client Company (as defined in the Shared Services Agreement) and such event continues unremedied for a period of three days;
- (t) the failure of the Borrower to receive any payment under either Tax Sharing Agreement when due and such failure continues unremedied for a period of three days;
- (u) any License Agreement, Master IP License Agreement or any escrow arrangement with respect to the Escrow Materials entered into pursuant to this Agreement shall be terminated (other than upon the expiration of any of the respective terms thereof), cease to be effective or cease to be the legally valid, binding and enforceable obligation in any material respect of any party thereto; or
- (v) either Tax Sharing Agreement shall be terminated (other than upon expiration of the term thereof), cease to be effective or cease to be the legally valid, binding and enforceable obligation in any material respect of any party thereto.

then, and in every such event (other than an event with respect to the Borrower described in clause (i) or (j) of this Article), and at any time thereafter during the continuance of such event, the Administrative Agent may with the consent of the Required Lenders, and at the request of the Required Lenders shall, by notice to the Borrower, declare the Loans then outstanding to be due and payable in whole, and thereupon the principal of the Loans so declared to be due and payable, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall become due and payable immediately, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower; and in case of any event with respect to the Borrower described in clause (i) or (j) of this Article, the principal of the Loans then outstanding, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall automatically become due and payable, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower.

ARTICLE VIII

THE AGENT

Each of the Lenders hereby irrevocably appoints the Agent as its agent and authorizes the Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as are delegated to the Agent by the terms of the Loan Documents, together with such actions and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto.

The bank serving as the Agent hereunder shall have the same rights and powers in its capacity as a Lender as any other Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent, and such bank and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to and generally engage in any kind of business with the Borrower or any Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof as if it were not the Agent hereunder.

The Agent shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set forth in the Loan Documents. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (a) the Agent shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of whether a Default has occurred and is continuing, (b) the Agent shall not have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers, except discretionary rights and powers expressly contemplated by the Loan Documents that the Agent is required to exercise in writing as directed by the Required Lenders (or such other number or

percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as provided in Section 9.02), and (c) except as expressly set forth in the Loan Documents, the Agent shall not have any duty to disclose, and shall not be liable for the failure to disclose, any information relating to the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries that is communicated to or obtained by the bank serving as Agent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity (other than as Agent). The Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as provided in Section 9.02) or in the absence of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Agent shall be deemed not to have knowledge of any Default unless and until written notice thereof is given to the Agent by the Borrower or a Lender, and the Agent shall not be responsible for or have any duty to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with any Loan Document, (ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered thereunder or in connection therewith, (iii) the performance or observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other terms or conditions set forth in any Loan Document, (iv) the validity, enforceability, effectiveness or genuineness of any Loan Document or any other agreement, instrument or document, or (v) the satisfaction of any condition set forth in Article IV or elsewhere in any Loan Document, other than to confirm receipt of items expressly required to be delivered to the Agent.

The Agent shall be entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any liability for relying upon, any notice, request, certificate, consent, statement, instrument, document or other writing believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or sent by the proper Person. The Agent also may rely upon any statement made to it orally or by telephone and believed by it to be made by the proper Person, and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon. The Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be counsel for the Borrower), independent accountants and other experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts.

The Agent may perform any and all its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through any one or more sub-agents appointed by the Agent. The Agent and any such sub-agent may perform any and all its duties and exercise its rights and powers through their respective Related Parties. The exculpatory provisions of the preceding paragraphs shall apply to any such sub-agent and to the Related Parties of each Agent and any such sub-agent, and shall apply to their respective activities in connection with the syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein as well as activities as Agent.

Subject to the appointment and acceptance of a successor to the Agent as provided in this paragraph, the Agent may resign at any time by notifying the Lenders and the Borrower. Upon any such resignation, the Required Lenders shall have the right, with the consent of the Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed and such consent not to be required if an Event of Default under clause (a), (b), (i) or (j) of Article VII has occurred and is continuing), to appoint a successor. If no successor shall have been so appointed by the Required Lenders and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Agent gives notice of its resignation, then the retiring Agent may, on behalf of the Lenders, appoint a successor Agent which shall be a bank with an office in New York, New York, or an Affiliate of any such bank. Upon the acceptance of its appointment as Agent and Collateral Agent hereunder by a successor, such successor shall succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Agent, and the retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder. The fees payable by the Borrower to a successor Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise agreed between the Borrower and such successor. After the Agent's resignation hereunder, the provisions of this Article and Section 9.03 shall continue in effect for the benefit of such retiring Agent, its sub-agents and their respective Related Parties in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by any of them while it was acting as Agent.

Each Lender acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other Lender and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement. Each Lender also acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other Lender and based on such documents and information as it shall from time to time deem appropriate, continue to make its own decisions in taking or not taking action under or based upon this Agreement, any other Loan Document or related agreement or any document furnished hereunder or thereunder.

The Arrangers and Syndication Agent shall be entitled to the benefits of this Article VIII.

ARTICLE IX

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.01 <u>Notices</u>. (a) Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly permitted to be given by telephone, all notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by telecopy, as follows:

- (i) if to the Ultimate Parent, the Parent or the Borrower, to it at Dex Media East, Inc., 1001 Winstead Drive, Cary, North Carolina, 27513, Attention of General Counsel (Telecopy No. (919) 297-1518);
- (ii) if to the Agent, to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Global Loan Operations, 500 Stanton Christiana Road, Ops 2, Floor 3, Newark, Delaware 19713, Attention of John Getchius (Telecopy No. (9302) 634-3301, with a copy to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 383 Madison Avenue, New York, New York 10179, Attention of Neil Boylan (Telecopy No. (212) 622-4560); and
- (iii) if to any other Lender, to it at its address (or telecopy number) set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire.
- (b) Notices and other communications to the Lenders hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by the Administrative Agent; provided, that the foregoing shall not apply to notices pursuant to Article II unless otherwise agreed by the Administrative Agent and the applicable Lender. The Administrative Agent or the Borrower may, in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by it; provided that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications.
- (c) Any party hereto may change its address or telecopy number for notices and other communications hereunder by notice to the other parties hereto. All notices and other communications given to any party hereto in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been given on the date of receipt.

Section 9.02 <u>Waivers; Amendments</u>. (a) No failure or delay by the Agent or any Lender in exercising any right or power hereunder or under any other Loan Document shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such a right or power, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power. The rights and remedies of the Agent and the Lenders hereunder and under the other Loan Documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies that

they would otherwise have. No waiver of any provision of any Loan Document or consent to any departure by any Loan Party therefrom shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be permitted by paragraph (b) of this Section, and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the making of a Loan shall not be construed as a waiver of any Default, regardless of whether the Agent or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of such Default at the time.

(b) Neither this Agreement nor any other Loan Document nor any provision hereof or thereof may be waived, amended or modified except (x) in the case of this Agreement, pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower and the Required Lenders, (y) in the case of any other Loan Document, pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by the Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, and the Loan Party or Loan Parties that are parties thereto, in each case with the consent of the Required Lenders, or (z) in the case of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by the Loan Party or Loan Parties subject to such Loan Document, the Agent and, as applicable, the Shared Collateral Agent, to cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or inconsistency; provided that any such agreement to waive, amend or modify this Agreement or any other Loan Document or any provision hereof or thereof pursuant to the foregoing clause (z) shall also be made to the Dex West Credit Agreement or the Dex West Loan Documents, the RHDI Credit Agreement or the RHDI Loan Documents, or the SuperMedia Credit Agreement or SuperMedia Loan Documents, as applicable; provided, further, that no such agreement shall (i) reduce the principal amount of any Loan held by any Lender or reduce the rate of interest thereon, or reduce any fees payable to any Lender hereunder, without the written consent of such Lender, (ii) postpone the maturity of any Lender's Loan, or any scheduled date of payment of the principal amount of any Lender's Loan under Section 2.05, or any date for the payment of any interest or fees payable to any Lender hereunder, or reduce the amount of, waive or excuse any such payment, without the written consent of such Lender, (iii) change Section 2.13(b) or (c) in a manner that would alter the pro rata sharing of payments required thereby, without the written consent of each Lender, (iv) change any of the provisions of this Section or the definition of "Required Lenders" or any other provision of any Loan Document specifying the number or percentage of Lenders required to waive, amend or modify any rights thereunder or make any determination or grant any consent thereunder, without the written consent of each Lender, (v) except as provided by Section 9.14, release any Guarantor from its Guarantee under a Collateral Agreement, Newco Subordinated Guarantee or other applicable Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document (except as expressly provided in the applicable Collateral Agreement, Newco Subordinated Guarantee or other Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document), or limit its liability in respect of such Guarantee, without the written consent of each Lender, (vi) release all or substantially all of the Collateral from the Liens of the Security Documents and Shared Collateral Security Documents, without the written consent of each Lender; provided, further, that no such agreement shall amend, modify or otherwise affect the rights or duties of the Agent without the prior written consent of the Agent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any provision of this Agreement may be amended by an agreement in writing entered into by the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower, the Required Lenders and the Agent if at the time such amendment becomes effective, each Lender not consenting thereto receives payment in full of the principal of and interest accrued on each Loan made by it and all other amounts owing to it or accrued for its account under this Agreement.

(c) If, in connection with any proposed change, waiver, discharge or termination of or to any of the provisions of this Agreement as contemplated by clauses (i) through (vi), inclusive, of the second proviso to Section 9.02(b), the consent of Lenders having Loans representing more than 66-2/3% of the sum of the total outstanding Loans at such time is obtained but the consent of one or more of such other Lenders whose consent is required is not obtained, then the Borrower shall have the right, so long as all non-consenting Lenders whose individual consent is required are treated as described in either clause (i) or (ii) below, to either (i) replace each such non-consenting Lender or Lenders with one or more assignees pursuant

to, and with the effect of an assignment under, Section 2.14 so long as at the time of such replacement, each such assignee consents to the proposed change, waiver, discharge or termination or (ii) repay the outstanding Loans of such Lender that gave rise to the need to obtain such Lender's consent; provided (A) that, unless the Loans that are repaid pursuant to the preceding clause (ii) are immediately replaced in full at such time through the addition of new Lenders or the increase of the outstanding Loans of existing Lenders (who in each case must specifically consent thereto), then in the case of any action pursuant to the preceding clause (ii), Lenders having Loans representing more than 66-2/3% of the sum of the total outstanding Loans at such time (determined after giving effect to the proposed action) shall specifically consent thereto and (B) any such replacement or termination transaction described above shall be effective on the date notice is given of the relevant transaction and shall have a settlement date no earlier than five Business Days and no later than 90 days after the relevant transaction.

Section 9.03 Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver. (a) The Borrower shall pay (i) all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent, the Arrangers and their Affiliates, including the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of (a) a single transaction and documentation counsel for the Agent and the Arrangers and (b) such other local counsel and special counsel as may be required in the reasonable judgment of the Agent and the Arrangers, in connection with the preparation and administration of the Loan Documents or any amendments, modifications or waivers of the provisions thereof (whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby shall be consummated), (ii) all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent, the Arrangers or any Lender, (including the fees, charges and disbursements of (a) a single transaction and documentation counsel for the Agent, the Arrangers and any Lender and (b) such other local counsel and special counsel as may be required in the reasonable judgment of the Agent and the Arrangers) in connection with documentary taxes or the enforcement or protection of its rights in connection with the Loan Documents, including its rights under this Section, or in connection with the Loans made hereunder, including all such out-of-pocket expenses incurred during any workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect of such Loans and (iii) all other reasonable out-ofpocket expenses as may be separately agreed with the Administrative Agent.

- (b) The Borrower shall indemnify the Agent, the Arrangers and each Lender, and each Related Party of any of the foregoing Persons (each such Person being called an "Indemnitee") against, and hold each Indemnitee harmless from, any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and related expenses, including the fees, charges and disbursements of (a) a single transaction and documentation counsel for any Indemnitee and (b) such other local counsel and special counsel as may be required in the reasonable judgment of the Agent and the Arrangers, incurred by or asserted against any Indemnitee arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (i) the execution or delivery of any Loan Document or any other agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the performance by the parties to the Loan Documents of their respective obligations thereunder or the consummation of the Transactions or any other transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) any Loan or the use of the proceeds therefrom, (iii) any actual or alleged presence or Release of Hazardous Materials on or from any Mortgaged Property or any other property currently or formerly owned or operated by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or any Environmental Liability related in any way to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or (iv) any actual or prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other theory and regardless of whether any Indemnitee is a party thereto; provided that such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee.
- (c) To the extent that the Borrower fails to pay any amount required to be paid by it to the Agent under paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section, but without affecting the Borrower's obligations thereunder, each Lender severally agrees to pay to the Agent such Lender's pro rata share (determined as of the time that the applicable unreimbursed expense or indemnity payment is sought) of such unpaid amount;

<u>provided</u> that the unreimbursed expense or indemnified loss, claim, damage, liability or related expense, as the case may be, was incurred by or asserted against the Agent in its capacity as such. For purposes hereof, a Lender's "pro rata share" shall be determined based upon its share of the sum of the total outstanding Loans at the time.

- (d) To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Borrower shall not assert, and hereby waives, any claim against any Indemnitee, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of, this Agreement or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the Transactions or any Loan or the use of the proceeds thereof.
- (e) All amounts due under this Section shall be payable not later than 10 days after written demand therefor.
 - Section 9.04 Successors and Assigns. (a) The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that (i) the Borrower may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of each Lender (and any attempted assignment or transfer by the Borrower without such consent shall be null and void) and (ii) no Lender may assign or otherwise transfer its rights or obligations hereunder except in accordance with this Section. Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, Participants (to the extent provided in paragraph (c) of this Section) and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the Related Parties of each of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.
- (b) (i) Subject to the conditions set forth in paragraph (b)(ii) below, any Lender may assign to one or more assignees (other than the Borrower or its Affiliates or Subsidiaries) all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of the Loans at the time owing to it), with the prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) of:
 - (A) the Borrower, <u>provided</u> that no consent of the Borrower shall be required (x) for an assignment to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender, an Approved Fund (as defined below) or, (y) if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, any other assignee; and
 - (B) the Administrative Agent, <u>provided</u> that no consent of the Administrative Agent shall be required for an assignment of Loans to an assignee that is a Lender immediately prior to giving effect to such assignment, an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund.
 - (ii) Assignments shall be subject to the following conditions:
 - (A) except in the case of an assignment to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund or an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender's Loan, the amount of the Loan of the assigning Lender subject to each such assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment and Assumption with respect to such assignment is delivered to the Administrative Agent) shall not be less than \$1,000,000, in each case unless each of the Borrower and the Administrative Agent otherwise consent, provided that no such consent of the Borrower shall be required if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;
 - (B) each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement;

- (C) the parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent an Assignment and Assumption, together with a processing and recordation fee of \$3,500 (it being understood that only a single processing and recordation fee of \$3,500 will be payable with respect to any multiple assignments to or by a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund pursuant to clause (ii)(A) above, each of which is individually less than \$1,000,000, that are simultaneously consummated); and
- (D) the assignee, if it shall not be a Lender, shall deliver to the Administrative Agent an Administrative Questionnaire.

For purposes of this Section 9.04, the term "Approved Fund" has the following meaning:

- "Approved Fund" means any Person (other than a natural person) that is engaged in making, purchasing, holding or investing in bank loans and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course and that is administered, advised or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c) any entity or an Affiliate of an entity that administers, advises or manages a Lender.
- (iii) Subject to acceptance and recording thereof pursuant to paragraph (b)(iv) of this Section, from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Assumption the assignee thereunder shall be a party hereto and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, be released from its obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Assumption covering all of the assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a party hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Sections 2.10, 2.11, 2.12 and 9.03). Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this Section 9.04 shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with paragraph (c) of this Section.
- (iv) The Administrative Agent, acting for this purpose as an agent of the Borrower, shall maintain at one of its offices a copy of each Assignment and Assumption delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the principal amount of the Loans owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time, which register shall indicate that each lender is entitled to interest paid with respect to such Loans (the "Register"). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive, and the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the contrary. The Register shall be available for inspection by the Borrower and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.
- (v) Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assignment and Assumption executed by an assigning Lender and an assignee, the assignee's completed Administrative Questionnaire (unless the assignee shall already be a Lender hereunder), the processing and recordation fee referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section and any written consent to such assignment required by paragraph (b) of this Section, the Administrative Agent shall accept such Assignment and Assumption and record the information contained therein in the Register. No assignment shall be effective for purposes of this Agreement unless it has been recorded in the Register as provided in this paragraph.
- (c) (i)Any Lender may, without the consent of, or notice to, the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, sell participations to one or more banks or other entities (a "<u>Participant</u>") in all or a portion of such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of the Loans

owing to it); provided, that (A) such Lender's obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (B) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (C) the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement. Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement; provided that such agreement or instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment, modification or waiver described in the second proviso to Section 9.02(b) that affects such Participant. Subject to paragraph (c)(ii) of this Section, the Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Sections 2.10, 2.11 and 2.12 (subject to the requirements and limitations therein, including the requirements under Section 2.12(e) (it being understood that the documentation required under Section 2.12(e) shall be delivered to the participating Lender)) to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section. To the extent permitted by law, each Participant also shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 9.08 as though it were a Lender, provided such Participant agrees to be subject to Section 2.13(c) as though it were a Lender.

- (ii) A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section 2.10 or 2.12 than the applicable Lender would have been entitled to receive with respect to the participation sold to such Participant, unless the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Borrower's prior written consent.
- (iii) Each Lender that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this purpose as an agent of the Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each Participant and the principal amounts (and stated interest) of each Participant's interest in the Loans or other obligations under this Agreement (the "Participant Register"). The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary.
- (d) Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender, including without limitation any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank, and this Section shall not apply to any such pledge or assignment of a security interest; <u>provided</u> that no such pledge or assignment of a security interest shall release a Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.

Section 9.05 <u>Survival</u>. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made by the Loan Parties in the Loan Documents and in the certificates or other instruments delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be considered to have been relied upon by the other parties hereto and shall survive the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents and the making of any Loans, regardless of any investigation made by any such other party or on its behalf and notwithstanding that the Administrative Agent or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of any Default or incorrect representation or warranty at the time any credit is extended hereunder, and shall continue in full force and effect as long as the principal of or any accrued interest on any Loan or any fee or any other amount payable under this Agreement is outstanding and unpaid. The provisions of Sections 2.10, 2.11, 2.12 and 9.03 and Article VIII shall survive and remain in full force and effect regardless of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the repayment of the Loans or the termination of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

Section 9.06 Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. This Agreement, the other Loan Documents and any separate letter agreements with respect to fees payable to the Administrative Agent and the Arrangers constitute the entire contract among the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement shall become effective when the conditions set forth in Section 4.01 hereof shall have been satisfied, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by telecopy or email transmission shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.

Section 9.07 <u>Severability</u>. Any provision of this Agreement held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.

Section 9.08 <u>Right of Setoff.</u> If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, each Lender and each of its Affiliates is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held and other obligations at any time owing by such Lender or Affiliate to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against any of and all the obligations of the Borrower now or hereafter existing under this Agreement held by such Lender, irrespective of whether or not such Lender shall have made any demand under this Agreement and although such obligations may be unmatured. The rights of each Lender under this Section are in addition to other rights and remedies (including other rights of setoff) which such Lender may have.

Section 9.09 <u>Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process.</u> (a) This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the law of the State of New York.

- (b) Each of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of the State of New York sitting in New York County and of the United States District Court of the Southern District of New York, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to any Loan Document, or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such New York State or, to the extent permitted by law, in such Federal court. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall affect any right that the Agent or any Lender may otherwise have to bring any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document against the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower or its properties in the courts of any jurisdiction.
- (c) Each of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document in any court referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court.

- (d) [After the Closing Date, the Bankruptcy Court's retention of jurisdiction shall not govern the interpretation or enforcement of the Loan Documents or any rights or remedies related thereto.]⁴²
- (e) Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner provided for notices in Section 9.01. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

Section 9.10 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.

Section 9.11 <u>Headings</u>. Article and Section headings and the Table of Contents used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Agreement and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Agreement.

Section 9.12 Confidentiality. Each of the Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its and its Affiliates' directors, officers, partners, employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other advisors (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential), (b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority, (c) to the extent required by applicable laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party to this Agreement, (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or any suit, action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions at least as restrictive as those of this Section, to (i) any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of or Participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement, (ii) any pledgee referred to in Section 9.04(d), (iii) any actual or prospective counterparty (or its advisors) to any swap or derivative transaction relating to the Borrower and its obligations or (iv) any credit insurance provider relating to the Borrower and its Obligations, (g) with the consent of the Borrower or (h) to the extent such Information (i) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section or (ii) becomes available to the Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof. For the purposes of this Section, "Information" means all information received from the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof relating to the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof or its business, other than any such information that is available to the Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof; provided, that, in the case of information received from the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof after the date hereof, such information is clearly identified at the time of delivery as confidential. Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with

-Active.13504878.21

⁴² To be included if applicable

its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such Person would accord to confidential information of its other customers.

Each Lender acknowledges that information furnished to it pursuant to this Agreement or the other Loan Documents may include material non-public information concerning the Borrower and its Affiliates and their related parties or their respective securities, and confirms that it has developed compliance procedures regarding the use of material non-public information and that it will handle such material non-public information in accordance with those procedures and applicable law, including Federal and state securities laws.

All information, including requests for waivers and amendments, furnished by the Borrower or its Affiliates or the Administrative Agent pursuant to, or in the course of administering, this Agreement or the other Loan Documents will be syndicate-level information, which may contain material non-public information about the Borrower and its Affiliates and their related parties or their respective securities. Accordingly, each Lender represents to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent that it has identified in its Administrative Questionnaire a credit contact who may receive information that may contain material non-public information in accordance with its compliance procedures and applicable law, including Federal and state securities laws.

Section 9.13 <u>Interest Rate Limitation</u>. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if at any time the interest rate applicable to any Loan, together with all fees, charges and other amounts which are treated as interest on such Loan under applicable law (collectively the "<u>Charges</u>"), shall exceed the maximum lawful rate (the "<u>Maximum Rate</u>") which may be contracted for, charged, taken, received or reserved by the Lender holding such Loan in accordance with applicable law, the rate of interest payable in respect of such Loan hereunder, together with all Charges payable in respect thereof, shall be limited to the Maximum Rate and, to the extent lawful, the interest and Charges that would have been payable in respect of such Loan but were not payable as a result of the operation of this Section shall be cumulated and the interest and Charges payable to such Lender in respect of other Loans or periods shall be increased (but not above the Maximum Rate therefor) until such cumulated amount, together with interest thereon at the Federal Funds Effective Rate to the date of repayment, shall have been received by such Lender.

Section 9.14 <u>Termination or Release.</u> (a) At such time as the Loans, all accrued interest and fees under this Agreement, and all other obligations of the Dex East Loan Parties under the Loan Documents (other than obligations under Sections 2.10, 2.11, 2.12 and 9.03 that are not then due and payable) shall have been paid in full in cash, (i) the Collateral shall be released from the Liens created by the Security Documents and with respect to the Dex East Obligations, the Shared Collateral Security Documents and (ii) the obligations (other than those expressly stated to survive termination) of the Agent and each Loan Party under the Security Documents and, with respect to the Dex East Obligations, the Shared Collateral Security Documents shall terminate, all without delivery of any instrument or performance of any act by any Person.

- (b) A Subsidiary Loan Party shall automatically be released from its obligations under the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and the security interests in the Collateral of such Subsidiary Loan Party shall be automatically released upon the consummation of any transaction permitted by this Agreement as a result of which such Subsidiary Loan Party ceases to be a Subsidiary of the Borrower.
- (c) Upon any sale or other transfer by any Dex East Loan Party of any Collateral that is permitted under this Agreement to any Person that is not a Dex East Loan Party, or upon the effectiveness of any written consent to the release of the security interest granted by the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement or any other Loan Document in any Collateral of the Dex East Loan Parties pursuant to Section 9.02 of this

Agreement, the security interest in such Collateral granted by the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be automatically released (it being understood that, in the case of a sale or other transfer to a Shared Collateral Loan Party, such Collateral shall become subject to a security interest in favor of the Shared Collateral Agent as to the extent set forth in the Shared Collateral Security Documents upon the consummation of such sale or other transfer).

(d) In connection with any termination or release pursuant to paragraph (a), (b) or (c) of this Section 9.14, the Collateral Agent shall execute and deliver to any Loan Party at such Loan Party's expense all documents that such Loan Party shall reasonably request to evidence such termination or release. Any execution and delivery of documents pursuant to this Section 9.14 shall be without recourse to or warranty by the Collateral Agent or any Lender.

Section 9.15 <u>USA Patriot Act</u>. Each Lender hereby notifies the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower that pursuant to the requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the "USA Patriot Act"), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower, which information includes the name and address of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower and other information that will allow such Lender to identify the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower in accordance with the USA Patriot Act.

Section 9.16 <u>Intercreditor Agreement</u>. Each Lender agrees that it will be bound by, and shall take no actions contrary to, the provisions of the Intercreditor Agreement or any intercreditor agreement entered into in connection with any Newco Subordinated Guarantee and authorizes the Agent to enter into the Intercreditor Agreement and any intercreditor agreement to be entered into in connection with any Newco Subordinated Guarantee (which shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent) on its behalf.

Section 9.17 <u>Amendment and Restatement</u>. On the Closing Date, the Existing Credit Agreement will be automatically amended and restated in its entirety to read in full as set forth herein, and all of the provisions of this Agreement which were previously not effective or enforceable shall become effective and enforceable. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, subject to the satisfaction (or waiver) of the conditions set forth in Section 4.01, the Lenders hereby waive, and shall be deemed to have waived, each Default and Event of Default under (and as defined in) the Existing Credit Agreement in existence as of the Closing Date to the extent (i) arising out of the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases or (ii) such Default or Event of Default otherwise shall have occurred and be continuing based on facts known to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders as of the Closing Date.

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 381 of 483

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the day and year first above written.

NEWDEX, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:
DEX MEDIA, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:
DEX MEDIA EAST, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 382 of 483

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as	
Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent,	
and as a Lender	
D	
By:	
Name:	
Title:	

EXHIBIT B TO THE DEX ONE PLAN

AMENDED AND RESTATED DEX WEST SECURED CREDIT AGREEMENT

CREDIT AGREEMENT

dated as of

June 6, 2008, as amended and restated as of January 29, 2010, and as further amended and restated as of [], 2013,

among

NEWDEX, INC.,

DEX MEDIA, INC.,

DEX MEDIA WEST, INC., as Borrower,

The Lenders Party Hereto

and

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent

DEUTSCHE BANK TRUST COMPANY AMERICAS, as Syndication Agent

J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES LLC and

DEUTSCHE BANK TRUST COMPANY AMERICAS, as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners

-Active.13517265.11

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01	Defined Terms	2
Section 1.02	Classification of Loans and Borrowings	
Section 1.03	Terms Generally	
Section 1.04	Accounting Terms; GAAP	
	ARTICLE II	
	THE CREDITS	
Section 2.01	Loans	34
Section 2.02	Borrowings	35
Section 2.03	Interest Elections	
Section 2.04	Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt	36
Section 2.05	Amortization of Loans	36
Section 2.06	Prepayment of Loans	37
Section 2.07	Fees	39
Section 2.08	Interest	40
Section 2.09	Alternate Rate of Interest	40
Section 2.10	Increased Costs; Illegality	41
Section 2.11	Break Funding Payments.	
Section 2.12	Taxes.	
Section 2.13	Payments Generally; Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing of Setoffs	
Section 2.14	Mitigation Obligations; Replacement of Lenders	
Section 2.15	Voluntary Prepayments Below Par	47
	ARTICLE III	
	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	
Section 3.01	Organization; Powers.	49
Section 3.02	Authorization; Enforceability	
Section 3.03	Governmental Approvals; No Conflicts	
Section 3.04	Financial Condition	
Section 3.05	Properties	50
Section 3.06	Litigation and Environmental Matters	50
Section 3.07	Compliance with Laws and Agreements	50
Section 3.08	Investment Company Status	51
Section 3.09	Taxes	51
Section 3.10	ERISA	
Section 3.11	Margin Regulations.	
Section 3.12	Disclosure	
Section 3.13	Subsidiaries	
Section 3.14	Insurance	
Section 3.15	Labor Matters	52

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 386 of 483

Contents,	n	2
Comemis,	μ.	4

Section 3.16	Senior Debt.	
Section 3.17	Security Documents	
Section 3.18	Liens.	
Section 3.19	[Bankruptcy Court Orders.	53
	A DOTTON TO MA	
	ARTICLE IV	
	CONDITIONS	
Section 4.01	Effectiveness of Agreement	53
	ARTICLE V	
	AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS	
Section 5.01	Financial Statements and Other Information.	57
Section 5.02	Notices of Material Events.	61
Section 5.03	Information Regarding Collateral	62
Section 5.04	Existence; Conduct of Business.	62
Section 5.05	Payment of Obligations.	62
Section 5.06	Maintenance of Properties.	62
Section 5.07	Insurance	63
Section 5.08	Casualty and Condemnation.	63
Section 5.09	Books and Records; Inspection and Audit Rights.	63
Section 5.10	Compliance with Laws.	63
Section 5.11	Additional Subsidiaries.	63
Section 5.12	Further Assurances.	63
Section 5.13	Credit Ratings	64
Section 5.14	Intellectual Property	
Section 5.15	Independent Director	65
	ARTICLE VI	
	NEGATIVE COVENANTS	
Section 6.01	Indebtedness; Certain Equity Securities	65
Section 6.02	Liens.	
Section 6.03	Fundamental Changes.	67
Section 6.04	Investments, Loans, Advances, Guarantees and Acquisitions	67
Section 6.05	Asset Sales	68
Section 6.06	Sale and Leaseback Transactions.	70
Section 6.07	Swap Agreements.	
Section 6.08	Restricted Payments; Certain Payments of Indebtedness	
Section 6.09	Transactions with Affiliates.	72
Section 6.10	Restrictive Agreements	72
Section 6.11	Change in Business	
Section 6.12	Fiscal Year.	
Section 6.13	Amendment of Material Documents.	
Section 6.14	Leverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio.	
Section 6.15	Capital Expenditures	74

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 387 of 483

Contents, p. 3

Section 6.16	Parent Covenants.	74
Section 6.17	Ultimate Parent Covenants	
Section 6.17	Service Company Covenants	
Section 6.19	Dex Media Service Covenant	
Section 6.20	Limitation on Activities of the License Subsidiaries	
	ARTICLE VII	
	EVENTS OF DEFAULT	
	ARTICLE VIII	
	THE AGENT	
	ARTICLE IX	
	MISCELLANEOUS	
Section 9.01	Notices	84
Section 9.02	Waivers; Amendments	84
Section 9.03	Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver	86
Section 9.04	Successors and Assigns.	
Section 9.05	Survival	
Section 9.06	Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness	90
Section 9.07	Severability	90
Section 9.08	Right of Setoff.	90
Section 9.09	Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process	90
Section 9.10	WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL	91
Section 9.11	Headings	
Section 9.12	Confidentiality	
Section 9.13	Interest Rate Limitation.	
Section 9.14	Termination or Release	
Section 9.15	USA Patriot Act	93

Section 9.16

Section 9.17

Contents, p. 4

SCHEDULES:

Schedule 1.01A -- Directory Consolidation Project

Schedule 1.01B -- Mortgaged Property

Schedule 3.05 -- Properties
Schedule 3.09 -- Taxes
Schedule 3.13 -- Subsidiaries

Schedule 3.13 -- Subsidiaries Schedule 3.14 -- Insurance

Schedule 3.17 -- UCC Filing Jurisdictions Schedule 6.01 -- Existing Indebtedness

Schedule 6.02 -- Existing Liens

Schedule 6.04 -- Existing Investments Schedule 6.10 -- Existing Restrictions

EXHIBITS:

Exhibit A -- Form of Assignment and Assumption

Exhibit B -- Form of Acknowledgment and Confirmation

Exhibit C -- Form of Amended and Restated Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement
Exhibit D -- Form of Amended and Restated Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement

Exhibit E -- Form of Amended and Restated Shared Services Agreement

Exhibit F -- Form of Newco Subordinated Guarantee
Exhibit G -- Form of Subordinated Guarantee Agreement

Exhibit H -- Form of License Agreement

Exhibit I -- Form of Master IP License Agreement

Exhibit J -- Form of Election Notice

Exhibit K -- Form of Dex Tax Sharing Agreement

Exhibit L -- Form of SuperMedia Tax Sharing Agreement

Exhibit M -- Form of Tax Certificates

CREDIT AGREEMENT, dated as of June 6, 2008, as amended and restated as of January 29, 2010 and as further amended and restated as of [] (this " <u>Agreement</u> "), among NEWDEX, INC., a Delaware corporation, DEX MEDIA, INC., a Delaware corporation, DEX MEDIA WEST, INC., a Delaware corporation, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party hereto (the " <u>Lenders</u> "), and JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent for such lenders.
Recitals
WHEREAS, the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower (as each term is defined below) are parties to the Credit Agreement (as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the Closing Date (as defined below), the "Existing Credit Agreement"), dated as of June 6, 2008 and amended and restated as of January 29, 2010 (the "Original Restatement Date"), among the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower, the Lenders and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent;
[WHEREAS, on [, 2013] (the "Petition Date"), the Ultimate Parent (as defined below) and its Subsidiaries (as defined below) each commenced bankruptcy cases (the "Chapter 11 Cases") by filing voluntary petitions under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code (as defined below) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware (the "Bankruptcy Court");
WHEREAS, on the Petition Date, the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries filed with the Bankruptcy Court the Reorganization Plan (as defined below) and the Disclosure Statement (as defined below);
WHEREAS, on [, 2013], the Bankruptcy Court entered the Confirmation Order (as defined below) confirming the Reorganization Plan;
WHEREAS, pursuant to the Reorganization Plan, the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries have implemented (or substantially simultaneously with the Closing Date will implement) the Amendments (as defined below);] ¹
WHEREAS, the Ultimate Parent and SuperMedia Inc. ("SuperMedia") have entered into a Merger Agreement, dated as of August 20, 2012, as amended and restated as of December 5, 2012 (the "Merger Agreement"), by and among Dex One, NewDex, Inc. ("Newdex"), Spruce Acquisition Sub, Inc. ("Merger Sub") and SuperMedia, pursuant to which Dex One merged with Newdex, with Newdex as the surviving corporation (the "Dex Merger"), and SuperMedia merged with Merger Sub, with SuperMedia as the surviving corporation (the "SuperMedia Merger" and together with the Dex Merger, the "Mergers");
WHEREAS, after giving effect to the Mergers, SuperMedia has become a direct wholly owned subsidiary of Newdex and Newdex has become the Ultimate Parent;
WHEREAS, the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower have requested that the Lenders amend and restate the Existing Credit Agreement as provided in this Agreement; and
WHEREAS, the Lenders are willing to so amend and restate the Existing Credit Agreement on the terms and conditions set forth herein.
To be included if applicable

Now, therefore, the parties hereto agree that the Existing Credit Agreement shall be amended and restated in its entirety as of the Closing Date to read as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.01 <u>Defined Terms</u>. As used in this Agreement, the following terms have the meanings specified below:

"ABR", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the Alternate Base Rate.

"Acceptable Payment Percentage" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(c).

"Acknowledgment and Confirmation" means an Acknowledgment and Confirmation substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto, dated the date hereof, executed by each Dex East Loan Party.

"Additional Notes" means notes issued by the Ultimate Parent after the date hereof (a) that are not secured by any assets of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, (b) that bear interest at a prevailing market rate at the time of the issuance thereof, (c) the proceeds of which are used to refinance the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes, (d) that do not mature, and are not mandatorily redeemable, in whole or in part, or required to be repurchased or reacquired, in whole or in part, prior to the date that is six months after the Maturity Date (other than pursuant to asset sale or change in control provisions customary in offerings of similar notes), (e) that have no financial maintenance covenants and no restrictive covenants that apply to any Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent or that impose limitations on the Ultimate Parent's ability to guarantee or pledge assets to secure the Obligations and otherwise have covenants, representations and warranties and events of default that are no more restrictive than those existing in the prevailing market at the time of issuance for companies with the same or similar credit ratings of the Ultimate Parent at such time issuing similar securities, (f) are not guaranteed by any Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent and are subordinated to the Obligations on terms that are no less favorable to the Lenders than the subordination terms set forth in the Restructuring Notes Indenture and that are otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and (g) are not convertible or exchangeable except into (i) other Indebtedness of the Ultimate Parent meeting the qualifications set forth in this definition or (ii) common equity of the Ultimate Parent, provided that any such exchange or conversion, if effected, would not result in a Change in Control or a Default.

"Adjusted LIBO Rate" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing for any Interest Period, an interest rate per annum (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) equal to (a) the LIBO Rate for such Interest Period multiplied by (b) the Statutory Reserve Rate.

"<u>Administrative Agent</u>" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as administrative agent for the Lenders hereunder and its Affiliates and permitted successors acting in such capacity.

"<u>Administrative Questionnaire</u>" means an Administrative Questionnaire in a form supplied by the Administrative Agent.

"Advance Amortization Payment" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.06(a).

"Affiliate" means, with respect to a specified Person, another Person that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Person specified.

"Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacities as Administrative Agent and/or Collateral Agent, and each of its Affiliates and successors acting in any such capacity. The Administrative Agent may act on behalf of or in place of any Person included in the "Agent".

"Agreement" has the meaning assigned in the preamble hereto.

"Allocable Net Proceeds" means, with respect to any Equity Issuance by the Ultimate Parent, 15% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance; provided, that to the extent the Indebtedness outstanding under (a) the RHDI Credit Agreement has been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 19% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance, (b) the Dex East Credit Agreement has been repaid in full, the Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 17% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance, (c) the RHDI Credit Agreement and the Dex East Credit Agreement have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 22% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance, (d) the SuperMedia Credit Agreement have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 32% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance, (e) the RHDI Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Credit Agreement have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 54% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance, (f) the Dex East Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Credit Agreement have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 44% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance and (g) the Dex East Credit Agreement, the RHDI Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Credit Agreement have been repaid in full, Allocable Net Proceeds shall mean 100% of the Net Proceeds of such Equity Issuance.

"Alternate Base Rate" means, for any day, a rate per annum equal to the greatest of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on such day, (b) the Federal Funds Effective Rate in effect on such day plus ½ of 1%, (c) the Adjusted LIBO Rate for a Eurodollar Loan with an Interest Period of one month commencing on such day plus 1% and (d) 4.00%, provided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the Adjusted LIBO Rate for any day shall be based on the rate appearing on Reuters Screen LIBOR 01 Page (or on any successor or substitute of such page) at approximately 11:00 a.m., London time, on such day. Any change in the Alternate Base Rate due to a change in the Prime Rate, the Federal Funds Effective Rate or the Adjusted LIBO Rate shall be effective from and including the effective date of such change in the Prime Rate or the Federal Funds Effective Rate or the Adjusted LIBO Rate, as the case may be.

"Amendments" means, collectively, the amendment and restatement of the RHDI Existing Credit Agreement, the Dex East Existing Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Existing Credit Agreement, pursuant to the RHDI Credit Agreement, the Dex East Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Credit Agreement, respectively (in each case referred to in clause (a) in the definition thereof)[, which amendments were consummated pursuant to the Reorganization Plan]².

"Applicable Payment Percentage" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(c).

"Applicable Rate" means, for any day, with respect to any Loan, 4.00% per annum, in the case of an ABR Loan, and 5.00% per annum, in the case of a Eurodollar Loan.

² To be included if applicable

"Approved Fund" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04.

"<u>Arrangers</u>" means, collectively, J.P. Morgan Securities LLC and Deutsche Bank Securities Inc., in their capacities as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners.

"Asset Disposition" means (a) any sale, lease, assignment, conveyance, transfer or other disposition (including pursuant to a sale and leaseback or securitization transaction) of any property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary other than (i) dispositions described in clauses (a), (b), (c), (d), (f), (g) and (h) of Section 6.04(n) and (ii) dispositions described in Section 6.05(e) resulting in aggregate Net Proceeds not exceeding \$2,500,000 during the term of this Agreement and (b) any casualty or other insured damage to, or any taking under power of eminent domain or by condemnation or similar proceeding of, any property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, but only to the extent that the Net Proceeds therefrom have not been applied to repair, restore or replace such property or asset within 365 days after such event.

"Assignment and Assumption" means an assignment and assumption entered into by a Lender and an assignee (with the consent of any party whose consent is required by Section 9.04), and accepted by the Administrative Agent, in the form of Exhibit A or any other form approved by the Administrative Agent.

"Attributable Debt" means, on any date, in respect of any lease of the Borrower or any Subsidiary entered into as part of a sale and leaseback transaction subject to Section 6.06, (a) if such lease is a Capital Lease Obligation, the capitalized amount thereof that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP and (b) if such lease is not a Capital Lease Obligation, the capitalized amount of the remaining lease payments under such lease that would appear on a balance sheet of such Person prepared as of such date in accordance with GAAP if such lease were accounted for as a Capital Lease Obligation.

["<u>Bankruptcy Code</u>" means title 11 of the United States Code (11 U.S.C. §101 <u>et seq.</u>), as amended from time to time, and any successor statute.]³

["Bankruptcy Court" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.]⁴

"Billing and Collection Agreement" means the Agreement for the Provision of Billing and Collection Services for Directory Publishing Services dated as of November 1, 2004, between Qwest Corp. and the Parent.

"<u>Board</u>" means the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System of the United States of America.

"Borrower" means Dex Media West, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"<u>Borrower Receivables</u>" means the receivables of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries subject to purchase by Qwest Corp. pursuant to the Billing and Collection Agreement.

"Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Percentage" means 30%.

³ To be included if applicable

⁴ To be included if applicable

"Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow" means an amount determined following the end of each fiscal quarter of the Borrower (and certified by a Financial Officer of the Borrower pursuant to Section 5.01(d)), commencing with the first such fiscal quarter ending after the Closing Date, equal to (i) the Excess Cash Flow as of the end of such fiscal quarter multiplied by the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Percentage, minus (ii) (a) any Discounted Voluntary Prepayment made during the applicable ECF Period as to which the Borrower has delivered an Election Notice to the Administrative Agent that such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall constitute a utilization of the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow within the applicable 180-day period described in Section 2.06(e) and (b) all (x) Advance Amortization Payments, (y) prepayments made pursuant to Section 2.06(a) (other than Advance Amortization Payments) and (z) other prepayments made pursuant to Section 2.06(d), in each case to the extent the Borrower has delivered an Election Notice to the Administrative Agent that such payment shall constitute a utilization of the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow, provided that, for purposes of Section 2.06(e), the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow shall be calculated as to each individual fiscal quarter and shall not be reduced or affected by any subsequent calculation of the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow at the end of any subsequent fiscal quarter.

"Borrower's Discretionary Percentage" means 20%.

"Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow" means an amount determined following the end of each fiscal quarter of the Borrower (and certified by a Financial Officer of the Borrower pursuant to Section 5.01(d)), commencing with the first such fiscal quarter ending after the Closing Date, equal to (i) the Excess Cash Flow as of the end of such fiscal quarter multiplied by the Borrower's Discretionary Percentage, minus (ii) all Discounted Voluntary Prepayments made during the applicable ECF Period as to which the Borrower has delivered an Election Notice to the Administrative Agent that such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall constitute a utilization of the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow.

"Borrower's Portion of Excess Cash Flow" means, collectively, the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow and the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow.

"<u>Borrowing</u>" means Loans of the same Type, made, converted or continued on the same date and, in the case of Eurodollar Loans, as to which a single Interest Period is in effect.

"Business Day" means any day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or other day on which commercial banks in New York City are authorized or required by law to remain closed; <u>provided</u>, that, when used in connection with a Eurodollar Loan, the term "Business Day" shall also exclude any day on which banks are not open for dealings in dollar deposits in the London interbank market.

"Capital Expenditures" means, for any period, without duplication, (i) the additions to property, plant and equipment and other capital expenditures of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries for such period, determined in accordance with GAAP and (ii) the portion of the additions to property, plant and equipment and other capital expenditures of the Service Company for such period allocated to, and funded by, the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement.

"Capital Lease Obligations" of any Person means (i) the obligations of such Person to pay rent or other amounts under any lease of (or other arrangement conveying the right to use) real or personal property, or a combination thereof, which obligations are required to be classified and accounted for as capital leases on a balance sheet of such Person under GAAP, and the amount of such obligations

shall be the capitalized amount thereof determined in accordance with GAAP and (ii) in the case of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, the portion of the obligations of the Service Company described in the foregoing clause (i) allocated to, and funded by, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement.

["<u>Cash Collateral Order</u>" means the Final Order Under 11 U.S.C. §§ 105, 361, 362, 363, 552 and Fed. R. Bankr. P. 2002, 4001 and 9014 (I) Authorizing Debtors to Use Cash Collateral and (II) Granting Adequate Protection to the Prepetition Secured Parties, entered by the Bankruptcy Court on [1, 2013.]⁵

"Change in Control" means, subject to the proviso below:

- (a) the ownership, beneficially or of record, by any Person other than the Parent of any Equity Interest in the Borrower;
- (b) the ownership, beneficially or of record, by any Person other than the Ultimate Parent of any Equity Interest in the Parent;
- (c) for so long as the Shared Services Agreement is in existence, the ownership, beneficially or of record, by any Person other than the Ultimate Parent of any Equity Interests in the Service Company;
- (d) the ownership, beneficially or of record, by any "person" or "group" (as such terms are used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act")) of more than 35% of the outstanding Equity Interests in the Ultimate Parent;
- (e) occupation of a majority of the seats (other than vacant seats) on the Governing Board of the Ultimate Parent or the Parent by Persons who were not (i) members of such Governing Board as of the Closing Date [(after giving effect to the Reorganization Plan)]⁶, (ii) nominated by, or whose nomination for election was approved or ratified by a majority of the directors or members of, the Governing Board of the Ultimate Parent or the Parent, as applicable, or (iii) appointed by Persons described in the foregoing clauses (i) and (ii); or
- (f) the occurrence of a "Change of Control" (or similar term) as defined in the Restructuring Notes Indenture or any indenture, agreement or other instrument governing the Additional Notes;

<u>provided</u>, that the consummation of the Mergers pursuant to the SuperMedia Merger Agreement shall not constitute a Change in Control.

"Change in Law" means (a) the adoption of any law, rule or regulation after the date of this Agreement, (b) any change in any law, rule or regulation or in the interpretation or application thereof by any Governmental Authority after the date of this Agreement or (c) compliance by any Lender (or, for purposes of Section 2.10(b), by any lending office of such Lender or by such Lender's holding company, if any) with any request, guideline or directive (whether or not having the force of law) of any Governmental Authority made or issued after the date of this Agreement.

⁵ To be included if applicable

⁶ To be included if applicable

[" $\underline{\text{Chapter 11 Cases}}$ " has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.]

"Charges" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.13.

"Closing Date" means the date on which the conditions precedent set forth in Section 4.01 shall have been satisfied (or waived) and the notice contemplated in the last sentence of Section 4.01 shall have been delivered, which date is [________, 2013].8

"Code" means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time.

"Collateral" means all property of the Loan Parties, now owned or hereafter acquired, upon which a Lien is purported to be created by any Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document.

"Collateral Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as collateral agent for the Secured Parties and its Affiliates and permitted successors acting in such capacity.

"<u>Collateral Agreements</u>" means the collective reference to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

"Collateral and Guarantee Requirement" means the requirement that:

- (a) the Collateral Agent shall have received from each Dex West Loan Party either (i) a counterpart of the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Dex West Loan Party or (ii) in the case of any Subsidiary that becomes a Subsidiary Loan Party after the Closing Date, a supplement to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, in the form specified therein, duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Subsidiary;
- (b) the Shared Collateral Agent shall have received from each Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Newco Subordinated Guarantors) either (i) a counterpart of the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Shared Collateral Loan Party or (ii) in the case of any Newco that becomes a Shared Collateral Loan Party after the Closing Date, a supplement to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, in the form specified therein, duly executed and delivered on behalf of such Newco;
- (c) all outstanding Equity Interests of the Borrower and each other Subsidiary Loan Party shall have been pledged pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement (except that the Borrower and each other Subsidiary Loan Party shall not be required to pledge more than 65% of the outstanding voting Equity Interests of any Foreign Subsidiary) and the Collateral Agent shall have received all certificates or other instruments representing such Equity Interests, together with stock powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank;

⁷ To be included if applicable

⁸ If the Closing Date occurs prior to March 31, 2013, the initial delivery of annual financial statements will be adjusted and the Excess Cash Flow prepayment provisions will be adjusted to require payment of the Excess Cash Flow prepayment under the Existing Credit Agreement for the period ending December 31, 2012.

- (d) all outstanding Equity Interests of the Parent, Dex Media Service, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company and each other Subsidiary owned by or on behalf of any Shared Collateral Loan Party shall have been pledged pursuant to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement (except that the Shared Collateral Loan Parties shall not be required to pledge more than 65% of the outstanding voting Equity Interests of any Foreign Subsidiary) and, subject to the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement, the Shared Collateral Agent shall have received all certificates or other instruments representing such Equity Interests, together with stock powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank;
- (e) the Shared Collateral Agent shall have received from each Newco Subordinated Guarantor a subordinated guarantee substantially in the form of Exhibit F (or such other form as shall be reasonably acceptable to the Agent and the Shared Collateral Agent), which shall (i) to the extent permitted by the terms of any assumed Indebtedness of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor in existence prior to the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor (without giving effect to any restriction effected by any amendment thereto entered into in contemplation of such assumption) and any Indebtedness incurred to finance the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor, be secured by a pledge of the Equity Interests of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor's Subsidiaries and any joint venture interest owned by such Newco Subordinated Guarantor (subject to any restrictions in the applicable joint venture agreement applicable to all partners of such joint venture; it being understood and agreed that in the event any such restriction exists, the Administrative Agent and such Newco Subordinated Guarantor shall agree upon alternative structures, if available, to effect the economic equivalent of a pledge of the applicable joint venture interest) and (ii) to the extent required by the terms of any such Indebtedness (without giving effect to any restriction effected by any amendment, waiver, modification or refinancing thereto entered into in contemplation of such assumption) be subordinated to any assumed Indebtedness of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor in existence prior to the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor and any Indebtedness incurred to finance the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor; provided, that (i) to the extent that any restriction shall exist which shall not permit such Guarantee or which requires the subordination thereof as described above, the Borrower shall deliver, or cause to be delivered, true and complete copies of all relevant agreements received by the Borrower in respect of such Indebtedness, certified by a Financial Officer, to the Agent at least ten Business Days prior to the completion of the acquisition of the applicable Newco Subordinated Guarantor (or, in the case of any such agreement received by the Borrower after such tenth Business Day, promptly following the Borrower's receipt of such agreement) and (ii) notwithstanding the foregoing, no Newco Subordinated Guarantor shall be required to guarantee the Obligations to the extent such Guarantee is prohibited by the terms of any assumed Indebtedness of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor in existence prior to the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor (without giving effect to any restriction effected by any amendment, waiver, modification or refinancing thereto entered into in contemplation of such assumption) or any Indebtedness incurred to finance the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor if no alternative financing (on terms not materially less favorable taken as a whole to the applicable borrower or issuer) is available that would permit such Guarantee or is otherwise prohibited under applicable law; provided, further, that (x) the Ultimate Parent shall use its commercially reasonable efforts to amend any such assumed Indebtedness that is otherwise being amended in connection with such acquisition to permit such Guarantee and (y) if any Newco Subordinated Guarantor is unable to Guarantee the Obligations due to circumstances described in the first proviso hereof, then (A) the Ultimate Parent may only effect the acquisition of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor to the extent it provides evidence reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, and certification by a Financial Officer, that the Ultimate Parent was unable to obtain amendments (after use of commercially reasonable efforts) and/or alternative financing (on terms not materially less

favorable taken as a whole to the applicable borrower or issuer) was not available, as the case may be, permitting such Guarantee or such Guarantee was otherwise prohibited by applicable law (and providing a description of such applicable law) and (B) to the extent permitted by applicable law, a holding company shall be formed to hold 100% of the shares of the applicable Newco Subordinated Guarantor, which holding company shall Guarantee the Obligations and pledge the stock of such Newco Subordinated Guarantor to secure such Guarantee (any Guarantee provided by this clause (e), a "Newco Subordinated Guarantee");

- (f) all documents and instruments, including Uniform Commercial Code financing statements, required by law or reasonably requested by the Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, to be filed, registered or recorded to create the Liens intended to be created by the Security Documents and the Shared Collateral Security Documents and perfect such Liens to the extent required by, and with the priority required by, the Collateral Agreements, shall have been filed, registered or recorded or, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, delivered to the Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, for filing, registration or recording;
- (1) the Collateral Agent shall have received with respect to each Mortgaged (g) Property existing on the Closing Date (i) a Mortgage Amendment, together with (i) evidence that counterparts of said Mortgage Amendments have been delivered to the Title Company (defined below), (ii) a datedown endorsement to the existing title policy insuring the Lien of each such Mortgage (or a reissued title insurance policy) (the "Mortgage Endorsements"), issued by Stewart Title Guaranty Company (the "Title Company"), insuring the Lien of such Mortgage (as amended by the applicable Mortgage Amendment) as a valid Lien on the Mortgaged Property described therein, free of any Liens except those permitted under Section 6.02, (iii) the opinions, addressed to the Collateral Agent and the Lenders of (A) outside counsel or in-house counsel, as to the due authorization, execution and delivery of the Mortgage Amendments by the Borrower or any Loan Party, as applicable, and (B) local counsel in each jurisdiction where Mortgaged Property is located regarding the Mortgage Amendments, (iv) with respect to each Mortgaged Amendment, such affidavits, certificates, instruments of indemnification and other items (including a so-called "gap" indemnification) as shall be reasonably required to induce the Title Company to issue the Mortgage Endorsements contemplated above, (v) evidence reasonably acceptable to the Collateral Agent of payment by the Borrower of all Mortgage Endorsement premiums, search and examination charges, mortgage recording taxes, fees, charges, costs and expenses required for the recording of the Mortgage Amendments, fixture filings and issuance of the Mortgage Endorsements referred to above, in each case, in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent, and (2) with respect to each Mortgaged Property acquired after the date hereof (i) execute and deliver a first priority Mortgage in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, covering such real property, subject to any Liens permitted by Section 6.02, (ii) if requested by the Collateral Agent, the Collateral Agent shall have received, and the Title Company shall have received, maps or plats of an as-built survey of the sites of such Mortgaged Property prepared by an independent professional licensed land surveyor reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent and the Title Company (and certified by such surveyor to the Collateral Agent and the Title Company), which maps or plats and the surveys on which they are based shall be made in accordance with the Minimum Standard Detail Requirements for Land Title Surveys jointly established and adopted by the American Land Title Association and the American Congress on Surveying and Mapping in 1992, (iii) the Collateral Agent shall have received in respect of such Mortgaged Property a mortgagee's title insurance policy (or policies) or marked up unconditional binder for such insurance, and each such policy shall (A) be in an amount reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent; (B) be issued at ordinary rates; (C) insure that the Mortgage insured thereby creates a valid first Lien on such Mortgaged Property free and clear of all defects and encumbrances, except as disclosed therein; (D) name the Collateral Agent

for the benefit of the Secured Parties as the insured thereunder; (E) be in the form of ALTA Loan Policy - 2006 (or equivalent policies); (F) contain such endorsements and affirmative coverage as the Collateral Agent may reasonably request, and the Collateral Agent shall have received evidence satisfactory to it that all premiums in respect of each such policy, all charges for mortgage recording tax, and all related expenses, if any, have been paid; (iv) any consents or estoppels reasonably deemed necessary or advisable by the Collateral Agent in connection with such Mortgage, each of the foregoing in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent; (v) if requested by the Collateral Agent, deliver to the Collateral Agent legal opinions relating to the matters described above, which opinions shall be in form and substance, and from counsel, reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent, and (vi) deliver to the Collateral Agent a completed "Life-of-Loan" Federal Emergency Management Agency Standard Flood Hazard Determination with respect to such Mortgaged Property (together with a notice about special flood hazard area status and flood disaster assistance duly executed by the Borrower and each Loan Party relating thereto) and if any such Mortgaged Property is located in a special flood hazard area, evidence of flood insurance in form and amount reasonably satisfactory to the Collateral Agent; and

each Loan Party shall have obtained all consents and approvals required to be obtained by it in connection with the execution and delivery of all Security Documents and Shared Collateral Security Documents (or supplements thereto) to which it is a party, the performance of its obligations thereunder and the granting by it of the Liens thereunder.

"Collateral Trademarks" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.01(e).

"Companies" means collectively, the Borrower, Dex East, RHDI and SuperMedia, and each, individually, a "Company".

["Confirmation Order" means that certain order approving the Disclosure Statement and confirming the Reorganization Plan pursuant to Section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code entered by the Bankruptcy Court on [$], 2013.]^9$

"Consolidated Cash Interest Expense" means, for any period, the excess of (a) sum of (i) total cash interest expense (including that attributable to Capital Lease Obligations) of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period with respect to all outstanding Indebtedness of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (including all commissions, discounts and other fees and charges owed with respect to letters of credit, bankers' acceptance financing and net costs under Swap Agreements in respect of interest rates to the extent such net costs are allocable to such period in accordance with GAAP) plus (ii) the amount of dividends paid by the Borrower during such period pursuant to Section 6.08(a)(iv) minus (b) total cash interest income of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period.

"Consolidated EBITDA" means, for any period, Consolidated Net Income for such period plus (a) without duplication and to the extent deducted in determining such Consolidated Net Income, the sum of (i) consolidated interest expense for such period, (ii) consolidated income tax expense for such period, (iii) all amounts attributable to depreciation and amortization for such period, (iv) any extraordinary charges or non-cash charges for such period (provided, however, that any cash payment or expenditure made with respect to any such non-cash charge shall be subtracted in computing Consolidated EBITDA during the period in which such cash payment or expenditure is made), (v) nonrecurring charges consisting of (A) severance costs associated with a restructuring recorded during the fiscal years ended December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016, not to exceed \$3,500,000 in any such

-Active 13517265 11

⁹ To be included if applicable

fiscal year, (B) payments of customary investment and commercial banking fees and expenses and (C) cash premiums, penalties or other payments payable in connection with the early extinguishment or repurchase of Indebtedness, and (vi) Specified Charges for such period, provided that such charges are recorded during the period starting on October 1, 2012 and ending on December 31, 2013 and the aggregate amount of charges added back pursuant to this clause (vi) for all periods shall not exceed \$13,700,000 (it being understood that such charges may be added back in any four-fiscal-quarter period which includes the fiscal quarter in which such charges are recorded), and minus (b) without duplication and to the extent included in determining such Consolidated Net Income, (i) consolidated interest income for such period and (ii) any extraordinary gains and non-cash gains (including, without limitation, any gain arising from the retirement of Indebtedness) for such period, all determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP. For purposes of calculating the Leverage Ratio or the Interest Coverage Ratio as of any date, if the Borrower or any consolidated Subsidiary has made any Permitted Acquisition or sale, transfer, lease or other disposition outside of the ordinary course of business of a Subsidiary or of assets constituting a business unit, in each case as permitted by Section 6.04(n), during the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters (a "Reference Period") most recently ended on or prior to such date, Consolidated EBITDA for the such Reference Period shall be calculated after giving pro forma effect thereto, as if such Permitted Acquisition or sale, transfer, lease or other disposition (and any related incurrence, repayment or assumption of Indebtedness with any new Indebtedness being deemed to be amortized over the applicable testing period in accordance with its terms) had occurred on the first day of such Reference Period. The calculation of Consolidated EBITDA shall exclude (i) any non-cash impact attributable to the reduction in deferred revenue or reduction in deferred costs to balance sheet accounts as a result of the fair value exercise undertaken as required by purchase method of accounting for the transactions contemplated by any acquisition, in accordance with GAAP [and (ii) any non-cash impact attributable to the Borrower's adoption of fresh-start accounting in accordance with GAAP upon effectiveness of the Reorganization Plan¹⁰.

"Consolidated Net Income" means, for any period, the net income or loss, before the effect of the payment of any dividends or other distributions in respect of preferred stock, of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP (adjusted to reflect any charge, tax or expense incurred or accrued by the Parent during such period as though such charge, tax or expense had been incurred by the Borrower, to the extent that the Borrower has made or would be entitled under the Loan Documents to make and intends to make any payment or dividend or other distribution to or for the account of the Parent in respect thereof (but without duplication of any such charge, tax or expense in respect of which Dex East has made or intends to make a payment or dividend or other distribution to or for the account of the Parent) and adjusted to eliminate (i) any non-cash impact attributable to the reduction in deferred revenue or reduction in deferred costs to balance sheet accounts as a result of the fair value exercise undertaken as required by purchase method of accounting for the transactions contemplated by any acquisition, in accordance with GAAP [and (ii) any non-cash impact attributable to the Borrower's adoption of fresh-start accounting in accordance with GAAP upon effectiveness of the Reorganization Plan]¹¹; provided, that there shall be excluded (a) the income of any Person (other than the Borrower or a Subsidiary Loan Party) in which any other Person (other than the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party or any director holding qualifying shares in compliance with applicable law) owns an Equity Interest, except to the extent of the amount of dividends or other distributions actually paid to the Borrower or any of the Subsidiary Loan Parties during such period, and (b) except as otherwise contemplated by the definition of "Consolidated EBITDA", the income or loss of any Person accrued prior to the date it becomes a Subsidiary or is merged into or

¹⁰ To be included if applicable

¹¹ To be included if applicable

consolidated with the Borrower or any Subsidiary or the date that such Person's assets are acquired by the Borrower or any Subsidiary.

"Control" means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management or policies of a Person, whether through the ability to exercise voting power, by contract or otherwise. "Controlling" and "Controlled" have meanings correlative thereto.

"<u>Debt Issuance</u>" means the incurrence by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of any Indebtedness, other than Indebtedness permitted by Section 6.01(a).

"<u>Default</u>" means any event or condition that constitutes an Event of Default or which upon notice, lapse of time or both would, unless cured or waived, become an Event of Default.

"Defaulting Lender" means any Lender, as reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent, that has (a) notified the Borrower, the Administrative Agent or any other Lender in writing that it does not intend to comply with any of its funding obligations under this Agreement or has made a public statement to the effect that it does not intend to comply with its funding obligations under this Agreement or under agreements in which it commits to extend credit generally, (b) otherwise failed to pay over to the Administrative Agent or any other Lender any other amount required to be paid by it hereunder within three Business Days of the date when due, unless the subject of a good faith dispute, or (c) (i) been (or has a parent company that has been) adjudicated as, or determined by any Governmental Authority having regulatory authority over such Person or its assets to be, insolvent or (ii) become the subject of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, or has had a receiver, conservator, trustee, administrator, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person charged with reorganization or liquidation of its business or custodian, appointed for it, or has taken any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any such proceeding or appointment or has a parent company that has become the subject of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding, or has had a receiver, conservator, trustee, administrator, assignee for the benefit of creditors or similar Person charged with reorganization or liquidation of its business or custodian appointed for it, or has taken any action in furtherance of, or indicating its consent to, approval of or acquiescence in any such proceeding or appointment, unless in the case of any Lender referred to in this clause (c) the Borrower and the Administrative Agent shall be satisfied that such Lender intends, and has all approvals required to enable it, to continue to perform its obligations as a Lender hereunder. For the avoidance of doubt, a Lender shall not be deemed to be a Defaulting Lender solely by virtue of the ownership or acquisition of any Equity Interest in such Lender or its parent by a Governmental Authority.

"Dex" means Qwest Dex, Inc., a Colorado corporation.

"Dex Digital" means Dex One Digital, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Dex East" means Dex Media East Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Dex East Existing Credit Agreement" means the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 24, 2007, as amended and restated as of January 29, 2010, among the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, Dex East, as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the effectiveness of the Dex East Credit Agreement.

"<u>Dex East Credit Agreement</u>" means (a) the Credit Agreement, dated as of October 24, 2007 (as amended and restated as of January 29, 2010, as further amended and restated as of the Closing Date, and as further amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from

time to time), among the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, Dex East, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and (b) any other credit agreement, loan agreement, note agreement, promissory note, indenture or other agreement or instrument evidencing or governing the terms of any Indebtedness or other financial accommodation that has been incurred to refinance (whether by the same or different banks) in whole or in part (under one or more agreements) the Indebtedness and other obligations outstanding under the Dex East Credit Agreement referred to in clause (a) above or any other agreement or instrument referred to in this clause (b) (including, without limitation, adding or removing any Person as a borrower, guarantor or other obligor thereunder).

"<u>Dex East Loan Documents</u>" means the "Loan Documents" as defined in the Dex East Credit Agreement.

"<u>Dex Media Service</u>" means Dex Media Service LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.

"<u>Dex Merger</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Dex One" means Dex One Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

"Dex Support Agreement" means the Support and Limited Waiver Agreement, dated as of December 5, 2013, among the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower, Dex East, RHDI and their respective Subsidiaries party thereto, the Agent, the administrative agent and collateral agent under the Dex East Credit Agreement, the administrative agent under the RHDI Credit Agreement and each of the lenders party thereto.

"<u>Dex Tax Sharing Agreement</u>" means the Amended and Restated Tax Sharing Agreement in the form of Exhibit K hereto, dated the date hereof, among Newdex, Dex One, Parent, the Borrower, the Service Company, RHDC, Dex East, RHDI, R.H. Donnelley Apil, Inc. and Dex Digital.

"Dex West Loan Parties" means the Borrower and the Subsidiary Loan Parties.

" $\underline{\text{Dex West Obligations}}$ " has the meaning assigned to such term in the Intercreditor Agreement.

"Directory Consolidation Project" means the initiative described in Schedule 1.01A.¹²

["<u>Disclosed Matters</u>" means the matters, proceedings, transactions and other information disclosed in the [Disclosure Statement][Registration Statement on Form S-4] (other than any risk factor disclosures contained under the heading "Risk Factors", any disclosures of risks in the "Forward-Looking Statements" disclaimer or any other similar forward-looking statements in the Disclosure Statement).]¹³

["<u>Disclosure Statement</u>" means the Disclosure Statement for the Reorganization Plan, the adequacy of which was approved by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to the Confirmation Order.]¹⁴

¹² Summary from the Term Sheet to be listed on the schedule.

¹³ To be included if applicable

¹⁴ To be included if applicable

"<u>Discounted Voluntary Prepayment</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(a).

"<u>Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Amount</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(b).

"<u>Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Notice</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(b).

"Dollars" or "\$" refers to lawful money of the United States of America.

"<u>East Territories</u>" means the states of Colorado, Iowa, Minnesota, Nebraska, New Mexico, North Dakota and South Dakota and the metropolitan statistical area of El Paso, Texas.

"<u>ECF Period</u>" means the period beginning on January 1, 2013 and ending at the end of the applicable fiscal quarter thereafter.

"ECF Sweep Percentage" means 50%.

"<u>Election Notice</u>" means a written notice from the Borrower to the Administrative Agent in the form of Exhibit J hereto.

"Environmental Laws" means all applicable federal, state, and local laws (including common law), regulations, rules, ordinances, codes, decrees, judgments, directives, orders (including consent orders), and binding agreements with any Governmental Authority in each case, relating to protection of the environment, natural resources, human health and safety or the presence, Release of, or exposure to, Hazardous Materials, or the generation, manufacture, processing, distribution, use, treatment, storage, transport, recycling or handling of, or the arrangement for such activities with respect to, Hazardous Materials.

"Environmental Liability" means any liability, claim, action, suit, judgment or order under or relating to any Environmental Law for any damages, injunctive relief, losses, fines, penalties, fees, expenses (including reasonable fees and expenses of attorneys and consultants) or costs, whether contingent or otherwise, including those arising from or relating to: (a) compliance or non-compliance with any Environmental Law, (b) the generation, use, handling, transportation, storage, treatment or disposal of any Hazardous Materials, (c) exposure to any Hazardous Materials, (d) the Release of any Hazardous Materials or (e) any contract, agreement or other consensual arrangement pursuant to which liability is assumed or imposed with respect to any of the foregoing.

"Equity Interests" means shares of capital stock, partnership interests, membership interests in a limited liability company, beneficial interests in a trust or other equity ownership interests in a Person of whatever nature, and any warrants, options or other rights entitling the holder thereof to purchase or acquire any of the foregoing.

"Equity Issuance" means the issuance by the Ultimate Parent, the Borrower or any Subsidiary of any Equity Interests, or the receipt by the Ultimate Parent, the Borrower or any Subsidiary of any capital contribution, other than (i) any issuance of Equity Interests or receipt of capital contributions to the extent as a result of (x) a non-cash exchange of Restructuring Notes or Additional Notes or (y) the issuance of Equity Interests that are issued on a non-cash basis as consideration for a Permitted Acquisition or other Investment permitted hereunder or (ii) any issuance of Equity Interests to, or receipt of any capital contribution from, the Ultimate Parent, the Parent or any Dex West Loan Party.

"ERISA" means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended from time to time.

"ERISA Affiliate" means any trade or business (whether or not incorporated) that, together with any Loan Party, is treated as a single employer under Section 414(b) or (c) of the Code or, solely for purposes of Section 302 of ERISA and Section 412 of the Code, is treated as a single employer under Section 414(m) of the Code.

"ERISA Event" means (a) any "reportable event", as defined in Section 4043 of ERISA or the regulations issued thereunder with respect to a Plan (other than an event for which the 30-day notice period is waived); (b) any failure by any Plan to satisfy the minimum funding standards (within the meaning of Sections 412 and 430 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA) applicable to such Plan, including, for Plan years ending prior to January 1, 2008, any "accumulated funding deficiency" (as defined in Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA), whether or not waived; (c) the filing pursuant to Section 412(c) of the Code or Section 302(c) of ERISA of an application for a waiver of the minimum funding standard with respect to any Plan, the failure to make by its due date a required installment under Section 430(j) of the Code with respect to any Plan or the failure by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates to make any required contribution to a Multiemployer Plan; (d) the incurrence by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability under Title IV of ERISA with respect to the termination of any Plan, including but not limited to the imposition of any Lien in favor of the PBGC or any Plan; (e) a determination that any Plan is, or is expected to be, in "at risk" status (within the meaning of Section 430 of the Code or Section 303 of ERISA; (f) the receipt by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates from the PBGC or a plan administrator of any notice relating to an intention to terminate any Plan or Plans or to appoint a trustee to administer any Plan under Section 4042 of ERISA; (g) the incurrence by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any liability with respect to the withdrawal or partial withdrawal from any Plan or Multiemployer Plan; or (h) the receipt by any Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any notice, or the receipt by any Multiemployer Plan from a Loan Party or any of its ERISA Affiliates of any notice, concerning the imposition of Withdrawal Liability or a determination that a Multiemployer Plan is, or is expected to be, insolvent or in reorganization or in endangered or critical status, within the meaning of Section 432 of the Code or Section 305 or Title IV of ERISA.

"Escrow Materials" means copies of (i) all software source code and all documentation and training manuals relating thereto and (ii) all other tangible or written embodiments of material technology, websites and databases (but excluding any print directories or other publicly distributed print materials), in each case to the extent (1) owned (or licensed, if such license grants the licensee (x) possession of same and the right to allow the foregoing entities (and any escrow agent, as applicable) to access same and (y) the right to sublicense such right of possession and access without (I) the licensor's consent, unless consent can be obtained with no additional fees or other consideration (unless the sublicensee fully reimburses the sublicensor for such additional fees or other consideration) or additional obligations upon sublicensor or any loss of rights of sublicensor, (II) loss of any rights of sublicensor, (III) additional obligations upon sublicensor or (IV) any additional fees or consideration (unless the sublicensee fully reimburses the sublicensor for such fees or other consideration required to obtain such right of possession and access) and (2) currently used by SuperMedia, Borrower, Dex East, RHDI, the Service Company or any of such Shared Collateral Loan Parties, as applicable, in their respective businesses.

"<u>Eurodollar</u>", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether such Loan, or the Loans comprising such Borrowing, are bearing interest at a rate determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate.

"Event of Default" has the meaning assigned to such term in Article VII.

"Excess Cash Flow" means, as of the end of each fiscal quarter ending after the Closing Date, for the period starting on January 1, 2013 and ending on the last day of such fiscal quarter, the result (without duplication) of:

- (a) net cash provided by operating activities of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period as reflected in the statement of cash flows on the consolidated financial statements of the Borrower for each applicable quarter during such period, that (i) to the extent the Borrower makes any Discounted Voluntary Prepayments and the gain arising from the retirement of Indebtedness in connection with such Discounted Voluntary Prepayments results in any additional cash taxes, the payment of such additional cash taxes shall not be deducted in the calculation of Excess Cash Flow and (ii) for the avoidance of doubt, income related to the retirement of Indebtedness shall not be included in the calculation of Excess Cash Flow; plus
- (b) cash payments received during such period to enter into or settle Swap Agreements to the extent not already recognized in net cash provided by operating activities; <u>plus</u>
- (c) to the extent deducted in the determination of net cash provided by operating activities of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such period, the Specified Charges for such period; minus
- (d) the amount of Capital Expenditures for such period (except to the extent attributable to the incurrence of Capital Lease Obligations or otherwise financed by incurring Long Term Indebtedness and except to the extent made with Net Proceeds in respect of Prepayment Events); minus
- (e) the aggregate principal amount of Long Term Indebtedness repaid or prepaid (for the avoidance of doubt, including any Advance Amortization Payment) by the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries during such period to the extent permitted by Section 6.08(b), excluding (i) any prepayment of Loans and (ii) repayments or prepayments of Long Term Indebtedness financed by incurring other Long Term Indebtedness; minus
- (f) the aggregate amount of cash dividends or other distributions paid by the Borrower to the Parent during such period pursuant to Section 6.08(a)(iv) (other than in reliance on clause (B) thereof); minus
- (g) cash payments made during such period to enter into or settle Swap Agreements to the extent not already included in net cash provided by operating activities.

"Exchange Act" has the meaning assigned to such term in the definition of "Change in Control".

"Excluded Taxes" means, with respect to the Administrative Agent, any Lender or any other recipient of any payment to be made by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder, (a) any taxes imposed on or measured, in whole or in part, by revenue or net income and franchise taxes imposed in lieu thereof by the United States of America, or by the jurisdiction under the laws of which such recipient is organized or in which its principal office is located, has a present or former connection (other than in connection with the Loan Documents) or, in the case of any Lender, in which its applicable lending office is located, (b) any branch profits taxes imposed by the United States of America or any similar tax imposed by any other jurisdiction described in clause (a) above and (c) in the case of a Foreign

Lender (other than an assignee pursuant to a request by the Borrower under Section 2.14(b)), any U.S. withholding tax that (i) is in effect and would apply to amounts payable to such Foreign Lender at the time such Foreign Lender becomes a party to this Agreement (or designates a new lending office), except to the extent that such Foreign Lender (or its assignor, if any) was entitled, at the time of designation of a new lending office (or assignment), to receive additional amounts from the Borrower with respect to any withholding tax pursuant to Section 2.12(a), or (ii) is attributable to such Foreign Lender's failure (other than as a result of any Change in Law) to comply with Section 2.12(e) and (d) any U.S. Federal withholding taxes imposed under FATCA.

"Existing Credit Agreement" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Existing Loans" means the Loans (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement) outstanding under the Existing Credit Agreement prior to the Closing Date.

"FATCA" means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Code, as of the date of this Agreement (or any amended or successor version that is substantively comparable and not materially more onerous to comply with) and any current or future regulations or official interpretations thereof.

"Federal Funds Effective Rate" means, for any day, the weighted average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the rates on overnight Federal funds transactions with members of the Federal Reserve System arranged by Federal funds brokers, as published on the next succeeding Business Day by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or, if such rate is not so published for any day that is a Business Day, the average (rounded upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the quotations for such day for such transactions received by the Administrative Agent from three Federal funds brokers of recognized standing selected by it.

"<u>Financial Officer</u>" means the chief financial officer, principal accounting officer, treasurer or controller of the Borrower or the Ultimate Parent, as applicable.

"<u>First Amendment</u>" means the First Amendment to this Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2012.

"<u>First Amendment Effective Date</u>" means the date on which the conditions precedent set forth in Section 3 of the First Amendment shall have been satisfied, which for the avoidance of doubt is March 9, 2012.

"<u>Foreign Lender</u>" means any Lender that is organized under the laws of a jurisdiction other than that in which the Borrower is located or, with respect to any Borrower that is a "Untied States person" within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code, that is not a "United States person" within the meaning of such Section. For purposes of this definition, the United States of America, each State thereof and the District of Columbia shall be deemed to constitute a single jurisdiction.

"<u>Foreign Subsidiary</u>" means (i) a Subsidiary organized under the laws of a jurisdiction located outside the United States of America or (ii) a Subsidiary of any Person described in the foregoing clause (i).

"GAAP" means generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America.

"Governing Board" means (a) the managing member or members or any controlling committee of members of any Person, if such Person is a limited liability company, (b) the board of directors of any Person, if such Person is a corporation or (c) any similar governing body of any Person.

"Governmental Authority" means the government of the United States of America, any other nation or any political subdivision thereof, whether state or local, and any agency, authority, instrumentality, regulatory body, court, central bank or other entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taxing, regulatory or administrative powers or functions of or pertaining to government.

"Guarantee" of or by any Person (the "guarantor") means any obligation, contingent or otherwise, of the guarantor guaranteeing or having the economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtedness or other obligation of any other Person (the "primary obligor") in any manner, whether directly or indirectly, and including any obligation of the guarantor, direct or indirect, (a) to purchase or pay (or advance or supply funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indebtedness or other obligation or to purchase (or to advance or supply funds for the purchase of) any security for the payment thereof, (b) to purchase or lease property, securities or services for the purpose of assuring the owner of such Indebtedness or other obligation of the payment thereof, (c) to maintain working capital, equity capital or any other financial statement condition or liquidity of the primary obligor so as to enable the primary obligor to pay such Indebtedness or other obligation or (d) as an account party in respect of any letter of credit or letter of guaranty issued to support such Indebtedness or other obligation; provided, that the term Guarantee shall not include endorsements for collection or deposit in the ordinary course of business.

"Guarantee and Collateral Agreement" means the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of the Original Restatement Date, among each Dex West Loan Party and the Agent.

"<u>Guarantors</u>" means the Ultimate Parent, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, the Parent, the Subsidiary Loan Parties, each Newco Senior Guarantor and each Newco Subordinated Guarantor.

"<u>Hazardous Materials</u>" means (a) any petroleum products or byproducts and all other hydrocarbons, coal ash, radon gas, asbestos, urea formaldehyde foam insulation, polychlorinated biphenyls, chlorofluorocarbons and all other ozone-depleting substances; or (b) any chemical, material, substance or waste that is prohibited, limited or regulated by or pursuant to any applicable Environmental Law.

"Indebtedness" of any Person means, without duplication, (a) all obligations of such Person for borrowed money or with respect to deposits or advances of any kind, (b) all obligations of such Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes or similar instruments, (c) all obligations of such Person under conditional sale agreements relating to property acquired by such Person, (d) all obligations of such Person in respect of the deferred purchase price of property or services (excluding current accounts payable incurred in the ordinary course of business), (e) all Indebtedness of others secured by (or for which the holder of such Indebtedness has an existing right, contingent or otherwise, to be secured by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by such Person, whether or not the Indebtedness secured thereby has been assumed, (f) all Guarantees by such Person of Indebtedness of others, (g) all Capital Lease Obligations of such Person, (h) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person as an account party in respect of letters of credit and letters of guaranty and (i) all obligations, contingent or otherwise, of such Person in respect of bankers' acceptances. The Indebtedness of any Person shall include the Indebtedness of any other entity (including any partnership in which such Person is a general partner) to the extent such Person is liable therefor as a result of such Person's ownership interest in or other relationship with such entity, except to the extent the terms of such Indebtedness provide that such Person is not liable therefor.

"Indemnified Taxes" means Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, imposed on or with respect to any payment made by or on account of any obligation of any Loan Party under any Loan Document and Other Taxes.

"Indemnitee" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.03(b).

"Independent Financial Advisor" means an accounting, appraisal or investment banking firm of national standing or any third party appraiser or recognized expert with experience in appraising the terms and conditions of the type of transaction or series of related transactions for which an opinion is required; provided, that such firm or appraiser is not an Affiliate of the Borrower.

"Information" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.12.

"Intellectual Property" means the collective reference to all rights, priorities and privileges relating to intellectual property, whether arising under United States, multinational or foreign laws or otherwise, including copyrights, copyright licenses, patents, patent licenses, trademarks, trademark licenses, technology, know-how and processes, and all rights to sue at law or in equity for any infringement or other impairment thereof, including the right to receive all proceeds and damages therefrom.

"Intercreditor Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Intercreditor and Collateral Agency Agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit D, entered into among the Agent on behalf of the Secured Parties, the Shared Collateral Agent on behalf of the Shared Collateral Secured Parties, the administrative agent and collateral agent under the Dex East Credit Agreement, the administrative agent and collateral agent under the RHDI Credit Agreement and the administrative agent and collateral agent under the SuperMedia Credit Agreement.

"Interest Coverage Ratio" means, with respect to the Borrower and for any period of four consecutive fiscal quarters ending on any date of determination, the ratio of (a) Consolidated EBITDA for such period to (b) Consolidated Cash Interest Expense for such period.

"Interest Election Request" means a request by the Borrower to convert or continue a Borrowing in accordance with Section 2.03.

"Interest Payment Date" means (a) with respect to any ABR Loan, the last day of each March, June, September and December and (b) with respect to any Eurodollar Loan, the last day of the Interest Period applicable to the Borrowing of which such Loan is a part and, in the case of a Eurodollar Borrowing with an Interest Period of more than three months' duration, each day prior to the last day of such Interest Period that occurs at intervals of three months' duration after the first day of such Interest Period.

"Interest Period" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing, the period commencing on the date of such Borrowing and ending on the numerically corresponding day in the calendar month that is one, two, three or six months thereafter, as the Borrower may elect; provided, that (a) if any Interest Period would end on a day other than a Business Day, such Interest Period shall be extended to the next succeeding Business Day unless such next succeeding Business Day would fall in the next calendar month, in which case such Interest Period shall end on the next preceding Business Day and (b) any Interest Period that commences on the last Business Day of a calendar month (or on a day for which there is no numerically corresponding day in the last calendar month of such Interest Period) shall end on the last Business Day of the last calendar month of such Interest Period. For purposes hereof, the

date of a Borrowing initially shall be the date on which such Borrowing is made and thereafter shall be the effective date of the most recent conversion or continuation of such Borrowing.

"Investment" means purchasing, holding or acquiring (including pursuant to any merger with any Person that was not a wholly owned Subsidiary prior to such merger) any Equity Interest, evidences of indebtedness or other securities (including any option, warrant or other right to acquire any of the foregoing) of, or making or permitting to exist any loans or advances (other than commercially reasonable extensions of trade credit) to, guaranteeing any obligations of, or making or permitting to exist any investment in, any other Person, or purchasing or otherwise acquiring (in one transaction or a series of transactions) any assets of any Person constituting a business unit. The amount, as of any date of determination, of any Investment shall be the original cost of such Investment (including any Indebtedness of a Person existing at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary in connection with any Investment and any Indebtedness assumed in connection with any acquisition of assets), plus the cost of all additions, as of such date, thereto and minus the amount, as of such date, of any portion of such Investment repaid to the investor in cash or property as a repayment of principal or a return of capital (including pursuant to any sale or disposition of such Investment), as the case may be, but without any other adjustments for increases or decreases in value, or write-ups, write-downs or write-offs with respect to such Investment. In determining the amount of any Investment or repayment involving a transfer of any property other than cash, such property shall be valued at its fair market value at the time of such transfer.

"Lenders" has the meaning assigned to such term in the preamble to this Agreement.

"<u>Leverage Ratio</u>" means, on any date, the ratio of (a) Total Indebtedness as of such date to (b) Consolidated EBITDA for the period of four consecutive fiscal quarters of the Borrower ended on such date.

"LIBO Rate" means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowing for any Interest Period, the greater of (a) the rate per annum determined on the basis of the rate for deposits in dollars for a period equal to such Interest Period commencing on the first day of such Interest Period appearing on Reuters Screen LIBOR 01 Page as of 11:00 A.M., London time, two Business Days prior to the beginning of such Interest Period (or in the event that such rate does not appear on Reuters Screen LIBOR 01 Page (or otherwise on such screen), the "LIBO Rate" shall be determined by reference to such other comparable publicly available service for displaying eurodollar rates as may be selected by the Administrative Agent or, in the absence of such availability, by reference to the rate at which the Administrative Agent is offered Dollar deposits at or about 10:00 A.M., New York City time, two Business Days prior to the beginning of such Interest Period in the interbank eurodollar market where its eurodollar and foreign currency and exchange operations are then being conducted for delivery on the first day of such Interest Period for the number of days comprised therein and (b) 3.00%.

"<u>License Agreement</u>" means an agreement, substantially in the form of Exhibit H hereto, pursuant to which each License Subsidiary shall grant a license to use trademarks to the Ultimate Parent and each Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent.

"License Subsidiary" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.01(e).

"<u>Lien</u>" means, with respect to any asset, (a) any mortgage, deed of trust, lien, pledge, hypothecation, encumbrance, charge or security interest in, on or of such asset, (b) the interest of a vendor or a lessor under any conditional sale agreement, capital lease or title retention agreement (or any financing lease having substantially the same economic effect as any of the foregoing) relating to such

asset and (c) in the case of securities, any purchase option, call or similar right of a third party with respect to such securities.

"Loan Documents" means this Agreement, the Intercreditor Agreement, the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, the Security Documents and the Shared Collateral Security Documents.

"Loan Parties" means the Borrower and the Guarantors.

"Loan" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.01(a).

"Long Term Indebtedness" means any Indebtedness that, in accordance with GAAP, constitutes (or, when incurred, constituted) a long-term liability. For purposes of determining the Long Term Indebtedness of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries, Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary owed to the Borrower or a Subsidiary shall be excluded.

"<u>Margin Stock</u>" shall have the meaning assigned to such term in Regulation U of the Board.

"<u>Master IP License Agreement</u>" means an agreement substantially in the form of Exhibit I hereto.

"Material Adverse Effect" means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, assets, property, material agreements, liabilities, financial condition or results of operations of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, or (b) the validity or enforceability of this Agreement or any of the other Loan Documents or the rights and remedies of the Agent or the Lenders under any of the Loan Documents.

"Material Indebtedness" means Indebtedness (other than the Loans and the Subordinated Guarantee but including, for the avoidance of doubt, Guarantees (other than the Subordinated Guarantee)), or obligations in respect of one or more Swap Agreements, of any one or more of the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex East, SuperMedia and their respective Subsidiaries, but including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, Dex Media Service, any Newcos, the Parent, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries), in an aggregate principal amount exceeding \$25,000,000. For purposes of determining Material Indebtedness, the "principal amount" of the obligations of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any Swap Agreement at any time shall be the maximum aggregate amount (giving effect to any netting agreements) that the Ultimate Parent or such Subsidiary would be required to pay if such Swap Agreement were terminated at such time.

"Material Subsidiary" means any Subsidiary which meets any of the following conditions: (a) the Borrower's and the other Subsidiaries' investments in and advances to such Subsidiary exceed 5% of the consolidated total assets of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter, (b) the consolidated assets of such Subsidiary exceed 5% of the consolidated total assets of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter or (c) the consolidated pre-tax income from continuing operations of such Subsidiary for the most recently ended period of four consecutive fiscal quarters exceeds 5% of the consolidated pre-tax income from continuing operations of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries for such period.

"<u>Material Ultimate Parent Subsidiary</u>" means (i) any License Subsidiary and (ii) any Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent (other than RHDI, Dex East, SuperMedia and their respective

Subsidiaries) which meets any of the following conditions: (a) the Ultimate Parent's and its other Subsidiaries' aggregate investments in and advances to such Subsidiary exceed \$10,000,000 as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter, (b) the consolidated assets of such Subsidiary exceed \$10,000,000 as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal quarter or (c) the consolidated pre-tax income from continuing operations of such Subsidiary for the most recently ended period of four consecutive fiscal quarters exceeds \$5,000,000.

"Maturity Date" means December 31, 2016, or, if such day is not a Business Day, the next preceding Business Day.

"Maximum Rate" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.13.

"Merger Agreement" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Merger Sub" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Mergers" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Moody's" means Moody's Investors Service, Inc.

"Mortgage" means any mortgage, deed of trust, assignment of leases and rents, leasehold mortgage or other security document granting a Lien on any real property and improvements thereto to secure the Obligations delivered after the Closing Date pursuant to Section 5.12. Each Mortgage shall be satisfactory in form and substance to the Collateral Agent.

"Mortgage Amendment" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 4.01(a).

"<u>Mortgage Endorsement</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in clause (g) of the definition of "Collateral and Guarantee Requirement".

"Mortgaged Property" means each parcel of real property and improvements thereto listed on Schedule 1.01B and each other parcel of real property and improvements thereto owned by a Dex West Loan Party with respect to which a Mortgage is granted pursuant to Section 5.12.

"<u>Multiemployer Plan</u>" means a multiemployer plan as defined in Section 4001(a)(3) of ERISA.

"Net Proceeds" means, with respect to any event (a) the cash proceeds received in respect of such event including (i) any cash received in respect of any non-cash proceeds, including cash received in respect of any debt instrument or equity security received as non-cash proceeds, but only as and when received, (ii) in the case of a casualty, insurance proceeds, and (iii) in the case of a condemnation or similar event, condemnation awards and similar payments, net of (b) the sum of (i) all reasonable fees and out-of-pocket expenses (including underwriting discounts and commissions and collection expenses) paid or payable by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof to third parties (including Affiliates, if permitted by Section 6.09) in connection with such event, (ii) in the case of a sale, transfer or other disposition of an asset (including pursuant to a sale and leaseback transaction or a casualty or a condemnation or similar proceeding), the amount of all payments required to be made by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof as a result of such event to repay Indebtedness (other than Loans) secured by such asset or otherwise subject to mandatory prepayment as a result of such event, including, for the avoidance of doubt, in the case of an Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition, payments required to be made by the Loan

Parties or any Subsidiary thereof pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement (it being understood that this clause shall not apply to customary asset sale provisions in offerings of debt securities) and (iii) the amount of all taxes paid (or reasonably estimated to be payable) by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof (provided that such amounts withheld or estimated for the payment of taxes shall, to the extent not utilized for the payment of taxes, be deemed to be Net Proceeds received when such nonutilization is determined), and the amount of any reserves established by the Loan Parties or any Subsidiary thereof to fund contingent liabilities reasonably estimated to be payable, in each case that are directly attributable to such event (provided that such reserves and escrowed amounts shall be disclosed to the Administrative Agent promptly upon being taken or made and any reversal of any such reserves will be deemed to be Net Proceeds received at the time and in the amount of such reversal), in each case as determined reasonably and in good faith by the chief financial officer of the Borrower; provided that for the purposes of calculating the Net Proceeds of an Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition, payments made (or reasonably estimated to be payable) under the Tax Sharing Agreements shall be deducted in the same manner as taxes paid (or reasonably estimated to be payable) under clause (b)(iii) above.

"Newco" means any Subsidiary (direct or indirect) of the Ultimate Parent (other than SuperMedia and its Subsidiaries) acquired or formed by the Ultimate Parent after the Closing Date other than a Subsidiary of the Borrower, Dex East, RHDI or SuperMedia.

"Newco Senior Guarantor" means any Newco the acquisition or formation of which is accomplished, directly or indirectly, using cash or other credit support (including debt service) provided by the Borrower, any Subsidiary or any other Newco Senior Guarantor or in which any Investment is made by the Borrower, any Subsidiary or any other Newco Senior Guarantor.

"Newco Subordinated Guarantee" has the meaning assigned to such term in clause (e) of the definition of "Collateral and Guarantee Requirement".

"Newco Subordinated Guarantor" means any Newco other than a Newco Senior Guarantor.

"Newdex" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Obligations" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

"Optional Repurchase" means, with respect to any outstanding Indebtedness, any optional or voluntary repurchase, redemption or prepayment made in cash of such Indebtedness, the related payment in cash of accrued interest to the date of such repurchase, redemption or prepayment on the principal amount of such Indebtedness repurchased, redeemed or prepaid, the payment in cash of associated premiums (whether voluntary or mandatory) on such principal amount and the cash payment of other fees and expenses incurred in connection with such repurchase, redemption or prepayment.

"Original Restatement Date" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this Agreement.

"Other Taxes" means any and all present or future recording, stamp, documentary, excise, transfer, sales, property or similar Taxes, charges or levies arising from any payment made under any Loan Document or from the execution, delivery or enforcement of, or otherwise with respect to, any Loan Document.

"Parent" means Dex Media, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

- "Participant" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04(c)(i).
- "Participant Register" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04(c)(iii).
- "Payment Percentage" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(b).

"PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation referred to and defined in ERISA and any successor entity performing similar functions.

"Permitted Acquisitions" means any acquisition (by merger, consolidation or otherwise) by the Borrower or a Subsidiary Loan Party of all or substantially all the assets of, or all the Equity Interests in, a Person or division or line of business of a Person, if (a) both before and immediately after giving effect thereto, no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing or would result therefrom, (b) such acquired Person is organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof or the District of Columbia and substantially all the business of such acquired Person or business consists of one or more Permitted Businesses and not less than 80% of the consolidated gross operating revenues of such acquired Person or business for the most recently ended period of twelve months is derived from domestic operations in the United States of America, (c) each Subsidiary resulting from such acquisition (and which survives such acquisition) other than any Foreign Subsidiary, shall be a Subsidiary Loan Party and at least 80% of the Equity Interests of each such Subsidiary shall be owned directly by the Borrower and/or Subsidiary Loan Parties and shall have been (or within ten Business Days (or such longer period as may be acceptable to the Agent) after such acquisition shall be) pledged pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement (subject to the limitations of the pledge of Equity Interests of Foreign Subsidiaries set forth in the definition of "Collateral and Guarantee Requirement"), (d) the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement shall have been (or within ten Business Days (or such longer period as may be acceptable to the Agent) after such acquisition shall be) satisfied with respect to each such Subsidiary, (e) the Borrower and the Subsidiaries are in Pro Forma Compliance after giving effect to such acquisition and (f) the Borrower has delivered to the Agent an officer's certificate to the effect set forth in clauses (a), (b), (c), (d) and (e) above, together with all relevant financial information for the Person or assets acquired and reasonably detailed calculations demonstrating satisfaction of the requirement set forth in clause (e) above.

"<u>Permitted Business</u>" means the telephone and internet directory services businesses and businesses reasonably related, incidental or ancillary thereto.

"Permitted Encumbrances" means:

- (a) Liens imposed by law for taxes that are not yet due or are being contested in compliance with Section 5.05;
- (b) carriers', warehousemen's, mechanics', materialmen's, landlord's, repairmen's and other like Liens imposed by law, arising in the ordinary course of business and securing obligations that are not overdue by more than 30 days or are being contested in compliance with Section 5.05:
- (c) pledges and deposits made in the ordinary course of business in compliance with workers' compensation, unemployment insurance and other social security laws or regulations;
- (d) deposits to secure the performance of bids, trade contracts, leases, statutory obligations, surety and appeal bonds, performance bonds and other obligations of a like nature, in each case in the ordinary course of business;

- (e) judgment Liens in respect of judgments or attachments that do not constitute a Default or an Event of Default under clause (k) of Article VII; <u>provided</u> that any such Lien is released within 30 days following the creation thereof;
- (f) easements, zoning restrictions, rights-of-way and similar encumbrances on real property imposed by law or arising in the ordinary course of business that are not substantial in amount and do not, or could not reasonably be expected to, materially detract from the value of the affected property or interfere with the ordinary conduct of business of the Borrower or any Subsidiary or, for purposes of (i) Section 6.16, the Parent, (ii) Section 6.17, the Ultimate Parent or (iii) Section 6.18, the Service Company;
- (g) Liens arising solely by virtue of any statutory or common law provisions relating to bankers' Liens, rights of set-off or similar rights and remedies as to deposit accounts or other funds maintained with a creditor depositary institution;
- (h) any interest or title of a lessor under any lease entered into by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of the Borrower or, for purposes of (i) Section 6.16, the Parent, (ii) Section 6.17, the Ultimate Parent or (iii) Section 6.18, the Service Company, in the ordinary course of its business and covering only the assets so leased;
- (i) the licensing or sublicensing (other than exclusive licenses or sublicenses) of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business in a manner that does not, or could not reasonably be expected to, materially interfere with the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries; and
- (j) any provision for the retention of title to any property by the vendor or transferor of such property, which property is acquired by the Borrower or a Subsidiary of the Borrower or, for purposes of (i) Section 6.16, the Parent, (ii) Section 6.17, the Ultimate Parent or (iii) Section 6.18, the Service Company, in a transaction entered into in the ordinary course of business of the Borrower or such Subsidiary of the Borrower, or, for purposes of (A) Section 6.16, the Parent, (B) Section 6.17, the Ultimate Parent or (C) Section 6.18, the Service Company, and for which kind of transaction it is normal market practice for such retention of title provision to be included;

provided, that the term "Permitted Encumbrances" shall not include any Lien securing Indebtedness.

"Permitted Investments" means:

- (a) direct obligations of, or obligations the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed by, the United States of America (or by any agency thereof to the extent such obligations are backed by the full faith and credit of the United States of America), in each case maturing or allowing for liquidation at the original par value at the option of the holder within one year from the date of acquisition thereof;
- (b) investments in commercial paper (other than commercial paper issued by the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower or any of their Affiliates) maturing within 270 days from the date of acquisition thereof and having, at such date of acquisition, the highest credit rating obtainable from S&P or from Moody's;
- (c) investments in certificates of deposit, banker's acceptances, time deposits or overnight bank deposits maturing within 180 days from the date of acquisition thereof issued or guaranteed by or placed with, and money market deposit accounts issued or offered by, any domestic office

of any commercial bank organized under the laws of the United States of America or any State thereof which has a combined capital and surplus and undivided profits of not less than \$500,000,000, and having a debt rating of "A-1" or better from S&P or "P-1" or better from Moody's;

- (d) fully collateralized repurchase agreements with a term of not more than 30 days for securities described in clause (a) above and entered into with a financial institution satisfying the criteria described in clause (c) above; and
- (e) money market funds that (i) comply with the criteria set forth in Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 2a-7 under the Investment Company Act of 1940, (ii) are rated AAA by S&P and Aaa by Moody's and (iii) have portfolio assets of at least \$5,000,000,000.

"Permitted Subordinated Indebtedness" means (a) the Subordinated Guarantee and (b) Indebtedness of the Borrower which (i) does not mature, and is not subject to mandatory repurchase, redemption or amortization (other than pursuant to customary asset sale or change in control provisions requiring redemption or repurchase only if and to the extent then permitted by this Agreement), in each case, prior to the date that is six months after the Maturity Date, (ii) is not secured by any assets of the Borrower or any Subsidiary, (iii) is not exchangeable or convertible into Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary or any preferred stock or other Equity Interest (other than common equity of the Ultimate Parent, provided that any such exchange or conversion, if effected, would not result in a Change in Control or Default) and (iv) is, together with any Guarantee thereof by any Subsidiary, subordinated to the Obligations pursuant to a written instrument delivered to the Administrative Agent and having subordination terms that are no less favorable to the Lenders than the subordination terms set forth in the Restructuring Notes Indenture and that are otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

"<u>Person</u>" means any natural person, corporation, limited liability company, trust, joint venture, association, company, partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity.

 $\mbox{ ["}\underline{\mbox{Petition Date}"}$ has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals to this $\mbox{ Agreement.]}^{15}$

"<u>Plan</u>" means any employee pension benefit plan (other than a Multiemployer Plan) subject to the provisions of Title IV of ERISA or Section 412 of the Code or Section 302 of ERISA, and in respect of which any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate is (or, if such plan were terminated, would under Section 4062 of ERISA be deemed to be) an "employer" as defined in Section 3(5) of ERISA.

"<u>Prepayment Event</u>" means any (a) Asset Disposition, (b) Equity Issuance or (c) Debt Issuance.

"<u>Prime Rate</u>" means the rate of interest per annum publicly announced from time to time by JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. as its prime rate in effect at its principal office in New York City; each change in the Prime Rate shall be effective from and including the date such change is publicly announced as being effective.

"<u>Pro Forma Compliance</u>" means, with respect to any event, that the Borrower is in <u>proforma</u> compliance with Section 6.14 recomputed as if the event with respect to which Pro Forma Compliance is being tested had occurred on the first day of the four fiscal quarter period most recently

-Active.13517265.11

¹⁵ To be included if applicable

ended on or prior to such date for which financial statements have been delivered pursuant to Section 5.01.

"Qualifying Loans" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(c).

"Qwest" means Qwest Communications International Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Qwest Corp." means Qwest Corporation, a Colorado corporation.

"Qwest Services" means Qwest Services Corporation, a Colorado corporation.

"Range" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.15(b).

"Refinanced Debt" has the meaning assigned to such term in the definition of "Refinancing Indebtedness".

"Refinancing Indebtedness" means Indebtedness issued or incurred (including by means of the extension or renewal of existing Indebtedness) to extend, renew or refinance existing Indebtedness ("Refinanced Debt"); provided, that (a) such extending, renewing or refinancing Indebtedness is in an original aggregate principal amount not greater than the aggregate principal amount of, and unpaid interest on, the Refinanced Debt plus the amount of any premiums paid thereon and fees and expenses associated therewith, (b) such Indebtedness has a later maturity and a longer weighted average life than the Refinanced Debt, (c) such Indebtedness bears a market interest rate (as reasonably determined in good faith by the board of directors of the Borrower) as of the time of its issuance or incurrence, (d) if the Refinanced Debt or any Guarantees thereof are subordinated to the Obligations, such Indebtedness and Guarantees thereof are subordinated to the Obligations on terms no less favorable to the holders of the Obligations than the subordination terms of such Refinanced Debt or Guarantees thereof (and no Loan Party that has not guaranteed such Refinanced Debt guarantees such Indebtedness), (e) such Indebtedness contains covenants and events of default and is benefited by Guarantees (if any) which, taken as a whole, are reasonably determined in good faith by the board of directors of the Borrower not to be materially less favorable to the Lenders than the covenants and events of default of or Guarantees (if any) in respect of such Refinanced Debt, (f) if such Refinanced Debt or any Guarantees thereof are secured, such Indebtedness and any Guarantees thereof are either unsecured or secured only by such assets as secured the Refinanced Debt and Guarantees thereof, (g) if such Refinanced Debt and any Guarantees thereof are unsecured, such Indebtedness and Guarantees thereof are also unsecured, (h) such Indebtedness is issued only by the issuer of such Refinanced Indebtedness and (i) the proceeds of such Indebtedness are applied promptly (and in any event within 45 days) after receipt thereof to the repayment of such Refinanced Debt.

"Register" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 9.04.

"Registration Statement on Form S-4" means the Registration Statement on Form S-4 filed by the Ultimate Parent with the Securities and Exchange Commission on [].

"Reinvestment" has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.06(b).

"Related Parties" means, with respect to any specified Person, such Person's Affiliates and the directors, officers, employees, agents, trustees, Controlling Persons and advisors of such Person and of each of such Person's Affiliates.

"Release" means any actual or threatened release, spill, emission, leaking, dumping, injection, pouring, deposit, disposal, discharge, dispersal, leaching or migration into or through the environment or within or upon any building, structure, facility or fixture.

["Reorganization Plan" means the Debtors' Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan for the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries, including any exhibits, supplements, appendices and schedules thereto, dated [], 2013, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with the Dex Support Agreement and as confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to the Confirmation Order.]¹⁶

"Required Lenders" means, at any time, Lenders having Loans representing more than 50% of the sum of the total outstanding Loans at such time.

"Required Percentage" means (a) in the case of an Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition, an Asset Disposition, a Debt Issuance or an Equity Issuance by the Borrower or any Subsidiary, 100%, provided that, in the case of an Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition, to the extent that no amount is deducted in the calculation of the Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition because no amount is paid to and distributed by the Subordinated Guarantee Agent pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, "Required Percentage" shall mean the percentage that the Dex West Credit Parties (as defined in the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement) would have received pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement if the Net Proceeds had been paid to and distributed by the Subordinated Guarantee Agent pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, and (b) in the case of an Equity Issuance by the Ultimate Parent, 50%.

"Restricted Payment" means, with respect to any Person, any dividend or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property) with respect to any Equity Interests in such Person, or any payment (whether in cash, securities or other property), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, cancellation, termination or amendment of any Equity Interests in such Person or of any option, warrant or other right to acquire any such Equity Interests in such Person.

"Restructuring Notes" means the 12%/14% Senior Subordinated Notes due 2017 of the Ultimate Parent issued pursuant to the Restructuring Notes Indenture in an aggregate principal of \$300,000,000 on the Original Restatement Date.

"<u>Restructuring Notes Indenture</u>" means the Indenture, dated the date hereof, between the Ultimate Parent and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee.

"RHDC" means R.H. Donnelley Corporation, a Delaware corporation.

"RHDI" means R.H. Donnelley Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"RHDI Credit Agreement" means (a) the Fourth Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of the Closing Date (as further amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time), among the Ultimate Parent, RHDI, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as administrative agent, and (b) any other credit agreement, loan agreement, note agreement, promissory note, indenture or other agreement or instrument evidencing or governing the terms of any Indebtedness or other financial accommodation that has been incurred to refinance (whether

-Active.13517265.11

¹⁶ To be included if applicable

by the same or different banks) in whole or in part (under one or more agreements) the Indebtedness and other obligations outstanding under the RHDI Credit Agreement referred to in clause (a) above or any other agreement or instrument referred to in this clause (b) (including, without limitation, adding or removing any Person as a borrower, guarantor or other obligor thereunder).

"RHDI Existing Credit Agreement" means the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of January 29, 2010, among the Ultimate Parent, RHDI, as borrower, the several lenders from time to time party thereto and Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as administrative agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the effectiveness of the RHDI Credit Agreement.

"RHDI Loan Documents" means the "Loan Documents" as defined in the RHDI Credit Agreement.

"S&P" means Standard & Poor's Financial Services LLC.

"Secured Parties" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

"Security Documents" means the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the Mortgages and each other security agreement or other instrument or document executed and delivered by any Dex East Loan Party pursuant to Section 5.11 or 5.12 or pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement to secure any of the Obligations.

"Service Company" means Dex One Service, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

"Shared Assets" means any asset (including intellectual property rights) owned by the Service Company or any License Subsidiary.

"Shared Collateral Agent" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., in its capacity as collateral agent for the Shared Collateral Secured Parties, pursuant to the terms of the Intercreditor Agreement.

"Shared Collateral Loan Parties" means the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, and each Newco that is a party to the Shared Collateral Security Documents.

"Shared Collateral Secured Parties" has the meaning as set forth in the Intercreditor Agreement.

"Shared Collateral Security Documents" means the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, the Newco Subordinated Guarantees, any mortgage and each other security agreement or other instruments or documents executed and delivered by any Shared Collateral Loan Party pursuant to Section 5.12 or pursuant to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement to secure any of the Dex West Obligations.

"Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Guarantee and Collateral Agreement among each Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Newco Subordinated Guarantors) and the Shared Collateral Agent, substantially in the form of Exhibit C.

"Shared Services" means the centralized, shared or pooled services, undertakings and arrangements which are provided by the Service Company or any of its Subsidiaries to or for the benefit of the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement, including, without limitation, the acquisition and ownership of assets by the Service Company or any of its Subsidiaries used in the provision of the foregoing and centralized payroll, benefits and account payable operations.

"Shared Services Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Shared Services Agreement, dated as of the date hereof, among the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower and the other Subsidiaries of the Ultimate Parent party thereto, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit E hereto.

"Shared Services Transactions" means, collectively, (a) the engagement of the Service Company for the provision of Shared Services pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement, (b) sales, transfers and other dispositions of assets to the Service Company or any of its Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement for use in the provision of Shared Services, (c) the transfer of employees of the Loan Parties to the Service Company or any of its Subsidiaries for the provision of Shared Services pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement and (d) payments, distributions and other settlement of payment obligations by the recipient of Shared Services to, or for ultimate payment to, the provider of such Shared Services pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement in respect of the provision of such Shared Services (including, without limitation, the prefunding in accordance with the Shared Services Agreement of certain such payment obligations in connection with the establishment of the payment and settlement arrangements under the Shared Services Agreement); provided, that all such payments. distributions and settlements shall reflect a fair and reasonable allocation of the costs of such Shared Services in accordance with the terms of the Shared Services Agreement (it being understood and agreed that payments in respect of tax liabilities or tax attributes pursuant to the Tax Sharing Agreements shall not constitute Shared Services Transactions; provided, further, that the foregoing shall not restrict the ability of the Borrower to make Restricted Payments (i) pursuant to Section 6.08(a)(iii) to the Service Company in respect of tax liabilities incurred by the Service Company in connection with the performance of its obligations under the Shared Services Agreement).

"Specified Charges" means (a) out-of-pocket costs, fees and expenses for attorneys, auditors, accountants, consultants, and advisors retained by the Borrower incurred in connection with the Mergers, this Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, costs, fees, and expenses incurred in connection with satisfying the conditions precedent in Sections 4.01(e) and 4.01(f)), and the transactions contemplated by the Dex Support Agreement[, including, incurred in connection with the events leading up to, and throughout, the ongoing administration of the Chapter 11 Cases]¹⁷ and (b) out-of-pocket costs, fees and expenses for attorneys, auditors, accountants, consultants, and advisors retained by the Administrative Agent and the steering committee Lenders and reimbursed by the Borrower (without, including without limitation, the fees and expenses of the Administrative Agent and the steering committee Lenders) incurred in connection with this Agreement (including, for the avoidance of doubt, costs, fees, and expenses incurred in connection with satisfying the conditions precedent in Sections 4.01(e) and 4.01(f)), and the transactions contemplated by the Dex Support Agreement[, including, incurred in connection with the events leading up to, and throughout, the ongoing administration of the Chapter 11 Cases]¹⁸.

¹⁷ To be included if applicable

¹⁸ To be included if applicable

"Statutory Reserve Rate" means a fraction (expressed as a decimal), the numerator of which is the number one and the denominator of which is the number one minus the aggregate of the maximum reserve percentages (including any marginal, special, emergency or supplemental reserves) expressed as a decimal established by the Board to which the Administrative Agent is subject with respect to eurocurrency funding (currently referred to as "Eurocurrency Liabilities" in Regulation D of the Board). Such reserve percentages shall include those imposed pursuant to such Regulation D. Eurodollar Loans shall be deemed to constitute eurocurrency funding and to be subject to such reserve requirements without benefit of or credit for proration, exemptions or offsets that may be available from time to time to any Lender under such Regulation D or any comparable regulation. The Statutory Reserve Rate shall be adjusted automatically on and as of the effective date of any change in any reserve percentage.

"Subordinated Guarantee" means the Guarantee made by the Borrower pursuant to the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement.

"Subordinated Guarantee Agent" has the meaning assigned to such term in the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement.

"Subordinated Guarantee Agreement" means the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, dated the date hereof, attached hereto as Exhibit G, among the Borrower, Dex East, RHDI and SuperMedia.

"Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person (the "parent") at any date, any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity the accounts of which would be consolidated with those of the parent in the parent's consolidated financial statements if such financial statements were prepared in accordance with GAAP as of such date, as well as any other corporation, limited liability company, partnership, association or other entity of which securities or other ownership interests representing more than 50% of the equity or more than 50% of the ordinary voting power or, in the case of a partnership, more than 50% of the general partnership interests are, as of such date, owned, Controlled or held by the parent or one or more Subsidiaries of the parent or by the parent and one or more Subsidiaries of the parent. Unless otherwise qualified, all references to a "Subsidiary" or to "Subsidiaries" in this Agreement shall refer to a Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of the Borrower.

"<u>Subsidiary Loan Party</u>" means any Subsidiary of the Borrower that is not a Foreign Subsidiary.

"SuperMedia" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals of this Agreement.

"SuperMedia Credit Agreement" means (a) the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2009, as amended and restated as of the date hereof (as further amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time), among SuperMedia, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent and (b) any other credit agreement, loan agreement, note agreement, promissory note, indenture or other agreement or instrument evidencing or governing the terms of any Indebtedness or other financial accommodation that has been incurred to refinance (whether by the same or different banks) in whole or in part (under one or more agreements) the Indebtedness and other obligations outstanding under the SuperMedia Credit Agreement referred to in clause (a) above or any other agreement or instrument referred to in this clause (b) (including, without limitation, adding or removing any Person as a borrower, guarantor or other obligor thereunder).

"SuperMedia Existing Credit Agreement" means the Amended and Restated Loan Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2009, (as further amended, restated, amended and restated,

supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time), among SuperMedia, the several banks and other financial institutions or entities from time to time party thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as administrative agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified prior to the effectiveness of the SuperMedia Credit Agreement.

"SuperMedia Loan Documents" means the "Loan Documents" as defined in the SuperMedia Credit Agreement.

"SuperMedia Merger" has the meaning assigned to such term in the recitals of this Agreement.

"SuperMedia Tax Sharing Agreement" means the Tax Sharing Agreement in the form of Exhibit L hereto, dated the date hereof, among SuperMedia, SuperMedia Sales Inc., SuperMedia Services Inc., Newdex, Dex One and the Service Company.

"Swap Agreement" means any agreement with respect to any swap, forward, future or derivative transaction or option or similar agreement involving, or settled by reference to, one or more rates, currencies, commodities, equity or debt instruments or securities, or economic, financial or pricing indices or measures of economic, financial or pricing risk or value or any similar transaction or any combination of these transactions; provided that no phantom stock or similar plan providing for payments only on account of services provided by current or former directors, officers, employees or consultants of the Borrower or the Subsidiaries shall be a Swap Agreement.

"Syndication Agent" means Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, in its capacity as syndication agent.

"<u>Tax Payments</u>" means payments for (i) the net amounts payable by the Borrower pursuant to the Tax Sharing Agreements for the current tax period and (ii) to the extent not duplicative with (i), taxes which are not determined by reference to income, but which are imposed on a direct or indirect owner of the Borrower as a result of such owner's ownership of the equity of the Borrower.

"<u>Tax Sharing Agreements</u>" means, collectively, the Dex Tax Sharing Agreement and the SuperMedia Tax Sharing Agreement (each, individually, a "<u>Tax Sharing Agreement</u>").

"<u>Taxes</u>" means any and all present or future taxes, levies, imposts, duties, deductions, charges, fees, assessments or withholdings (including backup withholding) imposed by any Governmental Authority, including any interest, additions to tax or penalties applicable thereto.

"<u>Title Company</u>" has the meaning assigned to such term in clause (g) of the definition of "Collateral and Guarantee Requirement".

"Total Indebtedness" means, as of any date, an amount equal to (a) the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries outstanding as of such date, other than the Subordinated Guarantee, determined on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP minus, solely for purposes of Section 6.14, (b) the lesser of (i) the aggregate unencumbered cash and Permitted Investments (provided that any such cash and Permitted Investments to the extent subject to a Lien created under the Loan Documents or otherwise subject to a Permitted Encumbrance shall be deemed to be unencumbered for purposes of this definition) maintained by the Borrower and the Subsidiaries as of such date and (ii) \$25,000,000; provided, that the amount of such Indebtedness shall be (A) without regard to the effects of purchase method of accounting requiring that the amount of such Indebtedness be valued at its fair market value instead of its outstanding principal amount and (B) determined exclusive of

(x) any reimbursement obligations and intercompany non-cash obligations constituting intercompany Indebtedness or Attributable Debt owing to the Service Company incurred pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions and (y) any letters of credit to the extent cash collateralized in reliance on Section 6.02(a)(vi).

"<u>Transactions</u>" means (a) the execution, delivery and performance by each Loan Party of the Loan Documents to which it is to be a party, (b) [the effectiveness and consummation of the Reorganization Plan pursuant to the Confirmation Order (including, without limitation, the consummation of the Mergers) and]¹⁹ and (c) the payment of fees and expenses in connection with [clause (b) hereof and]²⁰ the Amendments and the Loan Documents.

"Type", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowing, refers to whether the rate of interest on such Loan, or on the Loans comprising such Borrowing, is determined by reference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate or the Alternate Base Rate.

"<u>Ultimate Parent</u>" means (i) prior to the Mergers, Dex One, and (ii) after the Mergers, Newdex.

"<u>Ultimate Parent Annual Cash Interest Amount</u>" means, for any fiscal year (or full fiscal year equivalent), an amount equal to 36% of \$36,000,000.

"<u>Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition</u>" means any sale, transfer or other disposition (including pursuant to a public offering or spin-off transaction) by the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof of all or a portion of the Equity Interests of the Borrower, Dex East, RHDI, SuperMedia, Dex Digital, RHDC or any Newco (or substantially all of the assets constituting a business unit, division or line of business thereof).

"<u>Ultimate Parent PIK Election</u>" means the election by the Ultimate Parent to make paidin-kind interest payments on the Restructuring Notes as permitted by the Restructuring Notes Indenture.

"<u>U.S. Person</u>" means "United States person" within the meaning of Section 7701(a)(30) of the Code.

" $\underline{U.S.\ Tax\ Compliance\ Certificate}$ " has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 2.12(e)(ii)(B)(3).

"West Acquisition" means the acquisition by the Borrower pursuant to the West Acquisition Agreement of all of the Equity Interests of GPP LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and the other transactions contemplated by the West Acquisition Agreement and the documents related thereto. Immediately after such acquisition of GPP LLC, the Borrower was merged with and into GPP LLC, which changed its name to "Dex Media West LLC" and on February 1, 2010, Dex Media West LLC merged with and into Dex Media West, Inc., with Dex Media West, Inc. being the surviving entity.

"West Acquisition Agreement" means the Purchase Agreement dated as of August 19, 2002, among Dex, Qwest Services, Qwest and Dex Holdings LLC, as amended by an amendment dated as of September 9, 2003.

¹⁹ To be included if applicable

²⁰ To be included if applicable

"<u>Withdrawal Liability</u>" means liability to a Multiemployer Plan as a result of a complete or partial withdrawal from such Multiemployer Plan, as such terms are defined in Title IV of ERISA.

Section 1.02 <u>Classification of Loans and Borrowings</u>. For purposes of this Agreement, Loans may be classified and referred to by Type (<u>e.g.</u>, a "Eurodollar Loan"). Borrowings also may be classified and referred to by Type (e.g., a "Eurodollar Borrowing").

Terms Generally. The definitions of terms herein shall apply equally to Section 1.03 the singular and plural forms of the terms defined. Whenever the context may require, any pronoun shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine and neuter forms. The words "include", "includes" and "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation". The word "will" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect as the word "shall". Unless the context requires otherwise (a) any definition of or reference to any agreement, instrument or other document herein shall be construed as referring to such agreement, instrument or other document as from time to time amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified (subject to any restrictions on such amendments, restatements, supplements or modifications set forth herein), (b) any reference herein to any Person shall be construed to include such Person's successors and assigns, (c) the words "herein", "hereof" and "hereunder", and words of similar import, shall be construed to refer to this Agreement in its entirety and not to any particular provision hereof, (d) all references herein to Articles, Sections, Exhibits and Schedules shall be construed to refer to Articles and Sections of, and Exhibits and Schedules to, this Agreement and (e) the words "asset" and "property" shall be construed to have the same meaning and effect and to refer to any and all tangible and intangible assets and properties, including cash, securities, accounts and contract rights.

Section 1.04 Accounting Terms; GAAP. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, all terms of an accounting or financial nature shall be construed in accordance with GAAP, as in effect from time to time; provided that, if the Borrower notifies the Administrative Agent that the Borrower requests an amendment to any provision hereof to eliminate the effect of any change occurring after the date hereof in GAAP or in the application thereof on the operation of such provision (or if the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower that the Required Lenders request an amendment to any provision hereof for such purpose), regardless of whether any such notice is given before or after such change in GAAP or in the application thereof, then such provision shall be interpreted on the basis of GAAP as in effect and applied immediately before such change shall have become effective until such notice shall have been withdrawn or such provision amended in accordance herewith. Any reference made in this Agreement or any other Loan Document to any consolidated financial statement or statements of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries means such financial statement or statements prepared on a combined basis for the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries pursuant to GAAP, not utilizing the equity method. Notwithstanding any other provision contained herein, all terms of an accounting or financial nature used herein shall be construed. and all computations of amounts and ratios referred to herein shall be made, without giving effect to any election under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards 159 (or any other Financial Accounting Standard having a similar result or effect) to value any Indebtedness or other liabilities of the Parent, the Borrower or any of their respective Subsidiaries at "fair value", as defined therein.

ARTICLE II

THE CREDITS

Section 2.01 <u>Loans</u>. (a) Subject to the terms and conditions set forth herein, each Existing Loan shall continue to be outstanding and, on and as of the Closing Date, constitute term loans hereunder (the "<u>Loans</u>").

(b) Amounts repaid in respect of Loans may not be reborrowed.

Section 2.02 <u>Borrowings</u>. (a) Subject to Section 2.09, each Borrowing shall be comprised entirely of ABR Loans or Eurodollar Loans as the Borrower may request in accordance herewith.

- (b) At the commencement of each Interest Period for any Eurodollar Borrowing, such Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amount that is an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 and not less than \$5,000,000. Borrowings of more than one Type may be outstanding at the same time; provided that there shall not at any time be more than a total of 15 Eurodollar Borrowings outstanding.
- (c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Borrower shall not be entitled to elect to convert or continue, any Borrowing if the Interest Period requested with respect thereto would end after the Maturity Date.
 - Section 2.03 <u>Interest Elections</u>. (a) The Borrower may elect to convert each Borrowing to a different Type or to continue such Borrowing and, in the case of a Eurodollar Borrowing, may elect Interest Periods therefor, all as provided in this Section. The Borrower may elect different options with respect to different portions of the affected Borrowing, in which case each such portion shall be allocated ratably among the Lenders holding the Loans comprising such Borrowing, and the Loans comprising each such portion shall be considered a separate Borrowing.
- (b) To make an election pursuant to this Section, the Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent of such election by telephone (i) in the case of an election to continue or convert to a Eurodollar Borrowing, by not later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, three Business Days before the date of the proposed continuation or conversion or (ii) in the case of an election to convert to an ABR Borrowing, by not later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, one Business Day before the date of the proposed conversion. Each such telephonic Interest Election Request shall be irrevocable and shall be confirmed promptly by hand delivery or telecopy to the Administrative Agent of a written Interest Election Request in a form approved by the Administrative Agent and signed by the Borrower.
- (c) Each telephonic and written Interest Election Request shall specify the following information in compliance with Section 2.02:
 - (i) the Borrowing to which such Interest Election Request applies and, if different options are being elected with respect to different portions thereof, the portions thereof to be allocated to each resulting Borrowing (in which case the information to be specified pursuant to clauses (iii) and (iv) below shall be specified for each resulting Borrowing);
 - (ii) the effective date of the election made pursuant to such Interest Election Request, which shall be a Business Day;
 - (iii) whether the resulting Borrowing is to be an ABR Borrowing or a Eurodollar Borrowing; and
 - (iv) if the resulting Borrowing is a Eurodollar Borrowing, the Interest Period to be applicable thereto after giving effect to such election, which shall be a period contemplated by the definition of the term "Interest Period".

If any such Interest Election Request requests a Eurodollar Borrowing but does not specify an Interest Period, then the Borrower shall be deemed to have selected an Interest Period of one month's duration.

- (d) Promptly following receipt of an Interest Election Request, the Administrative Agent shall advise each Lender of the details thereof and of such Lender's portion of each resulting Borrowing.
- (e) If the Borrower fails to deliver a timely Interest Election Request with respect to a Eurodollar Borrowing prior to the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto, then, unless such Borrowing is repaid as provided herein, at the end of such Interest Period such Borrowing shall be converted to an ABR Borrowing. Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof, if an Event of Default has occurred after the Closing Date and is continuing then, so long as an Event of Default is continuing (i) no outstanding Borrowing may be converted to or continued as a Eurodollar Borrowing and (ii) unless repaid, each Eurodollar Borrowing shall be converted to an ABR Borrowing at the end of the Interest Period applicable thereto.
 - Section 2.04 <u>Repayment of Loans; Evidence of Debt.</u> (a) The Borrower hereby unconditionally promises to pay to the Administrative Agent for the account of each Lender the then unpaid principal amount of each Loan of such Lender as provided in Section 2.05.
- (b) Each Lender shall maintain in accordance with its usual practice an account or accounts evidencing the indebtedness of the Borrower to such Lender resulting from each Loan made by such Lender, including the amounts of principal and interest payable and paid to such Lender from time to time hereunder.
- (c) The Administrative Agent shall maintain accounts in which it shall record (i) the amount of each Loan made hereunder, the Type thereof and the Interest Period applicable thereto, (ii) the amount of any principal or interest due and payable or to become due and payable from the Borrower to each Lender hereunder and (iii) the amount of any sum received by the Administrative Agent hereunder for the account of the Lenders and each Lender's share thereof.
- (d) The entries made in the accounts maintained pursuant to paragraph (b) or (c) of this Section shall be <u>prima facie</u> evidence of the existence and amounts of the obligations recorded therein; <u>provided</u> that the failure of any Lender or the Administrative Agent to maintain such accounts or any error therein shall not in any manner affect the obligation of the Borrower to repay the Loans in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.
- (e) Any Lender may request that Loans made by it be evidenced by a promissory note. In such event, the Borrower shall prepare, execute and deliver to such Lender a promissory note payable to the order of such Lender (or, if requested by such Lender, to such Lender and its registered assigns) and in a form reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent. Such promissory note shall state that it is subject to the provisions of this Agreement. Thereafter, the Loans evidenced by such promissory note and interest thereon shall at all times (including after assignment pursuant to Section 9.04) be represented by one or more promissory notes in such form payable to the order of the payee named therein (or, if such promissory note is a registered note, to such payee and its registered assigns).
 - Section 2.05 Amortization of Loans. (a) Subject to adjustment pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section 2.05 and except for Advance Amortization Payments, the Borrower shall repay the Borrowings on each date set forth below in the amount set forth opposite such date; provided, that, to the extent the Borrower makes a Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, the repayments due to any Lender participating in such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall be reduced ratably by the principal amount of Loans so prepaid (it being understood and agreed that such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall not in any manner affect the scheduled repayments due to the Lenders not participating in such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment):

	Principal Amount
Date	to be Repaid
March 31, 2013	\$11,250,000
June 30, 2013 ²¹	\$11,250,000
September 30, 2013	\$11,250,000
December 31, 2013	\$11,250,000
March 31, 2014	\$11,250,000
June 30, 2014	\$11,250,000
September 30, 2014	\$11,250,000
December 31, 2014	\$11,250,000
March 31, 2015	\$11,250,000
June 30, 2015	\$11,250,000
September 30, 2015	\$11,250,000
December 31, 2015	\$11,250,000
March 31, 2016	\$11,250,000
June 30, 2016	\$11,250,000
September 30, 2016	\$11,250,000
Maturity Date	Remaining Outstanding
	Amounts

- (b) To the extent not previously paid all Loans shall be due and payable on the Maturity Date.
- (c) Any mandatory prepayment of a Borrowing or optional prepayment that is not a Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall be applied to reduce the subsequent scheduled repayments of the Borrowings to be made pursuant to this Section ratably.
- (d) Prior to any repayment of any Borrowings hereunder, the Borrower shall select the Borrowing or Borrowings to be repaid and shall notify the Administrative Agent by telephone (confirmed by telecopy) of such selection not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, three Business Days before the scheduled date of such repayment. Each repayment of a Borrowing shall be applied ratably to the Loans included in the repaid Borrowing. Repayments of Borrowings shall be accompanied by accrued interest on the amount repaid.

Section 2.06 Prepayment of Loans. (a) The Borrower shall have the right at any time and from time to time to prepay any Borrowing in whole or in part, without premium or penalty (but subject to Section 2.11), in an aggregate principal amount that (except as otherwise provided in Section 2.15) is an integral multiple of \$1,000,000 and not less than \$1,000,000 or, if less, the amount outstanding, subject to the requirements of this Section. The Borrower shall have the right to elect by notice to the Administrative Agent that an optional prepayment that is not a Discounted Voluntary Prepayment and that is not subject to the notice contemplated in Section 2.06(d)(iii) is to be applied to a specific scheduled repayment to be made pursuant to Section 2.05 (any such payment, an "Advance Amortization Payment"); provided that (i) each such Advance Amortization Payment shall (x) be made in an amount equal to such scheduled repayment and (y) be applied to the next such scheduled repayment

²¹ The scheduled repayments immediately following the Closing Date will be increased (in direct order) by an amount equal to the difference between the scheduled repayment due on March 31, 2013 described above and the scheduled repayment due on March 31, 2013 (so long as such payment has been made) under the Existing Credit Agreement.

that has not been prepaid by an Advance Amortization Payment and (ii) for the avoidance of doubt, no Advance Amortization Payment shall be deemed to constitute a prepayment for the purposes of Section 2.06(d).

- (b) In the event and on each occasion that any Net Proceeds are received by or on behalf of any Loan Party in respect of any Prepayment Event, the Borrower shall, not later than the Business Day next after the date on which such Net Proceeds are received, prepay Borrowings in an aggregate amount equal to the Required Percentage of such Net Proceeds or, in the case of an Equity Issuance by the Ultimate Parent, the Required Percentage of the Allocable Net Proceeds of such Prepayment Event; provided that, solely in the case of any Asset Disposition, if the Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent a certificate of a Financial Officer of the Borrower to the effect that the Borrower or a Subsidiary intends to apply the Net Proceeds from such Asset Disposition (or a portion thereof specified in such certificate), within 365 days after receipt of such Net Proceeds, to acquire real property, equipment or other assets to be used in the business of the Borrower or such Subsidiaries or to fund a Permitted Acquisition in accordance with the terms of Section 6.04, in each case as specified in such certificate (any such event, a "Reinvestment"), and certifying that no Default has occurred and is continuing, then no prepayment shall be required pursuant to this paragraph in respect of the Net Proceeds in respect of such Asset Disposition (or the portion of such Net Proceeds specified in such certificate, if applicable) except to the extent of any such Net Proceeds therefrom (i) that the Borrower or the applicable Subsidiary shall have determined not to, or shall have otherwise ceased to, or is not able to, by operation of contract or law or otherwise, apply toward such Reinvestment or (ii) that have not been so applied, or contractually committed to be so applied, by the end of such 365-day period, in each case at which time a prepayment shall be required in an amount equal to such Net Proceeds that have not been, or have been determined not to be, so applied (it being understood that if any portion of such proceeds are not so used within such 365-day period but within such 365-day period are contractually committed to be used, then upon the earlier to occur of (A) the termination of such contract and (B) the expiration of a 180-day period following such 365-day period, such remaining portion shall constitute Net Proceeds as of the date of such termination or expiry without giving effect to this proviso); provided, further, that the Net Proceeds applied toward Reinvestments or contractually committed to be so applied pursuant to the foregoing proviso shall not exceed \$10,000,000 in the aggregate during any fiscal year.
- (c) In the event and on each occasion that any Net Proceeds are received by or on behalf of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries in respect of any Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition, the Borrower shall, not later than the Business Day next after the date on which such Net Proceeds are received, prepay Borrowings in an aggregate amount equal to the Required Percentage of the Net Proceeds of such Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition.
- (d) Following the end of each fiscal quarter of the Borrower, commencing with the first fiscal quarter ending after the Closing Date, the Borrower will prepay Borrowings in an aggregate amount equal to (i) (A) the Excess Cash Flow as of the end of such fiscal quarter multiplied by the applicable ECF Sweep Percentage in effect at such time, minus (B) all prepayments made during the applicable ECF Period pursuant to this Section 2.06(d)(i) as of the end of such fiscal quarter (including any prepayments that are applied to payments due under this Section 2.06(d)(i) pursuant to an Election Notice delivered pursuant to Section 2.06(e)), less (ii) any voluntary prepayments of Loans made pursuant to Section 2.06(a) during such fiscal quarter (other than any Advance Amortization Payments and any prepayments that are applied to payments due under this Section 2.06(d)(i) pursuant to an Election Notice delivered pursuant to Section 2.06(e) and except as provided in Section 2.15(f)), provided that any prepayment applied pursuant to clause (iii) of this Section 2.06(d) to reduce a prepayment made pursuant to this Section 2.06(d) shall not be applied in the subsequent quarter pursuant to this clause (ii) to reduce a prepayment made pursuant to this Section 2.06(d), less (iii) any voluntary prepayments of the Loans (other than an Advance Amortization Payment, any prepayments that are applied to payments due under this Section 2.06(d)(i) pursuant to an Election Notice delivered pursuant to Section 2.06(e), and except as provided in Section 2.15(f)) made since the end

of such fiscal quarter to the extent the Borrower has, on or prior to the date any mandatory prepayment is due under this paragraph (d) with respect to such fiscal quarter, specified in an Election Notice delivered to the Administrative Agent that such voluntary prepayments shall be applied to reduce the amount of such mandatory prepayment. Each prepayment pursuant to this paragraph shall be made on or before the date on which financial statements are delivered pursuant to Section 5.01 with respect to the fiscal quarter at the end of which Excess Cash Flow is being calculated (and in any event within (x) 55 days after the end of such fiscal quarter or (y) if such fiscal quarter is the last fiscal quarter in a fiscal year of the Borrower, 100 days after the end of such fiscal quarter), provided that if the Closing Date occurs after the date on which such prepayment would otherwise have been due hereunder for the period ended March 31, 2013, then the mandatory quarterly prepayment pursuant to this paragraph for such period shall be due and payable on the Closing Date.

- (e) Subject to the immediately following sentence, the Borrower shall on one or more occasions use the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow, as determined following the end of a fiscal quarter, to effect Discounted Voluntary Prepayments within 180 days after the date on which financial statements are delivered pursuant to Section 5.01 with respect to such quarter, with such Discounted Voluntary Prepayments to be designated as having been made to satisfy the Borrower's obligations under this Section 2.06(e) pursuant to an Election Notice delivered to the Administrative Agent. If the Borrower does not make such Discounted Voluntary Prepayments within such 180-day period equal to the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow for the applicable fiscal quarter (as designated in the applicable Election Notice), the Borrower shall (i) make an optional prepayment pursuant to Section 2.06(a) at the end of the fiscal quarter during which such 180-day period (as designated in an Election Notice to such effect) expires, with such prepayment to be applied to scheduled prepayments under Section 2.05, as directed by the Borrower, or (ii) make a prepayment as described in Section 2.06(d)(iii) (and as designated in an Election Notice to such effect). The Borrower may retain the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow and may utilize such Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow for purposes otherwise permitted hereunder, including, but not limited to, at the Borrower's option and in the Borrower's sole discretion, (i) to effect Discounted Voluntary Prepayments or (ii) for optional prepayments pursuant to Section 2.06(a).
- (f) Prior to any optional or, subject to Sections 2.06(b), (c) and (d), mandatory prepayment of Borrowings hereunder, the Borrower shall select the Borrowing or Borrowings to be prepaid and shall specify such selection in the notice of such prepayment pursuant to paragraph (g) of this Section.
- (g) The Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent by telephone (confirmed by telecopy) of any prepayment hereunder (i) in the case of prepayment of a Eurodollar Borrowing, not later than 2:00 p.m., New York City time, three Business Days before the date of prepayment or (ii) in the case of prepayment of an ABR Borrowing, not later than 11:00 a.m., New York City time, on the date of prepayment. Each such notice shall be irrevocable and shall specify the prepayment date, the principal amount of each Borrowing or portion thereof to be prepaid and, in the case of a mandatory prepayment, a reasonably detailed calculation of the amount of such prepayment. Promptly following receipt of any such notice, the Administrative Agent shall advise the Lenders of the contents thereof. Each partial prepayment of any Borrowing shall be in an amount that would be permitted in the case of an advance of a Borrowing of the same Type as provided in Section 2.02, except as necessary to apply fully the required amount of a mandatory prepayment or to prepay such Borrowing in full. Each prepayment of a Borrowing shall be applied ratably to the Loans included in the prepaid Borrowing. Prepayments shall be accompanied by accrued interest and other amounts to the extent required by Sections 2.08 and 2.11.

Section 2.07 <u>Fees.</u> (a) The Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrative Agent, for its own account, fees payable in the amounts and at the times separately agreed upon between the Borrower and the Administrative Agent.

- (b) All fees payable hereunder shall be paid on the dates due, in immediately available funds, to the Administrative Agent. Fees paid shall not be refundable under any circumstances.
 - Section 2.08 <u>Interest</u>. (a) The Loans comprising each ABR Borrowing shall bear interest at the Alternate Base Rate <u>plus</u> the Applicable Rate.
- (b) The Loans comprising each Eurodollar Borrowing shall bear interest at the Adjusted LIBO Rate for the Interest Period in effect for such Borrowing <u>plus</u> the Applicable Rate.
- (c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any principal of or interest on any Loan or any fee or other amount payable by the Borrower hereunder is not paid when due, whether at stated maturity, upon acceleration or otherwise, such overdue amount shall bear interest, after as well as before judgment, at a rate per annum equal to (i) in the case of overdue principal of any Loan, 2% <u>plus</u> the rate otherwise applicable to such Loan as provided in the preceding paragraphs of this Section or (ii) in the case of any other amount, 2% <u>plus</u> the rate applicable to ABR Loans as provided in paragraph (a) of this Section.
- (d) Accrued interest on each Loan shall be payable in arrears on each Interest Payment Date for such Loan; <u>provided</u> that (i) interest accrued pursuant to paragraph (c) of this Section shall be payable on demand, (ii) in the event of any repayment or prepayment of any Loan, accrued interest on the principal amount repaid or prepaid shall be payable on the date of such repayment or prepayment and (iii) in the event of any conversion of any Eurodollar Loan prior to the end of the current Interest Period therefor, accrued interest on such Loan shall be payable on the effective date of such conversion.
- (e) All interest hereunder shall be computed on the basis of a year of 360 days, except that interest computed by reference to the Alternate Base Rate at times when the Alternate Base Rate is based on the Prime Rate shall be computed on the basis of a year of 365 days (or 366 days in a leap year), and in each case shall be payable for the actual number of days elapsed (including the first day but excluding the last day). The applicable Alternate Base Rate or Adjusted LIBO Rate shall be determined by the Administrative Agent, and such determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
 - Section 2.09 <u>Alternate Rate of Interest</u>. If prior to the commencement of any Interest Period for a Eurodollar Borrowing:
 - (a) the Administrative Agent determines (which determination shall be conclusive absent manifest error) that adequate and reasonable means do not exist for ascertaining the Adjusted LIBO Rate for such Interest Period; or
 - (b) the Administrative Agent is advised by the Required Lenders that the Adjusted LIBO Rate for such Interest Period will not adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders of making or maintaining their Loans included in such Borrowing for such Interest Period;

then the Administrative Agent shall give notice thereof to the Borrower and the Lenders by telephone or telecopy as promptly as practicable thereafter and, until the Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower and the Lenders that the circumstances giving rise to such notice no longer exist, any Interest Election Request that requests the conversion of any Borrowing to, or continuation of any Borrowing as, a Eurodollar Borrowing shall be ineffective; provided, however, that, in the case of a notice received pursuant to clause (b) above, if the Administrative Agent is able prior to the commencement of such Interest Period to ascertain, after using reasonable efforts to poll the Lenders giving such notice, that a rate other than the Alternate Base Rate would adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenders of making or maintaining their Loans included in such Borrowing for such Interest Period, the Administrative Agent shall notify the Borrower of such alternate rate and the Borrower may agree by

written notice to the Agent prior to the commencement of such Interest Period to increase the Applicable Rate for the Loans included in such Borrowing for such Interest Period to result in an interest rate equal to such alternate rate, in which case such increased Applicable Rate shall apply to all the Eurodollar Loans included in the relevant Borrowing.

Section 2.10 Increased Costs; Illegality. (a) If any Change in Law shall:

- (i) impose, modify or deem applicable any reserve, special deposit or similar requirement against assets of, deposits with or for the account of, or credit extended by, any Lender (except any such reserve requirement reflected in the Adjusted LIBO Rate);
- (ii) subject the Administrative Agent or any Lender to any Taxes (other than Indemnified Taxes, Excluded Taxes and Other Taxes) on its loans, loan principal, letters of credit, commitments, or other obligations, or its deposits, reserves, other liabilities or capital attributable thereto: or
- (iii) impose on any Lender or the London interbank market any other condition affecting this Agreement or Eurodollar Loans made by such Lender;

and the result of any of the foregoing shall be to increase the cost to such Lender of making or maintaining any Eurodollar Loan (or of maintaining its obligation to make any such Loan) or to increase the cost to such Lender or to reduce the amount of any sum received or receivable by such Lender hereunder (whether of principal, interest or otherwise), then the Borrower will pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender for such additional costs incurred or reduction suffered.

- (b) If any Lender determines that any Change in Law regarding capital or liquidity requirements has or would have the effect of reducing the rate of return on such Lender's capital or on the capital of such Lender's holding company, if any, as a consequence of this Agreement or the Loans made by such Lender, to a level below that which such Lender or such Lender's holding company could have achieved but for such Change in Law (taking into consideration such Lender's policies and the policies of such Lender's holding company with respect to capital adequacy and liquidity), then from time to time after submission by such Lender to the Borrower of a written request therefor, the Borrower will pay to such Lender such additional amount or amounts as will compensate such Lender or such Lender's holding company for any such reduction suffered.
- (c) A certificate of a Lender setting forth in reasonable detail the matters giving rise to a claim under this Section 2.10 and the calculation of such claim by such Lender or its holding company, as the case may be, shall be delivered to the Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower shall pay such Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within 10 days after receipt thereof.
- (d) Failure or delay on the part of any Lender to demand compensation pursuant to this Section shall not constitute a waiver of such Lender's right to demand such compensation; <u>provided</u>, that the Borrower shall not be required to compensate a Lender pursuant to this Section for any increased costs or reductions incurred more than 180 days prior to the date that such Lender notifies the Borrower of the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions and of such Lender's intention to claim compensation therefor; <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that if the Change in Law giving rise to such increased costs or reductions is retroactive, then the 180-day period referred to above shall be extended to include the period of retroactive effect thereof.

- (e) Notwithstanding any other provision herein, if any Change in Law shall make it unlawful for any Lender to maintain Eurodollar Loans as contemplated by this Agreement, (i) the commitment of such Lender hereunder to continue Eurodollar Loans as such and convert ABR Loans to Eurodollar Loans shall forthwith be canceled and (ii) such Lender's Loans then outstanding as Eurodollar Loans, if any, shall be converted automatically to ABR Loans on the respective last days of the then current Interest Periods with respect to such Loans or within such earlier period as required by applicable law. If any such conversion of a Eurodollar Loan occurs on a day which is not the last day of the then current Interest Period with respect thereto, the Borrower shall pay to such Lender such amounts, if any, as may be required pursuant to Section 2.11.
- (f) For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (i) the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act and all requests, rules, guidelines, requirements and directives thereunder, issued in connection therewith or in implementation thereof, and (ii) all requests, rules, guidelines, requirements and directives promulgated by the Bank for International Settlements, the Basel Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successor or similar authority) or the United States or foreign regulatory authorities, in each case pursuant to Basel III, shall in each case be deemed to be a Change in Law regardless of the date enacted, adopted, issued or implemented.

Section 2.11 Break Funding Payments. In the event of (a) the payment of any principal of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of an Interest Period applicable thereto (including as a result of an Event of Default), (b) the conversion of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto, (c) the failure to convert, continue or prepay any Eurodollar Loan on the date specified in any notice delivered pursuant hereto (regardless of whether such notice may be revoked under Section 2.06(g) and is revoked in accordance therewith) or (d) the assignment of any Eurodollar Loan other than on the last day of the Interest Period applicable thereto as a result of a request by the Borrower pursuant to Section 2.14 or 9.02(c), then, in any such event, the Borrower shall compensate each Lender for the loss, cost and expense attributable to such event. Such loss, cost or expense to any Lender shall consist of an amount determined by such Lender to be the excess, if any, of (i) the amount of interest that would have accrued on the principal amount of such Loan had such event not occurred, at the Adjusted LIBO Rate that would have been applicable to such Loan (without giving effect to clause (b) of the definition of LIBO Rate), for the period from the date of such event to the last day of the then current Interest Period therefor (or, in the case of a failure to convert or continue, for the period that would have been the Interest Period for such Loan), over (ii) the amount of interest that would accrue on such principal amount for such period at the interest rate that such Lender would bid were it to bid, at the commencement of such period, for dollar deposits of a comparable amount and period from other banks in the Eurodollar market. A certificate of any Lender setting forth any amount or amounts that such Lender is entitled to receive pursuant to this Section shall be delivered to the Borrower and shall be conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrower shall pay such Lender the amount shown as due on any such certificate within 10 days after receipt thereof.

Section 2.12 <u>Taxes.</u> (a) Any and all payments by or on account of any obligation of any Loan Party hereunder or under any other Loan Document shall be made free and clear of, and without deduction for, any Taxes; <u>provided</u> that if the applicable withholding agent shall be required to deduct any Taxes from such payments, then (i) if such Taxes are Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes, the sum payable shall be increased as necessary so that after making all required deductions (including deductions applicable to additional sums payable under this Section) the Administrative Agent or Lender (as the case may be) receives an amount equal to the sum it would have received had no such deductions been made, (ii) the applicable withholding agent shall make such deductions and (iii) the applicable withholding agent shall pay the full amount deducted to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law.

- (b) In addition, the Borrower shall pay any Other Taxes to the relevant Governmental Authority in accordance with applicable law, or, at the option of the Administrative Agent timely reimburse it for the payment thereof.
- (c) The Loan Parties shall jointly and severally indemnify the Administrative Agent and each Lender within 10 days after written demand therefor, for the full amount of any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes paid by the Administrative Agent or such Lender, as the case may be, on or with respect to any payment by or on account of any obligation of the Borrower hereunder or under any other Loan Document or required to be withheld or deducted from a payment to such Administrative Agent or Lender (including Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes imposed or asserted on or attributable to amounts payable under this Section) and any penalties, interest and reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability and a written statement setting forth in reasonable detail the basis and calculation of such amounts prepared in good faith and delivered to the Borrower by a Lender (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), or by the Administrative Agent on its own behalf or on behalf of a Lender, shall be conclusive absent manifest error.
- (d) As soon as practicable after any payment of Taxes by any Loan Party to a Governmental Authority pursuant to this Section 2.12, such Loan Party shall deliver to the Administrative Agent the original or a certified copy of a receipt issued by such Governmental Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of the return reporting such payment or other evidence of such payment reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.
- (e) (i) Any Foreign Lender that is entitled to an exemption from or reduction of withholding tax under the law of the jurisdiction in which the Borrower is located, or any treaty to which such jurisdiction is a party, with respect to payments under this Agreement shall deliver to the Borrower (with a copy to the Administrative Agent), at the time or times prescribed by applicable law, such properly completed and executed documentation prescribed by applicable law or reasonably requested by the Borrower as will permit such payments to be made without withholding or at a reduced rate, provided that (i) such Foreign Lender has received written notice from the Borrower advising it of the availability of such exemption or reduction and supplying all applicable documentation and (ii) such Foreign Lender is legally entitled to complete, execute, and deliver such documentation.
 - (ii) Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, in the event that the Borrower is a U.S. Person,
 - (A) any Lender that is a U.S. Person shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent on or prior to the date on which such Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent), executed originals of IRS Form W-9 certifying that such Lender is exempt from U.S. Federal backup withholding tax;
 - (B) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent (in such number of copies as shall be requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent), whichever of the following is applicable:
 - (1) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of an income tax treaty to which the United States is a party (x) with respect to payments of interest under any Loan Document, executed originals of IRS Form W-8BEN establishing an exemption from, or reduction of,

- U.S. Federal withholding Tax pursuant to the "interest" article of such tax treaty and (y) with respect to any other applicable payments under any Loan Document, IRS Form W-8BEN establishing an exemption from, or reduction of, U.S. federal withholding Tax pursuant to the "business profits" or "other income" article of such tax treaty;
 - (2) executed originals of IRS Form W-8ECI;
- (3) in the case of a Foreign Lender claiming the benefits of the exemption for portfolio interest under Section 881(c) of the Code, (x) a certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit M-1 to the effect that such Foreign Lender is not a "bank" within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code, a "10 percent shareholder" of the Borrower within the meaning of Section 881(c)(3)(B) of the Code, or a "controlled foreign corporation" described in Section 881(c)(3)(C) of the Code (a "U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate") and (y) executed originals of IRS Form W-8BEN; or
- (4) to the extent a Foreign Lender is not the beneficial owner, executed originals of IRS Form W-8IMY, accompanied by IRS Form W-8ECI, IRS Form W-8BEN, a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit M-2 or Exhibit M-3, IRS Form W-9, and/or other certification documents from each beneficial owner, as applicable; provided that if the Foreign Lender is a partnership and one or more direct or indirect partners of such Foreign Lender are claiming the portfolio interest exemption, such Foreign Lender may provide a U.S. Tax Compliance Certificate substantially in the form of Exhibit M-4 on behalf of each such direct and indirect partner;
- (C) any Foreign Lender shall, to the extent it is legally entitled to do so, deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent (in such number of copies as shall be requested by the recipient) on or prior to the date on which such Foreign Lender becomes a Lender under this Agreement (and from time to time thereafter upon the reasonable request of the Borrower or the Administrative Agent), executed originals of any other form prescribed by applicable law as a basis for claiming exemption from or a reduction in U.S. federal withholding Tax, duly completed, together with such supplementary documentation as may be prescribed by applicable law to permit the Borrower or the Administrative Agent to determine the withholding or deduction required to be made; and
- (D) if a payment made to a Lender under any Loan Document would be subject to U.S. federal withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such Lender were to fail to comply with the applicable reporting requirements of FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471(b) or 1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lender shall deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent at the time or times prescribed by law and at such time or times reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent such documentation prescribed by applicable law (including as prescribed by Section 1471(b)(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional documentation reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Administrative Agent as may be necessary for the Borrower and the Administrative Agent to comply with their obligations under FATCA and to determine that such Lender has complied with such Lender's obligations under FATCA or to determine the amount to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solely for

purposes of this clause (D), "FATCA" shall include any amendments made to FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

Each Lender agrees that if any form or certification it previously delivered expires or becomes obsolete or inaccurate in any respect, it shall update such form or certification or promptly notify the Borrower and the Administrative Agent in writing of its legal inability to do so.

- (f) If the Administrative Agent or a Lender determines, in its sole judgment exercised in good faith, that it has received a refund of any Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes as to which it has been indemnified by the Borrower or with respect to which the Borrower has paid additional amounts pursuant to this Section 2.12, it shall pay over such refund to the Borrower within a reasonable period of time (but only to the extent of indemnity payments made, or additional amounts paid, by the Borrower under this Section 2.12 with respect to the Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes giving rise to such refund), net of all out-of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent or such Lender and without interest (other than any interest paid by the relevant Governmental Authority with respect to such refund); provided, that the Borrower, upon the request of the Administrative Agent or such Lender, agrees to repay the amount paid over to the Borrower to the Administrative Agent or such Lender in the event the Administrative Agent or such Lender is required to repay such refund to such Governmental Authority. This Section shall not be construed to require the Administrative Agent or any Lender to make available its tax returns (or any other information relating to its Taxes that it deems confidential) to the Borrower or any other Person.
- (g) Each Lender shall indemnify the Administrative Agent within ten days after written demand therefor, for the full amount of (i) any Taxes attributable to such Lender and (ii) any Taxes attributable to such Lender's failure to comply with the provisions of Section 10.6(c) relating to the maintenance of a Participant Register, in either case, that are payable or paid by the Administrative Agent, and any penalties, interest and reasonable expenses arising therefrom or with respect thereto, whether or not such Taxes were correctly or legally imposed or asserted by the relevant Governmental Authority. A certificate as to the amount of such payment or liability prepared in good faith and delivered to any Lender by the Administrative Agent shall be conclusive absent manifest error. Each Lender hereby authorizes the Administrative Agent to set off and apply any and all amounts at any time owing to such Lender under any Loan Document or otherwise payable by the Administrative Agent to the Lender from any other source against any amount due to the Administrative Agent under this paragraph (g).
- (h) The agreements in this Section 2.12 shall survive the termination of this agreement and the payment of the Loans and all other amounts payable hereunder.
 - Payments Generally; Pro Rata Treatment; Sharing of Setoffs. (a) The Section 2.13 Borrower shall make each payment required to be made by it hereunder or under any other Loan Document (whether of principal, interest or fees, or of amounts payable under Section 2.10, 2.11 or 2.12, or otherwise) prior to the time expressly required hereunder or under such other Loan Document for such payment (or, if no such time is expressly required, prior to 2:00 p.m., New York City time), on the date when due, in immediately available funds, without setoff or counterclaim. Any amounts received after such time on any date may, in the discretion of the Administrative Agent, be deemed to have been received on the next succeeding Business Day for purposes of calculating interest thereon. All such payments shall be made to the Administrative Agent at its offices at 270 Park Avenue, New York, New York, except that payments pursuant to Sections 2.10, 2.11, 2.12 and 9.03 shall be made directly to the Persons entitled thereto and payments pursuant to other Loan Documents shall be made to the Persons specified therein. The Administrative Agent shall distribute any such payments received by it for the account of any other Person to the appropriate recipient promptly following receipt thereof. If any payment under any Loan Document shall be due on a day that is not a Business Day (except as otherwise provided in the definition of "Interest Period"), the date for payment shall be extended to the next

succeeding Business Day, and, in the case of any payment accruing interest, interest thereon shall be payable for the period of such extension. All payments under each Loan Document shall be made in dollars.

- (b) If at any time insufficient funds are received by and available to the Administrative Agent to pay fully all amounts of principal, interest and fees then due hereunder, such funds shall be applied (i) first, towards payment of interest and fees then due hereunder, ratably among the parties entitled thereto in accordance with the amounts of interest and fees then due to such parties, and (ii) second, towards payment of principal then due hereunder, ratably among the parties entitled thereto in accordance with the amounts of principal then due to such parties.
- (c) If any Lender shall, by exercising any right of setoff or counterclaim or otherwise, obtain payment in respect of any principal of or interest on any of its Loans resulting in such Lender receiving payment of a greater proportion of the aggregate amount of its Loans and accrued interest thereon than the proportion received by any other Lender, then the Lender receiving such greater proportion shall purchase (for cash at face value) participations in the Loans of other Lenders to the extent necessary so that the benefit of all such payments shall be shared by the Lenders ratably in accordance with the relative aggregate amounts of principal of and accrued interest on their Loans; provided that (i) if any such participations are purchased and all or any portion of the payment giving rise thereto is recovered, such participations shall be rescinded and the purchase price restored to the extent of such recovery, without interest, and (ii) the provisions of this paragraph shall not be construed to apply to any payment made by the Borrower pursuant to and in accordance with the express terms of this Agreement or any payment obtained by a Lender as consideration for the assignment of or sale of a participation in any of its Loans to any assignee or participant, other than to the Borrower or any Subsidiary or Affiliate thereof (as to which the provisions of this paragraph shall apply). The Borrower consents to the foregoing and agrees, to the extent it may effectively do so under applicable law, that any Lender acquiring a participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangements may exercise against the Borrower rights of setoff and counterclaim with respect to such participation as fully as if such Lender were a direct creditor of the Borrower in the amount of such participation.
- (d) Unless the Administrative Agent shall have received notice from the Borrower prior to the date on which any payment is due to the Administrative Agent for the account of the Lenders hereunder that the Borrower will not make such payment, the Administrative Agent may assume that the Borrower has made such payment on such date in accordance herewith and may, in reliance upon such assumption, distribute to the Lenders the amount due. In such event, if the Borrower has not in fact made such payment, then each of the Lenders severally agrees to repay to the Administrative Agent forthwith on demand the amount so distributed to such Lender with interest thereon, for each day from and including the date such amount is distributed to it to but excluding the date of payment to the Administrative Agent, at the greater of the Federal Funds Effective Rate and a rate determined by the Administrative Agent in accordance with banking industry rules on interbank compensation.
- (e) If any Lender shall fail to make any payment required to be made by it pursuant to Section 2.13(d) or 9.03(c), then the Administrative Agent may, in its discretion (notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof), apply any amounts thereafter received by the Administrative Agent for the account of such Lender to satisfy such Lender's obligations under such Sections until all such unsatisfied obligations are fully paid.
 - Section 2.14 <u>Mitigation Obligations; Replacement of Lenders</u>. (a) If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.10, or if the Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.12, then such Lender shall use reasonable efforts to designate a different lending office for funding or booking its

Loans hereunder or to assign its rights and obligations hereunder to another of its offices, branches or affiliates, if, in the judgment of such Lender, such designation or assignment (i) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pursuant to Section 2.10 or 2.12, as the case may be, in the future and (ii) would not subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost or expense and would not otherwise be disadvantageous to such Lender, provided that nothing in this Section shall affect or postpone any of the obligations of the Borrower or the rights of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.10 or 2.12. The Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonable costs and expenses incurred by any Lender in connection with any such designation or assignment.

(b) If any Lender requests compensation under Section 2.10, or if the Borrower is required to pay any additional amount to any Lender or any Governmental Authority for the account of any Lender pursuant to Section 2.12, or if any Lender is not able to maintain Eurodollar Loans for reasons described in Section 2.10(e), or if any Lender becomes a Defaulting Lender, then the Borrower may, at its sole expense and effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Administrative Agent, require such Lender to assign and delegate, without recourse (in accordance with and subject to the restrictions contained in Section 9.04, provided that the Borrower or assignee must pay any applicable processing or recordation fee), all its interests, rights and obligations under this Agreement to an assignee that shall assume such obligations (which assignee may be another Lender, if a Lender accepts such assignment); provided, further, that (i) the Borrower shall have received the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, which consent shall not unreasonably be withheld and (ii) such Lender shall have received payment of an amount equal to the outstanding principal of its Loans, accrued interest thereon, accrued fees and all other amounts payable to it hereunder, from the assignee (to the extent of such outstanding principal and accrued interest and fees) or the Borrower (in the case of all other amounts) and such Lender shall be released from all obligations hereunder. A Lender shall not be required to make any such assignment and delegation if, prior thereto, as a result of a waiver by such Lender or otherwise, the circumstances entitling the Borrower to require such assignment and delegation cease to apply.

Section 2.15 Voluntary Prepayments Below Par. (a) The Borrower may elect to notify the Administrative Agent and the Lenders that it wishes to make below par voluntary prepayments of the Loans (each such payment a "Discounted Voluntary Prepayment") pursuant to the procedures set forth in this Section 2.15; provided that (i) the Borrower shall specify in an Election Notice to the Administrative Agent whether such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment will be a utilization of the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow or the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow and Discounted Voluntary Prepayments shall only be permitted to be made in amounts not exceeding the Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Flow or the Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow (as applicable) at the time such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment is made and (ii) no Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall be made after December 31, 2016. At the time of any Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, the Borrower shall certify, with reasonable supporting detail (as reasonably determined by the Administrative Agent), (i) compliance with the requirements of this Section 2.15, which certification shall include a schedule setting forth the computation (of any utilization by the Borrower) of Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow or Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow (as applicable), (ii) that no Event of Default pursuant to Section 6.14 could reasonably be expected to occur during the immediately succeeding four calendar quarters if such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment is not made, (iii) that such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall have been approved by the Borrower's Board of Directors and (iv) that immediately prior to and after giving effect to any Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, (x) no Default or Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, (y) the aggregate unencumbered cash and Permitted Investments (provided that any such cash and Permitted Investments to the extent subject to a Lien created under the Loan Documents, the Dex East Loan Documents or the RHDI Loan Documents shall be deemed to be unencumbered for purposes of this clause (y)) maintained by the Borrower, Dex East, RHDI and their Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis shall be at least \$40,000,000

and (z) the aggregate unencumbered cash and Permitted Investments (provided that any such cash and Permitted Investments to the extent subject to a Lien created under the Loan Documents shall be deemed to be unencumbered for purposes of this clause (z)) maintained by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries shall be at least \$10,000,000.

- (b) In connection with any Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, the Borrower shall notify the Lenders (the "<u>Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Notice</u>") that the Borrower desires to prepay Loans with cash proceeds in an aggregate amount (each, a "<u>Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Amount</u>") specified by the Borrower (which amount shall be not less than \$5,000,000) at a price within a range (the "<u>Range</u>") to be specified by the Borrower equal to a percentage of par (not to exceed 100%) (the "<u>Payment Percentage</u>") of the principal amount of the Loans to be prepaid; <u>provided</u> that only one Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Notice may be in effect at any time. The Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Notice shall further specify the date by which Lenders are required to indicate their election to participate in such proposed Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, which shall be at least five Business Days following the date of the Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Notice (the "<u>Acceptance Date</u>"). No proposed Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall be made if the amount of cash expended to make Discounted Voluntary Prepayments would exceed an amount equal to the Borrower's Portion of Excess Cash Flow at such time.
- (c) On or prior to the Acceptance Date, each Lender may specify by written notice to the Administrative Agent a minimum Payment Percentage (the "Acceptable Payment Percentage") within the Range for a maximum principal amount (subject to rounding requirements specified by the Administrative Agent) of Loans at which such Lender is willing to permit such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment. Based on the Acceptable Payment Percentages and principal amounts of Loans specified by Lenders, the applicable Payment Percentage (the "Applicable Payment Percentage") for the Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall be the lowest Acceptable Payment Percentage at which the Borrower can complete the Discounted Voluntary Prepayment for the applicable Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Amount that is within the applicable Range; provided that if the offers received from Lenders are insufficient to allow the Borrower to complete the Discounted Voluntary Prepayment for the applicable Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Amount, then the Applicable Payment Percentage shall instead be the highest Acceptable Payment Percentage that is within the applicable Range. The Borrower shall prepay Loans (or the respective portions thereof) offered by Lenders at the Acceptable Payment Percentages specified by each such Lender that are equal to or less than the Applicable Payment Percentage ("Qualifying Loans") by remitting an amount to the Administrative Agent (for distribution to each respective Lender to be prepaid) equal to the product of the face amount, or par, of the Loan being prepaid multiplied by the Applicable Payment Percentage; provided that if the aggregate cash proceeds required to prepay Qualifying Loans (disregarding any interest payable under Section 2.15(d)) would exceed the applicable Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Amount for such Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, the Borrower shall prepay such Qualifying Loans at the Applicable Payment Percentage ratably based on the respective principal amounts of such Qualifying Loans (subject to rounding requirements specified by the Administrative Agent).
- (d) All Loans prepaid by the Borrower pursuant to this Section 2.15 shall be accompanied by payment of accrued and unpaid interest on the par principal amount so prepaid to, but not including, the date of prepayment.
- (e) Each Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall be consummated pursuant to procedures (including as to rounding and minimum amounts, Type and Interest Periods of accepted Loans, irrevocability of Discounted Voluntary Prepayment Notice and other notices by the Borrower and Lenders and determination of Applicable Payment Percentage) reasonably established by the Administrative Agent in consultation with the Borrower and not inconsistent with the terms hereof.

- (f) Each Discounted Voluntary Prepayment shall constitute an optional prepayment of Loans for all purposes under this Agreement, but excluding for purposes of Section 2.06(d).
- (g) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement (including, without limitation, Sections 2.06 and 2.13), the Lenders hereby consent to the transactions described in this Section 2.15 and further acknowledge that in connection with any Discounted Voluntary Prepayment, principal and interest payments may be made on a non-pro rata basis, as determined by the Administrative Agent, to the applicable Lenders.
- (h) This Section 2.15 shall not require the Borrower to undertake or any Lender to participate in any Discounted Voluntary Prepayment.

ARTICLE III

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

The Borrower and, solely for purposes of Sections 3.01, 3.02, 3.03, 3.08, 3.09, 3.12, 3.13 and 3.19, the Ultimate Parent (with respect to itself and the Service Company) and the Parent represents and warrants to the Lenders that:

Service Company, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries is duly organized, validly existing and in good standing under the laws of the jurisdiction of its organization, has all requisite power and authority to carry on its business as now conducted and, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, is qualified to do business in, and is in good standing in, every jurisdiction where such qualification is required.

Section 3.02 <u>Authorization; Enforceability.</u> The Transactions entered into and to be entered into by each of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company and the Dex West Loan Parties are within such Person's corporate or limited liability company powers and have been duly authorized by all necessary corporate or limited liability company and, if required, stockholder or member action. This Agreement has been duly executed and delivered by each of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Dex West Loan Parties and constitutes, and each other Loan Document to which any of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company and the Dex West Loan Parties is to be a party, when executed and delivered by such Person, will constitute, a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Person, enforceable in accordance with its terms, subject to applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium or other laws affecting creditors' rights generally and subject to general principles of equity, regardless of whether considered in a proceeding in equity or at law.

Section 3.03 Governmental Approvals; No Conflicts. The Transactions (a) do not require any consent or approval of, registration or filing with, or any other action by, any Governmental Authority, except as have been obtained or made and are in full force and effect and except filings necessary to perfect Liens created under the Loan Documents, (b) will not violate any applicable law or regulation or the charter, limited liability company agreement, by-laws or other organizational documents of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any order of any Governmental Authority, (c) will not violate or result in a default under any indenture, agreement or other instrument binding upon the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries or any of their assets, or give rise to a right thereunder to require any payment to be made by the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, and (d) will not result in the creation or imposition of any Lien on any asset of the Ultimate

Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, except Liens permitted under Section 6.02.

Section 3.04 <u>Financial Condition</u>. The unaudited consolidated balance sheet of the Borrower as of [_____], 201[_] and the related unaudited consolidated statements of operations and of cash flows for the [___]-month period ended on such date present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position and results of operations and cash flows of the Borrower as of such date and for such period in accordance with GAAP, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments.

Section 3.05 <u>Properties</u>. (a) The Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries has good title to, or valid leasehold interests in, all its real and personal property material to its business (including its Mortgaged Properties), except for minor defects in title that do not, or could not reasonably be expected to, interfere with its ability to conduct its business as currently conducted or to utilize such properties for their intended purposes.

- (b) The Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries owns, or is licensed to use, all trademarks, trade names, copyrights, patents and other intellectual property material to its business, and the use thereof by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries does not infringe upon the rights of any other Person, except, in each case, for any matters that, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect [(other than the Disclosed Matters)]²².
- (c) Schedule 3.05 sets forth the address of each real property that is owned or leased by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date.

Section 3.06 <u>Litigation and Environmental Matters</u>. (a) There are no actions, suits or proceedings by or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority pending against or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened against or affecting the Borrower, any of its Subsidiaries or any of their respective executive officers or directors (i) which could reasonably be expected, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a Material Adverse Effect [(other than the Disclosed Matters)]²³ or (ii) that involve any of the Loan Documents or the Transactions.

(b) Except for [either the Disclosed Matters or]²⁴ any other matters that, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect, none of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries (i) has failed to comply with any Environmental Law or to obtain, maintain or comply with any permit, license or other approval required under any Environmental Law, (ii) has become subject to any Environmental Liability, (iii) has received notice of any claim with respect to any Environmental Liability or (iv) knows of any facts or circumstances which are reasonably likely to form the basis for any Environmental Liability.

Section 3.07 <u>Compliance with Laws and Agreements</u>. The Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries is in compliance with all laws, regulations and orders of any Governmental Authority applicable to it or its property and all indentures, agreements and other instruments binding upon it or its property, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. No Default has occurred and is continuing.

²² To be included if applicable

²³ To be included if applicable

²⁴ To be included if applicable

Section 3.08 <u>Investment Company Status</u>. None of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries is required to be registered as an "investment company" as defined in the Investment Company Act of 1940.

Section 3.09 <u>Taxes</u>. Each of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower and its Subsidiaries has timely filed or caused to be filed all material Tax returns and reports required to have been filed and has paid or caused to be paid all material Taxes required to have been paid by it, except any Taxes that are being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and for which the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower or such Subsidiary, as applicable, has set aside on its books adequate reserves in accordance with GAAP. Except as set forth in Schedule 3.09, no material tax Liens have been filed.

Section 3.10 <u>ERISA</u>. During the five year period prior to the date on which this representation is made or deemed to be made with respect to any Plan or Multiemployer Plan, no ERISA Event has occurred or is reasonably expected to occur that, when taken together with all other such ERISA Events for which liability has occurred during such five year period or for which liability is reasonably expected to occur, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect. The present value of all accumulated benefit obligations under each Plan (based on the assumptions used for purposes of Accounting Standards Codification No. 715: Compensation Retirement Benefits) did not, as of the date of the most recent financial statements reflecting such amounts, exceed the fair market value of the assets of such Plan by an amount that would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect, and the present value of all accumulated benefit obligations of all underfunded Plans (based on the assumptions used for purposes of Accounting Standards Codification No. 715: Compensation Retirement Benefits) did not, as of the date of the most recent financial statements reflecting such amounts, exceed the fair market value of the assets of all such underfunded Plans by an amount that would reasonably be expected to have a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 3.11 <u>Margin Regulations</u>. Neither the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries is engaged principally, or as one of its important activities, in the business of extending credit for the purpose of buying or carrying Margin Stock.

Section 3.12 <u>Disclosure</u>. None of the written reports, financial statements, certificates or other written information (including, without limitation, the Registration Statement on Form S-4 [and the Disclosure Statement (as supplemented in writing through the Closing Date))]²⁵ taken as a whole, furnished by or on behalf of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company or any Dex West Loan Party to the Administrative Agent or any Lender in connection with the negotiation of this Agreement or any other Loan Document or delivered hereunder or thereunder (as of the date thereof and as modified or supplemented by other information so furnished) contains any material misstatement of fact or omits to state any material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in the light of the circumstances under which they were made taken as a whole, not misleading; <u>provided</u> that, with respect to projected financial information, the Borrower represents only that such information was prepared in good faith based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable (i) at the time such projected financial information was prepared and (ii) as of the date hereof. [The Bankruptcy Court entered an order on or about [______], 2013 approving the adequacy of the Disclosure Statement.]²⁶

Section 3.13 <u>Subsidiaries</u>. Schedule 3.13 sets forth the name of, and the ownership interest of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company and the Borrower in, each Subsidiary of

²⁵ To be included if applicable

²⁶ To be included if applicable

the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company and the Borrower and identifies each such Subsidiary that is a Loan Party, in each case as of the Closing Date. As of the Closing Date, none of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Service Company and the Borrower has any Subsidiaries other than those set forth on Schedule 3.13.

Section 3.14 <u>Insurance</u>. Schedule 3.14 sets forth a description of all insurance maintained by or on behalf of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries as of the Closing Date. As of the Closing Date, all premiums due and payable in respect of such insurance have been paid. The Borrower believes that the insurance maintained by or on behalf of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries is adequate.

Section 3.15 <u>Labor Matters.</u> As of the Closing Date[, other than the Disclosed Matters]²⁷, there are no strikes, lockouts or slowdowns against the Borrower or any Subsidiary pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened. Except as could not, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect: (a) the hours worked by and payments made to employees of the Borrower and the Subsidiaries have not been in violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act or any other applicable Federal, state, local or foreign law dealing with such matters; (b) all payments due from the Borrower or any Subsidiary, or for which any claim may be made against the Borrower or any Subsidiary, on account of wages and employee health and welfare insurance and other benefits, have been paid or accrued as a liability on the books of the Borrower or such Subsidiary; and (c) the consummation of the Transactions will not give rise to any right of termination or right of renegotiation on the part of any union under any collective bargaining agreement to which the Borrower or any Subsidiary is bound.

Section 3.16 <u>Senior Debt</u>. For so long as the Restructuring Notes or Additional Notes are outstanding, the Obligations shall constitute "Senior Debt" under and as defined in the Restructuring Notes Indenture or, if applicable, under the indenture, note purchase agreement or other applicable agreement or instrument under which any such Additional Notes are issued.

Security Documents. (a) The Guarantee and Collateral Agreement is Section 3.17 effective to create in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the benefit of the Secured Parties, a legal, valid and enforceable security interest in the Collateral described therein and proceeds thereof. In the case of the Pledged Stock and Pledged Notes (as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement) described in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, when stock certificates representing such Pledged Stock and Pledged Notes are delivered to the Collateral Agent, and in the case of the other Collateral described in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement (other than the Intellectual Property, as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement), when financing statements and other filings are filed in the offices specified on Schedule 3.17 (as updated by the Borrower from time to time in accordance with Section 5.03), the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement shall constitute a fully perfected Lien on, and security interest in, all right, title and interest of the Dex West Loan Parties in such Collateral and the proceeds thereof, as security for the Obligations to the extent perfection can be obtained by filing Uniform Commercial Code financing statements, or in the case of Pledged Stock and Pledged Notes, by possession or control, in each case prior and superior in right to any other Person (except, in the case of Collateral other than Pledged Stock and Pledged Notes, Liens permitted by Section 6.02(a)).

(b) When the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement or a summary thereof is properly filed in the United States Patent and Trademark Office and the United States Copyright Office, and, with respect to Collateral in which a security interest cannot be perfected by such filings, upon the proper filing of the financing statements referred to in paragraph (a) above, the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and such financing statements shall constitute a fully perfected Lien on, and security interest in, all right, title and

-Active.13517265.11

²⁷ To be included if applicable

interest of the grantors thereunder in the Intellectual Property (as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement), in each case prior and superior in right to any other Person (it being understood that subsequent recordings in the United States Patent and Trademark Office and the United States Copyright Office may be necessary to perfect a lien on registered trademarks and patents, trademark and patent applications and registered copyrights acquired by the grantors after the date hereof).

(c) The Mortgages, if any, entered into on or prior to the Closing Date (when amended by the mortgage amendment referred to in clause (g)(1) of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement (the "Mortgage Amendments")), or after the Closing Date pursuant to Section 5.12, are or when entered shall be effective to create in favor of the Collateral Agent, for the ratable benefit of the Secured Parties, a legal, valid and enforceable Lien on all of the Dex West Loan Parties' right, title and interest in and to the Mortgaged Property thereunder and the proceeds thereof, and when such Mortgages are filed in the proper real estate filing offices, such Mortgages shall constitute a fully perfected Lien on, and security interest in, all right, title and interest of the Dex West Loan Parties in such Mortgaged Property and the proceeds thereof, in each case prior and superior in right to any other Person, other than with respect to the rights of Person pursuant to Liens expressly permitted by Section 6.02(a).

Section 3.18 <u>Liens</u>. There are no Liens of any nature whatsoever on any properties of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries other than Permitted Encumbrances and Liens permitted by Section 6.02.

Section 3.19 [Bankruptcy Court Orders. The Confirmation Order has been entered by the Bankruptcy Court, and such order has not been stayed, reversed, modified or vacated on appeal.]²⁸

ARTICLE IV

CONDITIONS

Section 4.01 <u>Effectiveness of Agreement</u>. The effectiveness of this Agreement is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of the following conditions precedent (and the delivery of the notice contemplated in the last sentence of this Section 4.01), provided that nothing herein shall limit the consent rights set forth in the Dex Support Agreement:

(a) <u>Loan Documents</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received (i) this Agreement, executed and delivered by the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and[, to the extent requested by the Administrative Agent,]²⁹ the Lenders, (ii) an executed Acknowledgment and Confirmation substantially in the form of Exhibit B hereto from each Dex West Loan Party, (iii) the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement executed and delivered by each Shared Collateral Loan Party, (iv) the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, executed and delivered by the Borrower, Dex East, RHDI and SuperMedia and (v) the Intercreditor Agreement, executed and delivered by the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, Dex Media Service, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Borrower, Dex East, RHDI, the Agent, the Shared Collateral Agent, the administrative agent and collateral agent under the Dex East Credit Agreement, the administrative agent under the RHDI Credit Agreement and the administrative agent under the SuperMedia Credit Agreement.

(b) [Confirmation of the Reorganization Plan. The Reorganization Plan shall have been confirmed by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to the Confirmation Order. The Confirmation Order shall not

²⁸ To be included if applicable

²⁹ To be included if applicable

have been stayed, modified, or vacated on appeal. All conditions precedent to the effectiveness of the Reorganization Plan shall have been satisfied (or waived) or shall be concurrently with the effective date of the Reorganization Plan satisfied (or waived) in accordance with the terms of the Reorganization Plan.]³⁰

- (c) Amendments. The Administrative Agent shall have received satisfactory evidence of the completion of the Amendments (including, for the avoidance of doubt, evidence that (i) the RHDI Loan Documents and the Dex East Loan Documents have been entered into, and become effective, substantially simultaneously with this Agreement and (ii) the SuperMedia Loan Documents have been entered into, and become effective, prior to the consummation of the Mergers)[; provided, that it is acknowledged and agreed that the filing by the Ultimate Parent, on behalf of itself and its Subsidiaries, with the Bankruptcy Court of written notice of the occurrence of the "Effective Date" under (and as defined in) the Reorganization Plan shall satisfy this condition.]³¹
- (d) <u>Mergers</u>. The Mergers shall have been consummated by the filing of the Certificates of Merger (as defined in the Merger Agreement) with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.
- (e) Trademarks. The trademarks owned by the Borrower, Dex East, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company and each other Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Ultimate Parent) ("Collateral Trademarks") shall have been transferred (together with the associated goodwill) to and owned by a bankruptcy remote Subsidiary of each such Person, respectively, and in each case, (i) the organizational documents of such bankruptcy remote Subsidiaries (each, a "License Subsidiary") shall provide for, and require that there at all times be, two special independent directors or members whose consent would be required for such License Subsidiary to file a petition for bankruptcy or for the transfer of any equity interests therein (other than the sale of such equity interests in a transaction permitted under the Loan Documents) and shall otherwise be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent and the Administrative Agent shall have received and shall be reasonably satisfied with (A) a certificate of an authorized officer of the Ultimate Parent including the certificate of incorporation or formation, as applicable, for the License Subsidiaries, certified by the relevant authority of the jurisdiction of organization of such License Subsidiary, (B) a complete copy of resolutions adopted by the Governing Board of such License Subsidiary authorizing the execution, delivery and performance in accordance with their respective terms of the agreements described in clause (ii) below and (C) a long form good standing certificate of such License Subsidiary, as applicable, from its jurisdiction of organization, (ii) the License Subsidiaries shall have entered into License Agreements and (iii) except as permitted by a License Agreement, anything incidental to the ownership of the Collateral Trademarks (including filing or registering any application for or registration of all current or future Collateral Trademarks and the prosecution, maintenance, renewal or enforcement of same) shall be done solely by the Licensee Subsidiaries (or their respective selected designees).
- (f) Other Intellectual Property Arrangements. (i) Each of the Borrower, Dex East, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company and each other Shared Collateral Loan Party shall have entered into Master IP License Agreements substantially in the form of Exhibit I hereto and (ii) each of the Borrower, Dex East, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company and each other Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Ultimate Parent) shall have delivered to each other above-referenced party and its Subsidiaries (other than License Subsidiaries) as of the Closing Date current or contingent (e.g., through an escrow arrangement reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) possession of, or access to, all Escrow Materials in existence as of the Closing Date, to the extent the applicable owner or licensee of any Escrow Materials is not permitted by the Agent to make delivery of same to any of such other parties promptly after

³⁰ To be included if applicable

³¹ To be included if applicable

the Closing Date. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 4.01(f), neither Borrower, Dex East, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company nor any other Shared Collateral Loan Party shall be deemed to have failed to satisfy this Section 4.01(f) for any inadvertent failure to deliver or place into escrow any Escrow Materials because such party was unaware of the existence of any such item, provided that (x) delivery or escrow of any such item is made promptly after identification or discovery of such item (and that such item has not been delivered or escrowed) by such party and (y) none of such other parties are materially damaged or prejudiced, and do not lose any material rights, due to such failure.

- (g) Existing Credit Agreement. The Borrower shall have timely paid current scheduled amortization and interest (at the non-default rate) on the Loans (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement) in accordance with the Existing Credit Agreement [and, to the extent applicable, the Cash Collateral Order,]³² and shall have paid all other fees and expenses then due and payable with respect to the Existing Credit Agreement.
- (h) <u>Fees</u>. The Lenders and the Administrative Agent shall have received all fees required to be paid, and all expenses for which reasonably detailed invoices have been presented, on or before the Closing Date.
- (i) No Actions. There shall be no action, suit, investigation or proceeding pending or, to the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened in any court or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority that could reasonably be expected to (x) have a material adverse effect on the business, assets, properties, liabilities (actual and contingent), operations or condition (financial or otherwise) of the Ultimate Parent and the other Loan Parties and their respective Subsidiaries, taken as a whole, (y) adversely affect the ability of the Ultimate Parent or any other Loan Party to perform its obligations under the Loan Documents or (z) adversely affect the rights and remedies of the Agent or the Lenders under the Loan Documents.
- (j) <u>Shared Services Agreement</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received the Shared Services Agreement, duly executed and delivered by the Ultimate Parent, the Service Company, the Borrower and each other party thereto, in substantially the form attached as Exhibit E hereto.
- (k) <u>Tax Sharing Agreements</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received the Tax Sharing Agreements, duly executed and delivered by the parties thereto.
- (l) <u>Financial Statements</u>. The Lenders shall have received the unaudited interim consolidated financial statements described in Section 3.04.
- (m) Closing Certificate. The Administrative Agent shall have received and shall be satisfied with (x) a certificate of an authorized officer of each Loan Party (other than any Newco Subordinated Guarantor), dated the Closing Date, with appropriate insertions and attachments including (i) the certificate of incorporation or formation, as applicable, of such Person, as applicable, certified by the relevant authority of the jurisdiction of organization of such Person, as applicable, (ii) a complete copy of resolutions adopted by the Governing Board of such Person authorizing the execution, delivery and performance in accordance with their respective terms of the Loan Documents to which such Person is a party and any other documents required or contemplated hereunder (in the case of the Ultimate Parent, a copy of the Confirmation Order in lieu of such resolutions; provided that a copy of the resolutions adopted by the new Governing Board of the Ultimate Parent ratifying the execution, delivery and performance in accordance with their respective terms of the Loan Documents to which the Ultimate Parent is a party shall be delivered to the Administrative Agent on the Closing Date) and (iii) a long form good standing certificate of such Person, as applicable, from its jurisdiction of organization and (y) a certificate signed by the president, a vice president or a

-Active.13517265.11

³² To be included if applicable

Financial Officer of the Borrower, the Ultimate Parent and the Parent, confirming that the conditions in Sections 4.01(q) and 4.01(t) have been satisfied, as applicable.

- (n) <u>Legal Opinions</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received the following executed opinions, in each case in form and substance satisfactory to the Administrative Agent: (i) the legal opinion of Kirkland & Ellis LLP, counsel to the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries, (ii) the legal opinion of Mark W. Hianik, the general counsel of the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries, and (iii) the legal opinion of Fulbright & Jaworski LLP, counsel to SuperMedia and its Subsidiaries.
- (o) Pledged Stock; Stock Powers; Pledged Notes. To the extent not previously delivered, (i) the Agent shall have received (x) the certificates or other instruments representing all outstanding Equity Interests of each Subsidiary owned by or on behalf of any Loan Party pledged pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, together with stock powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank and (y) each promissory note pledged and required to be delivered to the Agent pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, together with note powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank, and (ii) the Shared Collateral Agent shall have received, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, (x) the certificates or other instruments representing all outstanding Equity Interests of each Subsidiary owned by or on behalf of any Shared Collateral Loan Party pledged pursuant to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, together with stock powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank and (y) each promissory note pledged and required to be delivered to the Shared Collateral Agent pursuant to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, together with note powers or other instruments of transfer with respect thereto endorsed in blank.
- (p) <u>Filings, Registrations and Recordings</u>. All documents and instruments, including Uniform Commercial Code financing statements, required by law or reasonably requested by the Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, to be filed, registered or recorded to create the Liens intended to be created by the Collateral Agreements and perfect such Liens to the extent required by, and with the priority required by, the Collateral Agreements, shall have been executed and be in proper form for filing, subject only to exceptions satisfactory to the Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, and the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement shall have otherwise been satisfied.
- (q) <u>Representations and Warranties</u>. The representations and warranties of each Loan Party set forth in the Loan Documents shall be true and correct in all material respects (except to the extent already qualified as to materiality in which case such representations and warranties shall be true in all respects) on and as of the Closing Date, except to the extent such representations and warranties expressly relate to an earlier date (in which case such representations and warranties shall be true and correct in all material respects (except to the extent already qualified as to materiality in which case such representations and warranties shall be true in all respects) on and as of such earlier date).
- (r) <u>Mortgages</u>. The Collateral and Guarantee Requirement shall have been satisfied with respect to the Mortgaged Properties listed on Schedule 1.01B.
- (s) Control Agreements. To the extent not previously delivered, (i) the Agent shall have received control agreements executed by all parties thereto with respect to each "deposit account" (as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement) and "securities account" (as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement) with respect to which a control agreement is required to be delivered by any Loan Party to the Agent pursuant to the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, in each case in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent and (ii) the Shared Collateral Agent shall have received control agreements executed by all parties thereto with respect to each "deposit account" (as defined in the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement) and "securities account" (as defined in the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement) with respect to which a control agreement is required to be delivered by any Shared

Collateral Loan Party to the Shared Collateral Agent pursuant to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, in each case in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Shared Collateral Agent.

- (t) <u>No Default</u>. After giving effect to Section 9.17, no Default shall have occurred and be continuing as of the Closing Date.
- (u) Other Transaction Documents. The Administrative Agent shall have received copies of the Dex East Credit Agreement, the RHDI Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Credit Agreement, in each case certified by an authorized officer of the Ultimate Parent.
- (v) <u>Interest under Existing Credit Agreement</u>. The accrued and unpaid interest on the Loans (as defined in the Existing Credit Agreement) to the Closing Date (at the applicable non-default rate) shall have been paid in full in cash by the Borrower.³³
- (w) <u>Flood Hazards</u>. The Administrative Agent shall have received a completed "Life-of-Loan" Federal Emergency Management Agency Standard Flood Hazard Determination with respect to each Mortgaged Property (together with a notice about special flood hazard area status and flood disaster assistance duly executed by the Borrower and each Loan Party relating thereto), if any, and if any such Mortgaged Property is located in a special flood hazard area, evidence of flood insurance in form and amount reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent.

The Administrative Agent shall notify the Borrower and the Lenders of the Closing Date, and such notice shall be conclusive and binding.

ARTICLE V

AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

Until the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees payable hereunder shall have been paid in full, each of the Borrower and, solely for purposes of (i) Sections 5.01(a), (b) and (l), 5.12(c), 5.13 and 5.15, the Ultimate Parent and (ii) Section 5.12(c), the Parent covenants and agrees with the Lenders that:

Section 5.01 <u>Financial Statements and Other Information</u>. The Borrower will furnish to the Administrative Agent and each Lender:

(a) no later than the earlier of (i) 10 days after the date that the Borrower is required to file a report on Form 10-K with the Securities and Exchange Commission in compliance with the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (whether or not the Borrower is so subject to such reporting requirements), and (ii) 90 days after the end of each fiscal year of the Borrower, commencing with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013, (A) (x) the Ultimate Parent's audited consolidated balance sheet and related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such year and (y) the Ultimate Parent's audited consolidating balance sheet and related consolidating statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such year (with each such consolidating financial statement showing the standalone financial information for each of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries, Dex East and its consolidated Subsidiaries, RHDI and its consolidated Subsidiaries and SuperMedia and its consolidated Subsidiaries and otherwise

-Active.13517265.11

³³ Potential for breakage or other costs to be discussed.

being in form substantially similar in all material respects to the consolidating financial statements of the Ultimate Parent most recently delivered to the Administrative Agent prior to the Closing Date or such other form as may be reasonably acceptable to the Administrative Agent), setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all reported on by KPMG LLP or other independent public accountants of recognized national standing (without a "going concern" or like qualification, exception or explanatory paragraph and without any qualification or exception as to the scope of such audit or other material qualification or exception; provided, that if the Ultimate Parent switches from one independent public accounting firm to another, the audit report of any such new accounting firm may contain a qualification or exception as to the scope of such consolidated or consolidating financial statements that relates to any fiscal year prior to its retention which, for the avoidance of doubt, shall have been the subject of an audit report of the previous accounting firm meeting the criteria set forth above) to the effect that such consolidated and consolidating financial statements present fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Ultimate Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated or consolidating basis, as the case may be, in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except for the income tax provision which reflects an allocation to each Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent's income tax provision prepared on a consolidated basis and (B) the Borrower's unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the previous fiscal year, all certified by a Financial Officer of the Borrower as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except for the income tax provision which reflects an allocation to the Borrower, and its Subsidiaries of the Ultimate Parent's income tax provision prepared on a consolidated basis[; provided, that detailed income statement and balance sheet information reflecting the elimination of the Borrower's adoption of fresh-start accounting in accordance with GAAP upon effectiveness of the Reorganization Plan shall be included in (x) Management's Discussion and Analysis or Liquidity and Capital Resources, in the case of the financial statements delivered pursuant to clause (A). and (y) Borrower's Management's Narrative Analysis and Results of Operations, in the case of the financial statements delivered pursuant to clause (B)]³⁴;

(b) no later than the earlier of (i) 10 days after the date that the Borrower is required to file a report on Form 10-O with the Securities and Exchange Commission in compliance with the reporting requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Exchange Act (whether or not the Borrower is so subject to such reporting requirements), and (ii) 45 days after the end of each of the first three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year of the Borrower, commencing with the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2013, (A) (x) the Ultimate Parent's unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year and (y) the Ultimate Parent's unaudited consolidating balance sheet and related consolidating statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year (with each such consolidating financial statement showing the standalone financial information for each of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries, Dex East and its consolidated Subsidiaries, RHDI and its consolidated Subsidiaries and SuperMedia and its consolidated Subsidiaries and otherwise being in form substantially similar in all material respects to the consolidating financial statements of the Ultimate Parent most recently delivered to the Administrative Agent prior to the Closing Date or such other form as may be reasonably

³⁴ To be included if applicable

acceptable to the Administrative Agent), setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding period or periods of (or, in the case of the balance sheet, as of the end of) the previous fiscal year, all certified by a Financial Officer of the Ultimate Parent as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Ultimate Parent and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except for the income tax provision which reflects an allocation to each Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent's income tax provision prepared on a consolidated basis, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes and (B) the Borrower's unaudited consolidated balance sheet and related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders' equity and cash flows as of the end of and for such fiscal quarter and the then elapsed portion of the fiscal year, setting forth in each case in comparative form the figures for the corresponding period or periods of (or, in the case of the balance sheet, as of the end of) the previous fiscal year, all certified by a Financial Officer of the Borrower as presenting fairly in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of the Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries on a consolidated basis in accordance with GAAP consistently applied, except for the income tax provision which reflects an allocation to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries of the Ultimate Parent's income tax provision prepared on a consolidated basis, subject to normal year-end audit adjustments and the absence of footnotes[; provided, that detailed income statement and balance sheet information reflecting the elimination of the Borrower's adoption of fresh-start accounting in accordance with GAAP upon effectiveness of the Reorganization Plan shall be included in (x) Management's Discussion and Analysis or Liquidity and Capital Resources, in the case of the financial statements delivered pursuant to clause (A), and (y) Borrower's Management's Narrative Analysis and Results of Operations, in the case of the financial statements delivered pursuant to clause (B)|³⁵;

- (c) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a)(B) or (b)(B) above, the corresponding financial statements with respect to Dex East, RHDI and SuperMedia that are required to be delivered by Dex East, RHDI and SuperMedia under the Dex East Credit Agreement, the RHDI Credit Agreement and the SuperMedia Credit Agreement, respectively;
- (d) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a) or (b) above, a certificate of a Financial Officer of the Borrower (i) certifying as to whether a Default has occurred and, if a Default has occurred, specifying the details thereof and any action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto, (ii) setting forth reasonably detailed calculations demonstrating compliance with Section 6.14 (commencing with the fiscal quarter ending March 31, 2013), (iii) stating whether any change in GAAP or in the application thereof has occurred since the Closing Date that has had an effect on the financial statements accompanying such certificate and specifying any such change and the related effect, (iv) identifying any Subsidiary of the Dex West Loan Parties formed or acquired since the end of the previous fiscal quarter, (v) identifying any parcels of real property or improvements thereto with a value exceeding \$10,000,000 that have been acquired by the Dex West Loan Parties since the end of the previous fiscal quarter, (vi) identifying any changes of the type described in Section 5.03(a) that have not been previously reported by the Borrower, (vii) identifying any Permitted Acquisition or other acquisitions of going concerns that have been consummated since the end of the previous fiscal quarter, including the date on which each such acquisition or Investment was consummated and the consideration therefor, (viii) identifying any material Intellectual Property (as defined in the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement) with respect to which a notice is required to be delivered under the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and has not been previously delivered,

³⁵ To be included if applicable

- (ix) identifying any Prepayment Events or Ultimate Parent Asset Dispositions that have occurred since the end of the previous fiscal quarter and setting forth a reasonably detailed calculation of the Net Proceeds received from any such Prepayment Events or Ultimate Parent Asset Dispositions, (x) identifying any change in the locations at which equipment and inventory, in each case with a value in excess of \$10,000,000, are located, if not owned by the Dex West Loan Parties, (xi) identifying any Services Assets (as defined in the Shared Services Agreement) (but with respect to Services Assets that constitute Intellectual Property, solely Intellectual Property that has been registered or patented or the registration of which has been applied for) contributed by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries to the Service Company during the immediately preceding fiscal quarter, and a reasonably detailed description of such Services Assets and the value thereof, (xii) attaching a schedule setting forth a computation (and any utilization by the Borrower) of Excess Cash Flow, Borrower's Discounted Prepayment Portion of Excess Cash Flow and Borrower's Discretionary Portion of Excess Cash Flow as of the end of the period covered by such financial statements and (xiii) setting forth (A) a reporting sales metric (which will serve as leading indicator of reported print and digital revenues), for such fiscal quarter or fiscal year, as applicable, (B) print and digital revenue and a gross margin amount for each of such reported revenue amounts for such fiscal quarter or fiscal year, as applicable, and (C) statements of cash flow from operations (with a reconciliation of net income to operating cash flow from operations and financing activities (including capital expenditures)) for such fiscal quarter or fiscal year, as applicable;
- (e) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a) above, a certificate of the accounting firm that reported on such financial statements stating whether they obtained knowledge during the course of their examination of such financial statements of any Default or Event of Default in respect of Section 6.14 (which certificate may be limited to the extent required by accounting rules, guidelines or practice);
- (f) within 30 days after the commencement of each fiscal year of the Borrower, a detailed consolidated budget for such fiscal year (including a projected consolidated balance sheet and related statements of projected operations and cash flow as of the end of and for such fiscal year and setting forth the assumptions used for purposes of preparing such budget, in form reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent), promptly when available, any material significant revisions of such budget;
- (g) promptly after the same become publicly available, and no later than five Business Days after the same are sent, copies of all periodic and other reports, proxy statements and other materials filed by the Dex West Loan Parties with the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any Governmental Authority succeeding to any or all of the functions of said Commission, or with any national securities exchange, or distributed by the Ultimate Parent or the Parent to its shareholders generally;
- (h) promptly following any request therefor, such other information regarding the operations, business affairs and financial condition of the Dex West Loan Parties, or compliance with the terms of any Loan Document, as the Administrative Agent (including on behalf of any Lender) may reasonably request;
- (i) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements and related information by any Loan Party to any debtholder of Dex Digital, RHDC or of any Newco not otherwise required to be delivered hereunder, copies of such financial statements and related information;

- (j) promptly following receipt thereof, copies of any documents described in Sections 101(k) or 101(l) of ERISA that any Loan Party or any ERISA Affiliate may request with respect to any Multiemployer Plan; provided, that if the Loan Parties or any of their ERISA Affiliates have not requested such documents or notices from the administrator or sponsor of the applicable Multiemployer Plan, then, upon reasonable request of the Administrative Agent, the Loan Parties and/or their ERISA Affiliates shall promptly make a request for such documents or notices from such administrator or sponsor and the Borrower shall provide copies of such documents and notices to the Administrative Agent (on behalf of each requesting Lender) promptly after receipt thereof; provided, further, that the rights granted to the Administrative Agent in this section shall be exercised not more than once during a 12-month period;
- (k) if the Borrower is not then a reporting company under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, within 45 days after the end of each fiscal quarter of the Borrower or 90 days in the case of the last fiscal quarter of each fiscal year, a narrative discussion and analysis of the financial condition and results of operations of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries for such fiscal quarter and for the period from the beginning of the then current fiscal year to the end of such fiscal quarter, as compared to the comparable periods of the previous year, in substantially the form delivered to the Administrative Agent prior to the Closing Date;
- (1) no later than five Business Days prior to the effectiveness thereof, copies of substantially final drafts of any proposed material amendment, supplement, waiver or other modification with respect to the Dex East Credit Agreement, the RHDI Credit Agreement, the SuperMedia Credit Agreement, the Shared Services Agreement, the Tax Sharing Agreements, the Subordinated Guarantee, any Master IP License Agreement, any License Agreement, any escrow arrangement with respect to the Escrow Materials entered into pursuant to this Agreement, the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes; and
- (m) (i) promptly following receipt thereof, any notice of changes of allocation percentages that any Dex West Loan Party shall receive pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement and (ii) concurrently with any delivery of financial statements under clause (a) or (b) above, a statement of changes in the intercompany balances of the Loan Parties with the Service Company in substantially the form delivered to the Administrative Agent prior to the Closing Date.

Section 5.02 <u>Notices of Material Events</u>. The Borrower will furnish to the Administrative Agent and each Lender written notice of the following promptly after any Financial Officer or executive officer of the Borrower or any Subsidiary obtains knowledge thereof:

- (a) the occurrence of any Default;
- (b) the filing or commencement of any action, suit or proceeding by or before any arbitrator or Governmental Authority against or affecting the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower or any Affiliate thereof that involves (i) a reasonable possibility of an adverse determination and which, if adversely determined, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect or (ii) which relates to the Loan Documents;
- (c) the occurrence of any ERISA Event that, alone or together with any other ERISA Events that have occurred, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect; and

(d) any other development that results in, or could reasonably be expected to result in, a Material Adverse Effect.

Each notice delivered under this Section shall be accompanied by a statement of a Financial Officer or other executive officer of the Borrower setting forth the details of the event or development requiring such notice and any action taken or proposed to be taken with respect thereto.

Section 5.03 <u>Information Regarding Collateral.</u> (a) The Borrower will furnish to the Administrative Agent prompt written notice of any change (i) in the legal name of any of the Dex West Loan Parties, as reflected in its organization documents, (ii) in jurisdiction of organization or corporate structure of any of the Dex West Loan Parties and (iii) in the identity, Federal Taxpayer Identification Number or organization number of any of the Dex West Loan Parties, if any, assigned by the jurisdiction of its organization. The Borrower agrees not to effect or permit any change referred to in clauses (i) through (iii) of the preceding sentence unless all filings have been made under the Uniform Commercial Code or otherwise that are required in order for the Agent to continue at all times following such change to have a valid, legal and perfected security interest in all the Collateral of the Dex West Loan Parties for the benefit of the Secured Parties. The Borrower also agrees promptly to notify the Administrative Agent if any damage to or destruction of Collateral of the Dex West Loan Parties that is uninsured and has a fair market value exceeding \$10,000,000 occurs.

(b) Each year, at the time of delivery of annual financial statements with respect to the preceding fiscal year pursuant to clause (a) of Section 5.01, the Borrower shall deliver to the Administrative Agent a certificate of a Financial Officer and the chief legal officer of the Borrower certifying that all Uniform Commercial Code financing statements (including fixture filings, as applicable) or other appropriate filings, recordings or registrations, including all refilings, rerecordings and reregistrations, containing a description of the Collateral and required pursuant to the Loan Documents to be filed, have been filed of record in each governmental, municipal or other appropriate office in each jurisdiction necessary to protect and perfect the security interests under the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement for a period of not less than 18 months after the date of such certificate (except as noted therein with respect to any continuation statements to be filed within such period).

Section 5.04 <u>Existence; Conduct of Business</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, do or cause to be done all things necessary to preserve, renew and keep in full force and effect its legal existence and the rights, contracts, licenses, permits, privileges and franchises material to the conduct of its business; <u>provided</u>, that the foregoing shall not prohibit any merger, consolidation, liquidation or dissolution permitted under Section 6.03 or any sale of assets permitted under Section 6.04(n).

Section 5.05 <u>Payment of Obligations</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, pay its material Indebtedness and other material obligations, including Tax liabilities, before the same shall become delinquent or in default, except where (a) the validity or amount thereof is being contested in good faith by appropriate proceedings and (b) the Borrower or such Subsidiary has set aside on its books adequate reserves with respect thereto in accordance with GAAP.

Section 5.06 <u>Maintenance of Properties</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, keep and maintain all property (other than Intellectual Property) material to the conduct of its business in good working order and condition, ordinary wear and tear excepted. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, subject to its and their reasonable business judgment, take all actions to maintain all registrations and applications with respect to material Intellectual Property owned by any of them.

Section 5.07 <u>Insurance</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, maintain, with financially sound and reputable insurance companies (a) insurance in such amounts (with no greater risk retention) and against such risks as are customarily maintained by companies of established repute engaged in the same or similar businesses operating in the same or similar locations and (b) all insurance required to be maintained pursuant to the Security Documents. The Borrower will furnish to the Lenders, upon request of the Administrative Agent, information in reasonable detail as to the insurance so maintained.

Section 5.08 <u>Casualty and Condemnation</u>. The Borrower (a) will furnish to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders prompt written notice of any casualty or other insured damage to any Collateral of the Dex West Loan Parties fairly valued at more than \$10,000,000 or the commencement of any action or proceeding for the taking of any Collateral of the Dex West Loan Parties or any material part thereof or material interest therein under power of eminent domain or by condemnation or similar proceeding and (b) will ensure that the Net Proceeds of any such event (whether in the form of insurance proceeds, condemnation awards or otherwise) are collected and applied in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Security Documents and this Agreement.

Section 5.09 <u>Books and Records; Inspection and Audit Rights.</u> The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, keep proper books of record and account in which full, true and correct entries are made of all dealings and transactions in relation to its business and activities. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, permit any representatives designated by the Administrative Agent or any Lender, upon reasonable prior notice, to visit and inspect its properties, to examine and make extracts from its books and records, and to discuss its affairs, finances and condition with its officers, employees and independent accountants, all at such reasonable times and as often as reasonably requested.

Section 5.10 <u>Compliance with Laws</u>. The Borrower will, and will cause each of its Subsidiaries to, comply with all laws, rules, regulations, including Environmental Laws, and orders of any Governmental Authority applicable to it, its operations or its property, except where the failure to do so, individually or in the aggregate, could not reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect.

Section 5.11 <u>Additional Subsidiaries</u>. If any additional Subsidiary of the Dex West Loan Parties is formed or acquired after the Closing Date, the Borrower will, within three Business Days after such Subsidiary is formed or acquired, notify the Administrative Agent and the Lenders thereof and, within 15 Business Days (or such longer period as the Administrative Agent shall agree) after such Subsidiary is formed or acquired, cause any applicable provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement to be satisfied with respect to such Subsidiary and with respect to any Equity Interest in or Indebtedness of such Subsidiary owned by or on behalf of the Dex West Loan Parties.

Section 5.12 Further Assurances. (a) The Borrower will, and will cause each Subsidiary Loan Party to, execute any and all further documents, financing statements, agreements and instruments, and take all such further actions (including the filing and recording of financing statements, fixture filings, Mortgages and other documents), that may be required under any applicable law, or that the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders may reasonably request, to cause all provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement applicable to the Dex West Loan Parties to be and remain satisfied, all at the expense of the Dex West Loan Parties; provided, that such provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement need not be satisfied with respect to (i) real properties owned by the Dex West Loan Parties with an individual fair market value (including fixtures and improvements) that is less than \$10,000,000 and (ii) any real property held by the Dex West Loan Parties as a lessee under a lease. The Borrower also agrees to provide to the Administrative Agent, from time to time upon request, evidence

reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent as to the perfection and priority of the Liens created or intended to be created by the Security Documents.

- (b) If any material asset (including any real property or improvements thereto or any interest therein) that has an individual fair market value of more than \$10,000,000 is acquired by the Dex West Loan Parties after the Closing Date or owned by an entity at the time it becomes a Subsidiary Loan Party (in each case other than assets constituting Collateral under the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement that become subject to the Lien of the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement upon acquisition thereof), the Borrower will notify the Administrative Agent and the Lenders thereof, and, if requested by the Administrative Agent or the Required Lenders, the Borrower will cause such asset to be subjected to a Lien securing the Obligations and will take, and cause the Dex West Loan Parties to take, such actions as shall be necessary or reasonably requested by the Administrative Agent to grant and perfect such Liens, including actions described in paragraph (a) of this Section, all at the expense of the Dex West Loan Parties; provided, that the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement need not be satisfied with respect to (i) real properties owned by the Dex West Loan Parties with an individual fair market value (including fixtures and improvements) that is less than \$10,000,000, (ii) any real property held by any of the Dex West Loan Parties as a lessee under a lease and (iii) other assets with respect to which the Agent determines that the cost or impracticability of including such assets as Collateral would be excessive in relation to the benefits to the Secured Parties.
- (c) Subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, each of the Ultimate Parent and the Parent shall cause all provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement applicable to the Shared Collateral Loan Parties to be satisfied, including by causing, as applicable, (i) each Newco Subordinated Guarantor to execute a Newco Subordinated Guarantee as described in clause (e) of the definition of "Collateral and Guarantee Requirement" and (ii) each Newco Senior Guarantor to execute a supplement to the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement as required thereunder; <u>provided</u>, that such provisions of the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement need not be satisfied with respect to (i) real properties owned by the Shared Collateral Loan Parties with an individual fair market value (including fixtures and improvements) that is less than \$10,000,000 and (ii) any real property held by the Shared Collateral Loan Parties as a lessee under a lease.
 - Section 5.13 <u>Credit Ratings</u>. Each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower will use its commercially reasonable efforts to maintain at all times monitored public ratings of the Loans by Moody's and S&P and a corporate family rating for each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower from Moody's and a corporate issuer rating for each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower from S&P.
 - Section 5.14 Intellectual Property. Each of the Borrower, Dex East, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company and each other Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Ultimate Parent) shall deliver to each other, following the Closing Date, current or contingent (e.g., through an escrow arrangement reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent) possession of, or access to, all future Escrow Materials that were not Escrow Materials as of the Closing Date and material updates on an ongoing basis to Escrow Materials in existence as of the Closing Date, in each case within a reasonable period of time following such Escrow Materials becoming owned, licensed or updated, as applicable, by Borrower, Dex East, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company or another Shared Collateral Loan Party (other than the Ultimate Parent), as applicable. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Section 5.14, neither Borrower, Dex East, RHDI, SuperMedia, the Service Company nor any other Shared Collateral Loan Party shall be deemed to have failed to satisfy this Section 5.14 for any inadvertent failure to deliver or place into escrow any Escrow Materials because such party was unaware of the existence of any such item, provided that (x) delivery or escrow of any such item is made within a reasonable period of time after identification or discovery of such item (and that such item has not been delivered or

escrowed) by such party and (y) none of such other parties are materially damaged or prejudiced, and do not lose any material rights, due to such failure.

Section 5.15 <u>Independent Director</u>. Each of the Ultimate Parent and the Borrower shall cause the board of directors, board of managers, or other equivalent governing body of each License Subsidiary to include at least two special, independent directors or members (or equivalent thereof), pursuant to documentation reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent, whose consent shall be required for (i) any filing of a petition for bankruptcy by the relevant License Subsidiary, (ii) the transfer of any membership or other equity interests therein (other than the sale or other transfer of such membership or equity interests in a transaction permitted under the Loan Documents) and (iii) encumbering any asset owned by such License Subsidiary with a real property mortgage or deed of trust, as applicable, or a security agreement, pledge agreement or any similar agreement creating a Lien in respect thereof, except as permitted under the Loan Documents (including as a result of any consent, amendment, waiver or other modification obtained in accordance with the terms of the Loan Documents).

ARTICLE VI

NEGATIVE COVENANTS

Until the principal of and interest on each Loan and all fees payable hereunder have been paid in full, each of the Borrower, and solely for purposes of (i) Sections 6.13(b) and 6.16, the Parent, and (ii) Sections 6.13(b), 6.17, 6.18, 6.19 and 6.20, the Ultimate Parent, covenants and agrees with the Lenders that:

Section 6.01 <u>Indebtedness; Certain Equity Securities</u>. (a) The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Indebtedness or any Attributable Debt, except:

- (i) Indebtedness created under the Loan Documents and any Permitted Subordinated Indebtedness of the Borrower or its Subsidiaries to the extent the Net Proceeds thereof are used to refinance Indebtedness created under the Loan Documents;
- (ii) Indebtedness existing on the Closing Date and set forth in Schedule 6.01 and Refinancing Indebtedness in respect thereof;
- (iii) Indebtedness of the Borrower to any Subsidiary and of any Subsidiary to the Borrower or any other Subsidiary; <u>provided</u>, that no Subsidiary that is not a Loan Party shall have any Indebtedness to the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party;
- (iv) Guarantees by the Borrower of Indebtedness of any Subsidiary Loan Party and by any Subsidiary of Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party;
- (v) Indebtedness and Attributable Debt of the Borrower or any Subsidiary incurred to finance the acquisition, construction or improvement of any fixed or capital assets, including Capital Lease Obligations and any Indebtedness assumed in connection with the acquisition of any such assets or secured by a Lien on any such assets prior to the acquisition thereof, and extensions, renewals, refinancings and replacements of any such Indebtedness that do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof (other than by an amount not greater than fees and expenses, including premium and defeasance costs, associated therewith) or result in a decreased average weighted life thereof; provided that (1) such Indebtedness or Attributable Debt is incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction

or improvement and (2) the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness and Attributable Debt permitted by this clause (v), together with the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness and Attributable Debt of the Service Company described in Section 6.18(d)(i) allocated to the Borrower and its Subsidiaries pursuant to the Shared Services Agreement, shall not exceed \$15,000,000 at any time outstanding;

- (vi) Indebtedness of any Person that becomes a Subsidiary after the Closing Date and Refinancing Indebtedness in respect thereof; <u>provided</u> that (A) such Indebtedness (other than Refinancing Indebtedness) exists at the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary and is not created in contemplation of or in connection with such Person becoming a Subsidiary (except to the extent such Indebtedness refinanced other Indebtedness to facilitate such entity becoming a Subsidiary) and (B) the aggregate principal amount of Indebtedness permitted by this clause (vi) shall not exceed \$10,000,000 at any time outstanding;
- (vii) Indebtedness of the Borrower or any Subsidiary in respect of letters of credit in an aggregate face amount not exceeding \$5,000,000 at any time outstanding;
- (viii) unsecured Indebtedness and Attributable Debt owing to the Service Company incurred pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions; and
- (ix) other unsecured Indebtedness (other than Indebtedness of the Borrower to any Affiliate of the Borrower) in an aggregate principal amount not exceeding \$20,000,000 at any time outstanding.
- (b) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, issue any preferred stock or other preferred Equity Interests.

Section 6.02 <u>Liens.</u> (a) The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Lien on any property or asset now owned or hereafter acquired by it, or assign or sell any income or revenues (including accounts receivable) or rights in respect of any thereof, except:

- (i) Liens created under the Loan Documents;
- (ii) Permitted Encumbrances;
- (iii) any Lien existing on the Closing Date and set forth in Schedule 6.02 on any property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that (A) such Lien shall not apply to any other property or asset of the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than proceeds) and (B) such Lien shall secure only those obligations which it secures on the date hereof and extensions, renewals, refinancings and replacements thereof that do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof or result in an earlier maturity date or decreased weighted average life thereof;
- (iv) any Lien existing on any property or asset prior to the acquisition thereof by the Borrower or any Subsidiary or existing on any property or asset of any Person that becomes a Subsidiary after the Closing Date prior to the time such Person becomes a Subsidiary; provided that (A) such Lien is not created in contemplation of or in connection with such acquisition or such Person becoming a Subsidiary, as the case may be, (B) such Lien shall not apply to any other property or assets of the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than proceeds) and (C) such Lien shall secure only those obligations which it secures on the date of such acquisition or the date such Person becomes a Subsidiary, as the case may be and extensions, renewals,

refinancings and replacements thereof that do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof (other than by an amount not in excess of fees and expenses, including premium and defeasance costs, associated therewith) or result in a decreased average weighted life thereof;

- (v) Liens on fixed or capital assets acquired, constructed or improved by the Borrower or any Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that (A) such Liens secure Indebtedness permitted by clause (v) of Section 6.01(a), (B) such Liens and the Indebtedness secured thereby are incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction or improvement, (C) the Indebtedness secured thereby does not exceed the cost of acquiring, constructing or improving such fixed or capital assets and (D) such Liens shall not apply to any other property or assets of the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than proceeds);
- (vi) Liens on cash collateral securing letters of credit permitted by Section 6.01(a)(vii) in an aggregate amount not to exceed the lesser of (x) \$5,250,000 and (y) 105% of the face amount thereof:
- (vii) Liens in the nature of non-exclusive licenses of Intellectual Property granted to or in favor of another Company pursuant to the Directory Consolidation Project; and
- (viii) Liens not otherwise permitted by this Section 6.02 securing obligations other than Indebtedness and involuntary Liens not otherwise permitted by this Section 6.02 securing Indebtedness, which obligations and Indebtedness are in an aggregate amount not in excess of \$5,000,000 at any time outstanding.

Section 6.03 Fundamental Changes. (a) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, merge into or consolidate with any other Person, or permit any other Person to merge into or consolidate with it, or liquidate, wind up or dissolve, except that, if at the time thereof and immediately after giving effect thereto no Default shall have occurred and be continuing, (i) any Subsidiary may merge into the Borrower in a transaction in which the Borrower is the surviving entity, (ii) subject to Section 6.20, any Subsidiary may merge into any Subsidiary in a transaction in which the surviving entity is a wholly-owned Subsidiary and, if any party to such merger is a Subsidiary Loan Party, a Subsidiary Loan Party, (iii) any Subsidiary may merge or consolidate with any other Person in order to effect a Permitted Acquisition and (iv) any Subsidiary (other than the Borrower) may liquidate or dissolve if the Borrower determines in good faith that such liquidation or dissolution is in the best interests of the Borrower and is not materially disadvantageous to the Lenders; provided that (x) any such merger involving a Person that is not a wholly owned Subsidiary immediately prior to such merger shall not be permitted unless also permitted by Section 6.04 and (y) any such liquidation or dissolution involving a License Subsidiary of the Borrower shall not be permitted unless such License Subsidiary conveys, leases, sells, transfers or otherwise disposes of, in one transaction or series of transactions, all or substantially all of its business or property, whether now or hereafter acquired, to a License Subsidiary.

- (b) The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, engage to any material extent in any business other than a Permitted Business.
- (c) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, this Section 6.03 shall not prohibit the [Mergers]["Restructuring Transactions" under (and as defined in) the Reorganization Plan.]³⁶

Section 6.04 <u>Investments, Loans, Advances, Guarantees and Acquisitions</u>. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, make, purchase, hold or acquire

³⁶ To be included if applicable

(including pursuant to any merger with any Person that was not a wholly owned Subsidiary prior to such merger) any Investment, except:

- (a) Permitted Investments;
- (b) Investments existing on the date hereof and set forth on Schedule 6.04;
- (c) Investments by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in Equity Interests in Subsidiaries that are Subsidiary Loan Parties immediately prior to the time of such Investments;
- (d) loans or advances made by the Borrower to any Subsidiary Loan Party and made by any Subsidiary to the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party;
 - (e) Guarantees constituting Indebtedness permitted by Section 6.01;
- (f) investments (including debt obligations and equity securities) received in connection with the bankruptcy or reorganization of, or settlement of delinquent accounts and disputes with, customers and suppliers, in each case in the ordinary course of business;
 - (g) extensions of trade credit in the ordinary course of business;
- (h) Investments consisting of non-cash consideration received in respect of sales, transfers or other dispositions of assets to the extent permitted by Section 6.04(n);
 - (i) Swap Agreements entered into in compliance with Section 6.07;
- (j) loans and advances by the Borrower and any of its Subsidiaries to their employees in the ordinary course of business and for bona fide business purposes in an aggregate amount at any time outstanding not in excess of \$2,500,000;
 - (k) Investments in connection with the Shared Services Transactions;
- (1) Permitted Acquisitions (other than Permitted Acquisitions involving the purchase of assets from Affiliates that are not Subsidiaries of the Borrower) in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$5,000,000 during the term of this Agreement;
- (m) provided that (i) no Event of Default is continuing or would result therefrom, (ii) no portion of the proceeds of any such Investment is used, directly or indirectly, to purchase or repurchase, or finance the purchase or repurchase, of any Restructuring Notes, Additional Notes or any other Indebtedness of any Affiliate (and the terms of any Investment shall not permit any such purchase or repurchase by the Person in which such Investment is made while such Investment is outstanding) and (iii) no such Investment is made in any Person that is an Affiliate of the Borrower (other than the Borrower and its Subsidiaries) other than Investments that result in a purchase of assets (x) by a Newco Senior Guarantor or the Service Company in connection with equivalent Investments by each of Dex East, RHDI and SuperMedia or (y) by the Borrower or a Subsidiary in Dex Digital in connection with equivalent Investments by each of Dex East and RHDI, Investments in any other Person in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$5,000,000 during the term of this Agreement; and
- (n) advances or payments made by the Borrower or any Subsidiary to (x) the License Subsidiaries of the Borrower or (y) any other Person for the purpose of (i) filing, prosecuting,

registering, renewing, enforcing or maintaining any Intellectual Property applications or registrations owned by such License Subsidiaries and (ii) satisfying all other liabilities related to, in connection with or incidental to (x) the maintenance of the existence of such License Subsidiaries and (y) activities of such License Subsidiaries permitted under this Agreement (including, without limitation, reimbursement for directors and officers fees and compensation) and under the organizational documents of such License Subsidiaries.

Section 6.05 <u>Asset Sales</u>. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, sell, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of any asset, including any Equity Interest owned by it and any sale of assets in connection with a securitization, nor will the Borrower permit any of its Subsidiaries to issue any additional Equity Interest in such Subsidiary, except:

- (a) sales of (x) inventory, (y) used, surplus, obsolete or worn-out equipment and (z) Permitted Investments in the ordinary course of business;
- (b) sales, transfers and dispositions to the Borrower or a Subsidiary; <u>provided</u> that any such sales, transfers or dispositions involving a Subsidiary that is not a Loan Party shall be made in compliance with Section 6.09;
- (c) sales of receivables on substantially the same terms that the receivables are purchased by Qwest Corp. pursuant to the Billing and Collection Agreement as in effect on November 1, 2004, including sales of receivables pursuant to and in accordance with the Billing and Collection Agreement;
 - (d) sale and leaseback transactions permitted by Section 6.06;
- (e) sales, transfers and other dispositions of assets (other than Equity Interests in a Subsidiary) to bona fide third parties that are not Affiliates of the Borrower and that are not permitted by any other clause of this Section; <u>provided</u>, that the aggregate cumulative fair market value of all assets sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of after the Closing Date in reliance upon this clause (e) shall not exceed \$20,000,000;
 - (f) sales, transfers and other dispositions pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions;
- (g) the licensing or sublicensing (other than exclusive licenses or sublicenses) of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business in a manner that does not, and could not reasonably be expected to, materially interfere with the business of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries; and
- (h) the sales, transfers or other dispositions in connection with the Directory Consolidation Project³⁷;

<u>provided</u>, that (x) all sales, transfers, leases and other dispositions permitted hereby (other than pursuant to clauses (a)(y), (b), (f) and (f) above) shall be made for at least 80% cash consideration or, in the case of Permitted Investments, sales of receivables or sale and leaseback transactions, 100% cash consideration,

³⁷ Schedule 1.01A to provide that the profits of the consolidated directories will be shared among the contributing companies in a manner reasonably acceptable to the admin agent taking into account the respective revenues of the directories that are combined, the costs of achieving the combination and the ongoing operating costs of the combination

and (y) all sales, transfers, leases and other dispositions permitted by clauses (a)(x), (e) and (g) above shall be made for fair value.

Section 6.06 Sale and Leaseback Transactions. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into any arrangement, directly or indirectly, whereby it shall sell or transfer any property, real or personal, used or useful in its business, whether now owned or hereinafter acquired, and thereafter rent or lease such property or other property that it intends to use for substantially the same purpose or purposes as the property sold or transferred, except (a) pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions or (b) any such sale of any fixed or capital assets that is made for cash consideration in an amount not less than the cost of such fixed or capital asset and is consummated within 90 days after the Borrower or such Subsidiary acquires or completes the construction of such fixed or capital asset, to the extent all Capital Lease Obligations, Attributable Debt and Liens associated with such sale and leaseback transaction are permitted by Sections 6.01(a)(v) and 6.02(a)(v) (treating the property subject thereto as being subject to a Lien securing the related Attributable Debt, in the case of a sale and leaseback not accounted for as a Capital Lease Obligation).

Section 6.07 Swap Agreements. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any of its Subsidiaries to, enter into any Swap Agreement, except (a) Swap Agreements entered into in the ordinary course of business to hedge or mitigate risks to which the Borrower or any Subsidiary has actual exposure (other than those in respect of Equity Interests of the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries) in the conduct of its business or the management of its liabilities and (b) Swap Agreements entered into in order to effectively cap, collar or exchange interest rates (from floating to fixed rates, from one floating rate to another floating rate or otherwise) with respect to any interest-bearing liability or investment of the Borrower or any Subsidiary.

Section 6.08 Restricted Payments; Certain Payments of Indebtedness. (a) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, declare or make, or agree to pay or make, directly or indirectly, any Restricted Payment, or incur any obligation (contingent or otherwise) to do so, except (i) Subsidiaries of the Borrower may declare and pay dividends or distributions ratably with respect to their Equity Interests, (ii) provided no Default or Event of Default is continuing or would result therefrom, the Borrower may make Restricted Payments to the Parent, provided that (A) the proceeds of such Restricted Payments are used to repurchase, redeem, or otherwise acquire or retire for value Equity Interests in the Ultimate Parent held by any future, present or former directors, officers, members of management, employees or consultants of the Ultimate Parent or the Service Company or their respective estates, heirs, family members, spouses or former spouses pursuant to the terms of any employee equity subscription agreement, stock option agreement or similar agreement, (B) (x) any Restricted Payments used to effect such repurchases, redemptions, acquisitions or retirements are made not earlier than ten Business Days prior to the date when such Equity Interests are repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired, if such repurchase, redemption, acquisition or retirement is made and (v) if such Restricted Payments are not used for such repurchase, redemption, acquisition or retirement, the proceeds therefrom shall be returned to the Borrower as a capital contribution within ten Business Days from the date such Restricted Payment was made, (C) the aggregate price paid for all such repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired Equity Interests in any fiscal year pursuant to this clause (ii) (other than (1) any such Equity Interests repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired in compensation for any taxes due or payable by the holder thereof, and (2) any such Equity Interests that are deemed repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired by the Ultimate Parent in connection with the exercise of stock options or warrants by the holder thereof in connection with the payment of all or a portion of the exercise price of such options or warrant) will not exceed \$1,000,000 per year and (D) such Equity Interests shall only be repurchased, redeemed, acquired or retired in connection with the death, resignation or retirement of, or settlement of a dispute with, any such Person, (iii) Restricted Payments in amounts as shall be necessary to make Tax Payments; provided that all Restricted Payments made pursuant to this clause (iii) are used by the recipient for the

purpose specified in this clause (iii) within 30 days of receipt thereof, (iv) provided no Default or Event of Default is continuing or would result therefrom, the Borrower may from time to time pay cash dividends or distributions to the Parent in an amount not in excess of the lesser of (x) the Ultimate Parent Annual Cash Interest Amount and (y) the regularly scheduled cash interest payable (taking into account the Ultimate Parent PIK Election made pursuant to Section 6.17(j)) on the Restructuring Notes (or any Additional Notes incurred to refinance such Restructuring Notes) during the next period of ten Business Days, provided, however, that (A) any such dividends or distributions relating to any such cash interest payment must be paid not earlier than ten Business Days prior to the date when such cash interest is required to be paid by the Ultimate Parent and the proceeds must (except to the extent prohibited by applicable subordination provisions) be applied by the Ultimate Parent, to the payment of such interest when due, (B) the Borrower and its Subsidiaries shall be in Pro Forma Compliance after giving effect to the payment of any such dividends or distributions pursuant to this clause (iv) and (C) in no event may the amount of any such dividend or distribution made pursuant to this clause (iv) relating to any such cash interest payment exceed 36% of the amount of such cash interest paid by the Ultimate Parent when due, (v) the Borrower may make Restricted Payments as part of the Shared Services Transactions and (vi) the Borrower may make Restricted Payments to the Parent in an aggregate amount not to exceed \$2,000,000 during any fiscal year of the Borrower, provided that (A) no Default or Event of Default is continuing or would result therefrom, (B) the aggregate amount of Restricted Payments made pursuant to this clause (vi) shall not exceed \$5,000,000 over the term of this Agreement, (C) the Ultimate Parent shall apply such Restricted Payments within 30 days of receipt thereof and only to fund general corporate expenses permitted hereunder and (D) no Restricted Payments made pursuant to this clause (vi) shall be used to (x) effect the repurchase, or the making of any payments in respect, of Restructuring Notes or Additional Notes or (y) make any payment to or Investment in any Affiliate other than the Borrower or a Subsidiary of the Borrower (or any director, officer or employee of any such Affiliate).

- (b) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, make or agree to pay or make, directly or indirectly, any payment or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property) of or in respect of principal of or interest on any Indebtedness, or any payment or other distribution (whether in cash, securities or other property), including any sinking fund or similar deposit, on account of the purchase, redemption, retirement, acquisition, cancellation or termination of any Indebtedness, except:
 - (i) payment of Indebtedness created under the Loan Documents;
 - (ii) payment of regularly scheduled interest and principal payments as and when due in respect of any Indebtedness, other than payments in respect of subordinated Indebtedness to the extent prohibited by the subordination provisions thereof;
 - (iii) refinancings of Indebtedness to the extent permitted by Section 6.01;
 - (iv) payment of secured Indebtedness that becomes due as a result of the voluntary sale or transfer of the property or assets securing such Indebtedness;
 - (v) prepayment of Capital Lease Obligations in an aggregate cumulative amount from and after the Closing Date not exceeding \$5,000,000;
 - (vi) payment of any Indebtedness owing to the Service Company arising pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions; and
 - (vii) payment of any Indebtedness owing to the Borrower or any Subsidiary Loan Party.

- (c) The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, furnish any funds to, make any Investment in, or provide other consideration to any other Person for purposes of enabling such Person to, or otherwise permit any such Person to, make any Restricted Payment or other payment or distribution restricted by this Section that could not be made directly by the Borrower in accordance with the provisions of this Section.
- (d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement or the other Loan Documents, the Loan Parties shall be permitted to make all distributions required to be made by the Loan Parties on or after the Closing Date [(pursuant to the Reorganization Plan and the Confirmation Order]³⁸.

Transactions with Affiliates. The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, sell, lease or otherwise transfer any property or assets to, or purchase, lease or otherwise acquire any property or assets from, or otherwise engage in any other transactions with, any of its Affiliates, except (a) transactions on terms and conditions not less favorable, considered as a whole, to the Borrower or such Subsidiary than could be obtained on an arm's-length basis from unrelated third parties, (b) transactions between or among the Borrower and the Subsidiary Loan Parties not involving any other Affiliate, (c) any payment permitted by Section 6.08 or any Investment permitted by Section 6.04 specifically contemplated by Section 6.04 to be made among Affiliates, (d) the sale of receivables on substantially the same terms that the Borrower Receivables are purchased by Owest Corp. pursuant to the Billing and Collection Agreement as in effect on November 1, 2004, (e) any Restricted Payment permitted by Section 6.08(a)(ii), (f) subject to Section 6.13(b), the existence of, or performance by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries of its obligations under the terms of, the Tax Sharing Agreements, (g) Shared Services Transactions, (h) arrangements pursuant to which payments by Owest for advertising in directories that were committed to be made in connection with the West Acquisition and the acquisition by Dex East of Owest's directories services business in the East Territories are allocated approximately 58% to the Borrower and approximately 42% to Dex East (without regard to the directories in which such advertising is actually placed), (i) the issuance by the Borrower or any Subsidiary of Equity Interests to, or the receipt of any capital contribution from, the Parent, the Borrower or a Subsidiary, (j) the transactions in connection with the Directory Consolidation Project, (k) the License Agreements, the Master IP License Agreements and the provision of the Escrow Materials and [(1) the "Restructuring Transactions" under (and as defined in) the Reorganization Plan³⁹. Additionally, without limiting the foregoing, transactions between the Borrower and its Subsidiaries, on the one hand, and Dex Digital, RHDC and/or any Newcos or any of their respective Subsidiaries, on the other hand, that are not part of Shared Services or other similar ordinary course transactions, must satisfy the following requirements: (i) the terms of any such transaction must not be less favorable in any material respect than the terms the Borrower or such Subsidiary of the Borrower would receive in an arms-length transaction with a third party (and, in the case of any such transaction involving consideration in excess of \$50,000,000, the terms of such transaction must be confirmed as arms-length by a reputable financial institution or advisor); (ii) no such transaction shall involve the transfer of ownership of any operating assets (including intellectual property rights) or personnel to Dex Digital, RHDC and/or any Newcos or any of their respective Subsidiaries; and (iii) all such transactions shall result in the receipt of reasonably equivalent value by the Borrower and its Subsidiaries and no such transaction shall result in the transfer of any revenues that would otherwise be recognized by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries to Dex Digital, RHDC and/or any Newcos or any of their respective Subsidiaries.

Section 6.10 <u>Restrictive Agreements</u>. The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, directly or indirectly, enter into, incur or permit to exist any agreement or other

³⁸ To be included if applicable

³⁹ To be included if applicable

arrangement that prohibits, restricts or imposes any condition upon (a) the ability of the Borrower or any Subsidiary to create, incur or permit to exist any Lien upon any of its property or assets to the Secured Parties securing the Obligations, or (b) the ability of any Subsidiary to pay dividends or other distributions with respect to any of its Equity Interests or to make or repay loans or advances to the Borrower or any other Subsidiary or to Guarantee Indebtedness of the Borrower or any other Subsidiary; provided, that (i) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions and conditions imposed by law or by any Loan Document, (ii) the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions and conditions existing on the date hereof identified on Schedule 6.10 (but shall apply to any extension or renewal of, or any amendment or modification expanding the scope of, any such restriction or condition), (iii) the foregoing shall not apply to customary restrictions and conditions contained in agreements relating to the sale of a Subsidiary pending such sale, provided such restrictions and conditions apply only to the Subsidiary that is to be sold and such sale is permitted hereunder, (iv) clause (a) of the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions or conditions imposed by any agreement relating to secured Indebtedness permitted by this Agreement if such restrictions or conditions apply only to the property or assets securing such Indebtedness and the proceeds thereof, (v) clause (a) of the foregoing shall not apply to customary provisions in leases restricting the assignment thereof, (vi) clause (a) of the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions or conditions imposed by any agreement related to any Indebtedness incurred by a Subsidiary prior to the date on which such Subsidiary was acquired by the Borrower (but shall apply to any extension or renewal of, or any amendment or modification expanding the scope of, any such restriction or condition), (vii) clause (a) of the foregoing shall not apply to restrictions or conditions imposed by any agreement related to the refinancing of Indebtedness, provided that the terms of any such restrictions or conditions are not materially less favorable to the Lenders than the restrictions or conditions contained in the predecessor agreements and (viii) the foregoing shall not apply to customary provisions in joint venture agreements.

Section 6.11 <u>Change in Business</u>. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, engage at any time in any business or business activity other than a Permitted Business.

Section 6.12 <u>Fiscal Year</u>. The Borrower shall not change its fiscal year for accounting and financial reporting purposes to end on any date other than December 31.

Section 6.13 <u>Amendment of Material Documents</u>. (a) The Borrower will not, nor will it permit any Subsidiary to, amend, modify or waive any of its rights under its certificate of incorporation, by-laws or other organizational documents if, taken as a whole, such amendment, modification or waiver is adverse in any material respect to the interests of the Lenders.

(b) None of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent or the Borrower will, nor will they permit the Service Company or any Subsidiary to amend, modify, waive or terminate any of its rights under the Shared Services Agreement, the Tax Sharing Agreements, the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement, any License Agreement, any Master IP License Agreement, any escrow arrangement with respect to the Escrow Materials entered into pursuant to this Agreement or the organizational documents of any License Subsidiary to the extent that such amendment, modification, waiver or termination is adverse in any material respect to the interests of the Lenders.

Section 6.14 <u>Leverage Ratio and Interest Coverage Ratio</u>. (a) The Borrower will not permit the Leverage Ratio as of the last day of a fiscal quarter set forth below to exceed the ratio set forth opposite such date:

Fiscal Quarter Ended	Ratio
March 31, 2013	3.50 to 1.00
June 30, 2013	3.50 to 1.00
September 30, 2013	3.50 to 1.00

Fiscal Quarter Ended	Ratio
December 31, 2013	3.50 to 1.00
March 31, 2014	3.50 to 1.00
June 30, 2014	3.42 to 1.00
September 30, 2014	3.34 to 1.00
December 31, 2014	3.25 to 1.00
March 31, 2015	3.1875 to 1.00
June 30, 2015	3.125 to 1.00
September 30, 2015	3.0625 to 1.00
December 31, 2015	3.00 to 1.00
March 31, 2016	2.875 to 1.00
June 30, 2016	2.75 to 1.00
September 30, 2016	2.625 to 1.00
December 31, 2016	2.50 to 1.00

(b) The Borrower will not permit the Interest Coverage Ratio as of the last day of a fiscal quarter to be less than 2.00 to 1.00.

Section 6.15 <u>Capital Expenditures</u>. The Borrower will not, and will not permit any Subsidiary to, make or commit to make any Capital Expenditure, except Capital Expenditures of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business not exceeding \$12,000,000 in the aggregate in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013, \$10,000,000 in the aggregate in the fiscal year ending December 31, 2014 and \$9,000,000 in the aggregate in each of the fiscal years ending December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016; provided, that Capital Expenditures of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries in the ordinary course of business, in the aggregate when combined with the Capital Expenditures of Dex East, RHDI, SuperMedia and their respective Subsidiaries, shall not exceed (i) \$57,500,000 during the fiscal year ending December 31, 2013 and (ii) \$50,000,000 during the fiscal years ending December 31, 2014, December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2016; provided, further that, (x) in each case (i) up to 75% of such stated amounts referred to above, if not so expended in the fiscal year for which it is permitted, may be carried over for expenditure in the next succeeding fiscal year and (ii) Capital Expenditures made pursuant to this (b) during any fiscal year shall be deemed made, first, in respect of amounts permitted for such fiscal year as provided above and, second, in respect of amounts carried over from the prior fiscal year and (y) Capital Expenditures of a Company hereunder shall either (i) relate to assets directly owned or acquired by such Company and shall be allocated to (and paid by) such Company or (ii) relate to the acquisition or development of Shared Assets and shall be allocated to (and paid by) the Companies in accordance with their Allocated Share (as defined in the Shared Services Agreement) at the time any such payment is made.

Section 6.16 <u>Parent Covenants</u>. (a)The Parent will not engage in any business or activity other than the ownership of outstanding Equity Interests of the Borrower and Dex East and their respective Subsidiaries, the issuance and sale of its Equity Interests and, in each case, activities incidental thereto.

(b) The Parent will not own or acquire any assets (other than Equity Interests of the Borrower, Dex East and Dex Media Service, other Investments in the Borrower, Dex East and their respective Subsidiaries and Dex Media Service, cash and Permitted Investments) or incur any liabilities (other than ordinary course trade payables, employee compensation liabilities (including, without limitation, loans and advances to employees in the ordinary course of business) and liabilities under the Loan Documents, the Dex East Loan Documents and the RHDI Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, liabilities imposed by law, including Tax liabilities, liabilities under the Shared Services Agreement and other liabilities incidental to the maintenance of its existence and permitted activities).

- (c) The Parent will not create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Liens on any property or assets now owned or hereafter acquired by it other than (i) Permitted Encumbrances and (ii) Liens securing the Dex West Obligations, the obligations under the Dex East Loan Documents and the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement.
- (d) The Parent shall not in any event incur or permit to exist any Indebtedness for borrowed money other than a Guarantee of the Dex West Obligations, the obligations under the Dex East Loan Documents, the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents and the obligations under the SuperMedia Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement.
 - Section 6.17 <u>Ultimate Parent Covenants</u>. (a) The Ultimate Parent will not engage in any business or activity other than the ownership of outstanding Equity Interests of its Subsidiaries and other assets permitted under Section 6.17(b), the issuance and sale of its Equity Interests, the performance of its obligations under the Shared Services Agreement and, in each case, activities incidental thereto.
- (b) The Ultimate Parent will not own or acquire any assets (other than Equity Interests of its existing Subsidiaries or any Newcos, other Investments in its existing Subsidiaries and any Newcos, assets owned or acquired in connection with its obligations under the Shared Services Agreement, cash, Permitted Investments, joint ventures or minority investments permitted under Section 6.17(e) and the Equity Interests of SuperMedia) or incur any liabilities (other than ordinary course trade payables, employee compensation liabilities (including, without limitation, loans and advances to employees in the ordinary course of business) and liabilities under the Loan Documents, the Dex East Loan Documents, the RHDI Loan Documents and the SuperMedia Loan Documents, liabilities imposed by law, including Tax liabilities, Indebtedness permitted under Section 6.17(d), liabilities under the Shared Services Agreement, liabilities under the SuperMedia Merger Agreement and other liabilities incidental to the maintenance of its existence and permitted activities).
- (c) The Ultimate Parent will not create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Liens on any property or assets now owned or hereafter acquired by it other than (i) Permitted Encumbrances and (ii) Liens securing the Dex West Obligations, the obligations under the Dex East Loan Documents, the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents and the obligations under the SuperMedia Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement.
- (d) The Ultimate Parent shall not in any event incur or permit to exist any Indebtedness for borrowed money other than (i) the Restructuring Notes, (ii) any Additional Notes and (iii) subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, a Guarantee of the Dex West Obligations, the obligations under the Dex East Loan Documents, the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents and the obligations under the SuperMedia Loan Documents.
- (e) The Ultimate Parent may only make Investments in, or acquisitions of, any Newco so long as (i) no Default or Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, (ii) any Newco that is acquired or created as a result of such Investment or acquisition shall become a Guarantor as and to the extent required by the Collateral and Guarantee Requirement, (iii) all transactions related thereto are consummated in accordance with applicable laws in all material respects and (iv) in case of an acquisition of assets, such assets (other than assets to be retired or disposed of) are to be used, and in the case of an acquisition of any Equity Interests, the Person so acquired is engaged, in the same line of business as that of the Ultimate Parent or a line of business reasonably related thereto. The Ultimate Parent may make Investments (not consisting of contribution of assets of any of its Subsidiaries) in joint ventures and other minority investments, provided that such Investment shall be pledged as Collateral to the Shared Collateral Agent for the benefit of the Shared Collateral Secured Parties pursuant to the Shared Collateral and Guarantee Agreement.

- (f) The Ultimate Parent shall not (i) make any dividends or other Restricted Payments to the holders of its Equity Interests or (ii) optionally redeem or repurchase any Restructuring Notes or Additional Notes (other than any non-cash exchange therefor for common stock of the Ultimate Parent).
- (g) The Ultimate Parent may not make any Ultimate Parent Asset Disposition unless the Net Proceeds are applied to prepay the Loans pursuant to Section 2.06(c).
- (h) The Ultimate Parent shall not permit the Restructuring Notes or the Restructuring Indenture to be amended in any way that is, taken as a whole, materially adverse to the interests of the Lenders and shall not (i) permit the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to be secured by any assets of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries, (ii) permit the proceeds of any Additional Notes to be used to finance anything other than refinancing of the Restructuring Notes or any other Additional Notes, (iii) alter the maturity of the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to a date, or make the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes mandatorily redeemable, in whole or in part, or required to be repurchased or reacquired, in whole or in part, prior to the date that is six months after the Maturity Date (other than pursuant to customary asset sale or change in control provisions), (iv) allow the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to (A) have financial maintenance covenants, (B) have restrictive covenants that apply to the Parent, the Borrower or any Subsidiary (other than, solely in the case of the Restructuring Notes, the restrictive covenants set forth in the Restructuring Notes Indenture as of the Closing Date) or that impose limitations on the Ultimate Parent's ability to guarantee or pledge assets to secure the Dex West Obligations or (C) otherwise have covenants, representations and warranties and events of default that are more restrictive than those existing in the prevailing market at the time of issuance thereof for companies with the same or similar credit ratings of the Ultimate Parent at such time issuing similar securities, (v) permit the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to be guaranteed by any Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent or not be subordinated to the Dex West Obligations on terms at least as favorable to the Lenders as the subordination terms set forth in the Restructuring Notes Indenture on the Closing Date and that are otherwise reasonably satisfactory to the Administrative Agent or (vi) permit the Restructuring Notes or any Additional Notes to be convertible or exchangeable into other Indebtedness, except other Indebtedness of the Ultimate Parent meeting the qualifications set forth in the definition of "Additional Notes".
- (i) The Ultimate Parent shall not at any time hold an aggregate amount of cash and Permitted Investments in excess of an amount equal to (a) \$5,000,000 plus (b) any amounts received to fund regularly scheduled cash interest payments on the Restructuring Notes (or any Additional Notes incurred to refinance such Restructuring Notes) pursuant to Section 6.08(a)(iv) pending use by the Ultimate Parent within 10 Business Days of receipt of such amounts (in accordance with Section 6.08(a)(iv)).
- (j) The Ultimate Parent shall continue to make the Ultimate Parent PIK Election during the term of this Agreement.
 - Section 6.18 <u>Service Company Covenants.</u> (a) The Ultimate Parent will not permit the Service Company to engage in any business or activity other than the issuance and sale of its Equity Interests, ownership of the outstanding Equity Interests of its Subsidiaries and other assets permitted under Section 6.18(b) and the provision of Shared Services and, in each case, activities incidental thereto.
- (b) Subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, the Ultimate Parent will not permit the Service Company to own or acquire any assets (other than the outstanding Equity Interests of its Subsidiaries, assets owned or acquired in connection with the Shared Services, cash and Permitted Investments) or incur any liabilities (other than ordinary course trade payables, employee compensation liabilities (including, without limitation, loans and advances to employees in the ordinary course of business) and other liabilities incurred in the ordinary course in connection with the provision of Shared Services by the Service Company or any Subsidiary of the Service Company pursuant to the terms of the Shared Service Agreement, liabilities under

the Loan Documents, the Dex East Loan Documents, the RHDI Loan Documents and the SuperMedia Loan Documents, liabilities imposed by law, including Tax liabilities, liabilities under the Shared Services Agreement and other liabilities incidental to the maintenance of its existence and permitted activities).

- (c) Subject to the Intercreditor Agreement, the Ultimate Parent will not permit the Service Company to create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Liens on any property or assets now owned or hereafter acquired by it other than:
 - (i) Permitted Encumbrances;
 - (ii) Liens securing the Dex West Obligations, the obligations under the Dex East Loan Documents, the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents and the obligations under the SuperMedia Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement; and
 - (iii) Liens on fixed or capital assets acquired, constructed or improved by the Service Company; provided that (A) such Liens secure Indebtedness permitted by Section 6.18(d), (B) such Liens and the Indebtedness secured thereby are incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction or improvement, (C) the Indebtedness secured thereby does not exceed the cost of acquiring, constructing or improving such fixed or capital assets and (D) such Liens shall not apply to any other property or assets of such Service Company.
- (d) The Ultimate Parent shall not permit the Service Company to in any event incur or permit to exist any Indebtedness for borrowed money other than:
 - (i) Indebtedness and Attributable Debt of the Service Company incurred to finance the acquisition, construction or improvement of any fixed or capital assets in connection with the provision of Shared Services, including Capital Lease Obligations and extensions, renewals, refinancings and replacements of any such Indebtedness that do not increase the outstanding principal amount thereof (other than by an amount not greater than fees and expenses, including premium and defeasance costs, associated therewith) or result in a decreased average weighted life thereof; <u>provided</u> that such Indebtedness or Attributable Debt is incurred prior to or within 90 days after such acquisition or the completion of such construction or improvement; and
 - (ii) a Guarantee of the Dex West Obligations, the obligations under the Dex East Loan Documents, the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents and the obligations under the SuperMedia Loan Documents, subject to the Intercreditor Agreement.
- (e) The Ultimate Parent will not permit the Service Company to sell, transfer, lease or otherwise dispose of any asset, other than:
 - (i) sales of assets, the proceeds of which are reinvested within 90 days of such sale in assets of the Service Company related to the provision of Shared Services;
 - (ii) sales of (x) inventory, (y) used, surplus, obsolete or worn-out equipment and (z) Permitted Investments, in each case in the ordinary course of business;
 - (iii) sales, transfers and other dispositions pursuant to the Shared Services Transactions;

- (iv) the licensing or sublicensing (other than exclusive licenses or sublicenses) of Intellectual Property in the ordinary course of business in a manner that does not, and could not reasonably be expected to, materially interfere with the business of the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries; and
- (v) other dispositions of assets (other than Equity Interests in a Subsidiary) not otherwise permitted by this Section 6.18(e); <u>provided</u>, that the aggregate cumulative fair market value of all assets sold, transferred or otherwise disposed of after the Closing Date in reliance upon this clause (v) shall not exceed \$1,000,000.

Section 6.19 <u>Dex Media Service Covenant</u>. The Ultimate Parent will not permit Dex Media Service to engage in any business or activity, or to own or acquire any assets or to incur or permit to exist any Indebtedness or Liens on its property or assets, in each case other than those incidental to pension liabilities arising pursuant to the Dex Media, Inc. Pension Plan.

Section 6.20 Limitation on Activities of the License Subsidiaries. The Ultimate Parent shall not, directly or indirectly, permit any License Subsidiary to (a) (i) conduct, transact or otherwise engage in, or commit to conduct, transact or otherwise engage in, any business or operations other than ownership of Collateral Trademarks and anything incidental thereto (including filing or registering any application for or registration of Collateral Trademarks and the prosecution, maintenance, renewal or enforcement of Collateral Trademarks) or (ii) take any action, or conduct its affairs in a manner, that could reasonably be expected to result in the separate existence of such License Subsidiary being ignored, or the assets and liabilities of such License Subsidiary being substantively consolidated with those of the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof in a bankruptcy, reorganization or other insolvency proceeding, (b) incur, create, assume or suffer to exist any Indebtedness or other liabilities or financial obligations, except (i) Indebtedness evidenced by the Loan Documents, (ii) Indebtedness owed to another Loan Party so long as such Indebtedness is subordinated to the Obligations (or a guarantee thereof), (iii) nonconsensual obligations imposed by operation of law, (iv) obligations with respect to its equity interests, (v) obligations (other than Indebtedness) in the ordinary course of business in the operation of its assets and (vi) the statutory liability of any general partner for the liabilities of the limited partnership in which it is a general partner, (c) breach any provision of, or default in the performance of its obligations under, any License Agreement to which it is a party, (d) without the consent of the two special independent directors or members required by Section 5.15 (but without prejudice to clause (j) of Article VII), (i) voluntarily commence any proceeding or file any petition seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief under any Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or hereafter in effect, (ii) consent to the institution of any proceeding or petition described in clause (i) of Article VII, (iii) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for a substantial part of its assets, (iv) file an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any such proceeding that would entitle the other party or parties to an order for relief, (v) make a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or (vi) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing (it being understood and agreed that the consent of such special independent directors or members to any of the actions described in this clause (d) shall not in any manner limit the provisions of Article VII), (e) assign any right, title or interest in or to any current or future Collateral Trademarks to any Person except as otherwise permitted under this Agreement or license any right, title or interest in or to any of the Collateral Trademarks to any Person except to the Ultimate Parent, a Subsidiary of the Ultimate Parent or as otherwise permitted under this Agreement or (f) without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, not to be unreasonably withheld, merge into or consolidate with any other Person, or permit any other Person to merge into or consolidate with it, or liquidate, wind up or dissolve. The Ultimate Parent shall not (x) consent to or vote in favor of (and shall not permit any Subsidiary to consent to or vote in favor of) the incurrence of any Indebtedness by any License Subsidiary (other than Indebtedness permitted pursuant to

clause (b)(i) above or (y) permit the organizational documents of any License Subsidiary, or any License Agreement to which any License Subsidiary is a party, to be amended, supplemented, waived, terminated or otherwise modified in any material respect without the prior written consent of the Administrative Agent, not to be unreasonably withheld.

ARTICLE VII

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

If any of the following events ("Events of Default") shall occur:

- (a) the Borrower shall fail to pay any principal of any Loan when and as the same shall become due and payable, whether at the due date thereof or at a date fixed for prepayment thereof or otherwise:
- (b) the Borrower shall fail to pay any interest on any Loan or any fee or any other amount (other than an amount referred to in clause (a) of this Article) payable under this Agreement or any other Loan Document, when and as the same shall become due and payable, and such failure shall continue unremedied for a period of five days;
- (c) any representation or warranty made or deemed made by or on behalf of any Loan Party in or in connection with any Loan Document or any amendment or modification thereof or waiver thereunder, or in any certificate furnished pursuant to or in connection with any Loan Document or any amendment or modification thereof or waiver thereunder, shall prove to have been incorrect in any material respect when made or deemed made;
- (d) the Ultimate Parent, the Parent or the Borrower shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in Section 5.02 or 5.04 (with respect to the existence of the Borrower) or in Article VI;
- (e) (i) any Shared Collateral Loan Party shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in Section [6.4 or 6.5]⁴⁰ of the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement or (ii) any Shared Collateral Loan Party shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in Section [6.1, 6.2 or 6.3]⁴¹ of the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, and such failure shall continue unremedied for a period of 30 days after the earlier of (A) knowledge thereof by the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof and (B) notice thereof from the Administrative Agent to the Borrower (which notice will be promptly given at the request of any Lender);
- (f) any Loan Party shall fail to observe or perform any covenant, condition or agreement contained in any Loan Document (other than those specified in clause (a), (b), (d) or (e) of this Article), and such failure shall continue unremedied for a period of 30 days after notice thereof from the Administrative Agent to the Borrower (which notice will promptly be given at the request of any Lender);

⁴⁰ Section references to be updated as appropriate based on final Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

⁴¹ Section references to be updated as appropriate based on final Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement.

- (g) the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex East, SuperMedia and their respective Subsidiaries, but including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, any Newcos, the Parent, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries) shall fail to make any payment (whether of principal or interest and regardless of amount) in respect of any Material Indebtedness, when and as the same shall become due and payable (after giving effect to any applicable grace period specified in the agreement or instrument governing such Indebtedness);
- (h) any event or condition occurs that results in any Material Indebtedness becoming due prior to its scheduled maturity or that enables or permits (with or without the giving of notice, the lapse of time or both) the holder or holders of any Material Indebtedness or any trustee or agent on its or their behalf to cause any Material Indebtedness to become due, or to require the prepayment, repurchase, redemption or defeasance thereof, prior to its scheduled maturity; provided, that this clause (h) (i) shall not apply to (A) secured Indebtedness that becomes due as a result of the voluntary sale or transfer of the property or assets securing such Indebtedness, (B) Optional Repurchases permitted hereunder, (C) refinancings of Indebtedness to the extent permitted by Section 6.01 and (D) Guarantees by the Ultimate Parent and its Subsidiaries of the obligations under the Dex East Loan Documents, the obligations under the RHDI Loan Documents and the obligations under the SuperMedia Loan Documents unless (x) any payment shall have been demanded to be made by, or any other remedy shall have been exercised against, the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex East, SuperMedia and their respective Subsidiaries) or their respective assets in respect of such Guarantees and (y) the obligations under the Dex East Loan Documents, the RHDI Loan Documents or the SuperMedia Loan Documents, as the case may be, shall have been accelerated and (ii) shall give effect to any notice required or grace period provided in the agreement or instrument governing such relevant Material Indebtedness, but shall not give effect to any waiver granted by the holders of such relevant Material Indebtedness after the giving of such notice or during such applicable grace period:
- (i) an involuntary proceeding shall be commenced or an involuntary petition shall be filed seeking (i) liquidation, reorganization or other relief in respect of the Ultimate Parent, any Material Ultimate Parent Subsidiary, the Service Company, the Parent, the Borrower or any Material Subsidiary or its debts, or of a substantial part of its assets, under any Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or hereafter in effect or (ii) the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for the Ultimate Parent, any Material Ultimate Parent Subsidiary, the Service Company, the Parent, the Borrower or any Material Subsidiary or for a substantial part of its assets, and, in any such case, such proceeding or petition shall continue undismissed for 60 days or an order or decree approving or ordering any of the foregoing shall be entered;
- (j) the Ultimate Parent, any Material Ultimate Parent Subsidiary, the Service Company, the Parent, the Borrower or any Material Subsidiary shall (i) voluntarily commence any proceeding or file any petition seeking liquidation, reorganization or other relief under any Federal, state or foreign bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar law now or hereafter in effect, (ii) consent to the institution of any proceeding or petition described in clause (i) of this Article, (iii) apply for or consent to the appointment of a receiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator or similar official for the Ultimate Parent, any Material Ultimate Parent Subsidiary, the Service Company, the Parent, the Borrower or any Material Subsidiary or for a substantial part of its assets, (iv) file an answer admitting the material allegations of a petition filed against it in any such proceeding that would entitle the other party or parties to an order for relief, (v) make

a general assignment for the benefit of creditors or (vi) take any action for the purpose of effecting any of the foregoing;

- (k) one or more judgments for the payment of money in an aggregate amount in excess of \$25,000,000 (net of amounts covered by insurance) shall be rendered against the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex East, SuperMedia and their respective Subsidiaries, but including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, Dex Media Service, any Newcos, the Parent, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries) or any combination thereof and the same shall remain undischarged for a period of 30 consecutive days during which execution shall not be effectively stayed, or any action shall be legally taken by a judgment creditor to attach or levy upon any assets of the Ultimate Parent or any of its Subsidiaries (other than RHDI, Dex East, SuperMedia and their respective Subsidiaries, but including, for the avoidance of doubt and without limitation, Dex Digital, RHDC, the Service Company, Dex Media Service, any Newcos, the Parent, the Borrower and the Subsidiaries) to enforce any such judgment;
- (l) (i) an ERISA Event shall have occurred, (ii) a trustee shall be appointed by a United States district court to administer any Plan(s), (iii) the PBGC shall institute proceedings to terminate any Plan, or (iv) any Loan Party or ERISA Affiliate shall have been notified by the sponsor of a Multiemployer Plan that it has incurred or will be assessed Withdrawal Liability to such Multiemployer Plan and such entity does not have reasonable grounds for contesting such Withdrawal Liability in a timely and appropriate manner; and in each cases (i) through (iv) above, such event or condition, in the opinion of the Required Lenders, when taken together with all other such events or conditions, if any, could reasonably be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect;
- (m) any Lien purported to be created under any Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document shall cease to be, or shall be asserted by any Loan Party not to be, a valid and perfected Lien on any Collateral having, in the aggregate, a value in excess of \$10,000,000, with the priority required by the applicable Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document, except (i) as a result of the sale or other disposition of the applicable Collateral in a transaction permitted under the Loan Documents or (ii) as a result of the Agent's or the Shared Collateral Agent's failure to maintain possession of any stock certificates, promissory notes or other instruments delivered to it under the Collateral Agreements;
 - (n) a Change in Control shall occur;
- (o) any guarantee under the Collateral Agreements for any reason shall cease to be in full force and effect (other than in accordance with its terms), or any Guarantor shall assert in writing that the Collateral Agreements or any guarantee thereunder has ceased to be or is not enforceable;
- (p) the Intercreditor Agreement or any material portion thereof for any reason shall cease to be in full force and effect, or any Loan Party or any Affiliate of any Loan Party shall assert any of the foregoing;
- (q) the Subordinated Guarantee Agreement or any material portion thereof for any reason shall cease to be in full force and effect, or any Loan Party or any Affiliate of any Loan Party shall assert any of the foregoing;
- (r) the commencement of enforcement actions under the Shared Guarantee and Collateral Agreement with respect to any Shared Collateral Loan Party party thereto;

- (s) the commencement of enforcement actions under the Shared Services Agreement or the occurrence of an event that permits the Service Company to terminate the Shared Services Agreement with respect to any Client Company (as defined in the Shared Services Agreement) and such event continues unremedied for a period of three days;
- (t) the failure of the Borrower to receive any payment under either Tax Sharing Agreement when due and such failure continues unremedied for a period of three days;
- (u) any License Agreement, Master IP License Agreement or any escrow arrangement with respect to the Escrow Materials entered into pursuant to this Agreement shall be terminated (other than upon the expiration of any of the respective terms thereof), cease to be effective or cease to be the legally valid, binding and enforceable obligation in any material respect of any party thereto; or
- (v) either Tax Sharing Agreement shall be terminated (other than upon expiration of the term thereof), cease to be effective or cease to be the legally valid, binding and enforceable obligation in any material respect of any party thereto.

then, and in every such event (other than an event with respect to the Borrower described in clause (i) or (j) of this Article), and at any time thereafter during the continuance of such event, the Administrative Agent may with the consent of the Required Lenders, and at the request of the Required Lenders shall, by notice to the Borrower, declare the Loans then outstanding to be due and payable in whole, and thereupon the principal of the Loans so declared to be due and payable, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall become due and payable immediately, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower; and in case of any event with respect to the Borrower described in clause (i) or (j) of this Article, the principal of the Loans then outstanding, together with accrued interest thereon and all fees and other obligations of the Borrower accrued hereunder, shall automatically become due and payable, without presentment, demand, protest or other notice of any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the Borrower.

ARTICLE VIII

THE AGENT

Each of the Lenders hereby irrevocably appoints the Agent as its agent and authorizes the Agent to take such actions on its behalf and to exercise such powers as are delegated to the Agent by the terms of the Loan Documents, together with such actions and powers as are reasonably incidental thereto.

The bank serving as the Agent hereunder shall have the same rights and powers in its capacity as a Lender as any other Lender and may exercise the same as though it were not the Agent, and such bank and its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lend money to and generally engage in any kind of business with the Borrower or any Subsidiary or other Affiliate thereof as if it were not the Agent hereunder.

The Agent shall not have any duties or obligations except those expressly set forth in the Loan Documents. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, (a) the Agent shall not be subject to any fiduciary or other implied duties, regardless of whether a Default has occurred and is continuing, (b) the Agent shall not have any duty to take any discretionary action or exercise any discretionary powers, except discretionary rights and powers expressly contemplated by the Loan Documents that the Agent is required to exercise in writing as directed by the Required Lenders (or such other number or

percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as provided in Section 9.02), and (c) except as expressly set forth in the Loan Documents, the Agent shall not have any duty to disclose, and shall not be liable for the failure to disclose, any information relating to the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries that is communicated to or obtained by the bank serving as Agent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity (other than as Agent). The Agent shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it with the consent or at the request of the Required Lenders (or such other number or percentage of the Lenders as shall be necessary under the circumstances as provided in Section 9.02) or in the absence of its own gross negligence or willful misconduct. The Agent shall be deemed not to have knowledge of any Default unless and until written notice thereof is given to the Agent by the Borrower or a Lender, and the Agent shall not be responsible for or have any duty to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statement, warranty or representation made in or in connection with any Loan Document, (ii) the contents of any certificate, report or other document delivered thereunder or in connection therewith, (iii) the performance or observance of any of the covenants, agreements or other terms or conditions set forth in any Loan Document, (iv) the validity, enforceability, effectiveness or genuineness of any Loan Document or any other agreement, instrument or document, or (v) the satisfaction of any condition set forth in Article IV or elsewhere in any Loan Document, other than to confirm receipt of items expressly required to be delivered to the Agent.

The Agent shall be entitled to rely upon, and shall not incur any liability for relying upon, any notice, request, certificate, consent, statement, instrument, document or other writing believed by it to be genuine and to have been signed or sent by the proper Person. The Agent also may rely upon any statement made to it orally or by telephone and believed by it to be made by the proper Person, and shall not incur any liability for relying thereon. The Agent may consult with legal counsel (who may be counsel for the Borrower), independent accountants and other experts selected by it, and shall not be liable for any action taken or not taken by it in accordance with the advice of any such counsel, accountants or experts.

The Agent may perform any and all its duties and exercise its rights and powers by or through any one or more sub-agents appointed by the Agent. The Agent and any such sub-agent may perform any and all its duties and exercise its rights and powers through their respective Related Parties. The exculpatory provisions of the preceding paragraphs shall apply to any such sub-agent and to the Related Parties of each Agent and any such sub-agent, and shall apply to their respective activities in connection with the syndication of the credit facilities provided for herein as well as activities as Agent.

Subject to the appointment and acceptance of a successor to the Agent as provided in this paragraph, the Agent may resign at any time by notifying the Lenders and the Borrower. Upon any such resignation, the Required Lenders shall have the right, with the consent of the Borrower (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed and such consent not to be required if an Event of Default under clause (a), (b), (i) or (j) of Article VII has occurred and is continuing), to appoint a successor. If no successor shall have been so appointed by the Required Lenders and shall have accepted such appointment within 30 days after the retiring Agent gives notice of its resignation, then the retiring Agent may, on behalf of the Lenders, appoint a successor Agent which shall be a bank with an office in New York, New York, or an Affiliate of any such bank. Upon the acceptance of its appointment as Agent and Collateral Agent hereunder by a successor, such successor shall succeed to and become vested with all the rights, powers, privileges and duties of the retiring Agent, and the retiring Agent shall be discharged from its duties and obligations hereunder. The fees payable by the Borrower to a successor Agent shall be the same as those payable to its predecessor unless otherwise agreed between the Borrower and such successor. After the Agent's resignation hereunder, the provisions of this Article and Section 9.03 shall continue in effect for the benefit of such retiring Agent, its sub-agents and their respective Related Parties in respect of any actions taken or omitted to be taken by any of them while it was acting as Agent.

Each Lender acknowledges that it has, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other Lender and based on such documents and information as it has deemed appropriate, made its own credit analysis and decision to enter into this Agreement. Each Lender also acknowledges that it will, independently and without reliance upon the Agent or any other Lender and based on such documents and information as it shall from time to time deem appropriate, continue to make its own decisions in taking or not taking action under or based upon this Agreement, any other Loan Document or related agreement or any document furnished hereunder or thereunder.

The Arrangers and Syndication Agent shall be entitled to the benefits of this Article VIII.

ARTICLE IX

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 9.01 <u>Notices</u>. (a) Except in the case of notices and other communications expressly permitted to be given by telephone, all notices and other communications provided for herein shall be in writing and shall be delivered by hand or overnight courier service, mailed by certified or registered mail or sent by telecopy, as follows:

- (i) if to the Ultimate Parent, the Parent or the Borrower, to it at Dex Media West, Inc., 1001 Winstead Drive, Cary, North Carolina, 27513, Attention of General Counsel (Telecopy No. (919) 297-1518);
- (ii) if to the Agent, to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Global Loan Operations, 500 Stanton Christiana Road, Ops 2, Floor 3, Newark, Delaware 19713, Attention of John Getchius (Telecopy No. (9302) 634-3301, with a copy to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 383 Madison Avenue, New York, New York 10179, Attention of Neil Boylan (Telecopy No. (212) 622-4560); and
- (iii) if to any other Lender, to it at its address (or telecopy number) set forth in its Administrative Questionnaire.
- (b) Notices and other communications to the Lenders hereunder may be delivered or furnished by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by the Administrative Agent; provided, that the foregoing shall not apply to notices pursuant to Article II unless otherwise agreed by the Administrative Agent and the applicable Lender. The Administrative Agent or the Borrower may, in its discretion, agree to accept notices and other communications to it hereunder by electronic communications pursuant to procedures approved by it; provided that approval of such procedures may be limited to particular notices or communications.
- (c) Any party hereto may change its address or telecopy number for notices and other communications hereunder by notice to the other parties hereto. All notices and other communications given to any party hereto in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement shall be deemed to have been given on the date of receipt.

Section 9.02 <u>Waivers; Amendments</u>. (a) No failure or delay by the Agent or any Lender in exercising any right or power hereunder or under any other Loan Document shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or partial exercise of any such right or power, or any abandonment or discontinuance of steps to enforce such a right or power, preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right or power. The rights and remedies of the Agent and the Lenders hereunder and under the other Loan Documents are cumulative and are not exclusive of any rights or remedies that

they would otherwise have. No waiver of any provision of any Loan Document or consent to any departure by any Loan Party therefrom shall in any event be effective unless the same shall be permitted by paragraph (b) of this Section, and then such waiver or consent shall be effective only in the specific instance and for the purpose for which given. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the making of a Loan shall not be construed as a waiver of any Default, regardless of whether the Agent or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of such Default at the time.

(b) Neither this Agreement nor any other Loan Document nor any provision hereof or thereof may be waived, amended or modified except (x) in the case of this Agreement, pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower and the Required Lenders, (y) in the case of any other Loan Document, pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by the Agent or the Shared Collateral Agent, as applicable, and the Loan Party or Loan Parties that are parties thereto, in each case with the consent of the Required Lenders, or (z) in the case of this Agreement or any other Loan Document, pursuant to an agreement or agreements in writing entered into by the Loan Party or Loan Parties subject to such Loan Document, the Agent and, as applicable, the Shared Collateral Agent, to cure any ambiguity, omission, defect or inconsistency; provided that any such agreement to waive, amend or modify this Agreement or any other Loan Document or any provision hereof or thereof pursuant to the foregoing clause (z) shall also be made to the Dex East Credit Agreement or the Dex East Loan Documents, the RHDI Credit Agreement or the RHDI Loan Documents, or the SuperMedia Credit Agreement or SuperMedia Loan Documents, as applicable; provided, further, that no such agreement shall (i) reduce the principal amount of any Loan held by any Lender or reduce the rate of interest thereon, or reduce any fees payable to any Lender hereunder, without the written consent of such Lender, (ii) postpone the maturity of any Lender's Loan, or any scheduled date of payment of the principal amount of any Lender's Loan under Section 2.05, or any date for the payment of any interest or fees payable to any Lender hereunder, or reduce the amount of, waive or excuse any such payment, without the written consent of such Lender, (iii) change Section 2.13(b) or (c) in a manner that would alter the pro rata sharing of payments required thereby, without the written consent of each Lender, (iv) change any of the provisions of this Section or the definition of "Required Lenders" or any other provision of any Loan Document specifying the number or percentage of Lenders required to waive, amend or modify any rights thereunder or make any determination or grant any consent thereunder, without the written consent of each Lender, (v) except as provided by Section 9.14, release any Guarantor from its Guarantee under a Collateral Agreement, Newco Subordinated Guarantee or other applicable Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document (except as expressly provided in the applicable Collateral Agreement, Newco Subordinated Guarantee or other Security Document or Shared Collateral Security Document), or limit its liability in respect of such Guarantee, without the written consent of each Lender, (vi) release all or substantially all of the Collateral from the Liens of the Security Documents and Shared Collateral Security Documents, without the written consent of each Lender; provided, further, that no such agreement shall amend, modify or otherwise affect the rights or duties of the Agent without the prior written consent of the Agent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any provision of this Agreement may be amended by an agreement in writing entered into by the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower, the Required Lenders and the Agent if at the time such amendment becomes effective, each Lender not consenting thereto receives payment in full of the principal of and interest accrued on each Loan made by it and all other amounts owing to it or accrued for its account under this Agreement.

(c) If, in connection with any proposed change, waiver, discharge or termination of or to any of the provisions of this Agreement as contemplated by clauses (i) through (vi), inclusive, of the second proviso to Section 9.02(b), the consent of Lenders having Loans representing more than 66-2/3% of the sum of the total outstanding Loans at such time is obtained but the consent of one or more of such other Lenders whose consent is required is not obtained, then the Borrower shall have the right, so long as all non-consenting Lenders whose individual consent is required are treated as described in either clause (i) or (ii) below, to either (i) replace each such non-consenting Lender or Lenders with one or more assignees pursuant

to, and with the effect of an assignment under, Section 2.14 so long as at the time of such replacement, each such assignee consents to the proposed change, waiver, discharge or termination or (ii) repay the outstanding Loans of such Lender that gave rise to the need to obtain such Lender's consent; provided (A) that, unless the Loans that are repaid pursuant to the preceding clause (ii) are immediately replaced in full at such time through the addition of new Lenders or the increase of the outstanding Loans of existing Lenders (who in each case must specifically consent thereto), then in the case of any action pursuant to the preceding clause (ii), Lenders having Loans representing more than 66-2/3% of the sum of the total outstanding Loans at such time (determined after giving effect to the proposed action) shall specifically consent thereto and (B) any such replacement or termination transaction described above shall be effective on the date notice is given of the relevant transaction and shall have a settlement date no earlier than five Business Days and no later than 90 days after the relevant transaction.

Section 9.03 Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver. (a) The Borrower shall pay (i) all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent, the Arrangers and their Affiliates, including the reasonable fees, charges and disbursements of (a) a single transaction and documentation counsel for the Agent and the Arrangers and (b) such other local counsel and special counsel as may be required in the reasonable judgment of the Agent and the Arrangers, in connection with the preparation and administration of the Loan Documents or any amendments, modifications or waivers of the provisions thereof (whether or not the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby shall be consummated), (ii) all out-of-pocket expenses incurred by the Agent, the Arrangers or any Lender, (including the fees, charges and disbursements of (a) a single transaction and documentation counsel for the Agent, the Arrangers and any Lender and (b) such other local counsel and special counsel as may be required in the reasonable judgment of the Agent and the Arrangers) in connection with documentary taxes or the enforcement or protection of its rights in connection with the Loan Documents, including its rights under this Section, or in connection with the Loans made hereunder, including all such out-of-pocket expenses incurred during any workout, restructuring or negotiations in respect of such Loans and (iii) all other reasonable out-ofpocket expenses as may be separately agreed with the Administrative Agent.

- (b) The Borrower shall indemnify the Agent, the Arrangers and each Lender, and each Related Party of any of the foregoing Persons (each such Person being called an "Indemnitee") against, and hold each Indemnitee harmless from, any and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities and related expenses, including the fees, charges and disbursements of (a) a single transaction and documentation counsel for any Indemnitee and (b) such other local counsel and special counsel as may be required in the reasonable judgment of the Agent and the Arrangers, incurred by or asserted against any Indemnitee arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of (i) the execution or delivery of any Loan Document or any other agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the performance by the parties to the Loan Documents of their respective obligations thereunder or the consummation of the Transactions or any other transactions contemplated hereby, (ii) any Loan or the use of the proceeds therefrom, (iii) any actual or alleged presence or Release of Hazardous Materials on or from any Mortgaged Property or any other property currently or formerly owned or operated by the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or any Environmental Liability related in any way to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries, or (iv) any actual or prospective claim, litigation, investigation or proceeding relating to any of the foregoing, whether based on contract, tort or any other theory and regardless of whether any Indemnitee is a party thereto; provided that such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemnitee, be available to the extent that such losses, claims, damages, liabilities or related expenses are determined by a court of competent jurisdiction by final and nonappealable judgment to have resulted from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of such Indemnitee.
- (c) To the extent that the Borrower fails to pay any amount required to be paid by it to the Agent under paragraph (a) or (b) of this Section, but without affecting the Borrower's obligations thereunder, each Lender severally agrees to pay to the Agent such Lender's pro rata share (determined as of the time that the applicable unreimbursed expense or indemnity payment is sought) of such unpaid amount;

<u>provided</u> that the unreimbursed expense or indemnified loss, claim, damage, liability or related expense, as the case may be, was incurred by or asserted against the Agent in its capacity as such. For purposes hereof, a Lender's "pro rata share" shall be determined based upon its share of the sum of the total outstanding Loans at the time.

- (d) To the extent permitted by applicable law, the Borrower shall not assert, and hereby waives, any claim against any Indemnitee, on any theory of liability, for special, indirect, consequential or punitive damages (as opposed to direct or actual damages) arising out of, in connection with, or as a result of, this Agreement or any agreement or instrument contemplated hereby, the Transactions or any Loan or the use of the proceeds thereof.
- (e) All amounts due under this Section shall be payable not later than 10 days after written demand therefor.
 - Section 9.04 Successors and Assigns. (a) The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, except that (i) the Borrower may not assign or otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligations hereunder without the prior written consent of each Lender (and any attempted assignment or transfer by the Borrower without such consent shall be null and void) and (ii) no Lender may assign or otherwise transfer its rights or obligations hereunder except in accordance with this Section. Nothing in this Agreement, expressed or implied, shall be construed to confer upon any Person (other than the parties hereto, their respective successors and assigns permitted hereby, Participants (to the extent provided in paragraph (c) of this Section) and, to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, the Related Parties of each of the Administrative Agent and the Lenders) any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under or by reason of this Agreement.
- (b) (i) Subject to the conditions set forth in paragraph (b)(ii) below, any Lender may assign to one or more assignees (other than the Borrower or its Affiliates or Subsidiaries) all or a portion of its rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of the Loans at the time owing to it), with the prior written consent (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) of:
 - (A) the Borrower, <u>provided</u> that no consent of the Borrower shall be required (x) for an assignment to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender, an Approved Fund (as defined below) or, (y) if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing, any other assignee; and
 - (B) the Administrative Agent, <u>provided</u> that no consent of the Administrative Agent shall be required for an assignment of Loans to an assignee that is a Lender immediately prior to giving effect to such assignment, an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund.
 - (ii) Assignments shall be subject to the following conditions:
 - (A) except in the case of an assignment to a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund or an assignment of the entire remaining amount of the assigning Lender's Loan, the amount of the Loan of the assigning Lender subject to each such assignment (determined as of the date the Assignment and Assumption with respect to such assignment is delivered to the Administrative Agent) shall not be less than \$1,000,000, in each case unless each of the Borrower and the Administrative Agent otherwise consent, provided that no such consent of the Borrower shall be required if an Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;
 - (B) each partial assignment shall be made as an assignment of a proportionate part of all the assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement;

- (C) the parties to each assignment shall execute and deliver to the Administrative Agent an Assignment and Assumption, together with a processing and recordation fee of \$3,500 (it being understood that only a single processing and recordation fee of \$3,500 will be payable with respect to any multiple assignments to or by a Lender, an Affiliate of a Lender or an Approved Fund pursuant to clause (ii)(A) above, each of which is individually less than \$1,000,000, that are simultaneously consummated); and
- (D) the assignee, if it shall not be a Lender, shall deliver to the Administrative Agent an Administrative Questionnaire.

For purposes of this Section 9.04, the term "Approved Fund" has the following meaning:

- "Approved Fund" means any Person (other than a natural person) that is engaged in making, purchasing, holding or investing in bank loans and similar extensions of credit in the ordinary course and that is administered, advised or managed by (a) a Lender, (b) an Affiliate of a Lender or (c) any entity or an Affiliate of an entity that administers, advises or manages a Lender.
- (iii) Subject to acceptance and recording thereof pursuant to paragraph (b)(iv) of this Section, from and after the effective date specified in each Assignment and Assumption the assignee thereunder shall be a party hereto and, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, have the rights and obligations of a Lender under this Agreement, and the assigning Lender thereunder shall, to the extent of the interest assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, be released from its obligations under this Agreement (and, in the case of an Assignment and Assumption covering all of the assigning Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement, such Lender shall cease to be a party hereto but shall continue to be entitled to the benefits of Sections 2.10, 2.11, 2.12 and 9.03). Any assignment or transfer by a Lender of rights or obligations under this Agreement that does not comply with this Section 9.04 shall be treated for purposes of this Agreement as a sale by such Lender of a participation in such rights and obligations in accordance with paragraph (c) of this Section.
- (iv) The Administrative Agent, acting for this purpose as an agent of the Borrower, shall maintain at one of its offices a copy of each Assignment and Assumption delivered to it and a register for the recordation of the names and addresses of the Lenders, and the principal amount of the Loans owing to, each Lender pursuant to the terms hereof from time to time, which register shall indicate that each lender is entitled to interest paid with respect to such Loans (the "Register"). The entries in the Register shall be conclusive, and the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall treat each Person whose name is recorded in the Register pursuant to the terms hereof as a Lender hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, notwithstanding notice to the contrary. The Register shall be available for inspection by the Borrower and any Lender, at any reasonable time and from time to time upon reasonable prior notice.
- (v) Upon its receipt of a duly completed Assignment and Assumption executed by an assigning Lender and an assignee, the assignee's completed Administrative Questionnaire (unless the assignee shall already be a Lender hereunder), the processing and recordation fee referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section and any written consent to such assignment required by paragraph (b) of this Section, the Administrative Agent shall accept such Assignment and Assumption and record the information contained therein in the Register. No assignment shall be effective for purposes of this Agreement unless it has been recorded in the Register as provided in this paragraph.
- (c) (i)Any Lender may, without the consent of, or notice to, the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, sell participations to one or more banks or other entities (a "<u>Participant</u>") in all or a portion of such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement (including all or a portion of the Loans

owing to it); provided, that (A) such Lender's obligations under this Agreement shall remain unchanged, (B) such Lender shall remain solely responsible to the other parties hereto for the performance of such obligations and (C) the Borrower, the Administrative Agent and the other Lenders shall continue to deal solely and directly with such Lender in connection with such Lender's rights and obligations under this Agreement. Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which a Lender sells such a participation shall provide that such Lender shall retain the sole right to enforce this Agreement and to approve any amendment, modification or waiver of any provision of this Agreement; provided that such agreement or instrument may provide that such Lender will not, without the consent of the Participant, agree to any amendment, modification or waiver described in the second proviso to Section 9.02(b) that affects such Participant. Subject to paragraph (c)(ii) of this Section, the Borrower agrees that each Participant shall be entitled to the benefits of Sections 2.10, 2.11 and 2.12 (subject to the requirements and limitations therein, including the requirements under Section 2.12(e) (it being understood that the documentation required under Section 2.12(e) shall be delivered to the participating Lender)) to the same extent as if it were a Lender and had acquired its interest by assignment pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section. To the extent permitted by law, each Participant also shall be entitled to the benefits of Section 9.08 as though it were a Lender, provided such Participant agrees to be subject to Section 2.13(c) as though it were a Lender.

- (ii) A Participant shall not be entitled to receive any greater payment under Section 2.10 or 2.12 than the applicable Lender would have been entitled to receive with respect to the participation sold to such Participant, unless the sale of the participation to such Participant is made with the Borrower's prior written consent.
- (iii) Each Lender that sells a participation shall, acting solely for this purpose as an agent of the Borrower, maintain a register on which it enters the name and address of each Participant and the principal amounts (and stated interest) of each Participant's interest in the Loans or other obligations under this Agreement (the "Participant Register"). The entries in the Participant Register shall be conclusive absent manifest error, and such Lender shall treat each person whose name is recorded in the Participant Register as the owner of such participation for all purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding any notice to the contrary.
- (d) Any Lender may at any time pledge or assign a security interest in all or any portion of its rights under this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lender, including without limitation any pledge or assignment to secure obligations to a Federal Reserve Bank, and this Section shall not apply to any such pledge or assignment of a security interest; <u>provided</u> that no such pledge or assignment of a security interest shall release a Lender from any of its obligations hereunder or substitute any such pledgee or assignee for such Lender as a party hereto.

Section 9.05 <u>Survival</u>. All covenants, agreements, representations and warranties made by the Loan Parties in the Loan Documents and in the certificates or other instruments delivered in connection with or pursuant to this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall be considered to have been relied upon by the other parties hereto and shall survive the execution and delivery of the Loan Documents and the making of any Loans, regardless of any investigation made by any such other party or on its behalf and notwithstanding that the Administrative Agent or any Lender may have had notice or knowledge of any Default or incorrect representation or warranty at the time any credit is extended hereunder, and shall continue in full force and effect as long as the principal of or any accrued interest on any Loan or any fee or any other amount payable under this Agreement is outstanding and unpaid. The provisions of Sections 2.10, 2.11, 2.12 and 9.03 and Article VIII shall survive and remain in full force and effect regardless of the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby, the repayment of the Loans or the termination of this Agreement or any provision hereof.

Section 9.06 Counterparts; Integration; Effectiveness. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts (and by different parties hereto on different counterparts), each of which shall constitute an original, but all of which when taken together shall constitute a single contract. This Agreement, the other Loan Documents and any separate letter agreements with respect to fees payable to the Administrative Agent and the Arrangers constitute the entire contract among the parties relating to the subject matter hereof and supersede any and all previous agreements and understandings, oral or written, relating to the subject matter hereof. This Agreement shall become effective when the conditions set forth in Section 4.01 hereof shall have been satisfied, and thereafter shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page of this Agreement by telecopy or email transmission shall be effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this Agreement.

Section 9.07 <u>Severability</u>. Any provision of this Agreement held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, be ineffective to the extent of such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability without affecting the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions hereof; and the invalidity of a particular provision in a particular jurisdiction shall not invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction.

Section 9.08 <u>Right of Setoff.</u> If an Event of Default shall have occurred and be continuing, each Lender and each of its Affiliates is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to set off and apply any and all deposits (general or special, time or demand, provisional or final) at any time held and other obligations at any time owing by such Lender or Affiliate to or for the credit or the account of the Borrower against any of and all the obligations of the Borrower now or hereafter existing under this Agreement held by such Lender, irrespective of whether or not such Lender shall have made any demand under this Agreement and although such obligations may be unmatured. The rights of each Lender under this Section are in addition to other rights and remedies (including other rights of setoff) which such Lender may have.

Section 9.09 <u>Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Consent to Service of Process.</u> (a) This Agreement shall be construed in accordance with and governed by the law of the State of New York.

- (b) Each of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower hereby irrevocably and unconditionally submits, for itself and its property, to the nonexclusive jurisdiction of the Supreme Court of the State of New York sitting in New York County and of the United States District Court of the Southern District of New York, and any appellate court from any thereof, in any action or proceeding arising out of or relating to any Loan Document, or for recognition or enforcement of any judgment, and each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably and unconditionally agrees that all claims in respect of any such action or proceeding may be heard and determined in such New York State or, to the extent permitted by law, in such Federal court. Each of the parties hereto agrees that a final judgment in any such action or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be enforced in other jurisdictions by suit on the judgment or in any other manner provided by law. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document shall affect any right that the Agent or any Lender may otherwise have to bring any action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document against the Ultimate Parent, the Parent, the Borrower or its properties in the courts of any jurisdiction.
- (c) Each of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower hereby irrevocably and unconditionally waives, to the fullest extent it may legally and effectively do so, any objection which it may now or hereafter have to the laying of venue of any suit, action or proceeding arising out of or relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document in any court referred to in paragraph (b) of this Section. Each of the parties hereto hereby irrevocably waives, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the defense of an inconvenient forum to the maintenance of such action or proceeding in any such court.

- (d) [After the Closing Date, the Bankruptcy Court's retention of jurisdiction shall not govern the interpretation or enforcement of the Loan Documents or any rights or remedies related thereto.]⁴²
- (e) Each party to this Agreement irrevocably consents to service of process in the manner provided for notices in Section 9.01. Nothing in this Agreement or any other Loan Document will affect the right of any party to this Agreement to serve process in any other manner permitted by law.

Section 9.10 WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL. EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT, ANY OTHER LOAN DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIES THAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER AND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION.

Section 9.11 <u>Headings</u>. Article and Section headings and the Table of Contents used herein are for convenience of reference only, are not part of this Agreement and shall not affect the construction of, or be taken into consideration in interpreting, this Agreement.

Section 9.12 Confidentiality. Each of the Agent and the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentiality of the Information (as defined below), except that Information may be disclosed (a) to its and its Affiliates' directors, officers, partners, employees and agents, including accountants, legal counsel and other advisors (it being understood that the Persons to whom such disclosure is made will be informed of the confidential nature of such Information and instructed to keep such Information confidential), (b) to the extent requested by any regulatory authority, (c) to the extent required by applicable laws or regulations or by any subpoena or similar legal process, (d) to any other party to this Agreement, (e) in connection with the exercise of any remedies hereunder or any suit, action or proceeding relating to this Agreement or any other Loan Document or the enforcement of rights hereunder or thereunder, (f) subject to an agreement containing provisions at least as restrictive as those of this Section, to (i) any assignee of or Participant in, or any prospective assignee of or Participant in, any of its rights or obligations under this Agreement, (ii) any pledgee referred to in Section 9.04(d), (iii) any actual or prospective counterparty (or its advisors) to any swap or derivative transaction relating to the Borrower and its obligations or (iv) any credit insurance provider relating to the Borrower and its Obligations, (g) with the consent of the Borrower or (h) to the extent such Information (i) becomes publicly available other than as a result of a breach of this Section or (ii) becomes available to the Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis from a source other than the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof. For the purposes of this Section, "Information" means all information received from the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof relating to the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof or its business, other than any such information that is available to the Agent or any Lender on a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosure by the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof; provided, that, in the case of information received from the Ultimate Parent or any Subsidiary thereof after the date hereof, such information is clearly identified at the time of delivery as confidential. Any Person required to maintain the confidentiality of Information as provided in this Section shall be considered to have complied with

⁴² To be included if applicable

its obligation to do so if such Person has exercised the same degree of care to maintain the confidentiality of such Information as such Person would accord to confidential information of its other customers.

Each Lender acknowledges that information furnished to it pursuant to this Agreement or the other Loan Documents may include material non-public information concerning the Borrower and its Affiliates and their related parties or their respective securities, and confirms that it has developed compliance procedures regarding the use of material non-public information and that it will handle such material non-public information in accordance with those procedures and applicable law, including Federal and state securities laws.

All information, including requests for waivers and amendments, furnished by the Borrower or its Affiliates or the Administrative Agent pursuant to, or in the course of administering, this Agreement or the other Loan Documents will be syndicate-level information, which may contain material non-public information about the Borrower and its Affiliates and their related parties or their respective securities. Accordingly, each Lender represents to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent that it has identified in its Administrative Questionnaire a credit contact who may receive information that may contain material non-public information in accordance with its compliance procedures and applicable law, including Federal and state securities laws.

Section 9.13 <u>Interest Rate Limitation</u>. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, if at any time the interest rate applicable to any Loan, together with all fees, charges and other amounts which are treated as interest on such Loan under applicable law (collectively the "<u>Charges</u>"), shall exceed the maximum lawful rate (the "<u>Maximum Rate</u>") which may be contracted for, charged, taken, received or reserved by the Lender holding such Loan in accordance with applicable law, the rate of interest payable in respect of such Loan hereunder, together with all Charges payable in respect thereof, shall be limited to the Maximum Rate and, to the extent lawful, the interest and Charges that would have been payable in respect of such Loan but were not payable as a result of the operation of this Section shall be cumulated and the interest and Charges payable to such Lender in respect of other Loans or periods shall be increased (but not above the Maximum Rate therefor) until such cumulated amount, together with interest thereon at the Federal Funds Effective Rate to the date of repayment, shall have been received by such Lender.

Section 9.14 <u>Termination or Release.</u> (a) At such time as the Loans, all accrued interest and fees under this Agreement, and all other obligations of the Dex West Loan Parties under the Loan Documents (other than obligations under Sections 2.10, 2.11, 2.12 and 9.03 that are not then due and payable) shall have been paid in full in cash, (i) the Collateral shall be released from the Liens created by the Security Documents and with respect to the Dex West Obligations, the Shared Collateral Security Documents and (ii) the obligations (other than those expressly stated to survive termination) of the Agent and each Loan Party under the Security Documents and, with respect to the Dex West Obligations, the Shared Collateral Security Documents shall terminate, all without delivery of any instrument or performance of any act by any Person.

- (b) A Subsidiary Loan Party shall automatically be released from its obligations under the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and the security interests in the Collateral of such Subsidiary Loan Party shall be automatically released upon the consummation of any transaction permitted by this Agreement as a result of which such Subsidiary Loan Party ceases to be a Subsidiary of the Borrower.
- (c) Upon any sale or other transfer by any Dex West Loan Party of any Collateral that is permitted under this Agreement to any Person that is not a Dex West Loan Party, or upon the effectiveness of any written consent to the release of the security interest granted by the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement or any other Loan Document in any Collateral of the Dex West Loan Parties pursuant to

Section 9.02 of this Agreement, the security interest in such Collateral granted by the Guarantee and Collateral Agreement and the other Loan Documents shall be automatically released (it being understood that, in the case of a sale or other transfer to a Shared Collateral Loan Party, such Collateral shall become subject to a security interest in favor of the Shared Collateral Agent as to the extent set forth in the Shared Collateral Security Documents upon the consummation of such sale or other transfer).

(d) In connection with any termination or release pursuant to paragraph (a), (b) or (c) of this Section 9.14, the Collateral Agent shall execute and deliver to any Loan Party at such Loan Party's expense all documents that such Loan Party shall reasonably request to evidence such termination or release. Any execution and delivery of documents pursuant to this Section 9.14 shall be without recourse to or warranty by the Collateral Agent or any Lender.

Section 9.15 <u>USA Patriot Act</u>. Each Lender hereby notifies the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower that pursuant to the requirements of the USA Patriot Act (Title III of Pub. L. 107-56 (signed into law October 26, 2001)) (the "USA Patriot Act"), it is required to obtain, verify and record information that identifies the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower, which information includes the name and address of the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower and other information that will allow such Lender to identify the Ultimate Parent, the Parent and the Borrower in accordance with the USA Patriot Act.

Section 9.16 <u>Intercreditor Agreement</u>. Each Lender agrees that it will be bound by, and shall take no actions contrary to, the provisions of the Intercreditor Agreement or any intercreditor agreement entered into in connection with any Newco Subordinated Guarantee and authorizes the Agent to enter into the Intercreditor Agreement and any intercreditor agreement to be entered into in connection with any Newco Subordinated Guarantee (which shall be in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Agent) on its behalf.

Section 9.17 Amendment and Restatement. On the Closing Date, the Existing Credit Agreement will be automatically amended and restated in its entirety to read in full as set forth herein, and all of the provisions of this Agreement which were previously not effective or enforceable shall become effective and enforceable. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, subject to the satisfaction (or waiver) of the conditions set forth in Section 4.01, the Lenders hereby waive, and shall be deemed to have waived, each Default and Event of Default under (and as defined in) the Existing Credit Agreement in existence as of the Closing Date to the extent (i) arising out of the commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases or (ii) such Default or Event of Default otherwise shall have occurred and be continuing based on facts known to the Administrative Agent and the Lenders as of the Closing Date.

[remainder of page intentionally left blank]

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 482 of 483

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Agreement to be duly executed by their respective authorized officers as of the day and year first above written.

NEWDEX, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:
DEX MEDIA, INC.
Ву:
Name:
Title:
DEX MEDIA WEST, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

Case 13-10545 Doc 17-1 Filed 03/18/13 Page 483 of 483

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A., as
Administrative Agent and Collateral Agent,
and as a Lender
_
By:
Name:
Title: